
 

214 North Hogan Street, 7th Floor      Jacksonville, FL 32202      Phone: 904.255-8200      Fax: 904.255-8209   www.coj.net 

 

 JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

  

 

 

 
Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Board of Directors Meeting 

November 28, 2018 
Noon  

214 North Hogan Street, 8th Floor 

  

- AGENDA - 
        
Call Meeting to Order        Chair 
Approval of Minutes of October 17, 2018 Meeting   JHFA Board 
           
 I. Public Comments 
A. Public Comments       Public 

 
II. REPORTS 
A. “To-Do” List Earlier Meetings     Mark Hendrickson 
B. Staff and Financial Report      Laura Stagner  

• Financial Statement  

• Procurement-consider contract extensions to 3-31-19 
C.    Financial Advisor Memo      Mark Hendrickson  

                  
IV. ACTION ITEMS 
A. Board Members Declare Conflicts, if any    Board 
B. Consider Selection Criteria & Process    Board 
 for Local Government Area of Opportunity Funding  
C. Consider Inducement Resolutions for Ashley Square    Mark Hendrickson 
 Campus Towers & Lofts at Cathedral  
D.   Consider Final Approvals for Desert Winds/Silver Creek  Mark Hendrickson 
E. Consider Extension of Loan Commitment: Houston Street Manor Mark Hendrickson & 
          Emerson Lotzia   
F. Consider Actions Related to Mt. Carmel Gardens    Rhonda Bond-Collins 
 
V. NEW BUSINESS 
A.   Consider Approval of 2019 Meeting Calendar Mark Hendrickson 
  
VI. OLD BUSINESS 
A.   Update on Single Family Program     Mark Hendrickson 
B.  Update on Existing Rental Properties     Mark Hendrickson 

• Recent JHFA Activities/Developments 

• Occupancy Report 
C. Update of 2019 Legislative Session     Mark Hendrickson 
 
VII. ADJOURN JHFA MEETING      Chair 



1 

 

 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

 

Board of Directors Meeting 

 

 

 
 

MINUTES 

OF 

REGULAR MEETING 

 
 

 

 October 17, 2018



2 

 

 

October 17, 2018:  JHFA Board Meeting 

11:30 am 

214 North Hogan Street, 8th
 
Floor 

 
BOARD MEETING:  
Present at the meeting were: 
 
BOARD MEMBERS  
Tripp Gulliford, Chair 
Spencer Cummings, Vice-Chair 
Dee Bumbarger, Secretary 
Nadine Carswell, Member 
Jeffrey Rosen, Member 
Jane Scofield, Member 
 
PROFESSIONAL STAFF:  
Mark Hendrickson, The Hendrickson Company, Financial Advisor 
Helen Feinberg, RBC Capital Markets, Investment Banker 
Rhonda Bond-Collins, Bryant Miller Olive, Bond Counsel  
Emerson Lotzia, City of Jacksonville Office of General Counsel 
Tricia Heintz, Bank of New York Mellon, Trustee 
 
CITY STAFF:  
Laura Stagner  
Dr. Johnny Gaffney, Mayor’s Office 
 
PUBLIC:  
Steve Moore, Vestcor 
Ryan Hoover, Vestcor 
Kevin Troup, Vestcor 
Ginny Myrick 
Bob Colvard, Blue Sky Communities 
Brianne Heffner, Southport 
Michael Molinari, Southport 
Tom Daly, DIA 
Brian Hughes, DIA 
Trey Mills, Rogers Towers 
 
BOARD MEETING 
Chairman Gulliford called the meeting to order at 11:30 am, with a quorum present. 
 
Minutes 

Mr. Cummings moved, with a second by Ms. Scofield, that the Board approve the minutes of the 
September 19, 2018 Board meeting. The motion passed 6-0. 
 
 
 



3 

 

 

Public Comments 
Mr. Ryan Hoover updated the Board on the Lofts at LaVilla, Lofts on Monroe, and Lofts at Jefferson Station 
developments.  
 
Mr. Tom Daily of the Downtown Investment Authority spoke on their selection of Lofts at Brooklyn for 
funding. 
 
Board Member Conflicts 
Chairman Gulliford declared a conflict related to matters involving Vestcor and the selection of a Local 
Government Area of Opportunity Funding development. Mr. Rosen declared a conflict related to the 
proposed Molly Crossing development. Mr. Lotzia clarified that the OGC had not completed their review 
of the situation involving Mr. Rosen and Molly Crossing, and that he may not have a conflict, but had 
advised Mr. Rosen to abstain from voting on the development until their research was complete. 
 
Local Government Area of Opportunity Funding (Local Preference) for FHFC RFA 2018-112 
Chairman Gulliford moved this item to the beginning of the agenda so that Vice-Chairman Cummings, who 
had a commitment requiring him to leave by 12:30 PM, could participate. Chairman Gulliford did not 
participate in the discussion or selection process. Mr. Hendrickson noted that the applicant for Molly 
Crossing had withdrawn that development from consideration for the Local Government Area of 
Opportunity Funding (LLGAOF), and that is was only to be considered as a potential “back-up” 
development. Mr. Lotzia clarified that Mr. Rosen could participate in the selection of the LGAOF 
development, but not in the consideration of Molly Crossing as a potential back-up application. 
 
Mr. Hendrickson outlined the process that the JHFA had followed in the selection process, including 
establishing selection criteria and publishing a Notice of Fund Availability (NOFA). He reminded the Board 
that their decision should be based upon the established selection criteria. 
 
Mr. Hendrickson summarized the various applications and their responses to the various selection criteria. 
A Board discussion followed, including questions on the applications, clarification of selection criteria, and 
discussion of each Board member’s analysis of the applications and the selection criteria. 
 
After discussion, Mr. Rosen moved, with a second by Ms. Scofield, that the Board (1) Select the Lofts at 
Brooklyn for the Local Government Area of Opportunity Funding, to be provided by the City through 
the Downtown Investment Authority, (2) Require a Land Use Restriction Agreement including all 
Applicant commitments, including but not limited to resident programs, length of set-aside, income 
restrictions, unit and development amenities, and energy efficiency standards, (3) Authorize the 
Chairman to sign any required documents, including the LURA, and (4) Request the Mayor or other 
official permitted by FHFC to sign the FHFC form required to verify the local government contribution. 
The motion passed 4-1, with Ms. Carswell opposed and Chairman Gulliford abstaining. 
 
Back-Up Development for FHFC RFA 2018-112 
Mr. Hendrickson discussed the need to select a back-up development to receive the minimum local 
government contribution, so that if the LGAOF development failed threshold scoring at FHFC, there would 
be another development in the FHFC system to receive funding. Chairman Gulliford and Mr. Rosen did 
not participate in the discussion or the vote. Mr. Hendrickson explained that due to FHFC rules, the only 
applicant that could meet FHFC threshold scoring without the LGAOF designation was Molly Crossing. 
After discussion, Mr. Cummings moved, with a second by Ms. Carswell, that the Board (1) provide a loan 
commitment of $115,000/0%/20 years/no payments until balloon payment, with the loan commitment 



4 

 

 

valid until December 31, 2019, (2) require that the loan to be governed by Ordinance 2014-185-E, (3) 
authorize the Chairman to sign loan commitment letter, and authorize the Chairman or other Board 
member to execute loan documents, including subordination and extension of loan commitment to up 
to 30 days after senior loan closing date, (4) request the Mayor or other official permitted by FHFC to 
sign the FHFC form required to verify the local government contribution, and (5) require the loan to be 
evidenced by Promissory Note and Mortgage, with anticipated second mortgage position (subject to all 
loan documents and due diligence necessary to evidence and complete the transaction), with loan 
documents to include a Land Use Restriction Agreement with all Applicant commitments , including but 
not limited to resident programs, length of set-aside, income restrictions, unit and development 
amenities, and energy efficiency standards. The motion passed 4-0, with Chairman Gulliford and Mr. 
Rosen abstaining. 
 
Other Actions for LGAOF Applicants 
Board members expressed their support of the LGAOF applications that were not selected, stating that 
the group of applicants was the best that had been submitted, and that the Board wanted to assist the 
applicants in pursuit of alternative FHFC funding so that the City of Jacksonville would benefit from their 
construction. Chairman Gulliford did not participate in the discussion or the vote. 
 
After discussion, Ms. Bumbarger moved, with a second by Mr. Cummings, that the Board, for the Ashley 
Square, Lofts at Cathedral, and Parkview Commons applicants, for any FHFC RFA gap-financing RFA, 
including SAIL, SAIL workforce and CDBG-DR, to be used in conjunction with JFHA bonds (1) provide a loan 
commitment of up to $115,000/0%/20 years/no payments until balloon payment, with the loan 
commitment valid until December 31, 2019, (2) require that the loan to be governed by Ordinance 2014-
185-E, (3) authorize the Chairman to sign loan commitment letter, and authorize the Chairman or other 
Board member to execute loan documents, including subordination and extension of loan commitment 
to up to 30 days after senior loan closing date, (4) request the Mayor or other official permitted by FHFC 
to sign the FHFC form required to verify the local government contribution, (5) require the loan to be 
evidenced by Promissory Note and Mortgage, with anticipated second mortgage position (subject to all 
loan documents and due diligence necessary to evidence and complete the transaction), with loan 
documents to include a Land Use Restriction Agreement with all Applicant commitments , including but 
not limited to resident programs, length of set-aside, income restrictions, unit and development 
amenities, and energy efficiency standards, (6) not require an additional application for bonds and/or 
gap financing, with the LGAOF application deemed as a complete application for either or both 
programs, (7) require a letter from the developer indicating the amount of JHFA bonds being requested, 
any changes to the application, and a revised sources and uses, and (8) waive the payment of any fee 
required for bond-FHFC gap financing applicants. The motion passed 5-0, with Chairman Gulliford 
abstaining. 
 
Staff Report and Financial Report 
Ms. Stagner presented the JHFA financials and updated the Board on the procurement process for 
professional services (Investment Banker, Bond Counsel, Trustee, and Financial Advisor). After discussion, 
Mr. Cummings moved, with a second by Mr. Rosen, that the Board ratify the extension of the professional 
services contracts until December 31, 2018. The motion passed 6-0.  
 
Single Family  
Mr. Hendrickson updated the Board on the single-family program. 
 
 



5 

 

 

Multi-Family Updates 
Mr. Hendrickson explained the proposed NOFA and Application for the local contribution required by 
FHFC in their SAIL and other gap-financing RFA’s. After discussion, Ms. Carswell moved, with a second by 
Ms. Scofield, that the Board authorize the Financial Advisor, legal counsel, and staff to publish the 2019 
Local Government Contribution NOFA and Application. The motion passed 6-0. 
 
Mr. Hendrickson explained that a brief special meeting would be needed to approve loan commitments 
for any applicant seeking the local government contribution that would be applying for SAIL funding from 
FHFC (SAIL RFA due date before next JHFA meeting). After discussion, the Board set a special meeting for 
3 PM, November 13, 2018, to be held if any applications for Local Government Contributions were 
received prior to that date.   
 
Ms. Bond-Collins updated the Board on the Millennia Portfolio transaction, noting that it was scheduled 
to close one day before the TEFRA approval expired. She explained that if the closing date were not met, 
and the deal were to still close in 2018, a new TEFRA process would need to be initiated at this time, with 
the process to be canceled if the deal closed as scheduled. Chairman Gulliford opened the floor for public 
comment, as this was not on the originally published agenda. There was not public comment. After 
discussion, Mr. Cummings moved, with a second by Ms. Scofield, that the Board approve the 2nd Amended 
and Restated Inducement Resolution for the Millennia Portfolio. The motion passed 6-0. 
 
Mr. Hendrickson and Mr. Lotzia explained that the set-aside mix had changed (more extremely low-
income units) on the recently closed Lofts at Jefferson loan from JHFA. 
 
Existing Rental Properties 
Mr. Hendrickson explained the concept of “income averaging”, a newly permitted process for federal 
housing tax credits wherein a developer could have some units at 80% of AMI count as tax credit eligible 
if they also included an offsetting number of units at levels lower than the standard 60% AMI level. He 
explained that FHFC had adopted a policy that was complex, and which achieved the required public 
purpose, and that JHFA did not need to create an overlapping process. After discussion, Mr. Cummings 
moved, with a second by Ms. Bumbarger, that the Board approve Income Averaging for JHFA financed 
properties receiving federal Housing Credits, subject to the Income Averaging being approved by FHFC, 
and with no additional action needed for each development by JHFA subject to the receipt of the FHFC 
approval by legal counsel and staff. The motion passed 6-0. 
 
Mr. Lotzia explained the situation related to the Lots at LaVilla, and the need for the JHFA loan to be co-
terminus with the first mortgage.  
 
Mr. Lotzia and Ms. Stagner updated the Board on the Houston Street Manor development. 
 
2019 Legislative Update 
Mr. Hendrickson reported on the actions of the Sadowski Education Effort related to the 2019 legislative 
session. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



6 

 

 

New Business 
Mr. Hendrickson explained that Ms. Leigh was not at the meeting to avoid any appearance of a conflict 
related to her representation (previously disclosed both orally and in writing to the JHFA Board) of a 
developer that applied for LGAOF funding. 
 
Chairman Gulliford directed staff to agenda a discussion of the LGAOF selection criteria, application, and 
process for the November meeting. 
 
 
Adjournment 

Chairman Gulliford adjourned the meeting at 12:57 PM.   



JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
##

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY
721 722 723 TOTAL

Operating LGSC Funds Loan Funds
ASSETS

Equity in Cash and Investments……………………………….. 2,891,031$             1,048,312$           3,490,971$           7,430,314$             
Cash in Escrow and with Fiscal Agents………………………… 1,500,000               -                           348,446               1,848,446               
Mortgages Receivable…………………………………………… 6,100,308               6,826,280             1,289,328             14,215,916             
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts……………………………… (1,379,746)              -                           -                           (1,379,746)              
Other Assets…………………………………………………… -                             -                           -                           -                             

TOTAL ASSETS……………………………………………… 9,111,593$             7,874,593$           5,128,744$           22,114,930$           

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES:
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities………………… 17,737$                  -$                     -$                     17,737$                  
Deposits…………………………………………………… 157,225                  -                           -                           157,225                  
Deferred Revenue………………………………………… -                             -                           -                           -                             
Loan Commitments……………………………………. -                             -                           -                           -                             

TOTAL LIABILITIES……………………………………… 174,962$                -$                     -$                     174,962$                

FUND BALANCES:
Nonspendable Fund Balance……………………………… 4,720,562$             6,826,280$           1,289,328$           12,836,170$           
Restricted Fund Balance…………………………………… 1,502,310               -                       348,446               1,850,756               
Committed Fund Balance………………………………… -                         874,500               -                       874,500                  
Assigned Fund Balance………..…………………………… -                         -                       -                       -                         
Unassigned Fund Balance………………………………… 1,783,415$             142,793$              2,703,884$           4,630,092$             

Current Year Operating Excess (Deficit)…………………. 930,344                  31,020                 787,086               1,748,450               

Total Fund Balances…………………………………………… 8,936,631$             7,874,593$           5,128,744$           21,939,968$           

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES………… 9,111,593$             7,874,593$           5,128,744$           22,114,930$           

Outstanding Loan Commitments Outstanding Loan Commitments

Houston Street Manor (Closed / Unfunded) 115,000                     115,000                     
Lofts at LaVilla Monroe (Closed / Unfunded) 303,750                     115,000                     

225,750                     

418,750$                    Grand Total Loan Commitments 874,500$                    

Pine Grove (Pending / Unfunded)
The Waves (Pending/Unfunded)
Lofts at Jefferson (Pending / Primary)



JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY
721 722 723 TOTAL

Operating LGSC Funds Loan Funds
REVENUE:

From Bond Sources……………………………………… 159,878$            -$                   -$                   159,878$            
From Mortgage Servicing………………………………… 27,714               20,036               -                        47,750               
From Investment & Interest Income…………………… 991,407             10,983               52,086               1,054,477           
From Other Sources……………………………………… 17,131               -                        -                        17,131               

Total Revenue (Excluding Transfers)………………………… 1,196,130$         31,020$             52,086$             1,279,236$         

Transfers from Fund Balance/Intra-fund………………… -                        -                        2,200,000           2,200,000           

Total Revenue (Including Transfers)…………………………… 1,196,130$         31,020$             2,252,086$         3,479,236$         

EXPENDITURES:
For Program Uses……………………………………… -$                   -$                   1,465,000$         1,465,000$         
For Personnel Expenses………………………………… 53,110               -                        -                        53,110               
For Operating Expenses………………………………… 212,676             -                        -                        212,676             
For Other Expenses……………………………………… -                        -                        -                        -                        

Total Expenditures…………………………………………… 265,786$            -$                   1,465,000$         1,730,786$         

ENCUMBRANCES:
For Program Uses……………………………………… -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   
For Personnel Expenses………………………………… -                        -                        -                        -                        
For Operating Expenses………………………………… 2,769                 -                        -                        2,769                 
For Other Expenses……………………………………… -                        -                        -                        -                        

Total Encumbrances…………………………………………… 2,769$               -$                   -$                   2,769$               

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES AND ENCUMBRANCES…………… 927,575$            31,020$             787,086$            1,745,681$         



 

 
  

2017 Annual Report 
Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 52.112, Municipal Code, the Jacksonville Housing 
Finance Authority (JHFA) respectfully submits this annual report to the City Council Finance 
Committee. 

 

 



 

 

 

1 

Contents 
About the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (JHFA) ............................................................... 3 

Board of Directors ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

Strategic Partnerships ................................................................................................................................ 4 

Partnerships with Other Counties ....................................................................................................... 4 

Partnership with Florida Housing Finance Corporation (FHFC) ................................................... 4 

Sadowski Education Effort ................................................................................................................... 5 

Rental Development .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Bond Financing for Rental Housing ........................................................................................................ 6 

Local Government Support Contributions ............................................................................................. 6 

Houston Street Manor........................................................................................................................ 7 

Peyton Ridge Apartments ................................................................................................................. 7 

Lofts at LaVilla .................................................................................................................................... 7 

Lofts at Monroe ................................................................................................................................... 8 

Mary Eaves Senior Village ................................................................................................................ 8 

The Waves ........................................................................................................................................... 9 

Lofts at Jefferson Station .................................................................................................................... 9 

Home Ownership ..................................................................................................................................... 10 

Servicing Report ....................................................................................................................................... 11 

Compliance Report .................................................................................................................................. 12 

Fiscal Year 2018 Goals and Objectives .................................................................................................. 13 

Bond Financing for Rental Housing .................................................................................................. 13 

Other Rental Housing .......................................................................................................................... 13 

Partnership with Other Counties ....................................................................................................... 13 

Contact Information ................................................................................................................................. 14 

General Contacts .................................................................................................................................. 14 

Staff Contacts ........................................................................................................................................ 14 

Professional Team Contacts ................................................................................................................ 15 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

20
17

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 

 

2 

  



 

 

 

3 

Market Driven 
Approach 

All of the JHFA’s 

programs are market-

driven. The JHFA 

must structure 

programs that work 

from an economic 

perspective – not 

because the law says 

they have to, but 

because the private 

sector would not 

invest their money in 

bonds that are 

improperly 

structured or 

developments that 

are not feasible. 

 

2017 Annual 
Report 
Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

About the Jacksonville Housing Finance 
Authority (JHFA) 
 

The Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (JHFA) was created 
in 1978 as the Duval County Housing Finance Authority 
(DCHFA). The JHFA position within City government has been 
altered several times over the past 39 years, most recently in 2014. 
The JHFA is a dependent special district, governed by a seven 
member Board of Directors appointed by the Mayor (4) and City 
Council (3). 

The JHFA does not receive operating appropriations from the 
City—it funds all of its operations from revenues generated from 
its bond and loan programs. The JHFA is essentially a public 
purpose lending institution that generates its loans from the 
proceeds of tax-exempt bonds and program income. 

The JHFA finances loans to first-time homebuyers and to 
developers who build or rehabilitate rental housing for 
occupancy by eligible families. Since its inception, the JHFA has 
provided over $600 million in funding for the creation of 
affordable housing. This funding has created over 6,000 units of 
affordable rental housing and thousands of new homeownership 
opportunities. 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

20
17

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 

 

4 

Board of Directors 
The JHFA is governed by a seven member Board of Directors.  

Name # of 
Terms 

Term Ends / 
Resolution 

Race Sex Notes 

William 
“Tripp” 

Gulliford 
(Chair) 

2 of 2 11/30/2019 
(2015-832) 

W M Mayoral 
Appointment  

Delilah R. 
“Dee” 

Bumbarger 

1 of 2 06/30/2020 
(2016-689) 

W F Council 
Appointment 

 
Spencer 

Cummings 
Partial 06/30/2018 

(2017-127) 
W M Mayoral 

Appointment 
 

Ruth A. 
Owen 

1 of 2 06/30/2019 
(2016-38) 

 

W F Council 
Appointment 

 
Jeffrey 
Rosen 

 

1 of 2 06/30/2021 
(2016-750) 

W M Mayoral 
Appointment 

Vacancy     Mayoral 
Appointment 

Vacancy     Council 
Appointment 

Strategic Partnerships 
Partnerships with Other Counties 
The JHFA partners with Brevard, Clay, Pinellas and Hillsborough Counties to facilitate the 
pooling and sale of mortgages originated in the home ownership programs of the five counties. 
By pooling mortgages, marketable volume is achieved more quickly, reducing interest rate risk 
and quick return of the JHFA’s capital investment (for use in making new loans). The JHFA has 
executed 48 sales for a profit of $341,748 from the sales—funds that are used to make the down 
payment assistance loans. 

Partnership with Florida Housing Finance Corporation (FHFC) 
In response to an ongoing request from the JHFA, FHFC allowed Duval County to establish a 
“Qualifying Financial Assistance Funding Preference” pilot program which enabled the JHFA 
the opportunity to select its preferred project by allocating a higher level of local government 
support commitment in 2015. That program was extremely successful and has now been 
formalized for certain large counties in their programs.  



 

 

 

5 

FHFC kept the preference system for the most recent 9% Housing Tax Credit Request for 
Applications. An applicant that receives “Local Government Area of Opportunity Funding” 
receives 10 points, while the smaller local government contribution only receives 5 points. In 
addition to the extra points, the applicant automatically receives the maximum score for 
“proximity” to services and is not penalized if it is within a defined distance from other 
developments that are under construction or have not yet stabilized. Additional information on 
this important partnership is included under the section titled Local Government Support 
Contributions. 

Sadowski Education Effort 
The JHFA continues to be an active participant in the effort to secure state funding for housing 
programs—funding that comes directly to the City (State Housing Initiative Partnership (SHIP) 
Program) and to rental developments being built or rehabilitated within the City (State 
Apartment Incentive Loan (SAIL) Program). The SHIP allocation to Jacksonville for State Fiscal 
Year 2017-2018 is $3.947 million—funds that are used for activities such as permanent 
supportive housing, owner-occupied rehabilitation and down payment assistance. In the SAIL 
application process, funds have been awarded to a new construction development that will 
build 127 rental units in Jacksonville Beach which will replace older public housing units. Since 
its inception in 2011, the Sadowski Education Effort has resulted in $17.9 million of SHIP funds 
and $18.0 million of SAIL funds coming to Jacksonville. 

Additionally, in the recent federal tax legislation, the US House proposed to eliminate all 
private activity bonds—which would include all bonds for loans to first-time homebuyers, tax 
credits for first-time homebuyers, and bonds to finance the construction or rehabilitation of 
rental housing. The Sadowski Education Effort actively worked with our Congressional 
delegation on this issue—resulting in the final tax bill leaving tax-exempt bond financing for 
housing in place. 

Rental Development 
The JHFA encourages the development of affordable rental housing through the issuance of 
Mortgage Revenue Bonds and the provision of local government support commitments, and 
other forms of subordinate lending. 

Over the history of the JHFA and its predecessor agency the Duval County HFA, the JHFA has 
originated bond or other loans totaling over $400 million to developers who built or 
rehabilitated rental housing. A list of all developments that have outstanding loans and the 
associated number of units is as follows: 



 

 

 

 

 

 

20
17

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 

 

6 

 

Bond Financing for Rental Housing 
The JHFA and its private sector partners closed on two bond-financed multi-family projects in 
2017. Timberwood Trace is a 224-unit rehabilitation development for families located at 12250 
Atlantic Boulevard. This development has a total development cost of $31.2 million which 
includes $16 million in JHFA Mortgage Revenue Bonds.  Oakwood Villa is a 200-unit 
rehabilitation development for families located at 8201 Kona Avenue. The total development 
cost for Oakwood is $23 million with JHFA Mortgage Revenue Bonds of $12.7 million. 

Additionally, the JHFA has approval for two bond-financed multi-family projects in line to 
close in fiscal year 2018. They are the Millennia Portfolio and Pine Grove. A third project, The 
Waves, has been induced by the Authority and is pending public hearing. 

Local Government Support Contributions 
Developers seeking to participate in FHFC’s various funding cycles are required to obtain local 
government support contributions as a component of their application. The JHFA provided 
local government support contributions for the following projects. Without the JHFA’s 
contribution, the federal and state resources associated with the developments would not have 

Development # Units
 Outstanding Bond 

Loan Balance 

 Outstanding 
Subordinate Loan 

Balance 

Total Outstanding 
Loan Balances

Note

Beaches Hamlet 192 -$                            241,051$                   241,051$                   
Bennett Creek 264 21,600,000$              1,027,945$                22,627,945$              

Brookwood Forest 168 8,800,000$                1,700,000$                10,500,000$              
Camri Green 184 8,200,000$                -$                            8,200,000$                

Caroline Oaks 80 3,567,817$                2,200,000$                5,767,817$                
Cathedral Terrace 240 7,585,000$                1,000,000$                8,585,000$                

Christine Cove 96 2,450,000$                1,000,000$                3,450,000$                
Community Connections 78 -$                            184,635$                   184,635$                   

Courtney Manor 360 -$                            486,563$                   486,563$                   
Gregory Cove 288 -$                            1,015,156$                1,015,156$                

Hartwood Apartments 110 4,055,000$                500,000$                   4,555,000$                
Hubbard House 11 -$                            152,689$                   152,689$                   

Lenox Court 360 -$                            1,150,000$                1,150,000$                
Liberty Center (III) 109 -$                            102,128$                   102,128$                   
Liberty Center (IV) 100 -$                            750,000$                   750,000$                   
Madison Woods 240 -$                            1,123,453$                1,123,453$                

Marcis Pointe 120 -$                            218,000$                   218,000$                   
Mount Carmel Gardens 207 9,750,000$                -$                            9,750,000$                A

Oakwood Villa 200 12,700,000$              -$                            12,700,000$              A
Peyton Ridge 120 -$                            115,000$                   115,000$                   

Ryan Oaks 120 -$                            255,600$                   255,600$                   
Sanctuary Walk 120 -$                            250,000$                   250,000$                   

Timberwood Trace 224 16,000,000$              -$                            16,000,000$              
Timuquana Park 100 3,485,000$                -$                            3,485,000$                

W.A. Knight 12 -$                            285,560$                   285,560$                   

4,103 98,192,817$              13,757,781$              111,950,599$            
Notes:
A - This development is currently under construction/rehabilitation.



 

 

 

7 

been secured for Jacksonville. Moreover, Jacksonville would have forgone the associated overall 
economic benefit, construction jobs and expansion of affordable housing. 

Houston Street Manor 
In the 2014 cycle, applicants for 9% Housing Credits had to obtain local government 
contributions with a net present value of $75,000. This required a loan of $115,000. FHFC 
officially awarded the Housing Credits for Duval County to Houston Street Manor. The JHFA 
has an outstanding loan commitment of $115,000 to this development. The project is currently 
under construction. 

Peyton Ridge Apartments 
As a result of JHFA commitment to provide a $115,000 loan, the 120-unit Peyton Ridge 
development was funded by FHFC. Peyton Ridge has a total development cost of $16.9 million, 
and is a new construction development that will serve elderly residents. 

Lofts at LaVilla 
The Lofts at LaVilla project was selected as the JHFA’s Qualifying Financial Assistance Funding 
Preference project for the Fall/Winter 2015 FHFC cycle. This $21.9 million project involves the 
new construction of a 120-unit mid-rise residential family development located at 906 West Bay 
Street. Construction of the project is being completed and the units are fully leased with a 
waiting list. 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

20
17

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 

 

8 

Lofts at Monroe 
The Lofts at Monroe project was selected as the JHFA’s Local Government Area of Opportunity 
Funding project for the Fall/Winter 2016 FHFC cycle. This $21 million project involves the new 
construction of a 108-unit mid-rise residential family development located at 1000 West Monroe 
Street. Site preparation and construction activities have begun on this project. 

 

Mary Eaves Senior Village 
In October 2015, the JHFA provided a $300,000 HOME match commitment to the Mary Eaves 
Senior Village project so that the project could compete for approximately $5.3 million in State 
HOME funds. This project was previously supported (during the acquisition and 
predevelopment phase) with City Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and 
Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP) funding. This project has completed.   

       

 
  



 

 

 

9 

The Waves 
The Waves project was awarded a Local Government Support Contribution in order to apply to 
the Fall/Winter 2017 SAIL cycle. This $23.4 million project involves the new construction of a 15 
building, 127-unit, scattered site residential family development in Jacksonville Beach. This 
development anticipates using JHFA Multi-Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds in addition to 
FHFC SAIL funding and 4% tax credits. 

 

 
Lofts at Jefferson Station 
The Lofts at Jefferson Station project was selected as the JHFA’s Local Government Area of 
Opportunity Funding project for the Fall/Winter 2017 FHFC cycle. This $21 million project 
involves the new construction of a 98-unit mid-rise residential family development located at 
799 Water Street. The developer will be submitting this project for FHFC’s 9% Tax Credit 
application cycle due December 29, 2017. 

 

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

20
17

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 

 

10 

Home Ownership 
During fiscal year 2014, the JHFA successfully launched a home ownership program that does 
not utilize tax exempt bonds. Instead, the JHFA is offering affordable 30 year fixed-rate 
mortgages through participating lenders, and then selling those mortgages. This allows limited 
JHFA cash reserves to serve as a revolving fund for a continual loan program. In addition to the 
fixed rate mortgage (currently 4.00%), the home buyers also receive a mortgage credit certificate 
(MCC) valued at up to $2,000 per year. The MCC is a refundable federal tax credit (not 
deduction) and may be claimed each year that the buyer continues to live in the home. Also, in 
order to help borrowers achieve home ownership, JHFA provides a $15,000 down payment 
assistance loan. Since inception, this program has generated 122 first mortgage loans totaling 
$13,988,032. The program has distributed MCCs totaling $4,471,823 to date. The average family 
in the program had a 35 year old head of household, with total family income of $42,356, and 
who purchased a $119,485 priced home. Since most borrowers can claim the full $2,000 
refundable credit per year, these families will get a collective annual tax savings of $244,000. 
This is the functional equivalent of having provided each of the borrowers with a 1.00% first 
mortgage rate 

  



 

 

 

11 

Servicing Report 
A servicing report summarizing the performance of all of the existing mortgages in the JHFA's 
portfolio is below. Of the almost $15.5 Million in mortgages held by the JHFA, only 4.03% are 
61+ days past due. 

 

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

 

20
17

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 

 

12 

Compliance Report 
All developments within the JHFA’s portfolio are in compliance. The current weighted average 
occupancy of the portfolio (as of October 31st) is 97.7%. The following are charts which track 
portfolio occupancy over the last seven years and as of October 31, 2017. Occupancy hit a low 
point during the Great Recession as persons without employment doubled up in apartments or 
moved back to family residences. With job creation and new household formation, demand for 
the existing units has risen. 

 

 

 

%
 O

cc
up

ie
d 

Months 



 

 

 

13 

Fiscal Year 2018 Goals and Objectives 
The JHFA will continue to aggressively seek partnerships with the private sector—lenders and 
developers—to create affordable housing opportunities for the citizens of Jacksonville. The 
JHFA will also continue its support for the Sadowski Education Effort to make sure that 
resources such as SHIP and SAIL are funded, and tax-exempt housing bonds are protected. 
While doing all of this, JHFA will continue to structure programs to create the greatest amount 
of affordable housing for the most efficient costs.  

Bond Financing for Rental Housing 
The JHFA and its private sector partners are working on three developments that are scheduled 
to utilize JHFA bond financing and close in 2018: 

• Millennia Portfolio: A 768-unit substantial rehabilitation of a four project multi-family 
portfolio previously owned by Global Ministries Foundation. These are project-based 
Section 8 developments housing low income residents. This portfolio has an estimated 
total development cost of over $125 million. The JHFA has authorized Mortgage 
Revenue Bonds in an amount not to exceed $90 million towards the financing.  

• Pine Grove: A 168-unit new construction of garden style apartments located at Powers 
Avenue, north of the intersection of Powers & Toledo Road. This development has a 
total development cost of $29.6 million The JHFA has authorized Mortgage Revenue 
Bonds in an amount not to exceed $16.5 million towards the financing for this project.  

• The Waves: In November 2017, the JHFA received an application for this 127-unit new 
construction of garden style apartments located at 9 scattered public housing sites in 
Jacksonville Beach. The application for the project reflects a projected total development 
cost of $23.4 million. The JHFA voted to adopt an Inducement Resolution inviting the 
applicant into credit underwriting for this project at its November 2017 meeting. This 
development was tentatively awarded $7.6 million of SAIL funds by Florida Housing 
Finance Corporation. 

Other Rental Housing 
JHFA will again provide the required local government contribution for applications to FHFC 
for Housing Credits. This small investment of JHFA funds will allow at least one development 
to receive substantial state and federal assistance. 

Partnership with Other Counties 
JHFA will continue its partnership with Brevard, Clay, Pinellas and Hillsborough Counties to 
facilitate the pooling and sale of mortgages originated in the home ownership programs of the 
four counties. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

20
17

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 

 

14 

Contact Information 
General Contacts 
Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

214 North Hogan Street, 7th floor 

Jacksonville, FL 32202 

 (904) 255-8200 

  (904) 255-8244 

www.jaxhfa.org 

Staff Contacts 
Laura Stagner, Director – Finance      Jane Bouda, Compliance 

   (904) 255-8279 

   (904) 357-5919 

   lstagner@coj.net 

   (904) 255-8291 

   (904) 301-3860 

   jbouda@coj.net  

 
  

http://www.jaxhfa.org/
mailto:lstagner@coj.net
mailto:jbouda@coj.net


 

 

 

15 

Professional Team Contacts 
ISSUER COUNSEL 

Office of the General Counsel, 117 West Duval Street, Suite 480, Jacksonville, FL 32202 

Contact Telephone Fax E-Mail 

Emerson Lotzia, Esq. 904-630-3559 904-630-1731 ELotzia@coj.net  

FINANCIAL ADVISORS 

The Hendrickson Company, 1404 Alban Avenue, Tallahassee, FL  32301 

Contact Telephone Fax E-Mail 

Mark Hendrickson 850-671-5601 850-671-5603 mark@thehendricksoncompany.com  

The Community Concepts Group, Inc., P.O. Box 16129, Tallahassee, FL  32317 

Contact Telephone Fax E-Mail 

Susan Leigh 850-656-2808 850-656-0161 sleighfa@cconceptsgroup.com  

BOND COUNSEL  

Bryant Miller Olive. 135 West Central Boulevard, Suite 700, Orlando, FL 32801 

Contact Telephone Fax E-Mail 

Randy Clement, Esq 

Rhonda Bond-Collins, 
Esq. 

407-426-7001 

407-398-7997 

407-426-7262 

407-426-7262 

rclements@bmolaw.com  

rcollins@bmolaw.com 

 

  

mailto:ELotzia@coj.net
mailto:mark@thehendricksoncompany.com
mailto:sleighfa@cconceptsgroup.com
mailto:rclements@bmolaw.com
mailto:rcollins@bmolaw.com


 

 

 

 

 

 

20
17

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 

 

16 

RBC Capital Markets, LLC, 100 2nd Avenue South, Suite 800, St. Petersburg, FL  33701 

Contact Telephone Fax E-Mail 
Helen Feinberg 727-895-8892 727-895-8895 helen.feinberg@rbccm.com  
Denise Rodriguez 727-895-8857 727-895-8895 denise.rodriguez@rbccm.com  
Debbie Berner 727-895-8885 727-895-8895 Debbie.berner@rbccm.com  

 
PROGRAM ADMINISTRATOR 
eHousingPlus, Inc. 3050 Universal Boulevard, Suite 190 Weston, FL 33331 

Contact Telephone Fax E-Mail 
Patt Denihan 954-217-0817 954-217-9598 patt@ehousing.cc  
Sue Denihan 954-217-0817 954-217-9598 sue@ehousing.cc  

 
TRUSTEE 
The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., 10161 Centurion Parkway, 2nd Floor, Jacksonville, FL 
32256 

Contact Telephone Fax E-Mail 
Tricia Heintz 904-645-1915 904-645-1998 Tricia.heintz@bnymellon.com  

 

mailto:helen.feinberg@rbccm.com
mailto:denise.rodriguez@rbccm.com
mailto:Debbie.berner@rbccm.com
mailto:patt@ehousing.cc
mailto:sue@ehousing.cc
mailto:Tricia.heintz@bnymellon.com


 

 1 

THE HENDRICKSON COMPANY & COMMUNITY CONCEPTS GROUP 
 

To:  Board of Directors, Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority  
 

From:  Mark Hendrickson & Susan Leigh, Financial Advisors 
 

Subject:  November 28, 2018 JHFA Meeting 
 

Date:  November 19, 2018 

 
I. 2018 Bond Allocation—Informational 

 
1. The 2018 allocation is $48,155,194, an increase of $3,143,590 (7.0%) over 2017: 

 

Year Single Family 
Amount 

Multifamily 
Amount 

Unallocated Expiration 

2018 $50,000,000 $    December 30, 2018 

2017 $50,000,000 $156,500,000  December 31, 2020 

2016  $  25,800,000  December 31, 2019 

2015    December 31, 2018 

TOTAL $100,000,000 $182,300,000 $0  

 
2. After approval of TEFRA by City Council, another $50 million of single family allocation will be 

applied for this year. 
 

3. Recommendation: None. 
 

II. 2013 Single Family Loan Program—Informational 
 

1. The current program guidelines: 

• 1st mortgage: 5.125 1% origination fee, FHA, VA, RD, 5.375% for Freddie Mac loans 

• First time homebuyers. 

• Income and Sales Price limits identical to bond issue. 

• Minimum credit score of 640 

• Interest rate set by the HFA of Hillsborough County, with rate set at level that is anticipated 

to generate a premium when sold. 

• Loans purchased by the master servicer (US Bank) and converted into MBS. 

• MBS are purchased by the HFA of Hillsborough County, on behalf of all HFA’s 

• MBS are sold, with each HFA keeping its pro rata share of any net premium or loss 

realized from the sale of the MBS. 

• Down payment assistance: $5,000 second mortgage, due on sale of property, or maturity 
of first mortgage    

• Mortgage Credit Certificates providing homebuyers a credit in the amount of 50% of 
mortgage interest paid annually (up to a $2,000 annually). 

 

 

 

 



 

 2 

2. DPA Analysis: 

 

DPA AUTHORIZED  LOAN VOLUME  $   2,203,510  

Date Amount  Adjustments   

2012  $       250,000   FHFC  $         88,796  

May-15  $       200,000   Repayments  $         65,000  

Jun-15  $       400,000      $       153,796  

Sep-17  $       703,000   NET VOLUME  $   2,049,714  

Jun-18  $       250,000       

Jun-18  $       315,443       

TOTAL 
AUTHORIZED  $   2,118,443   AVAILABLE  $         68,729  

 

3. Rate Change: The interest rates were increased by 0.125% in October 2018. 

 
4. Program Demographics: 

Sales Price/      
# Loans 

Loan 
Amount 
 

Borrower 
Income 

Borrower 
Age/ 
Gender 

Borrower 
Family 
Size 

 

Housing Type Borrower 
Ethnicity 

MCC 
Amount 

$138,808 
447 loans 
+4 loans 

$132,810 
 
 

$47,123 
 

37.0 
 
47% 
female 

2.3 SF Detached 93%  
Condo:            2%            
Townhouse:    6% 
 
Existing:        97% 
New:               3% 

Black:      27% 
White:      40% 
Hispanic: 20% 
Mixed:       1% 
Asian:        8% 
Other:        5% 

$20,390,431 
$63,324.32 
avg. 
322 buyers 

 

5. Lender Originations: Academy (124), SWBC (112), Prime (51), Bank of England (51), 

Fairway (50), Pacific Union (23), CMG (13), Network Funding (6), Open (5), DHI (4), Ameris 

Bank (3), Paramount (2), Resource Financial (1), & GSF (1). 

 

6. MCC’s: The HFA converted $120 million of bond authority into $30 million of MCC’s. Tranche 

1 ($5.25 million) expired at the end of 2015 with $1,109,274 not utilized. Tranche 2 ($10.0 

million) expired at the end of 2016, with $9,668,903 not utilized. Tranche 3 ($14.75 million) 

expires at the end of 2018. Tranche 4 ($20,062,500) expires December 31, 2020. 

 

7. MCC Program: What Does it Mean to Home Buyer: With the HFA’s average loan of 

$132,000 and a 5.125%/30-year mortgage, interest payments in Year 1 = $6,765. With the 

50% MCC rate that the HFA has chosen, the homebuyer would be able to claim a tax 

credit of the full $2,000 per year maximum allowed by federal law (slightly declining after 

year 18 as more of monthly payment is principal) until the home buyers sells or moves from 

the property. The $2,000 of tax savings lowers the “functional” mortgage rate for the program 

from 5.125% to approximately 3.0%. 

 
8. MBS Sales: The HFA has executed 124 sales, with net revenues of $1,407,734 (net meaning 

after payments to RBC and counsel) coming to JHFA.     



 

 3 

9. Hedges & Exposure: Hillsborough County has 8 hedges totaling $12.48 million in place. With 

full delivery, the projected net revenues are estimated at $215,784 (shared pro rata with 

counties based upon originations). The unhedged pipeline as of November 15 is $0 (changes 

daily). 

 
10. Size of Program: The initial legislation wherein City Council authorized the program limited it 

to no more than $1.5 million of loans in pipeline at any time. In June, the Board changed the 

authorization to $1.5 million of unhedged loans. Loans originated or in progress are $59.37 

million. 314 of the 447 loans in the program have originated this year. 

 
11. Recommendation: None. 

 
 

III. Local Government Area of Opportunity Funding (Preference)—Action 
 

1. FHFC continued the LGAOF system for 2018-2019, with an FHFC application deadline of 
October 30, extended to November 13 as a result of Hurricane Michael (FHFC RFA 2018-
112).  
 

2. JHFA established the funding priorities and authorized the publication of a NOFA, with a due 
date of September 28. Five applications were received.  

 
3. The JHFA selected Lofts at Brooklyn as the LGAOF deal for FHFC RFA 2018-112. 

 
4. The JHFA selected Molly Crossing as the “back-up” deal for FHFC RFA 2018-112, with a 

minimum local government contribution from the JHFA. 
 

5. The JHFA offered the three other applicants a local government contribution to be used in 
conjunction with applications to FHFC for SAIL, SAIL Workforce, CDBG-DR, or other gap-
financing RFA, and in conjunction with JHFA bonds. 

• Ashley Square: moving forward with JHFA bonds and an application for SAIL funds 

• Lofts at Cathedral: moving forward with JHFA bonds and an application for SAIL 
Workforce funds 

• Parkview Commons: not pursuing FHFC gap financing, indicating deal is not feasible 
without 9% Housing Credits 

 
6. The board directed staff to agenda a discussion of the LGAOF selection criteria, application, 

and process for this meeting. Attached are the NOFA/Selection Criteria and the Application. 
The current process includes multiple selection criteria, with the following being the “driving 
factors” in the selections: 

• Finding other City funds to offset the JHFA financial contribution 

• Applications limited to either the Central Business District (first 2 years) or pre-
consolidation Jacksonville city limits (last 2 years).   

• Family (non-elderly) 

• Economic Impact (more “bang for the buck”) 
 

7. Recommendation: Discuss LGAOF selection criteria and process. 
 
 



 

 4 

IV. New Rental Financings—Action 
 

1. 2019 Local Government Contribution Application and NOFA: FHFC has set the 
application date for SAIL applications for November 27 and is requiring a local government 
contribution. JHFA issued a NOFA for the local contribution, but no applications were received 
by the November 9 deadline. 
 

2. A new bond application (short form Bond-SAIL) was received for Campus Towers, a 192-unit 
Section 8 acquisition and rehabilitation development. The applicant will be applying for SAIL 
but does not need the local contribution because the deal is rehabilitation (FHFC doesn’t 
require contribution on rehabilitation deals). An Inducement Resolution has been prepared by 
bond counsel. Ashley Square and Lofts at Cathedral switched their applications to bonds. 
 

3. Millennia Jacksonville closed October 24. This is the $81.6 million bond transaction that is 
financing the acquisition and substantial rehabilitation of four old Section 8 properties, 
including Eureka Gardens. In addition to the substantial public benefit of rehabilitating these 
apartments—both for the City and the residents—the JHFA received fees of $372,200 at 
closing, and will also receive semi-annual payments of $57,120.  

 

4. The Waves: is tentatively scheduled to close in March 2019. 
 

5. Desert Winds/Silver Creek is scheduled to close in December 2018. The developer has 
requested issuance of bonds in an amount not to exceed $24,980,000. The credit underwriting 
is complete, and the deal is ready for Board action. Bond counsel has prepared and 
distributed a resolution that gives final approvals necessary to sell and close bonds, including 
[summary only, please read resolution for full description]: 

 

• Approval of substantially final forms of bond and loan documents (Indenture of Trust, Loan 
Agreement (Borrower Note attached as an Exhibit), LURA, Compliance Monitoring 
Agreement, Construction and Loan Servicing Agreement, Preliminary Official Statement 
and Bond Purchase Agreement); 

• Approval of the estimated Cost of Issuance; 

• Approval of the final Credit Underwriting Report; 

• Authorization of the issuance of the Bonds (subject to the parameters in the Resolution) 
and sale to the Underwriter; 

• Official Appointment of RBC Capital Markets LLC as Underwriter and Remarketing Agent 
in connection with the sale of the Bonds; 

• Official appointment of Seltzer Management Group, Inc. as compliance monitor and 
construction/loan servicer; 

• Official appointment of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company as Trustee; and 

• Authorization of appropriate Board members and members of the Issuer to execute 
documents and take all other actions necessary not inconsistent with the terms of the 
Resolution. 

 
6. Recommendations:  

• Campus Towers, Ashley Square & Lofts at Cathedral: Approve Inducement 
Resolutions prepared by bond counsel, subject to all conditions in the JHFA MF 
Handbook 

• Desert Winds/Silver Creek: Adopt bond approval resolution prepared by bond 
counsel. 



 

 5 

 The Waves Desert Winds/Silver Creek Campus Towers 

Developer/ 
Location 

Jacksonville Housing Authority & 
Vestcor 

Jacksonville, FL 

LEDIC Realty Management 
Montgomery, AL 

SHAG Development 
Boca Raton, FL 

Development Location Nine scattered JHA public housing 
sites in Jacksonville Beach 

300 Silver Creed Trace 
Arlington/Southside 

1830 & 1850 Kings Road 

City Council District Bill Gulliford Scott Wilson Garrett Dennis 

Type New Construction 
Garden 

Acquisition & Rehabilitation 
Garden 

Acquisition & Rehabilitation 
Garden with elevator 

Demographic Family Family Elderly 

Bond Request $17,750,000 
$139,764/unit 

$22,000,000 
$72,368/unit 

$15,000,000 
$78,125 

TEFRA Hearing  
TEFRA Approval  
Preliminary Agreement 
Expiration 

2-28-18 
4-24-18 

12-31-18 

7-26-18 
9-11-18 

12-31-18 

TBD 
TBD 
TBD 

Credit Enhancement Private Placement to SunTrust 
Bank 

Cash Collateralized Short-Term 
Bonds 

FHA Permanent 1st 

TBD 

Credit Underwriter First Housing Seltzer TBD 

Closing Date March 2019 December 2018 February 2020 

Units 127 304 192 

Permanent 1st 
Mortgage Estimate 

$6,600,000 $24,590,000 $6,452,320 

SAIL, ELI, HOME (FHFC)  $7,600,000 $0 $5,600,000 

JHFA Loan  $115,000 $0 $0 

Housing Credits Wells Fargo Bank 
$7,799,289 

$61,416/unit 

PNC Real Estate 
$9,939,553 

$32,696/unit 

TBD 
$11,676,329 
$60,814/unit 

TDC $23,377,628 $38,248,944 $33,036,224 

TDC per unit $184,076 $125,819 $172,064 

Land Cost $0 
$1 per year lease 

$2,700,000 
$8,882/unit 

$872,822 
$4,546/unit 

Acquisition of Building  NA $16,100,000 
$52,961/unit 

$8,889,178 
$46,298/unit 

Hard Construction or 
Rehabilitation Cost 

$15,068,550 
$118,650/unit 
$104.53/Sq. Ft. 

$10,531,306 
$34,642/unit 
$39.21/Sq. Ft. 

$14,784,000 
$77,000/unit 

TBD 

Set Aside Period 50 years 50 years 50 years 

Set Aside Levels 90%<60% AMI 
10%<33% AMI 

100%<60% AMI 
 

90%<60% AMI 
10%<33% AMI 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 6 

 Ashley Square Lofts at Cathedral 

Developer/ 
Location 

Blue Sky Communities 
Tampa, FL 

Vestcor 
Jacksonville, FL 

Development Location 127 E. Ashley St. & 116 E. Beaver St. 
Cathedral District 

E. Duval St., NW of intersection of E. Duval & N. 
Liberty St. 

Cathedral District 

City Council District Reggie Gaffney Reggie Gaffney 

Type New Construction 
Mid-Rise 

New Construction 
Mid-Rise 

Demographic Elderly Family 

Bond Request $16,550,000 
$137,500/unit 

$11,000,000 
$91,667/unit 

TEFRA Hearing  
TEFRA Approval  
Preliminary Agreement 
Expiration 

TBD TBD 

Credit Enhancement TBD TBD 

Credit Underwriter TBD TBD 

Closing Date TBD TBD 

Units 120 120 

Permanent 1st 
Mortgage Estimate 

$5,000,000 $7,500,000 

SAIL, ELI, HOME (FHFC)  $7,600,000 $8,500,000 

JHFA Loan  $110,000 $110,000 

Housing Credits TBD 
$8,870,454 

$73,920/unit 

TBD 
$4,630,470 

$38,587/unit 

TDC $24,286,394 $21,934,970 

TDC per unit $202,387 $182,791 

Land Cost $1,500,000 
$12,500/unit 

$1,000,000 
$8,333/unit 

Acquisition of Building  NA NA 

Hard Construction or 
Rehabilitation Cost 

$15,980,092 
$133,167/unit 

TBD 

$14,647,500 
$1226063unit 

TBD 

Set Aside Period Pepetuity 50 years 

Set Aside Levels 84.2%<60% AMI 
10.8%<33% AMI 

5.0<22% AMI 

56%<80% AMI 
35%<60% AMI 
10%<30% AMI 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current Name Eureka Gardens I & 
II 

Moncrief Village Southside 
Apartments 

Washington 
Heights 

New Name Valencia Way Estuary Estates Oyster Pointe Charlesfort 
Commons 

Revised New Name Valencia Way The Weldon Palmetto Glen Calloway Cove 

Developer/Location Millennia Housing 
Development 
Cleveland, OH 

Millennia Housing 
Development 
Cleveland, OH 

Millennia Housing 
Development 
Cleveland, OH 

Millennia Housing 
Development 
Cleveland, OH 

Street Address 1214 Labelle Street 1650 Moncrief 
Village North 

2414 Westmont 
Street 

4229 Moncrief 
Road W 

City Council District Garrett Dennis Ju’Coby Pittman Lori Boyer Terrance Freeman 

Type Acquisition & 
Substantial 

Rehabilitation 

Acquisition & 
Substantial 

Rehabilitation 

Acquisition & 
Substantial 

Rehabilitation 

Acquisition & 
Substantial 

Rehabilitation 

Bond Request $81,600,000 
$106,250/unit 

TEFRA Hearing  
TEFRA Approval  
Preliminary Agreement 
Expiration 

9-19-17 
10-24-17 
10-23-18 

9-19-17 
10-24-17 
10-23-18 

9-19-17 
10-24-17 
10-23-18 

9-19-17 
10-24-17 
10-23-18 

Credit Enhancement R4 
Private Placement 

R4 
Private Placement 

R4 
Private Placement 

R4 
Private Placement 

Credit Underwriter First Housing First Housing First Housing First Housing 

Closing Date September 2018 September 2018 September 2018 September 2018 

Units 400 94 74 200 

Permanent 1st Mortgage 
Estimate 

$50,250,000-$53,500,000 
$65,430 to $69,661/unit 

SAIL/FHFC Funds $0 $0 $0 $0 

JHFA or City Loan $0 $0 $0 $0 

Housing Credits R4 
$41,184,000 
$53,625/unit 

Total Development Cost 
Original TDC 

$67,519,544 
$64,042,483 

$12,646,491 
$14,327,577 

$12,347,677 
$12,440,322 

$36,160,886 
$34,755,018 

TDC Per Unit 
Original TDC Per Unit 

$168,799 
$160,106 

$134,537 
$152,421 

$166,861 
$168,112 

$180,804 
$173,775 

Land Cost $1,781,250 
$4,453/unit 

$310,147 
$3,299/unit 

$407,982 
$5,513/unit 

$1,600,000 
$8,000/unit 

Acquisition of Building Cost $24,218,750 
$60,547/unit 

$3,789,853 
$40,318/unit 

$3,392,018 
$45,838/unit 

$13,700,000 
$68,500/unit 

Hard Rehabilitation Cost $26,089,491 
$65,224/unit 

$5,200,760 
$55,327/unit 

$5,289,742   
$71,483/unit 

$12,102,829 
$60,514/unit 

Set-Aside Period 50 years 50 years 50 years 50 years 

Set-Aside Levels 100%<60% AMI 100%<60% AMI 100%<60% AMI 100%<60% AMI 



 

 8 

V. Update on Existing Rental Properties—Action 
 
1. JHFA marketed its bonds, JHFA loans, and JHFA local government contributions to 

developers. As a result, the following has been accomplished in the last three years: 
: 

Development Location Building 
Type 
Demographic 

Units  TDC JHFA Loan 

Caroline Oaks 
4-22-15 

North Main, east side just south of 
E. 43rd Street 

3-Story 
Elevator 
NC  Elderly 

     82 $14,146,603 $5.6 million bonds 
$2.2 million JHFA loan 

Cathedral Terrace 
1-21-16 

701 N. Ocean St. High Rise 
Rehab  Elderly 

   240 $25,604,057 $12.5 million bonds 
$1.0 million JHFA loan 

Peyton Ridge 
4-7-16 

1800 Corporate Square Blvd 3-Story 
Elevator 
NC  Elderly 

   120 $16,894,456 $115,000 

Mt. Carmel 
Gardens 
8-19-16 

5746 Mt. Carmel Terrace High Rise 
Rehab Elderly 

   207 $21,631,853 $9.75 million bonds 

Mary Eaves  
8-19-16 

East of intersection of Myrtle Ave. 
N. & West 16th St. 

Mid-Rise 
NC  Elderly 

     80 $13,325,568 $300,000 

Lofts at LaVilla 
10-12-16 

906 West Bay Street Mid-Rise 
NC  Family 

   130 $23,382,885 $265,000 

Timberwood Trace 
2-1-17 

12250 Atlantic Boulevard 
 

Garden 
Rehab  Family 

   224 $31,238,140 $16.0 million bonds 

Oakwood Villa 
6-30-17 

8201 Kona Avenue Garden 
Rehab  Family 

   200 $23,092,183 $12.7 million bonds 

Lofts at LaVilla on 
Monroe 
9-29-17 

1000 West Monroe Street Mid-Rise 
NC  Family 

   108 $20,245,500 $303,750 

Houston Street 
Manor 

615 Houston Street  Mid-Rise 
NC  Elderly 

     72 $21,185,213 $115,000 

Caroline Arms 
7-3-18 

6457 Fort Caroline Road Garden 
Rehab  Family 

   204 $22,630,922 $12.5 million bonds 

Lofts at Jefferson 
Station 
10-3-18 

799 Water Street Mid-Rise 
NC  Family 

     98 $20,943,699 $225,750 

Millennia Portfolio 
10-24-18 

Valencia (Eureka Gardens) 
1214 Labelle Street 
The Weldon (Moncrief Village) 
1650 Moncrief Village Drive N. 
Palmetto Glen (Southside) 
2301 Westmont St. 
Calloway Cove (Washington 
Heights) 
4229 Moncrief Rd. West 

Garden 
Rehab 
Family 

   768 $129,590,169 $81.6 million bonds 

TOTAL   2,533 $384,211,248 $150.65 million bonds 
$4.525 million JHFA 
loans 

 
2. Occupancy: The current portfolio occupancy using a weighted average is 97.5% (+0.5%).  

 



 

 9 

3. Houston Street Manor: The completion of the property has fallen well behind schedule—so 
much so that the JHFA’s loan for $115,000 was not funded because the loan completion date 
was not met, and the developer did not request an extension prior to the expiration. The JHFA 
loan was made to meet the FHFC requirement for a local government contribution. 
Subsequently, the developer has requested an extension, and offers the following update:  

 
This email is to report the status of construction, financing, and lease up at the Houston Street Manor 
development, and to request an extension of the loan completion date to February 15, 2019.  I 
apologize that my emails of the morning of October 17th did not arrive timely.  I will continue to send 
duplicate emails from my business email (beneficialcom.com) as well as from my personal email 
(outlook.com) until such time as I receive feedback that the beneficial email address is received on a 
consistent basis. 
 
Status of Construction 
As of today, the building is substantially complete except for punch list items.  The final inspections are 
underway.  We anticipate receiving a certificate of occupancy for the building on or before November 
23, 2018.  
 
Status of Financing 
The project investors have made their capital contributions in a timely manner. The project is in good 
standing with senior and subordinate lenders.  The senior construction loan has not matured.  The 
project has the ability to extend the construction loan through June 2019, if necessary.  We have 
sufficient funds to complete the project.  We anticipate submitting a draw request to JHFA as soon as 
the certificate of occupancy is received. 
 
Status of Lease Up 
We are working diligently to pre-lease units.  We have hired a full-time property manager for 
processing applications.  The property management web page is up 
http://www.houstonstreetmanor.com  , we have established a toll-free number for inquiries, and are 
providing aggressive incentives for lease-up.  The apartments are listed on apartments.com, 
apartmentfinder.com, apartmentguide.com, forrent.com, rent.com, rentcafe.com, and trulia.com.  Not 
having a certificate of occupancy has made lease up difficult, however.  As of today, we have ten 
approved tenants that we anticipate signing leases and moving in promptly after receipt of the 
certificate of occupancy.  There is substantial additional interest by potential tenants, in varied stages 
of inquiry and approval.  Providing we have CO by the end of November, we anticipate 100% qualified 
occupancy by year’s end. 

 
4. Mt. Carmel Gardens: The bonds issued for this transaction were short-term and matured in 

August. As such, the Trustee no longer has a role in the transaction. Bond Counsel has 
prepared a Resolution releasing the trustee from the LURA and discharging the indenture. 
The development will continue to be subject to the LURA, and compliance monitoring will 
continue.  

 
5. Recommendations:  

• Houston Street Manor: Authorize amendment to Loan Agreement extending 
Completion Date to February 15, 2019, and authorize Chairman or other Board 
member to execute all documents associated therewith. 

• Mt. Carmel Gardens: Adopt Resolution prepared by Bond Counsel. 
 

http://www.houstonstreetmanor.com/


 

 10 

 
 
 

VI.  2019 Legislative Session 

 
1. The 2019 legislative session begins in March. The new Senate President will be Bill Galvano 

(Bradenton) and the new House Speaker will be Jose Oliva (Miami). Senator Galvano has 

been a long-time supporter of housing funding. Rep. Travis Cummings (Clay County) was 

named House Appropriations Chairman. 

 
2. The latest (August) revenue estimate for doc stamp distributions into the Housing Trust Funds 

for FY 19-20 is $328.2 million ($229.99 SHIP and $98.21 FHFC programs/SAIL). The 

estimated impact of appropriating all available funds to housing programs: 

  Program    SAIL    SHIP   Combined Totals 

  Funding $    98,210,000  $   229,990,000  $   328,200,000  

  TDC Produced $  499,986,951  $1,238,692,868  $1,738,679,820  

  # of Units 2,238 10,056 12,294 

  Jobs Created 7,412 21,341 28,753 

  Economic Impact $1,075,712,139  $3,052,457,405  $4,128,169,544  

 

3. We worked with both candidates for Governor on housing. Governor-elect DeSantis 

expressed general support for using trust funds for their intended purposes. 

 
4. SEE contribution letters have been sent to all HFA’s and other SEE supporters. Funding level 

pledges have not been received from almost all HFA’s.  

 
5. The lobbying team has been engaged and will again be led by Ken Pruitt of The P5 Group. 

Becker Poliakoff and Sunrise Consulting will also be utilized, as will Bascom Communications 

(PR and editorials) and LAT Creative (website and materials). The estimated cost of the effort 

is $200,000. 

 

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1 7 13 19 25 31 37 43 49 55 61 67 73 79 85 91 97 103

Portfolio Occupancy



 

 11 

6. Senator Kathleen Passidomo (R-Naples) also intends to file her bill to prohibit sweeps of the 

trust funds. While this bill does not absolutely restrict sweeps (it would take a Constitutional 

amendment to accomplish that), it is an important part of our strategy to keep the pressure for 

full funding. We are working with various Republican House members to file the House 

companion. 

 
7. We were asked by various campaigns for Governor and legislative seats to develop an 

analysis of the cost of sweeps—lost housing and economic impact—as well as the five-year 

impact of fully funding housing. Those analyses are: 

 
 Five Year Impact of Full Funding 

• $1.789 billion appropriated for housing 

• 67,012 units built, rehabilitated or sold 

• 156,728 jobs created 

• $22.5 billion total economic impact 

 Negative Impact of Sweeps 

• $2.19 billion has been swept from the housing trust funds to general revenue 

• 81,566 units have been lost 

• 191,512 jobs have been lost 

• $27.5 billion of economic impact lost 

 

8. Recommendations: Meet with your legislators to solicit their support for using all housing 

trust funds for housing programs and to co-sponsor Senator Passidomo’s bill or its House 

companion. It is important to tell the story of how Florida’s housing programs work—this isn’t 

“throwing money at a problem”, it is funding programs that have proven over 25 years that 

they work and attract massive private sector investment in affordable housing. 

 
 



OCCUPANCY LEVELS 

9-30-18 
 

1 

 

Active Rental Developments—Financed by DCHFA or JHFA 
Development & 
Address 

Developer Original Bonds & 
Issue Date 

Units & 
Occupancy 

Bennett Creek 

3585 Salisbury Drive 32216 

Richman $21,600,000 
12-21-10 

264 
97% (+1%) 

Brookwood Forest Apartments 

1251 Fromage Way  32225 

CED $10,000,000 
2005 

168 
98% (+8%) 

Camri Green Apartments 

3820 Losco Road  32257 

Vestcor $9,200,000 
2003 

184 
98% (-1%) 

Caroline Arms 

6457 Fort Caroline Road 32277 

Southport $12,500,000 
7-3-18 

204 
97% (-1%) 

Caroline Oaks 

5175 Main Street N. 32208 

Vestcor $5,600,000 
4-22-15 

82 
99 (-1%) 

Cathedral Terrace 

701 N. Ocean St. 32202 

Blue Sky $12,500,000 
1-21-16 

200 
99% (+0%) 

Christine Cove 

3730 Soutel Dr  32208 

Carlisle $6,000,000 
2006 

96 
97% (-0%) 

Hartwood (AKA Hampton Ridge) 

11501 Harts Road  32218 

Southport $5,840,000 
2006 

110 
92% (-2%) 

Lofts at LaVilla 

995 Water Street 32204 

Vestcor Housing Credits 
$265,000 JHFA loan 
10-12-16 

130 
100% (+0%) 

Lofts at Monroe 

906 W. Monroe Street 32204 

Vestcor Housing Credits 
$303,750 JHFA Loan 
9-29-17 

108 

Lofts at Jefferson 

799 Water Street 32204 

Vestcor Housing Credits 
$225,750 JHFA Loan 
10-3-18 

98 

Millennia Portfolio Millennia $81,600,000 
10-24-18 

768 

Mary Eaves 

1250 16th Street West 32209 

Vestcor FHFC bonds 
$300,000 JHFA loan 
8-19-16 

79 
100% (+1%) 

Mt. Carmel Gardens 

5846 Mt. Carmel Terrace 32216 

BREC $9,750,000 
8-19-16 

207 
96% (-1%) 

Oakwood Villa 

8201 Kona Avenue 32211 

Southport $12,700,000 
6-30-17 

200 
Rolling Rehab 86%  

Peyton Ridge 

 

Vestcor Housing Credits 
$115,000 JHFA loan 
4-7-16 

 

Timberwood Trace 

12250 Atlantic Blvd. 32225 

Southport $16,000,000 
2-1-17 

224 
97% (+1%) 

Timuquana Park Apartments 

5615 Seaboard Ave.  32244 

Southport $4,300,000 
2004 

100 
97% (-2%) 



OCCUPANCY LEVELS 

9-30-18 
 

2 

 

106 Month Occupancy Levels—Entire Portfolio Average Occupancy 

 

 

 
 

 

Average Occupancy by Development 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1 7 13 19 25 31 37 43 49 55 61 67 73 79 85 91 97 103

Portfolio Occupancy

80

85

90

95

100

1 7 13 19 25 31 37 43 49 55 61 67

Bennett Creek



OCCUPANCY LEVELS 

9-30-18 
 

3 

 

Average Occupancy by Development 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1 7 13 19 25 31 37 43 49 55 61 67 73 79 85 91 97 103

Brookwood

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1 7 13 19 25 31 37 43 49 55 61 67 73 79 85 91 97 103

Camri Green



OCCUPANCY LEVELS 

9-30-18 
 

4 

 

Average Occupancy by Development 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1

Caroline Arms

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1 7 13 19 25

Caroline Oaks



OCCUPANCY LEVELS 

9-30-18 
 

5 

 

Average Occupancy by Development 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1 7 13 19 25

Cathedral Terrace

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1 7 13 19 25 31 37 43 49 55 61 67 73 79 85 91 97 103

Christine Cove



OCCUPANCY LEVELS 

9-30-18 
 

6 

 

Average Occupancy by Development 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

60

65

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

1 7 13 19 25 31 37 43 49 55 61 67 73 79 85 91 97 103

Hartwood

60

65

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

1 7

Lofts at LaVilla



OCCUPANCY LEVELS 

9-30-18 
 

7 

 

Average Occupancy by Development 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

60

65

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

1 7

Mary Eaves

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1 7 13

Mt. Carmel



OCCUPANCY LEVELS 

9-30-18 
 

8 

 

Average Occupancy by Development 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1 7 13

Oakwood

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

100

1 7 13

Timberwood



OCCUPANCY LEVELS 

9-30-18 
 

9 

 

Average Occupancy by Development 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

100

1 7 13 19 25 31 37 43 49 55 61 67 73 79 85 91 97 103

Timuquana



S M T W TH F S S M T W TH F S S M T W TH F S S M T W TH F S

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

20 21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27

27 28 29 30 31 24 25 26 27 28 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30

      31     

S M T W TH F S S M T W TH F S S M T W TH F S S M T W TH F S

1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24

26 27 28 29 30 31 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 28 29 30 31 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

30      

S M T W TH F S S M T W TH F S S M T W TH F S S M T W TH F S

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 15 16 17 18 19 20 21

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 22 23 24 25 26 27 28

29 30 27 28 29 30 31 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 29 30 31

      

JHFA Meeting Locations Meeting Rooms Located at 214 North Hogan Street, 8th Floor, Jacksonville,  Florida

8th Floor

FHFC Meeting Dates & Locations

February 1, 2019, Tallahassee City Hall August 2, 2019, TBD

March 22, 2019, Tallahassee City Hall September 20, 2019, TBD

May 10, 2019, Tallahassee City Hall October 31, 2019, Tallahassee City Hall

June 21, 2019 TBD December 13, 2019, Orlando Hyatt Regency Airport

NALHFA Annual Conference, May 15-18, 2019- Hilton Denver City Center

Florida ALHFA Conference  July 10-13, 2019- One Ocean Hotel, Atlantic Beach

Florida Housing Coalition Conference, August 26-28, 2019-  Rosen Centre Hotel, Orlando

JHFA Board Meeting Calendar 2019

JANUARY FEBRUARY MARCH APRIL

SEPTEMBER DECEMBER

MAY JUNE

OCTOBER NOVEMBER

JULY AUGUST



 

1 

 

Applications Due: SEPTEMBER 28, 2018 
for 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AREA OF OPPORTUNITY FUNDING REQUESTS 
In Conjunction with FHFC RFA 2018-112  

 
JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

 
NOTICE OF FUND AVAILABILITY & 

REQUEST FOR APPLICATIONS 
 

 
The Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the "Authority") announces the availability of funds and is 
requesting applications for the consideration of providing local government support for qualified 
multifamily housing developments which meet the goals of the Authority and comply with applicable 
federal and state law.  The Authority has adopted the following guidelines to set forth the general 
requirements and procedures that apply to the financing of multifamily housing developments. The 
Authority may waive specific provisions of these guidelines where good cause is shown and adequate 
supporting documentation is provided.  Any waiver is at the sole discretion of the Authority, and may 
require approval by the Jacksonville City Council.  In addition, these guidelines may be amended, revised, 
repealed or otherwise altered by the Authority with or without notice.  The Authority specifically 
welcomes requests for proposed alternative resident programs or development/unit features. 
 
All applications submitted will be reviewed by the Authority’s Financial Advisor, who will make 
recommendations to the Board.  The Board will decide whether or not to authorize commitment letters 
and loans providing Local Government Area of Opporrtunity Funding for developments seeking FHFC 
Housing Credits in conjunction with FHFC RFA 2018-112 and/or loans providing Local Government 
Contributions in conjunction with FHFC RFA 2018-112.  Submission of an application does not entitle the 
Applicant to financing, even if sufficient funds remain.   
 
The Authority will not consider issuing commitment letters to provide financing for any development 
unless the applicant has satisfied the general requirements set forth in these guidelines, submits a timely, 
complete, and acceptable application and complies with all of the procedures and requirements 
contained within the Authority’s application procedures and program guidelines. Copies of the Application 
are available at the Authority’s website:  
 
http://www.coj.net/departments/independent-boards-and-agencies/jacksonville-housing-finance-authority/multifamily-
programs.aspx 

 
The Authority reserves the right to impose additional requirements on any particular development.  
Compliance with these guidelines does not and shall not create any right by an applicant to a commitment 
or assurance that the Authority will provide the requested financing.   
 
The Authority provides local government support to assist in the construction, rehabilitation and 
permanent financing of multifamily housing developments.  The estimated amount of funds available for 
local government support is approximately $1,500,000. Up to this amount can be used for multi-family 
developments seeking Housing Credits from FHFC pursuant to FHFC RFA 2018-112, and Local Government 
Area of Opportunity Funding from JHFA.  

http://www.coj.net/departments/independent-boards-and-agencies/jacksonville-housing-finance-authority/multifamily-programs.aspx
http://www.coj.net/departments/independent-boards-and-agencies/jacksonville-housing-finance-authority/multifamily-programs.aspx


 

2 

 

The maximum amount of the Local Government Support loans funded pursuant to this NOFA is the 
amount that will allow an Applicant to receive the maximum points or preference for the Local 
Government Area of Opportunity Funding. One loan made in conjunction with FHFC RFA 2018-112 will 
be in the dollar amount necessary to score the maximum amount of points for the Local Government 
Area of Opportunity Funding, while another loan will be in the dollar amount necessary to score the 
maximum number of points for the Local Government Contribution. 
 
All applications received will compete with each other and be selected by the Authority for the available 
funding.  Applications will be reviewed against the criteria listed below and, if selected, each loan will be 
subject to the minimum loan terms stated below.  
 
Applications related to FHFC RFA 2018-112 or any other FHFC RFA are due no later than 5:00 PM, Eastern 
Standard Time, SEPTEMBER 28, 2018. The application cycle will be processed according to the Authority’s 
guidelines (which guidelines provide, however, that any remaining allocation available after the 
application cycle may be made available to applicants on a first-come, first-served basis). For more 
information, contact Mark Hendrickson. 
 
Applicants must submit an original and a total of two (2) copies to the Authority as follows:  
 
An original, one (1) hard copy, and a PDF of the entire application, and a $5,000 application fee (check 
to JHFA) to: 
 Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 
 Laura Stagner, Director of Finance 
 214 North Hogan Street, 7th Floor 
 Jacksonville, FL 32202 
 PDF to be emailed to lstagner@coj.net 
One (1) hard copy and a PDF of the entire application, and $3,000 review fee (check made out to The 
Hendrickson Company) to: 
 Mark Hendrickson 
 1404 Alban Avenue 
 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
 Contact: Mark Hendrickson, 850.671.5601 mark@thehendricksoncompany.com  

 
GUIDELINES 

1.    PROJECT THRESHOLD CRITERIA 

• Project must be located within Duval County, Florida; 

• Applicant must provide evidence of ownership or other legal control of the project site (e.g., a contract 
or option to purchase the project site); 

• Applicant must provide a set-aside of rental units equal to or greater than the standards for low 
income Housing Tax Credits or applicable FHFC Program, as the case may be; and, 

• Project must have evidence of land use and zoning authorizing the use of the property for multi-family 
residential uses. 

 
2.    PROJECT SELECTION CRITERIA 

• Project feasibility as determined by: 
✓ Applicant’s development and construction experience; 
✓ Applicant’s management experience; and 
✓ Financial feasibility to complete and operate the project (including, but not limited to, cost 

estimates, cash flows, debt service, coverage ratios, the percentage of public monies requested 
compared to project cost; leveraging) 

mailto:lstagner@coj.net
mailto:mark@thehendricksoncompany.com


 

3 

 

• Applicant’s performance and/or compliance (including any prior defaults) of any prior loans or 
contracts with the JHFA or the City; 

• The extent to which social services and assistance is offered to occupants (including, but not limited 
to, job training, computer training, home purchase assistance, health-related support); 

• The extent to which there is temporary (for any rehabilitation projects) or permanent displacement 
of existing tenants (then in which event either shall be scored as a negative factor); and, 

• The following shall receive emphasis in scoring:  
✓ Existing projects with either expiring Section 8 rental assistance contracts, or  
✓ The preservation of projects that have expiring affordable housing land use restrictions. 

• The JHFA established the following funding priorities for Applicants applying for the Local 
Government Area of Opportunity Funding: 
✓ Location within the boundaries of the Jacksonville City Limits (Pre-Consolidation, 1968)   
✓ Maximum Economic Impact 
✓ Developments which provide a lift to the neighborhood, and could lead to additional 

revitalization and/or neighborhood improvement 
✓ Projects that result in the adaptive reuse or redevelopment of existing structures or properties 
✓ Proximity to public transportation 
✓ Leveraging of JHFA funds with other City resources that could be used to meet the FHFC required 

contribution level, and leveraging of JHFA funds with other funds to achieve greater impact on 
the community/neighborhood 

✓ Ability to meet FHFC requirements for the contribution to be a part of permanent financing with 
minimum loan term. 

✓ Developments which commit to an affordability period beyond the minimum 50 year period 
required by FHFC and JHFA 

 
Note: The Board directed that the Guidelines include the following notice: Applications for developments 
serving the FHFC demographic groups of both Family and Elderly will be accepted. However, if the Board 
determines that a family development equals or exceeds  an Elderly development in terms of the Board’s 
evaluation of the criteria and priorities detailed above, the development serving the Family demographic 
will be selected. 
 
Note: A map is included with the NOFA that shows the boundaries of the Jacksonville City Limits, (Pre-
Consolidation, 1968). If you are unsure if a site is within that area, you may submit the site to Mark 
Hendrickson (mark@thehendricksoncompany.com) who will consult with the City and provide a 
determination prior to the application deadline. 
 
3.   LOAN TERMS:  
To be determined at time of loan commitment(s). The following will apply to all JFHA loans: 

 
The loan amount for Applicants seeking a Local Government Area of Opportunity Funding loan will depend 
upon development type, and are detailed within FHFC RFA 2018-112. The terms for such loans are: 

✓ Loan Amount to be determined by development type, as detailed in FHFC RFA 2018-112 
✓ Term of loan to be the minimum required by FHFC RFA 2018-112 or for development financial 

feasibility 
✓ Monthly payment schedule 
✓ Amortizing or non-amortizing, but amortizing preferred 
✓ 0% interest possible, but not preferred 
✓ Loan due in full in balloon payment at end of loan period if not already amortized 

mailto:mark@thehendricksoncompany.com


 

4 

 

• The loan documents shall provide for the standard default provisions; and upon default, the loan shall 
accrue interest at the highest rate then permissible under Florida law from and after an event of 
default that remains uncured. 

• Each loan shall be evidenced by a promissory note in the full-face amount of the Local Government 
Support, and secured in its entirety by a subordinate lien mortgage, and shall include such other 
standard loan documents as necessary to evidence and complete the transaction. 

• The loan shall not be disbursed until the following minimum due diligence is received and satisfactory 
(however, additional requirements may be necessary for the project):  mortgagee title insurance 
policy (or a marked-down commitment for the same), boundary survey certified to the JHFA, 
environmental site assessments certified to the JHFA, and evidence of concurrency and all permits 
authorizing construction of the project. 

• The loan shall be issued in the name of the JHFA. Such loan shall be reviewed, implemented, and 
administered by the JHFA. 

4.   FEES  
 

• $5,000 Application fee due with original application, check made out to JHFA 

• $3,000 Review fee, due with copies of application, but mailed to and check made out to The 
Hendrickson Company 

• $5,000 Closing Fee, due at loan closing. 
 

5.  DISCLAIMER 
The JHFA is taking no responsibility that FHFC in their initial scoring, or in any scoring revisions that take 
place due to legal disputes between applicants in FHFC RFA 2018-112, or any other FHFC RFA, related to 
the NPV calculation or the calculation for the Area of Opportunity Funding. JHFA is assuming NO LIABILITY 
if FHFC or any judicial or quasi-judicial body comes to a conclusion that the funding levels or loan terms 
do not qualify the Applicant for the Local Government Area of Opportunity or Local Government Support 
points within the FHFC RFA/Application. 
 
If approved for a loan, and with that understanding, if you would like to have a local government 
contribution loan form executed by the City, please fill out the form and submit to both Laura Stagner and 
Mark Hendrickson prior to the submission deadline. 



 

1 

 

 
 
 
 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 
 

Local Government Support Funds  
 

Application 
 
 

THIS APPLICATION IS SOLELY FOR THE USE OF APPLICANTS SEEKING LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
AREA OF OPPORTUNITY FUNDING IN CONJUNCTION WITH FHFC HOUSING CREDIT                 

RFA 2018-112  
 
 
 

SUBMIT THE ORIGINAL, ONE COPY AND A PDF OF THE ENTIRE APPLICATION 
 & APPLICATION FEE OF $5,000 (CHECK MADE TO JHFA) TO: 

 
JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

LAURA STAGNER, DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
214 N. HOGAN ST., 7TH FLOOR 

lstagner@coj.net 
JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32202 

904.255.8279 
 

SUBMIT ONE (1) COPY AND A PDF OF THE ENTIRE APPLICATION  
 & REVIEW FEE OF $3,000 (CHECK MADE TO THE HENDRICKSON COMPANY) 

 
THE HENDRICKSON COMPANY 

1404 ALBAN AVENUE 
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA  32301 

mark@thehendricksoncompany.com 
850.671.5601 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
REVISED August 15, 2018



 

2 

 

  

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
NOTE:   Please see The City Council of the City of Jacksonville’s Ordinance  2014-185-E, which 
establishes minimum Project Threshold Criteria, Project Selection Criteria, and Loan Terms, all 
for local government support as set forth in this application.  If any of the four Project Threshold 
Criteria are not met (e.g., Project located in Duval County; Site control; Sufficient number of 
rental units per applicable FHFC program; and Project presently zoned and has appropriate land 
use designation permitting multi-family residential for the proposed Project), then the 
application will not be considered by the JHFA.  If an application is approved, then the JHFA will 
determine the loan terms for the local government support, including the minimum 
requirements set forth in Ordinance 2014-185-E and including any other terms required by the 
JHFA (including, but not limited to, the applicant paying the JHFA’s legal fees and all costs related 
to the local government support loan). 
 
IF ONE OF THE PROPOSED FUNDING SOURCES FOR THIS DEVELOPMENT IS BOND, THE BONDS 
MUST BE ISSUED BY JHFA.  THE DEADLINE TO APPLY FOR JHFA BONDS WILL BE NOTICED IN THE 
NOTICE FOR FUND AVAILABILITY. 
  
Please indicate if Applicant will use these funds in conjunction with (check one) 
  

  FHFC HOUSING CREDIT RFA # 2018-112 
  

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT LOAN REQUEST: Please provide the details of your request 
for a Local Government Area of Opportunity Loan, including the requested loan 
amount and loan terms, including interest rate, maturity date, amortization, and 
balloon (if any). The maximum amount of the Local Government Area of 
Opportunity Loan is the minimum amount that will allow the Applicant to score 
the maximum number of points under the FHFC’s guidelines. This amount varies 
bases upon construction type, and will be found in FHFC RFA 2018-112.  
 
LOAN AMOUNT REQUESTED: _________________________________ 
MATURITY OF LOAN IN YEARS: _________________________________ 
INTEREST RATE:   _________________________________ 
AMORTIZATION:   _________________________________ 
BALLOON, IF ANY:  _________________________________ 
VALUE OF CONTRIBUTION FOR FHFC APPLICATION PURPOSES:  ______________ 
EXPLANATION AND CALCULATION: _________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 



 

3 

 

  

I. DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY AND TIMELINE 
 
A. Provide a short narrative description of the Development, including all amenities, unit features and 

scope of work to be performed.  MAJOR DEVELOPMENT AMENITIES WILL BE INCLUDED IN THE LAND 
USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT AND/OR THE LOW INCOME HOUSING AGREEMENT, IF APPLICABLE.  
Also attach as Exhibit 1 a timeline for the completion of the development which includes all key 
dates, including anticipated timing of permits and credit underwriting, bond closing date, 
completion of construction, rent up, and stabilization. 

 
 ____        

 ____        

 ____        

 ____        

 ____        

 ____        

 ____        

   
B. Attach as Exhibit 2 a narrative description of how this application meets all selection criteria for 
Local Government Area of Opportunity Funding, as detailed in the associated NOFA. Include as an 

addendum to the narrative your anticipated score related to meeting the threshold criteria in the 
FHFC RFA 2018-112 related to proximity to public transportation and provide a written narrative 
that explains the anticipated score in detail. Please provide the location of the public 
transportation/bus stop, and the type of stop it is, and the distance that you calculate from the 
development to the public transportation. 
 
C.    Applicant must agree to participate in the Crime Free Multi-Housing Program sponsored by    the 

Jacksonville Sheriff’s Office.  Terms of this program are included as Attachment 1.  Proof of 
participation must be provided to the Authority semi-annually. 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

4 

 

  

D.  SUMMARY OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

       

Name of Development  

Location of Development, by street address, or if no 
address, by mileage from nearest cross streets. Also, 
attach a map showing the development’s location. The 
Project must be located in Duval County. (PROJECT 
THRESHOLD CRITERIA) 

 

City Council District Number  

Developer/ 
Location (name of controlling company, not of LP or 
LLC). 

 

Contact person for application, including name, email, 
and phone numbers 

 

Development Construction Type 
New Construction or Rehabilitation 

 

Development Demographic 
Family, Elderly, or other 

 

Number of Units, by Bedrooms  

Total Development Cost  

Cost per unit  

Land Cost  

Acquisition of Building Cost if applicable  

Hard Rehab Cost or Construction Cost  

General Contractor   

Set Aside Period (minimum of 50 years)  

Set Aside Levels (PROJECT THRESHOLD CRITERIA)  

Current Zoning (PROJECT THRESHOLD CRITERIA)  

Evidence of Site Control (PROJECT THRESHOLD 
CRITERIA) 

 

Geographic Area of Opportunity (Yes or No)  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

5 

 

  

II. APPLICANT INFORMATION 
 

A. Applicant Name:        
 

Must be a legally formed entity (i.e., limited partnership, corporation, etc.) qualified to do 
business in the State of Florida at the time of submission of Application.   
 

B.  If partnership, name of general partner(s):       

       

If corporation, name and title of executive officer:       

       

Address:       

       

Telephone:        Facsimile:        
 

 

III.    PROPOSED PROJECT FINANCING 

 
A. Proposed Finance Summary: Please provide as Exhibit 3 a permanent loan period detailed sources 

and uses that is in a format acceptable to FHFC as part of the upcoming HC RFA process.   
 
IV. ABILITY TO PROCEED 
 
 Each Application shall be reviewed for feasibility and ability of the Applicant to proceed with 

construction of the Development. 
 
A. Site Control (PROJECT THRESHOLD CRITERIA) 
 
 Site Control must be demonstrated by the APPLICANT.  At a minimum, a Contract for Purchase and 

Sale must be held by the Applicant for the proposed site. The contract may not until expire until 2018, 
and the buyer MUST be the Applicant. Indicate which form of site control is provided: 

 
       Contract for Purchase & Sale, and Title Insurance Commitment showing marketable title in the 

name of the Seller 
 
       Recorded Deed, and Title Insurance Policy Showing marketable title in the name of the Applicant 
 
       Long-Term Lease:  If site control is demonstrated by long-term lease, a copy of the executed 

lease must be provided.  The lease may be contingent only upon the receipt of Bond 
Financing.  Also, a Title Insurance Commitment showing marketable title in the name of the 
lessee must be included. 

 
 IMPORTANT:  If site control is not held by the Applicant, a fully executed, enforceable contract for 

purchase and sale or assignment of contract must be provided which obligates the seller or assignor 



 

6 

 

  

to transfer the site to the Applicant contingent ONLY upon the award of Financing from the Authority 
or FHFC.  .  Attach Evidence of Site Control as Exhibit 4. 

 
B. Zoning and Land Development Regulations (PROJECT THRESHOLD CRITERIA) 
 
 1. a. Is the site appropriately zoned for the proposed Development:  No         Yes  ___     
 
  b. Indicate zoning designation (s)        
 
  c. Current zoning permits       units per acre, or       for the site (PUD). 
 
  d. Total Number of Units in Development:        
 
  Note:  at a minimum, the current, applicable Future Land Use Map Designation and associated Local Government 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Element provisions must permit the proposed Development. ( PROJECT 
THRESHOLD CRITERIA) 

 

 2. New Construction Zoning and Land Development Regulation Development Requirements: 
 

Applicant must provide a letter from the appropriate local government official that the 
Development is consistent with zoning and land development regulations, which verify that the 
site is appropriately zoned and consistent with local land use regulations regarding density and 
intended use.  To meet minimum requirements, attach a letter from the appropriate local 
government official verifying that the current, applicable Future Land Use Map Designation 
and associated Local Government Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Element provisions 
permit the proposed Development. Attach the local government verification letter as Exhibit 5. 

 
 3. Rehabilitation Zoning and Land Development Regulation Development Requirements: 
 

Applicant must provide a letter from the appropriate local government official that the 
Development is consistent with zoning and land development regulations, which verify that the 
site is appropriately zoned and consistent with local land use regulations regarding density and 
intended use.  To meet minimum requirements, attach a letter from the appropriate local 
government official verifying that the current, applicable Future Land Use Map Designation 
and associated Local Government Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Element provisions 
permit the proposed Development. Attach the local government verification letter as Exhibit 5. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 



 

7 

 

  

V. CERTIFICATION (Original Signatures Required) 
 

The undersigned Applicant certifies that the information in this Application is true, correct and 
authentic. 
 
THE APPLICANT FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES HAVING READ ALL APPLICABLE AUTHORITY RULES 
GOVERNING THE PROGRAM AND ACKNOWLEDGE HAVING READ THE INSTRUCTIONS FOR 
COMPLETING THIS APPLICATION. 
 
THE APPLICANT UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES TO ABIDE BY THE PROVISIONS OF THE APPLICABLE 
FLORIDA STATUTES AND AUTHORITY PROGRAM POLICIES, RULES AND GUIDELINES. 
 
THE UNDERSIGNED REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS THAT THE INFORMATION PROVIDED HEREIN IS 
TRUE AND ACCURATE.  THE PERSON EXECUTING THIS DOCUMENT REPRESNTS THAT HE OR SHE 
HAS THE AUTHORITY TO BIND THE APPLICANT AND ALL INDIVIDUALS AND ENTITIES NAMED 
HEREIN TO THIS WARRANTY OF TRUTHFULNESS AND COMPLETENESS OF THE APPLICATION. 
 
THE APPLICANT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE AUTHORITY’S INVITATION TO SUBMIT AN 
APPLICATION DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A COMMITMENT TO FINANCE THE PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT.  BEFORE THE AUTHORITY CAN CLOSE A LOAN THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
MUST RECEIVE AN ALLOCATION OF HOUSING CREDITS AND APPLICANTS MUST SUCCESSFULLY 
COMPLETE CREDIT UNDERWRITING AND OBTAIN ALL NECESSARY APROVALS FROM THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS, AUTHORITY COUNSEL, BOND COUNSEL, THE CREDIT UNDERWRITER AND CITY 
COMMISSION AND STAFF. 
 
 
 
    
Applicant                                             Date  Signature of Witness 
 
 
              
Name and Title ((typed or printed)  Name (typed or printed) 
 

 
NOTE:  ORIGINAL APPLICATION MUST CONTAIN AN ORIGINAL SIGNATURE, OR THE APPLICATION WILL BE 
REJECTED AUTOMATICALLY 



 

8 

 

  

ATTACHMENT 1 



 

9 

 

  

 

 



I 10 XY W
I 2

95
 XY

 S
BEAVER ST W

PHILLIPS HY

I 9
5 X

Y N

NORMANDY BV

103RD ST

BEACH BV

SA
N J

OSE
 BV

ATLANTIC BV

NEW KINGS RD

DUNN AV

MA
IN

 S
T N

SR 9A XY N

LEM TURNER RD

OTIS RD

U S
 30

1 H
Y S

OLD KINGS RD

ZOO PY

JO
NE

S R
D

BL
AN

DI
NG

 B
V

OLD PLANK RD

LA
NE

 AV
 S

HECKSCHER DR

J TURNER BUTLER BV

COLLINS RD

GARDEN ST

BUCCANEER TL

U S
 30

1 H
Y N

IM
ES

ON
 R

D

PLUMMER RD

KE
RN

AN
 BV

 S

HO
DG

ES
 BV

FT CAROLINE RD

YE
LL

OW
 BL

UF
F R

D

SR
 9A

 X
Y S

POST ST

STARRATT RD

RO
OS

EV
EL

T B
V

PRITCHARD RD

COMMONWEALTH AV

CEDAR POINT RD

PE
AR

L S
T N

HART XY

DU
VA

L R
D

CH
AF

FE
E 

RD
 S

NEW BERLIN RD

MONUMENT RD
MERRILL RD

CA
SS

AT
 AV

YELLOW WATER RD

UNIVERSITY BV

ARGYLE FOREST BV

LENOX AV

ACREE RD

LA
NE

 AV
 N

KINGS RD

PECAN PARK RD

MA
YP

OR
T R

D

SOUTEL DR

BR
AD

DO
CK

 R
D

CE
SE

RY
 BV

RI
CK

ER
 R

D

GI
RV

IN
 R

D

OLD ST AUGUSTINE RD

JA
MM

ES
 R

D

SH
IN

DL
ER

 D
R

ARLINGTON XY

WILSON BV

118TH ST

GATE PY

BU
LL

S 
BA

Y H
Y

ST AUGUSTINE RD

TROUT RIVER BV

PARK ST

GREENLAND RD

SR A1A HY

SO
UT

HS
ID

E 
BV

EASTPORT RD

LORETTO RD

BIS
CA

YN
E B

V

BR
AN

AN
 FI

EL
D 

RD

HO
OD

 R
D

EDGEWOOD AV W

SAN JUAN AV

PENMAN RD

KE
RN

AN
 BV

 N

FIR
ES

TO
NE

 R
D

MORSE AV

HENDRICKS AV

LOSCO RD

BL
AI

R 
RD

PIC
KE

TT
VIL

LE
 R

D

BUCKMAN BG S

MONCRIEF RD W

HA
MI

LT
ON

 S
T

45TH ST W

OR
TE

GA
 B

V

EMERSON ST

I 295 XY N

HARTS RD

MY
RT

LE
 AV

 N

5TH ST W RO
GE

RO
 R

D

FO
UR

AK
ER

 R
D

BOWDEN RD

TA
LL

EY
RA

ND
 AV

SE
MI

NO
LE

 R
D

MA
RT

IN
 LU

TH
ER

 KI
NG

 JR
 PY

SUNBEAM RD

HERLONG RD

ME
LS

ON
 AV

HOGAN RD

8TH ST E

ED
GE

W
OO

D A
V 

N

BROWARD RD

BELFO
RT R

D

12TH ST W

21ST ST E

3RD ST

OL
D M

ID
DL

EB
UR

G 
RD

 S

OLD
 MIDDLEBURG RD N

SAN PABLO RD S

SCOTT MILL RD

EL
LIS

 R
D 

N

TERRELL RD

UNIVERSITY BV W

RA
MP

AR
T R

D

EDGEWOOD AV S

HA
LS

EM
A R

D 
N

MC
 D

UF
F A

V 
S

FAYE RD

3RD ST N

UN
IVE

RS
ITY

 B
V S

FOREST BV

POWERS AV

MONCRIEF RD

MT PLEASANT RD

ST
 JO

HN
S B

LU
FF

 R
D 

S

PU
LA

SK
I R

D

AL
TA

 D
R

CRYSTAL SPRINGS RD

HO
OD

 R
D 

S

BAYMEADOWS RD

SIBBALD RD

HA
MM

ON
D 

BV

FLORIDA BV

9TH ST S

BU
SC

H 
DR

 N

ICW JTB BG W

LEONID RD

BAY ST W

RIVERSIDE AV

DE
AN

 R
D

LONE STAR RD

HARLOW BV

3RD ST S

GOLFAIR BV

ALTAMA RD

MANDARIN RD

BO
UL

EV
AR

D

ALADDIN RD

GATE PY N

EL
LIS

 R
D 

S

WESCONNETT BV
TIMUQUANA RD

MARBON RD

CA
HO

ON
 R

D

SO
UT

HS
ID

E 
CO

NN
EC

TO
R 

BV

DAMES POINT BG  N

JULINGTON CREEK RD

HARTLEY RD

BUFFALO AV

KINGS AV

MATHEWS BG W

ST
 JO

HN
S B

LU
FF

 R
D 

N

CAPPER RD

KIN
G 

ST
OLD KINGS RD S

SHAD RD

TALLULAH AV

BR
OA

D 
ST

 N

AIRPORT RD

CR
AV

EN
 R

D

CH
AF

FE
E 

RD
 N

STOCKTON ST

ACOSTA XY

MAINE ST

SP
RI

NG
 G

LE
N 

RD

ICW WONDERWOOD BG W

LAKE SHORE BV

FOREST ST

CL
EV

EL
AN

D 
RD

TOUCHTON RD

RA
MP

 R
P

BEAUCLERC RD

HOOD LANDING RD

NORWOOD AV

CA
NA

L S
T N

HA
LS

EM
A R

D 
S

BARNES RD S

DUVAL ST E

DUVAL STATION RD

44TH ST E

HART BG N

BA
RN

ES
 R

D

CLARK RD

SAN MARCO BV

BA
RT

RA
M 

RD

MI
LL

 C
RE

EK
 R

D

LIV
E O

AK
 D

R

HA
RT

SF
IE

LD
 R

D

PH
OE

NI
X A

V

TOLEDO RD

BURNT MILL RD

MC
 D

UF
F A

V 
N

MC CORMICK RDKINGS RD N

SPRING PARK RD

BUSCH DR

30TH ST W

SEAGATE AV

SHERRY DR

MEMORIAL PARK RD

OC
EA

N 
ST

 N

GLYNLEA RD

SA
N 

PA
BL

O 
RD

 W

GROVE PARK BV

WINONA DR

HYDE GROVE AV

JU
LIA

 ST
 N

LAWTON AV

HE
RS

CH
EL

 S
T

LA
UR

A S
T N LIB

ER
TY

 ST
 N

CLYDE DR

NEW BERLIN RD E

ORANGE PICKER RD

IMESON PARK BV

CENTURION PY

DI
AM

ON
D 

C 
LA

DONNER RD

ORTEGA BG

ST JO
HNS AV

GATOR BOWL BV

SO
UT

H 
BE

AC
H 

PY

ICW ATLANTIC BG E

GRAND AVE BG

MAIN ST

OC
EA

N S
T

ATLANTIC BV

I 95 XY N

RAMP RP

JULINGTON CREEK RD

PARK STHA
MI

LT
ON

 S
T

OLD KINGS RD S

SR
 9A

 X
Y S

RAMP RP

BEACH BV

SO
UT

HS
ID

E 
BV

SR
 9A

 X
Y N

I 9
5 X

Y N

SAN PABLO RD S

OLD ST AUGUSTINE RD

DUVA
L R

D

LA
KE

 SH
OR

E B
V

RAMP RP

MC CORMICK RD

BEACH BV

BAYMEADOWS RD

5TH ST W

ATLANTIC BV

I 295 XY S

BRANAN FIELD RD

MAIN ST N

HECKSCHER DR

FAYE RD

LENOX AV

MANDARIN RD

PA
RK

 ST

SR A1A HY

KIN
G 

ST

RAMP RPCity of Jacksonville
0 18,000 36,000 54,000 72,0009,000

Feet
Developed by James M. Reed, AICP - jreed@coj.net
August 2017
Content intended for illustrative purposes only.

Preconsolidation and Today



ANALYSIS OF APPLICATIONS 

BONDS WITH SAIL OR SAIL WORKFORCE 
 

1 

 

1. Summary of Applications 
The 2019 Bond and Local Government Contribution NOFA’s both had a November 9, 2018 due 
date (open after that date). Applicants that applied for the Local Government Area of Opportunity 
Funding and were not selected were offered the opportunity to transfer their application to the 
Bond-SAIL-Local Government Contribution process (required letter from applicant detailing 
their intent and any changes to their application). 
 
The Ashley Square LGAOF application transferred their request to Bonds, with SAIL and the 
local contribution. Changes were made to TDC and set-aside levels. 
 
The Lofts at Cathedral LGAOF application transferred their request to Bonds, with SAIL 
Workforce and the local contribution. Changes were made to unit total, TDC, set-aside period, 
and set-aside levels. 
 
A new bond application was received from Campus Towers, which will be a Bonds with SAIL, 
but no local contribution (not required by FHFC for rehabilitation developments). 
 
The Parkview Commons applicant elected not to move forward with Bonds-SAIL. 
 

NAME 
LOCATION 
Council District 

DEVELOPER
/CONTACT 

UNITS DEMOGRAPHIC & 
DESIGN 

TDC COST 
PER UNIT 

JHFA BOND 
REQUEST 
JHFA Loan 
Request 

Hard Cost/Unit 

Ashley Square 
127 E. Ashley St.  
116 E. Beaver St. 

 
District 7- 
Reggie Gaffney 

Blue Sky 
Communities 
(70%) & 
Aging True 
(30%) 
 
Shawn 
Wilson 
 

120 Elderly 
Mid-Rise 
6-Story with Elevator 
& Parking Deck  
(1 building) 
New Construction 

$24,286,394 
 
$202,387/unit 

$16,500,000 
 
$110,000 
0% 
20 years 
Non-
amortizing 
Balloon 

 
 

$133,166 
 
66 % of TDC 

Lofts at 
Cathedral 
E. Duval Street, 
NW of intersection 
of E. Duval & N. 
Liberty Street 

 
District 7 
Reggie Gaffney 

Vestcor 
Ryan Hoover 
 

120 Family 
Mid-Rise 
5-Story with Elevator 
& Parking Deck 
(1 building) 
New Construction 

$21,934,970 
 
$182,791/unit 

$11,000,000 
 
$110,000 
0% 
20 years 
Non-
amortizing 
Balloon 
 
 

$122,063 
 
67% of TDC 

Campus Towers 
1830 & 1850 
Kings Road 

 
District 7 
Garrett Dennis 

SHAG 
Development 
Darren Smith 
 

192 Elderly 
Garden 
3-Story with Elevator  
Rehabilitation 
 
Section 8 on 175 units 
 
Built 1967 

$33,826,541 
 
$176,180/unit 

$15,000,000 
 
$0 
 
 

$76,800 
 
44% of TDC 

 
 
 



ANALYSIS OF APPLICATIONS 

BONDS WITH SAIL OR SAIL WORKFORCE 
 

2 

 

2. Threshold Criteria & Analysis: All Applicants meet threshold requirements. 
 

Development 
 
Applicant 
 
 

Project must be located 
within Duval County 
 

Evidence of 
ownership or 
other legal 
control of site 

Set-aside of rental 
units equal to or 
greater than the 
standards for 
LIHTC or applicable 
FHFC program 

Evidence of land 
use and zoning 
authorizing the 
use of the of the 
property for 
multifamily 
residential uses 

Ashley Square 
 
Ashley Square 
Associates, LLC 
 

Yes 
 
127 E. Ashley St.  
116 E. Beaver St 
West side of Newman, 
from Ashley to Beaver 

Yes 
 
Site control via 
contract for 
purchase and 
sale  
Title Commitment 

Exceeds 
 
  5.0%<22% AMI 
10.8%<33% AMI 
84.2%<60% AMI 
 
Perpetuity 

Yes 
 
CRO Downtown 
Overlay District 
 
FHFC Zoning Form 
executed by City 

Lofts at Cathedral 
 
Lofts at Cathedral, Ltd. 

Yes 
 
E. Duval Street, NW of 
intersection of E. Duval & 
N. Liberty Street 
 

Yes 
 
Site control via 
Contract for 
Purchase & Sale  
Title Commitment 

Exceeds 
 
10%<30% AMI 
35%<60% AMI 
55%<80% AMI 
 
50 years 

Yes 
 
CRO Downtown 
Overlay in CBD 
 
FHFC Zoning Form 
executed by City 

Campus Towers 
 
Campus Towers 
Apartments, LLLP. 
 

Yes 
 
1830 & 1850 Kings Road 

Yes 
 
Site control via 
Contract for 
Purchase & Sale 
Title Commitment 

Exceeds 
 
10%<33% AMI 
90%<60% AMI 
 
50 years 

Yes 
 
CRO & RMD-D 
 
FHFC Zoning Form 
executed by City 

 
3. Summary of Loan Requests: 

 

DEVELOPMENT LOAN 
REQUEST 

LOAN TERM  NPV 
COST 

LOAN 
RATE 

COMMENTS 

Ashley Square $110,000 20 years 
 
No annual 
payments 
Balloon year 
20 

$76,342 
 
$636/unit 

0% Minimum to achieve FHFC 
minimum NPV of $75,000 

Lofts at Cathedral $110,000 20 years 
 
No annual 
payments 
Balloon year 
20 

$76,342 
 
$636/unit 

0% Minimum to achieve FHFC 
minimum NPV of $75,000 

Campus Towers $0 N.A. $0 
 
$0/unit 

N.A. FHFC does not require 
contribution on rehab 
developments (SAIL)  

 



 

26460/001/01421417.DOCv2 

RESOLUTION 

RESOLUTION REGARDING THE OFFICIAL ACTION OF 

THE JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

RELATIVE TO THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO EXCEED 

$16,500,000 AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF ITS 

MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE BONDS (ASHLEY 

SQUARE), SERIES 2019, FOR THE PURPOSE OF FINANCING 

ALL OR A PORTION OF THE COSTS RELATED TO THE 

ACQUISITION, AND CONSTRUCTION OF A MULTIFAMILY 

RESIDENTIAL HOUSING FACILITY FOR ELDERLY 

PERSONS OF LOW, MIDDLE OR MODERATE INCOME; 

AND FURTHER AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND 

DELIVERY OF A PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT BY AND 

BETWEEN THE JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY AND ASHLEY SQUARE ASSOCIATES, LLC OR 

ITS PERMITTED SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS; AND 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Ashley Square Associates, LLC and its permitted successors and assigns 

(the “Company”) has applied to the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the “Authority”) 

to: (a) issue its Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Ashley Square), Series 2019 in a principal 

amount not to exceed $16,500,000 (the “Bonds”) for the purpose of financing all or a portion of 

the costs related to the acquisition and construction of a multifamily residential housing facility 

to be located at 127 E. Ashley Street and 116 E. Beaver Street, Jacksonville, Duval County, 

Florida (the “County”), consisting of approximately 120 units to be commonly known as Ashley 

Square Apartments (the “Project”), to be occupied by low, middle or moderate income elderly 

persons in accordance with the Company's application submitted to the Authority, and (b) loan 

the proceeds of the Bonds to the Company pursuant to Chapter 159, Part IV, Florida Statutes, or 

such other provision or provisions of Florida law as the Authority may determine advisable 

(collectively, the “Act”); and 

WHEREAS, a determination by the Authority to issue the Bonds under the Act, if so 

requested by the Company, in one or more issues or series not exceeding an aggregate principal 

amount of $16,500,000 and to loan the proceeds thereof to the Company to finance the Project 

under a loan agreement or other financing agreement which will provide that payments 

thereunder be at least sufficient to pay the principal of and interest and redemption premium, if 

any, on such Bonds and such other costs in connection therewith as may be incurred by the 

Authority, will assist the Company and promote the purposes provided in the Act; and 

WHEREAS, the Company shall be required to execute and deliver that certain 

Preliminary Agreement between the Authority and the Company relating to the issuance of the 

Bonds, attached hereto as EXHIBIT A (the “Preliminary Agreement”); and 



 

26460/001/01421417.DOCv2 

2 

WHEREAS, in order to satisfy certain of the requirements of Section 147(f) of the 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the Authority will hold a public hearing on the 

proposed issuance of the Bonds for the purposes herein stated, which hearing will be scheduled 

at least fourteen (14) days following the publication of notice of public hearing in a newspaper 

of general circulation in the County (a form of such notice is attached hereto as EXHIBIT B), 

which public hearing will be conducted in a manner that provides a reasonable opportunity for 

persons with differing views to be heard, both orally and in writing, on both the issuance of 

such Bonds and the location and nature of the portion of the Project to be financed with the 

proceeds therefrom; and 

WHEREAS, it is intended that this Resolution (“Resolution”) shall constitute official 

action toward the issuance of the Bonds within the meaning of the applicable United States 

Treasury Regulations. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT DETERMINED AND RESOLVED BY THE 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY THAT: 

SECTION 1.  APPROVAL OF THE PROJECT.  The acquisition and construction of the 

Project and the financing thereof by the Authority through the issuance of the Bonds, pursuant 

to the Act, will promote the health and welfare of the citizens of the County and will thereby 

serve the public purposes of the Act. 

SECTION 2.  EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE PRELIMINARY 

AGREEMENT.  The Chair or Vice Chair of the Authority is hereby authorized and directed to 

execute, for and on behalf of the Authority, the Preliminary Agreement providing 

understandings relative to the proposed issuance of the Bonds by the Authority to finance the 

Project in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed the lesser of: (a) $16,500,000 or (b) the 

cost of the Project, as determined by the Authority with such changes, modifications, deletions 

and insertions as the Chair or Vice Chair, with the advice of Authority's counsel and bond 

counsel, may deem necessary and appropriate.  Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive 

evidence of the approval thereof by the Authority. 

SECTION 3.  AUTHORIZATION OF THE BONDS.  Subject to receipt by the 

Authority of at least $16,500,000 of private activity bond allocation from the Division of Bond 

Finance, there is hereby authorized to be issued and the Authority hereby determines to issue 

the Bonds, if so requested by the Company and subject to the conditions set forth in the 

Preliminary Agreement and any subsequent resolution of the Authority related to the Bonds, in 

one or more issues or series in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $16,500,000 for the 

purpose of financing the Project.  The Bonds shall be designated “Jacksonville Housing Finance 

Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Ashley Square), Series 2019” or such other 

name or series designation as the Authority may subsequently determine.  The Bonds shall not 

be issued unless such Bonds are in compliance with the applicable terms and conditions of the 

Authority's Multifamily Bond Allocation Policies and Procedures and Program Handbook 



 

26460/001/01421417.DOCv2 

3 

(revised September 2018).  The rate of interest payable on the Bonds shall not exceed the rate 

permitted by law. 

SECTION 4.  RECOMMENDATION FOR APPROVAL TO CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA.  The Authority hereby recommends the issuance of the 

Bonds and the financing of the Project for approval to the City Council of the City of 

Jacksonville, Florida (the “City”).  The Authority hereby directs the Chair or Vice Chair, at the 

expense of the Company, to seek approval for the issuance of the Bonds and the financing of the 

Project by the City as the applicable elected representatives of the County under and pursuant 

to the Act and Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

SECTION 5.  GENERAL AUTHORIZATION.  The Chair, the Vice Chair, the Secretary 

and counsel for the Authority, the Authority's financial advisor and bond counsel, are hereby 

further authorized to proceed, upon execution of the Preliminary Agreement, with the 

undertakings provided for therein on the part of the Authority and are further authorized to 

take such steps and actions as may be required and necessary in order to cause the Authority to 

issue the Bonds subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Preliminary 

Agreement authorized hereby. 

SECTION 6.  AFFIRMATIVE ACTION.  This Resolution is an affirmative action of the 

Authority toward the issuance of the Bonds, as contemplated in the Preliminary Agreement, in 

accordance with the purposes of the laws of the State of Florida (the “State”) and the applicable 

United States Treasury Regulations. 

SECTION 7.  APPROVAL OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING.  The form and 

publishing of the notice of public hearing attached hereto as EXHIBIT B is hereby approved by 

the Authority.  The Authority hereby authorizes the public hearing required by Section 147(f) of 

the Code to be held by the Director of Finance or her designee related to the Project and the 

Bonds. 

SECTION 8.  LIMITED OBLIGATIONS.  The Bonds and the interest and premium, if 

any, thereon shall not constitute an indebtedness or pledge of the general credit or taxing power 

of the City, the County, the State or any political subdivision or agency thereof but shall be 

payable solely from the revenues pledged therefor pursuant to, among other things, a trust 

indenture, a loan agreement or financing agreement and a land use restriction agreement prior 

to or contemporaneously with the issuance of the Bonds. 

SECTION 9.  LIMITED APPROVAL.  The approval given herein shall not be construed 

as (a) an endorsement of the creditworthiness of the Company or the financial ability of the 

Project, (b) a recommendation to any prospective purchaser of the Bonds, (c) an evaluation of 

the likelihood of the repayment of the debt service on the Bonds, or (d) an approval of any 

necessary re-zoning applications nor for any other regulatory permits relating to the Project and 

the Authority shall not be construed by reason of its adoption of this Resolution to have made 

any such endorsement, finding or recommendation or to have waived any right of the City's or 



 

26460/001/01421417.DOCv2 

4 

the Authority's rights or estopping the City or the Authority from asserting any rights or 

responsibilities it may have in that regard. 

SECTION 10.  SEVERABILITY.  If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or 

provisions of this Resolution, or any of the documents attached hereto or contemplated hereby, 

should be held contrary to any express provision of law or contrary to the policy of express law, 

though not expressly prohibited, or against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be 

held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be 

deemed separate from the remaining covenants, agreements or provisions of this Resolution. 

SECTION 11.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately 

upon its passage. 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority this 

28th day of November, 2018 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING 

FINANCE AUTHORITY 

By:  

ATTEST: William I. Gulliford, III, Chair 

 

By:  

Name:  

Title:  

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

By:  

Office of the General Counsel 



 

26460/001/01421417.DOCv2 

EXHIBIT LIST 

EXHIBIT A  PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT B  FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 



 

26460/001/01421417.DOCv2 

Exhibit A 

EXHIBIT A 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 



26460/001/01421424.DOCv2

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

This PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT (this "Preliminary Agreement") dated as of 

November ___, 2018 between the JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY, a 

body corporate and politic of the State of Florida (the "Authority"), and ASHLEY SQUARE 

ASSOCIATES, LLC, a Florida limited liability company and its permitted successors and 

assigns (the "Company"). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

SECTION 1.  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT.  Among the matters of mutual 

understanding which have resulted in the execution of this Preliminary Agreement are the 

following: 

(a) The Florida Housing Finance Authority Law (Chapter 159, Part IV, Florida 

Statutes), as amended (the "Act") provides that the Authority may issue its revenue bonds and 

loan the proceeds thereof to one or more persons, firms or private corporations, or use such 

proceeds to defray the cost of acquiring, by purchase or construction, certain qualifying 

facilities. 

(b) The Company is considering the acquisition and construction of a multifamily 

residential housing facility for low, middle or moderate income elderly persons to be located at 

127 E. Ashley Street and 116 E. Beaver Street, Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida [____] (the 

"County") to be more commonly known as Ashley Square Apartments (the "Project").  It is 

currently estimated that the cost related to the acquisition and construction of the Project will be 

approximately [$24,286,394.] 

(c) The Authority intends this Preliminary Agreement to constitute its official 

binding commitment for purposes of the Act and applicable federal tax law only, subject to the 

terms hereof, to issue its Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Ashley Square), Series 2019 in a 

principal amount not to exceed $16,500,000 (the "Bonds") in one or more series or issues 

pursuant to the Act in a final amount to be determined by the Authority and to loan the 

proceeds thereof to the Company, or to use such proceeds, to finance all or a portion of the cost 

related to the acquisition and construction of the Project, including all costs incurred in 

connection with the issuance of the Bonds by the Authority. 

(d) The Authority considers the issuance and sale of the Bonds, for the purpose 

hereinabove set forth, consistent with the objectives of the Act.  This commitment is an 

affirmative official action of the Authority toward the issuance of the Bonds as herein 

contemplated in accordance with the purposes of both the Act and the applicable United States 

Treasury Regulations provided, however, the commitment is specifically subject to the terms 

and conditions set forth in this Preliminary Agreement and creates no rights of specific 

performance on the part of the Company. 



26460/001/01421424.DOCv2

2 

SECTION 2.  UNDERTAKINGS ON THE PART OF THE AUTHORITY.  Subject to 

the terms hereof, the Authority agrees as follows: 

(a) The Authority will authorize the issuance of the Bonds in the aggregate principal 

amount necessary and sufficient to finance all or a portion of the costs related to the acquisition 

and construction of the Project as the Authority and the Company shall agree in writing, but in 

all events, the principal amount of such Bonds shall not exceed the lesser of: (i) the costs related 

to the Project, as determined by the Authority, or (ii) $16,500,000. 

(b) Such actions and documents may, at the option of the Authority, permit the 

issuance from time to time in the future of additional bonds on terms which shall be set forth 

therein, whether pari passu with other series of bonds or otherwise, for the purpose of 

defraying the cost of completion, enlargements, improvements and expansion of the Project, or 

any segment thereof, or refunding of the Bonds. 

(c) The loan or financing agreement between the Authority and the Company (the 

"Loan Agreement") shall, under the terms agreed upon by the parties, provide for payments to 

be made by the Company in such sums as shall be necessary to pay the amounts required under 

the Act including the principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on the Bonds, 

as and when the same shall become due and payable. 

(d) In authorizing the loan of the proceeds of the Bonds pursuant to the Loan 

Agreement, the Authority will make no warranty, either expressed or implied, that the proceeds 

of the Bonds will be sufficient to pay all costs of the acquisition and construction of the Project 

or that those facilities encompassed by the Project will be suitable for the Company's purposes 

or needs. 

(e) The Bonds shall specifically provide that they are payable solely from the 

revenues derived from the Loan Agreement, the Trust Indenture relating to the Bonds (the 

"Indenture") or other agreements approved by the Authority, except to the extent payable out of 

amounts attributable to the proceeds of the Bonds.  The Bonds and the interest thereon shall not 

constitute an indebtedness or pledge of the Authority, the general credit of the City of 

Jacksonville, the County or of the State of Florida (the "State"), and such fact shall be plainly 

stated on the face of the Bonds. 

SECTION 3.  UNDERTAKINGS ON THE PART OF THE COMPANY.  Subject to the 

terms hereof, the Company agrees as follows: 

(a) The Company will use reasonable efforts to insure that the Bonds in the 

aggregate principal amount as stated above are sold; provided, however, that the terms of such 

Bonds and of the sale and delivery thereof shall be mutually satisfactory to the Authority and 

the Company. 

(b) The Company will cooperate with the Authority and with the underwriters or 

purchasers of the Bonds and the Authority's counsel, financial advisor and bond counsel with 



26460/001/01421424.DOCv2

3 

respect to the issuance and sale of the Bonds and will take such further action and authorize the 

execution of such documents as shall be required by the Authority for the authorization, 

issuance and sale of such Bonds and the use of the proceeds thereof to finance the cost related to 

the acquisition and construction of the Project all in accordance with the Authority's policies 

and procedures. 

(c) Prior to the issuance of the Bonds, the Company will enter into the Loan 

Agreement, consent to the execution by the Authority of the Indenture, approve such other 

documents related to the Bonds, as shall be determined reasonably necessary by the Authority, 

providing for, among other things, the issuance, delivery and security for the Bonds and the 

loan or use of the proceeds of the Bonds to finance the Project.  Such documents will provide, 

among other things, that the Company will be obligated to pay the Authority (or to trustees for 

holders of the Bonds on behalf of the Authority, as the case may be) sums sufficient in the 

aggregate to enable the Authority to pay the principal of and interest and redemption premium, 

if any, on the Bonds, as and when the same shall become due and payable, and all other 

expenses related to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds inclusive of the Authority's ongoing 

fees.  The Company will agree in such documents that if the cost related to the acquisition and 

construction of the Project exceeds the amounts allocated therefor, it shall not be entitled to any 

additional reimbursement or funding for any such excess either from the Authority, the 

bondholders or the trustee for the bondholders. 

(d) The Company shall be responsible for the Authority's up-front issuance fee in 

effect at the time the Bonds are issued and the fees of the Authority's counsel, underwriters, 

financial advisor and bond counsel. 

(e) The Company shall, in addition to paying the amounts set forth in the Loan 

Agreement, pay all costs of operation, maintenance, taxes, governmental and other charges 

which may be assessed or levied against or with respect to the Project. 

(f) The Company will hold the Authority free and harmless from any loss or 

damage and from any taxes or other charges levied or assessed by reason of the issuance, sale or 

delivery of the Bonds, as well as any mortgaging or other disposition of the Project. 

(g) All costs of issuance, including, without limitation, the Authority's fees and 

counsel fees not paid at the time of application shall be paid in full at the time of the sale and 

delivery of the Bonds.  The Company shall pay, upon request, a reasonable retainer to bond 

counsel to the Authority to compensate said counsel for legal services which must be performed 

whether or not the Bonds are actually issued.  Any retainers so paid will be credited against the 

respective counsel fees payable at closing. 

(h) The Company shall take all such actions such that the Bonds shall be issued in 

compliance with the applicable terms and conditions of the Authority’s Multifamily Bond 

Allocation Policies and Procedures (revised September 2018). 



26460/001/01421424.DOCv2

4 

(i) The Company will take such further action as may be required to implement its 

aforesaid undertakings and as it may deem appropriate in pursuance thereof. 

(j) Should the Company cancel this Preliminary Agreement in accordance with the 

terms hereof, the Company shall pay any and all of the Authority's fees and expenses including, 

without limitation, the fees and expenses of Authority's counsel and bond counsel and financial 

advisor. 

SECTION 4.  GENERAL PROVISIONS.  All commitments of the Authority under 

Section 2 hereof and of the Company under Section 3 hereof are subject to the conditions that 

the following events shall have occurred not later than December 31, 2019, or such other date as 

shall be mutually satisfactory to the Authority and the Company: 

(a) The Company shall deliver evidence satisfactory to the Authority's counsel and 

bond counsel (including such opinions issued by counsel to the Company acceptable to the 

Authority) that the Company is an entity organized and operated under the applicable laws of 

the State. 

(b) The Authority shall have received at least $16,500,000 of private activity bond 

allocation from the Division and shall be lawfully entitled to issue the Bonds as herein 

contemplated. 

(c) The Authority and the Company shall have agreed on mutually acceptable terms 

for the Bonds and the sale and delivery thereof and mutually acceptable terms and conditions of 

the Indenture, the Loan Agreement or other agreements incidental to the financing or referred 

to in Sections 2 and 3 hereof. 

(d) Such other rulings, approvals, consents, certificates of compliance, opinions of 

counsel and other instruments and proceedings satisfactory to the Authority as to such matters 

with respect to the Bonds, the Project, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, as shall be specified 

by the Authority, shall have been obtained from such governmental, as well as non-

governmental, agencies and entities as may have or assert competence or jurisdiction over or 

interest in matters pertinent thereto and shall be in full force and effect at the time of issuance of 

the Bonds. 

(e) Notwithstanding the designation as an "official binding commitment" for 

purposes of the Act and federal tax law, the Company and the Authority each reserve the 

absolute right to unilaterally cancel this Preliminary Agreement for reasonable cause at any 

time prior to the time the Bonds are issued by the Authority upon written notice to the other 

party of cancellation.   

(f) If the events set forth in this Section 4 do not take place within the time set forth 

or any extension thereof, or if the Company or the Authority exercises its rights of cancellation 

as set forth in this Section 4, the Company agrees that it will pay/forfeit to the Authority the 



26460/001/01421424.DOCv2

5 

Deposit (as defined herein) and pay the fees for Authority's counsel and bond counsel and 

financial advisor. 

(g) The Company acknowledges that the Authority may, during the time this 

Preliminary Agreement is in effect, issue similar "inducement" agreements to other companies 

for other multifamily projects, and/or may issue bonds or participate jointly with other 

authorities to issue bonds for multifamily or single family housing.  This Preliminary 

Agreement will create no priority or rights vis a vis subsequent agreements for the issuance of 

multifamily or single family bonds. 

SECTION 5.  DEPOSIT FROM THE COMPANY.  Notwithstanding anything herein to 

the contrary, the Company has represented to the Authority that it expects to complete the 

financing of the Project on or before the December 31, 2019, utilizing not less than $14,850,000 of 

the Authority's private activity bond allocation.  On the basis of the foregoing representation by 

the Company, the Authority has agreed to reserve $16,500,000 of its private activity bond 

allocation for the Project and issue the Bonds on behalf of the Company, subject to the 

Company's compliance with, among other things, all other applicable guidelines, policies and 

procedures of the Authority, as well as the terms and conditions set forth herein.  The Company 

acknowledges and agrees that failure to consummate the sale and delivery of not less than 

$14,850,000 of the Bonds on or before December 31, 2019 will result in substantial damages to 

the Authority which cannot be easily or adequately measured.  Consequently, in addition to the 

$7,500 non-refundable application fee paid to the Authority and a fee paid to the Authority’s 

creditor underwriter for the requisite credit underwriting fee to prepare the credit underwriting 

report, the Company shall deliver to the Authority on or before [_______], [____]: (a) a cashier's 

check in the amount of $40,000 which reflects the required final document preparation deposit 

(the "Deposit"), and (b) a cashier's check in the amount of $500 to cover the initial cost of 

publishing the TEFRA notice and conducting a hearing, all payable to the Authority and all of 

which shall be immediately cashed by the Authority.  In addition, the Company shall pay a 

$10,000 retainer to bond counsel.  If Bonds in the principal amount of not less than 

$14,850,000 are sold and delivered on or before December 31, 2019, the Authority will deliver to 

the Company a check in the amount of the Deposit simultaneously with the sale and delivery of 

the Bonds.  If for any reason Bonds in the principal amount of not less than $14,850,000 are not 

sold and delivered on or before December 31, 2019, the Deposit shall be retained by the 

Authority as and for full liquidated damages for any defaults hereunder on the part of the 

Company.  The Authority and the Company hereby agree that time is of the essence and it is the 

intent of the parties hereto that the provisions of this Preliminary Agreement be strictly 

construed.  Should the Authority cancel this Preliminary Agreement in accordance with Section 

4(e) hereof, then the Company shall be entitled to a return of the Deposit less the fees and 

expenses of the Authority including, without limitation, the fees and expenses of Authority's 

counsel (other than bond counsel) and financial advisor. 

SECTION 6.  BINDING EFFECT.  All covenants and agreements herein contained by or 

on behalf of the Authority and the Company shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective 



26460/001/01421424.DOCv2

6 

successors and assigns of the Authority and the Company whether so expressed or not; 

provided, however, the Company may not assign this Preliminary Agreement. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



26460/001/01421424.DOCv2

SIGNATURE PAGE TO 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

(ASHLEY SQUARE) 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Preliminary 

Agreement by their officers thereunder duly authorized on the date set forth above. 

AUTHORITY: 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY 

By: 

William I. Gulliford, III, Chair 



26460/001/01421424.DOCv2

SIGNATURE PAGE TO 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

(ASHLEY SQUARE) 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Preliminary 

Agreement by their officers thereunder duly authorized on the date set forth above. 

COMPANY: 

ASHLEY SQUARE ASSOCIATES, LLC 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 



 

26460/001/01421417.DOCv2 

Exhibit B 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 



26460/001/01421494.DOCv2

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, pursuant to Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code 

of 1986, as amended, of a public hearing by the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the 

"Authority"), to be held on ________ ___, 20__, at 214 N. Hogan Street, [___] Floor, Room [__], 

Jacksonville, Florida, 32202, at [____] or as soon thereafter as possible, for the purpose of 

receiving comments and hearing discussion concerning the issuance by the Authority of its 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Ashley Square), Series 2019, in an aggregate face amount 

of not to exceed $16,500,000 (the "Bonds").  The proceeds of the Bonds will be loaned to Ashley 

Square Associates, LLC or its permitted successors and assigns (the "Company"), and used for 

the purpose of financing all or a portion of the costs related to the acquisition and construction 

of a multifamily residential housing facility for elderly persons or families of low, middle or 

moderate income located at 127 E. Ashley Street and 116 E. Beaver Street located on the West 

side of Newman Street, from Ashley to Beaver, consisting of approximately 120 units commonly 

known as Ashley Square Apartments (the "Project").  Ashley Square Associates, LLC or its 

affiliate is expected to be the owner and operator of the Project. 

All interested persons are invited to attend said hearing and, either personally or 

through their representatives, present oral or written comments and discussion concerning the 

proposed issuance of the Bonds for the purposes described in the preceding paragraph and the 

nature and location of the Project.  Written comments may be submitted to the Jacksonville 

Housing Finance Authority, 214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor, Jacksonville, Florida, 32202.  Should 

any person decide to appeal any decision made by the Authority at this hearing, or by the 

Council of the City of Jacksonville (the "City") with respect to the approval of the issuance of the 

Bonds for the purposes described in the preceding paragraph, he or she will need a record of 

the proceedings, and he or she may need to insure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is 

made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  

Comments made at the hearing are for the consideration of the Authority or the City and will 

not bind the Authority or the City to any action it may take. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing a special 

accommodation to participate in this proceeding should contact the Jacksonville Housing 

Finance Authority at (904) 255-8200. 

All interested persons are invited to attend and be heard and present their comments. 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

Laura Stagner-Crites, Finance Director 



 

26460/001/01421504.DOCv2 

RESOLUTION 

RESOLUTION REGARDING THE OFFICIAL ACTION OF 

THE JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

RELATIVE TO THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO EXCEED 

$15,000,000 AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF ITS 

MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE BONDS (CAMPUS 

TOWERS APARTMENTS), SERIES 2019, FOR THE PURPOSE 

OF FINANCING ALL OR A PORTION OF THE COSTS 

RELATED TO THE ACQUISITION, AND REHABILITATION 

OF A MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL HOUSING FACILITY 

FOR ELDERLY PERSONS OR FAMILIES OF LOW, MIDDLE 

OR MODERATE INCOME; AND FURTHER AUTHORIZING 

THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A PRELIMINARY 

AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE JACKSONVILLE 

HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY AND CAMPUS TOWERS 

APARTMENTS, LLLP OR ITS PERMITTED SUCCESSORS 

AND ASSIGNS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Campus Towers Apartments, LLLP and its permitted successors and 

assigns (the “Company”) has applied to the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the 

“Authority”) to: (a) issue its Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Campus Towers 

Apartments), Series 2019 in a principal amount not to exceed $15,000,000 (the “Bonds”) for the 

purpose of financing all or a portion of the costs related to the acquisition and rehabilitation of a 

multifamily residential housing facility to be located at 1830 Kings Road and 1850 Kings Road, 

Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida (the “County”), consisting of approximately 192 units to be 

commonly known as Campus Towers Apartments (the “Project”), to be occupied by low, 

middle or moderate income elderly persons in accordance with the Company's application 

submitted to the Authority, and (b) loan the proceeds of the Bonds to the Company pursuant to 

Chapter 159, Part IV, Florida Statutes, or such other provision or provisions of Florida law as 

the Authority may determine advisable (collectively, the “Act”); and 

WHEREAS, a determination by the Authority to issue the Bonds under the Act, if so 

requested by the Company, in one or more issues or series not exceeding an aggregate principal 

amount of $15,000,000 and to loan the proceeds thereof to the Company to finance the Project 

under a loan agreement or other financing agreement which will provide that payments 

thereunder be at least sufficient to pay the principal of and interest and redemption premium, if 

any, on such Bonds and such other costs in connection therewith as may be incurred by the 

Authority, will assist the Company and promote the purposes provided in the Act; and 

WHEREAS, the Company shall be required to execute and deliver that certain 

Preliminary Agreement between the Authority and the Company relating to the issuance of the 

Bonds, attached hereto as EXHIBIT A (the “Preliminary Agreement”); and 



 

26460/001/01421504.DOCv2 

2 

WHEREAS, in order to satisfy certain of the requirements of Section 147(f) of the 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the Authority will hold a public hearing on the 

proposed issuance of the Bonds for the purposes herein stated, which hearing will be scheduled 

at least fourteen (14) days following the publication of notice of public hearing in a newspaper 

of general circulation in the County (a form of such notice is attached hereto as EXHIBIT B), 

which public hearing will be conducted in a manner that provides a reasonable opportunity for 

persons with differing views to be heard, both orally and in writing, on both the issuance of 

such Bonds and the location and nature of the portion of the Project to be financed with the 

proceeds therefrom; and 

WHEREAS, it is intended that this Resolution (“Resolution”) shall constitute official 

action toward the issuance of the Bonds within the meaning of the applicable United States 

Treasury Regulations. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT DETERMINED AND RESOLVED BY THE 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY THAT: 

SECTION 1.  APPROVAL OF THE PROJECT.  The acquisition and rehabilitation of the 

Project and the financing thereof by the Authority through the issuance of the Bonds, pursuant 

to the Act, will promote the health and welfare of the citizens of the County and will thereby 

serve the public purposes of the Act. 

SECTION 2.  EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE PRELIMINARY 

AGREEMENT.  The Chair or Vice Chair of the Authority is hereby authorized and directed to 

execute, for and on behalf of the Authority, the Preliminary Agreement providing 

understandings relative to the proposed issuance of the Bonds by the Authority to finance the 

Project in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed the lesser of: (a) $15,000,000 or (b) the 

cost of the Project, as determined by the Authority with such changes, modifications, deletions 

and insertions as the Chair or Vice Chair, with the advice of Authority's counsel and bond 

counsel, may deem necessary and appropriate.  Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive 

evidence of the approval thereof by the Authority. 

SECTION 3.  AUTHORIZATION OF THE BONDS.  Subject to receipt by the 

Authority of at least $15,000,000 of private activity bond allocation from the Division of Bond 

Finance, there is hereby authorized to be issued and the Authority hereby determines to issue 

the Bonds, if so requested by the Company and subject to the conditions set forth in the 

Preliminary Agreement and any subsequent resolution of the Authority related to the Bonds, in 

one or more issues or series in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $15,000,000 for the 

purpose of financing the Project.  The Bonds shall be designated “Jacksonville Housing Finance 

Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Campus Towers Apartments), Series 2019” or 

such other name or series designation as the Authority may subsequently determine.  The 

Bonds shall not be issued unless such Bonds are in compliance with the applicable terms and 

conditions of the Authority's Multifamily Bond Allocation Policies and Procedures and 



 

26460/001/01421504.DOCv2 

3 

Program Handbook (revised September 2018).  The rate of interest payable on the Bonds shall 

not exceed the rate permitted by law. 

SECTION 4.  RECOMMENDATION FOR APPROVAL TO CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA.  The Authority hereby recommends the issuance of the 

Bonds and the financing of the Project for approval to the City Council of the City of 

Jacksonville, Florida (the “City”).  The Authority hereby directs the Chair or Vice Chair, at the 

expense of the Company, to seek approval for the issuance of the Bonds and the financing of the 

Project by the City as the applicable elected representatives of the County under and pursuant 

to the Act and Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

SECTION 5.  GENERAL AUTHORIZATION.  The Chair, the Vice Chair, the Secretary 

and counsel for the Authority, the Authority's financial advisor and bond counsel, are hereby 

further authorized to proceed, upon execution of the Preliminary Agreement, with the 

undertakings provided for therein on the part of the Authority and are further authorized to 

take such steps and actions as may be required and necessary in order to cause the Authority to 

issue the Bonds subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Preliminary 

Agreement authorized hereby. 

SECTION 6.  AFFIRMATIVE ACTION.  This Resolution is an affirmative action of the 

Authority toward the issuance of the Bonds, as contemplated in the Preliminary Agreement, in 

accordance with the purposes of the laws of the State of Florida (the “State”) and the applicable 

United States Treasury Regulations. 

SECTION 7.  APPROVAL OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING.  The form and 

publishing of the notice of public hearing attached hereto as EXHIBIT B is hereby approved by 

the Authority.  The Authority hereby authorizes the public hearing required by Section 147(f) of 

the Code to be held by the Director of Finance or her designee related to the Project and the 

Bonds. 

SECTION 8.  LIMITED OBLIGATIONS.  The Bonds and the interest and premium, if 

any, thereon shall not constitute an indebtedness or pledge of the general credit or taxing power 

of the City, the County, the State or any political subdivision or agency thereof but shall be 

payable solely from the revenues pledged therefor pursuant to, among other things, a trust 

indenture, a loan agreement or financing agreement and a land use restriction agreement prior 

to or contemporaneously with the issuance of the Bonds. 

SECTION 9.  LIMITED APPROVAL.  The approval given herein shall not be construed 

as (a) an endorsement of the creditworthiness of the Company or the financial ability of the 

Project, (b) a recommendation to any prospective purchaser of the Bonds, (c) an evaluation of 

the likelihood of the repayment of the debt service on the Bonds, or (d) an approval of any 

necessary re-zoning applications nor for any other regulatory permits relating to the Project and 

the Authority shall not be construed by reason of its adoption of this Resolution to have made 

any such endorsement, finding or recommendation or to have waived any right of the City's or 



 

26460/001/01421504.DOCv2 

4 

the Authority's rights or estopping the City or the Authority from asserting any rights or 

responsibilities it may have in that regard. 

SECTION 10.  SEVERABILITY.  If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or 

provisions of this Resolution, or any of the documents attached hereto or contemplated hereby, 

should be held contrary to any express provision of law or contrary to the policy of express law, 

though not expressly prohibited, or against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be 

held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be 

deemed separate from the remaining covenants, agreements or provisions of this Resolution. 

SECTION 11.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately 

upon its passage. 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority this 28th 

day of November, 2018 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING 

FINANCE AUTHORITY 

By:  

ATTEST: William I. Gulliford, III, Chair 

 

By:  

Name:  

Title:  

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

By:  

Office of the General Counsel 



 

26460/001/01421504.DOCv2 

EXHIBIT LIST 

EXHIBIT A  PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT B  FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 



 

26460/001/01421504.DOCv2 

Exhibit A 

EXHIBIT A 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 



26460/001/01421560.DOCv2

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

This PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT (this "Preliminary Agreement") dated as of 

________ ___, 2018 between the JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY, a body 

corporate and politic of the State of Florida (the "Authority"), and CAMPUS TOWERS 

APARTMENTS, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited partnership and its permitted 

successors and assigns (the "Company"). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

SECTION 1.  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT.  Among the matters of mutual 

understanding which have resulted in the execution of this Preliminary Agreement are the 

following: 

(a) The Florida Housing Finance Authority Law (Chapter 159, Part IV, Florida 

Statutes), as amended (the "Act") provides that the Authority may issue its revenue bonds and 

loan the proceeds thereof to one or more persons, firms or private corporations, or use such 

proceeds to defray the cost of acquiring, by purchase or construction, certain qualifying 

facilities. 

(b) The Company is considering the acquisition and rehabilitation of a multifamily 

residential housing facility for low, middle or moderate income elderly persons to be located at 

1830  1850 Kings Road and 1850 Kings Road, Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida ____ (the 

"County") to be more commonly known as Campus Towers Apartments (the "Project").  It is 

currently estimated that the cost related to the acquisition and rehabilitation of the Project will 

be approximately [$33,826,541.] 

(c) The Authority intends this Preliminary Agreement to constitute its official 

binding commitment for purposes of the Act and applicable federal tax law only, subject to the 

terms hereof, to issue its Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Campus Towers Apartments), 

Series 2019 in a principal amount not to exceed $15,000,000 (the "Bonds") in one or more series 

or issues pursuant to the Act in a final amount to be determined by the Authority and to loan 

the proceeds thereof to the Company, or to use such proceeds, to finance all or a portion of the 

cost related to the acquisition and rehabilitation of the Project, including all costs incurred in 

connection with the issuance of the Bonds by the Authority. 

(d) The Authority considers the issuance and sale of the Bonds, for the purpose 

hereinabove set forth, consistent with the objectives of the Act.  This commitment is an 

affirmative official action of the Authority toward the issuance of the Bonds as herein 

contemplated in accordance with the purposes of both the Act and the applicable United States 

Treasury Regulations provided, however, the commitment is specifically subject to the terms 

and conditions set forth in this Preliminary Agreement and creates no rights of specific 

performance on the part of the Company. 



26460/001/01421560.DOCv2 26460/001/01421560.DOCv2}

2 

SECTION 2.  UNDERTAKINGS ON THE PART OF THE AUTHORITY.  Subject to 

the terms hereof, the Authority agrees as follows: 

(a) The Authority will authorize the issuance of the Bonds in the aggregate principal 

amount necessary and sufficient to finance all or a portion of the costs related to the acquisition 

and rehabilitation of the Project as the Authority and the Company shall agree in writing, but in 

all events, the principal amount of such Bonds shall not exceed the lesser of: (i) the costs related 

to the Project, as determined by the Authority, or (ii) $15,000,000. 

(b) Such actions and documents may, at the option of the Authority, permit the 

issuance from time to time in the future of additional bonds on terms which shall be set forth 

therein, whether pari passu with other series of bonds or otherwise, for the purpose of 

defraying the cost of completion, enlargements, improvements and expansion of the Project, or 

any segment thereof, or refunding of the Bonds. 

(c) The loan or financing agreement between the Authority and the Company (the 

"Loan Agreement") shall, under the terms agreed upon by the parties, provide for payments to 

be made by the Company in such sums as shall be necessary to pay the amounts required under 

the Act including the principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on the Bonds, 

as and when the same shall become due and payable. 

(d) In authorizing the loan of the proceeds of the Bonds pursuant to the Loan 

Agreement, the Authority will make no warranty, either expressed or implied, that the proceeds 

of the Bonds will be sufficient to pay all costs of the acquisition and rehabilitation of the Project 

or that those facilities encompassed by the Project will be suitable for the Company's purposes 

or needs. 

(e) The Bonds shall specifically provide that they are payable solely from the 

revenues derived from the Loan Agreement, the Trust Indenture relating to the Bonds (the 

"Indenture") or other agreements approved by the Authority, except to the extent payable out of 

amounts attributable to the proceeds of the Bonds.  The Bonds and the interest thereon shall not 

constitute an indebtedness or pledge of the Authority, the general credit of the City of 

Jacksonville, the County or of the State of Florida (the "State"), and such fact shall be plainly 

stated on the face of the Bonds. 

SECTION 3.  UNDERTAKINGS ON THE PART OF THE COMPANY.  Subject to the 

terms hereof, the Company agrees as follows: 

(a) The Company will use reasonable efforts to insure that the Bonds in the 

aggregate principal amount as stated above are sold; provided, however, that the terms of such 

Bonds and of the sale and delivery thereof shall be mutually satisfactory to the Authority and 

the Company. 

(b) The Company will cooperate with the Authority and with the underwriters or 

purchasers of the Bonds and the Authority's counsel, financial advisor and bond counsel with 



26460/001/01421560.DOCv2 26460/001/01421560.DOCv2}

3 

respect to the issuance and sale of the Bonds and will take such further action and authorize the 

execution of such documents as shall be required by the Authority for the authorization, 

issuance and sale of such Bonds and the use of the proceeds thereof to finance the cost related to 

the acquisition and rehabilitation of the Project all in accordance with the Authority's policies 

and procedures. 

(c) Prior to the issuance of the Bonds, the Company will enter into the Loan 

Agreement, consent to the execution by the Authority of the Indenture, approve such other 

documents related to the Bonds, as shall be determined reasonably necessary by the Authority, 

providing for, among other things, the issuance, delivery and security for the Bonds and the 

loan or use of the proceeds of the Bonds to finance the Project.  Such documents will provide, 

among other things, that the Company will be obligated to pay the Authority (or to trustees for 

holders of the Bonds on behalf of the Authority, as the case may be) sums sufficient in the 

aggregate to enable the Authority to pay the principal of and interest and redemption premium, 

if any, on the Bonds, as and when the same shall become due and payable, and all other 

expenses related to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds inclusive of the Authority's ongoing 

fees.  The Company will agree in such documents that if the cost related to the acquisition and 

rehabilitation of the Project exceeds the amounts allocated therefor, it shall not be entitled to any 

additional reimbursement or funding for any such excess either from the Authority, the 

bondholders or the trustee for the bondholders. 

(d) The Company shall be responsible for the Authority's up-front issuance fee in 

effect at the time the Bonds are issued and the fees of the Authority's counsel, underwriters, 

financial advisor and bond counsel. 

(e) The Company shall, in addition to paying the amounts set forth in the Loan 

Agreement, pay all costs of operation, maintenance, taxes, governmental and other charges 

which may be assessed or levied against or with respect to the Project. 

(f) The Company will hold the Authority free and harmless from any loss or 

damage and from any taxes or other charges levied or assessed by reason of the issuance, sale or 

delivery of the Bonds, as well as any mortgaging or other disposition of the Project. 

(g) All costs of issuance, including, without limitation, the Authority's fees and 

counsel fees not paid at the time of application shall be paid in full at the time of the sale and 

delivery of the Bonds.  The Company shall pay, upon request, a reasonable retainer to bond 

counsel to the Authority to compensate said counsel for legal services which must be performed 

whether or not the Bonds are actually issued.  Any retainers so paid will be credited against the 

respective counsel fees payable at closing. 

(h) The Company shall take all such actions such that the Bonds shall be issued in 

compliance with the applicable terms and conditions of the Authority’s Multifamily Bond 

Allocation Policies and Procedures (revised September 2018). 



26460/001/01421560.DOCv2 26460/001/01421560.DOCv2}

4 

(i) The Company will take such further action as may be required to implement its 

aforesaid undertakings and as it may deem appropriate in pursuance thereof. 

(j) Should the Company cancel this Preliminary Agreement in accordance with the 

terms hereof, the Company shall pay any and all of the Authority's fees and expenses including, 

without limitation, the fees and expenses of Authority's counsel and bond counsel and financial 

advisor. 

SECTION 4.  GENERAL PROVISIONS.  All commitments of the Authority under 

Section 2 hereof and of the Company under Section 3 hereof are subject to the conditions that 

the following events shall have occurred not later than December 31, 2019, or such other date as 

shall be mutually satisfactory to the Authority and the Company: 

(a) The Company shall deliver evidence satisfactory to the Authority's counsel and 

bond counsel (including such opinions issued by counsel to the Company acceptable to the 

Authority) that the Company is an entity organized and operated under the applicable laws of 

the State. 

(b) The Authority shall have received at least $15,000,000 of private activity bond 

allocation from the Division and shall be lawfully entitled to issue the Bonds as herein 

contemplated. 

(c) The Authority and the Company shall have agreed on mutually acceptable terms 

for the Bonds and the sale and delivery thereof and mutually acceptable terms and conditions of 

the Indenture, the Loan Agreement or other agreements incidental to the financing or referred 

to in Sections 2 and 3 hereof. 

(d) Such other rulings, approvals, consents, certificates of compliance, opinions of 

counsel and other instruments and proceedings satisfactory to the Authority as to such matters 

with respect to the Bonds, the Project, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, as shall be specified 

by the Authority, shall have been obtained from such governmental, as well as non-

governmental, agencies and entities as may have or assert competence or jurisdiction over or 

interest in matters pertinent thereto and shall be in full force and effect at the time of issuance of 

the Bonds. 

(e) Notwithstanding the designation as an "official binding commitment" for 

purposes of the Act and federal tax law, the Company and the Authority each reserve the 

absolute right to unilaterally cancel this Preliminary Agreement for reasonable cause at any 

time prior to the time the Bonds are issued by the Authority upon written notice to the other 

party of cancellation.   

(f) If the events set forth in this Section 4 do not take place within the time set forth 

or any extension thereof, or if the Company or the Authority exercises its rights of cancellation 

as set forth in this Section 4, the Company agrees that it will pay/forfeit to the Authority the 



26460/001/01421560.DOCv2 26460/001/01421560.DOCv2}

5 

Deposit (as defined herein) and pay the fees for Authority's counsel and bond counsel and 

financial advisor. 

(g) The Company acknowledges that the Authority may, during the time this 

Preliminary Agreement is in effect, issue similar "inducement" agreements to other companies 

for other multifamily projects, and/or may issue bonds or participate jointly with other 

authorities to issue bonds for multifamily or single family housing.  This Preliminary 

Agreement will create no priority or rights vis a vis subsequent agreements for the issuance of 

multifamily or single family bonds. 

SECTION 5.  DEPOSIT FROM THE COMPANY.  Notwithstanding anything herein to 

the contrary, the Company has represented to the Authority that it expects to complete the 

financing of the Project on or before the December 31, 2019, utilizing not less than $13,500,000 of 

the Authority's private activity bond allocation.  On the basis of the foregoing representation by 

the Company, the Authority has agreed to reserve $15,000,000 of its private activity bond 

allocation for the Project and issue the Bonds on behalf of the Company, subject to the 

Company's compliance with, among other things, all other applicable guidelines, policies and 

procedures of the Authority, as well as the terms and conditions set forth herein.  The Company 

acknowledges and agrees that failure to consummate the sale and delivery of not less than 

$13,500,000 of the Bonds on or before December 31, 2019 will result in substantial damages to 

the Authority which cannot be easily or adequately measured.  Consequently, in addition to the 

$7,500 non-refundable application fee paid to the Authority and a fee paid to the Authority’s 

creditor underwriter for the requisite credit underwriting fee to prepare the credit underwriting 

report, the Company shall deliver to the Authority on or before [________], 20[__]: (a) a cashier's 

check in the amount of $40,000 which reflects the required final document preparation deposit 

(the "Deposit"), and (b) a cashier's check in the amount of $500 to cover the initial cost of 

publishing the TEFRA notice and conducting a hearing, all payable to the Authority and all of 

which shall be immediately cashed by the Authority.  In addition, the Company shall pay a 

$10,000 retainer to bond counsel.  If Bonds in the principal amount of not less than 

$13,500,000 are sold and delivered on or before the December 31, 2019, the Authority will 

deliver to the Company a check in the amount of the Deposit simultaneously with the sale and 

delivery of the Bonds.  If for any reason Bonds in the principal amount of not less than 

$13,500,000 are not sold and delivered on or before the December 31, 2019, the Deposit shall be 

retained by the Authority as and for full liquidated damages for any defaults hereunder on the 

part of the Company.  The Authority and the Company hereby agree that time is of the essence 

and it is the intent of the parties hereto that the provisions of this Preliminary Agreement be 

strictly construed.  Should the Authority cancel this Preliminary Agreement in accordance with 

Section 4(e) hereof, then the Company shall be entitled to a return of the Deposit less the fees 

and expenses of the Authority including, without limitation, the fees and expenses of 

Authority's counsel (other than bond counsel) and financial advisor. 

SECTION 6.  BINDING EFFECT.  All covenants and agreements herein contained by or 

on behalf of the Authority and the Company shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective 



26460/001/01421560.DOCv2 26460/001/01421560.DOCv2}

6 

successors and assigns of the Authority and the Company whether so expressed or not; 

provided, however, the Company may not assign this Preliminary Agreement. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



26460/001/01421560.DOCv2

SIGNATURE PAGE TO 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

(CAMPUS TOWERS) 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Preliminary 

Agreement by their officers thereunder duly authorized on the date set forth above. 

AUTHORITY: 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY 

By: 

William I. Gulliford, III, Chair 



26460/001/01421560.DOCv2

SIGNATURE PAGE TO 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

(CAMPUS TOWERS) 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Preliminary 

Agreement by their officers thereunder duly authorized on the date set forth above. 

COMPANY: 

CAMPUS TOWERS APARTMENTS, LLLP 

By:   

Name: 

Title: 



 

26460/001/01421504.DOCv2 

Exhibit B 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 



26460/001/01421649.DOCv2

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, pursuant to Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code 

of 1986, as amended, of a public hearing by the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the 

"Authority"), to be held on ________ ___, 20__, at 214 N. Hogan Street, [__] Floor, Room [__], 

Jacksonville, Florida, 32202, at [___] or as soon thereafter as possible, for the purpose of 

receiving comments and hearing discussion concerning the issuance by the Authority of its 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Campus Towers), Series 2019, in an aggregate face 

amount of not to exceed $15,000,000 (the "Bonds").  The proceeds of the Bonds will be loaned to 

Campus Towers Apartments, LLLP, or its permitted successors and assigns (the "Company"), 

and used for the purpose of financing all or a portion of the costs related to the acquisition and 

rehabilitation of an existing multifamily residential housing facility for elderly persons or 

families of low, middle or moderate income located at 1830 Kings Road and 1850 Kings Road, 

Jacksonville, Florida [_____] consisting of approximately 192 units commonly known as 

Campus Towers Apartments (the "Project").  Campus Towers Apartments, LLLP, or its affiliates 

is expected to be the owner and operator of the Project. 

All interested persons are invited to attend said hearing and, either personally or 

through their representatives, present oral or written comments and discussion concerning the 

proposed issuance of the Bonds for the purposes described in the preceding paragraph and the 

nature and location of the Project.  Written comments may be submitted to the Jacksonville 

Housing Finance Authority, 214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor, Jacksonville, Florida, 32202.  Should 

any person decide to appeal any decision made by the Authority at this hearing, or by the 

Council of the City of Jacksonville (the "City") with respect to the approval of the issuance of the 

Bonds for the purposes described in the preceding paragraph, he or she will need a record of 

the proceedings, and he or she may need to insure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is 

made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  

Comments made at the hearing are for the consideration of the Authority or the City and will 

not bind the Authority or the City to any action it may take. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing a special 

accommodation to participate in this proceeding should contact the Jacksonville Housing 

Finance Authority at (904) 255-8200. 

All interested persons are invited to attend and be heard and present their comments. 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

Laura Stagner-Crites, Finance Director 



 

26460/001/01421268.DOCv2 

RESOLUTION 

RESOLUTION REGARDING THE OFFICIAL ACTION OF 

THE JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

RELATIVE TO THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO EXCEED 

$11,000,000 AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF ITS 

MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE BONDS (LOFTS AT 

CATHEDRAL), SERIES 2019, FOR THE PURPOSE OF 

FINANCING ALL OR A PORTION OF THE COSTS RELATED 

TO THE ACQUISITION, AND CONSTRUCTION OF A 

MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL HOUSING FACILITY FOR 

PERSONS OR FAMILIES OF LOW, MIDDLE OR MODERATE 

INCOME; AND FURTHER AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION 

AND DELIVERY OF A PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT BY AND 

BETWEEN THE JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY AND LOFTS AT CATHEDRAL, LTD. OR ITS 

PERMITTED SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS; AND 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, Lofts at Cathedral, Ltd. and its permitted successors and assigns (the 

"Company") has applied to the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the "Authority") 

to: (a) issue its Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Lofts at Cathedral), Series 2019 in a 

principal amount not to exceed $11,000,000 (the "Bonds") for the purpose of financing all or a 

portion of the costs related to the acquisition and construction of a multifamily residential 

housing facility to be located at the NW intersection of E. Duval and N. Liberty Street, 

Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida (the “County”), consisting of approximately 120 units to be 

commonly known as Lofts at Cathedral Apartments (the "Project"), to be occupied by low, 

middle or moderate income persons in accordance with the Company's application submitted 

to the Authority, and (b) loan the proceeds of the Bonds to the Company pursuant to Chapter 

159, Part IV, Florida Statutes, or such other provision or provisions of Florida law as the 

Authority may determine advisable (collectively, the "Act"); and 

WHEREAS, a determination by the Authority to issue the Bonds under the Act, if so 

requested by the Company, in one or more issues or series not exceeding an aggregate principal 

amount of $11,000,000 and to loan the proceeds thereof to the Company to finance the Project 

under a loan agreement or other financing agreement which will provide that payments 

thereunder be at least sufficient to pay the principal of and interest and redemption premium, if 

any, on such Bonds and such other costs in connection therewith as may be incurred by the 

Authority, will assist the Company and promote the purposes provided in the Act; and 

WHEREAS, the Company shall be required to execute and deliver that certain 

Preliminary Agreement between the Authority and the Company relating to the issuance of the 

Bonds, attached hereto as EXHIBIT A (the "Preliminary Agreement"); and 



 

26460/001/01421268.DOCv2 

2 

WHEREAS, in order to satisfy certain of the requirements of Section 147(f) of the 

Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the Authority will hold a public hearing on the 

proposed issuance of the Bonds for the purposes herein stated, which hearing will be scheduled 

at least fourteen (14) days following the publication of notice of public hearing in a newspaper 

of general circulation in the County (a form of such notice is attached hereto as EXHIBIT B), 

which public hearing will be conducted in a manner that provides a reasonable opportunity for 

persons with differing views to be heard, both orally and in writing, on both the issuance of 

such Bonds and the location and nature of the portion of the Project to be financed with the 

proceeds therefrom; and 

WHEREAS, it is intended that this Resolution ("Resolution") shall constitute official 

action toward the issuance of the Bonds within the meaning of the applicable United States 

Treasury Regulations. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT DETERMINED AND RESOLVED BY THE 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY THAT: 

SECTION 1.  APPROVAL OF THE PROJECT.  The acquisition and construction of the 

Project and the financing thereof by the Authority through the issuance of the Bonds, pursuant 

to the Act, will promote the health and welfare of the citizens of the County and will thereby 

serve the public purposes of the Act. 

SECTION 2.  EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE PRELIMINARY 

AGREEMENT.  The Chair or Vice Chair of the Authority is hereby authorized and directed to 

execute, for and on behalf of the Authority, the Preliminary Agreement providing 

understandings relative to the proposed issuance of the Bonds by the Authority to finance the 

Project in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed the lesser of: (a) $11,000,000 or (b) the 

cost of the Project, as determined by the Authority with such changes, modifications, deletions 

and insertions as the Chair or Vice Chair, with the advice of Authority's counsel and bond 

counsel, may deem necessary and appropriate.  Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive 

evidence of the approval thereof by the Authority. 

SECTION 3.  AUTHORIZATION OF THE BONDS.  Subject to receipt by the 

Authority of at least $11,000,000 of private activity bond allocation from the Division of Bond 

Finance, there is hereby authorized to be issued and the Authority hereby determines to issue 

the Bonds, if so requested by the Company and subject to the conditions set forth in the 

Preliminary Agreement and any subsequent resolution of the Authority related to the Bonds, in 

one or more issues or series in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $11,000,000 for the 

purpose of financing the Project.  The Bonds shall be designated "Jacksonville Housing Finance 

Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Lofts at Cathedral), Series 2019" or such other 

name or series designation as the Authority may subsequently determine.  The Bonds shall not 

be issued unless such Bonds are in compliance with the applicable terms and conditions of the 

Authority's Multifamily Bond Allocation Policies and Procedures and Program Handbook 



 

26460/001/01421268.DOCv2 

3 

(revised September 2018).  The rate of interest payable on the Bonds shall not exceed the rate 

permitted by law. 

SECTION 4.  RECOMMENDATION FOR APPROVAL TO CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA.  The Authority hereby recommends the issuance of the 

Bonds and the financing of the Project for approval to the City Council of the City of 

Jacksonville, Florida (the "City").  The Authority hereby directs the Chair or Vice Chair, at the 

expense of the Company, to seek approval for the issuance of the Bonds and the financing of the 

Project by the City as the applicable elected representatives of the County under and pursuant 

to the Act and Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

SECTION 5.  GENERAL AUTHORIZATION.  The Chair, the Vice Chair, the Secretary 

and counsel for the Authority, the Authority's financial advisor and bond counsel, are hereby 

further authorized to proceed, upon execution of the Preliminary Agreement, with the 

undertakings provided for therein on the part of the Authority and are further authorized to 

take such steps and actions as may be required and necessary in order to cause the Authority to 

issue the Bonds subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Preliminary 

Agreement authorized hereby. 

SECTION 6.  AFFIRMATIVE ACTION.  This Resolution is an affirmative action of the 

Authority toward the issuance of the Bonds, as contemplated in the Preliminary Agreement, in 

accordance with the purposes of the laws of the State of Florida (the "State") and the applicable 

United States Treasury Regulations. 

SECTION 7.  APPROVAL OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING.  The form and 

publishing of the notice of public hearing attached hereto as EXHIBIT B is hereby approved by 

the Authority.  The Authority hereby authorizes the public hearing required by Section 147(f) of 

the Code to be held by the Director of Finance or her designee related to the Project and the 

Bonds. 

SECTION 8.  LIMITED OBLIGATIONS.  The Bonds and the interest and premium, if 

any, thereon shall not constitute an indebtedness or pledge of the general credit or taxing power 

of the City, the County, the State or any political subdivision or agency thereof but shall be 

payable solely from the revenues pledged therefor pursuant to, among other things, a trust 

indenture, a loan agreement or financing agreement and a land use restriction agreement prior 

to or contemporaneously with the issuance of the Bonds. 

SECTION 9.  LIMITED APPROVAL.  The approval given herein shall not be construed 

as (a) an endorsement of the creditworthiness of the Company or the financial ability of the 

Project, (b) a recommendation to any prospective purchaser of the Bonds, (c) an evaluation of 

the likelihood of the repayment of the debt service on the Bonds, or (d) an approval of any 

necessary re-zoning applications nor for any other regulatory permits relating to the Project and 

the Authority shall not be construed by reason of its adoption of this Resolution to have made 

any such endorsement, finding or recommendation or to have waived any right of the City's or 



 

26460/001/01421268.DOCv2 

4 

the Authority's rights or estopping the City or the Authority from asserting any rights or 

responsibilities it may have in that regard. 

SECTION 10.  SEVERABILITY.  If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or 

provisions of this Resolution, or any of the documents attached hereto or contemplated hereby, 

should be held contrary to any express provision of law or contrary to the policy of express law, 

though not expressly prohibited, or against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be 

held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be 

deemed separate from the remaining covenants, agreements or provisions of this Resolution. 

SECTION 11.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately 

upon its passage. 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority this 28th 

day of November, 2018 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING 

FINANCE AUTHORITY 

By:  

ATTEST: William I. Gulliford, III, Chair 

 

By:  

Name:  

Title:  

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

By:  

Office of the General Counsel 



 

26460/001/01421268.DOCv2 

EXHIBIT LIST 

EXHIBIT A  PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT B  FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 



 

26460/001/01421268.DOCv2 

Exhibit A 

EXHIBIT A 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 



26460/001/01421400.DOCv2

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

This PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT (this "Preliminary Agreement") dated as of 

November __, 2018 between the JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY, a 

body corporate and politic of the State of Florida (the "Authority"), and LOFTS AT 

CATHEDRAL, LTD. a Florida limited liability company and its permitted successors and 

assigns (the "Company"). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

SECTION 1.  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT.  Among the matters of mutual 

understanding which have resulted in the execution of this Preliminary Agreement are the 

following: 

(a) The Florida Housing Finance Authority Law (Chapter 159, Part IV, Florida 

Statutes), as amended (the "Act") provides that the Authority may issue its revenue bonds and 

loan the proceeds thereof to one or more persons, firms or private corporations, or use such 

proceeds to defray the cost of acquiring, by purchase or construction, certain qualifying 

facilities. 

(b) The Company is considering the acquisition and construction of a multifamily 

residential housing facility for low, middle or moderate income persons to be located at the NW 

intersection of E. Duval and N. Liberty Street, Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida [_____] (the 

"County") to be more commonly known as Lofts at Cathedral Apartments (the "Project").  It is 

currently estimated that the cost related to the acquisition and construction of the Project will be 

approximately [$21,934,970.] 

(c) The Authority intends this Preliminary Agreement to constitute its official 

binding commitment for purposes of the Act and applicable federal tax law only, subject to the 

terms hereof, to issue its Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Lofts at Cathedral), Series 

2019 in a principal amount not to exceed $11,000,000 (the "Bonds") in one or more series or 

issues pursuant to the Act in a final amount to be determined by the Authority and to loan the 

proceeds thereof to the Company, or to use such proceeds, to finance all or a portion of the cost 

related to the acquisition and construction of the Project, including all costs incurred in 

connection with the issuance of the Bonds by the Authority. 

(d) The Authority considers the issuance and sale of the Bonds, for the purpose 

hereinabove set forth, consistent with the objectives of the Act.  This commitment is an 

affirmative official action of the Authority toward the issuance of the Bonds as herein 

contemplated in accordance with the purposes of both the Act and the applicable United States 

Treasury Regulations provided, however, the commitment is specifically subject to the terms 

and conditions set forth in this Preliminary Agreement and creates no rights of specific 

performance on the part of the Company. 



26460/001/01421400.DOCv2

2 

SECTION 2.  UNDERTAKINGS ON THE PART OF THE AUTHORITY.  Subject to 

the terms hereof, the Authority agrees as follows: 

(a) The Authority will authorize the issuance of the Bonds in the aggregate principal 

amount necessary and sufficient to finance all or a portion of the costs related to the acquisition 

and construction of the Project as the Authority and the Company shall agree in writing, but in 

all events, the principal amount of such Bonds shall not exceed the lesser of: (i) the costs related 

to the Project, as determined by the Authority, or (ii) $11,000,000. 

(b) Such actions and documents may, at the option of the Authority, permit the 

issuance from time to time in the future of additional bonds on terms which shall be set forth 

therein, whether pari passu with other series of bonds or otherwise, for the purpose of 

defraying the cost of completion, enlargements, improvements and expansion of the Project, or 

any segment thereof, or refunding of the Bonds. 

(c) The loan or financing agreement between the Authority and the Company (the 

"Loan Agreement") shall, under the terms agreed upon by the parties, provide for payments to 

be made by the Company in such sums as shall be necessary to pay the amounts required under 

the Act including the principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on the Bonds, 

as and when the same shall become due and payable. 

(d) In authorizing the loan of the proceeds of the Bonds pursuant to the Loan 

Agreement, the Authority will make no warranty, either expressed or implied, that the proceeds 

of the Bonds will be sufficient to pay all costs of the acquisition and construction of the Project 

or that those facilities encompassed by the Project will be suitable for the Company's purposes 

or needs. 

(e) The Bonds shall specifically provide that they are payable solely from the 

revenues derived from the Loan Agreement, the Trust Indenture relating to the Bonds (the 

"Indenture") or other agreements approved by the Authority, except to the extent payable out of 

amounts attributable to the proceeds of the Bonds.  The Bonds and the interest thereon shall not 

constitute an indebtedness or pledge of the Authority, the general credit of the City of 

Jacksonville, the County or of the State of Florida (the "State"), and such fact shall be plainly 

stated on the face of the Bonds. 

SECTION 3.  UNDERTAKINGS ON THE PART OF THE COMPANY.  Subject to the 

terms hereof, the Company agrees as follows: 

(a) The Company will use reasonable efforts to insure that the Bonds in the 

aggregate principal amount as stated above are sold; provided, however, that the terms of such 

Bonds and of the sale and delivery thereof shall be mutually satisfactory to the Authority and 

the Company. 

(b) The Company will cooperate with the Authority and with the underwriters or 

purchasers of the Bonds and the Authority's counsel, financial advisor and bond counsel with 



26460/001/01421400.DOCv2

3 

respect to the issuance and sale of the Bonds and will take such further action and authorize the 

execution of such documents as shall be required by the Authority for the authorization, 

issuance and sale of such Bonds and the use of the proceeds thereof to finance the cost related to 

the acquisition and construction of the Project all in accordance with the Authority's policies 

and procedures. 

(c) Prior to the issuance of the Bonds, the Company will enter into the Loan 

Agreement, consent to the execution by the Authority of the Indenture, approve such other 

documents related to the Bonds, as shall be determined reasonably necessary by the Authority, 

providing for, among other things, the issuance, delivery and security for the Bonds and the 

loan or use of the proceeds of the Bonds to finance the Project.  Such documents will provide, 

among other things, that the Company will be obligated to pay the Authority (or to trustees for 

holders of the Bonds on behalf of the Authority, as the case may be) sums sufficient in the 

aggregate to enable the Authority to pay the principal of and interest and redemption premium, 

if any, on the Bonds, as and when the same shall become due and payable, and all other 

expenses related to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds inclusive of the Authority's ongoing 

fees.  The Company will agree in such documents that if the cost related to the acquisition and 

construction of the Project exceeds the amounts allocated therefor, it shall not be entitled to any 

additional reimbursement or funding for any such excess either from the Authority, the 

bondholders or the trustee for the bondholders. 

(d) The Company shall be responsible for the Authority's up-front issuance fee in 

effect at the time the Bonds are issued and the fees of the Authority's counsel, underwriters, 

financial advisor and bond counsel. 

(e) The Company shall, in addition to paying the amounts set forth in the Loan 

Agreement, pay all costs of operation, maintenance, taxes, governmental and other charges 

which may be assessed or levied against or with respect to the Project. 

(f) The Company will hold the Authority free and harmless from any loss or 

damage and from any taxes or other charges levied or assessed by reason of the issuance, sale or 

delivery of the Bonds, as well as any mortgaging or other disposition of the Project. 

(g) All costs of issuance, including, without limitation, the Authority's fees and 

counsel fees not paid at the time of application shall be paid in full at the time of the sale and 

delivery of the Bonds.  The Company shall pay, upon request, a reasonable retainer to bond 

counsel to the Authority to compensate said counsel for legal services which must be performed 

whether or not the Bonds are actually issued.  Any retainers so paid will be credited against the 

respective counsel fees payable at closing. 

(h) The Company shall take all such actions such that the Bonds shall be issued in 

compliance with the applicable terms and conditions of the Authority’s Multifamily Bond 

Allocation Policies and Procedures (revised September 2018). 



26460/001/01421400.DOCv2

4 

(i) The Company will take such further action as may be required to implement its 

aforesaid undertakings and as it may deem appropriate in pursuance thereof. 

(j) Should the Company cancel this Preliminary Agreement in accordance with the 

terms hereof, the Company shall pay any and all of the Authority's fees and expenses including, 

without limitation, the fees and expenses of Authority's counsel and bond counsel and financial 

advisor. 

SECTION 4.  GENERAL PROVISIONS.  All commitments of the Authority under 

Section 2 hereof and of the Company under Section 3 hereof are subject to the conditions that 

the following events shall have occurred not later than December 31, 2019, or such other date as 

shall be mutually satisfactory to the Authority and the Company: 

(a) The Company shall deliver evidence satisfactory to the Authority's counsel and 

bond counsel (including such opinions issued by counsel to the Company acceptable to the 

Authority) that the Company is an entity organized and operated under the applicable laws of 

the State. 

(b) The Authority shall have received at least $11,000,000 of private activity bond 

allocation from the Division and shall be lawfully entitled to issue the Bonds as herein 

contemplated. 

(c) The Authority and the Company shall have agreed on mutually acceptable terms 

for the Bonds and the sale and delivery thereof and mutually acceptable terms and conditions of 

the Indenture, the Loan Agreement or other agreements incidental to the financing or referred 

to in Sections 2 and 3 hereof. 

(d) Such other rulings, approvals, consents, certificates of compliance, opinions of 

counsel and other instruments and proceedings satisfactory to the Authority as to such matters 

with respect to the Bonds, the Project, the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, as shall be specified 

by the Authority, shall have been obtained from such governmental, as well as non-

governmental, agencies and entities as may have or assert competence or jurisdiction over or 

interest in matters pertinent thereto and shall be in full force and effect at the time of issuance of 

the Bonds. 

(e) Notwithstanding the designation as an "official binding commitment" for 

purposes of the Act and federal tax law, the Company and the Authority each reserve the 

absolute right to unilaterally cancel this Preliminary Agreement for reasonable cause at any 

time prior to the time the Bonds are issued by the Authority upon written notice to the other 

party of cancellation.   

(f) If the events set forth in this Section 4 do not take place within the time set forth 

or any extension thereof, or if the Company or the Authority exercises its rights of cancellation 

as set forth in this Section 4, the Company agrees that it will pay/forfeit to the Authority the 



26460/001/01421400.DOCv2

5 

Deposit (as defined herein) and pay the fees for Authority's counsel and bond counsel and 

financial advisor. 

(g) The Company acknowledges that the Authority may, during the time this 

Preliminary Agreement is in effect, issue similar "inducement" agreements to other companies 

for other multifamily projects, and/or may issue bonds or participate jointly with other 

authorities to issue bonds for multifamily or single family housing.  This Preliminary 

Agreement will create no priority or rights vis a vis subsequent agreements for the issuance of 

multifamily or single family bonds. 

SECTION 5.  DEPOSIT FROM THE COMPANY.  Notwithstanding anything herein to 

the contrary, the Company has represented to the Authority that it expects to complete the 

financing of the Project on or before the December 31, 2019, utilizing not less than $9,900,000 of 

the Authority's private activity bond allocation.  On the basis of the foregoing representation by 

the Company, the Authority has agreed to reserve $11,000,000 of its private activity bond 

allocation for the Project and issue the Bonds on behalf of the Company, subject to the 

Company's compliance with, among other things, all other applicable guidelines, policies and 

procedures of the Authority, as well as the terms and conditions set forth herein.  The Company 

acknowledges and agrees that failure to consummate the sale and delivery of not less than 

$9,900,000 of the Bonds on or before December 31, 2019 will result in substantial damages to the 

Authority which cannot be easily or adequately measured.  Consequently, in addition to the 

$7,500 non-refundable application fee paid to the Authority and a fee paid to the Authority’s 

creditor underwriter for the requisite credit underwriting fee to prepare the credit underwriting 

report, the Company shall deliver to the Authority on or before [________], [____]: (a) a cashier's 

check in the amount of $40,000 which reflects the required final document preparation deposit 

(the "Deposit"), and (b) a cashier's check in the amount of $500 to cover the initial cost of 

publishing the TEFRA notice and conducting a hearing, all payable to the Authority and all of 

which shall be immediately cashed by the Authority.  In addition, the Company shall pay a 

$10,000 retainer to bond counsel.  If Bonds in the principal amount of not less than 

$9,900,000 are sold and delivered on or before the December 31, 2019, the Authority will deliver 

to the Company a check in the amount of the Deposit simultaneously with the sale and delivery 

of the Bonds.  If for any reason Bonds in the principal amount of not less than $9,900,000 are not 

sold and delivered on or before December 31, 2019, the Deposit shall be retained by the 

Authority as and for full liquidated damages for any defaults hereunder on the part of the 

Company.  The Authority and the Company hereby agree that time is of the essence and it is the 

intent of the parties hereto that the provisions of this Preliminary Agreement be strictly 

construed.  Should the Authority cancel this Preliminary Agreement in accordance with Section 

4(e) hereof, then the Company shall be entitled to a return of the Deposit less the fees and 

expenses of the Authority including, without limitation, the fees and expenses of Authority's 

counsel (other than bond counsel) and financial advisor. 

SECTION 6.  BINDING EFFECT.  All covenants and agreements herein contained by or 

on behalf of the Authority and the Company shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective 



26460/001/01421400.DOCv2

6 

successors and assigns of the Authority and the Company whether so expressed or not; 

provided, however, the Company may not assign this Preliminary Agreement. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



26460/001/01421400.DOCv2

SIGNATURE PAGE TO 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

(LOFTS AT CATHEDRAL) 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Preliminary 

Agreement by their officers thereunder duly authorized on the date set forth above. 

AUTHORITY: 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY 

By: 

William I. Gulliford, III, Chair 



26460/001/01421400.DOCv2

SIGNATURE PAGE TO 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

(LOFTS AT CATHEDRAL) 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Preliminary 

Agreement by their officers thereunder duly authorized on the date set forth above. 

COMPANY: 

LOFTS AT CATHEDRAL, LTD.

  By: LOFTS AT CATHEDRAL, LTD., 

   its Manager 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 



 

26460/001/01421268.DOCv2 

Exhibit B 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



26460/001/01421410.DOCv2

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, pursuant to Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code 

of 1986, as amended, of a public hearing by the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the 

"Authority"), to be held on ______ ___, 20___, at 214 N. Hogan Street, [___] Floor, Room [___], 

Jacksonville, Florida, 32202, at [____] or as soon thereafter as possible, for the purpose of 

receiving comments and hearing discussion concerning the issuance by the Authority of its 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Lofts at Cathedral), Series 2019, in an aggregate face 

amount of not to exceed $11,000,000 (the "Bonds").  The proceeds of the Bonds will be loaned to 

Lofts at Cathedral, Ltd. or its permitted successors and assigns (the "Company"), and used for 

the purpose of financing all or a portion of the costs related to the acquisition and construction 

of a multifamily residential housing facility for persons or families of low, middle or moderate 

income located at the NW intersection of E. Duval and N. Liberty Street, Jacksonville, Florida, 

[____] consisting of approximately 120 units commonly known as Lofts at Cathedral 

Apartments (the "Project").  Lofts at Cathedral, Ltd., or its affiliate is expected to be the owner 

and operator of the Project. 

All interested persons are invited to attend said hearing and, either personally or 

through their representatives, present oral or written comments and discussion concerning the 

proposed issuance of the Bonds for the purposes described in the preceding paragraph and the 

nature and location of the Project.  Written comments may be submitted to the Jacksonville 

Housing Finance Authority, 214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor, Jacksonville, Florida, 32202.  Should 

any person decide to appeal any decision made by the Authority at this hearing, or by the 

Council of the City of Jacksonville (the "City") with respect to the approval of the issuance of the 

Bonds for the purposes described in the preceding paragraph, he or she will need a record of 

the proceedings, and he or she may need to insure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is 

made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  

Comments made at the hearing are for the consideration of the Authority or the City and will 

not bind the Authority or the City to any action it may take. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing a special 

accommodation to participate in this proceeding should contact the Jacksonville Housing 

Finance Authority at (904) 255-8200. 

All interested persons are invited to attend and be heard and present their comments. 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

Laura Stagner-Crites, Finance Director 



 

 

 

 Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

Credit Underwriting Report  

Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments  

Tax Exempt Bond Program 

 

Section A  Report Summary 

Section B  Loan Conditions  

Section C   Supporting Information and Schedules 

 

Prepared by 

Seltzer Management Group, Inc. 

Final Report 

November 14, 2018



SMG 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  
 
 

Page  
Section A  

Report Summary  
 
 Recommendation                 A1‐A7 
 Overview                   A8‐A10  
 Uses of Funds                   A11‐A16 
 Operating Pro Forma                 A17‐A19 

 
 

Section B  
 
Loan Conditions                   B1‐B5 
 

Section C  
 

Supporting Information and Schedules  
 Additional Development and Third Party Information        C1‐C7 
 Borrower Information                 C8‐C11 
 Guarantor Information                C12 
 Syndicator Information                C13 
 General Contractor Information             C14‐C15 
 Property Manager Information               C16 

 
Exhibits  

15 Year Pro Forma                  1 
Features and Amenities and Resident Programs            2   1‐2  
Completeness and Issues Checklist              3   1‐2 
HC Allocation Calculation                4   1‐2 
  

   



SMG 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section A 

Report Summary 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS A-1 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Recommendation  

Seltzer  Management  Group,  Inc.  (“SMG”  or  “Seltzer”)  recommends  Jacksonville  Housing  Finance 
Authority (“JHFA” or “Authority”) fund Multifamily Mortgage Revenue Bonds (“MMRB”) in the amount 
of $24,980,000 to Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments for its Acquisition and Rehabilitation. 

Development Name:

RFA/Program Numbers: /

Address:

City: Zip Code: County: County Size:

Development Category: Development Type:

Construction Type:

Demographic Commitment:

Primary: of the Units

Secondary: of the Units

Unit Composition:

# of ELI Units: ELI Units Are Restricted to AMI, or less. Total # of units with PBRA?

# of Link Units: Are the Link Units Demographically Restricted? # of NHTF Units:

Buildings: Residential ‐  Non‐Residential ‐ 

Parking: Parking Spaces ‐  Accessible Spaces ‐ 

Set Asides:

30

$1,350

$767

$1,150

$1,350

$828,000

$925

$129,600

$55,224

$1,150

$1,350

$78

$64

$1,216$0

$925

$787

$925

$8,556

$732,600$925

$767

$1,150

$945

$1,090

$945

$1,150

72

$103

Units

Low HOME 

Rents

60%

60%

12

High 

HOME 

Rents

Square 

Feet

60% $1,216

996

1,097

$1,090

$945

663

798

$1,050

$734,400

for 100%

for

AMI%

60%

0

Family

0

0

Utility 

Allow.

$46

Gross HC 

Rent

$787

CU Rents

297

$825

Appraiser 

Rents

$775

$850

$1,050

$1,225$1,225

$0

$108,900

$117,600

$850

$1,050

Applicant 

Rents

$775

$756,000

$775

$850

$825

Rehab Garden Apts (1‐3 Stories)

Concrete

2018‐507C

LargeDuval32216Jacksonville

300 Silver Creek Trace

304

2

267,896

$0

217

50

$3,582,480

60%

15

$0

$0

11 $787

$787

$945

1

66

$1,090

$0

1.0

1 1.0

1.0

1.5

60

8

1 1.0

2

304

663

663

798

60%

60%

60%

996

1

2

3

4

DEVELOPMENT & SET‐ASIDES

Bed 

Rooms

1.0

Bath 

Rooms

1.0

PBRA 

Contr 

Rents

$775

$850

Term (Years)% AMI

$825

$945

$0

4 1.5

7986

60

8

60%

1.0

2 1.0

1,097

3

$713

$1,113

Annual Rental 

Income

$111,600

$0

$945

$1,350$1,216

Desert Winds and Silver Creek

$1,050

$1,225

$825

$713

$787

$787

Net 

Restricted 

Rents

$741

$881

$1,012

60%

60%

$1,225

60%

100.0% 304

Program

30

MMRB

100.0%

% of Units # of Units

HC  



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS A-2 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Occupancy Rate at Stabilization: Physical Occupancy Economic Occupancy

Occupancy Comments

DDA: QCT: Multi‐Phase Boost: QAP Boost:

Site Acreage: Density: Flood Zone Designation:

Zoning: Flood Insurance Required?:

15.9580

No

Resident in place rehab, current occupancy 99%

19.05

97.00%

No

Residential Medium Density (RMD‐D)

Yes

0.25%

X

 
 

W. Daniel Hughes, Jr.

LEDIC

PNC Bank, National Association ("PNC") or Affi laite

DEVELOPMENT TEAM

LRMDeveloper:

CC Guarantor 1:

W. Daniel Hughes, Jr.

Developer

Principal 1

OD Guarantor 5:

LRC Desert‐Silver GP, LLC ‐ Managing Member ("MM")

OD Guarantor 4:

CC Guarantor 5:

99.9900%

LEDIC Realty Company, LLC ("LEDIC")

LEDIC Realty Management, LLC ("Developer" or "LRM")

OD Guarantor 3:

MM

LRC

PNC Affi l iate if applicable

OD Guarantor 1:

MM

LRC GP, LLC ("LRC")

OD Guarantor 2:

Bond Purchaser

W. Daniel Hughes, Jr.

Construction Completion 

Guarantor(s):

CC Guarantor 3:

CC Guarantor 4:

Special Member

CC Guarantor 2:

Member

Operating Deficit 

Guarantor(s):

0.0000%

Applicant/Borrower:

0.0100%Member

LRC Desert‐Silver, LLC
% Ownership

 

Appraiser:

Value Tech Realty Services, Inc. ("Value Tech")

Whitestone Construction Group, LLC

Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority

General Contractor 2:

Dyke Nelson Architecture, LLC

Management Company:

Const. Credit Enhancer:

Perm. Credit Enhancer:

Architect:

Market Study Provider:

PNC

LRM

Value Tech

HUD 223(f)

General Contractor 1:

Syndicator:

Bond Issuer:

MMRB ‐ Cash Collateral

 

 

 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS A-3 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

PERMANENT FINANCING INFORMATION

All In Interest Rate

Lien Position

Underwritten Interest 

Rate

Highland/HUDLender/Grantor

Amount

1st Source

Market Rate/Market 

Financing LTV

Amortization

90.0%

Loan Term

$1,064,529.00

Loan to Cost ‐ 

Cumulative

35.0

35.0

$25,326,000

4.25%

85.7%

66.2%

Restricted Favorable 

Financing LTV

# of Months covered 

by the Reserves

Operating Deficit & 

Debt Service Reserves

Debt Service Coverage

7.0

1.199

  

Year 15 Pro Forma Expense Escalation Rate

2.00%

$1,922,519

$1,455,000

HC Annual Allocation ‐ Equity Letter of Interest

3.00%

Projected Net Operating Income (NOI) ‐ Year 1 $1,668,644

Not Provided

$2,779,755

$28,140,000

Rent Restricted Favorable Financing Stabil ized Value $29,540,000

$19,430,000As‐Is Value (Land & Building)

As‐Is Land Value $2,700,000

Year 15 Pro Forma Income Escalation Rate

Deferred Developer Fee

Market Rent/Market Financing Stabil ized Value

Bond Structure

HC Annual Allocation ‐ Qualified in CUR

Projected Net Operating Income (NOI) ‐ 15 Year

$0.88Housing Credit (HC) Syndication Price

Short Term Cash Collateralized

$1,152,750

HC Annual Allocation ‐ Initial  Award N/A

Rent Restricted Market Financing Stabilized Value

 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS A-4 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

$38,248,944.00 $125,818.89TOTAL $38,248,944.00

$83,309.21$25,326,000.00

$8,535,141.00

$9,143.93

$10,143,189.00 $33,365.75

$25,326,000.00First Mortgage

HC Equity/Bridge Loan

Highland/HUD

PNC

ConstructionLenderSource

$4,387,803.00 $2,779,755.00Deferred Developer Fee

Perm Loan/UnitPermanent

 
 
Financing Structure: 
JHFA  will  issue  a  $24,980,000  tax‐exempt MMRB,  which  will  be  underwritten  and marketed  by  RBC 
through a Public Offering. Proceeds from the sale of the MMRB will be held by a trustee and released to 
the  Applicant  for  the  acquisition  and  rehabilitation  of  the  Subject  Development.  The  release  of  the 
MMRB  proceeds  to  fund  the  acquisition  and  rehabilitation  of  the  Development  will  be  restricted, 
contingent  upon  a  like  sum  of  first  mortgage  loan  funds  being  sent  to  the  Trustee  and  placed  in  a 
Collateral Fund. Therefore, the principal and interest of the MMRB will be secured by a cash source at all 
times until they are fully repaid. The Applicant will pay a fixed rate of  interest on the MMRB, which is 
estimated to be 2.00%. The Bonds will  require monthly  interest only payments until  the earlier of  the 
maturity  date,  which  is  18 months  from  the  date  of  closing,  or  the  date  of  redemption.  Investment 
income derived from the collateral fund is expected to offset the MMRB interest. 

The first mortgage loan will be insured by HUD under Section 223(f) of the National Housing Act and will 
be provided by Highland Commercial Mortgage, LLC (“Highland”) which is an approved HUD Multifamily 
Accelerated Processing (“MAP”) lender. 

 
   



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS A-5 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Changes from the Application: 
 

COMPARISON CRITERIA  YES  NO 

Does  the  level  of  experience  of  the  current  team  equal  or  exceed  that  of  the  team 
described in the application? 

X   

Are all funding sources the same as shown in the Application?    1 

Are  all  local  government  recommendations/contributions  still  in  place  at  the  level 
described in the Application? 

X   

Is the Development feasible with all amenities/features listed in the Application?    2 

Do the site plans/architectural drawings account for all amenities/features listed in the 
Application? 

X   

Does the Applicant have site control at or above the level indicated in the Application?  X   

Does the Applicant have adequate zoning as indicated in the Application?  X   

Has the Development been evaluated  for  feasibility using  the total  length of set‐aside 
committed to in the Application? 

X   

Have  the  Development  costs  remained  equal  to  or  less  than  those  listed  in  the 
Application? 

X   

Is the Development feasible using the set‐asides committed to in the Application?  X   

If  the Development  has  committed  to  serve  a  special  target  group  (e.g.  elderly,  large 
family,  etc.),  do  the  development  and  operating  plans  contain  specific  provisions  for 
implementation? 

X   

HOME ONLY: If points were given for match funds, is the match percentage the same as 
or greater than that indicated in the Application? 

N/A   

HC  ONLY:  Is  the  rate  of  syndication  the  same  as  or  greater  than  that  shown  in  the 
Application? 

N/A    

Is  the  Development  in  all  other  material  respects  the  same  as  presented  in  the 
Application? 

   

The following are explanations of each item checked “No” in the table above: 

1. The Application indicated a total equity contribution of $9,939,553, based on an anticipated annual 
HC  allocation  of  $1,132,650  and  syndication  rate  of  $0.88,  per  a  HC  equity  investment  proposal 
letter,  dated May 25,  2018  from PNC.  The proposal was  revised August  27,  2018  and  indicates  a 
total  equity  contribution  of  $10,143,189,  based  on  an  anticipated  annual  HC  allocation  of 
$1,152,750  and  syndication  rate  of  $0.88.  This  increase  is  primarily  attributable  to  a  higher  than 
previously estimated eligible basis.  

2. See Waivers Request Section below. 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS A-6 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

These  changes  have  no  substantial  material  impact  to  the  MMRB  recommendation  for  this 
Development. 

Does the Development Team have any FHFC Financed Developments on the Past Due/Noncompliance 
Report?  

Florida Housing’s Past Due Report dated August 27, 2018 reflects the following past due item(s): None  

The  Asset  Management  Noncompliance  Report  dated  August  27,  2018  reflects  the  following 
noncompliance issues:  None   

This recommendation  is subject  to satisfactory resolution (as determined by FHFC) of any outstanding 
past due and/or noncompliance issues prior to loan closing.  

Strengths:  

1. As discussed below, concurrent with the closing the HUD Project‐based Section 8 Housing Assistance 
Payments  Basic  Renewal  Contracts  (“HAP  Contracts”)  will  be  extended  for  20‐years  providing  an 
extremely stable revenue stream for over 98% (297 units) of the Subject Development’s units. 

2. Historical  occupancy  for  the  Subject  Development  has  exceeded  98% with  vacancies  due  only  to 
tenant turnover and a waiting list of over 200 qualified tenants was reported. 

3. Although  the  Borrower  and  MM  are  newly  formed,  the  principal  owners  of  MM,  developer, 
contractor,  and  the  management  company  have  sufficient  experience  and  financial  resources  to 
develop, construct and operate the Subject Development.  

Other Considerations:  None 

Waiver Requests/Special Conditions:   

1. As  indicated  in  the  JHFA  Application,  the  Applicant  requested  waivers  from  certain  Mandatory 
Features and Optional Green Features that were not physically possible or cost prohibitive due to 
the design or physical  lay‐out of  the Subject Development and  limited rehabilitation budget. SMG 
has consulted with provider of the Capital Needs Assessment and the Authority’s Financial Advisor 
and concurs with the Applicant’s assertions and recommends approval. A complete list of required 
Features and Amenities and Resident Programs are included as Exhibit 2. 

Additional Information:   

1. The Subject Development currently receives rental assistance via two HAP Contracts for 297 units. In 
connection with  the  sale  of  the  Subject  Development,  the  HAP  contracts will  be  assigned  to  the 
Applicant, modified  to  reflect  a  rental  increase  (effective  at  the  completion of  the  rehabilitation), 
and  extended  for  twenty  years  from  the  closing  date.  The  increased  rents  have  been  utilized  for 
purposes of determining pro forma net operating income (“NOI”). The increased rents were utilized 
by Value Tech for purposes of providing “as rehabilitated” appraised values.  

Rents for the remaining seven units are based on the Applicant’s estimate, which are somewhat less 
than the achievable rents concluded by Value Tech.  

The current rents were utilized by Value Tech for purposes of providing “as is” appraised value. 

 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS A-7 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Issues and Concerns:  None 

Mitigating Factors:  None 

Recommendation: 
SMG recommends JHFA issue the MMRB in the amount of $24,980,000. This recommendation is based 
upon  the  assumptions  detailed  in  the  Report  Summary  (Section  A)  and  Supporting  Information  and 
Schedules (Section C).    In addition, this recommendation is subject to the Loan Conditions (Section B). 
The reader is cautioned to refer to these sections for complete information. 

 
This recommendation is only valid for six months from the date of the report. 

Prepared by:            Reviewed by: 
 

           
Benjamin S. Johnson          Cindy Highsmith 
President            Credit Underwriting Manager 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS A-8 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Overview 

Construction Financing Sources 

Source Lender Applicant

Revised 

Applicant Underwriter

Interest 

Rate

Construction 

Debt Service
Fi rs t Mortgage Highland/HUD $24,980,000 $25,326,000 $25,326,000 0.00% $0

HC Equi ty Bridge PNC $0 $6,400,000 $6,400,000 2.25% $212,188

HC Equi ty PNC $9,939,553 $2,135,141 $2,135,141

Deferred Developer Fee $1,931,276 $4,383,038 $4,387,803

Total $36,850,829 $38,244,179 $38,248,944 $212,188  
 

 First Mortgage: 

The Applicant provided a  loan application  for a commitment, dated April 18, 2018, whereby Highland 
will facilitate a FHA Insured Permanent Loan (“First Mortgage”) under the U.S. Department of Housing 
and Urban Development  (“HUD”)  Section 223(f)  Tax Credit Program. The First Mortgage will  be  in an 
amount up to $25,326,000 for a term of 35 years and amortize over a period of 35 years. The interest 
rate will be fixed for the entire loan term and will be locked upon issuance and acceptance of the Firm 
Commitment  and  Lender  Loan Commitment. Based on  current market  conditions,  the  interest  rate  is 
estimated to be 4.25%, inclusive of a Mortgage Insurance Premium (“MIP”) of 0.25%. 

It  is  anticipated  that  the  property  will  maintain  stabilized  operations  throughout  the  rehabilitation 
period,  as  the  Subject  Development  is  currently  99%  occupied.  First Mortgage  principal  and  interest 
payments will be paid from rental income derived from the operations of the Development. Accordingly, 
no Construction Debt Service is presented above. 

As discussed earlier, the proceeds of the Highland loan will act as cash collateral for the $24,980,000 of 
JHFA Tax‐Exempt MMRB. The additional $346,000 not required to cash collateralize the MMRB will be 
funded as a source for constructions costs during the construction period.  

HC Equity/Bridge Loan 

HC Equity available during the construction period totals $2,135,141 (see pay‐in schedule in Permanent 
Financing  Sources  section).  PNC  will  provide  a  bridge  loan,  as  evidenced  by  a  proposal  letter  dated 
August 27, 2018, in an amount up to $7,783,049; however, only $6,400,000 is anticipated to be utilized 
at  this  time. Terms  include variable  interest  rate  (Daily LIBOR plus 225 basis points), monthly  interest 
only  payments  and  a  term  of  60 months.  The  bridge  loan may  be  prepaid  in  whole  or  part  without 
penalty or premium. Construction Debt Service presented above is based on the Applicant’s calculation 
which appears reasonable at this time.  

Other Construction Sources of Funds: 

Additional sources of funds for this Development during construction are deferred developer fees in the 
amount of $4,387,803. See the Permanent Financing section below for details.  

   

 

 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS A-9 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Permanent Financing Sources 

Source Lender Applicant

Revised 

Applicant Underwriter

Interest 

Rate

Amort. 

Yrs.

Term 

Yrs.

Annual 

Debt 

Fi rs t Mortgage Highland/HUD $24,980,000 $25,326,000 $25,326,000 4.25% 35 35 $1,391,595

HC Equi ty PNC $9,939,553 $10,143,189 $10,143,189

Def. Developer Fee $1,931,276 $2,774,990 $2,779,755

Total $36,850,829 $38,244,179 $38,248,944 $1,391,595
 

 

Proposed First Mortgage Loan 

Terms of the Highland HUD Insured First Mortgage are discussed in the previous section, Construction 
Financing Sources. 

Housing Credits Equity Investment: 

The  Borrower  has  applied  to  Florida Housing  to  receive  4% Housing  Credits  directly  from  the United 
States Treasury in conjunction with tax‐exempt financing.   A HC calculation is contained in Exhibit 4 of 
this credit underwriting report. 

Based upon a proposal letter, dated May 25, 2018, and last revised August 27, 2018, PNC, or an affiliate, 
will purchase a 99.99% interest in the Applicant and provide HC equity as follows:  

Capital Contributions Amount

Percent of 

Total When Due

1st Insta l lment $2,028,638 20.00%

prior to or s imultaneous ly with the clos ing

of construction financing

2nd Insta l lment $106,503 1.05% upon 50% construction completion

3rd Ins ta l lment $6,158,944 60.72% upon construction completion

4th Ins ta l lment $1,637,111 16.14% upon the latest of 95% phys ica l  occupancy,

100% initia l  tax credi t occupancy, cost certi fi cation, 

permanent loan

commencement or convers ion, or property 

s tabi l i zation.

5th Ins ta l lment $211,993 2.09% upon the receipt of IRS Forms  8609

Tota l $10,143,189 100.00%  

Annual Tax Credits per Syndication Agreement:    $1,152,750 

Total HC Available to Syndicator (10 years):    $11,526,347 

Syndication Percentage (limited partner interest):  99.990% 

Calculated HC Exchange Rate (per dollar):      $0.880  

Proceeds Available During Construction:                 $2,135,141 

Sufficient equity proceeds will be disbursed at closing to meet regulatory requirements.  

Other Permanent Sources of Funds: 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS A-10 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

In  order  to  balance  the  sources  and  uses  of  funds  after  all  loan  proceeds  and  capital  contributions 
payable  under  the  PNC proposal  have  been  received,  the  developer will  have  to  defer  $2,779,755 of 
developer fees. 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE A-11 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Uses of Funds 

CONSTRUCTION COSTS:
Applicant Costs

Revised 

Applicant Costs

Underwriters 

Total Costs ‐ CUR Cost Per Unit

HC Ineligible 

Costs ‐ CUR

Off‐Site Work $0

Recreational Amenities $0

Rehab of Existing Common Areas $147,980 $147,980 $147,980 $487

Rehab of Existing Rental Units $7,376,643 $7,687,072 $7,687,072 $25,286

Site Work $423,645 $423,645 $423,645 $1,394

Swimming Pool $0

Furniture, Fixture, & Equipment $0

Hard Cost Contingency ‐ in Constr. Cont. $0

Constr. Contr. Costs subject to GC Fee $7,948,268 $8,258,697 $8,258,697 $27,167 $0

General Conditions $1,112,758 $495,522 $495,522 $1,630

Overhead $165,174 $165,174 $543

Profit $495,522 $495,522 $1,630

Builder's Risk Insurance $0

General Liabil ity Insurance $0

Payment and Performance Bonds $97,000 $97,000 $319

Contract Costs not subject to GC Fee $62,000 $62,000 $204

Total Construction Contract/Costs $9,061,026 $9,573,915 $9,573,915 $31,493 $0

Hard Cost Contingency $631,069 $957,391 $957,391 $3,149

PnP Bond paid outside Constr. Contr. $0

Fees for LOC used as Constr. Surety $0

Demolition paid outside Constr. Contr. $0

FF&E paid outside Constr. Contr. $0

Other: $0

$9,692,095 $10,531,306 $10,531,306 $34,642 $0Total Construction Costs:  

 
Notes to the Construction Costs: 
1. The  Applicant  has  provided  an  unexecuted  construction  contract,  dated  September  27,  2018, 

between  the Owner  and Whitehead Construction Group,  LLC where  the  basis  for  payment  is  the 
Cost of the Work Plus a Fee with a Guaranteed Maximum Price  in the amount of $9,573,915. The 
date of commencement shall be 20 business days upon receipt of notice  to proceed and permits. 
The General Contractor shall achieve substantial completion no later than 485 days from the date of 
commencement. Retainage shall be limited to 10% of the contract amount and may be reduced to 
5% at 50% substantial completion upon approval from the Owner. Final payment will be made when 
the  contract has been  fully performed,  the General Contractor has  submitted  final accounting  for 
the  Cost  of  the Work  and  a  final  Certificate  for  Payment  has  been  issued  by  the  Architect.  The 
Owner’s  final payment to the Contractor shall be made no  later than 30 days after the Architect’s 
final Certificate for Payment.    

Contract Costs not subject to GC fee include building permit fees. 

General  Contractor  fees  as  stated  are  within  the  14%  maximum  per  the  Rule.  General  liability 
insurance will be covered by the general contractor under General Conditions. Cost of the payment 
and performance bond will be paid by the Developer.  

2. A 10% hard cost contingency is within the limits of the FHFC Rule. 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE A-12 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

3. SMG engaged and  received a Plan and Cost Analysis  (“PCA”)  from Dominion Due Diligence Group 
(D3G”).  Complete results are set forth in Section C of this credit underwriting report. 

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT COSTS:
Applicant Costs

Revised 

Applicant Costs

Underwriters 

Total Costs ‐ CUR Cost Per Unit

HC Ineligible 

Costs ‐ CUR

Accounting Fees $17,000 $17,000 $17,000 $56 $17,000

Appraisal $10,000 $16,000 $16,000 $53

Architect's and Planning Fees $0

Architect's Fee ‐ Green Initiative $0

Architect's Fee ‐ Landscape $0

Architect's Fee ‐ Site/Building Design $230,401 $250,000 $250,000 $822

Architect's Fee ‐ Supervision $0

Building Permits $60,000 $0

Builder's Risk Insurance $95,000 $0

Capital  Needs Assessment/Rehab $18,400 $30,100 $30,100 $99

Engineering Fees $0

Environmental Report $42,700 $56,325 $56,325 $185

Federal Labor Standards Monitoring $0

FHFC Administrative Fees $67,776 $108,043 $113,330 $373 $113,330

FHFC Application Fee $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $10 $3,000

FHFC Credit Underwriting Fee $36,262 $12,468 $12,468 $41 $12,468

FHFC Compliance Fee $273,600 $174,773 $174,773 $575 $174,773

FHFC Other Processing Fee(s) $0

Impact Fee $0

Lender Inspection Fees / Const Admin $82,080 $95,744 $95,744 $315

Green Building Cert. (LEED, FGBC, NAHB) $0

Home Energy Rating System (HERS) $0

Insurance $373,496 $0

Legal Fees ‐ Organizational Costs $270,500 $110,750 $110,750 $364 $110,750

Local Subsidy Underwriting Fee $0

Market Study $7,250 $13,250 $13,250 $44 $13,250

Marketing and Advertising $0

Plan and Cost Review Analysis $0

Property Taxes $171,092 $0

Soil Test $0

Survey $12,000 $12,000 $12,000 $39

Tenant Relocation Costs $0

Title Insurance and Recording Fees $61,500 $61,500 $61,500 $202

Traffic Study $0

Util ity Connection Fees $0

Soft Cost Contingency $315,534 $27,500 $27,500 $90

Other: IDRR $0

Other: Termite Bond $10,000 $10,000 $10,000 $33 $10,000

Other: FF&E, Computer & Software $12,000 $12,000 $12,000 $39 $6,000

Other: Sewer Scope $6,500 $6,500 $21

Other: $0

$2,169,591 $1,016,953 $1,022,240 $3,363 $460,571Total General Development Costs:  

Notes to the General Development Costs: 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE A-13 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

1. Architect’s  Fees  for  Site/Building  Design  and  Supervision  reflect  the  fees  as  stipulated  in  the 
Architect Contract dated May 29, 2018 between the Applicant and Dyke Nelson Architecture, LLC for 
the Subject Development.   

2. Building Permit costs are included in the Total Construction Contract amount. 

3. Builders  Risk  insurance will  be  added  to  the  existing  Applicant’s  hazard  policy  and  paid  for  from 
property operations. 

4. The FHFC Administrative Fee is based on 9% of the recommended annual allocation of HC. The FHFC 
Application Fee is reflective of the application fee for 4% HC.  

5. The  FHFC  Credit  Underwriting  fee  is  for  the  FHFC  HC  fee.  The  JHFA  MMRB  Underwriting  fee  is 
included in Local HFA Cost of Issuance in Financial Cost below.  

6. The FHFC Compliance Fee is the future compliance fees to be paid at bond redemption.  It is based 
on the latest date the Compliance Fee Model would extend (December 31, 2019). 

7. Soft cost contingency is within 5% of General Development Costs (exclusive of the contingency) as 
limited by Rule. 

8. Other General Development Costs are based on the Borrower’s estimates, which appear reasonable. 

   



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE A-14 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Applicant Costs

Revised 

Applicant Costs

Underwriters 

Total Costs ‐ CUR Cost Per Unit

HC Ineligible 

Costs ‐ CUR

Permanent Loan Application Fee $0

Permanent Loan Underwriting Fee $0

Permanent Loan Subsidy Layering Rev. $0

Permanent Loan Commitment Fee $0

Permanent Loan Origination Fee $274,780 $330,260 $329,238 $1,083 $329,238

Permanent Loan Closing Costs $65,000 $65,000 $214 $65,000

Permanent Loan Interest $0

Permanent Loan Servicing Fee $0

Bridge Loan Application Fee $0

Bridge Loan Underwriting Fee $0

Bridge Loan Origination Fee $28,000 $31,500 $32,000 $105 $32,000

Bridge Loan Commitment Fee $0

Bridge Loan Closing Costs $16,000 $16,000 $53 $16,000

Bridge Loan Interest $148,901 $212,188 $212,188 $698

Local HFA Application Bond Fee $0

Local HFA Bond Underwriting Fee $0

Local HFA Bond Subsidy Layering Rev. $0

Local HFA Bond Origination Fee $0

Local HFA Bond Commitment Fee $0

Local HFA Bond Trustee Fee $0

Local HFA Bond Credit Enh. Fee $0

Local HFA Bond Rating Fee $0

Local HFA Bond Cost of Issuance $428,942 $419,149 $419,149 $1,379 $419,149

Negative Arbitrage $253,300 $0 $0

Forward Rate Lock Fee $0

Placement Agent/Underwriter Fee $0

Initial TEFRA Fee $0

FHA MIP (Prepayment) $63,315 $63,315 $208 $63,315

FHA Exam Fee $75,978 $75,978 $250 $75,978

NIBP Commitment Fee $0

Other: Issuer Fee at Redemption $187,350 $187,350 $616

Other: $0

Other: $0

Other: $0

Other: $0

$1,133,923 $1,400,740 $1,400,218 $4,606 $1,000,680

$12,995,609 $12,948,999 $12,953,764 $42,611 $1,461,251Dev. Costs before Acq., Dev. Fee & Reserves

FINANCIAL COSTS:

Total Financial Costs:

 

Notes to the Financial Costs: 

1. Proceeds  from  the  sale  of  the  MMRB  will  be  placed  in  a  Collateral  Fund  and  invested  in  U.S 
Treasuries at a yield greater than interest on the MMRB. Accordingly, no amount for Construction 
Loan  Interest has been  included. As  indicated earlier, principal  and  interest payments due on  the 
Highland loan will be paid from property operations. 

2. Permanent Loan Application Fee is consistent with the Highland loan application. 

3. Permanent Loan Origination Fee is consistent with the Highland loan application. 

4. Bridge Loan Origination Fee is consistent with the PNC proposal letter. 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE A-15 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

5. Local Bond HFA Cost of Issuance amount is based on an estimate provided by RBC and includes the 
following:  fees  and  expenses  of  the  Issuer,  RBC  Underwriter  fee  and  expenses,  Bond  Counsel, 
Trustee fees and expenses and other fees.  

6. Local Issuer Fee at Redemption is equal to 75 basis points of the MMRB amount. 

7. Other Financial Costs are based on the Applicant’s estimates, which appear reasonable. 

Applicant Costs

Revised 

Applicant Costs

Underwriters 

Total Costs ‐ CUR Cost Per Unit

HC Ineligible 

Costs ‐ CUR

Brokerage Fees ‐ Building $0

Building Acquisition Cost $15,980,000 $16,100,000 $16,100,000 $52,961

Developer Fee on Non‐Land Acq. Costs $2,919,468 $2,898,000 $9,533

Other: $0

$15,980,000 $19,019,468 $18,998,000 $62,493 $0

NON‐LAND ACQUISITION COSTS

Total Non‐Land Acquisition Costs:  

Notes to the Non‐Land Acquisition Costs: 

1. Applicant presented a Real Estate Contract, dated April 23, 2018 (“Effective Date”) LRC Acquisition, 
LLC  (“Purchaser”)  and Desert Winds  LLC  (“Seller”)  reflecting a  purchase price of $18,800,000.  The 
closing date is to be mutually agreed upon by Seller and Purchaser, but no later than 365 days after 
Effective Date. 

2. Per an Assignment of Real Estate Contract, dated May 29, 2018, the Purchaser grants, transfers and 
assigns to Applicant all the right, title, and interest of Purchaser to Applicant. 

3. The “As‐Is” appraised value of  the Subject  is $19,430,000. Total acquisition costs are  limited to the 
lesser  of  the  appraised  value  or  the  purchase  price,  or  in  this  instance  the  purchase  price  of 
$18,800,000. Building Acquisition Cost  is  calculated as  the difference between  the purchase price 
and the portion attributable to land as described below.  

3. Maximum Developer Fee on Non‐Land Acquisition Costs is 18% of that amount. 

Applicant Costs

Revised 

Applicant Costs

Underwriters 

Total Costs ‐ CUR Cost Per Unit

HC Ineligible 

Costs ‐ CUR

Developer Fee ‐ Unapportioned $4,903,217 $2,009,987 $2,031,455 $6,682

DF to Consultant Fees $20,000 $20,000 $66

Other: $0

$4,903,217 $2,029,987 $2,051,455 $6,748 $0Total Other Development Costs:

DEVELOPER FEE ON NON‐ACQUISTION COSTS

 

Notes to Developer Fee on Non‐Acquisition Costs: 

1. Developer  Fee  –  Unapportioned  is  18%  of  Development  Costs,  exclusive  of  Non‐Land  Acquisition 
Costs, Land Acquisition Costs and Reserves. 

Applicant Costs

Revised 

Applicant Costs

Underwriters 

Total Costs ‐ CUR Cost Per Unit

HC Ineligible 

Costs ‐ CUR

Brokerage Fees ‐ Land $0 $0

Land Acquisition Cost $0 $0

Land $2,820,000 $2,700,000 $2,700,000 $8,882 $2,700,000

Other: $0 $0

$2,820,000 $2,700,000 $2,700,000 $8,882 $2,700,000

LAND ACQUISITION COSTS

Total Acquisition Costs:  



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE A-16 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Notes to the Land Acquisition Costs: 

1. The “As‐is” Fee Simple Land Value is $2,700,000. 

2. The Duval County Property Appraiser’s website indicates a Land Value of $2,857,000. 

3. Based upon FHFC’s Land Allocation criteria, SMG has utilized the lower of the two values discussed 
above.  

Applicant Costs

Revised 

Applicant Costs

Underwriters 

Total Costs ‐ CUR Cost Per Unit

HC Ineligible 

Costs ‐ CUR

Operating Deficit Reserve (Lender) $0 $0

Operating Deficit Reserve (Syndicator) $1,064,529 $1,064,529 $3,502 $1,064,529

Replacement Reserves (Lender) $152,000 $152,000 $152,000 $500 $152,000

Other: Insurance/Tax Escrow $329,196 $329,196 $1,083 $329,196

Other: $0 $0

$152,000 $1,545,725 $1,545,725 $5,085 $1,545,725

RESERVE ACCOUNTS

Total Reserve Accounts:  

Notes to Reserve Accounts: 

1. Operating Deficit Reserve (“ODR”) is required by PNC.  

2. Replacement  Reserve  is  required  by  Highland  and  is  supported  by  the  Capital  Needs  Assessment 
(“CNA”). 

3. Insurance/Tax Escrow is required by Highland. 

Applicant Costs

Revised 

Applicant Costs

Underwriters 

Total Costs ‐ CUR Cost Per Unit

HC Ineligible 

Costs ‐ CUR

$36,850,826 $38,244,179 $38,248,944 $125,819 $5,706,976TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COSTS:

TOTAL DEVELOPMENT COSTS

 

Notes to the Total Development Costs: 

1.   Total Development Costs have increased by $1,398,118 since the time of application, due primarily to 
higher estimated rehabilitation costs, financial costs and developer fee, which are somewhat offset 
by decreases in the general development costs.  

 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE A-17 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Operating Pro forma 
ANNUAL PER UNIT

$3,582,480 $11,784

$0 $0

$16,215 $53

$0 $0

$0 $0

$3,598,695 $11,838

Economic Loss  ‐ Percentage: 0.0% $0 $0

Phys ica l  Vacancy Loss  ‐ Percentage: 3.0% ($107,961) ($355)

Col lection Loss  ‐ Percentage: 0.25% ($8,997) ($30)

$3,481,737 $11,453

Ground Lease $0 $0

Sub‐Ground Lease $0 $0

$275,200 $905

$101,651 $334

Other $0 $0

Management Fee ‐ Percentage: 4.0% $139,269 $458

$60,404 $199

$282,340 $929

$638,384 $2,100

$0 $0

$121,285 $399

$45,600 $150

$0 $0

$57,760 $190

$0 $0

$0 $0

$91,200 $300

$1,813,093 $5,964

$1,668,644 $5,489

$1,391,595 $4,578

$0 $0

$0 $0

Al l  Other Mortgages  Fees  ‐  $0 $0

$1,391,595 $4,578

$277,049 $911

Other‐Pest Control

Reserve for Replacements

Net Operating Income

Debt Service Payments

D
E
B
T
 S
E
R
V
I

Firs t Mortgage ‐ 

Second Mortgage ‐ 

Thi rd Mortgage ‐ 

Total Debt Service Payments

Cash Flow After Debt Service

Total Effective Gross Revenue

Total Expenses

Genera l  and Adminis trative

Payrol l  Expenses

Uti l i ties

Marketing and Advertis ing

Maintenance and Repa irs

Grounds  Maintenance and Landscaping

EX
PE

N
S
ES

Fixed:

Rea l  Es tate Taxes

Insurance

Variable:

Res ident Programs

Contract Services

Securi ty

OPERATING PRO FORMA

IN
C
O
M
E

Gross  Potentia l  Renta l  Income

Rent Subs idy (ODR)

Other Income:

Miscel laneous

Washer/Dryer Renta ls

Cable/Satel l i te Income

Gross  Potentia l  Income

Less :

 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE A-18 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

1.199

1.199

1.199

52.1%

89.2%

Operating Expense Ratio

Break‐Even Ratio

DSC ‐ Al l  Mortgages  and Fees

Financial Ratios

DSC ‐ Second Mortgage plus  Fees

Debt Service Coverage Ratios

DSC ‐ Fi rs t Mortgage plus  Fees

 

Notes to the Operating Pro forma and Ratios: 

1. The Subject Development will  be utilizing HC  in  conjunction with  the MMRB  financing, which will 
impose rent restrictions. However, the Subject Development currently receives HUD Project‐based 
HAP  payments  for  297  units  under  two  separate  contracts.  In  connection  with  the  sale  of  the 
Subject  Development,  the  HAP  contracts  will  be  assigned  to  the  Applicant,  modified  to  reflect  a 
rental  increase  (effective  at  rehabilitation  completion),  and  extended  for  twenty  years  from  the 
closing date. The increased rents are reflected below.  

Rents for the remaining seven units are based on the Applicant’s estimate, which are somewhat less 
than the achievable rents as concluded by Value Tech. Those seven units are located at Silver Creek 
where the owner pays all utilities.  

A  rent  roll  for  the  Subject  Development  (top  half  Desert  Winds,  bottom  half  Silver  Creek)  is 
illustrated in the following table: 

MSA/County: Jacksonville/Duval County 

$1,350

$767

$1,150

$1,350

$828,000

$925

$129,600

$55,224

$1,150

$1,350

$78

$64

$1,216$0

$925

$787

$925

$8,556

$732,600$925

$767

$1,150

$945

$1,090

$945

$1,150

72

$103

Units

Low HOME 

Rents

60%

60%

12

High 

HOME 

Rents

Square 

Feet

60% $1,216

996

1,097

$1,090

$945

663

798

$1,050

$734,400

AMI%

60%

Utility 

Allow.

$46

Gross HC 

Rent

$787

CU Rents

$825

Appraiser 

Rents

$775

$850

$1,050

$1,225$1,225

$0

$108,900

$117,600

$850

$1,050

Applicant 

Rents

$775

$756,000

$775

$850

$825

267,896

$0

$3,582,480

$0

$0

11 $787

$787

$945

1

66

$1,090

$0

1.0

1 1.0

1.0

1.5

60

8

1 1.0

2

304

663

663

798

60%

60%

60%

996

1

2

3

4

Bed 

Rooms

1.0

Bath 

Rooms

1.0

PBRA 

Contr 

Rents

$775

$850

$825

$945

$0

4 1.5

7986

60

8

60%

1.0

2 1.0

1,097

3

$713

$1,113

Annual Rental 

Income

$111,600

$0

$945

$1,350$1,216

$1,050

$1,225

$825

$713

$787

$787

Net 

Restricted 

Rents

$741

$881

$1,012

60%

60%

$1,225

 

2. Miscellaneous  income  is  based  on  historical  income  collected  at  the  Subject  from  pet  fees, 
application fees, damages, and late fees.  

3. The Appraiser estimates a stabilized physical vacancy rate of 3% and collection loss of .025% for an 
economic  occupancy  of  96.75%  and  a  physical  occupancy  rate  of  97%.  These  assumptions  are 
supported by the historical occupancy rates of  the Subject Development. Further, SMG notes that 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT         SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE A-19 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

297  of  the  units  are  supported  by  HAP  contracts  with  a  reported  waiting  list  in  excess  of  100 
qualified tenants. Accordingly, SMG has utilized the appraisal assumptions. 

4. Real estate tax expense is based on the Applicant’s estimate which is somewhat greater than Value 
Tech’s estimate.  

5. Insurance expense is based on the Appraiser’s estimate and is within the historical and comparable 
range.  

6. Management  Fees  are  based  on  a  draft Management Agreement  between Applicant  and  LRM. A 
fully executed Management Agreement is a condition to close. 

7. Other operating expense estimates are based on either market comparables or historical operations 
at the Subject and are supported by the appraisal. 

8. Annual  deposit  to  replacement  reserve  is  equal  to  Highland’s  requirement,  Florida  Housing’s 
minimum requirement and the amount concluded in the CNA. 

9. A 15‐year  income and expense projection shows increasing debt service coverage (“DSC”) through 
year fifteen (15). This projection is attached to this report as Exhibit 1. 



SMG 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section B 

Loan Conditions 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE B-1 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

Special Conditions 

These recommendations are contingent upon  the  review and approval of  the  following  items by SMG 
and  JHFA at  least 30 days prior  to  real  estate  loan  closing.  Failure  to  receive approval of  these  items 
within this time frame may result in postponement of the loan closing.   

1. Receipt  and  Satisfactory  review  of  fully  executed  Management  Agreement  with  terms  not 
substantially different from those underwritten herein.   

2. Receipt and Satisfactory review of fully executed Construction Contract with terms not substantially 
different from those underwritten herein.   

3. Assignment of HAP contracts consistent with the assumptions of this report. 

General Conditions   

This  recommendation  is contingent upon the review and approval of  the  following  items by SMG and 
JHFA at least 30 days prior to real estate loan closing. Failure to receive approval of these items within 
this time frame may result in postponement of the loan closing.   

1. Borrower to comply with any and all recommendations noted in the Capital Needs Assessment and 
in the Plan and Cost Review.  

2. Signed and sealed survey, dated within 90 days of closing, unless otherwise approved by JHFA, and 
its  legal counsel, based upon the particular circumstances of  the  transaction.   The Survey shall be 
certified to JHFA and its legal counsel, as well as the title insurance company, and shall indicate the 
legal description, exact boundaries of  the Development, easements, utilities,  roads, and means of 
access to public streets, total acreage and flood hazard area, and any other requirements of JHFA. 

3. Building permits and any other necessary approvals and permits (e.g., final site plan approval, water 
management  district,  Department  of  Environmental  Protection,  Army  Corps  of  Engineers, 
Department  of  Transportation,  etc.).  Acceptable  alternatives  to  this  requirement  are  receipt  and 
satisfactory  review  of  a  letter  from  the  local  permitting  and  approval  authority  that  the  above 
referenced  permits  and  approvals  will  be  issued  upon  receipt  of  applicable  fees  (with  no  other 
conditions), or evidence of 100% lien‐free completion, if applicable. If a letter is provided, copies of 
all permits will be required as a condition of the first post‐closing draw. 

4. Final  sources  and  uses  of  funds  itemized  by  source  and  line  item,  in  a  format  and  in  amounts 
approved by the Servicer. A detailed calculation of the construction interest based on the final draw 
schedule  (see  below),  documentation  of  the  closing  costs,  and  draft  loan  closing  statement must 
also be provided. The sources and uses of funds schedule will be attached to the Loan Agreement as 
the approved Development budget. 

5. A  final  construction draw schedule  showing  itemized  sources and uses of  funds  for each monthly 
draw.  The closing draw shall include appropriate backup and ACH wiring instructions. 

6. The  developer  is  only  allowed  to  draw  a  maximum  of  50%  of  the  total  developer  fee  during 
construction,  but  in  no  case  more  than  the  payable  developer  fee, which  is  determined  to  be 
“developer’s overhead”. No more than 35% of “developer’s overhead” during construction will be 
allowed to be disbursed at closing. The remainder of the “developer’s overhead” will be disbursed 
during construction on a pro rata basis, based on the percentage of completion of the Development, 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE B-2 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

as  approved  and  reviewed  by  JHFA  and  Servicer.  The  remaining  unpaid  developer  fee  shall  be 
considered attributable  to “developer’s profit” and may not be  funded until  the Development has 
achieved 100% lien free completion, and retainage has been released. 

7. Evidence  of  general  liability,  flood  (if  applicable),  builder’s  risk  and  replacement  cost  hazard 
insurance (as certificates of occupancy are received) reflecting JHFA as Loss Payee/Mortgagee, with 
coverages,  deductibles  and  amounts  satisfactory  to  JHFA  and,  as  applicable,  the  FHFC  Insurance 
Guide. 

8. 100% Payment and Performance (“P&P”) Bonds or a Letter of Credit (“LOC”) in an amount not less 
than  25%  of  the  construction  contract  is  required  in  order  to  secure  the  construction  contract 
between the general contractor and the Borrower.  In either case, JHFA must be listed as co‐obligee.  
The P&P bonds must be from a company rated at least “A‐“ by A.M. Best & Co. with a financial size 
category of at  least FSC VI.  JHFA and/or  legal counsel must approve the source, amount(s) and all 
terms of  the P&P bonds or  LOC.    If  the  LOC option  is  utilized,  the  LOC must  contain  “evergreen” 
language and be in a form satisfactory to the Servicer, JHFA, and its Legal Counsel. 

9. Architect, Construction Consultant, and Borrower certifications on forms provided by FHFC will be 
required  for  both  design  and  as‐built  with  respect  to  Section  504  of  the  Rehabilitation  Act,  the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), and Federal Fair Housing Act requirements, as applicable. 

10. A  copy  of  an  Amended  and  Restated  Operating  Agreement  reflecting  purchase  of  the  HC  under 
terms  consistent  with  the  assumptions  contained  within  this  Credit  Underwriting  Report.  The 
Amended  and  Restated  Operating  Agreement  shall  be  in  a  form  and  of  financial  substance 
satisfactory to Servicer and to JHFA and its Legal Counsel. 

11. At all times there will be undisbursed loan funds (collectively held by JHFA, the first lender and any 
other source) sufficient to complete the Development.  If at any time there are not sufficient funds 
to  complete  the  Development,  the  Borrower  will  be  required  to  expend  additional  equity  on 
Development costs or to deposit additional equity with JHFA which  is sufficient (in the Authority’s 
judgment) to complete the Development before additional loan funds are disbursed.  This condition 
specifically  includes escrowing at closing all equity necessary  to complete construction or another 
alternative acceptable to JHFA in its sole discretion. 

12. Final  “as  permitted”  (signed  and  sealed)  site  plans,  building  plans  and  specifications.    The 
geotechnical report, if any, must be bound within the final plans and specifications. 

This recommendation is contingent upon the review and approval of the following items by JHFA and its 
legal counsel at least 30 days prior to real estate loan closing. Failure to receive approval of these items 
within this time frame may result in postponement of the loan closing.   

1. Documentation of the legal formation and current authority to transact business  in Florida for the 
Borrower, the general partner/member(s)/principal(s)/manager(s) of the Borrower, the guarantors, 
and any limited partners/members of the Borrower. 

2. Signed and sealed survey, dated within 90 days of closing, unless otherwise approved by JHFA, and 
its  legal  counsel,  based upon  the particular  circumstances of  the  transaction.  The  Survey  shall  be 
certified to JHFA and its legal counsel, as well as the title insurance company, and shall indicate the 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE B-3 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

legal description, exact boundaries of  the Development, easements, utilities,  roads, and means of 
access to public streets, total acreage and flood hazard area, and any other requirements of JHFA. 

3. An  acceptable  updated  Environmental  Audit  Report,  together  with  a  reliance  letter  to  JHFA, 
prepared within 90 days of MMRB closing, unless otherwise approved by  JHFA, and  legal counsel, 
based upon the particular circumstances of  the  transaction.   Borrower  to comply with any and all 
recommendations  noted  in  the  Environmental  Assessment(s)  and  Update  and  the  Environmental 
Review, if applicable. 

4. Title  insurance  pro‐forma  or  commitment  for  title  insurance  with  copies  of  all  Schedule  B 
exceptions, in the amount of the MMRB naming JHFA as the insured.  All endorsements required by 
JHFA shall be provided. 

5. JHFA  and  its  legal  counsel  shall  review  and  approve  all  other  lenders  closing  documents  and  the 
Operating Agreement  or  other  applicable  agreement.  JHFA  shall  be  satisfied  in  its  sole  discretion 
that all legal and program requirements for the Loans have been satisfied. 

6.  Evidence of insurance coverage pursuant to the MMRB governing this proposed transaction and, as 
applicable, the FHFC Insurance Guide. 

7. Receipt  of  a  legal  opinion  from  the  Borrower’s  legal  counsel  acceptable  to  JHFA  addressing  the 
following matters: 

a.  The legal existence and good standing of the Borrower and of any partnership or limited liability 
company  that  is  the  general  partner  of  the  Borrower  (the  "GP")  and  of  any  corporation  or 
partnership that is the managing general partner of the GP, of any corporate guarantor and any 
manager.; 

b.  Authorization,  execution,  and  delivery  by  the  Borrower  and  the  guarantors,  of  all  Loan 
documents; 

c.  The  Loan  documents  being  in  full  force  and  effect  and  enforceable  in  accordance  with  their 
terms, subject to bankruptcy and equitable principles only; 

d.  The Borrower's and the  guarantor's execution, delivery and performance of the loan documents 
shall not result  in a violation of, or conflict with, any  judgments, orders, contracts, mortgages, 
security agreements or leases to which the Borrower is a party or to which the Development is 
subject to the Borrower’s Partnership/Operating Agreement and; 

e.  Such other matters as JHFA or its legal counsel may require. 

8. Evidence of compliance with local concurrency laws, as applicable. 

9. UCC Searches for the Borrower, its partnerships, as requested by legal counsel. 

10. Such other assignments, affidavits, certificates, financial statements, closing statements, and other 
documents  as  may  be  reasonably  requested  by  JHFA  or  its  legal  counsel  in  form  and  substance 
acceptable to JHFA and its legal counsel, in connection with the loan(s). 

11. Any other reasonable conditions established by JHFA and its legal counsel. 

Additional Conditions 

This recommendation is also contingent upon the following additional conditions: 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE B-4 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

1. Compliance with all provisions of Sections 420.507 and 420.509, Florida Statutes, Rule Chapter 67‐
21, F. A. C., Sections 420.507(22) and 420.5087, Florida Statutes, Rule Chapters 67‐53, and 67‐60, 
F.A.C., , Section 42 I.R.C., and any other State and Federal requirements. 

2. Acceptance  by  the  Borrower  and  execution  of  all  documents  evidencing  and  securing  the MMRB 
Loan  and  First  Mortgage  Loan  in  form  and  substance  satisfactory  to  JHFA  and  its  legal  counsel, 
including,  but  not  limited  to,  the  Promissory  Note(s),  the  Loan  Agreement(s),  the Mortgage  and 
Security Agreement(s),  the Land Use Restriction Agreement(s), and Extended Low Income Housing 
Agreement(s). 

3. Acceptance by the Borrower and execution of all documents evidencing and securing MMRB in form 
and substance satisfactory to JHFA and its legal counsel, including, but not limited to, the Promissory 
Note(s), the Loan Agreement(s), the Mortgage and Security Agreement(s), the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement(s), and Extended Low Income Housing Agreement(s). 

4. If  MMRB  funds  are  used  for  construction  or  rehabilitation,  all  amounts  necessary  to  complete 
construction must be deposited with the Trustee prior to Loan Closing, or any phased HC Equity pay‐
in  of  amount  necessary  to  complete  construction  shall  be  contingent  upon  an  unconditional 
obligation, through a Joint Funding Agreement or other mechanism acceptable to JHFA, of the entity 
providing  HC  Equity  payments  (and  evidence  that  100%  of  such  amount  is  on  deposit  with  such 
entity at Loan Closing) to pay, regardless of any default under any documents relating to the HC as 
long as the First Mortgage continues to be funded. 

5. If  applicable,  receipt  and  satisfactory  review  of  Financial  Statements  from  all  Guarantors  dated 
within 90 days of Real Estate Closing. 

6. Guarantors  are  to provide  the  standard  JHFA Construction Completion Guarantee,  to  be  released 
upon lien free completion as approved by the Servicer. 

7. Guarantors  for  the MMRB Loan are  to provide  the standard  JHFA Operating Deficit Guarantee.    If 
requested  in  writing  by  the  Applicant,  Servicer  will  consider  a  recommendation  to  release  the 
Operating Deficit Guarantee  if all  conditions are met,  including achievement of a 1.15 DSC on the 
First Mortgage, 90% Occupancy and 90% of Gross Potential Rental Income net of utility allowances, 
if applicable, for a period equal to twelve (12) consecutive months, all certified by an independent 
Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”). The calculation of the debt service coverage ratio shall be made 
by  JHFA  or  the  Servicer.  Notwithstanding  the  above,  the  Operating  Deficit  Guarantee  shall  not 
terminate earlier than three (3) years following the final certificate of occupancy. 

8. Guarantors are to provide the standard JHFA Environmental Indemnity Guaranty. 

9. Guarantors are to provide the standard JHFA Guaranty of Recourse Obligations. 

10. A  mortgagee  title  insurance  lender’s  policy  naming  JHFA  as  the  insured  first,  second  and  third 
mortgage holder  in the amount of  the Loans  is  to be  issued at closing. Any exceptions to the title 
insurance policy must be acceptable to JHFA or its legal counsel.  All endorsements that are required 
by JHFA are to be issued and the form of the title policy must be approved prior to closing. 

11. Property tax and hazard insurance escrows are to be established and maintained by the First Lender 
or the Servicer. In the event the reserve account is held by JHFA’s loan servicing agent, the release of 
funds shall be at JHFA’s sole discretion. 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS PAGE B-5 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

12. Replacement  Reserves  in  the  minimum  amount  of  $300  per  unit  per  year  are  required  to  be 
deposited  on  a  monthly  basis  into  a  designated  escrow  account,  to  be  maintained  by the  First 
Mortgagee/Credit  Enhancer,  the  Trustee,  or  JHFA’s  loan  servicing  agent.   However,  Applicant  has 
the option to prepay Replacement Reserves as allowed per the Rule, in the amount of $91,200 (one‐
half the required Replacement Reserve for Years 1 and 2), in order to meet the applicable DSC loan 
requirements.  Applicant can waive this election, if at closing of the loan(s) the required DSC is met 
without the need to exercise the option.  It is currently estimated that Replacement Reserves will be 
funded from Operations in the amount of $300 per unit per year for years 1 and 2, followed by $300 
per unit per year thereafter.  The initial Replacement Reserve will have limitations on the ability to 
be drawn.   Preservation or Rehabilitation Developments  (with or without acquisition) shall not be 
allowed  to  draw  until  the  start  of  the  scheduled  replacement  activities  as  outlined  in  the  pre‐
construction  Capital  Needs  Assessment  report  (“CNA”)  subject  to  the  activities  completed  in  the 
scope of rehabilitation, but not sooner than the third year. 

The amount established as a Replacement Reserve shall be adjusted based on a CNA to be received 
by the JHFA or its servicers, prepared by an independent third party and acceptable to the JHFA and 
its  servicers  at  the  time  the CNA  is  required,  beginning  no  later  than  the  10th  year  after  the  first 
residential building in the Development receives a certificate of occupancy, a temporary certificate 
of  occupancy,  or  is  placed  in  service, whichever  is  earlier  (“Initial  Replacement Reserve Date”).  A 
subsequent CNA is required no later than the 15th year after the Initial Replacement Reserve Date 
and subsequently every five (5) years thereafter. 

13. D3G, or other  construction  inspector acceptable  for  JHFA,  is  to act as  JHFA’s  inspector during  the 
construction period. 

14. Under  the  Desert Winds  and  Silver  Creek  Apartments  construction  contract,  a  minimum  of  10% 
retainage holdback on all construction draws is required until the Development is 50% complete, in 
which it may be reduced to 5% upon approval from the Owner.  JHFA requires a minimum of 10% 
retainage holdback on all construction draws until the Development is 50% complete, at which time 
no retainage will be withheld. Retainage will not be released until successful lien free completion of 
construction and issuance of all certificates of occupancy, which satisfies the Authority’s minimum 
requirement. 

15. Satisfactory completion of a pre‐loan closing compliance audit conducted by JHFA or its Servicer, if 
applicable. 

16. Closing of the MMRB first mortgage prior to or simultaneous with all other funding sources. 

17. Any other reasonable requirements of the Servicer, JHFA or its legal counsel.   



SMG 

November 14,  2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section C 

Supporting Information and Schedules 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-1 

November 14,  2018 

Additional Development and Third Party Supplemental Information 

Appraised Value:  The appraised value is $28,140,000 as if completed and stabilized, based 
on market rents and market financing, as reported in the full narrative 
appraisal dated October 19, 2018, with an effective date of September 
17, 2018, performed by Value Tech Realty Services,  Inc. (“Value Tech”) 
of  Lutz,  Florida.  Kay  Kauchick,  MAI,  is  a  State  Certified  General  Real 
Estate  Appraiser,  Florida  License  No.  RZ  2066.  Based  on  the  market 
value of the property, the loan‐to‐value ratio for the first mortgage debt 
is 90.0%. 

The  appraised  value  as  if  completed  and  stabilized  and  based  on  the 
post rehab HAP contract and HC restricted rents and favorable terms is 
estimated at $29,540,000. The loan‐to‐value ratio for the first mortgage 
debt based on this value is 85.7%. 

The “As Is” Restricted (by current HAP contract and HC rents) Market is 
$19,430,000. 

  The  appraisal  also  estimated  an  “as  if  vacant”  value  for  the  land  of 
$2,700,000. 

Market Study:  A Market  Study was prepared  for  the  subject property by Value Tech, 
dated October 1, 2018, with an effective date of September 17, 2018.  
The  subject  is  located  within  Arlington,  a  submarket  of  Jacksonville 
located on the eastern side of the St. Johns River across from downtown 
Jacksonville.  The  submarket  contains  North  Florida University  and  has 
ready  access  through Greater  Jacksonville  via  I‐295,  I‐95,  U.S.  90,  and 
the  Arlington  Expressway.  The  road  network  provides  convenience  to 
the main employment centers downtown as well as to the Jacksonville 
beaches, municipalities and the high‐growth corridor along I‐95 in south 
Duval County. 

The Subject was originally constructed in 1972 and is comprised of a mix 
of one‐, two‐, three‐, and four‐bedroom units. The units offer two‐story 
garden‐style design.  

The Subject is located in Census Tract 12031015802 which is a Qualified 
Census  Tract  (“QCT”)  but  is  not  located  in  a  Difficult  to  Develop  Area 
(“DDA”).  

Value Tech defines the Primary Market Area (“PMA”) as the east‐central 
portion of Jacksonville, with boundaries generally defined as follows: 

North – St. Johns River 

South: U.S. Route 90  

East: Southside Connector/Southside Boulevard 

West: St. Johns River 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-2 

November 14,  2018 

The  PMA,  for  the  purpose  of  determining  a  like‐kind  inventory  of 
competitive units (excluding the subject’s existing units), consists of five 
like‐kind properties with a total of 1,049 units with a weighted average 
occupancy  rate  in  excess  of  93.42%  (more  than  the  92%  minimum 
required by Rule). It should be noted one of these properties, Oakwood 
Villa  Apartments,  has  multiple  down  units  and  reports  occupancy  of 
only  80%.  Excluding  Oakwood  Villa  Apartments,  overall  occupancy  in 
the PMA is in excess of 97%. 

There  are  no  Guarantee  Fund  properties  within  the  subject’s  PMA  or 
Duval County.   

Value  Tech  is  not  aware  of  any  affordable  housing  developments 
currently under construction or proposed within  the  Jacksonville MSA. 
Therefore, Value Tech does not anticipate any short term or long term 
negative  impact  relating  to  new  supply,  and  due  to  the  moderately 
growing population and household base within the PMA, it is likely that 
occupancy rates will remain stable.  

Due to the high level of demand for this product in the PMA, Value Tech 
projects that the subject will obtain maximum allowable 2018 HC rents. 
Gas, water,  sewer  and  trash  costs  are  included with  the  rent  for both 
developments. At Desert Winds, the owner pays for all utilities. At Silver 
Creek,  the  tenant  pays  for  electric,  only.  According  to  FHFC 
requirements,  market  rents  are  to  exceed  restricted  rents  by  a 
minimum of 10%. Based on market‐rate garden‐style apartments in the 
subject’s  expanded  neighborhood  area,  Value  Tech  estimated  the 
weighted average market  rental  rate  is 13% higher  than the maximum 
Low Income Housing Tax Credit (“HC”) rental rate. 

Value Tech notes that the Subject  is an existing development with 297 
of the units subject to Project‐based Section 8 contracts. The Subject is 
fully  occupied  and  will  not  require  lease‐up.  Rehabilitation  will  be 
completed with tenants in place. 

In summary, Value Tech concludes that the Subject will provide a quality 
rental  housing  option  for  the  expanding  workforce.  Demand  analyses 
indicate  there  is  sufficient  sustainable  demand  for  the  renovation 
project  without  adversely  impacting  the  existing  supply  and  still 
maintaining a balanced overall market. No FHFC‐financed properties will 
be negatively impacted by the renovation of the subject. 

Environmental Report:  Gill Group/Spectrum Environmental,  Inc. (“GGSE”) performed a Phase I 
Environmental  Site  Assessment  (“ESA”)  in  accordance  with  ASTM 
Standard  E‐1527‐13  and  Section  8  Renew  Policy  Guidebook.  The  ESA 
indicates an inspection date of May 2, 2018 and a report  issue date of 
May 14, 2018.  



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-3 

November 14,  2018 

  GGSE’s findings are summarized below: 

  A recognized environmental condition (“REC”) refers to the presence or 
likely presence of any hazardous substances or petroleum products  in, 
on,  or  at  a  property:  due  to  release  to  the  environment;  under 
conditions  indicative  of  a  release  to  the  environment;  or  under 
conditions  that  pose  a  material  threat  of  a  future  release  to  the 
environment: 

 

 GGSE  did  not  identify  any  REC  during  the  course  of  this 
assessment. 

 
A  historical  recognized  environmental  condition  (“HREC”)  refers  to  an 
environmental condition that in the past would have been identified as 
a  REC,  but  has  been  adequately  addressed  and  therefore  no  longer 
represents a REC: 
 

 GGSE  did  not  identify  any  HREC  during  the  course  of  this 
assessment. 

A  controlled  recognized  environmental  condition  (“CREC”)  refers  to  a 
REC resulting from a past release of hazardous substances or petroleum 
products  that has been addressed  to  the satisfaction of  the applicable 
regulatory authority, with hazardous substances or petroleum products 
allowed  to  remain  in  place  subject  to  the  implementation  of  required 
controls:  

 GGSE  did  not  identify  any  CREC  during  the  course  of  this 
assessment. 

A business environmental risk (“BER”) is a risk which can have a material 
environmental  or  environmentally  driven  impact  on  the  business 
associated with  the  current  or  planned  use  of  a  parcel  of  commercial 
real  estate,  not  necessarily  limited  to  those  environmental  issues 
required to be investigated in this practice: 

 GGSE  did  not  identify  any  BERC  during  the  course  of  this 
assessment except  for  identified  asbestos  containing materials 
(“ACM”) and lead based paint.  

A  Lead  Based  Paint  Inspection  and  Risk  Assessment  Report  was 
completed by OHC Environmental Engineering in 2004. Lead based paint 
was identified on some exterior painted surfaces, but all interior paints 
tested  negative  for  lead.  A  survey  of  suspect  ACM was  conducted  by 
Property Solutions,  Inc.  (“PSI”). Based on the finding of ACM in certain 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-4 

November 14,  2018 

building  materials,  PSI  prepared  an  Operations  and  Maintenance 
Program for the Subject Development which was in included as Exhibit 
to the ESA. 
 
GGSE  concluded  that  no  REC,  HREC,  CREC  or  BER were  identified  and 
made  no  recommendations  for  further  investigations  or  corrective 
actions.  

      

Soil Test Report:  The  subject  is  an  existing  purchase/rehabilitation.    There  are  no  new 
structures  being  built  as  part  of  the  planned  rehabilitation;  therefore, 
no soils test or borings are required.     

Capital Needs Assessment:  SMG received and reviewed a Capital Needs Assessment  (“CNA”)  from 
Dominion  Due  Diligence  Group  (“D3G”),  dated  August  29,  2018.  The 
CNA  was  performed  in  general  conformance  with  the  scope  and 
limitations as  set  forth by ASTM E 2018‐08 and with U.S. Housing and  
Urban    Development’s    (HUD’s)  Multifamily  Accelerated  Processing 
(MAP)  Section  223(f)  as  delineated  in  the  HUD MAP Guide  Chapter  5 
and Appendix 5 (revised January 29, 2016).  The scope of work included: 

 

 The performance of a field inspection of subject property conducted 

by individuals trained in building engineering and construction 

practices. 

 The interviewing of tenants and staff regarding the condition of the 

apartment complex, common areas, and known physical/equipment 

deficiencies. 

 Interviews with contractors that have detailed knowledge of specific 

building systems for the subject property, when available. 

 Interviews with local officials regarding zoning and code compliance 

at the property, and receipt of zoning/building code certification. 

 The preparation and submittal of a report containing information 

specific to observations, interpretations, and estimated costs of 

repairs, if any, and the computation of the required reserves to 

replace major components of the property. 

 The calculation of a total project replacement cost and completion 

of form HUD‐92329 –Property Insurance Schedule. 

 The completion of HUD’s CNA Assessment Tool. 

  D3G observed all common areas and 25% of the dwelling units in order 
to  formulate  an  accurate  estimate  of  repair,  replacement  and  major 
maintenance  needs.    Overall,  D3G  states  that  the  subject  property 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-5 

November 14,  2018 

appeared to be in fair condition. This evaluation is based on observation 
of  the  building  systems  and  components  and  the  apparent  level  of 
maintenance  activities which  appear  to  be  good with  proactive  repair 
and replacement. 

  The property was built  in 1972 and has an estimated remaining useful 
life  of  approximately  50  years  provided  that  recommended  repairs 
identified  in  the  CNA  are  completed,  physical  improvements  receive 
continuing  maintenance  and  the  various  components  and/or  systems 
are replaced or repaired in a timely basis.  Capital reserve items consist 
of  predictable  or  cyclical  replacement  type  items.  These  items  are 
included in the Replacement Reserve schedule.   

  Critical repairs are defined as repairs that may be identified during the 
survey  that  are  typically  limited  to  life,  safety,  health,  building  code 
violation,  or  building  or  property  stabilization  issues  observed  at  a 
subject property. D3G identified two critical life safety items, aluminum 
wiring and Zinsco panels. Further, D3G states the subject property does 
not  fully  meet  the  accessibility  requirements  of  the  ADA,  FFHA,  and 
Section  504/UFAS  for  existing  structures.  The  provided  scope  of work 
for  the planned renovation  includes  the  replacement of  the aluminum 
wiring and Zinsco panels and modifications required to comply with the 
applicable accessibility standards.  

D3G  considers  the  Developer’s  proposed  rehabilitation  work  together 
with  their  CNA  repair  recommendations  to  be  adequate  in  scope  and 
depth to meet the physical needs of the subject property. Additionally, 
they find the costs associated with the work to be reasonable.  

A twelve (12) year replacement reserve analysis was also included in the 
CNA. Replacement reserve costs are typically defined as predictable and 
in  some  instances  recurring  within  a  specified  future  period.  Items 
anticipated  to  be  less  than  approximately  $3,000  to  repair  or  replace 
are  generally  considered  to  be  part  of  routine  maintenance  and  are 
omitted.  Unless  specifically  required,  these  costs  are  not  intended  to 
represent enhancements or upgrades to the existing property. Based on 
a 12‐year Replacement Reserve Projection,  assuming an  initial  deposit 
of $152,000, the Subject Development will need to fund reserves in an 
amount equal  to $300 per unit  per  year  in  inflated dollars  (1.50% per 
year  inflation  factor).  The  opinions  of  costs  presented  are  for  the 
repair/replacement  of  readily  visible  materials  and  building  system 
defects  identified  that  might  significantly  affect  the  value  of  the 
property  during  the  evaluation  period.  These  opinions  are  based  on 
approximate quantities and values.   They do not constitute a warranty 
that all  items, which may  require  repair or  replacement,  are  included.  
Estimated cost opinions presented  in  the CNA are  from a combination 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-6 

November 14,  2018 

of  sources.    The  primary  sources  are:    Marshall  &  Swift  Commercial 
Estimator (online database – 2016), R.S. Means Construction Cost Date 
(2016), as well as D3G’s past experience with construction projects.   

  D3G considers the Owner’s proposed rehabilitation work, together with 
their CNA repair recommendations, to be adequate in scope and depth 
to meet the physical needs of the subject property.  

Pre‐Construction Analysis:  SMG has received a Plan and Cost Analysis (“PCA”) from D3G dated July 
26, 2018. 

  The  PCA  report  states  that  the  plans  and  specifications  (architectural 
and mechanical) provided appear to be generally complete, presenting 
adequate information for review and coordination / regulatory review / 
pricing under the proposed contract model (negotiated Cost Plus a Fee 
with  a  Guaranteed  Maximum  Price).  Overall,  the  drawings  and 
specifications  are  sufficiently  organized  and  depict  a  reasonable 
approach  to  the development of  the project and provide an adequate 
amount of information for the Construction Phase.  General compliance, 
code compliance, zoning and ADA regulations appear to have been met.  
The Agreement for Services conforms to general industry standards. 

  The  PCA  concludes  that  features  and  amenities  committed  by  the 
Applicant  in  its  application  to  JHFA  are  included  in  the  plans  and 
specifications.  

  The  project  scope  consists  of  interior  and  exterior  renovations  to  the 
existing  residential  buildings,  Clubhouse/Leasing  Office  Building,  and 
Laundry  Building,  including  accessibility  upgrades  and  limited  site 
improvements. The scope of  interior  renovations will generally  include 
replacement of existing kitchen appliances, cabinetry, countertops, and 
bathroom  vanities  and  fixtures,  replacement  of  flooring  throughout, 
new  light  fixtures,  new  HVAC  equipment,  and  new  painted  gypsum 
board walls  and  ceilings.  The  scope of exterior building  improvements 
will  generally  include  replacement  of  existing  roofing,  gutters  and 
downspouts.  The  scope  of  site  work  improvements  will  generally 
include repairs to existing sidewalks and curbs, resurfacing and striping 
of  the  parking  areas,  accessibility/path  of  travel  upgrades,  erosion 
control  /  landscaping,  and  jet  cleaning  of  storm water  piping  /  sewer 
line repair.  

  The  scope  of  work  also  includes  accessibility  upgrades  related  to  the 
existing  Laundry  Building,  and  the  conversion  of  16  existing  dwelling 
units  to  mobility‐impaired  units  per  UFAS  requirements,  and  the 
conversion  of  2%  minimum  of  the  existing  units  to  hearing/vision‐
impaired units per UFAS requirements.   



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-7 

November 14,  2018 

  The total construction cost provided by Whitestone Construction Group, 
LLC  equals  $9,573,915  (excluding  a  10%  hard  cost  contingency),  or 
$35.08 per square foot of gross building (272,896 gross square feet) and 
$31,493  per  apartment  (304  apartments).  D3G’s  estimated  costs  are 
$9,300,335, or $34.08 per square foot of gross building and $30,592 per 
apartment,  a  variance  of  approximately  ‐2.86%,  which  is  within  an 
acceptable range when performing conceptual cost analysis reports. 

  Following a review of the scope of work, the construction schedule is of 
485 days or just over 16 months which appears reasonable. 

 Site Inspection:   Ben  Johnson of Seltzer Management Group,  Inc.  conducted a  site visit 
on  September  24,  2018  for  the  Subject  Development.  The  Subject 
Development  is  located within  Arlington,  a  submarket  of  Jacksonville, 
located on the eastern side of the St. Johns River across from downtown 
Jacksonville.  

  The  Subject  Development  is  comprised  of  two  rental  apartment 
complexes (but operated as one) located across Caravan Circle from one 
another. The physical addresses are 300 Silver Creek Trace (Silver Creek) 
and  233  Sahara  Court  (Desert Wind),  Jacksonville,  Florida.  Combined, 
there  are  304  units,  located  in  30  two‐story  multifamily  apartment 
buildings  with  two  maintenance,  leasing,  laundry,  and  clubhouse 
buildings. 

The  immediately  surrounding properties  consist of  residential  areas  to 
the south, east and west, with a commercial area,  including numerous 
restaurants, retail and professional offices  to the North. 

  There  does  not  appear  to  be  any  apparent  adverse  conditions  that 
would  negatively  affect  this  development  nor  impair  the  property’s 
ability to attract tenants.  

Features, Amenities, and 
 Resident Programs:  Borrower  committed  to  provide  certain  features  and  amenities  and 

certain resident programs in the JHFA Application. These commitments 
are set forth in the attached Exhibit 2. 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-8 

November 14,  2018 

Borrower Information 

Borrower Name:  LRC Desert‐Silver, LLC (“Borrower”)  

Borrower Type:  Florida Limited Liability Company 

Ownership Structure:  Borrower registered with the State of Florida on May 10, 2018. Articles 
of Organization naming LRC GP, LLC (“LRC GP”) as the manager and sole 
member  were  provided.  Articles  of  Amendment  to  Articles  of 
Organization  Limited  Partnership  Agreement were  filed May  16,  2016 
which  removed  LRC  GP  and  added  LRC  Desert‐Silver  GP,  LLC  as  the 
manager  and  sole  member.  Subsequently,  LRC  SLP,  LLC  (“Special 
Member”)  and  LRC,  LLC  (“Equity Member”)  were  added  as  additional 
members. It is anticipated that Special Member and Equity Member will 
be replaced with affiliates of the equity investor prior to or concurrent 
with the MMRB closing. 

   The  initial sole member and manager of DS GP was W. Daniel Hughes, 
Jr.;  however,  via  an Amendment  to Articles of Organization,  filed May 
16,  2018, Mr. Hughes was  replaced by  is  LRC GP,  LLC  (“LRC GP”).  The 
sole  member  and  manager  of  LRC  GP  is  LEDIC  Realty  Company,  LLC 
(“LEDIC”).  The  Chairman  of  LEDIC  Realty  is W.  Daniel  Hughes,  Jr.  Mr. 
Hughes is also the President of LEDIC Realty Management, LLC (“LRM”). 
LEDIC is the sole member and manager of LRM. 

  The developer entity is also LRM. 

Contact Information:  Tyler Hunt 

  334‐954‐4458 (telephone) 

  E‐Mail: tyler.hunt@ledic.com 

Address:  105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 300 
  Montgomery, AL 36104 

Federal Employer ID:  61‐1890034 

Experience:  Borrower:  The Borrower was formed to acquire, own, and operate the 
subject property, and has no development experience. 

LEDIC Realty/Mr. Hughes:  LEDIC is a Delaware limited liability company 
formed  on  June  13,  2014,  to  own,  acquire,  develop  and  manage 
affordable  housing  and  workforce  housing  properties.  LEDIC  is  a  full‐
service,  vertically  integrated,  and  self‐managed  real  estate  LEDIC 
engaged  in  the acquisition, ownership, management, preservation and 
redevelopment of affordable housing and workforce housing properties 
in  select  markets  throughout  the  United  States.  LEDIC  defines 
affordable  housing  as  multifamily  properties  that  are  targeted  to 
residents  with  low  to  moderate  incomes  and  generally  have  one  or 
more units  that are  subject  to  rent or  income  restrictions pursuant  to 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-9 

November 14,  2018 

Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, land‐use 
restrictions,  the  terms  of  a  housing  assistance  payment  contract  or 
other  government  housing  assistance  program  regulations.  LEDIC 
defines workforce housing as multifamily properties that are targeted to 
residents with moderate household incomes (but who are generally not 
eligible for rent or income‐restricted units) and do not contain any units 
subject  to  rent  or  income  restrictions.  Many  of  the  properties  LEDIC 
owns  or  manages  qualify  for  rental  housing  assistance  from  the  U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development under Section 8 of the 
United States Housing Act of 1937, as amended (‘‘Section 8’’), or  from 
public  housing  agencies  and  are  financed  through  federal  low  income 
housing tax credits under Section 42 of the Code,  loans  insured by the 
U.S.  Federal  Housing  Administration  and  loans  from  public  housing 
agencies. LEDIC’s portfolio of affordable housing and workforce housing 
properties  is  comprised of properties LEDIC wholly owns and manages 
and  properties  owned  by  limited  partnerships  financed  through HC  in 
which  LEDIC  serves  as  general  partner  and  manages  the  properties, 
collectively,  the  LEDIC  Portfolio.  As  of  December  31,  2017,  the  LEDIC 
Portfolio  had  a  total  of  79  properties  comprised  of  an  aggregate  of 
11,435 units,  including 28 Wholly Owned Properties with an aggregate 
of 3,981  rental units and 51 GP properties with an aggregate of 7,454 
rental  units.  In  addition,  LEDIC  provides  management  services  for 
affordable  housing  and  workforce  housing  properties  owned  by  third 
parties,  which  included  211  properties  comprised  of  an  aggregate  of 
22,646  units  as  of  December  31,  2017.  Three  of  the  properties  are 
located  in  Florida,  including  the  Subject  Development,  all  of  which 
operate under a HC regulatory agreement.  

Mr. Hughes founded LEDIC in 1994. Prior to that, he was an investment 
banker with a focus on housing and economic development. Mr. Hughes 
currently  serves  as  an  Executive  Committee Member  for  the Alabama 
Real Estate Research and Education Center. 

Credit Evaluation:  Borrower and LRC GP are newly formed entities that have no operating 
or  credit history,  financial  statements, business  references or previous 
tax returns. 

  No  records  were  found  for  LEDIC  or  LRM  when  requesting 
comprehensive credit reports. 

A comprehensive credit report for Mr. Hughes, dated October 24, 2018, 
reported no significant adversities. 

Bank References:  Borrower and LRC GP are newly formed entities that have no operating 
or  credit history,  financial  statements, business  references or previous 
tax returns. 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-10 

November 14,  2018 

Bank  references  for  LEDIC  and  Mr.  Hughes  reported  satisfactory 
depository and payment relationships.  

Financial Statements:  Borrower and LRC GP are newly formed entities that have no operating 
or  credit history,  financial  statements, business  references or previous 
tax returns. 

LEDIC (Amounts are in thousands): 

Cash and Cash Equivalents                   $    17,754 
Real Estate                      $  540,035 
Total Assets:                       $  620,931 
Total Liabilities:                     $  527,407 
Total Members Equity:                     $   16,927 

The  financial  information  is  based  upon  Audited  Financial  Statements 
for  the  Years  Ended  December  31,  2017  and  2016,  respectively. 
Members Equity is net of no controlling interests.  In addition, SMG has 
received  and  reviewed  unaudited  financial  statements  for  periods 
ending March 31, 2018 and June 30, 2018, respectively. 

W. Daniel Hughes, Jr.: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents:              $       146,416 
Total Assets:                  $ 20,875,226 
Total Liabilities:                $   1,024,504 
Estimated Taxes:               $   1,100,000 
Net Worth:                  $ 18,750,722 

The  financial  information  is  based  upon  internally  prepared  financial 
statements  as  of  April  3,  2018.  Assets  primarily  consist  of  equity 
investments  in  closely held  companies.  Seltzer  reviewed  the 2017 and 
2016 U.S. Income Tax Returns, which were satisfactory. 

Contingent Liabilities:  Borrower and LRC GP are newly formed entities that have no contingent 
liabilities. 

LEDIC has guaranteed delivery of applicable HC to the  limited partners 
that  invested  in various  limited partnerships. The guarantees generally 
expire upon the expiration of  the HC compliance period. No payments 
have  been  required  on  these  guarantees  and  no  amounts  have  been 
accrued  as  a  loss  contingency  related  to  these  guarantees  because 
management  has  determined  that  payment  by  LEDIC  is  not  probable. 
The outstanding undelivered tax credits at December 31, 2017 and 2016 
totaled $73.4 million and $55.5 million, respectively. The tax credits that 
have  been  delivered,  but  are  potentially  subject  to  recapture  total 
approximately  $33.9  million  and  $31.1  million  at  December  31,  2017 
and 2016, respectively. 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-11 

November 14,  2018 

Mr. Hughes reports guarantees of loans secured by personal real estate 
owned by Michelle Hughes. These loans total $759,031 and underlying 
fair  market  value  of  real  state  securing  the  loans  total  approximately 
$1.68  million.  Statements  of  Financial  and  Credit  Affairs  report  no 
pending  legal  actions,  bankruptcies,  foreclosures  or  unsatisfied 
judgments. 

Summary:  Based  upon  the  information  provided,  LRC  GP,  LEDIC  and  W.  Daniel 
Hughes,  Jr.,  individually,  appear  to  have  the  requisite  experience  and 
financial resources to develop and operate the Subject Development. 

 

   



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-12 

November 14,  2018 

Guarantor Information 

Guarantor Name:  Borrower, DS GP, LRC GP, LRM, LEDIC and W. Daniel Hughes, Jr., 
individually 

Guarantor Address: 105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 300 
  Montgomery, AL 36104 
 
Contact Information:  Tyler Hunt 

334‐954‐4458 (telephone) 

  E‐Mail: tyler.hunt@ledic.com 

 
Guarantor Description:  The Borrower was formed expressly to own and operate Desert Winds 

and  Silver  Creek  Apartments.  LRC GP  is  the managing member  of  the 
managing member of  the Borrower. LRC GP has common owners with 
LEDIC.  LEDIC  and Mr.  Hughes,  individually  appear  to  have  substantial 
net worth and the experience to purchase and rehabilitate the subject 
property. All named entities will provide guarantees. 

 Nature of the Guarantee:  The  Guarantors  will  sign  standard  JHFA  Construction  Completion, 
Environmental  Indemnity,  Recourse  Obligation  and  Operating  Deficit 
Guarantees.  The  Construction  Completion  Guarantee  will  be  released 
upon 100% lien‐free completion as approved by the Loan Servicer. 

For  the  MMRB  Loan,  Guarantors  are  to  provide  the  standard  JHFA 
Operating  Deficit  Guarantee.  If  requested  in  writing  by  Applicant,  the 
Loan Servicer will consider a recommendation to release the Operating 
Deficit Guarantee  if all  conditions are met,  including achievement of a 
1.15x  Debt  Service  Coverage  (“DSC”)  Ratio  on  the  MMRB  Loan,  as 
determined by the JHFA or its agent and 90% occupancy and 90% of the 
Gross  Potential  Rental  Income,  net  of Utility Allowances,  if  applicable, 
for a period of 12 consecutive months, all  certified by an  independent 
Certified  Public  Accountant  (“CPA”).  The  calculation  of  the  DSC  Ratio 
shall be made by JHFA or the Loan Servicer. Notwithstanding the above, 
the Operating  deficit Guarantee  shall  not  terminate  earlier  than  three 
(3) years following the final Certificate of Occupancy (“C/O”).  

Credit Evaluation:  Please refer to the Borrower Information section of this report. 

Banking References:  Please refer to the Borrower Information section of this report. 

Financial Statements:  Please refer to the Borrower Information section of this report. 

Contingent Liabilities:  Please refer to the Borrower Information section of this report. 

Summary:  Based upon the  financial  information provided,  the Guarantors appear 
to have adequate financial strength to serve as the guarantors  for  this 
Development. 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-13 

November 14,  2018 

Syndicator Information 
Syndicator Name:  PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC”)  

Contact Person:  Denise Fazio 

Telephone   804‐370‐9402 

Address:  1900 East 9th Street  

  Cleveland, OH  44114 

Experience:  Based  upon  a  HC  equity  investment  letter  of  intent  dated  August  27, 
2018,  an  entity  affiliated  with  PNC will  purchase  a  99.99%  ownership 
interest  in  the  Applicant  company  concurrent  with  or  prior  to  the 
closing of the construction/permanent loan.  

  PNC is a subsidiary of PNC Financial Services Group,  Inc. (“PNCFSG”) of 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.  PNCFSG was formed in 1982 by the merger of 
Pittsburgh  National  Corporation  (est.  1852)  and  Provident  National 
Corporation  (est.  1865).    The  PNC  Real  Estate  division  has more  than 
$9.1 billion of institutional tax credit capital under management in more 
than  1,300  apartment  properties  and  more  than  141,000  units  of 
affordable  housing,  as  of  September  2016.    PNCFSG  is  one  of  the 
nation’s leading providers of financial products/services including HC to 
the affordable housing industry. 

Financial Statements:  The  latest  10‐Q  Report  submitted  to  the  United  States  Securities  and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) by PNCFSG is for the third quarter ended 
June 30, 2018.  The report can viewed via the internet at www.pnc.com.  
PNCFSG Net Income through June 30, 2018 is reported to be $1.4 billion 
on Revenues of $11.288 billion and Shareholders’ Equity of $46.8 billion 
and Total Assets of $369.3 billion.  

Summary:  PNC  has  the  demonstrated  experience  and  financial  resources  to 
successfully act as Syndicator of the HC for the Subject Development. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-14 

November 14,  2018 

General Contractor Information 

General Contractor Name:  Whitestone Construction Group, Inc. (“Whitestone”) 

Type:  A Limited Liability Company formed on March 23, 2015 under the laws 
of the state of Delaware in the name of ZMG Construction of Texas, LLC. 
In October 2017, the name was changed to Whitestone. 

Contact Person:     Brad Bowers 
Telephone (832) 869‐4919 

Address:      272 Linden Avenue 
Winter Park, FL 32789 

Experience:  Whitestone  was  founded  in  2012  with  focused  efforts  on  the 
rehabilitation  and  new  construction  of  large  multifamily  affordable 
housing  complexes.  Whitestone  has  renovated  or  constructed  over 
11,228 units in 58 developments located in Massachusetts, New Jersey, 
New York, Connecticut, Florida, Maryland and Virginia. 

License:  Whitestone  submitted  the  license  of  William  Ryan  Turner,  who  is  a 
Florida Certified General Contractor with  license number CGC1506859.  
His  contractor  license was  originally  issued  in  Florida  on  June  7,  2006 
and is valid through August 31, 2020.   

Credit Evaluation:  A  October  30,  2018  Experian  Business  Profile  Report  for  Whitestone 
reflects satisfactory credit data, no judgments, no liens, no UCC filings.  

Business References:    Business references for Whitestone are satisfactory. 

Financial Statements:    Whitestone: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents         $1,747,765 
Total Assets:             $7,060,887 
Total Liabilities:           $4,769,326 
Members Equity:          $2,291,561 

The financial  information is based upon financial statements that were 
audited by Tidwell Group LLC for the period ended December 31, 2017. 
Assets  other  than  Cash  and  Equivalents  consist  primarily  of  Contracts 
Receivable and Costs and Estimated Earnings in Excess of Billings in the 
amounts  of  $4.5  million  and  $815,736  million,  respectively.  Liabilities 
consist  primarily  of  Accounts  and  Retainage  Payable  and  Billings  in 
Excess  of  Costs  and  Earnings  in  the  amounts  of  $3.6 million  and  $1.2 
million, respectively. 

Summary:  Whitestone  has  the  requisite  experience  and  financial  capacity  to 
complete  the  proposed  rehabilitation  of  the  Development.  A  100% 
payment and performance bond between the Applicant and Whitestone 
shall secure the general construction contract. Seltzer recommends that 
Whitestone be accepted as the general contractor and the construction 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-15 

November 14,  2018 

contract be approved subject to the recommendations of the Plan and 
Cost Review performed by D3G and evidence of  a 100% payment and 
performance bond between the Applicant and Whitestone. Whitestone 
provided draft payment and performance bonds naming  the Surety as 
Allied  World  Insurance  Company  (“Allied”).  Allied  has  an  A.M.  Best 
Rating of A XV. 

SMG  recommends  that  Whitestone  be  accepted  as  the  general 
contractor  subject  to  the  conditions,  if  any,  listed  in  the 
Recommendations section of this report. 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS  PAGE C-16 

November 14,  2018 

Property Manager Information 

Property Manager Name:   LEDIC Realty Management, LLC (“LRM”) 

Type:  A  Delaware  Limited  Liability  Corporation,  whose  sole  and  managing 
member is LEDIC 

Contact Information:  Debbie Workman, Senior Vice President of Property Operations 
334‐954‐4458 (telephone) 

Address:  105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 300 
Montgomery, AL 36104 

Experience:  LRM  (f/k/a  BSR  Trust Management,  LLC)  began  operations  in  1996,  is 
headquartered  in Montgomery, Alabama with two regional offices and 
has  over  500  full‐time  employees.  The  LRM  portfolio  includes  90 
properties in seventeen states representing over 10,000 units including 
three properties  in Florida.  Funding programs  including HC, HUD  (236, 
and  Projected  Based  Section  8),  MMRB,  HOME  and  Senior  Housing 
communities.  

Management Agreement:  Applicant  submitted  a  draft  Management  Agreement  between 
Applicant and LRM. The agreement shall be in effect for a period of one 
year, beginning on  the commencement date  (date owner acquires  the 
property)  and  ending  one  year  thereafter.  The  term  will  be 
automatically renewed at the end of the original term and subsequent 
terms one year, unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the 
agreement. A management fee equal to 4.0% of gross collected revenue 
(”GCR”)  will  be  paid  monthly.  To  the  extent  surplus  cash  from 
operations  is  available,  the  management  agent  shall  be  entitled  to 
additional monthly fee equal to 2% of GCR during the previous month.  

Management Plan:  Applicant  submitted  a  Management  Plan  with  LRM  that  appears 
satisfactory. 

Summary:  The  selection of  LRM as  a management  company has  previously  been 
approved  by  the  Asset  Management  Department  of  FHFC.  The  Asset 
Management Department of FHFC will need to approve the selection of 
LRM for the Subject Property prior to  loan closing. Continued approval 
will be contingent upon ongoing satisfactory performance. 

 



Exhibit 1

Desert Winds and Silver Creek

 15 Year Income and Expense Projection

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Year 11 Year 12 Year 13 Year 14 Year 15

$3,582,480 $3,654,130 $3,727,212 $3,801,756 $3,877,792 $3,955,347 $4,034,454 $4,115,143 $4,197,446 $4,281,395 $4,367,023 $4,454,364 $4,543,451 $4,634,320 $4,727,006

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$16,215 $16,539 $16,870 $17,207 $17,552 $17,903 $18,261 $18,626 $18,998 $19,378 $19,766 $20,161 $20,565 $20,976 $21,395

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$3,598,695 $3,670,669 $3,744,082 $3,818,964 $3,895,343 $3,973,250 $4,052,715 $4,133,769 $4,216,445 $4,300,774 $4,386,789 $4,474,525 $4,564,015 $4,655,296 $4,748,402

Economic Loss ‐ Percentage:

Physical Vacancy Loss ‐ Percentage: 3.0% ($107,961) ($110,120) ($112,322) ($114,569) ($116,860) ($119,198) ($121,581) ($124,013) ($126,493) ($129,023) ($131,604) ($134,236) ($136,920) ($139,659) ($142,452)

Collection Loss ‐ Percentage: 0.3% ($8,997) ($9,177) ($9,360) ($9,547) ($9,738) ($9,933) ($10,132) ($10,334) ($10,541) ($10,752) ($10,967) ($11,186) ($11,410) ($11,638) ($11,871)

$3,481,737 $3,551,372 $3,622,400 $3,694,848 $3,768,745 $3,844,119 $3,921,002 $3,999,422 $4,079,410 $4,160,999 $4,244,218 $4,329,103 $4,415,685 $4,503,999 $4,594,079

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$275,200 $283,456 $291,960 $300,718 $309,740 $319,032 $328,603 $338,461 $348,615 $359,074 $369,846 $380,941 $392,369 $404,140 $416,265

$101,651 $104,701 $107,842 $111,077 $114,409 $117,841 $121,377 $125,018 $128,768 $132,631 $136,610 $140,709 $144,930 $149,278 $153,756

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Management Fee ‐ Percentage: 4.0% $139,269 $142,055 $144,896 $147,794 $150,750 $153,765 $156,840 $159,977 $163,176 $166,440 $169,769 $173,164 $176,627 $180,160 $183,763

$60,404 $62,216 $64,083 $66,005 $67,985 $70,025 $72,126 $74,289 $76,518 $78,814 $81,178 $83,613 $86,122 $88,705 $91,366

$282,340 $290,810 $299,535 $308,521 $317,776 $327,309 $337,129 $347,243 $357,660 $368,390 $379,441 $390,825 $402,549 $414,626 $427,065

$638,384 $657,536 $677,262 $697,579 $718,507 $740,062 $762,264 $785,132 $808,686 $832,946 $857,935 $883,673 $910,183 $937,488 $965,613

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$121,285 $124,924 $128,671 $132,531 $136,507 $140,603 $144,821 $149,165 $153,640 $158,249 $162,997 $167,887 $172,923 $178,111 $183,454

$45,600 $46,968 $48,377 $49,828 $51,323 $52,863 $54,449 $56,082 $57,765 $59,498 $61,283 $63,121 $65,015 $66,965 $68,974

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$57,760 $59,493 $61,278 $63,116 $65,009 $66,960 $68,968 $71,038 $73,169 $75,364 $77,625 $79,953 $82,352 $84,823 $87,367

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$91,200 $91,200 $91,200 $91,200 $91,200 $91,200 $91,200 $91,200 $91,200 $91,200 $93,936 $93,936 $93,936 $93,936 $93,936

$1,813,093 $1,863,358 $1,915,102 $1,968,370 $2,023,207 $2,079,660 $2,137,776 $2,197,605 $2,259,197 $2,322,605 $2,390,619 $2,457,822 $2,527,007 $2,598,233 $2,671,560

$1,668,644 $1,688,015 $1,707,298 $1,726,478 $1,745,538 $1,764,460 $1,783,226 $1,801,817 $1,820,213 $1,838,393 $1,853,599 $1,871,281 $1,888,678 $1,905,766 $1,922,519

$1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Second Mortgage Fees $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Third Mortgage Fees $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Fourth Mortgage Fees $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Fifth Mortgage Fees $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595 $1,391,595

$277,049 $296,420 $315,703 $334,883 $353,943 $372,865 $391,631 $410,222 $428,618 $446,798 $462,005 $479,686 $497,083 $514,171 $530,924

1.199 1.213 1.227 1.241 1.254 1.268 1.281 1.295 1.308 1.321 1.332 1.345 1.357 1.369 1.382

1.199 1.213 1.227 1.241 1.254 1.268 1.281 1.295 1.308 1.321 1.332 1.345 1.357 1.369 1.382

1.199 1.213 1.227 1.241 1.254 1.268 1.281 1.295 1.308 1.321 1.332 1.345 1.357 1.369 1.382

1.199 1.213 1.227 1.241 1.254 1.268 1.281 1.295 1.308 1.321 1.332 1.345 1.357 1.369 1.382

1.199 1.213 1.227 1.241 1.254 1.268 1.281 1.295 1.308 1.321 1.332 1.345 1.357 1.369 1.382

1.199 1.213 1.227 1.241 1.254 1.268 1.281 1.295 1.308 1.321 1.332 1.345 1.357 1.369 1.382

52.1% 52.5% 52.9% 53.3% 53.7% 54.1% 54.5% 54.9% 55.4% 55.8% 56.3% 56.8% 57.2% 57.7% 58.2%

89.2% 88.8% 88.4% 88.1% 87.8% 87.5% 87.2% 87.0% 86.7% 86.5% 86.3% 86.2% 86.0% 85.8% 85.7%

FINANCIAL COSTS:

OPERATING PRO FORMA

IN
C
O
M
E

Gross Potential Rental Income

Rent Subsidy (ODR)

Other Income:

Ancillary Income‐Parking

Miscellaneous

Washer/Dryer Rentals

Cable/Satellite Income

Rent Concessions

Alarm Income

Gross Potential Income

Less:

Total Effective Gross Revenue

Security

Insurance

Other

Variable:

General and Administrative

Payroll Expenses

Utilities

Marketing and Advertising

Maintenance and Repairs

Grounds Maintenance and Landscaping

Resident Programs

Contract Services

Total Expenses

Net Operating Income

Debt Service Payments

E
X
P
E
N
SE
S

Fixed:

Ground Lease

Sub‐Ground Lease

Real Estate Taxes

Other‐Pest Control

Reserve for Replacements

First Mortgage

Second Mortgage

Third Mortgage

Fourth Mortgage

Fifth Mortgage

All Other Mortgages

First Mortgage Fees

All Other Mortgages Fees

Total Debt Service Payments

Break‐Even Ratio

DSC ‐ Fourth Mortgage plus Fees

DSC ‐ All Mortgages and Fees

Financial Ratios

Operating Expense Ratio

DSC ‐ Fifth Mortgage plus Fees

Debt Service Coverage Ratios

DSC ‐ First Mortgage plus Fees

DSC ‐ Second Mortgage plus Fees

DSC ‐ Third Mortgage plus Fees

Cash Flow After Debt Service

D
E
B
T 
SE
R
V
IC
E

Seltzer Management Group, Inc. Page 1 of 1 11/7/2018

















MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS EXHIBIT 3 –  PAGE 1 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

COMPLETENESS AND ISSUES CHECKLIST 

DEVELOPMENT NAME:  Desert Wind and Silver Creek Apartments__________   _________________   

DATE:  November 14, 2018              _____       

In  accordance  with  applicable  Program  Rule(s),  the  Borrower  is  required  to  submit  the  information 
required to evaluate, complete, and determine  its sufficiency  in satisfying the requirements  for Credit 
Underwriting  to  the  Credit  Underwriter  in  accordance  with  the  schedule  established  by  the  Florida 
Housing Finance Corporation (“Florida Housing” or “FHFC”). The  following  items must be satisfactorily 
addressed. “Satisfactorily” means that the Credit Underwriter has received assurances from third parties 
unrelated to the Borrower that the transaction can close within the allotted time frame. Unsatisfactory 
items, if any, are noted below and in the “Issues and Concerns” section of the Executive Summary. 

CREDIT UNDERWRITING 

REQUIRED ITEMS: 

STATUS  NOTE 

Satis. 
/Unsatis. 

 

1. The  Development’s  final  “as  submitted  for  permitting”  plans  and 
specifications. 

Note:  Final  “signed,  sealed,  and  approved  for  construction”  plans  and 
specifications will be required thirty days before closing. 

Satis.   

2. Final site plan and/or status of site plan approval.  Satis.   

3. Permit Status.  Satis.   

4. Pre‐construction analysis (“PCA”).  Satis.   

5. Survey.  Satis.   

6. Complete, thorough soil test reports.  Satis.   

7. Full  or  self‐contained  appraisal  as  defined  by  the  Uniform  Standards  of 
Professional Appraisal Practice. 

Satis.   

8. Market Study separate from the Appraisal.  Satis.   

9. Environmental  Site  Assessment  –  Phase  I  and/or  Phase  II  if  applicable  (If 
Phase I and/or II disclosed environmental problems requiring remediation, a 
plan,  including time frame and cost,  for the remediation  is required).  If  the 
report is not dated within one year of the application date, an update from 
the assessor must be provided indicating the current environmental status. 

Satis.   

10. Audited  financial  statements  for  the  most  recent  fiscal  year  ended  or 
acceptable alternative as stated in the Rule for credit enhancers, Borrower, 
general partner, principals, guarantors and general contractor. 

Satis.  1 

11. Resumes and experience of Borrower, general contractor and management  Satis.   



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WIND AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS EXHIBIT 3 –  PAGE 2 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

agent. 

12. Credit authorizations; verifications of deposits and mortgage loans.  Satis.   

13. Management Agreement and Management Plan.  Satis.  2 

14. Firm commitment from the credit enhancer or private placement purchaser, 
if any. 

N/A   

15. Firm commitment letter from the syndicator, if any.   Satis.   

16. Firm commitment letter(s) for any other financing sources.  Satis.   

17. Updated sources and uses of funds.  Satis.   

18. Draft  construction  draw  schedule  showing  sources  of  funds  during  each 
month of the construction and lease‐up period. 

Satis.   

19. Fifteen‐year income, expense, and occupancy projection.  Satis.   

20. Executed  general  construction  contract with  “Cost  of  the Work  Plus  a  Fee 
with a Guaranteed Maximum Price” costs. 

Satis.  3 

21. HC ONLY: 15% of the total equity to be provided prior to or simultaneously 
with the closing of the construction financing.  

Satis.   

22. Any additional items required by the credit underwriter.  Satis.   
 

NOTES AND APPLICANT’S RESPONSES:  

1. Receipt  and  satisfactory  review  of  updated  (with  in  90  days  of  MMRB  closing)  financial 
statements for Guarantors 

2. Receipt  and  satisfactory  review  of  fully  executed  Management  Agreement  with  terms  not 
substantially different from those underwritten herein.   

3. Receipt  and  satisfactory  review  of  fully  executed  Construction  Contract  with  terms  not 
substantially different from those underwritten herein. 

 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS EXHIBIT 4 -  PAGE 1 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

 

HC Allocation Calculation 

$38,248,944

Less  Land Cost ($2,700,000)

Less  Federa l  Funds $0

Less  Other Inel igible Cost ($3,006,976)

Less  Disproportionate Standard $0

Acquis i tion El igible Bas is $18,998,000

Rehabi l i ta tion El igible Bas is $13,543,968

$32,541,968

100.00%

130.00%

Acquis i tion HC Percentage 3.44%

Rehabi l i ta tion HC Percentage 3.44%

Annual  HC on Acquis i tion $653,531

Annual  HC on Rehabi l i ta tion $605,686

$1,259,217Annual  Hous ing Credi t Al location

Tota l  El igible Bas is

Appl icable Fraction

DDA/QCT Bas is  Credit

Section I: Qualified Basis Calculation

Development Cost

 

Notes to the Qualified Basis Calculation: 

1. Other  Ineligible  Costs  primarily  include  a  portion  of  Accounting  fees,  FHFC  administrative, 
application  and  HC  compliance  fees,  legal  fees,  Market  Study,  permanent  loan  origination  and 
commitment fees and closing costs, MMRB COI and reserves. 

2. The Borrower committed to a set aside of 100%. Therefore, SMG has utilized an Applicable Fraction 
of 100%. 

3. Per  the  Application,  this  Development  is  not  located  in  a  Difficult  to Develop  (“DDA”)  but  is  in  a 
Qualified Census Tract  (“QCT”), 12031015802. As  such,  the Subject Development  is eligible  to use 
the 130% multiplier for the DDA/QCT Basis Credit. 

4. A Housing Credit Percentage of 3.44% is used based on a rate of 3.29% as of the September 2018 
date of invitation into credit underwriting plus 15 basis points. 

 



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS EXHIBIT 4 -  PAGE 2 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

$38,248,944

Less  Mortgages ($25,326,000)

Less  Grants $0

$12,922,944

99.99%

$0.8800

$14,686,632

$1,468,663

Equity Gap

Percentage to Investment Partnership

HC Syndication Pricing

HC Required to Meet Gap

Annual  HC Required

Section II: Gap Calculation

Tota l  Development Cost (Including Land and Inel igible Costs )

 

Notes to the Gap Calculation: 

1. Mortgages include the First Mortgage provided by Highland. 

2. HC Syndication Pricing and Percentage to Investment Partnership are based upon the May 25, 2018 
LOI, last revised August 27, 2018, from PNC. 

$32,541,968

Plus  Land Cost $2,700,000

$35,241,968

$24,980,000

Less  Debt Service Reserve $0

Less  Proceeds  Used for Costs  of Is suance $0

Plus  Tax‐exempt GIC earnings $0

$24,980,000

70.88%Proceeds  Divided by Aggregate Bas is

Aggregate Bas is

Tax‐Exempt Bond Amount

Tax‐Exempt Proceeds  Used for Bui lding and Land

Section III: Tax‐Exempt Bond 50% Test

Tota l  Depreciable Cost

 

Notes to 50% Test: 

1. SMG  estimates  the  Tax‐Exempt  Bond  amount  to  be  70.88%  of  Depreciable  Development 
Costs plus Land Acquisition Costs.  If, at the time of Final Cost Certification, the Tax‐Exempt 
Bond Amount  is  less  than 50%,  developer  fees will  have  to  be  reduced by  an  amount  to 
ensure compliance with the 50% Test. That may, in turn, result in a reduction to HC Equity.  



MMRB AND HC CREDIT UNDERWRITING REPORT SMG 

DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS EXHIBIT 4 -  PAGE 3 

NOVEMBER 14,  2018 

$1,259,217

$1,468,663

$1,259,217

HC per Gap Ca lculation

Annual  HC Recommended

HC per Qual i fied Bas is

Section IV: Summary

HC per Appl icant Request

 

Notes to the Summary: 

1.  The Annual HC Recommended is based on the Qualified Basis Calculation. 

 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

A RESOLUTION OF THE JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY MULTIFAMILY 

HOUSING REVENUE BONDS (DESERT-SILVER PROJECT), SERIES 2018 IN 

A TOTAL AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $24,980,000 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF ACQUIRING, REHABILITATING AND EQUIPPING 

MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL HOUSING FACILITIES LOCATED IN THE 

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA, COMMONLY KNOWN AS "DESERT 

WINDS APARTMENTS" AND “SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS”; 

APPOINTING THE UNDERWRITER NAMED HEREIN FOR THE SALE OF 

THE BONDS; APPROVING THE FORMS OF AND AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A TRUST INDENTURE AND A LOAN 

AGREEMENT TO SECURE PAYMENT OF SUCH BONDS; APPROVING THE 

FORM OF AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 

LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT; DESIGNATING SELTZER 

MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC. AS THE INITIAL ISSUER SERVICER AND 

COMPLIANCE AGENT AND APPROVING THE FORMS AND 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A COMPLIANCE 

MONITORING AGREEMENT AND CONSTRUCTION AND LOAN 

SERVICING AGREEMENT; APPROVING A CREDIT UNDERWRITING 

REPORT; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A BOND 

PURCHASE AGREEMENT; APPROVING A NEGOTIATED SALE OF THE 

BONDS TO RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC, AS UNDERWRITER; 

APPOINTING A TRUSTEE; APPROVING THE FORM OF AND THE 

DISTRIBUTION OF A PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FINAL OFFICIAL 

STATEMENT PERTAINING TO SAID BONDS; APPOINTING RBC CAPITAL 

MARKETS, LLC AS REMARKETING AGENT; AUTHORIZING ALL OTHER 

NECESSARY ACTIONS, AGREEMENTS, CERTIFICATES OR 

INSTRUMENTS REQUIRED TO ISSUE AND DELIVER THE BONDS; AND 

PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the Legislature of the State of Florida (the "State") has enacted the Florida 

Housing Finance Authority Law, Sections 159.601 through 159.623 Part IV, Florida Statutes, as 

amended (the "Act"), pursuant to which the State has empowered each county in the State to 

create by ordinance a separate public body corporate and politic to be known as a housing finance 

authority of the county for the purpose of alleviating a shortage of housing and creating capital 

for investment in housing in the area of operation of such housing finance authority; and 

WHEREAS, the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the “Issuer”) is empowered to 

issue its revenue bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness to finance the acquisition, 

construction and development of multifamily rental housing for persons of low and moderate 

income at prices or rentals they can afford; and 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

2 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has the power to issue revenue bonds for the purposes described 

in the Act, including, without limitation, to refund outstanding obligations of the Issuer, to 

finance the purchase of mortgage loans originated to persons of low and moderate income and 

to stimulate the acquisition, construction and rehabilitation of housing within the County; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has determined that there exists a shortage of safe and sanitary 

housing for persons and families of moderate middle and lesser income within Duval County, 

Florida; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, and the Trust Indenture by and between the Issuer and 

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), dated as of 

December 1, 2018 (the “Indenture”), LRC Desert-Silver, LLC (the “Borrower”) has requested that 

the Issuer issue its Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has determined to issue, sell, and deliver its not to exceed 

$24,980,000 Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 (the 

“Bonds”) for the purpose of funding the loan; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer authorized the issuance of the Bonds pursuant to that certain 

Resolution adopted by the Issuer on June 18, 2018; and  

WHEREAS, to secure payment of the Bonds, the Issuer and the Trustee will enter into the 

Indenture to provide for, among other things, the security for the Bonds; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer and the Borrower will enter into the hereinafter described Loan 

Agreement (the “Bond Loan Agreement”) with respect to the Bonds, pursuant to which a loan to 

the Borrower in the amount of the Bonds (the "Loan") for the financing of the acquisition, 

rehabilitation and equipping of the project (the “Project”) will be made and secured; and 

WHEREAS, as a condition of facilitating the Loan and in connection with the issuance of 

the Bonds, the Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower will enter into the hereinafter described Land 

Use Restriction Agreement in order to preserve the tax-exempt status of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Loan shall be evidenced by a promissory note (the “Note”); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to assign certain of its rights under the Bond Loan 

Agreement and the Note to the Trustee; and  

WHEREAS, the Issuer has determined that a negotiated sale of the Bonds is in the best 

interest of the Issuer; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the negotiated sale of the Bonds, the Issuer desires to enter 

into a Bond Purchase Agreement by and among the Issuer, the Borrower and RBC Capital 

Markets, LLC, as Underwriter (the “Underwriter”); and  



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

3 

WHEREAS, in connection with the offering and sale of the Bonds, the Issuer desires to 

approve the distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement, a form of which is attached hereto 

as EXHIBIT A, delegate the authority to deem the Preliminary Official Statement "final" for 

purposes of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1943, as amended (the "Rule"), and 

authorize the execution and delivery of a final Official Statement with respect to the Bonds (the 

"Official Statement"); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to appoint RBC Capital Markets, LLC as Remarketing 

Agent (the “Remarketing Agent”) pursuant to the terms of that certain Remarketing Agreement 

by and between the Borrower and the Remarketing Agent, and pursuant to the terms of the 

Indenture; and  

WHEREAS, in order to further secure payment of the Bonds, certain guaranties (the 

“Guaranties”) will be provided by the Borrower, LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, LRC GP, LLC, 

LEDIC Realty Company, LLC, LEDIC Realty Management, LLC, and W. Daniel Hughes, Jr., 

individually, in favor of the Issuer and assigned to the Trustee; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to appoint The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A. as Trustee; and 

WHEREAS, Seltzer Management Group, Inc., a Florida corporation (“Seltzer”) will 

initially be the issuer servicer and compliance monitoring agent with respect to the Bonds; and  

WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to approve the Credit Underwriting Report prepared by 

Seltzer for the Issuer dated the date thereof (the “Credit Underwriting Report”); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to grant to its appropriate officers the authority to do and 

perform and execute all other documents and instruments, not mentioned herein, necessary to 

issue the Bonds; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE JACKSONVILLE HOUSING 

FINANCE AUTHORITY: 

Section 1. Findings and Determinations.  The Issuer hereby finds and determines 

that: 

(a) All statements and provisions of the foregoing recitals are incorporated 

herein as findings and determinations of the Issuer. 

(b) A negotiated sale of the Bonds is in the best interest of the Issuer in light of 

the prevailing unsettled condition of the bond market, and the necessity of complying with 

provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which make it essential that the 

Issuer have maximum flexibility in structuring the Bonds, which flexibility would not be possible 

in competitive bidding. 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

4 

(c) Based upon such findings, the Issuer approves the negotiated sale of the 

Bonds to the Underwriter.  

(d) Prior to executing and delivering the Indenture, the Issuer shall have 

received disclosure statements from the Underwriter setting forth the information required by 

Section 218.385, Florida Statutes, as amended. 

(e) In addition to the words and terms defined or described herein, and unless 

the context otherwise requires, the terms defined in the documents identified and described in 

the foregoing recitals and in this Resolution (collectively, the "Financing Documents") shall have 

the meanings herein that are ascribed to them in the Financing Documents. 

Section 2. Authorization and Details of the Bonds.  The Issuer hereby authorizes the 

issuance of not to exceed $24,980,000 total aggregate principal amount of the Bonds to be 

designated as "Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds, 

(Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018", or such other name or series designation as may be 

determined by the Issuer.  The Bonds shall bear interest payable at such times and in such 

manner, and shall have maturity dates not to exceed 42 months from the date of issuance of the 

Bonds and shall be subject to redemption, all as described in the Indenture. The Bonds are 

issuable only as fully registered bonds in the denominations as provided in the Indenture. 

Section 3. Approval of Preliminary Official Statement.  The Issuer hereby approves 

the form and content of the draft Preliminary Official Statement attached hereto as EXHIBIT A, 

and authorizes the Chair, Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer to make or approve such 

changes, modifications and revisions to the draft Preliminary Official Statement as he or she may 

deem necessary or desirable and hereby authorizes the Chair, Vice Chair or any member of the 

Issuer to deem "final" the Preliminary Official Statement, as so amended and approved by him or 

her, for purposes of the Rule; and approves the use of the Preliminary Official Statement in the 

marketing of the Bonds.  The Chair and Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer are hereby 

authorized to execute, on behalf of the Issuer, the final Official Statement relating to the Bonds 

with such changes from the Preliminary Official Statement in accordance with the Rule, as they 

may approve, such execution to be conclusive evidence of such approval, and such final Official 

Statement is hereby authorized to be used and distributed in connection with the marketing and 

sale of the Bonds. 

Section 4. Approval of Indenture.  The Issuer hereby approves the form and content 

of the Indenture between the Issuer and the Trustee attached hereto as EXHIBIT B.  The Chair, 

Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Indenture 

on behalf of the Issuer in substantially the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT B, with such changes, 

modifications, insertions and deletions as the Chair, Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer, with 

the advice of Bond Counsel and the Office of the General Counsel may deem necessary and 

appropriate.  Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive evidence of the approval thereof by 

the Issuer. 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

5 

Section 5. Approval of Bond Loan Agreement.  The Issuer hereby approves the form 

and content of the Bond Loan Agreement by and between the Issuer and the Borrower attached 

hereto as EXHIBIT C.  The Chair, Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer is hereby authorized to 

execute and deliver the Bond Loan Agreement on behalf of the Issuer in substantially the form 

attached hereto as EXHIBIT C, with such changes, modifications, insertions and deletions as the 

Chair, Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer, with the advice of Bond Counsel and the Office of 

the General Counsel may deem necessary and appropriate.  Such execution and delivery shall be 

conclusive evidence of the approval thereof by the Issuer. 

Section 6. Approval of Land Use Restriction Agreement.  The Issuer hereby 

approves the form and content of the Land Use Restriction Agreement by and among the Issuer, 

the Borrower and the Trustee attached hereto as EXHIBIT D (the "Land Use Restriction 

Agreement").  The Chair, Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer is hereby authorized to execute 

and deliver the Land Use Restriction Agreement on behalf of the Issuer in substantially the form 

attached hereto as EXHIBIT D, with such changes, modifications, insertions and deletions as the 

Chair, Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer, with the advice of Bond Counsel and the Office of 

the General Counsel may deem necessary and appropriate.  Such execution and delivery shall be 

conclusive evidence of the approval thereof by the Issuer. 

Section 7. Approval of Compliance Monitoring Agreement, Construction and Loan 

Servicing Agreement and Credit Underwriting Report.  Seltzer is hereby appointed to perform 

the duties of compliance monitoring agent pursuant to the Compliance Monitoring Agreement 

by and among the Issuer, the Borrower, the Trustee and Seltzer (the “Compliance Monitoring 

Agreement”) and the duties of Issuer Servicer under the Indenture, the Bond Loan Agreement, 

the Land Use Restriction Agreement and the Construction and Loan Servicing Agreement by and 

among the Issuer, the Borrower, the Trustee and Seltzer (the “Servicing Agreement”).  The forms 

of the Compliance Monitoring Agreement and the Servicing Agreement attached hereto as 

EXHIBITS E and F, respectively, are hereby approved.  The Chair, Vice Chair or any member of 

the Issuer is hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Compliance Monitoring Agreement 

and Servicing Agreement on behalf of the Issuer in substantially the forms attached hereto as 

EXHIBITS E and F, with such changes, modifications, insertions and deletions as the Chair, Vice 

Chair or any member of the Issuer, with the advice of Bond Counsel and the Office of the General 

Counsel may deem necessary and appropriate.  Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive 

evidence of the approval thereof by the Issuer. The Issuer hereby approves the Credit 

Underwriting Report prepared by Seltzer in connection with the Project and delivered to the 

Issuer. 

Section 8. Approval of Bond Purchase Agreement.  The Issuer hereby approves the 

form and content of the Bond Purchase Agreement by and among the Issuer, RBC Capital 

Markets, LLC and the Borrower attached hereto as EXHIBIT G (the "Bond Purchase Agreement").  

The Chair, Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer is hereby authorized to execute and deliver 

the Bond Purchase Agreement on behalf of the Issuer in substantially the form attached hereto as 

EXHIBIT G, with such changes, modifications, insertions and deletions as the Chair, Vice Chair 

or any member of the Issuer, with the advice of Bond Counsel and the Office of the General 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

6 

Counsel may deem necessary and appropriate.  Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive 

evidence of the approval thereof by the Issuer.   

Section 9. Execution of Bonds.  The Chair, Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer 

and Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Issuer are hereby authorized and directed to execute, 

by manual or facsimile signature, the Bonds in definitive form.  The Bonds shall be in 

substantially the form set forth in the Indenture, with such changes, modifications, insertions and 

deletions as the Chair, Vice Chair or any member of the Issuer may deem necessary and 

appropriate.  The execution and delivery of the Bonds by the aforementioned persons shall be 

conclusive evidence of the Issuer's approval and authorization thereof. 

Section 11. Authentication and Delivery of Bonds.  Upon their execution in the form 

and manner set forth in the Indenture, the Issuer shall deliver the Bonds to the Trustee for 

authentication, and the Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to authenticate and to deliver 

said Bonds to the designated purchaser or purchasers of the Bonds. 

 

Section 12. Appointment of Underwriter, Remarketing Agent and Trustee. RBC 

Capital Markets, LLC is hereby appointed as Underwriter and Remarketing Agent in connection 

with the issuance of the Bonds and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. is hereby 

appointed as Trustee. 

Section 13. Authorizations and Further Actions.  The Chair, Vice Chair or other 

member of the Issuer, the Finance Director and such other officers and employees or agents of 

the Issuer as may be designated by the Chair, are each designated as agents of the Issuer in 

connection with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds and are authorized and empowered, 

collectively or individually, to take all actions and steps, to approve, execute and deliver, if 

appropriate, all contracts, agreements and such other instruments, to approve the form of and 

approve such changes and complete all omissions and blank spaces in such instruments, 

documents and contracts, including the exhibits thereto, and to take such other and further 

actions as they may deem necessary or desirable to accomplish the intent thereof, including the 

sale, issuance and delivery of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, in consultation with the 

Issuer's Financial Advisors, Bond Counsel and the Office of the General Counsel, executing and 

delivering certain additional documents as may be necessary; provided, however, that such terms 

and conditions set forth in such additional documents shall not be inconsistent with the 

provisions of this Resolution or the Credit Underwriting Report. 

Section 14. Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this 

Resolution shall be held to be invalid or ineffective for any reason, the remainder of this 

Resolution shall continue in full force and effect, it being expressly hereby found and declared 

that the remainder of this Resolution would have been adopted despite the invalidity or 

ineffectiveness of such section, paragraph, clause or provision. 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

7 

Section 15. Repealing Clause.  All resolutions or parts thereof of the Issuer in conflict 

with the provisions herein contained are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby superseded and 

repealed. 

Section 16. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its 

adoption. 

(REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK) 

 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority this [__] 

day of November, 2018. 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY 

By:  

ATTEST: Name: William I. Gulliford, III 

 Title:     Chair 

 

By:  

Name:   

Title:   

 

FORM APPROVED: 

By:  

Office of the General Counsel 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

EXHIBIT LIST 

EXHIBIT A  FORM OF PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

EXHIBIT B  FORM OF TRUST INDENTURE 

EXHIBIT C  FORM OF LOAN AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT D  FORM OF LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT E  FORM OF COMPLIANCE MONITORING AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT F  FORM OF CONSTRUCTION AND LOAN SERVICING AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT G  FORM OF BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT 



*Preliminary; subject to change. 
**The Issuer is not responsible for the use of the CUSIP numbers referenced in this Official Statement 
nor is any representation made by the Issuer as to their correctness; such CUSIP numbers are included 
solely for the convenience of the readers of this Official Statement.

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED _________ __, 2018 

NEW ISSUE/BOOK-ENTRY ONLY RATING: S&P:  “AA+” (Expected)
(See “RATING” herein)

In the opinion of Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Orlando, Florida, Bond Counsel, assuming continuing 
compliance with certain tax covenants, under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial 
decisions, interest on the Bonds (as defined herein) is excluded from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes except that such exclusion shall not apply to interest on any Bond for any period during which 
such Bond is held by a person who is a “substantial user” of the facilities financed by the Bonds or a 
“related person” within the meaning of Section 147(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended.  Additionally, interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal 
alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. The alternative minimum tax on corporations was 
repealed for taxable years beginning on and after January 1, 2018.  See “TAX MATTERS” herein for a 
description of certain other federal tax consequences of ownership of the Bonds. 

$22,000,000* 
Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds 
(Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 

CUSIP:  _________**
Price: __%   Interest Rate: __% 

Dated:  Date of Delivery Mandatory Tender Date: December 1, 2020* 
Maturity Date: December 1, 2021* 

The above-captioned Bonds (the “Bonds”) are being issued by the Jacksonville Housing Finance 
Authority (the “Issuer”) to fund a loan (the “Loan”) to LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a Florida limited liability 
company (the “Borrower”).  The proceeds of the Loan will be used to finance a portion of the costs of the 
acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping of two non-contiguous multifamily rental housing facilities to be 
known as Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments and to be located in Jacksonville, Duval County, 
Florida (the “Development”). The Issuer is issuing the Bonds pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated as of 
December 1, 2018 (the “Indenture”) between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 
Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”).  The Issuer will loan the proceeds of the Bonds to the 
Borrower pursuant to the terms of a certain Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2018 (the “Bond 
Loan Agreement”) between the Issuer and the Borrower. 

The Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds and when issued will be registered in the name 
of Cede & Co. as nominee for The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York.  
Individual purchases of Bonds will be made in book-entry form only in principal amounts of $5,000 each 
and integral multiples thereof. Individual purchasers of Bonds will not receive certificates evidencing 
their interest in the Bonds.  So long as the Bonds are in book-entry form only, all payments of principal of 
and interest on the Bonds will be made by the Trustee to DTC or its successors. Disbursement of such 
payments from DTC to the DTC Participants is the responsibility of DTC and disbursement to the Holder 
is the responsibility of the DTC Participants. The Bonds will bear interest from their dated date, payable 
semiannually on June 1* and December 1* of each year, commencing  June 1, 2019*. Principal of the 
Bonds will be payable (i) at the Trust Office of the Trustee upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds 
as the same become due, and (ii) upon the request of any registered owner of Bonds on the applicable 



*Preliminary; subject to change. 
**The Issuer is not responsible for the use of the CUSIP numbers referenced in this Official Statement 
nor is any representation made by the Issuer as to their correctness; such CUSIP numbers are included 
solely for the convenience of the readers of this Official Statement.

Record Date (as defined in the Indenture) having an aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more, 
by wire transfer of immediately available funds.   

The Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for purchase, subject to satisfaction of the applicable 
terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture, on December 1, 2020* (the “Mandatory Tender Date”).  
All Holders must tender their Bonds for purchase on the Mandatory Tender Date.  The Bonds may be 
remarketed and a new interest rate for the Bonds may be determined on the Mandatory Tender Date in 
accordance with the terms of the Indenture.  If the Bonds are remarketed on the Mandatory Tender Date, 
the terms of the Bonds after such date may differ materially from the description provided in this Official 
Statement.  Therefore, prospective purchasers of the Bonds on and after the Mandatory Tender Date 
cannot rely on this Official Statement, but rather must rely upon any disclosure documents prepared in 
connection with such remarketing. See “THE BONDS – Mandatory Tender” herein. 

The Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to the Mandatory Tender Date.  See “THE 
BONDS - Redemption of Bonds.”  The maturity of the Bonds may be accelerated upon the occurrence of 
certain events as described herein.  See “APPENDIX B – DOCUMENT SUMMARIES - SUMMARY 
OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Events of Default and Acceleration” herein. 

THE ISSUER HAS NO TAXING POWER.  THE BONDS SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE 
AN OBLIGATION, EITHER GENERAL OR SPECIAL, OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA (THE 
“STATE”) OR ANY LOCAL GOVERNMENT THEREOF; AND NEITHER THE STATE NOR 
ANY LOCAL GOVERNMENT THEREOF SHALL BE LIABLE THEREON.  NEITHER THE 
FAITH, REVENUES, CREDIT NOR TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OR ANY LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT THEREOF SHALL BE PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL 
OF, PREMIUM (IF ANY), OR INTEREST ON THE BONDS.  THE BONDS ARE PAYABLE, AS 
TO PRINCIPAL, PREMIUM (IF ANY), AND INTEREST, SOLELY OUT OF THE TRUST 
ESTATE WHICH IS THE SOLE ASSET OF THE ISSUER PLEDGED THEREFOR. 

This cover page contains only a brief description of the Bonds and the security therefor. It is not 
intended to be a summary of material information with respect to the Bonds. Investors must read this 
Official Statement in its entirety to obtain information essential to the making of an informed investment 
decision. 

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriter, subject to the 
approval as to their validity by Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Bond Counsel, Orlando, Florida, and certain 
other conditions.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Issuer by its Counsel, the Office of the 
General Counsel of the City of Jacksonville, Florida, for the Borrower by its counsel, Balch & Bingham 
LLP, Montgomery, Alabama, and for the Underwriter by Norris George & Ostrow PLLC, Washington, 
D.C.  It is anticipated that the Bonds will be available for delivery through DTC in New York, New York, 
on or about _________ __, 2018.

This Preliminary Official Statement and certain of the information contained herein is in a form 
deemed final for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 
(except for the omission of certain information permitted to be omitted under Rule 15c2-12(b)(1)).  The 
information herein is subject to revision, completion or amendment in a final Official Statement.  The 
Bonds may not be sold, nor may an offer to buy be accepted prior to the time the Official Statement is 
delivered in final form.  Under no circumstances shall this Preliminary Official Statement constitute an 
offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of these securities in any 
jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification 
under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.



*Preliminary; subject to change. 
**The Issuer is not responsible for the use of the CUSIP numbers referenced in this Official Statement 
nor is any representation made by the Issuer as to their correctness; such CUSIP numbers are included 
solely for the convenience of the readers of this Official Statement.

RBC Capital Markets 
Date:  _________ __, 2018



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
PAGE 

INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................................... 3

THE ISSUER ................................................................................................................................. 5

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS .................................................................................................... 6

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS ................................................................... 10

THE DEVELOPMENT AND THE PARTICIPANTS................................................................ 11

THE BONDS ............................................................................................................................... 14

CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS ........................................................................................ 19

TAX MATTERS .......................................................................................................................... 20

UNDERWRITING ...................................................................................................................... 22

RATING ...................................................................................................................................... 23

SUBORDINATION TO LENDER LOAN DOCUMENTS AND PROGRAM 
OBLIGATIONS ............................................................................................................... 23

CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS .................................................................................................. 24

NO LITIGATION ........................................................................................................................ 24

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE ................................................................................................... 25

ENFORCEABILITY OF REMEDIES ........................................................................................ 25

DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY SECTION 517.051(1), FLORIDA STATUTES .................... 26

ESCROW VERIFICATION REPORT........................................................................................ 26

FINANCIAL ADVISORS ........................................................................................................... 27

MISCELLANEOUS .................................................................................................................... 27

APPENDIX A  -- DEFINITIONS 
APPENDIX B  -- DOCUMENT SUMMARIES 
APPENDIX C  -- PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL  
APPENDIX D  -- FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 



This Official Statement, including the cover page hereof, is provided for the purpose of setting 
forth information in connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds.  No dealer, broker, salesperson or 
other person has been authorized by the Issuer, the Borrower or the Underwriter to give any information 
or to make any representations with respect to the Bonds other than those contained in this Official 
Statement, and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having 
been authorized by any of the foregoing.  This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the 
solicitation of an offer to buy any securities other than the Bonds offered herein, nor shall there be any 
sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale is not 
authorized or in which the person making such offer, solicitation or sale is not qualified to do so or to any 
person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation or sale. 

The information set forth herein has been furnished by the Issuer, the Borrower and other sources 
which are believed to be reliable, but has not been independently verified, and such information is not 
guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be construed as a representation by, the 
Issuer, the Borrower or the Underwriter.  The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to 
change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale hereunder shall 
create any implication that there has been no change in the financial condition or operations of the Issuer, 
the Borrower, or any other parties described herein since the date hereof.  This Official Statement 
contains, in part, estimates and matters of opinion that are not intended as statements of fact, and no 
representation or warranty is made as to the correctness of such estimates and opinions or that they will be 
realized. 

The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and 
as part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities law as applied to the facts and 
circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of 
such information. 

The Issuer has not approved any information in this Official Statement except information 
relating to the Issuer under the captions “THE ISSUER,” “NO LITIGATION – The Issuer” (as such 
information pertains to the Issuer), and “DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY SECTION 517.051(1), 
FLORIDA STATUTES,” and takes no responsibility for any other information contained in this Official 
Statement (other than with respect to the description herein under the captions “THE ISSUER,” “NO 
LITIGATION – The Issuer” (as such information pertains to the Issuer), and “DISCLOSURE 
REQUIRED BY SECTION 517.051(1), FLORIDA STATUTES.” 

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT OR 
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE 
BONDS OFFERED HEREBY AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE 
PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE 
DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 



3 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

$22,000,000* 
JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE BONDS 
(DESERT-SILVER PROJECT), SERIES 2018 

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page and the appendices attached 
hereto, is to set forth information concerning the offering and sale by Jacksonville Housing Finance 
Authority (the “Issuer”) of its $22,000,000* Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), 
Series 2018 (the “Bonds”). 

The Bonds are authorized to be issued pursuant to the Florida Housing Finance Authority Law, 
Part IV, Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, as amended and supplemented from time to time, Chapter 52 
Ordinance Code of the City, as amended, Ordinance 2014-185-E of the City, Resolution No. 2018-533-A 
of the City adopted on September 11, 2018, a Resolution of the Issuer adopted on June 18, 2018, and a 
resolution of the Issuer adopted on November 28, 2018 (collectively, the “Act”), and the Trust Indenture 
dated as of December 1, 2018 (the “Indenture”) between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon 
Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”). 

The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of funding a loan (the “Loan”) to LRC Desert-Silver, 
LLC, a Florida limited liability company (the “Borrower”), pursuant to the terms of a Loan Agreement 
dated as of December 1, 2018 (the “Bond Loan Agreement”), between the Issuer and the Borrower.  The 
proceeds of the Loan will be used to finance a portion of the costs of the acquisition, rehabilitation and 
equipping of two non-contiguous multifamily rental housing facilities to be known as Desert Winds and 
Silver Creek Apartments and to be located in Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida (the “Development”), 
as more fully described under “THE DEVELOPMENT AND THE PARTICIPANTS” herein.  The 
Borrower’s obligations to repay the Loan will be evidenced by a Promissory Note (the “Note”) executed 
by the Borrower in favor of the Issuer and assigned to the Trustee.  See “APPENDIX B - DOCUMENT 
SUMMARIES” herein for summaries of certain provisions of the Indenture, and the Bond Loan 
Agreement.   

The Development will be occupied by and held open for occupancy by persons of lower income 
as required by state law and by Section 142(d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, 
pursuant to a Land Use Restriction Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2018, as amended by a HUD 
Rider (the “Land Use Restriction Agreement”), by and among the Issuer, the Trustee and the 
Borrower.  See “THE DEVELOPMENT AND THE PARTICIPANTS” and “APPENDIX B - 
DOCUMENT SUMMARIES - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LAND USE 
RESTRICTION AGREEMENT” herein.  The Borrower is required to operate the Development in 
compliance with the Land Use Restriction Agreement, which contains certain representations, warranties 
and covenants concerning the operation thereof.  Under the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the 
Borrower is required during the Qualified Project Period (as such term is defined in the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement), among other things, to lease at least 100% of the completed residential units in 
the Development to persons with an adjusted gross income that is at or below 60% of the median gross 
income for the area in which the Development is located, as further described in the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement.  A failure to comply with certain of these requirements could result in the loss of the federal 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



4 

tax exemption on the Bonds retroactive to their date of issuance.  See “CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ 
RISK – Taxability of the Bonds,” “TAX MATTERS” and “APPENDIX B - DOCUMENT SUMMARIES 
- SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT” 
herein. 

The Development will also be encumbered by certain rent and occupancy restrictions in 
connection with the low income housing tax credits (the “Tax Credits”) expected to be granted for the 
Development.  See “THE DEVELOPMENT AND THE PARTICIPANTS – Additional Restrictive 
Covenants” herein. 

The Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for purchase, subject to satisfaction of the applicable 
terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture, on December 1, 2020* (the “Mandatory Tender Date”).  
All Holders must tender their Bonds for purchase on the Mandatory Tender Date.  The Bonds may be 
remarketed and a new interest rate for the Bonds may be determined on the Mandatory Tender Date in 
accordance with the terms of the Indenture.  If the Bonds are remarketed on the Mandatory Tender Date, 
the terms of the Bonds after such date may differ materially from the description provided in this Official 
Statement.  Therefore, prospective purchasers of the Bonds on and after the Mandatory Tender Date 
cannot rely on this Official Statement, but rather must rely upon any disclosure documents prepared in 
connection with such remarketing. See “THE BONDS – Mandatory Tender” herein. 

The Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to the Mandatory Tender Date as set forth herein 
under “THE BONDS.”  

The disbursement of Bond proceeds from the Project Fund will be conditioned, among other 
things, on the prior deposit with the Trustee by Highland Commercial Mortgage (the “Lender”) of an 
equal amount of funds from the Lender (the “Lender Collateral Deposit”). The Bonds will be secured by 
funds held under the Indenture and a pledge of the loan payments made pursuant to the Bond Loan 
Agreement.  At all times the Bonds will be secured by Permitted Investments sufficient to pay, 
without need for reinvestment, all of the interest and principal on the Bonds when due to the 
Mandatory Tender Date, as further described herein. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” 
herein.  On the Closing Date, upon deposit of the Lender Collateral Deposit to the Collateral Fund, 
such amounts, together with amounts on deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account, if any, will 
be invested in Government Obligations maturing on or before the Mandatory Tender Date, the 
principal and interest on which will be sufficient to pay principal and interest on the Bonds when 
due. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and “APPENDIX B - DOCUMENT SUMMARIES” 
herein.

Interest payments due on the Bonds are expected to be made from the funds deposited in the 
Capitalized Interest Account of the Bond Fund, if any, on the Closing Date, as well as projected 
investment earnings on Permitted Investments deposited with the Trustee on the Closing Date, without 
the need for reinvestment.  The payment of principal on the Bonds is expected to be made from funds on 
deposit in the Bond Fund and the Collateral Fund. The amounts deposited in the Capitalized Interest 
Account, if any, and the Collateral Fund are to be invested in Permitted Investments, as defined in the 
Indenture. Therefore, the security for the Bonds is the Capitalized Interest Account and the Collateral 
Fund, and the projected investment earnings on Permitted Investments deposited therein. See 
“SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and “APPENDIX B - DOCUMENT SUMMARIES - SUMMARY OF 
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE - Investment of Funds and Accounts” herein.  The sum 
of the Bond proceeds in the Proceeds Account of the Project Fund plus amounts deposited in the 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



5 

Collateral Fund, together with the deposit to the Capitalized Interest Account, if any, as invested pursuant 
to the Indenture, shall at all times be sufficient to pay principal and interest on the Bonds as and when 
they become due to the Mandatory Tender Date. 

The Lender will make a loan in the aggregate principal amount of $25,326,000* to the Borrower 
to provide permanent financing for the Development (the “Lender Loan”).  In connection with the Lender 
Loan, the Borrower will execute a Note (Multistate) (the “Lender Borrower Note”). The Borrower’s 
repayment obligations under the Lender Borrower Note will be secured by a first-lien priority Multifamily 
Mortgage, Assignment of Leases and Rents and Security Agreement (Florida) on the Development (the 
“Lender Mortgage”). 

In no event shall the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) or the 
Lender have any claim or lien upon the Trust Estate and funds pledged to secure the repayment of the 
Bonds.   

None of the Owners of the Bonds, the Trustee or the Issuer will have rights with respect to the 
Lender Loan or under the Lender Loan Documents.  Furthermore, none of the Owners of the Bonds, the 
Trustee or the Issuer will have a (i) superior lien to the Lender on the real estate on which the 
Development is located, or (ii) a lien on any funds, accounts or reserves established, disbursed, 
maintained and/or collected by the Lender in connection with the Lender Loan. 

Definitions of certain terms used herein and not otherwise defined are set forth in Appendix A 
hereto.  Brief descriptions of the Issuer, the Development, the Borrower, the use of proceeds of the Bonds 
and the Bonds together with summaries of the Indenture, the Bond Loan Agreement and the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement are provided below.  All information with respect to the Borrower, the 
Development and the private participants contained in this Official Statement has been furnished by the 
Borrower.  The descriptions and summaries of the Bond Loan Agreement, the Indenture, the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement and other documents contained herein do not purport to be comprehensive or 
definitive and are qualified in their entirety by reference to those documents, and all references to the 
Bonds are qualified in their entirety by the definitive forms thereof included in the Indenture.  See 
“MISCELLANEOUS” herein for the availability of those documents. 

THE ISSUER 

General

The Issuer is a separate body corporate and politic created by the City of Jacksonville (the “City”) 
to ensure compliance with the Act.  The Issuer is the successor entity to the Duval County Housing 
Financing Authority, which previously performed the functions under the Act. The Issuer is composed of 
a seven-member Board of Directors. The Issuer is authorized, in furtherance of the public purposes 
described in the Act, to alleviate a shortage of affordable housing and capital investment for persons, or 
families of low, moderate or middle income of the City. 

The seven members of the Issuer, four of whom are appointed by the Mayor of the City and 
confirmed by the City Council, and three of whom are appointed by the City Council, are set out below. 
Members of the Issuer serve terms not exceeding four years or until a successor is appointed. 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 

Members Occupation Term Expires 



6 

The Issuer will neither own, build, nor develop the multifamily rental housing development for 
which the proceeds of the Bonds will ultimately be utilized, and the Issuer will have no responsibility 
with respect thereto or with respect to the collection, transfer or payment of any of the moneys derived 
from any such developments. 

Laura Stagner-Crites serves as the Issuer contact. The office of the Issuer is presently located at 
214 North Hogan Street, Suite 300, Jacksonville, Florida 32202, and its telephone number is (904) 255-
8200. 

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS 

General 

At all times the Bonds will be secured by Permitted Investments sufficient to pay, without 
need for reinvestment, all of the interest and principal on the Bonds when due to the Mandatory 
Tender Date, as further described herein.  On the Closing Date, upon deposit of the Lender 
Collateral Deposit to the Collateral Fund, such amounts, together with amounts on deposit in the 
Capitalized Interest Account, if any, will be invested in Government Obligations maturing on or 
before the Mandatory Tender Date, the principal and interest on which will be sufficient to pay 
principal and interest on the Bonds when due. 

Pursuant to the Indenture, the Issuer grants, bargains, sells, conveys, pledges and assigns, without 
recourse, unto the Trustee and its successors in trust forever, and grants to the Trustee and to its 
successors in trust, a security interest in, the following (such property being herein referred to as the Trust 
Estate): (i) all right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to all Revenues (as defined below), derived or to 
be derived by the Issuer or the Trustee for the account of the Issuer under the terms of the Indenture and 
the Bond Loan Agreement (other than the Unassigned Rights of the Issuer (as defined in Appendix A)), 
together with all other Revenues received by the Trustee for the account of the Issuer arising out of or on 
account of the Trust Estate; (ii) all right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to the Note (other than the 
Unassigned Rights of the Issuer) including all payments and proceeds with respect thereto or replacement 
thereof; (iii) any fund or account created under the Indenture except for the Cost of Issuance Fund, the 
Expense Fund and the Rebate Fund; (iv) all right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to, and remedies 
under, the Bond Loan Agreement; and (v) all funds, moneys and securities and any and all other rights 
and interests in property whether tangible or intangible from time to time by delivery or by writing of any 
kind, conveyed, mortgaged, pledged, assigned or transferred as and for additional security under the 
Indenture for the Bonds by the Issuer or by anyone on its behalf or with its written consent to the Trustee, 
which is authorized by the Indenture to receive any and all such property at any and all times and to hold 
and apply the same subject to the terms of the Indenture.  “Revenues” means all payments paid or payable 
to the Trustee in accordance with the Bond Loan Agreement, the Loan and the Note and all investment 
earnings derived or to be derived on any moneys or investments held by the Trustee under the Indenture, 
but excluding (a) amounts paid as fees, reimbursement for expenses or for indemnification of any Issuer 

William I. “Tripp” Gulliford, III, Chair 
Senior Management, 

Commercial Real Estate Advisory 
November 30, 2019 

[Spencer N. Cummings, Vice Chair Real Estate Attorney June 30, 2018†]

Delilah “Dee” Bumbarger, Secretary Real Estate Sales Agent June 30, 2020 
James P. Citrano, Jr. Commercial Real Estate Banking June 30, 2020 

Gloria Sherman Carswell Finance June 30, 2019 
Jeffrey Rosen Real Estate Investment June 30, 2021 

[Jane L. Scofield Banking and Financial Services June 30, 2018†]

† Still serves, has not yet been reappointed or replaced.



7 

Indemnified Party and the Trustee, (b) amounts paid to or collected by the Issuer in connection with any 
Unassigned Rights of the Issuer and (c) any Rebate Requirement.  The Bonds will not be secured by a 
deed of trust or other security interest in the Development. 

The Collateral Fund; Application of Lender Collateral Deposit 

On the Closing Date, the proceeds of the Bonds will be deposited in the Project Fund pursuant to 
the Bond Loan Agreement and the Indenture.  On the Closing Date the Lender will irrevocably deposit 
into the Collateral Fund $22,000,000*. Following the deposit of Bond proceeds into the Proceeds 
Account of the Project Fund and the deposit of the Lender Collateral Deposit into the Collateral Fund, 
Bond proceeds in an equivalent amount of such Lender Collateral Deposit will be disbursed by the 
Trustee in accordance with the direction of Borrower and Lender, to be applied to the costs of the 
Development.  The Capitalized Interest Deposit, if any, together with the amounts on deposit in the 
Collateral Fund, as invested pursuant to the Indenture, shall at all times be sufficient to pay, without the 
need for reinvestment, principal and interest on the Bonds as and when they become due to the Mandatory 
Tender Date.  Upon maturity or tender of the Bonds, redemption prior to maturity, or the occurrence of an 
event of default under the Indenture and acceleration of maturity of the Bonds, the Trustee is authorized 
to apply moneys held in the Project Fund and in the Collateral Fund to payment of principal on the 
Bonds.  The Trustee is further authorized to apply moneys held in the Capitalized Interest Account to 
payment of interest on the Bonds.  All funds on deposit in the Collateral Fund, Project Fund, and the 
Capitalized Interest Account will be used to pay only principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the 
Bonds.  Following the payment in full of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, 
together with all other amounts payable under the Indenture by the Issuer and all fees and expenses of the 
Trustee and the Issuer, shall be paid, or provision shall have been made for the payment of the same, then 
the right, title and interest of the Trustee in and to the Trust Estate and all covenants, agreements and 
other obligations of the Issuer to the Bondholders shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void and 
be discharged and satisfied.  In such event, upon request of the Borrower, the Trustee shall turn over to 
the Borrower, so long as there shall have occurred no Event of Default which is uncured and continuing, 
any surplus in the Collateral Fund and all balances remaining in any other fund created under the 
Indenture and shall assign and transfer to the Borrower all other property then held by the Trustee under 
the Indenture and shall execute such documents as may be reasonably required by the Borrower. 

In no event shall HUD or the Lender have any claim or lien upon the Trust Estate and funds 
pledged to secure the repayment of the Bonds. 

None of the Owners of the Bonds, the Trustee or the Issuer will have rights with respect to the 
Lender Loan or under the Lender Loan Documents.  Furthermore, none of the Owners of the Bonds, the 
Trustee or the Issuer will have a (i) superior lien to the Lender on the real estate on which the 
Development is located, or (ii) a lien on any funds, accounts or reserves established, disbursed, 
maintained and/or collected by the Lender in connection with the Lender Loan.     

Nonrecourse Liability of Borrower 

The Bond Loan Agreement provides that (i) the liability of the Borrower, the Investment Member 
and the Manager under the Bond Loan Agreement shall be limited to the Trust Estate, and such amounts 
as may be invested in accordance with the Indenture, and the Issuer and the Trustee shall look exclusively 
thereto or to such other security as may from time to time be given or have been given for payment of the 
Bonds, and any judgment rendered against the Borrower, the Investment Member or the Manager under 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



8 

the Bond Loan Agreement shall be limited to the Development and moneys derived from the operation of 
the Development, and any other security so given for satisfaction thereof, and (ii) no deficiency or other 
personal judgment shall be sought or rendered against the Borrower, the Investment Member or the 
Manager or their respective successors, transferees or assigns, in any action or proceeding arising out of 
the Bond Loan Agreement, or any judgment, order or decree rendered pursuant to any such action or 
proceeding; provided, however, that nothing contained in the Bond Loan Agreement shall limit the 
Issuer’s or the Trustee’s ability to exercise any right or remedy with respect to any property pledged or 
granted to the Issuer or any trustee under the Bond Loan Agreement, or both, or to exercise any right 
against the Borrower, the Investment Member or the Manager, on account of any claim for fraud or 
deceit, and against any other person or entity on account of any claim for fraud or deceit.  
Notwithstanding anything in the Bond Loan Agreement to the contrary, nothing in the provisions of the 
Bond Loan Agreement described in this section shall limit the rights of indemnification against the 
Borrower and the Manager pursuant to the terms of the Bond Loan Agreement.  Furthermore, 
notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the Borrower and the Manager shall be fully liable for (1) 
amounts payable to the Issuer constituting Unassigned Rights of the Issuer, (2) any amount due and 
owing as a result of any calculation or determination which may be required in connection with the Bonds 
for the purpose of complying with Section 148 of the Code (including rebate liability) or any applicable 
Treasury regulation, (3) payment of the Issuer Fee, and (4) any indemnification or payment obligations to 
the Issuer as more particularly described in the Bond Loan Agreement. 

Limited Obligations of the Issuer 

THE ISSUER HAS NO TAXING POWER.  THE BONDS SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE 
AN OBLIGATION, EITHER GENERAL OR SPECIAL, OF THE STATE OR ANY LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT THEREOF; AND NEITHER THE STATE NOR ANY LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
THEREOF SHALL BE LIABLE THEREON.  NEITHER THE FAITH, REVENUES, CREDIT 
NOR TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OR ANY LOCAL GOVERNMENT THEREOF SHALL 
BE PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF, PREMIUM (IF ANY), OR 
INTEREST ON THE BONDS.  THE BONDS ARE PAYABLE, AS TO PRINCIPAL, PREMIUM 
(IF ANY), AND INTEREST, SOLELY OUT OF THE TRUST ESTATE WHICH IS THE SOLE 
ASSET OF THE ISSUER PLEDGED THEREFOR. 

Investment of the Project Fund and the Collateral Fund  

On the Closing Date, moneys on deposit in the Project Fund will be held by the Trustee 
uninvested until disbursed to the Borrower on the Closing Date in accordance with an approved 
Requisition. 

Amounts on deposit in the Collateral Fund and the Bond Fund shall be invested at all times in 
Permitted Investments. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Indenture, the Trustee is directed to purchase Government 
Obligations maturing on or before the Mandatory Tender Date, with respect to the investment of certain 
amounts on deposit in the Collateral Fund and the Bond Fund (including the Capitalized Interest Account 
therein), the principal and interest of which, along with amounts on deposit in the Capitalized Interest 
Account, if any, will be sufficient to pay principal and interest on the Bonds when due. 

Such instructions shall be detailed in the closing memorandum prepared by the Underwriter.  All 
interest earned from the foregoing investments shall be deposited in the Bond Fund. The Trustee has been 
directed to invest any maturing proceeds in the following money market fund as set forth in the definition 
of Permitted Investments: Fidelity Institutional Money Market Treasury Only – Class I. Such funds shall 



9 

remain on deposit to pay interest on the Bonds until the Mandatory Tender Date, on which date they will 
be withdrawn to pay principal and interest on the Bonds. In the event that any investments in the Project 
Fund, the Bond Fund or the Collateral Fund must be liquidated prior to the Mandatory Tender Date, such 
investments shall be liquidated under the Indenture. 

After the Mandatory Tender Date, if the Bonds remain outstanding, the Trustee shall purchase 
Permitted Investments at the direction of the Borrower, the principal and interest of which, along with 
amounts on deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account, if any, will be sufficient to pay principal and 
interest on the Bonds when due. 

Any investment made under the Indenture shall comply with Section 148 of the Code. The 
Trustee may not sell any investment at a loss, unless being sold (i) pursuant to provisions of the Indenture 
requiring moneys in the Collateral Fund invested in Permitted Investments to be sold in the event such 
Permitted Investments fail to satisfy the requirements of the Indenture, or (ii) in connection with an 
acceleration of the Bonds as described in “APPENDIX B – DOCUMENT SUMMARIES – SUMMARY 
OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Events of Default and Acceleration” herein. 

The investments described in each of the above paragraphs shall be made by the Trustee pursuant 
to the direction provided by the Indenture and in accordance with the written direction of the Borrower to 
be provided on the Closing Date, which shall remain in effect until further written direction is provided by 
the Borrower.  In the absence of investment instructions from the Borrower, the Trustee shall invest the 
moneys held in the Bond Fund or Collateral Fund in money market funds described in parts (ii) and (iii) 
of the definition of Permitted Investments. 

The following investments (“Permitted Investments”) are permitted under the Indenture:  (i) 
Direct obligations issued by the United States of America including obligations issued or held in 
book-entry form on the books of the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America, 
including, when available, time deposit SLGS, on which the full and timely payment of principal and 
interest is unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America (“Government Obligations”), (ii) 
money market funds rated “AAAm” by S&P that invest in Government Obligations, which funds are 
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and which meet the requirements of Rule 
2(a)(7) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (including any money market funds of the 
Trustee or its affiliates or for which the Trustee or an affiliate thereof serves as investment advisor or 
provides other services to such money market fund and receives reasonable compensation therefor), and 
(iii) Fidelity Institutional Money Market Treasury Only – Class I as long as it is rated “AAAm” by S&P.  
Ratings of Permitted Investments shall be determined at the time of purchase of such Permitted 
Investments and without regard to ratings subcategories, and the Trustee shall have no responsibility to 
monitor the ratings of Permitted Investments after the initial purchase of such Permitted Investments. 

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank) 



10 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The sources and uses of funds for the Development to be applied under the Indenture are 
estimated by the Borrower to be approximately as follows. 

SOURCES*: 
Bond Proceeds $22,000,000
Lender Collateral Deposit 22,000,000 
Capitalized Interest Deposit†

Total Sources of Funds: $44,000,000

USES*: 
Deposit to Project Fund $22,000,000
Deposit to Capitalized Interest Account 
Deposit to Collateral Fund 22,000,000
Deposit to Costs of Issuance Fund 

Total Uses of Funds: $44,000,000

† The Capitalized Interest Deposit, if any, has been calculated to be sufficient to pay, together with 
projected investment earnings on Permitted Investments deposited with the Trustee on the Closing Date, 
and without the need for reinvestment, interest which will become due on the Bonds to the Mandatory 
Tender Date. 

Simultaneously with the closing and issuance of the Bonds, the Borrower will close the Lender 
Loan on the Development in the amount of $25,326,000*. The Lender will ultimately advance 
$22,000,000* of the $25,326,000* principal amount of the Lender Loan in the form of a Lender Collateral 
Deposit to the Trustee for deposit to the Collateral Fund.  The Bonds will be initially secured by their own 
proceeds to be deposited in the Project Fund under the Indenture (plus the Capitalized Interest Deposit, if 
any, and projected investment earnings on Permitted Investments deposited with the Trustee at closing, 
and without the need for reinvestment, to cover capitalized interest on the Bonds to the Mandatory Tender 
Date).  At closing, the Bond proceeds will be disbursed to the Borrower against a simultaneous deposit to 
the Collateral Fund by the Lender of the Lender Collateral Deposit.  The Bonds will thus be secured at all 
times by Permitted Investments sufficient to pay, without need for reinvestment, all of the interest and 
principal on the Bonds when due to the Mandatory Tender Date. 

Tax Credits 

Simultaneously with the issuance of the Bonds, the Borrower expects to sell to PNC LIHTC Fund 
70, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Investment Member”) a 99.98% ownership interest 
in the Borrower so the Investment Member may acquire [51]% of the Tax Credits available to the 
Borrower.  The funding of the Tax Credit equity by the Investment Member is expected to total 
approximately $10,667,403*.  The funding levels and the timing of the funding are subject to numerous 
adjustments and conditions which could result in the amounts funded and/or the timing or even 
occurrence of the funding varying significantly from the projections set forth above and no representation 
is made as to the availability of such funds. 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



11 

THE DEVELOPMENT AND THE PARTICIPANTS 

The Development 

 The Development consists of the renovation and permanent phase financing of two non-
contiguous multifamily rental housing developments: (1) Desert Winds, a 152-unit development located 
at 233 Sahara Court, Jacksonville, Florida 32216 (the “Desert Winds Development”), and (2) Silver 
Creek, a 152-unit development located at 300 Silver Creek Trce, Jacksonville, Florida 32216 (the “Silver 
Creek Development,” and together with the Desert Winds Development, the “Development”).  The 
renovation of the Development is expected to begin in January 2019 and be completed approximately 16 
months later. 

The [Desert Winds/Silver Creek] Development is intended to be affordable housing for low and 
moderate income persons.  On-site amenities of the [Desert Winds/Silver Creek] Development will 
include an exercise room, a car care area, a playground and a community room. 

Unit amenities will include new kitchen cabinets and countertops, new appliances, new flooring 
in the kitchens and bathrooms, new hardware throughout the units and heating, ventilation and air-
conditioning units. 

The unit mix of the [Desert Winds/Silver Creek] Development is as follows: 

Number of Units Composition Approximate Square Footage

12 1 Bedroom 537 
72 2 Bedroom 708 
60 3 Bedroom 938 
8 4 Bedroom 987 

Total: 152 

The [Desert Winds/Silver Creek] Development is intended to be affordable housing for low and 
moderate income persons.  On-site amenities of the [Desert Winds/Silver Creek] Development will 
include an exercise room, a car care area, a playground and a community room. 

Unit amenities will include new kitchen cabinets and countertops, new appliances, new flooring 
in the kitchens and bathrooms, new hardware throughout the units and heating, ventilation and air-
conditioning units. 

The unit mix of the [Desert Winds/Silver Creek] Development is as follows: 

Number of Units Composition Approximate Square Footage

12 1 Bedroom 702 
72 2 Bedroom 850 
60 3 Bedroom 1,072 
8 4 Bedroom 1,179 

Total: 152 



12 

The HAP Contracts 

The Borrower will receive the benefit of two separate Section 8 Housing Assistance Payment 
Contracts (together, the “HAP Contracts”). The HAP Contract entered into in connection with the Desert 
Winds Development will cover 100% of the units at the Desert Winds Development. The HAP Contract 
entered into in connection with the Silver Creek Development will cover 98% of the units at the Silver 
Creek Development. [Each HAP Contract is in the approval process for a 20-year renewal.] 

The Land Use Restriction Agreement 

At all times during the Qualified Project Period, not less than 100% of the completed residential 
units in the Development shall be occupied (or held available for occupancy) on a continuous basis by 
persons or families at or below 60% of the median gross income for the area in which the Development is 
located. See “APPENDIX B – DOCUMENT SUMMARIES – SUMMARY OF CERTAIN 
PROVISIONS OF THE LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT.” 

The Land Use Restriction Agreement will also contain provisions for verifying compliance with 
the terms thereof.  The provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement discussed herein are intended, 
among other things, to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Code with respect to the 
excludability of the interest on the Bonds from gross income.  Upon any breach by the Borrower of any 
provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Issuer or the Trustee may (in some cases only with 
the consent of Lender) take such actions at law or in equity as deemed appropriate under the 
circumstances, including an action for specific performance of the Land Use Restriction Agreement, as 
described under the heading “APPENDIX B – DOCUMENT SUMMARIES – SUMMARY OF 
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT.”  Such a breach by the 
Borrower may result in interest on the Bonds being included in gross income of the holders of the Bonds 
for purposes of federal income taxation as described in “CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ RISK - Taxability 
of the Bonds” and “TAX MATTERS.” 

Additional Restrictive Covenants  

Tax Credits. In connection with the Tax Credits expected to be allocated to the Borrower in 
connection with the Development, the Borrower will execute an Extended Low-Income Housing 
Agreement for the Development in compliance with Section 42 of the Code (the “Extended Low-Income 
Housing Agreement”).  The Extended Low-Income Housing Agreement extends the low-income housing 
tax credit targeting and rent restrictions for the Development under Section 42 of the Code for at least 15 
years beyond the initial 15 year compliance period, subject only to a few exceptions.  The Extended Low-
Income Housing Agreement will be executed by the Borrower and the Issuer before the end of the first 
year of the credit period (as defined in Section 42 of the Code) and recorded in the public records of the 
county in which the Development is located as a covenant running with the land.  The Extended Low-
Income Housing Agreement for the Development will require, among other things, that at least 40% of 
the residential rental units in the Development must be occupied by or set aside for individuals or families 
whose income does not exceed 60% of the area median income (“AMI”) for the area in which the 
Development is located, adjusted for family size in accordance with Section 142(d) of the Code, and the 
rents which may be charged for occupancy of such units shall be restricted to an amount not greater than 
30% of 60% of the AMI for the area in which the Development is located. 

Under the Code, the restricted use period terminates prior to its expiration date if the 
Development is acquired by foreclosure or deed in lieu thereof unless after foreclosure or deed in lieu of 
foreclosure a transfer is made to a person or entity related to the Borrower.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Code requires that any termination of the extended use period due to foreclosure shall not 



13 

permit, before the close of the three year period following such foreclosure, (i) the eviction or termination 
of tenancy of a tenant without cause, or (ii) any increase in the gross rent of any such units not otherwise 
permitted by Section 42 of the Code. 

The Borrower 

The Borrower for the Development is LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a Florida limited liability 
company (the “Borrower”).  The manager of the Borrower is LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida 
limited liability company (the “Manager”), who will have a 0.01% ownership interest in the Borrower. 
The Investment Member will have a 99.98 ownership interest in the Borrower. 

Founded in 1996, LEDIC Realty Management, LLC f/k/a BSR Trust Management, LLC, (the 
“Developer”) has been in the business of acquiring, owning, and developing affordable apartment 
complexes for more than 20 years.  The Developer has approximately 500 employees and has three 
offices in two states. The Developer has been involved in the development of more than 90 apartment 
complexes containing approximately 10,000 units across nine states.  More than half of these projects are 
low income housing tax credit projects. [EXPLAIN RELATIONSHIP OF DEVELOPER TO 
BORROWER] 

The prior experience of the Developer or its affiliates is no assurance that the Development will 
be successful. 

Limited Assets and Obligations of the Borrower 

The Borrower entity was formed to acquire, renovate and operate the Development.  The 
Borrower has no material assets other than the Development and has covenanted not to engage in any 
activities unrelated to the Development. However, affiliates of the Borrower are engaged in and will 
continue to engage in the acquisition, development, ownership and management of similar types of 
housing projects.  They may be financially interested in, as officers, partners or otherwise, and devote 
substantial times to, business and activities that may be inconsistent or competitive with the interests of 
the Development. 

The obligations and liabilities of the Borrower under the Note are of a non-recourse nature and 
are limited to funds deposited or to be deposited under the Indenture to enable the Borrower to satisfy 
such obligations.  Neither the Borrower nor its members have any personal liability for payments on the 
Note to be applied to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  Furthermore, no representation is 
made that the Borrower has substantial funds available for the Development.  Accordingly, neither the 
Borrower’s financial statements nor those of its members are included in this Official Statement.

The Contractor 

The general contractor for the Project is expected to be Whitestone Construction Group, LLC (the 
“Contractor”).  The Contractor’s principals have, collectively, over 60 years of experience renovating 
housing developments. The Contractor has completed over [_________] multifamily units throughout 
[GEOGRAPHICAL REGIONS AND/OR STATES]. 

Any previous experience of the Contractor is no assurance that the Development will be 
successful. 



14 

The Architect 

The architect for the Project will be DNA Workshop (the “Architect”).  The owner of the 
Architect has been in continuous architectural practice since 1996, and has worked on numerous projects 
ranging from historic renovations to large mixed-used buildings.  The owner of the Architect is a LEED 
(Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design) accredited professional. 

Any previous experience of the Architect is no assurance that the Development will be 
successful. 

The Lender 

The Lender will process the Lender Loan in accordance with the FHA Insurance Commitment 
issued by the Federal Housing Administration (“FHA). The Lender is a mortgage banking firm 
specializing, among other things, in FHA insured construction and permanent mortgage loans. 

Upon satisfaction of certain conditions of the FHA Insurance Commitment, the Lender will make 
the Lender Loan to the Borrower and service the Lender Loan and serve as issuer of the GNMA Security 
to be issued with respect to the Lender Loan described elsewhere herein.  For issuers approved to 
participate in the multifamily program, which is comprised of MBS backed by multifamily construction 
or permanent loans, the minimum net worth requirement is $1,000,000 plus 1% of the total effective 
multifamily outstanding obligations in excess of $25 million up to $175 million plus 0.20 percent (20 
basis points) of the total effective multifamily outstanding obligations in excess of $175 million. The total 
effective multifamily outstanding obligation is the sum of: 1) all multifamily securities outstanding, 2) 
available commitment authority to issue new multifamily pools, and 3) unexpended multifamily 
construction draws. 

THE BONDS 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Bonds.  The summary does not purport to 
be complete or definitive and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Bond, a copy of which is on file 
with the Trustee. 

General 

The Bonds will be dated and will bear interest from their dated date at the rate per annum, and 
mature in the principal amount and on the maturity date set forth on the front cover of this Official 
Statement.  Interest on the Bonds will be payable initially on June 1, 2019* and semiannually thereafter 
on June 1* and December 1* of each year until maturity or earlier mandatory tender.  Principal of the 
Bonds will be payable (i) at the Trust Office of the Trustee upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds 
as the same become due, and (ii) upon the request of any registered owner of Bonds on the applicable 
Record Date having an aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more, by wire transfer of 
immediately available funds from the Trustee.  If the date of payment of principal or interest on the Bonds 
shall not be a Business Day, then such payment may be made on the next succeeding Business Day, with 
the same force and effect as if done on the nominal date provided for such payment. 

The Bonds will be issued in book-entry form only in denominations of $5,000 and integral 
multiples thereof and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as registered owner and 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



15 

nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”).  See “THE BONDS – 
Book-Entry Only System” below. 

Redemption of Bonds 

The Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to the Mandatory Tender Date. 

On and after the Mandatory Tender Date, the Bonds may be redeemed, in whole but not in part, at 
a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the date fixed for 
redemption, which date, if any, shall be a Business Day determined by the Borrower in consultation with 
the Remarketing Agent, in the event the Borrower exercises the option to prepay the Note and amounts 
are paid from the proceeds of refunding bonds or otherwise from Preference Proof Moneys upon the 
written direction of the Borrower delivered to the Issuer and the Trustee. 

Notice of Redemption 

The Bonds shall be called for optional redemption pursuant to the provisions described under the 
caption “Redemption of Bonds” above by the Trustee upon receipt by the Trustee and the Issuer, at least 
25 days prior to the redemption date (unless a shorter notice shall be satisfactory to the Trustee), of a 
certificate of the Borrower specifying the provision or provisions of the Indenture pursuant to which such 
Bonds are to be called for redemption.  In the case of every redemption, the Trustee shall cause notice of 
such redemption to be given by mailing by first class mail postage prepaid a copy of the redemption 
notice to the Bondholders designated for redemption in whole or in part, at their addresses as the same 
shall last appear upon the registration records, in each case not more than 30 nor less than 20 days prior to 
the redemption date, provided, however, that failure to receive such notice, or any defect therein, shall not 
affect the validity of any proceedings for the redemption of such Bonds.  So long as the Bonds are in book 
entry form, notice of redemption will be given by the Trustee only to DTC or its successor.  Redemption 
is conditioned upon the Trustee having sufficient moneys on deposit in the Project Fund and the 
Collateral Fund, on or prior to the redemption date, to redeem all of the Bonds called for redemption, and 
if the Trustee does not have sufficient funds for this purpose, no Bonds shall be redeemed.  The Trustee 
shall furnish the Borrower, the Investment Member, the Issuer, the Remarketing Agent and the Rating 
Agency with a copy of each notice of redemption given with respect to any optional redemption under the 
Indenture, as soon as practicable after the delivery of notice to the Bondholders. 

Each notice of redemption shall specify the date fixed for redemption, the place or places of 
payment, that payment will be made upon presentation and surrender of the Bonds to be redeemed, that 
interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption will be paid as specified in said notice, and that on and 
after said date interest thereon will cease to accrue.  Each notice of redemption may also state that the 
redemption is conditioned on receipt of sufficient moneys for such redemption by the Trustee on or prior 
to the redemption date; if sufficient moneys are not so received, the redemption of the Bonds for which 
notice was given shall not be made. 

Mandatory Tender 

The Bonds are subject to mandatory tender in whole and not in part on the Mandatory Tender 
Date and shall be purchased at a price equal to 100 percent of the principal amount of such Bonds, plus 
accrued interest, if any to the Mandatory Tender Date, and without premium. No later than 10:00 a.m., 
New York City time, on the Mandatory Tender Date, the Holders shall deliver the Bonds to the Trustee. 
The Trustee shall utilize the following sources of payments to pay the tender price of the Bonds not later 
than 1:30 p.m. New York City time on the Mandatory Tender Date, in the following priority; (i) amounts 
representing proceeds of remarketed Bonds received pursuant to the Indenture, to pay the principal 



16 

amount, plus accrued interest, of Bonds tendered for purchase, (ii) amounts on deposit in the Collateral 
Fund and the Project Fund, to pay the principal amount of Bonds tendered for purchase, (iii) amounts on 
deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account of the Bond Fund to pay the accrued interest, if any, on Bonds 
tendered for purchase, and (iv) any other Preference Proof Moneys available or made available for such 
purpose at the direction of the Borrower. 

In the event that the conditions required for remarketing set forth in the Indenture are not satisfied 
and/or the Trustee shall not have received remarketing proceeds on the Mandatory Tender Date equal to 
the principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding on such date, the Bonds shall be purchased in whole on 
the Mandatory Tender Date using amounts on deposit in the Collateral Fund, the Project Fund and the 
Bond Fund, and, immediately following such purchase, the Bonds shall be deemed redeemed on the 
Mandatory Tender Date and cancelled by the Trustee. 

Not less than 30 days before the Mandatory Tender Date, the Trustee shall give written notice of 
mandatory tender and remarketing to the Holders by first class mail, postage prepaid, at their respective 
addresses as they appear on registration books kept by the Trustee as Bond Registrar.  The notice shall 
state the Mandatory Tender Date and that: 

(1) all Outstanding Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the 
Mandatory Tender Date and must be tendered for purchase on the Mandatory Tender Date; 

(2) all Outstanding Bonds will be purchased on the Mandatory Tender Date at a 
price equal to the principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds plus interest accrued to the 
Mandatory Tender Date; 

(3) Holders will not have the right to elect to retain their Bonds and any Bonds not 
tendered will nevertheless be deemed to have been tendered and will cease to bear interest from 
and after the Mandatory Tender Date; and 

(4) the address of the office of the Trustee at which Holders should deliver their 
Bonds for purchase on the Mandatory Tender Date. 

If notice is given as described under this caption, failure of any Holder to receive such notice, or 
any defect in the notice, shall not affect the remarketing or the validity of the proceedings for the 
remarketing of the Bonds. 

Book-Entry Only System 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained 
from sources that the Borrower believes to be reliable, but the Borrower takes no responsibility for the 
accuracy thereof. 

The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), will act as securities depository 
for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be initially issued and issuable only as one fully registered Bond 
certificate for each maturity, registered in the name of Cede & Co. as partnership nominee of DTC.  
Those fully registered Bonds will be deposited with and retained in the custody of DTC. 

For ease of reference in this and other discussions, reference to “DTC” includes when applicable 
any successor securities depository and the nominee of the depository. 



17 

For all purposes under the Bond proceedings, DTC will be and will be considered by the Issuer 
and the Trustee to be the owner or Holder of the Bonds. 

Owners of book entry interests in the Bonds (book entry interest owners) will not receive or have 
the right to receive physical delivery of Bonds, and will not be or be considered by the Issuer and the 
Trustee to be, and will not have any rights as, owners or holders of Bonds under the Bond proceedings. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized 
under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York 
Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of 
the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions 
of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 
3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money 
market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with 
DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other 
securities transactions in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and 
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of 
securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company 
for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which 
are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the 
DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship 
with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  DTC has an S&P rating of 
AA+.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual 
purchaser of each Bond (the book entry interest owner) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participant’s records.  Book entry interest owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their 
purchase, but are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as 
periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the book entry 
interest owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be 
accomplished by entries made on the books of Participants acting on behalf of book entry interest owners.  
Book entry interest owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the 
Bonds, except in the event that use of the book entry system for the Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration 
in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in actual ownership.  
DTC has no knowledge of the book entry interest owners (or beneficial owners) of the Bonds; DTC’s 
records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, 
which may or may not be the book entry interest owners.  Participants will remain responsible for keeping 
account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to book entry 



18 

interest owners, will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the bonds within an issue are being 
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in 
such issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
the Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its 
usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. 
The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to 
whose accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus 
Proxy). 

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and debt service payments on the Bonds will be made to 
Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s 
practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail 
information from the Issuer or the Trustee on the payable date in accordance with their respective 
holdings shown on DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to book entry interest owners will be 
governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the 
accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such 
Participant and not of DTC, the Trustee or the Issuer, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements 
as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and debt service 
payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of 
DTC) is the responsibility of the Issuer or the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct 
Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the book entry 
interest owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may determine to discontinue providing its services with respect to the Bonds at any time by 
giving written notice to the Issuer and discharging its responsibilities with respect thereto under 
applicable law.  Under such circumstances (if there is not a successor securities depository), Bond 
certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 

The Issuer, in its sole discretion and without the consent of any other person, may terminate the 
services of DTC with respect to the Bonds if the Issuer determines that:  (i) DTC is unable to discharge its 
responsibilities with respect to the Bonds or (ii) a continuation of the requirement that all of the 
Outstanding Bonds be registered in the registration books kept by the Trustee in the name of Cede & Co., 
as nominee of DTC, is not in the best interest of the beneficial owners of the Bonds.  In the event that no 
substitute securities depository is found by the Issuer, or restricted registration is no longer in effect, Bond 
certificates will be delivered as described in the Indenture. 

With regard to Bonds registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the Issuer and 
the Trustee will have no responsibility or obligation to any Direct Participant or to any Indirect 
Participant.  Without limiting the preceding sentence, the Issuer and the Trustee will have no 
responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede & Co., or any 
Direct Participant or Indirect Participant with respect to any ownership interest in the Bonds, (ii) the 
delivery to any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant or any other person, other than Cede & Co., as 
nominee of DTC, of any notice with respect to the Bonds, including any notice of redemption, or (iii) the 
payment to any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant or any person, other than Cede & Co., as 
nominee of DTC, of any amount with respect to principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, the Bonds. 



19 

CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS 

The following is a summary of certain risks associated with a purchase of the Bonds.  There are 
other possible risks not discussed below.  The Bonds are payable from the payments to be made by the 
Borrower under the Bond Loan Agreement and the Note and from amounts on deposit in the Capitalized 
Interest Account, if any, and the Collateral Fund, and the projected investment earnings thereon. 

Limited Security 

The Bonds are special, limited obligations of the Issuer payable solely from certain funds pledged 
to and held by the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture, including the Bond Fund and the Collateral Fund.  
See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS - Limited Obligations of the Issuer” herein.  The Bonds will not be 
secured by a deed of trust or other security interest in the Development.   

Lender Collateral Deposit; Disbursement of Lender Loan Proceeds 

As described under the heading “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS – The Collateral Fund; 
Application of Lender Collateral Deposit” above, the Lender Collateral Deposit will be disbursed and 
deposited into the Collateral Fund, and the Capitalized Interest Deposit, if any, on behalf of the Borrower, 
will be deposited to the Capitalized Interest Account under the Indenture as a condition precedent to the 
disbursement of the Bond proceeds in an equal amount to pay a portion of the costs of acquiring, 
rehabilitating and equipping the Development.  In order to have Lender initiate the transfer of the Lender 
Collateral Deposit into the Collateral Fund the Borrower will be required to satisfy any agreements 
relating to the Lender Loan.  Failure of the Borrower to satisfy any conditions relating to the disbursement 
of the Lender Collateral Deposit could result in the Lender’s suspending payments from the reserve 
account until such conditions have been satisfied which, in turn, could result in the inability of the 
Borrower to pay the costs of completing the Development.  However, such a failure to complete the 
Development would not affect the security for the Bonds or cause a default on the Bonds. 

Exercise of Legal Remedies 

The ability of the Issuer to enforce its rights or exercise its remedies upon default under the Bond 
Loan Agreement is dependent upon regulatory and judicial actions which may be subject to discretion and 
delay. Under existing law and judicial decisions (including laws relating to bankruptcy), the remedies 
provided for under the Documents may not be readily available or may be limited. 

Taxability of the Bonds 

THE BONDS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO ACCELERATION OR REDEMPTION UPON ANY 
DETERMINATION OF TAXABILITY OF INTEREST ON THE BONDS.  IN ADDITION, THE RATE 
OF INTEREST ON THE BONDS IS NOT SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENT BY REASON OF THE 
INTEREST ON THE BONDS BEING INCLUDED IN GROSS INCOME FOR PURPOSES OF 
FEDERAL INCOME TAXATION.  Such event could occur if the Borrower (or any subsequent owner of 
the Development) or other parties to the transaction do not comply with the provisions of the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement, certain other tax-related agreements executed in connection with the Bonds, and 
the Bond Loan Agreement, or if the transaction is deemed not to comply with requirements of the Code in 
order for the interest on the Bonds to be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  
Under such circumstances, interest on the Bonds might become subject to federal income taxation 
retroactive to the date of issuance or some other subsequent date.  See “APPENDIX B – DOCUMENT 
SUMMARIES – SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LAND USE RESTRICTION 
AGREEMENT” and “TAX MATTERS” herein. 



20 

Rating Based on Permitted Investments 

The rating on the Bonds is based upon the Bonds being fully secured by Permitted Investments 
held in the Trust Estate.  If one or more of such investments fail to meet the rating standards for Permitted 
Investments after their purchase and prior to their maturity, such a change may result in a downgrade or 
withdrawal of the rating on the Bonds. 

Secondary Markets and Prices 

No representation is made concerning the existence of any secondary market for the Bonds.  The 
Underwriter will not be obligated to repurchase any of the Bonds, nor can any assurance be given that any 
secondary market will develop following the completion of the offering of the Bonds.  Further, there can 
be no assurance that the initial offering prices for the Bonds will continue for any period of time.  
Furthermore, the Bonds should be purchased for their projected returns only and not for any resale 
potential, which may or may not exist. 

TAX MATTERS 

Legal matters incident to the authorization, validity and issuance of the Bonds are subject to the 
unqualified approving opinion of Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Orlando, Florida, whose opinion will be 
available at the time of delivery of the Bonds. It is anticipated that the approving opinion will be in 
substantially the form attached to this Official Statement as Appendix C. 

Section 142(d) of the Code provides an exclusion from federal income tax for interest on certain 
governmental obligations, such as the Bonds, the proceeds of which are used to provide financing for a 
“qualified residential rental project”.  The Bonds shall be exempt from federal income tax if at all times 
during the Qualified Project Period either 20% or more of the units are set aside for tenants having 
incomes of 50% or less of area median gross income or 40% or more of the units are set aside for tenants 
having incomes of 60% or less of area median gross income. 

Under the Treasury Regulations, the failure to satisfy the foregoing requirements on a continuous 
basis or the failure to satisfy any of the other requirements of the Treasury Regulations will, unless 
corrected within a reasonable period of time of not less than sixty (60) days after such noncompliance is 
first discovered or should have been discovered, cause loss of the tax exempt status of the Bonds as of the 
date of issuance of the Bonds, irrespective of the date such noncompliance actually occurred. 

The Issuer has established requirements, procedures and safeguards which it believes to be 
sufficient to ensure the Development’s compliance with the requirements of Section 142(d) of the Code 
and the Treasury Regulations.  Such requirements, procedures, and safeguards are incorporated into the 
Bond Loan Agreement and the Land Use Restriction Agreement.  Additionally, no assurance can be given 
that in the event of a breach of any of the provisions or covenants described above, the remedies available 
to the Issuer or the Trustee can be judicially enforced in such manner as to assure compliance with 
Section 142(d) of the Code and therefore to prevent the loss of tax exemption of interest on the Bonds.  
The opinion of Bond Counsel described below relies, in part, upon certifications by the Borrower as to 
compliance with Section 142(d) of the Code. 

Section 148 of the Code provides that interest on the Bonds will not be excludable from gross 
income for federal income tax purposes unless (a) the investment of the proceeds of the Bonds meets 
certain arbitrage requirements and (b) certain “excess” earnings on such investments are rebated to the 
United States of America (collectively, the “Arbitrage Restrictions”).  To the extent that the Arbitrage 
Restrictions are applicable to the Borrower, the Borrower has covenanted in the Bond Loan Agreement 



21 

and the Issuer has covenanted in the Indenture, that each will comply with such restrictions.  In the event 
of non-compliance by the Issuer, the Trustee or the Borrower with the Arbitrage Restrictions, interest on 
the Bonds may be taxable for federal income tax purposes from the date of issuance of the Bonds. 

The Issuer and the Borrower have each covenanted to comply with certain other applicable 
provisions of the Code which are required as a condition to the exclusion from gross income of interest on 
the Bonds for federal income tax purposes.  The Code includes requirements which the Issuer and the 
Borrower must continue to meet after the issuance of the Bonds in order that interest on the Bonds not be 
included in gross income for federal income tax purposes.  The Issuer’s or the Borrower’s failure to meet 
these requirements may cause interest on the Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax 
purposes retroactive to their date of issuance.  The Issuer and the Borrower have covenanted in the 
Indenture, the Bond Loan Agreement and the Land Use Restriction Agreement to take the actions 
required by the Code in order to maintain the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes of interest on the Bonds. 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, assuming continuing compliance by the Issuer and the Borrower 
(and, except as permitted by Treasury Regulation Section 1 103(b)(6)(iii), any successor owner of the 
Development) with the above referenced requirements of the Code, interest on the Bonds is excluded 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court 
decisions, except for interest on any Bond for any period during which the Bond is held by a person who 
is a “substantial user” of the facilities financed by the Bonds or a “related person” within the meaning of 
Section 147(a) of the Code.  Additionally, interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for 
purposes of the alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. The alternative minimum tax on 
corporations has been repealed for taxable years starting on and after January 1, 2018. 

Except as described above, Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding the federal income 
tax consequences resulting from the ownership of, receipt or accrual of interest on, or disposition of the 
Bonds.  Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should be aware that the ownership of Bonds may result in 
other collateral federal tax consequences, including (i) the denial of a deduction for interest on 
indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase or carry Bonds or, in the case of a financial institution, 
that portion of the Bondholder’s interest expense allocable to interest on the Bonds, (ii) the reduction of 
the loss reserve deduction for property and casualty insurance companies, (iii) the inclusion of interest on 
Bonds in the earnings of certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States of America for 
purposes of a branch profits tax, (iv) the inclusion of interest on Bonds in the passive income subject to 
federal income taxation of certain Subchapter S corporations with Subchapter C earnings and profits at 
the close of the taxable year and (v) the inclusion of interest on Bonds by recipients of certain Social 
Security and Railroad Retirement benefits for purposes of determining the taxability of such benefits. 

During recent years, legislative proposals have been introduced in Congress, and in some cases 
enacted, that altered certain federal tax consequences resulting from the ownership of obligations that are 
similar to the Bonds. In some cases, these proposals have contained provisions that altered these 
consequences on a retroactive basis. Such alteration of federal tax consequences may have affected the 
market value of obligations similar to the Bonds. From time to time, legislative proposals are pending 
which could have an effect on both the federal tax consequences resulting from ownership of the Bonds 
and their market value. No assurance can be given that legislative proposals will not be enacted that 
would apply to, or have an adverse effect upon, the Bonds. 

PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP, SALE OR DISPOSITION OF THE BONDS AND THE RECEIPT 
OR ACCRUAL OF THE INTEREST THEREON MAY HAVE ADVERSE FEDERAL TAX 
CONSEQUENCES FOR CERTAIN INDIVIDUALS AND CORPORATE BONDHOLDERS.  



22 

PROSPECTIVE BONDOWNERS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR TAX SPECIALISTS FOR 
INFORMATION IN THAT REGARD. 

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding.  Interest paid on tax-exempt bonds such as the 
Bonds is subject to information reporting to the Internal Revenue Service in a manner similar to interest 
paid on taxable obligations.  This reporting requirement does not affect the excludability of interest on the 
Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  However, in conjunction with that 
information reporting requirement, the Code subjects certain non-corporate owners of Bonds, under 
certain circumstances, to “backup withholding” at the rate specified in the Code with respect to payments 
on the Bonds and proceeds from the sale of Bonds.  Any amount so withheld would be refunded or 
allowed as a credit against the federal income tax of such owner of Bonds.  This withholding generally 
applies if the owner of Bonds (i) fails to furnish the payor such owner’s social security number or other 
taxpayer identification number (“TIN”), (ii) furnished the payor an incorrect TIN, (iii) fails to properly 
report interest, dividends, or other “reportable payments” as defined in the Code, or (iv) under certain 
circumstances, fails to provide the payor or such owner’s securities broker with a certified statement, 
signed under penalty of perjury, that the TIN provided is correct and that such owner is not subject to 
backup withholding.  Prospective purchasers of the Bonds may also wish to consult with their tax 
advisors with respect to the need to furnish certain taxpayer information in order to avoid backup 
withholding. 

The opinion of Bond Counsel will be delivered contemporaneously with the delivery of the 
Bonds substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix C. 

UNDERWRITING 

RBC Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) has agreed to purchase the Bonds from the Issuer 
at a price of one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount thereof.  The Underwriter will be paid 
an aggregate fee of $_________ for underwriting the Bonds, inclusive of expenses, except for the fees 
and expenses of its counsel.  The Bond Purchase Agreement provides that the obligation of the 
Underwriter to purchase the Bonds is subject to certain terms and conditions and the approval of certain 
legal matters by counsel. 

The Underwriter and its affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various 
activities, that may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, municipal advisory, 
brokerage and asset management.  In the ordinary course of business, the Underwriter and its affiliates 
may actively trade debt and if applicable equity securities (or related derivative securities) and provide 
financial instruments (which may include bank loans, credit support or interest rate swaps) and the 
Underwriter and its affiliates may engage in transactions for its own accounts involving the securities and 
instruments made the subject of this securities offering or other offerings of the Issuer and/or Borrower.  
The Underwriter and its affiliates may also communicate independent investment recommendations, 
market color or trading ideas and publish independent research views in respect of this securities offering 
or other offerings of the Issuer and/or Borrower.  The Underwriter does not make a market in credit 
default swaps with respect to municipal securities at this time but may do so in the future. 

The initial public offering prices of the Bonds may be changed from time to time by the 
Underwriter.  The Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers (including dealers 
depositing Bonds into investment trusts) and certain dealer banks and banks acting as agents at prices 
lower than the public offering price stated on the inside cover of this Official Statement. 



23 

The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement pursuant to its 
responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws, but the underwriter does not guarantee the 
accuracy or completeness of such information. 

In addition to serving as Underwriter, RBC Capital Markets, LLC has been designated to serve as 
Remarketing Agent and will receive a fee for its remarketing services in connection with the remarketing, 
if any, of the Bonds on the Mandatory Tender Date.

RATING 

The Bonds are expected to be assigned a rating of “AA+” by S&P Global Ratings (“S&P,” and in 
its capacity as rating agency for the Bonds, the “Rating Agency”).  On August 5, 2011, S&P lowered the 
long-term sovereign credit rating of the United States of America to “AA+” from “AAA” but affirmed the 
“A-1+” short-term rating of the United States of America.  No assurance can be given that the rating of 
the United States of America will continue for any given period of time or that it will not be revised 
downward or withdrawn entirely by S&P.  Any such downward revision or withdrawal of the rating of 
the United States of America may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. 

The rating expected to be assigned to the Bonds described above reflects only the view of the 
Rating Agency, and an explanation of the significance of such rating may be obtained from the Rating 
Agency at 55 Water Street, 38th Floor, New York, New York 10041-0003.  There is no assurance that the 
rating will continue for any given period of time or that it will not be revised downward or withdrawn 
entirely by the Rating Agency if in the judgment of the Rating Agency circumstances so warrant.  Any 
such downward revision or withdrawal of such rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of 
the Bonds. 

Any desired explanation of the significance of the rating should be obtained from the Rating 
Agency.  Certain information and materials not included in this Official Statement were furnished to the 
Rating Agency.  Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on the information and materials so 
furnished and on investigations, studies, and assumptions by the rating agency. 

The rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell, or hold the Bonds.  There is no assurance that a 
particular rating will be maintained for any given period of time or that it will not be lowered, suspended 
or withdrawn entirely if, in the judgment of the rating agency originally establishing such rating, 
circumstances so warrant.  Any such change in, suspension or withdrawal of such rating could have an 
adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds if a registered owner attempts to sell the same. 

The Issuer has not assumed any responsibility either to notify the owners of any proposed change 
in, suspension or withdrawal of such rating subsequent to the date of this Official Statement, and the 
Borrower has such responsibility only in connection with the reporting of events as provided in the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  Neither of them has any responsibility to contest any such revision, 
suspension or withdrawal. 

SUBORDINATION TO LENDER LOAN DOCUMENTS AND PROGRAM OBLIGATIONS 

The Indenture, the Bond Loan Agreement, the Note, and the Land Use Restriction Agreement 
(the “Bond Financing Documents”) provide that, notwithstanding anything in such documents to the 
contrary, the Bond Financing Documents will be subordinate to the Lender Loan Documents.  In the 
event of any conflict between the provisions of the Bond Financing Documents and the Lender Loan 
Documents or the Program Obligations (as defined in the Lender Mortgage), the Lender Loan Documents 
or the Program Obligations will control.  Enforcement of the Bond Financing Documents will not result 



24 

in any claim against the Development, the Lender Mortgage proceeds, any reserve or deposit required by 
HUD in connection with the Lender Mortgage, or the rents or other income from the Development 
(except “surplus cash,” as defined in the HUD Regulatory Agreement).  No assurance can be made that 
such provision will not impair the excludability of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes.  In no event shall HUD or the Lender have any claim to or lien upon the Trust 
Estate and funds pledged to secure the repayment of the Bonds.

CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS 

Certain legal matters relating to the execution and delivery of the Indenture and the Bond Loan 
Agreement are subject to the approving opinion of Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Bond Counsel, Orlando, 
Florida, which will be furnished at the expense of the Borrower (the “Bond Counsel Opinion”). See 
“APPENDIX C – PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL” hereto.  Certain legal 
matters will be passed upon for the Issuer by its Counsel, the Office of the General Counsel of the City of 
Jacksonville, Florida.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Borrower by its counsel, Balch & 
Bingham LLP, Montgomery, Alabama, and for the Underwriter by its counsel, Norris George & Ostrow 
PLLC, Washington, D.C.  Fees and expenses of certain of the above-mentioned counsel are contingent 
upon the issuance of the Bonds. 

Bryant Miller Olive P.A., whose legal services as Bond Counsel have been retained by the Issuer, 
will opine on the date of issuance of the Bonds with regard to the exclusion from gross income of interest 
on the Bonds.  See “TAX MATTERS” herein.  The proposed text of the legal opinion is set forth in 
APPENDIX C.  The actual legal opinion to be delivered may vary from that text if necessary to reflect 
facts and law on the date of delivery of the Bonds.  The opinion will speak only as of its date, and 
subsequent distribution of it by recirculation of this Official Statement or otherwise shall create no 
implication that Bond Counsel has reviewed or expresses any opinion concerning any of the matters 
referenced in the opinion subsequent to its date. 

In rendering its approving opinion, Bond Counsel will rely on certifications and representations 
of fact to be contained in the transcript of proceedings which Bond Counsel will not have independently 
verified. 

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds express the 
professional judgment of the attorneys rendering the opinions on the legal issues explicitly addressed 
therein.  By rendering the legal opinion, the opinion giver does not become an insurer or guarantor of an 
expression of professional judgment of the transaction opined upon, or of the future performance of 
parties to such transaction.  Nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal 
dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 

NO LITIGATION 

The Borrower 

There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation of which the Borrower has been 
notified, at law or in equity, before or by any judicial or administrative court or governmental agency or 
body, state, federal or other, pending or, to the best knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against the 
Borrower, affecting the existence of the Borrower or the titles of its officers executing the Bond Purchase 
Agreement to their respective offices, or contesting or affecting as to the Borrower the validity or 
enforceability of the Bonds, the Bond Loan Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement or the Bond Purchase Agreement or the execution and delivery or 
adoption by the Borrower of the Bond Loan Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the 



25 

Continuing Disclosure Agreement or the Bond Purchase Agreement, or in any way contesting or 
challenging the completeness or accuracy of this Official Statement or the powers of the Borrower or its 
authority with respect to the Bond Loan Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement or the Bond Purchase Agreement or the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated thereby; nor, to the best knowledge of the Borrower, is there any basis for any such action, 
suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would 
materially adversely affect the Borrower’s financial condition or operations or the validity of the 
authorization, execution, delivery or performance by the Borrower of the Bond Loan Agreement, the 
Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement or the Bond Purchase 
Agreement. 

The Issuer 

No litigation is pending or, to the best knowledge of the Issuer, threatened in any court in any 
way affecting the existence of the Issuer or the title of any member of the Issuer to the office held by such 
member or employee, or seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds or the 
collection of revenues or assets of the Issuer pledged or to be pledged to pay the principal of and interest 
on the Bonds, or the pledge thereof, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of 
the Bonds, the Resolutions, the Indenture, the Bond Loan Agreement, the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement or the Bond Purchase Agreement or contesting the completeness or accuracy of this Official 
Statement, or contesting the powers of the Issuer, or its authority with respect to the Bonds, the 
Resolutions, the Indenture, the Bond Loan Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement or the Bond 
Purchase Agreement. 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

The Borrower will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated as of December 1, 2018 
(the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”) with the Trustee, acting as the Dissemination Agent, obligating 
the Borrower to send, or cause to be sent, certain financial information with respect to the Development to 
the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board annually and to provide notice, or cause notice to be 
provided, to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, of certain enumerated events for the benefit of 
the beneficial owners and Holders of any of the Bonds, pursuant to the requirements of Section (b)(5)(i) 
of Securities Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule”).  See APPENDIX D - “FORM OF 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT.” 

A failure by the Borrower to comply with the provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement 
will not constitute a default under the Indenture or Bond Loan Agreement (although Bondholders will 
have any available remedy at law or in equity for obtaining necessary disclosures).  Nevertheless, such a 
failure to comply is required to be reported in accordance with the Rule and must be considered by any 
broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer before recommending the purchase or sale of the Bonds in 
the secondary market.  Consequently, such a failure may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity 
of the Bonds. 

The Borrower is a new entity and has not previously been subject to the continuing disclosure 
requirements of the Rule. 

ENFORCEABILITY OF REMEDIES 

The remedies available to the Trustee, the Issuer and the Owners of the Bonds upon an Event of 
Default under the Bond Loan Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement or the Indenture are in 
many respects dependent upon regulatory and judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and 



26 

delay.  Under existing law and judicial decisions, including specifically the Federal Bankruptcy Code, the 
remedies provided for under the Federal Bankruptcy Code, the Bond Loan Agreement, the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement or the Indenture may not be readily available or may be limited. 

In addition, the Bond Loan Agreement and the Land Use Restriction Agreement both provide that 
the payment obligations of the Borrower contained in such agreements (other than certain obligations to 
the Issuer and the Trustee individually and not on behalf of the Owners of the Bonds) will be limited 
obligations payable solely from the income and assets of the Borrower, and that no member of the 
Borrower will have any personal liability for the satisfaction of any payment obligation of the Borrower 
under such agreements or of any claim against the Borrower arising out of such agreements or the 
Indenture. 

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds will be 
qualified as to the enforceability of various legal instruments by limitations imposed by the valid exercise 
of the constitutional powers of the State and the United States of America and bankruptcy, reorganization, 
insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by general principles of 
equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law). 

DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY SECTION 517.051(1), FLORIDA STATUTES 

Rule 69W-400.003, Rules of Government Securities, promulgated by the Florida Department of 
Banking and Finance, Division of Securities, under Section 517.051(1), Florida Statutes (“Rule 69W-
400.003”), requires the Issuer to disclose each and every default of the Issuer as to the payment of 
principal and interest with respect to obligations issued or guaranteed by the Issuer after December 31, 
1975. Rule 69W-400.003 further provides, however, that if the Issuer in good faith believes that such 
disclosures would not be considered material by a reasonable investor, such disclosures may be omitted. 

The Bonds do not constitute a general debt, liability or obligation of the Issuer, but are instead 
secured by amounts on deposit under the Indenture and by other security discussed herein.  The Bonds are 
not being offered on the basis of the financial strength of the Issuer.  Accordingly, the Issuer, in good 
faith, believes that disclosure of any such default on bonds with respect to which the Issuer was merely a 
conduit issuer and which are secured solely by payments of the borrower under a loan agreement, lease 
agreement or installment sale agreement, would not be considered material by a reasonable investor in the 
Bonds. 

ESCROW VERIFICATION REPORT 

[_________], certified public accountants (the “Verifier”), concurrently with the issuance of the 
Bonds, will deliver to the Underwriter its verification report indicating that it has verified the arithmetical 
accuracy of certain computations provided by the Underwriter relating to the computation of forecasted 
receipts of principal and interest on the obligations and certain cash deposited as security for the Bonds, 
and the forecasted payments of principal and interest to pay the Bonds at their redemption or maturity 
dates.  All such computations have been based solely upon assumptions and information supplied by the 
Underwriter.  The Verifier restricted its procedures to verifying the arithmetical accuracy of the 
computations described above and has not made any study or evaluation of the assumptions and 
information on which the computations are based, and the Verifier has not expressed any opinion on the 
data used, the reasonableness of the assumptions or the achievability of the forecasted outcomes. 



27 

FINANCIAL ADVISORS 

The Issuer has retained The Hendrickson Company, Tallahassee, Florida, and The Community 
Concepts Group, Tallahassee, Florida, as co-financial advisors (together, the “Financial Advisors”) to the 
Issuer in connection with the preparation of the Issuer’s plan of financing and with respect to the 
authorization and issuance of the Bonds.  Although the Financial Advisors assisted in the preparation of 
this Official Statement, the Financial Advisors have not undertaken to make an independent verification 
or to assume responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the information contained in this 
Official Statement. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Copies of the Indenture, the Bond Loan Agreement, the Note and the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement are on file at the office of the Trustee and are available for inspection upon request. 

This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the securities referred to herein 
and may not be reproduced or used, as a whole or in part, for any other purpose.  Any statements in this 
Official Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended as such 
and not as representations of fact.  This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or 
agreement between the Issuer or the Borrower and the purchasers or holders of any of the Bonds. 

The Issuer makes no representations with respect to any information in this Official Statement 
other than the information under the headings “THE ISSUER,” “NO LITIGATION – The Issuer” and 
“DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY SECTION 517.051(1), FLORIDA STATUTES.” 

This Official Statement has been approved by the Issuer and the Borrower for distribution to 
current Bondholders and potential purchasers of the Bonds. 

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank) 



(Signature Page to Official Statement – Desert-Silver Project) 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC, 
a Florida limited liability company 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, 
a Florida limited liability company, 
its Managing Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company, 
its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company, 
its sole Member 

By:  
[_________]



A-1 

APPENDIX A 

DEFINITIONS 

“Act” means, collectively, Florida Housing Finance Authority Law, Part IV, Chapter 159, Florida 
Statutes, as amended and supplemented from time to time, Chapter 52 Ordinance Code of the City, as 
amended, Ordinance 2014-185-E of the City, Resolution No. 2018-533-A of the City adopted on 
September 11, 2018, a Resolution of the Issuer adopted on June 18, 2018 and a Resolution of the Issuer 
adopted on November 28, 2018 

“Agreement” or “Bond Loan Agreement” means the Loan Agreement dated as of the same date 
as the Indenture, between the Issuer and the Borrower and any and all supplements thereto. 

“Arbitrage Certificate” means the Arbitrage Certificate, dated the Closing Date, executed by the 
Issuer in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

“Arbitrage Rebate Agreement” means the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, dated as of December 1, 
2018, among the Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

“Assumption Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Bond Loan Agreement. 

“Bond” or “Bonds” means the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily Housing 
Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 issued, authenticated and delivered under the 
Indenture. 

“Bond Counsel” means nationally recognized bond counsel selected by the Issuer. 

“Bond Documents” means, with respect to the Bonds, the Bonds, the Indenture, the Bond 
Purchase Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the 
Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, the Tax Certificates, the Servicing Agreement, the Compliance Monitoring 
Agreement, the Project Completion Funds Disbursement Agreement and any and all documents executed 
in connection with the Bonds. 

“Bond Fund” means the Bond Fund created under the Indenture. 

“Bondholder” or “Holder of the Bonds” or “Holder” or “Owner of the Bonds” or “Owner” when 
used with respect to any Bond, means the person or persons in whose name such Bond is registered as the 
owner thereof on the books of the Issuer maintained at the Trust Office of the Trustee for that purpose. 

“Bond Loan Agreement” means the Loan Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2018, by and 
between the Issuer and the Borrower and any and all supplements thereto, pursuant to which the Loan is 
being made to the Borrower. 

“Bond Purchase Agreement” means the Bond Purchase Agreement, dated _________ __, 2018, 
among the Issuer, the Borrower and the Underwriter. 

“Bond Registrar” has the meaning assigned to it in the Indenture. 

“Book Entry Form” or “Book Entry System” means a form or system, as applicable, under which 
(i) the ownership of beneficial interests in the Bonds may be transferred only through a book entry and 
(ii) physical bond certificates in fully registered form are registered only in the name of a Securities 



A-2 

Depository or its nominee as holder, with the physical bond certificates “immobilized” in the custody of 
the Securities Depository. 

“Borrower” means LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, duly organized 
and existing in the State of Florida, its successors and assigns. 

“Borrower Costs of Issuance” means all fees, costs and expenses (other than the Issuer Costs of 
Issuance) incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds and the extension of the Loan. 

“Borrower Costs of Issuance Account” means the account by that name created in the Cost of 
Issuance Fund pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Borrower Documents” means the Bond Loan Agreement, the Note, the Proceeds Certificate, the 
Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the 
Official Statement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Guarantor Documents and any and all 
documents, agreements or instruments executed by the Borrower in connection with the Loan evidenced 
by the Bond Loan Agreement. 

“Borrower Obligations” means the obligations of the Borrower under the Bond Loan Agreement, 
the Note, and the other Borrower Documents to (a) pay the principal of, and interest on the Note, when 
and as the same shall become due and payable (whether at the stated maturity thereof, on any payment 
date or by acceleration of maturity or otherwise), (b) pay all other amounts required by the Bond Loan 
Agreement, the Note, and the other Borrower Documents to be paid by the Borrower to the Issuer and the 
Trustee, as and when the same shall become due and payable, and (c) timely perform, observe and 
comply with all of the terms, covenants, conditions, stipulations, and agreements, express or implied, 
which the Borrower is required by the Bond Loan Agreement, the Note, the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement, and any of the other Borrower Documents, to perform or observe. 

“Borrower Representative” means a person at the time designated and authorized to act on behalf 
of the Borrower by a written certificate furnished to the Issuer and the Trustee containing the specimen 
signature of such person and signed on behalf of the Borrower by one of its officers, which certificate 
may designate an alternate or alternates. 

“Business Day” or “business day” means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which 
(a) banks located in New York, New York, Jacksonville, Florida or in the city in which the Trust Office 
of the Trustee, or the office of the Trustee is located, are not required or authorized by law or executive 
order to close for business, and (b) the New York Stock Exchange is not closed. 

“Capitalized Interest Account” means the account by that name created in the Bond Fund 
pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Capitalized Interest Deposit” means the deposit of $_________ to the Capitalized Interest 
Account on behalf of the Borrower, from Preference Proof Moneys, on or before the Closing Date, which 
is to be deposited as provided in the Indenture.  

“City” means the City of Jacksonville, Florida. 

“Closing Date” means the date of delivery of the Bonds in exchange for the purchase price 
thereof. 



A-3 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, including applicable final, temporary and 
proposed regulations and revenue rulings applicable thereto, as amended from time to time. 

“Collateral Fund” means the Collateral Fund created pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Completion Certificate” means a certificate submitted by the Borrower Representative to the 
Issuer and the Trustee as provided in the Indenture and the Bond Loan Agreement. 

“Completion Date” means the date upon which the Completion Certificate is delivered by the 
Borrower to the Issuer and the Trustee, which shall be no later than [_________ __], 2018. 

“Compliance Monitoring Agreement” means the Compliance Monitoring Agreement, dated as of 
December 1, 2018, by and among the Issuer, Seltzer, the Trustee and the Borrower, as amended, 
supplemented or restated from time to time. 

“Construction Contract” means that certain construction contract executed between the 
Contractor and the Borrower relating to the rehabilitation of the Development, as that contract may be 
amended from time to time. 

“Construction Draw Date” means the date on which a disbursement from the Project Fund shall 
be made solely to pay acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping costs of the Development. 

“Continuing Disclosure Agreement” means the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated as of 
December 1, 2018 between the Borrower and the Dissemination Agent. 

“Contractor” means the entity identified as the general contractor under the Construction 
Contract. 

“Cost of Issuance Fund” means the Cost of Issuance Fund created pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Costs of Issuance” means, collectively, the Issuer Costs of Issuance and the Borrower Costs of 
Issuance. 

“Costs of Issuance Deposit” means $_________. 

“Costs of the Development” with respect to the Development shall be deemed to include all items 
permitted to be financed under the provisions of the Code and the Act. 

“Credit Underwriting Report” means the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Credit 
Underwriting Report dated [_________ __], 2018 prepared by Seltzer. 

“Default” means any Default under the Bond Loan Agreement as specified and defined therein. 

“Developer” means LEDIC Realty Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
doing business in Florida as [_________], its successors and assigns. 

“Development” means the multifamily rental housing facilities to be known as Desert Winds and 
Silver Creek Apartments, which consists of approximately 304 apartment units and related facilities to be 
located in Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida. 



A-4 

“Dissemination Agent” means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national 
banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America and its 
permitted successors and assigns as Dissemination Agent under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. 

“Dissemination Agent Fee” means a portion of the Trustee’s Fee payable to The Bank of New 
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., in its capacity as Dissemination Agent pursuant to the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement. 

“Documents” means and shall include (without limitation), with respect to the Bonds, the 
Indenture, the Bond Documents, the Borrower Documents, the Guarantor Documents and any and all 
other documents which the Issuer, the Borrower or any other party or parties or their representatives, have 
executed and delivered, or may execute and deliver after the date of the Indenture, to evidence or secure 
the Bonds and the Borrower’s Obligations, or any part thereof, or in connection therewith, and any and all 
supplements thereto. 

“Effective Date” shall mean the issuance date of the Bonds. 

“Environmental Indemnity” means the Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated as of 
December 1, 2018, from the Guarantors, jointly and severally, in favor of the Issuer and the Trustee. 

“Event of Default” or “Default” means, when used in the Indenture, those events of default or 
defaults specified therein and, when used in the Bond Loan Agreement, those events of default or defaults 
specified therein. 

“Expense Fund” means the fund by that name created and established pursuant to the Indenture. 

“GNMA” means the Government National Mortgage Association. 

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, State or local governmental or quasi-governmental 
entity, including, without limitation, any agency, department, commission, board, bureau, administration, 
service, or other instrumentality of any governmental entity. 

“Government Obligations” means direct obligations issued by the United States of America 
including obligations issued or held in book-entry form on the books of the Department of the Treasury of 
the United States of America, including, when available, time deposit SLGS, on which the full and timely 
payment of principal and interest is unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America. 

“Governmental Requirements” means all laws, ordinances, orders, rules or regulations of all 
Governmental Authorities applicable to the Development, the Issuer, the Borrower or any of the 
Borrower’s assets or other properties, including without limitation, laws, ordinances, orders, rules and 
regulations relating to securities or other public disclosures, zoning, licenses, permits, subdivision, 
building, safety, health, and fire protection and all environmental laws. 

“Guarantor” and “Guarantors” means, individually and collectively, LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a 
Florida limited liability company; LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida limited liability company; LRC 
GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; LEDIC Realty Company, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company; LEDIC Realty Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and W. 
Daniel Hughes, Jr., individually, together with their respective permitted successors and assigns. 

“Guarantor Documents” means, collectively, the Environmental Indemnity, the Guaranty of 
Completion, the Guaranty of Recourse Obligations, and the Operating Deficit Guaranty. 



A-5 

“Guaranty of Completion” means the Absolute and Unconditional Guaranty of Completion, dated 
as of December 1, 2018, from the Guarantors, jointly and severally, in favor of the Issuer and the Trustee. 

“Guaranty of Recourse Obligations” means the Continuing, Absolute and Unconditional 
Guaranty of Recourse Obligations, dated as of December 1, 2018, from the Guarantors, jointly and 
severally, in favor of the Issuer and the Trustee. 

“Hazardous Materials” means petroleum and petroleum products and compounds containing 
them, including gasoline, diesel fuel and oil; explosives; flammable materials; radioactive materials; 
polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCBS”) and compounds containing them; lead and lead based paint; asbestos 
or asbestos containing materials in any form that is or could become friable; underground or above 
ground storage tanks, whether empty or containing any substance; any substance the presence of which at 
the Development is prohibited by any federal, state or local authority; any substance that requires special 
handling under any Hazardous Materials Law; and any other material or substance now or in the future 
defined as a “hazardous substance,” “hazardous material,” “hazardous waste,” “toxic substance,” “toxic 
pollutant,” “contaminant,” or “pollutant” within the meaning of any Hazardous Materials Law, but does 
not include any such substance that is a customary and ordinary household, cleaning, office, swimming 
pool or landscape maintenance product used on the Development by the Borrower or any tenant or agent 
of the Borrower, or customary construction materials used during the course of rehabilitation and 
equipping of the Development by the Borrower or the Contractor, provided such use is in accordance with 
applicable hazardous material laws. 

“Hazardous Materials Law” means all federal, state, and local laws, ordinances and regulations 
and standards, rules, policies and other governmental requirements, administrative rulings and court 
judgments and decrees in effect now or in the future and including all amendments, that relate to 
Hazardous Materials and apply to Borrower or to the Development.  Hazardous Materials Laws include, 
but are not limited to, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 
U.S.C. Section 9601, et seq., the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 6901, et 
seq., the Toxic Substance Control Act, 15 U.S.C. Section 2601, et seq., the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. 
Section 1251, et seq., and the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. Section 5101, and their 
state analogs, including laws of the State. 

“HUD” means the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

“HUD Regulatory Agreement” means the Regulatory Agreement for Multifamily Projects 
between the Borrower and HUD, as amended or supplemented from time to time. 

“Indenture” means the Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2018, between the Issuer and the 
Trustee, and any and all Supplements thereto, authorizing the issuance of the Bonds. 

“Independent” means any person not an employee or officer of the Borrower or its affiliates. 

“Interest Payment Date” means each June 1* and December 1*, beginning June 1, 2019*.

“Investment Member” means PNC LIHTC Fund 70, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, 
and its permitted successors and assigns in their capacity as the investment member of the Borrower. 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



A-6 

“Issuer” means the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority, a public body corporate and politic 
of the State of Florida, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, including the 
Act, or any successor to its rights and obligations under the Bond Loan Agreement and the Indenture. 

“Issuer Costs of Issuance” means the fees, costs and expenses incurred by the Issuer in 
connection with the issuance of the Bonds, payable from the Issuer Costs of Issuance Account. 

“Issuer Costs of Issuance Account” means the Account by that name created in the Cost of 
Issuance Fund pursuant the Indenture. 

“Issuer Documents” means the Bond Loan Agreement, the Indenture, the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Arbitrage Certificate, the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement 
and any and all documents, agreements or instruments executed by the Issuer in connection with the Loan 
evidenced by the Bond Loan Agreement. 

“Issuer Fee” means an issuance fee of $55,000* due and payable on the Closing Date and a 
program fee of $165,000* due on the earlier to occur of the date of redemption or Maturity Date of the 
Bonds. 

“Issuer Indemnified Party” or “Issuer Indemnified Parties” means the Issuer, the past, present and 
future members of the Issuer, executives, employees and agents, individually and collectively. 

“Issuer Servicer” means Seltzer, or any other servicer appointed by the Issuer to service the Loan 
on behalf of Issuer and to monitor the Development. 

“Issuer Servicer Documents” means the Compliance Monitoring Agreement and the Servicing 
Agreement. 

“Issuer Servicer Fee” means the fees and expenses of the Issuer Servicer as may be amended 
from time to time, and as provided in the Issuer Servicer Documents. 

“Land Use Restriction Agreement” means the Land Use Restriction Agreement dated as of the 
same date as the Indenture by and among the Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower relating to the Bonds 
and containing certain occupancy and income restrictions on the Development required by the Code, and 
any and all modifications thereof, amendments and Supplements thereto and substitutions therefor. 

“Lender” means Highland Commercial Mortgage, and its successors and assigns.

“Lender Borrower Note” means the $25,326,000* Note (Multistate) dated as of December 1, 
2018, from Borrower to the Lender to evidence its indebtedness under the Lender Loan and endorsed by 
HUD. 

“Lender Collateral Deposit” shall have the meaning given to such term in the Indenture. 

“Lender Loan” means the loan made by the Lender to the Borrower in the original principal 
amount not to exceed $25,326,000*, as evidenced by the Lender Borrower Note and secured by the 
Lender Mortgage. 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



A-7 

“Lender Loan Documents” means the documents related to the Lender Loan, including the the 
Lender Borrower Note, the Lender Mortgage, the HUD Regulatory Agreement and any and all other 
documents, agreements, or instruments which evidence or secure the indebtedness evidenced by the 
Lender Borrower Note. 

“Lender Mortgage” means the first-lien priority Multifamily Mortgage, Assignment of Leases 
and Rents and Security Agreement (Florida) dated as of December 1, 2018, from Borrower for the benefit 
of the Lender to secure the repayment of the Lender Borrower Note. 

“Loan” means the loan in the principal amount of $22,000,000* made by the Issuer to the 
Borrower evidenced by the Note, described in the Bond Loan Agreement and made in connection with 
the issuance of the Bonds. 

“Loan Documents” shall mean the Bond Loan Agreement and the Note. 

“Manager” means [LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC], a Florida limited liability company, as 
managing member of the Borrower. 

“Mandatory Tender Date” means December 1, 2020*. 

“Maturity Date” means December 1, 2021*. 

“Note” means the Promissory Note, dated the Closing Date, from the Borrower to the Issuer in 
substantially the form attached as an exhibit to the Bond Loan Agreement, and any amendments, 
supplements or modifications thereto, which Note has been assigned by the Issuer to the Trustee. 

“Official Statement” means the Official Statement dated _________ __, 2018, relating to the 
Bonds. 

“Operating Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 
Agreement of the Borrower, dated December 1, 2018, as may be amended and supplemented from time to 
time. 

“Operating Deficit Guaranty” means the Continuing, Absolute and Unconditional Guaranty of 
Operating Deficits, dated as of December 1, 2018, from the Guarantors, jointly and severally, to the Issuer 
and the Trustee. 

“Outstanding,” “outstanding” or “Bonds Outstanding” when used with respect to the Bonds 
means any Bonds theretofore authenticated and delivered under the Indenture, except: 

(a) Bonds theretofore canceled by the Trustee or theretofore delivered to the Trustee 
for cancellation; 

(b) Bonds for the payment of which moneys or obligations shall have been 
theretofore deposited with the Trustee in accordance with the Indenture; or 

(c) Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other Bonds have been authenticated 
and delivered under the Indenture. 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



A-8 

“Permitted Investments” means (i) Government Obligations, (ii) to the extent permitted in the 
Indenture, money market funds rated “AAAm” by S&P that invest in Government Obligations, which 
funds are registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and which meet the requirements of 
Rule 2(a)(7) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (including any money market funds of 
the Trustee or its affiliates or for which the Trustee or an affiliate thereof serves as investment advisor or 
provides other services to such money market fund and receives reasonable compensation therefor), and 
(iii) Fidelity Institutional Money Market Treasury Only – Class I as long as it is rated “AAAm” by S&P.
Ratings of Permitted Investments shall be determined at the time of purchase of such Permitted 
Investments and without regard to ratings subcategories, and the Trustee shall have no responsibility to 
monitor the ratings of Permitted Investments after the initial purchase of such Permitted Investments. 

“Person” shall include an individual, association, unincorporated organization, corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, or government or agency or political subdivision thereof. 

“Plans and Specifications” means the plans and specifications and/or the scope of work for the 
Development, together with such amendments thereto as are made from time to time in accordance with 
the Bond Loan Agreement. 

“Preference Proof Moneys” means (i) moneys drawn on a letter of credit, (ii) proceeds of the 
Bonds, (iii) proceeds of the Lender Loan deposited with the Trustee on behalf of the Borrower, or (iv) 
moneys in connection with which the Trustee shall have been delivered an opinion of bankruptcy counsel 
acceptable to it to the effect that the use of such moneys would not be avoidable as a preference under 
Section 547 of the United States Bankruptcy Code or give rise to a stay under Section 362(a) of the 
United States Bankruptcy Code. 

“Proceeds Certificate” means the Proceeds Certificate, dated the Closing Date, executed by the 
Borrower in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

“Project Cost Certificate” means the Project Cost Certificate, dated the Closing Date, executed by 
the Borrower in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.  

“Project Fund” means the Project Fund created pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Qualified Project Costs” means any expenditures which (a) are incurred not more than 60 days 
prior to the date on which the Issuer first declared its “official intent” (within the meaning of Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.150-2) with respect to the Development (other than preliminary expenditures with 
respect to the Development in an amount not exceeding 20% of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds); (b) are made exclusively to provide facilities and improvements that constitute part of a 
“qualified residential rental project” within the meaning of Section 142(d) of the Code; and (c) are 
properly chargeable to the Development’s capital account under general federal income tax principles or 
that would be so chargeable with a proper election or but for a proper election by the Borrower to deduct 
such expenditure.  However, “Qualified Project Costs” do not include (i) issuance costs of the Bonds 
(within the meaning of Section 147(g) of the Code) or (ii) any fee, charge or profit payable to the 
Borrower or a “related person” (within the meaning of Section 144(a)(3) of the Code).  As used in the 
Indenture, the term “preliminary expenditures” includes architectural, engineering, surveying, soil testing 
and similar costs that were incurred prior to the commencement of acquisition, rehabilitation and 
equipping of the Development, but does not include land acquisition, site preparation and similar costs 
incident to commencement of renovation and equipping of the Development. 

“Rating Agency” means S&P. 



A-9 

“Rebate Requirement” means the amount, if any, which is to be paid to the United States of 
America pursuant to Section 148(f) of the Code and the Indenture or to reduce the yield on investments to 
the yield on the Bonds pursuant to Section 148 of the Code. 

“Rebate Analyst” means a certified public accountant, financial analyst or attorney, or any firm of 
the foregoing, or a financial institution (which may include the Trustee) experienced in making the 
arbitrage and rebate calculations required pursuant to Section 148 of the Code and selected by the Issuer 
and at the expense of the Borrower (payable from the Program Fee paid by the Borrower). 

“Rebate Fund” means the Rebate Fund created pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Record Date” means the 15th day of the month preceding the date on which interest is due and 
payable. 

“Remarketing Agent” means initially RBC Capital Markets, LLC, and any successor 
Remarketing Agent that may be appointed by the Borrower.  

“Remarketing Agreement” means the Remarketing Agreement, dated as of even date with the 
Indenture, between the Borrower and the Remarketing Agent. 

“Remarketing Notice Parties” means the Borrower, the Issuer, the Trustee, the Remarketing 
Agent, the Investment Member and the Rating Agency.   

“Remarketing Rate” means the interest rate or rates established pursuant to the Indenture and 
borne by the Bonds then Outstanding from and including the Mandatory Tender Date to the Maturity 
Date. 

“Requisition” means (a) the request signed by the Borrower Representative to make a 
disbursement from the Project Fund on a Construction Draw Date in the manner provided pursuant to the 
Indenture or (b) the request signed by the Borrower Representative to make a disbursement from the 
Costs of Issuance Fund in the manner provided pursuant to the Indenture. 

“Reserve Fund” means that Repair Reserve Fund created pursuant to the Lender Loan Documents 
and held by the Lender. 

“Resolutions” means the resolutions adopted by the Issuer on June 18, 2018 and November 28, 
2018, duly authorizing and directing the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds. 

“Responsible Officer” means, when used with respect to the Trustee, any vice president, assistant 
vice president, senior associate, associate or other officer of the Trustee within the Trust Office (or any 
successor corporate trust office) customarily performing functions similar to those performed by the 
persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, or to whom any corporate trust matter is 
referred at the Trust Office because of such person’s knowledge of and familiarity with the particular 
subject and having direct responsibility for the administration of the Indenture. 

“Revenues” means, all payments paid or payable to the Trustee in accordance with the Bond 
Loan Agreement, the Loan and the Note and all investment earnings derived or to be derived on any 
moneys or investments held by the Trustee under the Indenture, but excluding (a) amounts paid as fees, 
reimbursement for expenses or for indemnification of any Issuer Indemnified Party and the Trustee, 
(b) amounts paid to or collected by the Issuer in connection with any Unassigned Rights of the Issuer and 
(c) any Rebate Requirement. 



A-10 

“Securities Depository” means the Depository Trust Company, its successors and assigns, or any 
other securities depository for the Bonds designated by the Issuer or the Borrower to the Trustee in 
writing. 

“Seltzer” means Seltzer Management Group, Inc., a Florida corporation, its successors and 
assigns. 

“Servicing Agreement” means the Construction and Loan and Servicing Agreement, dated as of 
December 1, 2018, by and among the Issuer, the Trustee, the Borrower and Seltzer. 

“SLGS” means United States Treasuries – State and Local Government Series. 

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, its successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be 
dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “S&P” shall 
be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Issuer 
with the approval of the Borrower. 

“State” means the State of Florida. 

“Supplement” or “Supplements” means any and all extensions, renewals, modifications, 
amendments, supplements and substitutions to the Indenture. 

“Tax Certificates” means, collectively, the Arbitrage Certificate and the Proceeds Certificate. 

“Term of Agreement” means the term of the Bond Loan Agreement as specified therein. 

“Trustee” means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking 
association duly organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, and authorized to 
exercise corporate trust powers in the State, having a corporate trust office in Jacksonville, Florida and its 
successor or successors in the trust created by the Indenture. 

“Trustee’s Fee” means the ongoing compensation and expenses payable to the Trustee as follows: 
(a) the acceptance fee of the Trustee of $[_________] payable on the Closing Date; (b) the annual 
administration fees and expenses of the Trustee, as Trustee, Registrar and Paying Agent of $[_________] 
for the ordinary services of the Trustee rendered under the Indenture during each twelve month period, 
payable semiannually in arrears on each Interest Payment Date; (c) the reasonable fees and charges of the 
Trustee for necessary extraordinary services rendered by it and extraordinary expenses incurred by it 
under the Indenture as and when the same become due, including reasonable counsel fees (including in-
house counsel fees and fees prior to litigation, at trial, in insolvency proceedings or for appellate 
proceedings); provided, further, that the Trustee shall not be required to undertake any such extraordinary 
services unless provision for payment of extraordinary expenses satisfactory to the Trustee shall have 
been made; (d) for purposes of the Bond Loan Agreement, indemnification of the Trustee by the 
Borrower; and (e) the annual Dissemination Agent Fee under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, shall 
be $[_________] per year, payable semiannually on each June 1* and December 1*. 

“Trust Estate” has the meaning given such term in the Granting Clauses of the Indenture. 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



A-11 

“Trust Office” means the corporate trust office of the Trustee located at the address set forth in 
the Indenture or such other office designated by the Trustee from time to time, or such other offices as 
may be specified in writing to the Issuer by the Trustee. 

“Unassigned Rights of the Issuer” and “Unassigned Rights” means the rights of the Issuer 
consisting of:  (a) all rights which the Issuer Indemnified Parties may have under the Indenture, the Bond 
Loan Agreement and other Documents to indemnification by the Borrower and by any other persons and 
to payments for expenses incurred by the Issuer itself, or its officers, directors, officials, agents or 
employees; (b) the right of the Issuer to give and receive notices, reports or other information, make 
determinations and grant approvals under the Indenture and under the Documents; (c) the right of the 
Issuer to give and withhold consents and approvals under the Indenture and under the Documents; (d) the 
right of the Issuer to give and receive its fees and expenses pursuant to the Bond Loan Agreement and the 
Land Use Restriction Agreement; (e) all rights of the Issuer not otherwise assigned to the Trustee to 
enforce the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Borrower pertaining in any 
manner or way, directly or indirectly to the requirements of the Act or any requirements imposed by the 
Issuer with respect to the Development, or necessary to assure that interest on the Bonds is excluded from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes, as are set forth in any of the Documents or in any other 
certificate or agreement executed by the Borrower; (f) all rights of the Issuer in connection with any 
amendment to or modification of the Documents; and (g) all enforcement remedies with respect to the 
foregoing. 

“Underwriter” means RBC Capital Markets, LLC.  

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank)



B-1 

APPENDIX B 

DOCUMENT SUMMARIES 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE 

The Indenture contains terms and conditions relating to the issuance and sale of Bonds under it, 
including various covenants and security provisions, certain of which are summarized below.  This 
summary does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive and is subject to all of the provisions of the 
Indenture to which reference is hereby made, a copy of which is on file with the Trustee.  This summary 
uses various terms defined in the Indenture and such terms as used herein shall have the same meanings 
as so defined. 

Funds and Accounts 

The following trust funds are created by the Issuer under the Indenture to be held separately by 
the Trustee: 

(1) Bond Fund, and within the Bond Fund, a Capitalized Interest Account; 

(2) Project Fund, and within the Project Fund, a Proceeds Account, and an Equity 
Account; 

(3) Rebate Fund; 

(4) Expense Fund; 

(5) Collateral Fund; and 

(6) Costs of Issuance Fund, and within the Costs of Issuance Fund, the Issuer Costs 
of Issuance Account and the Borrower Costs of Issuance Account. 

Bond Fund.  On or before the Closing Date, upon receipt of the Capitalized Interest Deposit in 
accordance with the Bond Loan Agreement, the Trustee shall deposit the Capitalized Interest Deposit to 
the Capitalized Interest Account.  All Revenues received by the Trustee, except for funds deposited in the 
Bond Fund (including the Capitalized Interest Account therein) or the Collateral Fund on the Closing 
Date and any investment earnings thereon, shall be deposited, first, to the credit of the Expense Fund to 
the extent of any fees, costs, or expenses described under the caption “Expense Fund” below which are 
due and payable, and then to the Bond Fund. In accordance with the Indenture, for so long as the Bonds 
are outstanding under the Indenture, funds on deposit in the Proceeds Account of the Project Fund, the 
Collateral Fund or the Bond Fund (including the Capitalized Interest Account therein) shall not be 
deposited in the Expense Fund or otherwise used to pay fees, costs or expenses described under the 
caption “Expense Fund” below. 

The funds on deposit in the Bond Fund shall be used by the Trustee to pay principal of and 
interest on the Bonds on each date a payment of principal or interest is due to be made, whether by 
maturity, scheduled Interest Payment Date or as a result of an early redemption of the Bonds. 

In the event that amounts on deposit in the Bond Fund on any Interest Payment Date, the 
Mandatory Tender Date, the Maturity Date or such other Bond payment date are insufficient to make the 
payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds when due, the Trustee shall transfer funds in the 



B-2 

following order to the Bond Fund and use such funds, together with amounts then on deposit in the Bond 
Fund, to make such payments when due: 

(a) first, from amounts on deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account; 

(b) second, from amounts on deposit in the Collateral Fund; and 

(c) third, from amounts on deposit in the Project Fund. 

So long as there are any Outstanding Bonds, payments due under the Note and the Bond Loan 
Agreement shall be deemed made by the Trustee’s transfer of funds on each Interest Payment Date from 
the Capitalized Interest Account or from the Collateral Fund to the Bond Fund, in an amount necessary to 
pay the interest on and principal (if any) of the Bonds. 

Project Fund.  The proceeds received upon the issuance and sale of the Bonds shall be deposited 
in the Proceeds Account of the Project Fund.  Disbursements from the Project Fund shall be made upon 
the receipt by the Trustee of the following and shall be used solely to pay Costs of the Development 
incurred in connection with the acquisition of the Development: (1) a request or requests therefor 
executed by the Borrower and the Lender, upon a Requisition in substantially the form attached to the 
Indenture in the case of requisitions from the Proceeds Account and/or the Equity Account, executed by 
the Borrower and the Issuer Servicer, (2) certification by a Borrower Representative that, in the case of 
amounts requisitioned from the Proceeds Account, such Costs of the Development are Qualified Project 
Costs, and (3) in the case of requisitions from the Proceeds Account, confirmation from the Trustee that 
an amount equal to the requested disbursement has been received by the Trustee and deposited to the 
Collateral Fund in accordance with the Indenture. Together with amounts on deposit in the Proceeds 
Account of the Project Fund, amounts on deposit in the Bond Fund and the Collateral Fund, including any 
investment earnings thereon, shall be sufficient at all times to pay the principal of and interest on the 
Bonds as and when they become due to the Mandatory Tender Date. On each date on which principal of 
or interest on the Bonds is due, the Trustee shall transfer a sufficient amount of funds from the Collateral 
Fund for deposit to the Bond Fund to enable the Trustee to make such payments as and when due. 

Notwithstanding any provision of the Bond Loan Agreement or the Indenture to the contrary, the 
Trustee shall not disburse moneys from the Project Fund, other than to pay principal and/or interest 
payments on the Bonds in accordance with the Indenture, unless and until the Trustee receives 
satisfactory evidence that a Lender Collateral Deposit in an amount equal to or greater than the requested 
disbursement amount has been deposited in the Collateral Fund.  Prior to making any disbursement, the 
Trustee shall verify that upon making the disbursement, the aggregate amount to be held in (i) the 
Collateral Fund, (ii) the Capitalized Interest Account, (iii) the Project Fund and (iv) the Bond Fund, will 
be sufficient to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds as and when they become due to the Mandatory 
Tender Date or the Maturity Date.  Upon satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in this 
paragraph, and notwithstanding anything in the Bond Documents to the contrary, once the Lender 
deposits the Lender Collateral Deposit the Trustee is irrevocably and unconditionally obligated to 
disburse an equal amount of moneys from the Project Fund in accordance with approved Requisitions. 

Rebate Fund.  In accordance with the provisions set forth in the Indenture, the Trustee shall 
deposit into the Rebate Fund amounts paid by the Borrower pursuant to the Tax Certificates.  Moneys 
held in the Rebate Fund are not held for the benefit of the Owners and are not part of the Trust Estate.  
The Issuer will designate the Rebate Analyst.  As provided in the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, the 
Borrower shall be responsible for causing the rebate calculations to be calculated by the Rebate Analyst 
and paying the Rebate Requirement.  Neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall be obligated to pay any 
portion of the Rebate Requirement (except from funds on deposit in the Rebate Fund).  In addition, 



B-3 

neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility with respect to the calculation of the 
Rebate Requirement.  

Any moneys held as part of the Rebate Fund and not immediately required to be paid to the 
United States pursuant to the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement shall be invested or reinvested by the Trustee, 
at the written direction of the Borrower Representative, in Government Obligations or in any money 
market or short term investment fund investing in or consisting solely of and secured by Government 
Obligations, including any such fund maintained by the Trustee or an affiliate thereof, having maturities 
consonant with the need for moneys as estimated by the Borrower. 

Expense Fund.  The Trustee shall deposit amounts received from the Borrower for the purpose 
of paying Trustee’s Fees, the program fee portion of the Issuer Fee due on the earlier to occur of the date 
of redemption or Maturity Date of the Bonds, the Issuer Servicer Fee and any other fees, costs or 
expenses required under the Bond Loan Agreement into the Expense Fund.  The Trustee shall pay such 
amounts to the proper persons on the dates and in the amounts due [as provided by such person to the 
Trustee in writing].  Amounts on deposit in the Expense Fund shall be withdrawn by the Trustee to pay 
(i) to or at the direction of, the Issuer, the Issuer Fee and the Issuer Servicer Fee to the Issuer Servicer, 
(ii) to the Trustee, the Trustee’s Fee, (iii) to the Trustee, any amounts due to the Trustee which have not 
been paid, other than amounts paid in accordance with clause (ii) hereof, and (iv) at the direction of the 
Issuer, any amounts due to the Issuer or the Issuer Servicer which have not been paid, other than amounts 
paid in accordance with clause (i) above.

Collateral Fund.  Upon receipt from the Lender of the proceeds of (a) the sale of a GNMA 
security, (b) a draw on Lender’s warehouse line of credit, or (c) from funds otherwise provided by Lender 
(the “Lender Collateral Deposit”), the Trustee shall deposit such amounts in the Collateral Fund.  
Together with amounts on deposit in the Project Fund and the Bond Fund (including the Capitalized 
Interest Account therein), amounts on deposit in the Collateral Fund, including any investment earnings 
thereon, shall be sufficient at all times to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds to the Mandatory 
Tender Date or the Maturity Date, as applicable.  On each date on which principal of or interest on the 
Bonds is due, the Trustee shall transfer a sufficient amount of funds from the Collateral Fund for deposit 
to the Bond Fund to enable the Trustee to make such payments as and when due. 

Allocation and Reallocation of Government Obligations Deposited to the Collateral Fund 
and the Project Fund.  On the Closing Date, the Trustee shall allocate ownership of the Government 
Obligations acquired pursuant to the Indenture and deposited for the benefit of the Project Fund and the 
Collateral Fund as follows:  The Trustee shall allocate to the Collateral Fund a percentage of such 
Government Obligations equal to the amount of the Lender Collateral Deposit by the Lender to the 
Trustee for deposit to the Collateral Fund on the Closing Date divided by the aggregate Outstanding 
principal amount of the Bonds and multiplied by 100 (the “Initial Collateral Fund Percentage”) and the 
remainder (i.e., 100% minus the Initial Collateral Fund Percentage, referred to as the “Initial Project Fund 
Percentage”) shall be allocated to the Project Fund.  On each subsequent month when an additional 
Lender Collateral Deposit is presented by the Lender for deposit to the Collateral Fund (the “Subsequent 
Allocation Date”), the dollar amount of such Lender Collateral Deposit shall be added to all prior Lender 
Collateral Deposits, and the percentage of such Government Obligations allocated to the Collateral Fund 
shall be adjusted to that percentage equal to the aggregate Lender Collateral Deposits through such date 
divided by the aggregate Outstanding principal amount of the Bonds and multiplied by 100 (the 
“Collateral Fund Percentage”) and the remainder (i.e., 100% minus the Collateral Fund Percentage, 
referred to as the “Project Fund Percentage”) shall be allocated to the Project Fund.  On each Subsequent 
Allocation Date, the Trustee shall be deemed to have liquidated that portion of the Government 
Obligations allocated to the Project Fund and purchased equivalent Government Obligations to be 
allocated to the Collateral Fund. 



B-4 

Cost of Issuance Fund.  On or before the Closing Date the Borrower shall deliver the Costs of 
Issuance Deposit to the Trustee.  On the Closing Date, the Trustee shall deposit or transfer, as applicable, 
the Costs of Issuance Deposit into either the Issuer Costs of Issuance Account or the Borrower Costs of 
Issuance Account of the Cost of Issuance Fund as designated in the closing memorandum prepared by the 
Underwriter and executed by the Borrower and the Issuer in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, the amounts deposited in the Cost of Issuance 
Fund shall be expended for Costs of Issuance and for no other purpose.  The Issuer shall deliver to the 
Trustee a Requisition in the form attached to the Indenture, executed by the Issuer, specifying in detail the 
amount which constitutes the Issuer Costs of Issuance to be paid or reserved to be paid under the 
Indenture, and the respective firms or persons to whom such payments are to be made.  The Borrower 
shall deliver to a Trustee the Requisition in the form attached to the Indenture, executed by the Borrower 
(and approved by the Issuer Servicer and the Lender), specifying in detail the amount which constitutes 
Borrower Costs of Issuance to be paid or reserved to be paid under the Indenture, and the respective firms 
or persons to whom such payments are to be made.  The Trustee shall make the payments specified 
therein concurrently with or as soon as may be practicable after the delivery of the Bonds. 

Any moneys remaining in the Cost of Issuance Fund twelve months after the Closing Date and 
not needed to pay still unpaid Costs of Issuance will be returned to the Borrower upon the written 
instruction to the Trustee from the Borrower, in accordance with the provisions described under the 
caption “Payment of Excess Moneys” below.  Upon final disbursement, the Trustee shall close the Cost 
of Issuance Fund. 

Payment of Excess Moneys.  Any amounts remaining in the Cost of Issuance Fund after the 
payment in full of all Costs of Issuance shall be paid to the Borrower in accordance with the provisions 
described under the caption “Cost of Issuance Fund” above, and any amounts remaining in the Collateral 
Fund or the Bond Fund (except for amounts then held by the Trustee in the Bond Fund for payment of 
principal of, or interest on, any of the Bonds) after payment in full of the principal of and interest on, the 
Bonds, payment of any and all fees and expenses due in accordance with the Indenture and the Bond 
Loan Agreement, and payment of all other costs associated with the discharge of the Bonds (or provision 
for payment thereof having been made as provided under the caption “Discharge of Lien” below) shall, 
upon written instruction to the Trustee from the Borrower (with a copy to the Issuer), be paid to the 
Borrower upon the expiration or sooner termination of the term of the Bond Loan Agreement. 

Investment of Funds and Accounts 

On the Closing Date, moneys on deposit in the Project Fund will be held by the Trustee 
uninvested until disbursed to the Borrower on the Closing Date in accordance with an approved 
Requisition. 

Subject to the provisions described under the caption “Allocation and Reallocation of 
Government Obligations Deposited to the Collateral Fund and the Project Fund” above, amounts on 
deposit in the Collateral Fund and the Bond Fund shall be invested at all times in Permitted Investments.   

The Trustee is directed to purchase Government Obligations maturing on or before the 
Mandatory Tender Date with respect to the investment of certain amounts on deposit in the Collateral 
Fund and the Bond Fund (including the Capitalized Interest Account therein), the principal and interest of 
which, along with amounts on deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account, if any, will be sufficient to pay 
principal and interest on the Bonds when due. 



B-5 

  Such instructions shall be detailed in the closing memorandum prepared by the Underwriter.   
All interest earned from the foregoing investments shall be deposited in the Bond Fund. The Trustee has 
been directed to invest any maturing proceeds in the following money market fund as set forth in the 
definition of Permitted Investments: Fidelity Institutional Money Market Treasury Only – Class I. Such 
funds shall remain on deposit to pay interest on the Bonds until the Mandatory Tender Date, on which 
date they will be withdrawn to pay principal and interest on the Bonds. In the event that any investments 
in the Project Fund, the Bond Fund or the Collateral Fund must be liquidated prior to the Mandatory 
Tender Date, such investments shall be liquidated under the Indenture. 

After the Mandatory Tender Date, if the Bonds remain outstanding, the Trustee shall purchase 
Permitted Investments at the direction of the Borrower, the principal and interest of which, along with 
amounts on deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account, if any, will be sufficient to pay principal and 
interest on the Bonds when due. 

Any investment under the Indenture shall comply with Section 148 of the Code.  The Trustee 
may not sell any investment at a loss, unless being sold pursuant to the Indenture or in connection with an 
acceleration as set forth under the caption “Events of Default and Acceleration” below. 

The investments described in each of the above paragraphs shall be made by the Trustee pursuant 
to the direction provided by the Indenture and in accordance with the written direction of the Borrower to 
be provided on the Closing Date, which shall remain in effect until further written direction is provided by 
the Borrower. In the absence of written investment instructions from the Borrower, the Trustee shall 
invest the moneys held in the Bond Fund or Collateral Fund in money market funds described in part (iii) 
of the definition of Permitted Investments. 

Amounts, if any, on deposit in the Cost of Issuance Fund, until disbursed or returned to the 
Borrower pursuant to the Indenture, shall be invested in Permitted Investments, with respect to amounts 
on deposit in the Issuer Costs of Issuance Account at the direction of the Issuer, and with respect to 
amounts on deposit in the Borrower Costs of Issuance Account, at the direction of the Borrower. The 
Expense Fund shall be invested in Permitted Investments at the direction of the Issuer.  In the absence of 
written investment instructions from the Borrower or the Issuer, as applicable, the Trustee shall not be 
responsible or liable for keeping the moneys held in the Cost of Issuance Fund or the Expense Fund under 
the Indenture fully invested in Permitted Investments. 

Investment of Rebate Fund

Any moneys held as part of the Rebate Fund, and not immediately required for the purposes of 
the Rebate Fund, shall be invested or reinvested by the Trustee, at the written direction of the Borrower 
Representative, in Government Obligations or in any money market or short term investment fund 
investing in or consisting solely of and secured by Government Obligations, including any such fund 
maintained by the Trustee or an affiliate thereof having maturities consistent with the need for funds as 
estimated by the Borrower. In the absence of written investment instructions from the Borrower 
Representative, the Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for keeping the moneys held as part of the 
Rebate Fund fully invested in Government Obligations or in any money market or short term investment 
fund investing in or consisting solely of and secured by Government Obligations.

Discharge of Lien 

If and when the Bonds secured by the Indenture shall become due and payable in accordance with 
their terms as provided in the Indenture, or otherwise, and the whole amount of the principal and the 
interest so due and payable upon all of the Bonds, together with all other amounts payable under the 



B-6 

Indenture by the Issuer and all fees and expenses of the Trustee and the Issuer, shall be paid, or provision 
shall have been made for the payment of the same, then the right, title and interest of the Trustee in and to 
the Trust Estate and all covenants, agreements and other obligations of the Issuer to the Bondholders shall 
thereupon cease, terminate and become void and be discharged and satisfied.  In such event, upon request 
of the Borrower, the Trustee shall turn over to the Borrower, so long as there shall have occurred no 
Event of Default which is uncured and continuing, any surplus in the Collateral Fund and all balances 
remaining in any other fund created under the Indenture and shall assign and transfer to the Borrower all 
other property then held by the Trustee under the Indenture and shall execute such documents as may be 
reasonably required by the Borrower. 

If and when the Trustee shall hold sufficient moneys under the Indenture, as verified to the 
Trustee in writing by an Independent public accounting firm of national reputation or other firm similarly 
experienced in performing such computations, to provide for payment of the whole amount of the 
principal and interest due and payable and thereafter to become due and payable upon all the Bonds, 
together with all other amounts (exclusive of amounts in the Rebate Fund or the Expense Fund) payable 
or which may thereafter become payable under the Indenture by the Issuer, notwithstanding that all the 
Bonds have not yet become due and payable and that consequently the right, title and interest of the 
Trustee in and to the Trust Estate shall not have ceased, terminated and become void as described in the 
prior paragraph, the Trustee, on demand of the Borrower, shall deposit with the Borrower, so long as 
there shall have occurred no Event of Default which is uncured and continuing, or to such person, body or 
authority as may be entitled to receive the same, any surplus in the Collateral Fund in excess of the 
amount sufficient to pay the whole amount of the principal and interest due and payable and thereafter to 
become due and payable upon all Bonds together with all other amounts payable or which may thereafter 
become payable under the Indenture by the Issuer or the Borrower. 

All Outstanding Bonds shall, prior to the maturity thereof, be deemed to have been paid within 
the meaning and with the effect described above if (a) there shall have been deposited with the Trustee (as 
verified to the Trustee in writing by an Independent public accounting firm of national reputation or other 
firm similarly experienced in performing such computations) either (i) moneys in an amount which shall 
be sufficient, or (ii) Government Obligations which are not subject to redemption prior to maturity, the 
principal of and the interest on which when due will provide moneys which, together with the moneys, if 
any, deposited with the Trustee at the same time, shall be sufficient, to pay when due the principal and 
interest due and to become due on such Bonds on the maturity date or mandatory tender date, as 
applicable, thereof, and (b) the Borrower shall have given the Trustee, in form satisfactory to it 
irrevocable instructions to give, as soon as practicable, a notice to the Holders of such Bonds and the 
Rating Agency that the deposit required by (a) above has been made with the Trustee and that such Bonds 
are deemed to have been paid in accordance with the provisions described under this caption and stating 
such maturity upon which moneys are to be available for the payment of the principal and interest on such 
Bonds. 

Events of Default and Acceleration 

The following events shall constitute an “Event of Default” under the Indenture: 

(a) any interest on any Bond is not paid on the date on which the same becomes due; 
or 

(b) the principal of any Bond is not paid on the date on which the same becomes due, 
whether at the stated maturity thereof, by acceleration or otherwise; or 

(c) an Event of Default occurs under the Bond Loan Agreement; or 



B-7 

(d) the Issuer fails to duly and promptly perform, comply with, or observe any 
covenant, condition, agreement or provision (other than as described in (a) or (b) above) 
contained in the Bonds or in the Indenture on the part of the Issuer to be performed, and such 
failure shall continue for a period of 90 days after written notice specifying such failure and 
requiring the same to be remedied shall have been given to the Issuer, the Borrower and the 
Investment Member by the Trustee, which notice may be given by the Trustee in its discretion 
and shall be given at the written request of the Holders of not less than 100% in principal amount 
of the Bonds then Outstanding; provided, however, that if such default be such that it is 
correctable but cannot be corrected within 90 days, it shall not be an Event of Default if the 
Issuer, the Borrower or the Investment Member is taking appropriate corrective action to cure 
such failure and if such failure will not impair the security for the Loan or the Bonds. 

If any Loan payment required under the Bond Loan Agreement to avoid a default described in (a) 
or (b) above shall not have been received at the close of business on the last business day preceding the 
day on which payment must be made to avoid a default under such (a) or (b), the Trustee shall give 
telephonic notice of such default to the Borrower and the Investment Member of Borrower, which 
telephonic notice shall be confirmed by electronic, telegraphic or written notice to the Borrower and the 
Investment Member of Borrower. If any other default shall occur under the provisions described under 
this caption, the Trustee shall, within five days after having actual knowledge of such default, give written 
notice of such default to the Issuer, the Borrower, the Investment Member of Borrower, the Holders of the 
Bonds and the Rating Agency.  A default or an Event of Default described in (a) through (d) above shall 
occur even though the Trustee fails to give the notice required by this paragraph, the giving of such notice 
being intended solely to aid in the enforcement of the rights of Bondholders and not in limitation of such 
rights. 

If an Event of Default specified in (a) or (b) above shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee, 
may, and upon written request of the Holders of not less than 51% in aggregate principal amount of the 
Bonds then Outstanding shall, declare the principal of all Bonds then Outstanding to be immediately due 
and payable by notice in writing to that effect delivered to the Issuer, the Borrower, and the Rating 
Agency, and upon such declaration such principal, together with interest accrued thereon, shall become 
immediately due and payable at the place of payment provided in such notice, anything in the Indenture 
or in the Bonds to the contrary notwithstanding. 

The Investment Member shall be entitled (but not obligated) to cure any Event of Default under 
the Indenture within the time frame provided to the Borrower thereunder.  The Issuer and the Trustee 
agree that a cure of any default or Event of Default made or tendered by the Investment Member shall be 
deemed to be a cure by the Borrower and shall be accepted or rejected on the same basis as if made or 
tendered by the Borrower. 

Remedies 

Upon the happening of any Event of Default, then and in every such case the Trustee in its 
discretion may, and upon the written request of the Holders of not less than 51% in principal amount of 
the Bonds then Outstanding and receipt of satisfactory indemnity, shall: 

(a) by mandamus, or other suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce all 
rights of the Bondholders, and require the Issuer or the Borrower to carry out any agreements 
with or for the benefit of the Bondholders and to perform its or their duties under the Act and the 
Documents including, but not limited to, foreclosing upon the security interest in or otherwise 
using funds on deposit in the Collateral Fund; 



B-8 

(b) bring suit upon the Bonds; or 

(c) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in 
violation of the rights of the Bondholders. 

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Indenture to the contrary, upon the occurrence and 
continuance of an Event of Default, before taking any action which may subject the Trustee to liability 
under any environmental law, statute, regulation or similar requirement relating to the environment, the 
Trustee may require that a satisfactory indemnity bond, indemnity or environmental impairment insurance 
be furnished for the payment or reimbursement of all expenses to which it may be put and to protect it 
against all liability resulting from any claims, judgments, damages, losses, penalties, fines, liabilities 
(including strict liability) and expenses which may result from such action. 

No Interference or Impairment of Lender Loan 

Notwithstanding anything in the Indenture to the contrary, none of the Issuer, the Trustee nor any 
other person shall: 

(a) initiate or take any action which may have the effect, directly or indirectly, of 
impairing the ability of the Borrower to timely pay the principal of, interest on, or other amounts 
due and payable under, the Lender Loan; or 

(b) interfere with or attempt to interfere with or influence the exercise by the Lender 
of any of its rights under the Lender Loan, including, without limitation, the Lender remedial 
rights under the Lender Loan upon the occurrence of an event of default by the Borrower under 
the Lender Loan. 

The foregoing prohibitions and limitations shall not be construed to affect the Unassigned Rights 
of the Issuer or to limit the rights of the Issuer to enforce its rights against the Borrower under the 
indemnification provisions of the Indenture so long as it does not violate HUD Program Obligations (as 
defined in the HUD Regulatory Agreement). 

Notwithstanding anything in the Indenture to the contrary, any right of the Issuer or the Trustee to 
take any action at law or in equity to enforce the obligations, covenants and agreements of the Borrower 
under the Indenture which includes any claim for indemnification, damages or any other monetary 
obligation sought to be enforced shall be subject and subordinate in all respects to the repayment in full of 
all amounts due under the Lender Loan Documents. 

No subsequent owner of the Development shall be liable or obligated for the breach or default of 
any obligation of any prior Borrower unless specifically assumed in writing by a subsequent Borrower, 
including, but not limited to, any payment or indemnification obligation.  Such obligations shall be 
personal to the person who was the Borrower at the time the default or breach was alleged to have 
occurred and such person shall remain liable for any and all damages occasioned by the default or breach 
even after such person ceases to be the Borrower with regards the Development. 

Promptly upon determining that an Event of Default under the Indenture has occurred, the Issuer 
or the Trustee shall, by notice in writing to the Lender, inform the Lender that such Event of Default has 
occurred, the nature of such Event of Default and that such Event of Default has been cured or has not 
been cured, but is curable within a reasonable period of time, or is incurable; notwithstanding the 
occurrence of such Event of Default, neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall have, and each of them 



B-9 

acknowledge that they shall not have, any right to cause or direct acceleration of the Lender Loan or to 
foreclose on the Lender Mortgage.   

Amendments to Indenture and Bond Loan Agreement Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders

The Issuer and the Trustee may, from time to time and at any time, without the consent of 
Bondholders, enter into agreements supplemental to the Indenture and the Bond Loan Agreement as 
follows: 

(1) to specify and determine any matters and things relative to Bonds which shall not 
materially adversely affect the interest of the Bondholders; 

(2) to cure any formal defect, omission or ambiguity in the Indenture or the Bond 
Loan Agreement if such action does not materially adversely affect the rights of the Bondholders; 

(3) to grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders any 
additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or security which may lawfully be granted or 
conferred and which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Indenture as theretofore in effect; 

(4) to add to the covenants and agreements of the Issuer in the Indenture or the Bond 
Loan Agreement other covenants and agreements to be observed by the Issuer which are not 
contrary to or inconsistent with the Indenture or the Bond Loan Agreement as theretofore in 
effect; 

(5) to add to the limitations and restrictions in the Indenture or the Bond Loan 
Agreement, other limitations and restrictions to be observed by the Issuer which are not contrary 
to or inconsistent with the Indenture or the Bond Loan Agreement as theretofore in effect; 

(6) to confirm, as further assurance, any pledge under and the subjection to any 
claim, lien or pledge created, or to be created by, the Indenture, of the Revenues or of any other 
moneys, securities or funds; or 

(7) to modify, amend or supplement the Indenture or the Bond Loan Agreement in 
any respect which, in the judgment of the Trustee, is not materially adverse to the interests of the 
owners of the Bonds. 

Before the Issuer shall enter into any agreement supplemental to the Indenture pursuant to the 
provisions described under this caption, there shall have been filed with the Trustee an opinion of Bond 
Counsel stating that such supplemental indenture is authorized or permitted by the Indenture and complies 
with its terms, and that upon adoption it will be valid and binding upon the Issuer in accordance with its 
terms.  The opinion of Bond Counsel filed with the Trustee shall also state that the effectiveness of the 
supplemental indenture will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income 
for federal income tax purposes. 

The Trustee shall send written notice to the Rating Agency and the Borrower of any amendment 
to the Indenture or the Bond Loan Agreement. 

Amendments to Indenture Requiring Consent of Bondholders 

The Holders of not less than 66 2/3% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then 
outstanding shall have the right, from time to time, to consent to and approve the execution and delivery 



B-10 

by the Issuer and the Trustee of any agreement supplemental to the Indenture as shall be deemed 
necessary or desirable by the Issuer and the Trustee for the purposes of modifying, altering, amending, 
adding to or rescinding any of the terms or provisions contained in the Indenture; provided, however, that, 
unless approved in writing by the Holders of all of the Bonds then Outstanding, nothing in the Indenture 
contained shall permit, or be construed as permitting, (i) a change in the terms of maturity of the principal 
of or the interest on any Outstanding Bond, or a reduction in the principal amount of any Outstanding 
Bond or the rate of interest thereon, or (ii) the creation of a claim or lien upon, or a pledge or assignment 
of, the Trust Estate ranking prior to or on a parity with the claim, lien, assignment or pledge created by 
the Indenture, or the release of the Trust Estate or any part thereof (except to the extent permitted 
pursuant to the Documents), or (iii) a preference or priority of any Bond or Bonds over any other Bond or 
Bonds, or (iv) a reduction in the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds required for any action or 
consent by Bondholders set forth in the Indenture, including (without limitation) the aggregate principal 
amount of the Bonds required for consent to such supplemental indentures. The provisions of the 
Indenture shall not limit or otherwise affect the ability of the Issuer to enter into agreements supplemental 
to the Indenture without the consent of the Bondholders pursuant to the provisions described under the 
caption “Amendments to Indenture and Bond Loan Agreement Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders” 
above. 

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank) 



B-11 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND LOAN AGREEMENT 

The Bond Loan Agreement contains terms and conditions relating to the issuance and sale of the 
Bonds certain of which are summarized below.  This summary does not purport to be comprehensive or 
definitive and is subject to all of the provisions of the Bond Loan Agreement to which reference is hereby 
made, copies of which are on file with the Trustee.  This summary uses various terms defined in the Bond 
Loan Agreement and such terms as used herein shall have the same meanings as so defined. 

Loan of Proceeds 

The Issuer agrees, upon the terms and conditions contained in the Bond Loan Agreement and the 
Indenture, to lend to the Borrower the proceeds received by the Issuer from the sale of the Bonds.  Such 
proceeds shall, in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, be disbursed to or on behalf of the 
Borrower from the Project Fund to pay Costs of the Development in the manner consistent with the Tax 
Certificates.  The Trustee shall make disbursements from the Project Fund as provided in the Indenture, 
and pursuant to the receipt of a Requisition in substantially the form attached to the Indenture with respect 
to an Approved Advance in accordance with the Lender Loan Documents and FHA/HUD requirements.  
The Borrower agrees that the moneys transferred by the Trustee from the Project Fund to the Reserve 
Fund established under the Lender Loan Documents shall only be disbursed from the Reserve Fund for 
Qualified Project Costs as permitted by the Tax Certificates. 

Borrower Required to Pay in Event Project Fund Insufficient 

In the event the moneys in the Project Fund available for payment of the Costs of the 
Development are not sufficient to pay the Costs of the Development in full, the Borrower agrees to 
complete the Development and to pay that portion of the Costs of the Development in excess of the 
moneys available therefor in the Project Fund.  The Issuer does not make any warranty, either express or 
implied, that the moneys paid into the Project Fund and available for payment of the Costs of the 
Development will be sufficient to pay all of the Costs of the Development.  The Borrower agrees that if 
after exhaustion of the moneys in the Project Fund, the Borrower should pay any portion of the Costs of 
the Development pursuant to the provisions described under this caption, the Borrower shall not be 
entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Issuer, the Trustee or the Holders of any of the Bonds, 
nor shall the Borrower be entitled to any diminution of the amounts payable under the Bond Loan 
Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms, conditions and covenants described under this 
caption do not in any way affect the ability of the Issuer to pursue its rights and remedies under the 
Guarantor Documents. 

Amounts Payable  

On or prior to the Closing Date, the Borrower shall deliver or cause to be delivered the 
Capitalized Interest Deposit to the Trustee for deposit to the Capitalized Interest Account. 

The Borrower covenants and agrees to repay the Loan on or before any date that any payment of 
interest or principal is required to be made in respect of the Bonds pursuant to the Indenture, until the 
principal of and interest on the Bonds shall have been fully paid or provision for the payment thereof shall 
have been made in accordance with the Indenture, in immediately available funds, a sum which, together 
with any other moneys available for such payment in the Capitalized Interest Account and the Collateral 
Fund, will enable the Trustee to pay the amount payable on such date as principal of (whether at maturity 
or acceleration or otherwise) and interest on the Bonds as provided in the Indenture.  Deposits into the 
Bond Fund for payments by the Trustee of principal and interest on the Bonds from amounts in the 



B-12 

Capitalized Interest Account or the Collateral Fund shall be credited against the Borrower’s obligation to 
pay principal and interest on the Loan.  

It is understood and agreed that all payments of principal and interest payable by the Borrower as 
described under this caption will be assigned by the Issuer (other than Unassigned Rights of the Issuer) in 
accordance with the terms of the Indenture to the Trustee for the benefit of the Holders of the Bonds 
(excluding amounts on deposit in the Rebate Fund).  The Borrower consents to such assignment.   

In the event the Borrower should fail to make any of such payments, the item or installment so in 
default shall continue as an obligation of the Borrower until the amount in default shall have been fully 
paid, and the Borrower agrees to pay the same with interest thereon, to the extent permitted by law, from 
the date when such payment was due, at the rate of interest borne by the Bonds. 

Defaults Defined 

The following shall be “Defaults” under the Bond Loan Agreement and the term “Default” shall 
mean, whenever it is used in the Bond Loan Agreement, any one or more of the following events: 

(a) failure by the Borrower to pay any amount required to be paid under the Bond 
Loan Agreement; or 

(b) failure by the Borrower to observe and perform any covenant, condition or 
agreement on its part to be observed or performed in the Bond Loan Agreement, other than as 
referred to in subsection (a) above or failure by the Borrower to observe and perform any 
covenant, condition or agreement on its part to be observed or performed in the Tax Certificates, 
for a period of 60 days after written notice, specifying such failure and requesting that it be 
remedied, will have been given to the Borrower by the Issuer or the Trustee; provided, with 
respect to any such failure described in this subsection (b), no event of default will be deemed to 
have occurred so long as a course of action adequate to remedy such failure will have been 
commenced within such 60 day period and will thereafter be diligently prosecuted to completion 
and the failure will be remedied thereby; or 

(c) the dissolution or liquidation of the Borrower, or the voluntary initiation by the 
Borrower of any proceeding under any federal or state law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, 
arrangement, reorganization, readjustment of debt or any other form of debtor relief, or the 
initiation against the Borrower of any such proceeding which shall remain undismissed for ninety 
(90) days, or failure by the Borrower to promptly have discharged any execution, garnishment or 
attachment of such consequence as would impair the ability of the Borrower to carry on its 
operations at the Development, or assignment by the Borrower for the benefit of creditors, or the 
entry by the Borrower into an agreement of composition with its creditors or the failure generally 
by the Borrower to pay its debts as they become due; or 

(d) the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default under the Indenture. 

Remedies on Default 

A copy of any notice of default provided to Borrower under any of the Borrower Documents shall 
also be provided to the Investment Member and the Lender.  Whenever any Default as described under 
the caption “Defaults Defined” above shall have happened and be continuing beyond the expiration of 
any applicable cure period, the Trustee, or the Issuer (in the event the Trustee fails to act), may take 
whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to collect the amounts then due and 



B-13 

thereafter to become due, or to enforce performance and observance of any obligation, agreement or 
covenant of the Borrower under the Bond Loan Agreement, the Note, the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement or any other Document in the event of default thereunder.  Any amounts collected pursuant to 
action taken under this caption shall be paid into the Collateral Fund. 

No Remedy Exclusive 

Subject to the provisions described in “APPENDIX B – DOCUMENT SUMMARIES –
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Events of Default and 
Acceleration,” no remedy in the Bond Loan Agreement conferred upon or reserved to the Issuer or the 
Trustee is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every such 
remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under the Bond Loan 
Agreement or existing at law or in equity as of or after the date of the Bond Loan Agreement.  No delay 
or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Default shall impair any such right or power 
nor shall it be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right or power may be exercised from time to 
time and as often as may be deemed expedient.  In order to entitle the Issuer or the Trustee to exercise any 
remedy reserved to it, it shall not be necessary to give any notice, other than such notice as may be 
required in the Bond Loan Agreement.  Such rights and remedies as are given to the Issuer under the 
Bond Loan Agreement shall also extend to the Trustee, and the Trustee and the Holders of the Bonds, 
subject to the provisions of the Indenture, including, but not limited to the Unassigned Rights of the 
Issuer, shall be entitled to the benefit of all covenants and agreements contained in the Bond Loan 
Agreement. 

No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver 

In the event any agreement contained in the Bond Loan Agreement should be breached by either 
party and thereafter waived by the other party, such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so 
waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other breach under the Bond Loan Agreement. 

Right to Cure 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Bond Loan Agreement or otherwise in the 
Borrower Documents, if the Borrower shall, for whatever reason, at any time fail to pay any amount or 
perform any act which it is obligated to pay or perform under any of the Borrower Documents and, as a 
result, a default or event of default occurs or may occur thereunder, the Investment Member shall have the 
right to perform such act or pay such amount on behalf of the Borrower and thereby cure or prevent such 
default or event of default, provided such default or event of default is cured within any applicable cure 
period or grace period provided to the Borrower in the Bond Loan Agreement or otherwise in the 
Borrower Documents.  Any cure of any event of default by the Investment Member under the Borrower 
Documents shall be deemed a cure by Borrower thereunder.

No Interference or Impairment of Lender Loan 

Notwithstanding anything in the Bond Loan Agreement to the contrary, none of the Issuer, the 
Trustee nor any other person shall: 

(a) initiate or take any action which may have the effect, directly or indirectly, of 
impairing the ability of the Borrower to timely pay the principal of, interest on, or other amounts 
due and payable under, the Lender Loan; or 



B-14 

(b) interfere with or attempt to interfere with or influence the exercise by the Lender 
of any of its rights under the Lender Loan, including, without limitation, the Lender remedial 
rights under the Lender Loan upon the occurrence of an event of default by the Borrower under 
the Lender Loan. 

The foregoing prohibitions and limitations shall not be construed to affect the Unassigned Rights 
of the Issuer or to limit the rights of the Issuer to enforce its rights against the Borrower under the 
indemnification provisions of the Bond Loan Agreement so long as it does not cause the Borrower to file 
a petition seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition of or in respect of the 
Borrower under any applicable liquidation, insolvency, bankruptcy, rehabilitation, composition, 
reorganization, conservation or other similar law in effect now or in the future. 

Notwithstanding anything in the Bond Loan Agreement to the contrary, any right of the Issuer or 
the Trustee to take any action at law or in equity to enforce the obligations, covenants and agreements of 
the Borrower under the Bond Loan Agreement which includes any claim for indemnification, damages or 
any other monetary obligation sought to be enforced shall be subject and subordinate in all respects to the 
repayment in full of all amounts due under the Lender Loan Documents. 

No subsequent owner of the Development shall be liable or obligated for the breach or default of 
any obligation of any prior Borrower unless specifically assumed in writing by a subsequent Borrower, 
including, but not limited to, any payment or indemnification obligation.  Such obligations shall be 
personal to the person who was the Borrower at the time the default or breach was alleged to have 
occurred and such person shall remain liable for any and all damages occasioned by the default or breach 
even after such person ceases to be the Borrower with regards the Development. 

Promptly upon determining that an Event of Default under the Bond Loan Agreement has 
occurred, the Issuer or the Trustee shall, by notice in writing to the Lender, inform the Lender that such 
Event of Default has occurred, the nature of such Event of Default and that such Event of Default has 
been cured or has not been cured, but is curable within a reasonable period of time, or is incurable; 
notwithstanding the occurrence of such Event of Default, neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall have, and 
each of them acknowledge that they shall not have, any right to cause or direct acceleration of the Lender 
Loan or to foreclose on the Lender Mortgage.   

No Pecuniary Liability of the Issuer 

All obligations of the Issuer incurred under any of the Bond Documents shall be limited 
obligations of the Issuer, payable solely and only from the Trust Estate.  The Bonds shall be payable 
solely from the Revenues and other funds pledged under the Indenture for the payment of the Bonds, and 
no owner or owners of any of the Bonds shall ever have the right to compel any exercise of the taxing 
power of the State or any political subdivision or other public body of the State, nor to enforce the 
payment of the Bonds against any development of the Issuer, the State or any such political subdivision or 
other public body, except as provided in the Indenture.  No member, officer, agent, director, employee, or 
attorney of the Issuer, including any person executing the Bond Loan Agreement or the Indenture on 
behalf of the Issuer, shall be liable personally under the Bond Loan Agreement or the Indenture for any 
reason relating to the issuance of the Bonds.  No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of, 
premium, if any, or the interest on the Bonds, or for any claim based on the Bonds, or otherwise in respect 
of the Bonds, or based in or in respect of the Bond Loan Agreement or any amendment to the Bond Loan 
Agreement, against any member, officer, agent, director, employee or attorney of the Issuer, as such, of 
the Issuer or any successor whether by virtue of any constitution, statute or rule of law, or by enforcement 
of any assessment or penalty or otherwise; all such liability is, by acceptance of the Bond Loan 



B-15 

Agreement and as part of the consideration for the issuance of Bonds, expressly waived and released.  
The Issuer has no taxing power.

Amendments, Changes and Modifications 

Subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds and prior to their payment in full (or provision for the 
payment thereof having been made in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture), and except as 
otherwise expressly provided in the Bond Loan Agreement, the Bond Loan Agreement may not be 
effectively amended, changed, modified, altered or terminated without the written consent of the Trustee, 
in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture.  See “APPENDIX B – DOCUMENT SUMMARIES –
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Amendments to Indenture and 
Bond Loan Agreement Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders” and “Amendments to Indenture 
Requiring Consent of Bondholders” as provided herein. 

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank) 



B-16 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 

The Land Use Restriction Agreement contains terms and conditions relating to the issuance and 
sale of Bonds under it, including various covenants and security provisions, certain of which are 
summarized below.  This summary does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive and is subject to all 
of the provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement which reference is hereby made, a copy of which 
is on file with the Trustee.  This summary uses various terms defined in the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement and such terms as used herein shall have the same meanings as so defined. 

The Borrower will execute the Land Use Restriction Agreement with respect to the Development.  
The Land Use Restriction Agreement contains representations and covenants of the Borrower concerning 
the acquisition, rehabilitation, and equipping of the Development and the tax-exempt status of the Bonds 
that must be complied with continuously subsequent to the date of issuance of the Bonds in order that 
interest on the Bonds be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  

As used herein: 

“Affiliated Party” of a person means a person such that (i) the relationship between such persons 
would result in a disallowance of losses under Section 267 or 707(b) of the Code, or (ii) such persons are 
members of the same controlled group of corporations as defined in Section 1563(a) of the Code, except 
that “more than 50 percent” shall be substituted for “at least 80 percent” each place it appears therein. 

“Applicable Income Limit” means sixty percent (60%) of area median gross income (within the 
meaning of Section 142(d) of the Code) for the City of Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida, Standard 
Metropolitan Statistical Area, as determined by the Secretary of the United States Department of the 
Treasury in a manner consistent with determinations of lower income families and area median gross 
income under Section 8 of the Housing Act, as amended (or if such program is terminated, under such 
program as in effect immediately before such termination), including adjustments for family size. 

“Available Units” means residential units in a residential rental project that are actually occupied 
and residential units in the Development that are unoccupied and have been leased at least once after 
becoming available for occupancy, provided that (a) in the case of an acquisition of an existing residential 
rental project, a residential unit that is unoccupied on the later of (i) the date the Development is acquired 
or (ii) the issue date of the First Bonds, is not an Available Unit and does not become an Available Unit 
until it has been leased for the first time after such date, and (b) a residential unit that is not available for 
occupancy due to renovations is not an Available Unit and does not become an Available Unit until it has 
been leased for the first time after the renovations are completed. 

“Bond Counsel” means a firm of nationally recognized standing in the field of municipal finance 
law whose opinions are generally accepted by purchasers of public obligations and who is acceptable to 
the Trustee.  

“Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance” means the certificate required to be delivered by 
the Borrower to the Issuer Servicer and the Issuer pursuant to the Regulatory Agreement. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, including, 
when appropriate, the statutory predecessor thereof, or any applicable corresponding provisions of any 
future laws of the United States of America relating to federal income taxation, and except otherwise 
provided herein or required by the context hereof, includes interpretations thereof contained or set forth in 
the applicable regulations of the Department of Treasury (including applicable final or temporary 
regulations and also including regulations issued pursuant to the statutory predecessor of the Code, the 



B-17 

applicable rulings of the Internal Revenue Service (including published Revenue Rulings and private 
letter rulings), and applicable court decisions). 

“County” means Duval County, Florida. 

“Current Annual Family Income” is determined in accordance with Section 8 of the Housing Act, 
as amended (or, if such program is terminated, under such program as in effect immediately before such 
termination), and includes wages and salaries, overtime pay, commissions, fees, tips and bonuses and 
other forms of compensation for personal services, net income from operation of a business or a 
profession, interest, dividends and other net income of any kind from real or personal property, periodic 
payments from Social Security, annuities, insurance policies, retirement funds, pensions, disability or 
death benefits or similar types of periodic receipts, payments in lieu of earnings, such as unemployment 
and disability compensation, worker’s compensation and severance pay, welfare assistance, periodic and 
determinable allowances such as alimony and child support and regular pay, special pay and allowances 
of a member of the Armed Forces, and other forms of income described in the Income Certification to be 
provided by the Borrower to the Issuer Servicer and the Issuer as provided in the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement, but does not include earnings of children under 18, payments received for care of foster 
children or adults, lump sum insurance payments, inheritances, capital gains and settlements for personal 
or property losses, amounts received specifically for, or in reimbursement of, the cost of medical 
expenses, income of a live-in aide, certain student financial assistance, special pay to a member of the 
Armed Forces who is exposed to hostile fire, amounts received under certain training programs and other 
social service programs, temporary, nonrecurring or sporadic income or other forms of income that the 
Income Certification specifies may be excluded. 

“Development” means multifamily residential rental housing developments to be commonly 
known as Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments, located on the Land and financed, in part, with 
proceeds of the Bonds pursuant to the Loan Agreement. 

“Eligible Persons” means one or more natural persons or a family, irrespective of race, creed, 
religion, color, national origin, marital status, handicap or sex. 

“Exempt Elderly Unit” means a unit within the Development meeting the requirements for 
exemption from the prohibition against familial status discrimination contained in Title VIII of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1968 (known as the Fair Housing Act), as amended. 

“First Bonds” means the first issue of bonds to which Section 142(d) of the Code applies issued 
to finance the acquisition of a residential rental project. 

“Housing Act” means the United States Housing Act of 1937, as amended from time to time, any 
successor legislation, and all implementing regulations issued thereunder or in furtherance thereof. 

“Indenture” means the Trust Indenture, dated as of the date of the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement, between the Issuer and the Trustee, pursuant to which the Bonds are issued, and any 
amendments and supplements thereto. 

“Issuer Servicer” means, initially, Seltzer Management Group, Inc., or its successors or assigns 
and thereafter, any Issuer Servicer employed by the Issuer to service the Loan and to monitor the 
Borrower’s compliance with the requirements of the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Indenture, the 
Bond Loan Agreement and the Construction and Loan Servicing Agreement. 



B-18 

“Land” means the real property located in Duval County, Florida, described in an exhibit to the 
Land Use Restriction Agreement. 

“Loan” means the loan made by the Issuer to the Borrower made pursuant to the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement and evidenced by the Note. 

“Loan Agreement” means that certain Loan Agreement entered into between the Borrower and 
the Issuer, dated as of December 1, 2018, as amended or supplemented from time to time. 

“Lower-Income Persons” means Eligible Persons whose Current Annual Family Income does not 
exceed the Applicable Income Limit; provided, however, that the occupants of a unit shall not be 
considered to be Lower-Income Persons if all of the occupants of such unit are students (as defined in 
Section 152(f)(2) of the Code), no one of whom is entitled to file a joint return under Section 6013 of the 
Code.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, a dwelling unit shall not fail to be treated as a dwelling unit that is 
occupied by Lower-Income Persons merely because such dwelling unit is occupied (a) by an individual 
who is a student and (i) receiving assistance under Title IV of the Social Security Act, (ii) was previously 
under the care and placement responsibility of the State agency program responsible for administering a 
plan under Part B or Part E of Title IV of the Social Security Act, or (iii) enrolled in a job training 
program receiving assistance under the Job Training Partnership Act or under other similar federal, State 
or local laws, or (b) entirely by full-time students if such students are (i) single parents and their children 
and such parents are not dependents of another individual and such children are not dependents of another 
individual other than a parent of such children, or (ii) married and file a joint return. 

“Mortgage” means the first-lien priority Mortgage, Assignment of Rents and Leases, Security 
Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of December 1, 2018, from the Owner for the benefit of the Issuer 
and assigned to the Trustee to secure the repayment of the Note. 

“Note” means the promissory note of the Borrower, dated the Closing Date, to be delivered to the 
Issuer and assigned to the Trustee. 

“Operating Agreement” means the [Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 
Agreement] of the Borrower dated as of December 1, 2018 as the same may be amended from time to 
time. 

“Qualified Project Period” means the period beginning on the later of (i) the first day on which at 
least 10% of the units in the Development are first occupied and (ii) the date the Bonds are issued, and 
ending on the latest of (a) the date that is fifteen years after the date on which at least 50% of the units in 
the Development are first occupied, (b) the first date on which no tax-exempt private activity bond issued 
with respect to the Development is outstanding (within the meaning of the Code); (c) the date on which 
any assistance provided with respect to the Development under Section 8 of the Housing Act terminates 
and (d) the date which is fifty (50) years from the date of issuance of the Bonds. 

“Regulations” means the Income Tax Regulations issued under the Code, as applicable (including 
applicable final regulations or temporary regulations). 

“State” means the State of Florida. 

Residential Rental Property 

The Borrower has declared its understanding and intent that, during the term of the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement, the Development is to be owned, managed, and operated, as a “project for 



B-19 

residential rental property” as such phrase is utilized in Section 142(d) of the Code and as a “qualifying 
housing development” as defined in Section 159.603(6), Florida Statutes.  To that end, the Borrower has 
represented, covenanted, and agreed as follows: 

(a) The Development will be acquired and rehabilitated for the purpose of providing 
multifamily rental housing, and the Borrower shall own, manage, and operate the Development as 
a qualified residential rental project, all in accordance with Section 142(d) of the Code and 
Treasury Regulations Section 1.103-8(b), as the same may be amended from time to time. 

(b) Each residential unit in the Development (tested for this purpose separately for 
each non-contiguous parcel) shall be contained in one or more buildings or structures located on 
the Land and shall be similarly designed, furnished and constructed (except as to number of 
bedrooms and bathrooms), each of which will contain separate and complete facilities for living, 
sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation for an individual or a family, including a living area, a 
sleeping area, bathing and sanitation facilities and cooking facilities equipped with a cooking 
range or microwave oven, refrigerator and sink, all of which are separate and distinct from the 
other units. 

(c) None of the units in the Development will at any time be (1) utilized on a 
transient basis, (2) used as a hotel, motel, dormitory, fraternity or sorority house, rooming house, 
nursing home, hospital, sanitarium, rest home, trailer court or park, or (3) rented for initial lease 
periods of less than six (6) months.  No part of the Development will, at any time, be owned or 
used by a cooperative housing corporation or converted to condominiums.    

(d) All of the units will be rented or available for rent on a continuous basis to 
members of the general public (other than units for a resident manager or maintenance 
personnel), and the Borrower will not give preference to any particular class or group of persons 
in renting the units in the Development, except to the extent that units are Exempt Elderly Units 
or are required to be leased or rented to Lower-Income Persons.  Lower-Income Persons who are 
residents of the Development will have equal access to and enjoyment of all common facilities of 
the Development at all times.  The Borrower will not discriminate against children of any age 
when renting the units in the Development (except for units that are Exempt Elderly Units).   

(e) Each non-contiguous parcel of Land consists separately of a parcel of real 
property or parcels of real property that are contiguous except for the interposition of a road, 
street, stream or similar property, and the Development comprises buildings, structures and 
facilities that are geographically contiguous and functionally related.  Any common facilities 
financed with proceeds of the Bonds (such as swimming pools, recreational facilities, parking 
areas and other facilities which are reasonably required for the Development, for example, 
heating and cooling equipment, trash disposal equipment or units for resident managers or 
maintenance or security personnel) are functionally related and subordinate to the Development 
and are commensurate with its size and intended use.   

(f) The Borrower or an Affiliated Party of the Borrower shall not occupy any of the 
units in the Development; provided, however, that the employee of the Borrower or an Affiliated 
Party of the Borrower may occupy a unit in a building or structure in the Development that 
contains five or more units if such employee of the Borrower or an Affiliated Party of the 
Borrower is a resident manager or other necessary employee (e.g., maintenance and security 
personnel).  No more than two units in the Development shall be occupied by resident managers 
or maintenance or security personnel.   



B-20 

(g) None of the proceeds of the Bonds (including investment earnings) may be used 
to provide a skybox or any other private luxury box, an airplane, or a store the principal business 
of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off premises or a facility used 
primarily for gambling. 

The requirements described under this caption shall remain in effect during the term of the Land 
Use Restriction Agreement (as described under the caption “Term” below). 

Lower-Income Persons 

The Borrower has represented, warranted and covenanted as follows: 

(a) At all times during the Qualified Project Period, with respect to the non-
contiguous parcels and buildings thereon constituting the Development, individually, not less 
than one hundred percent (100%) of the Available Units in the Development, other than those 
units occupied by the Borrower or an Affiliated Party to the Borrower pursuant to paragraph (f) 
under the caption “Residential Rental Property” above, shall be occupied (or held available for 
occupancy) on a continuous basis by persons or families at the Applicable Income Limit who are 
Lower-Income Persons. This occupancy requirement is referred to as the “Lower-Income 
Requirement”).  

(b) For purposes of paragraph (a) above, a unit occupied by an individual or family 
who at the commencement of the occupancy of such unit is a Lower-Income Person shall be 
counted as occupied by a Lower-Income Person, as applicable, during such individual’s or 
family’s tenancy in such unit, even though such individual or family ceases to be a Lower-Income 
Person.  However, a Lower-Income Person whose income as of the most recent Income 
Certification (as described in the Land Use Restriction Agreement) exceeds one hundred forty 
percent (140%) of the Applicable Income Limit shall not continue to be treated as a Lower-
Income Person if after delivery of such Income Certification, but before the delivery of the next 
Income Certification, any unit in the building (within the meaning of Section 42 of the Code) is 
occupied by a new resident who is not a Lower-Income Person. In addition, a unit that was 
occupied by a Lower-Income Person shall be counted as occupied by a Lower-Income Person 
until it is reoccupied other than for a temporary period of not more than thirty-one (31) days, at 
which time the unit shall be considered to be occupied by a Lower-Income Person only if the 
individual or family then occupying the unit satisfies the definition of a Lower-Income Person. 

Sale and Conversion of Development 

The Borrower shall not sell, assign, convey or transfer any material portion of the land, fixtures or 
improvements constituting a part of the Development, or any material portion of the personal property 
constituting a portion of the Development during the term of the Land Use Restriction Agreement, 
without (i) the prior written consent of the Issuer, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, and 
(ii) the Trustee and the Issuer having received an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that, in reliance 
upon such factual certificates as it deems appropriate and subject to such qualifications as may be 
generally acceptable in the industry, such sale, conveyance, transfer, or assignment will not result, under 
then-existing law, in interest on the Bonds, or any part thereof, becoming includable in the gross income 
of the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes.  If a material portion of the Development financed 
with proceeds from the Loan is sold during the term of the Land Use Restriction Agreement and such 
material portion of such Development consisted of personal property or equipment, the proceeds from the 
sale thereof may be used by the Borrower to purchase property of similar function to be used in 
connection with the Development.  If such material portion of such Development consists of real property 



B-21 

and improvements, the purchaser thereof must execute and deliver to the Borrower and the Trustee a 
document in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer pursuant to which such purchaser 
shall agree to operate such property in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement.  

The Borrower shall not sell or otherwise transfer the Development in whole, nor shall there be 
substituted a new manager of the Borrower or a change in the controlling ownership interest in the 
manager of the Borrower, or other merger, transfer or consolidation of the Borrower, unless (A) the 
Borrower has received the prior written consent of the Issuer (which shall respond within a reasonable 
period of time and shall not  unreasonably withhold such consent), (B) the Borrower shall not be in 
default under the Land Use Restriction Agreement, (C) it is reasonably expected that continued operation 
of the Development will comply with the requirements of the Land Use Restriction Agreement, (D) the 
subsequent purchaser or assignee shall execute any document reasonably requested by the Issuer with 
respect to assuming the obligations of the Borrower under the Land Use Restriction Agreement, (E) the 
Issuer shall not have any reason to believe that the purchaser or assignee is incapable, financially or 
otherwise, of complying with or may be unwilling to comply with, the terms of all agreements binding on 
such purchaser or assignee relating to the Development, (F) the purchaser or assignee, or new manager or 
entity acquiring a controlling interest in the manager of the Borrower, shall have satisfied such other 
conditions as may be reasonably required by the Issuer under the circumstances, (G) the purchaser or 
assignee shall have first executed a document in recordable form addressed to the Issuer and the Trustee 
to the effect that such purchaser or assignee will comply with the terms and conditions of the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement and the Bond Loan Agreement (to the extent still in effect), (H) the Trustee and 
the Issuer shall receive an opinion of counsel reasonably acceptable to the Issuer to the effect that the 
purchaser’s or assignee’s obligations under the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Bond Loan 
Agreement, the Note and any other financing documents to the extent that such documents are still in 
effect relating to the Bonds (collectively, the “Loan Documents”) are enforceable against such purchaser 
or assignee in accordance with their terms, and (I) the Trustee and the Issuer shall have received an 
opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that, in reliance upon such factual certificates as it deems 
appropriate and subject to such qualifications as may be generally acceptable in the industry, such sale, 
transfer, disposition or assignment will not result, under then-existing law, in interest on the Bonds, or 
any part thereof, not being excludable from the gross income of the holders thereof for federal income tax 
purposes.   

It is expressly stipulated and agreed that any sale, transfer or other disposition of the 
Development in violation of the provisions described under this caption shall be ineffective to relieve the 
Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Documents.  In the event that the purchaser or assignee shall 
assume the obligations of the Borrower under the Loan, the Bond Loan Agreement and the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement, the Borrower shall be released from its obligations thereunder, other than its 
obligations under the Land Use Restriction Agreement and the Bond Loan Agreement arising prior to 
such date of assumption (unless such obligations are assumed by the purchaser or transferee).   

Notwithstanding anything described under this caption to the contrary, the restrictions set forth 
above on the sale, transfer or other disposition or encumbrance of the Development or any portion thereof 
shall not be applicable to any of the following:  (i) leases of apartment units as contemplated by the Land 
Use Restriction Agreement, (ii) grants of utility related easements and service or concession related leases 
or easements, including, without limitation, coin-operated laundry service leases and/or television cable 
easements on the Development, providing same are granted in connection with the operation of the 
Development as contemplated by the Land Use Restriction Agreement, (iii) any sale or conveyance to a 
condemning governmental authority as a direct result of the condemnation or a governmental taking or a 
threat thereof, (iv) the placing of a mortgage lien, assignment of rents or security interests on or pertaining 
to the Development after the payment of all Bonds and the release of the Lender Mortgage, (v) any 



B-22 

transfer of membership interests in the Borrower, other than with respect to the manager, or in the entities 
which are members in the Borrower, other than with respect to the manager, (vi) the removal or 
substitution of the manager of the Borrower, for cause, in certain events as set forth in the Operating 
Agreement, with a designee of the investment member, provided however, that such manager shall be an 
affiliate of the investment member and provided, further, that the Borrower retains ownership of the 
Development, or (vii) transfer of membership interests in the manager among the current members or to a 
trust for the benefit of the heirs of the current members of the manager. 

Term 

The Land Use Restriction Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the expiration of 
the Qualified Project Period; provided, however, that the Land Use Restriction Agreement shall 
automatically terminate in the event of involuntary noncompliance with the provisions of the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement caused by fire or other casualty, seizure, requisition, foreclosure or transfer by 
deed in lieu of foreclosure, change in a federal law or an action of a federal agency that prevents the 
Issuer from enforcing the provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement, or condemnation or a 
similar event (as determined by Bond Counsel), but only if within a reasonable period thereafter (i) the 
Bonds are retired in full or (ii) the proceeds received as a result of such event are used to finance a 
development that complies with the provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement and any other 
applicable requirements of the Code and the Regulations.  In the case of foreclosure or transfer of title by 
deed in lieu of foreclosure or similar event (as determined by Bond Counsel), such termination will cease 
to be in effect if, at any time during the remainder of the Qualified Project Period following such event, 
the Borrower or an Affiliated Party to the Borrower, obtains an ownership interest in the Development for 
federal tax purposes. 

Correction of Noncompliance

The failure of the Borrower to comply with any of the provisions of the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement shall not be deemed a default thereunder unless such failure has not been corrected during the 
60-day period immediately following the date that the Borrower, or with respect to the requirements 
described under the captions “Residential Rental Property” or “Lower-Income Persons” above, any of the 
parties to the Land Use Restriction Agreement, learned of such failure or should have learned of such 
failure by the exercise of reasonable diligence (which 60 day period will be extended if (i) such failure 
cannot reasonably be corrected within such 60 day period, (ii) diligent action to correct such failure 
commences within such 60 day period, (iii) such action is diligently pursued until such failure is 
corrected, and (iv) with respect to a failure to comply with any of the requirements described under the 
captions “Residential Rental Property” or “Lower-Income Persons” above, the Borrower delivers to the 
Issuer and the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such longer cure period will not 
adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes).  Not later than the third business day next succeeding the day on which the Trustee or the 
Issuer Servicer learns of such failure, the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer, as applicable, shall attempt with 
reasonable diligence to notify the Borrower of such failure by telephonic communication; provided, that 
failure of the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer to notify the Borrower shall not relieve the Borrower from any 
of its obligations under the Land Use Restriction Agreement.  The Borrower’s investment member shall 
have the right, but not the obligation, to cure any default.  The Issuer Servicer shall give written notice to 
the Borrower’s investment member of such default. 

Remedies; Enforceability 

(a) The benefits of the Land Use Restriction Agreement shall inure to, and may be enforced 
by, respectively, (i) the Issuer and the Trustee, (ii) the holders of the Bonds and their successors and 



B-23 

assigns to the extent permitted by the Indenture, and (iii) solely as to certain provisions of the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement, the Lower-Income Persons and their successors who shall reside or be eligible to 
reside in units set aside for their occupancy pursuant to the provisions described under the caption 
“Lower-Income Persons” above for the period set forth under the caption “Term” above, whether or not 
the Loan may be paid in full, and whether or not the Bonds are Outstanding.   If a material violation of 
any of the provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement occurs and is not cured within the period 
provided under the caption “Correction of Noncompliance” above, any or all of such parties may institute 
and prosecute any proceeding at law or in equity to abate, prevent or enjoin any such violation or 
attempted violation, or to compel specific performance under the Land Use Restriction Agreement, it 
being recognized that the beneficiaries of the Borrower’s obligations thereunder cannot be adequately 
compensated by monetary damages in the event of the Borrower’s default.  The remedies of the 
beneficiaries of the Land Use Restriction Agreement other than the Issuer (as provided in paragraph (b) 
below) shall be limited to those described in the preceding sentence.   

(b) In addition to such other remedies as may be provided for in the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement, if a violation of any of the provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement occurs which is 
not corrected during the period provided under the caption “Correction of Noncompliance” above, the 
Issuer (and only the Issuer) shall have the right (but not the obligation), and is specifically authorized by 
the Borrower, to terminate the property manager and subject to the approval of the Borrower’s investment 
member during the 15-year tax credit compliance period, appoint a new property manager of the 
Development to operate the Development in accordance with the Land Use Restriction Agreement and 
the Bond Loan Agreement and take all actions necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Issuer, to cure 
any default by the Borrower under the Land Use Restriction Agreement, and such new property manager 
assuming such management thereunder shall be paid by or on behalf of the Borrower, from the rents, 
revenues, profits and income from the Development, a management fee not to exceed the prevailing 
management fee paid to managers of similar housing projects in the area of the County.  Subject to the 
provisions described under the caption “Term” above, the provisions described under this caption are 
imposed upon and made applicable to the Land and shall run with the Land and shall be enforceable 
against the Borrower or any other person or entity that has or had an ownership interest in the 
Development at the time of such violation or attempted violation.  No delay in enforcing the provisions of 
the Land Use Restriction Agreement as to any breach or violation shall impair, damage or waive the right 
of any party entitled to enforce the provisions thereof or to obtain relief against or recover for the 
continuation or repetition of such breach or violation or any similar breach or violation of the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement at any later time or times.  All rights and remedies provided in the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement are cumulative, non-exclusive and in addition to any and all rights and remedies 
that the parties and beneficiaries thereof may otherwise have. 

The Borrower agrees that the appointment of a new property manager may be necessary to serve 
the public purpose for which the Bonds were issued and to preserve the exclusion from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes of interest on the Bonds following a violation of the provisions of the Land 
Use Restriction Agreement which is not cured within the period provided under the caption “Correction 
of Noncompliance” above. The Borrower expressly consents to, and agrees not to contest, the 
appointment of a new property manager to operate the Development following a violation by the 
Borrower of the provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement which is not cured as provided under 
the caption “Correction of Noncompliance” above and thereby waives any and all defenses and objections 
that might otherwise be raised to any such appointment of a new property manager in accordance with the 
terms of the Land Use Restriction Agreement.  The Borrower further agrees that the Issuer shall have the 
right to require the Borrower to remove any manager or managing agent whose actions or inactions 
present a material risk of a breach of the agreements of the Borrower in the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement, including, without limitation, a material risk of an adverse impact on the excludability from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Bonds and which action or inaction is not 



B-24 

being corrected as provided for under the caption “Correction of Noncompliance” above, upon such 
manager or managing agent being given thirty (30) days’ written notice of any violation of the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement, and such right shall be expressly acknowledged in any contract between the 
Borrower and any such manager or managing agent.  The Borrower covenants and agrees to diligently 
and in good faith pursue the appointment and, if required, approval of such a replacement manager or 
managing agent. 

[HUD Rider 

The HUD Rider (the “Rider”) attached to the Land Use Restriction Agreement forms an integral 
part of the Land Use Restriction Agreement and the terms thereof have been incorporated into the Land 
Use Restriction Agreement. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

“HUD” means the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

“HUD Regulatory Agreement” means the Regulatory Agreement between Borrower and HUD 
with respect to the Development, as the same may be supplemented, amended or modified from time to 
time. 

“Lender” means Highland Commercial Mortgage, its successors and assigns. 

“Mortgage Loan” means the mortgage loan made by Lender to the Borrower pursuant to the 
Mortgage Loan Documents with respect to the Development. 

“Mortgage Loan Documents” means the Security Instrument, the HUD Regulatory Agreement 
and all other documents required by HUD or Lender in connection with the Mortgage Loan. 

“National Housing Act” means the National Housing Act of 1934, as amended. 

“Program Obligations” has the meaning set forth in the Security Instrument. 

“Residual Receipts” has the meaning specified in the HUD Regulatory Agreement. 

“Security Instrument” means the mortgage or deed of trust from Borrower in favor of Lender, as 
the same may be supplemented, amended or modified. 

“Surplus Cash” has the meaning specified in the HUD Regulatory Agreement. 

1. Notwithstanding anything in the Land Use Restriction Agreement to the contrary, the 
provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement are expressly subordinate to (i) the Mortgage Loan 
Documents, including without limitation the Security Instrument, and (ii) Program Obligations (the 
Mortgage Loan Documents and Program Obligations are collectively referred to as the “HUD 
Requirements”).  The Borrower covenants that it will not take or permit any action that would result in a 
violation of the Code, HUD Requirements or the Land Use Restriction Agreement.  In the event of any 
conflict between the provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement and the provisions of the HUD 
Requirements, HUD shall be and remains entitled to enforce the HUD Requirements.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, nothing in the Rider limits the Issuer’s ability to enforce the terms of the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement, provided such terms do not conflict with statutory provisions of the National 
Housing Act or the regulations related thereto.  The Borrower represents and warrants that to the best of 



B-25 

the Borrower’s knowledge the Land Use Restriction Agreement impose no terms or requirements that 
conflict with the National Housing Act and related regulations. 

2. In the event of foreclosure, or deed in lieu of foreclosure, the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement (including without limitation, any and all land use covenants and/or restrictions contained 
therein) shall automatically terminate; provided, however, that notwithstanding any provision in the 
Rider, the Land Use Restriction Agreement or the Mortgage Loan Documents to the contrary, the 
preceding provisions of this sentence shall cease to apply and the restrictions contained in the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement shall be automatically reinstated if, at any time subsequent to such foreclosure or 
transfer by deed in lieu of foreclosure, the Borrower or any related person (within the meaning of Section 
1.103-10(e) of the Treasury Regulations) obtains an ownership interest in the Development for federal tax 
purposes. 

3. Borrower and the Issuer acknowledge that Borrower’s failure to comply with the 
covenants provided in the Land Use Restriction Agreement does not and shall not serve as a basis for 
default under the HUD Requirements, unless a default also arises under the HUD Requirements.   

4. Except for the Issuer’s reporting requirement, in enforcing the Land Use Restriction 
Agreement, the Issuer will not file any claim against the Development, the Mortgage Loan proceeds, any 
reserve or deposit required by HUD in connection with the Security Instrument or HUD Regulatory 
Agreement, or the rents or other income from the property other than a claim against: 

i. Available surplus cash, if the Borrower is a for-profit entity; 

ii. Available distributions of surplus cash and residual receipts authorized for 
release by HUD, if the Borrower is a limited distribution entity; or 

iii. Available residual receipts authorized by HUD, if the Borrower is a non-profit 
entity, or 

iv. A HUD-approved collateral assignment of the HAP Contract. 

5. For so long as the Mortgage Loan is outstanding, Borrower and Issuer shall not further 
amend the Land Use Restriction Agreement, with the exception of clerical errors or administrative 
correction of non-substantive matters, without HUD’s prior written consent. 

6. Subject to the HUD Regulatory Agreement, the Issuer may require the Borrower to 
indemnify and hold the Issuer harmless from all loss, cost, damage and expense arising from any claim or 
proceeding instituted against Issuer relating to the subordination and covenants set forth in the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement; provided, however, that Borrower’s obligation to indemnify and hold the Issuer 
harmless shall be limited to available surplus cash and/or residual receipts of the Borrower. 

7. No action shall be taken in accordance with the rights granted in the Rider to preserve the 
tax exemption of the interest on the notes or bonds, or prohibiting the Borrower from taking any action 
that might jeopardize the tax-exemption except in strict accord with Program Obligations.] 

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank)



C-1 

APPENDIX C 

PROPOSED FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 

On the date of issuance of the Bonds in definitive form, Bryant Miller Oliver P.A., Bond Counsel, 
propose to render their approving opinions in substantially the following form:

_________ __, 2018 

Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 
Jacksonville, Florida 

$22,000,000* 
Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds 
(Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as Bond Counsel to the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the “Issuer”) in 
connection with the issuance and sale by the Issuer of its $22,000,000* aggregate principal amount of 
Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), 
Series 2018 (the “Bonds”).  The Issuer is a public body corporate and politic, established pursuant to 
Chapter 159, Part IV, Florida Statutes, as amended, Chapter 52 Ordinance Code of the City of 
Jacksonville, Florida (the “City”), as amended, and Ordinance 2014-185-E of the City (collectively, the 
“Act”).  The proceeds of the Bonds are being used to fund a loan by the Issuer to LRC Desert-Silver, 
LLC, a Florida limited liability company (the “Borrower”), to finance a portion of the costs of the 
acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping of a multifamily rental housing project (the “Project”) to be 
occupied by “persons or families of low, moderate or middle income,” within the meaning of the Florida 
Housing Finance Authority Law, Sections 159.601-159.623, Florida Statutes.  

In connection with the delivery of this opinion, we have examined the following:  the Act; an 
executed copy of the Trust Indenture (the “Indenture”) by and between the Issuer and The Bank of New 
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., Jacksonville, Florida, as trustee (the “Trustee”), dated as of 
December 1, 2018; an executed copy of the Loan Agreement, by and between the Issuer and the 
Borrower, dated as of December 1, 2018 (the “Loan Agreement”); and an executed copy of the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2018 (the “Regulatory Agreement”), by and among the 
Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower.  In addition, we have examined and relied upon such other 
agreements, documents and opinions, including certificates and representations of public officials, 
officers and representatives of the Borrower, and various other parties participating in this transaction, as 
we have deemed relevant and necessary in connection with the opinions set forth below.  All terms used 
herein in capitalized form and not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meanings as ascribed to 
them under the Indenture and the Loan Agreement. 

The Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer, payable, as to principal, premium (if any), and 
interest, solely from revenues derived from the operation of the Project arising from the pledge and 
assignment by the Issuer to the Trustee under the Indenture of certain payments to be made by the 
Borrower under the Loan Agreement. The Issuer has no taxing power.  The Bonds shall not constitute an 
obligation, either general or special, of the City, the State of Florida (the “State”) or of any local 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



C-2 

government thereof; and neither the City, the State, nor any local government thereof shall be liable 
thereon.  Neither the faith, revenues, credit, nor taxing power of the City, the State, or any local 
government thereof shall be pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium (if any), or interest on 
the Bonds. 

 As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have examined and relied upon 
representations of the Issuer, the Borrower, the Trustee and the other parties contained in the certified 
proceedings related to the issuance of the Bonds, and other certifications of public officials and other 
persons furnished to us, without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation.  We have 
not undertaken an independent audit, examination, investigation or inspection of such matters and have 
relied solely on the facts, estimates and circumstances described in such proceedings and certifications.  
In our examination of the foregoing, we have assumed the genuineness of signatures on all documents 
and instruments, the authenticity of documents submitted as originals and the conformity to originals of 
documents submitted as copies. 

In rendering this opinion, we have examined and relied upon the opinion of even date herewith of 
the Office of General Counsel of the City, serving as counsel for the Issuer, as to the due creation and 
valid existence of the Issuer, the due adoption of the Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Bonds, the 
due authorization, execution and delivery of the Bonds and the compliance by the Issuer with all 
conditions precedent to the issuance of the Bonds required under applicable local laws, rules and 
regulations of the City. 

The opinions set forth below are expressly limited to, and we opine only with respect to, the laws 
of the State and federal income tax laws of the United States of America. 

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion, as of the date hereof, that: 

(1) Pursuant to the Act, the Issuer is empowered to enter into and perform its obligations 
under the Indenture and to issue the Bonds for the purpose of financing the Project.  

(2) The Indenture has been duly authorized and executed by the Issuer and, assuming due 
authorization and execution thereof by the Trustee, is valid and binding upon the Issuer, and is 
enforceable in accordance with its terms, and the Bonds are entitled to the benefits and security of the 
Indenture for the payment thereof in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.   

(3) The Loan Agreement and the Regulatory Agreement have been duly authorized and 
executed by the Issuer and, assuming due authorization and execution thereof by the other parties thereto, 
are valid and binding upon the Issuer, and are enforceable in accordance with their terms. 

(4) The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and issued by the Issuer in accordance 
with the laws of the State, including the Act, and represent the valid and binding limited obligations of the 
Issuer, enforceable in accordance with their terms and the terms of the Indenture. 

(5) The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), contains certain 
requirements which must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds in order that 
interest on the Bonds be and remain excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income 
taxation.  Failure to comply with such requirements may cause the interest on the Bonds to become 
included in gross income retroactive to the date of issue of the Bonds.  The Issuer has covenanted in the 
Indenture and the Borrower has covenanted in the Loan Agreement and the Regulatory Agreement, to 
take, or refrain from taking, such actions as are required under the Code to maintain the exclusion from 
gross income of the interest on the Bonds.  Assuming continuing compliance by the Issuer and the 
Borrower with the above described covenants, under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and judicial 
decisions, interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the 



C-3 

owners of the Bonds, except that such exclusion shall not apply to interest on the Bonds for any period 
during which the Bonds are held by a person who is a “substantial user” of the Project or a “related 
person” within the meaning of Section 147(a) of the Code.  Additionally, interest on the Bonds is not an 
item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals.  Other 
provisions of the Code may give rise to adverse federal income tax consequences to particular owners of 
the Bonds.  We express no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences caused by ownership of, or 
the receipt or accrual of interest on, or disposition of the Bonds.  

In rendering the opinion in paragraph (5) above with respect to the Bonds, we have assumed 
continuous compliance with certain procedures designed to meet the requirements of Section 142(d) of 
the Code and the regulations thereunder or applicable thereto, including the requirements that for a period 
of time specified in Section 142(d) of the Code and the regulations thereunder (i) at least forty percent 
(40%) of the occupied rental units in a project must be initially occupied, and thereafter occupied or held 
available for occupancy on a continuous basis by “individuals whose income is sixty percent (60%) or 
less of area median gross income,” within the meaning of the Code, and (ii) all of the units in a project 
must be available for rental on a continuous basis.  

All opinions as to the enforceability of the legal obligations of the Issuer set forth herein are 
subject to and limited by (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws, in each 
case relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights, and (ii) applicable laws or equitable 
principles that may affect remedies or injunctive or other equitable relief. 

The scope of our engagement in relation to the issuance of the Bonds has been limited solely to 
the examination of facts and law incident to rendering the opinions expressed herein, and our services as 
bond counsel to the Issuer have been limited to delivering the foregoing opinions based on our review of 
such proceedings and documents as we deem necessary to approve the validity of the Bonds and the tax-
exempt status of the interest on the Bonds.  We express no opinion as to the financial resources of the 
Borrower, its ability to provide for payment of the Bonds or the accuracy or completeness of any 
information that may have been relied upon by anyone in making the decision to purchase Bonds. This 
opinion letter should not be construed as offering material, an offering circular, prospectus or official 
statement and is not intended in any way to be a disclosure statement used in connection with the sale or 
delivery of the Bonds.  We have not been engaged nor have we undertaken to review or verify and 
therefore express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, adequacy, fairness or completeness of the Official 
Statement related to the Bonds or any other offering material related to the Bonds.  Furthermore, we are 
not passing on the accuracy or sufficiency of any CUSIP numbers appearing on the Bonds.  In addition, 
other than as expressly set forth herein, we have not passed upon and therefore express no opinion as to 
the compliance by the Issuer, the Borrower, or any other party involved in this financing with, or the 
necessity of such parties complying with, any federal securities laws or state “Blue Sky,” legal investment 
or other securities statute, regulation or ruling with respect to the sale or distribution of the Bonds.  No 
opinion is expressed as to the perfection or priority of the lien on the Trust Estate created by the 
Indenture.  Further, we express no opinion regarding federal income or state tax consequences arising 
with respect to the Bonds other than as expressly set forth herein. 

Our opinions expressed herein are predicated upon present laws, facts and circumstances, and we 
assume no affirmative obligation to update the opinions expressed herein if such laws, facts or 
circumstances change after the date hereof.   

Respectfully submitted, 

BRYANT MILLER OLIVE P.A.



D-1 

APPENDIX D 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and 
delivered by LRC Desert-Silver, LLC (the “Borrower”) and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 
Company, N.A., as dissemination agent (the “Dissemination Agent”), in connection with the issuance of 
$22,000,000* Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-
Silver Project), Series 2018 (the “Bonds”).  The Bonds are being issued under a Trust Indenture dated as 
of December 1, 2018 (the “Indenture”), between the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the 
“Issuer”) and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”).   The 
proceeds of the Bonds are being loaned by the Issuer to the Borrower pursuant to a Loan Agreement dated 
as of December 1, 2018, between the Issuer and the Borrower (the “Bond Loan Agreement”), for the 
purpose of the acquisition and rehabilitation of a multifamily rental housing development located in 
Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida, known or to be known as Desert Winds and Silver Creek 
Apartments. 

The Borrower and the Dissemination Agent covenant and agree as follows: 

1. Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in the Indenture, which apply to any 
capitalized term used in this Continuing Disclosure Agreement unless otherwise defined in this Section, 
the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report prepared by the Borrower pursuant to, and as 
described in, Sections 2 and 3 of this Continuing Disclosure Agreement. 

“Business Day” shall mean a day on which commercial banks located in Jacksonville, Florida are 
required or permitted by law to be open for the purpose of conducting a commercial banking business. 

“Disclosure Representative” shall mean the authorized representative of the Borrower or his or 
her designee, or such other person as the Borrower shall designate in writing to the Trustee from time to 
time. 

“Holder” shall mean the registered holder of any Bonds as reflected on the Bonds register 
maintained in accordance with the Indenture, or any beneficial owner reflected on the books of the 
registered holder. 

“Material Event Filing” shall mean any of the material events listed in Section 4(a) of this 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant to Section 
15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  All documents provided to the MSRB 
shall be in an electronic format and accompanied by identifying information, as prescribed by the MSRB.  
Initially, all document submissions to the MSRB pursuant to this Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall 
use the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) system at www.emma.msrb.org. 

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean the original underwriter for the Bonds, if any, required to 
comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Bonds. 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



D-2 

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as the same may be amended from time to time. 

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

2. Provision of Annual Reports. 

(a) Not later than the one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of the Borrower’s 
fiscal year (currently December 31) except as provided in subsection (e) below, commencing with fiscal 
year 2018, the Borrower shall provide to the Dissemination Agent, an Annual Report prepared by an 
independent certified public accounting firm selected by the Borrower, together with sufficient copies of 
such Annual Report for filing with the MSRB. However, an annual financial statement compiled or 
reviewed by a licensed certified public accountant may be submitted in lieu of an audited financial 
statement for the Development prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy for any unit in the 
Development, provided that the subsequent annual audited financial statement shall include all operations 
since inception.  If the Dissemination Agent has not received the Annual Report by such date, the 
Dissemination Agent shall notify the Borrower in writing by facsimile transmission, confirmed by 
telephone. 

(b) The Dissemination Agent shall, as soon as practical, but in no event later than the 
fourteenth (14th) Business Day following receipt of an Annual Report, provide such Annual Report to the 
MSRB. 

(c) If an Annual Report is not filed on or before the date required in any year, the 
Dissemination Agent shall send a notice to the MSRB in substantially the form attached as Exhibit “A”. 

(d) Following the Dissemination Agent filing an Annual Report with the MSRB, the 
Dissemination Agent shall provide a written report to the Borrower stating that the Annual Report has 
been provided to the MSRB pursuant to this Continuing Disclosure Agreement, and stating the date it was 
provided. 

(e) The Borrower shall deliver Annual Reports to the Dissemination Agent at least 
annually, notwithstanding any fiscal year longer than twelve (12) months.  The Borrower shall notify the 
Dissemination Agent in writing of any change in the Borrower’s fiscal year, and the Dissemination Agent 
shall notify the MSRB of each change in the Borrower’s fiscal year. 

3. Content of Annual Reports.  The Annual Report prepared by Borrower shall contain or 
incorporate by reference the following: 

The certified audited financial statements of the Borrower for the prior fiscal 
year, including income statement, balance sheet, and cash flows of operations of Desert 
Winds and Silver Creek Apartments (the “Development”), prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles as promulgated from time to time by the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board.  The Borrower shall also include in each Annual 
Report the Development’s current occupancy levels, current monthly rental rates and the 
current expenditures for monthly maintenance, taxes and property insurance.  

Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other documents, 
including official statements of debt issues with respect to which the Borrower is an “obligated person” 
(as defined by the Rule), which have been filed with the MSRB or the SEC.  If the document incorporated 
by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the MSRB.  The Borrower shall clearly 



D-3 

identify each such other document so incorporated by reference.  In each case, the Annual Report may be 
submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package. 

The Dissemination Agent shall have no duty or obligation to review the content of the Annual 
Report for compliance with this Continuing Disclosure Agreement or the Rule, but shall file the Annual 
Report in the form it is received by the Dissemination Agent. 

4. Reporting of a Material Event Filing. 

(a) This Section 4 shall govern the giving of notices of the occurrence of any of the 
following events (each, a “Material Event”): 

(i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(ii) Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(iii) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial 
difficulty; 

(iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial 
difficulty; 

(v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(vi) events that may adversely affect the tax exemption of the Bonds, 
including issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed and final decisions about whether 
such Bonds can be taxed; 

(vii) Modifications to rights of security holders, if material; 

(viii) Bonds calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(ix) Defeasances; 

(x) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 
Bonds, if material;  

(xi) Rating changes (including those relating to the Bonds, the Borrower, 
reserve fund surety bonds, providers of guaranteed investment contracts, and other entities 
directly or indirectly securing payment of the Bonds); 

(xii) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar proceeding of the 
Borrower.  For purposes of this clause (xii), any such event shall be considered to have occurred 
when any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, trustee or similar officer for the 
Borrower in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state 
or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over 
substantially all of the assets or business of the Borrower, or if such jurisdiction has been 
assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject 
to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority, the entry of an order 
confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental 



D-4 

authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the 
Borrower;  

(xiii) mergers, consolidations, or acquisitions of the Borrower, the sale of all or 
substantially all of the assets of the Borrower, or the termination of the Borrower, if material; and 

(xiv) appointment of a successor or additional Trustee or paying agent or the 
change of the name of a Trustee or paying agent, if material; 

(b) The Dissemination Agent shall, within three (3) Business Days of obtaining 
actual knowledge of the occurrence of any Material Event, provide the Borrower with notice (by facsimile 
transmission confirmed by telephone), and request that the Borrower promptly notify the Dissemination 
Agent in writing whether or not to report the event pursuant to subsection (f).  The Dissemination Agent 
shall not be deemed to have actual knowledge of those items listed in clauses (ii), (vi), (vii), (x), and (xi) 
without the Dissemination Agent having received written notice of such event.  For purposes of providing 
notice to the Borrower, the Dissemination Agent shall assume that the unscheduled draws described in 
clauses (iii) and (iv) reflect financial difficulty.  

(c) Whenever the Borrower obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Material 
Event, because of notice from the Dissemination Agent pursuant to subsection (b) or otherwise, the 
Borrower shall as soon as possible determine if such event is required by the Rule to be disclosed. 

(d) If the Borrower has determined that a Material Event is required to be disclosed, 
the Borrower shall promptly prepare a written notice describing the Material Event and provide the same 
to the Dissemination Agent along with instructions to file the same pursuant to subsection (f) below. 

(e) If the Borrower determines that a Material Event is not required to be disclosed, 
the Borrower shall so notify the Dissemination Agent in writing and instruct the Dissemination Agent not 
to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (f). 

(f) If the Dissemination Agent has been provided with a written notice describing 
the Material Event and instructed by the Borrower to report the occurrence of a Material Event, the 
Dissemination Agent shall file the notice with the MSRB, and send a copy to the Borrower.  The 
foregoing notwithstanding, notice of a Material Event described in subsections (a)(viii) and (ix) need not 
be given under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying event is given to the 
Holders of affected Bonds pursuant to the Indenture. 

5. Successors.  If the Borrower’s obligations under the Agreement are assumed in full by 
some other entity, such entity shall be responsible for compliance with this Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement in the same manner as if it were the Borrower and the original Borrower shall have no further 
responsibility hereunder.  If the Trustee’s obligations under the Indenture are assumed in full by a 
successor Trustee, such person shall be responsible for compliance with this Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement in the same manner as if it were the Dissemination Agent and the original Dissemination 
Agent shall have no further responsibility hereunder. 

6. Amendment, Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement, the Borrower and the Dissemination Agent may amend this Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement (and the Dissemination Agent shall agree to any amendment so requested by the Borrower) if 
in the opinion of counsel expert in federal securities law matters affecting governmental bonds acceptable 
to the Borrower and the Dissemination Agent, (i) the amendment is made in connection with a change in 
circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, 
nature, or status of the Borrower, or the type of business it conducts, (ii) this Continuing Disclosure 



D-5 

Agreement, as amended, would have complied with the Rule at the time the Bonds was issued, after 
taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any changes in 
circumstances, and (ii) the amendment does not materially impair the interests of the Holders.  A copy of 
any amendment to this Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall be delivered to the MSRB. 

7. Termination.  This Continuing Disclosure Agreement may be terminated by any party to 
this Continuing Disclosure Agreement upon thirty days’ written notice of termination delivered to the 
other party or parties to this Continuing Disclosure Agreement; provided the termination of this 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement is not effective until (i) the Borrower, or its successor, enters into a 
new continuing disclosure agreement with a dissemination agent who agrees to continue to provide, to the 
MSRB and the Holders of the Bonds, all information required to be communicated pursuant to the rules 
promulgated by the SEC or the MSRB, (ii) a nationally recognized bond counsel or counsel expert in 
federal securities laws provides an opinion that the new continuing disclosure agreement is in compliance 
with all applicable state and federal securities laws, and (iii) notice of the termination of this Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement is provided to the MSRB.  

The Dissemination Agent shall be fully discharged at the time any such termination is effective. 
This Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall terminate automatically (i) upon payment or provisions for 
payment of the Bonds, or (ii) when all of the Bonds are or are deemed to be no longer outstanding by 
reason of redemption or legal defeasance or at final maturity. 

8. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall be 
deemed to prevent the Borrower from disseminating any other information, using the means of 
dissemination set forth in this Continuing Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, 
or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event, in 
addition to that which is required by this Continuing Disclosure Agreement.  If the Borrower chooses to 
include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event, in addition to 
that which is specifically required by this Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Borrower shall have no 
obligation under the Bond Loan Agreement to update such information or include it in any future Annual 
Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event. 

9. Default.  In the event of a failure of the Borrower or the Dissemination Agent to comply 
with any provision of this Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Dissemination Agent may (and at the 
request of the Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, shall), or any Holder 
may, take such action as permitted hereby.  A default under this Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall 
not be deemed an Event of Default under the Indenture or the Bond Loan Agreement, and the sole remedy 
under this Continuing Disclosure Agreement in the event of any failure of the Borrower or the 
Dissemination Agent to comply with this Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel 
performance.  Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the Dissemination Agent shall 
not be required to bring any enforcement action unless provision has been made to the satisfaction of the 
Dissemination Agent for payment of all fees and expenses of the Dissemination Agent and its counsel in 
connection with such action. 

10. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent.  The Dissemination Agent 
has entered into this Continuing Disclosure Agreement solely in its capacity as Dissemination Agent 
under this Continuing Disclosure Agreement and the Indenture.  Article XI of the Indenture is hereby 
made applicable to this Continuing Disclosure Agreement as if this Continuing Disclosure Agreement 
were contained in the Indenture.  The Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically 
set forth in this Continuing Disclosure Agreement, and the Borrower agrees to indemnify and save the 
Dissemination Agent, its officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, expense and 
liabilities which it may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of its powers and duties 
hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) of defending against any claim of 



D-6 

liability, but excluding liabilities due to the Dissemination Agent’s gross negligence or willful 
misconduct.  The obligations of the Borrower under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of 
the Dissemination Agent and payment of the Bonds. 

Neither the Dissemination Agent nor the Trustee shall have any obligation to make disclosure 
about the Bonds, the Borrower, or any other matter except as expressly provided herein.  The fact that the 
Dissemination Agent and the Trustee, or any affiliate thereof, may have any fiduciary or banking 
relationship with the Issuer, the Borrower, any manager of the Development financed with the Bonds or 
any person with whom the Issuer or the Borrower contracts in connection with such Development, apart 
from the relationship created by the Indenture or this Continuing Disclosure Agreement, shall not be 
construed to mean (whether or not an Event of Default has occurred or is continuing under the Indenture) 
that (i) the Dissemination Agent or the Trustee has actual knowledge of any event or condition except in 
its capacity as Trustee under the Indenture when deemed pursuant to the Indenture to have actual 
knowledge or except as may be provided by written notice to the Dissemination Agent pursuant to this 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement or (ii) the Dissemination Agent or the Trustee has any duties or 
obligations under the Indenture or the Disclosure Agreement other than those expressly set forth in the 
Indenture and this Continuing Disclosure Agreement and in the capacity of agent to the Borrower. 

11. Beneficiaries.  This Continuing Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of 
the Issuer, the Borrower, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriters, and Holders from time 
to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 

12. Counterparts.  This Continuing Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 

13. Notice.  Any notice or other communication required or permitted to by this Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement must be in writing unless expressly provided otherwise herein, and to the 
following addresses or fax numbers (with telephone confirmation using the phone number given), or such 
other addresses or fax/phone numbers designated in a notice to the other party hereto: 

If to the Dissemination Agent: THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST 
COMPANY, N.A. 
10161 Centurion Parkway N. 
Jacksonville, Florida 32256 
Attention: Corporate Trust Department 
Fax:  (904) 645-1998 

If to the Borrower: LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC 
105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 300 
Montgomery, Alabama 36104 
Attention:  Tyler Hunt 
Phone:  [_________] 
Email:  [_________] 
Facsimile: [_________] 



D-7 

with a copy to: BALCH & BINGHAM LLP 
105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 200 
Montgomery, Alabama 36104 
Attention:  Walter H.C. McKay, Esquire 
Phone:  [_________] 
Email:  [_________] 

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank) 



D-8 

(Signature Page to Continuing Disclosure Agreement) 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC, 
a Florida limited liability company 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, 
a Florida limited liability company, 
its Managing Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company, 
its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company, 
its sole Member 

By:  
[_________] 



D-9 

(Signature Page to Continuing Disclosure Agreement) 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., 
as Dissemination Agent 

By:   
Michele R. Noel, Vice President and Senior Transaction Manager 



D-10 

EXHIBIT “A” 

NOTICE TO MSRB OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

Name of Issuer:  Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

Name of Issue:         $22,000,000* 
Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 
Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds 

(Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 

Name of Borrower: LRC Desert-Silver, LLC 

Date of Issuance: _________ __, 2018 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Borrower has not provided an Annual Report with respect 
to the above-named Bonds as required by the Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated as of December 1, 
2018 between The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. and the Borrower.  [The Borrower 
anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by  .] 

Dated:  

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., 
as Dissemination Agent 

By:  
Name: Michele R. Noel 
Title: Vice President and Senior Transaction Manager 

cc: Borrower 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF TRUST INDENTURE 



TRUST INDENTURE 

By and Between 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY, 

as Issuer 

and 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A.,

as Trustee 

______________________________ 

Dated as of December 1, 2018 

______________________________ 

$22,000,000 

Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority  

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds  

(Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018  



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(continued) 

Page 

i 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION ........................................................................... 4

Section 1.01. Definitions. ............................................................................................................. 4

Section 1.02. Rules of Construction. ........................................................................................ 18

ARTICLE II CREATION OF BONDS; DETAILS OF THE BONDS ................................................. 19

Section 2.01. Authorization and Terms of Bonds. ................................................................. 19

Section 2.02. Source of Payment of Bonds. ............................................................................. 20

Section 2.03. Execution of Bonds. ............................................................................................. 20

Section 2.04. Certificate of Authentication. ............................................................................ 21

Section 2.05. Authentication and Delivery of Bonds. ............................................................ 21

Section 2.06. Temporary Bonds. ............................................................................................... 22

Section 2.07. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds. ................................................... 22

Section 2.08. Registration, Negotiability, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds. ..................... 23

Section 2.09. Limited Obligation. ............................................................................................. 24

Section 2.10. Cancellation and Destruction of Bonds. ........................................................... 24

Section 2.11. Book Entry System. ............................................................................................. 24

Section 2.12. Non-Presentment of Bonds. ............................................................................... 26

ARTICLE III REDEMPTION OF BONDS ............................................................................................ 26

Section 3.01. Optional Redemption of Bonds. ........................................................................ 26

Section 3.02. Purchase in Lieu of Redemption. ...................................................................... 27

Section 3.03. Notices of Redemption. ...................................................................................... 27

Section 3.04. Mandatory Tender. ............................................................................................. 28

Section 3.05. Duties of Remarketing Agent. ........................................................................... 29

Section 3.06. Conditions Precedent to Remarketing of Bonds and Notice. ....................... 30

Section 3.07. Remarketing of Bonds. ....................................................................................... 31

Section 3.08. Concerning the Remarketing Agent. ................................................................ 32

Section 3.09. Qualification of Remarketing Agent................................................................. 32

ARTICLE IV REVENUES AND FUNDS ............................................................................................. 33

Section 4.01. Creation of Funds. ............................................................................................... 33

Section 4.02. Deposits into the Bond Fund. ............................................................................ 34

Section 4.03. Use of Moneys in Collateral Fund. ................................................................... 34

Section 4.04. Use of Moneys in the Cost of Issuance Fund. ................................................. 35

Section 4.05. Use of Moneys on Deposit in the Bond Fund; Application of Loan 

Payments. ................................................................................................... 35

Section 4.06. Payment to Borrower of Excess Moneys. ......................................................... 36

Section 4.07. Expense Fund. ...................................................................................................... 36

Section 4.08. Allocation and Reallocation of Government Obligations Deposited 

to the Collateral Fund and the Project Fund. ........................................ 36



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(continued) 

Page 

ii 

ARTICLE V REBATE .............................................................................................................................. 37

Section 5.01. Rebate Fund; Rebate Requirement. .................................................................. 37

ARTICLE VI CUSTODY AND APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS ........................................ 38

Section 6.01. Custody and Application of Project Fund. ...................................................... 38

Section 6.02. Procedure for Making Disbursements from Project Fund. ........................... 38

Section 6.03. Trustee May Rely on Requisitions and Certifications. ................................... 40

Section 6.04. Completion of Project. ........................................................................................ 40

ARTICLE VII INVESTMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS ......................................................... 40

Section 7.01. Investment. ........................................................................................................... 40

Section 7.02. Investment of Rebate Fund. ............................................................................... 41

Section 7.03. Accounting for Termination of Investments; No Arbitrage. ......................... 41

Section 7.04. Trustee's Own Bond or Investment Department. ........................................... 42

Section 7.05. Moneys to be Held in Trust. .............................................................................. 42

ARTICLE VIII GENERAL COVENANTS ........................................................................................... 42

Section 8.01. Payment of Bonds. .............................................................................................. 42

Section 8.02. Performance of Covenants. ................................................................................ 43

Section 8.03. Maintenance of Existence; Compliance with Laws. ....................................... 43

Section 8.04. Enforcement of Borrower's Obligations. .......................................................... 43

Section 8.05. Further Assurances, Instruments and Actions. ............................................... 44

Section 8.06. Priority of Pledge. ................................................................................................ 44

Section 8.07. Books and Documents Open to Inspection. .................................................... 44

Section 8.08. Borrower to Indemnify and Hold the Issuer and Trustee Harmless 

from Liability. ............................................................................................ 44

Section 8.09. Tax Exempt Status of Bonds. ............................................................................. 44

ARTICLE IX DISCHARGE .................................................................................................................... 44

Section 9.01. Discharge of Lien. ................................................................................................ 44

ARTICLE X DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES ......................................................................................... 46

Section 10.01. Events of Default and Acceleration. ............................................................... 46

Section 10.02. Trustee to Enforce Rights of the Issuer........................................................... 48

Section 10.03. Remedies............................................................................................................. 48

Section 10.04. Termination of Proceedings. ............................................................................ 48

Section 10.05. Right of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings. ................................................ 48

Section 10.06. Remedies Vested in Trustee. ............................................................................ 49

Section 10.07. Remedies Non-Exclusive and Cumulative. ................................................... 49

Section 10.08. Delays or Omissions by Trustee. ..................................................................... 49



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(continued) 

Page 

iii 

Section 10.09. Application of Moneys. .................................................................................... 50

Section 10.10. Severability of Remedies. ................................................................................. 51

Section 10.11. No Interference or Impairment of Lender Loan. .......................................... 51

ARTICLE XI CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE .................................................................................... 52

Section 11.01. Acceptance of Trusts. ........................................................................................ 52

Section 11.02. Trustee Not Responsible for Recitals, Statements and 

Representations. ........................................................................................ 52

Section 11.03. Action by Trustee Through and in Reliance Upon Others. ......................... 52

Section 11.04. Fees and Expenses of Trustee. ......................................................................... 53

Section 11.05. Trustee's Obligations to Take or Have Notice of Default. ........................... 53

Section 11.06. Duties of Trustee. .............................................................................................. 53

Section 11.07. Trustee May Make Advances to Effect Performance. .................................. 56

Section 11.08. Trustee May Rely Upon Instruments. ............................................................ 56

Section 11.09. Trustee May Own and Deal in Bonds and Deal With the Issuer and 

Borrower. .................................................................................................... 56

Section 11.10. Financial Liability of the Trustee. .................................................................... 57

Section 11.11. Trustee May Construe Ambiguous or Inconsistent Provisions. ................. 57

Section 11.12. Resignation of Trustee. ..................................................................................... 57

Section 11.13. Removal of Trustee. .......................................................................................... 57

Section 11.14. Appointment of Successor Trustee. ................................................................ 57

Section 11.15. Appointment of Successor Trustee by Court. ............................................... 58

Section 11.16. Acceptance of Trust by Successor Trustee. .................................................... 58

Section 11.17. Merger or Consolidation of Trustee With Another Corporation. .............. 58

Section 11.18. Action of Trustee During Existence of an Event of Default. ....................... 59

Section 11.19. Notice of an Event of Default. ......................................................................... 59

Section 11.20. Trustee May Intervene. ..................................................................................... 59

Section 11.21. Unclaimed Moneys. .......................................................................................... 59

Section 11.22. Appointment of Co-Trustee. ............................................................................ 59

Section 11.23. Financing Statements. ....................................................................................... 60

ARTICLE XII MODIFICATION OF INDENTURE AND OTHER DOCUMENTS ........................ 61

Section 12.01. Limitation on Amendments to this Indenture. ............................................. 61

Section 12.02. Amendments to Indenture and Bond Loan Agreement Not 

Requiring Consent of Bondholders......................................................... 61

Section 12.03. Amendments to Indenture Requiring Consent of Bondholders. ............... 62

Section 12.04. Supplemental Indentures Part of Indenture. ................................................. 63

Section 12.05. Required Consent. ............................................................................................. 63

Section 12.06. Amendments to Documents Requiring Consent of Bondholders. ............. 64

ARTICLE XIII MISCELLANEOUS ....................................................................................................... 64



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(continued) 

Page 

iv 

Section 13.01. The Issuer's Successors. .................................................................................... 64

Section 13.02. Indenture for Benefit of the Issuer, Trustee and Bondholders. ................... 64

Section 13.03. Severability. ........................................................................................................ 64

Section 13.04. Officials of the Issuer Not Liable. .................................................................... 64

Section 13.05. Governing Law. ................................................................................................. 65

Section 13.06. Notices; Publication of Notice. ........................................................................ 65

Section 13.07. Trustee as Paying Agent and Bond Registrar. .............................................. 65

Section 13.08. Execution of Instruments by Bondholders and Proof of Ownership 

of Bonds. ..................................................................................................... 65

Section 13.09. Counterparts. ..................................................................................................... 66

Section 13.10. FHA Federal Laws and Requirements Control. ............................................ 66

EXHIBIT A FORM OF BONDS 

EXHIBIT B FORM OF PROJECT FUND REQUISITION (PROCEEDS 

ACCOUNT/EQUITY ACCOUNT) 

EXHIBIT C-1 FORM OF THE ISSUER COSTS OF ISSUANCE REQUISITION 

EXHIBIT C-2 FORM OF BORROWER COSTS OF ISSUANCE REQUISITION 



1 

TRUST INDENTURE 

THIS TRUST INDENTURE (as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time, 

this "Indenture") is entered into as of December 1, 2018, by and between JACKSONVILLE 

HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and politic duly created, 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida (together with its successors and 

assigns, the "Issuer") and THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., a 

national banking association authorized to exercise corporate trust powers in the State, and 

authorized to accept and execute trusts of the character herein set out, as Trustee (together with 

its successors and assigns, the "Trustee"). 

RECITALS 

Certain of the terms and words used in these Recitals, and in the following Granting Clauses and 

Agreements, are defined in Section 1.01 of this Indenture. 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Florida Housing Finance Authority Law, Part IV, 

Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, as amended and supplemented from time to time, Chapter 52 

Ordinance Code of the City, as amended, Ordinance 2014-185-E of the City, Resolution No. 

2018-533-A of the City adopted on September 11, 2018, a Resolution of the Issuer adopted on 

June 18, 2018 and a Resolution of the Issuer adopted on November 28, 2018 (collectively, the 

"Act") and other applicable provisions of law, the Issuer is empowered to issue its revenue 

bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness to finance the acquisition, rehabilitation and 

development of multifamily rental housing for persons of low, moderate and middle income at 

prices or rentals they can afford; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has determined to issue and sell its Multifamily Housing 

Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 in the original aggregate principal amount of 

$22,000,000 (the "Bonds"), for the purpose of financing a portion of the costs of the acquisition, 

rehabilitation and equipping of multifamily rental housing facilities, consisting of 

approximately 304 units, to be occupied by persons of low, middle or moderate income and 

related personal property and equipment, and located in Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida 

(the "Project Facilities") all pursuant to this Indenture and the Loan Agreement, dated as of 

December 1, 2018 (as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time, the "Bond Loan 

Agreement"), between the Issuer and LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a limited liability company duly 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida (together with its permitted 

successors and assigns, the "Borrower"); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer will loan the proceeds of the Bonds to the Borrower pursuant to 

the Bond Loan Agreement, and to evidence the Borrower's payment obligations thereunder, the 

Borrower will deliver to the Issuer a Promissory Note dated the Closing Date in the amount of 

$22,000,000 (the "Note"); and 



2 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is authorized to enter into this Indenture and to do or cause to be 

done all the acts and things herein provided or required to be done to finance the Project Costs 

by the issuance of the Bonds, all as hereinafter provided; and 

WHEREAS, all acts, conditions and things required to happen, exist, and be performed 

precedent to and in the issuance of the Bonds and the execution and delivery of this Indenture 

have happened, exist and have been performed in order to make the Bonds, when issued, 

delivered and authenticated, valid obligations of the Issuer in accordance with the terms thereof 

and hereof, and in order to make this Indenture a valid, binding and legal trust agreement for 

the security of the Bonds in accordance with its terms; and 

WHEREAS, the Trustee has accepted the trusts created by this Indenture and has 

accepted its obligations hereunder, and in evidence thereof, this Indenture has been executed 

and delivered thereby. 

The execution and delivery of this Indenture and the issuance and sale of the Bonds 

have been in all respects duly and validly authorized by the Resolutions duly adopted by the 

Issuer.   

Accordingly, the Issuer and the Trustee agree as follows for the benefit of the other and 

for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds: 

GRANTING CLAUSES AND AGREEMENTS 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the acceptance by the Trustee 

of the trusts hereby created and of the purchase and acceptance of any or all of the Bonds issued 

and sold by the Issuer from time to time under this Indenture by those who shall hold the same 

from time to time, and of the sum of one dollar, lawful money of the United States of America, 

duly paid to the Issuer by the Trustee at or before the execution and delivery of these presents, 

and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 

acknowledged, in order to secure the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds 

according to their tenor and effect and the performance and observance by the Issuer of all the 

covenants expressed or implied herein and in the Bonds and the payment and performance of 

all other of the obligations of the Issuer, the Issuer does hereby grant, bargain, sell, convey, 

pledge and assign, without recourse, unto the Trustee and unto its successors in trust forever, 

and grants to the Trustee and to its successors in trust, a security interest in, the following (such 

property being herein referred to as the "Trust Estate"): 

(a) All right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to all Revenues, derived or to be 

derived by the Issuer or the Trustee for the account of the Issuer under the terms of this 

Indenture and the Bond Loan Agreement (other than the Unassigned Rights of the Issuer), 

together with all other Revenues received by the Trustee for the account of the Issuer arising out 

of or on account of the Trust Estate; 



3 

(b) All right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to the Note (other than the 

Unassigned Rights of the Issuer) including all payments and proceeds with respect thereto or 

replacement thereof; 

(c) Any fund or account created under this Indenture except for the Cost of Issuance 

Fund, the Expense Fund and the Rebate Fund; 

(d) All right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to, and remedies under, the Bond 

Loan Agreement; 

(e) All funds, moneys and securities and any and all other rights and interests in 

property whether tangible or intangible from time to time hereafter by delivery or by writing of 

any kind, conveyed, mortgaged, pledged, assigned or transferred as and for additional security 

hereunder for the Bonds by the Issuer or by anyone on its behalf or with its written consent to 

the Trustee, which is hereby authorized to receive any and all such property at any and all times 

and to hold and apply the same subject to the terms hereof;  

PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that there shall be excluded from the granting clauses of this 

Indenture all the Unassigned Rights of the Issuer, including all amounts paid or collected by the 

Issuer in connection therewith, all amounts on deposit in the Rebate Fund, which shall be held 

for the sole benefit of the United States of America; 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all the same with all privileges and appurtenances hereby 

conveyed and assigned, or agreed or intended so to be, to the Trustee and its successors in trust 

forever. 

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and trusts herein set forth, for the equal 

and proportionate benefit, security and protection of all Holders from time to time of the Bonds 

issued under and secured by this Indenture without privilege, priority or distinction as to the 

lien or otherwise of any of the Bonds over any of the other Bonds. 

PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that if the Issuer shall well and truly pay, or cause to be paid, 

the principal of the Bonds issued hereunder, and interest due or to become due thereon, at the 

times and in the manner mentioned in the Bonds, according to the true intent and meaning 

thereof, and shall cause the payments to be made into the Collateral Fund as required under 

Article IV hereof or by depositing with the Trustee the entire amount due or to become due 

thereon, and shall well and truly keep, perform and observe all of the covenants and conditions 

pursuant to the terms of this Indenture and all other of the obligations of the Issuer to be kept, 

performed and observed by it, the Rebate Requirement shall be paid in full and shall pay or 

cause to be paid to the Trustee all sums of money due or to become due to it in accordance with 

the terms and provisions hereof, then upon such final payment, as further provided in 

Section 9.01 hereof, and the termination of the Bond Loan Agreement, this Indenture and the 

rights hereby granted shall cease, terminate and be void; otherwise, this Indenture shall remain 

in full force and effect. 



4 

AND IT IS EXPRESSLY DECLARED that all Bonds issued and secured hereunder are to 

be issued, authenticated and delivered and all such property, moneys, revenues and receipts 

hereby pledged are to be dealt with and disposed of under, upon and subject to the terms, 

conditions, stipulations, covenants, agreements, trusts, uses and purposes as hereinafter 

expressed, and the Issuer has agreed and covenanted and does hereby agree and covenant with 

the Trustee and with the respective holders from time to time of the Bonds, or any part thereof, 

as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION 

Section 1.01. Definitions.  Certain terms used in this Indenture are defined in the 

Bond Loan Agreement and when and if used herein, such terms shall have the meanings given 

to them by the Bond Loan Agreement unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.  In 

addition, when used in this Indenture, the following terms shall have the meanings given to 

them in this Section unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

"Act" has the meaning assigned in the Recitals hereto. 

"Agreement" or "Bond Loan Agreement" means the Loan Agreement dated as of the same 

date as this Indenture, between the Issuer and the Borrower and any and all supplements 

thereto. 

"Arbitrage Certificate" means the Arbitrage Certificate, dated the Closing Date, executed 

by the Issuer in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

"Arbitrage Rebate Agreement" means the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, dated as of 

December 1, 2018, among the Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower in connection with the 

issuance of the Bonds.  

"Assumption Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.01(l)(iii) of the Bond Loan 

Agreement. 

"Bond" or "Bonds" means the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily 

Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 issued, authenticated and delivered 

under this Indenture, which are identified as such in Section 2.01(a) hereof. 

"Bond Counsel" means nationally recognized bond counsel selected by the Issuer. 

"Bond Documents" means, with respect to the Bonds, the Bonds, this Indenture, the Bond 

Purchase Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement, the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, the Tax Certificates, the Servicing Agreement, the 

Compliance Monitoring Agreement, the Project Completion Funds Disbursement Agreement 

and any and all documents executed in connection with the Bonds. 



5 

"Bond Fund" means the Bond Fund created in Section 4.01 of this Indenture. 

"Bondholder" or "Holder of the Bonds" or "Holder" or "Owner of the Bonds" or "Owner" when 

used with respect to any Bond, means the person or persons in whose name such Bond is 

registered as the owner thereof on the books of the Issuer maintained at the Trust Office of the 

Trustee for that purpose. 

"Bond Loan Agreement" means the Loan Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2018, by and 

between the Issuer and the Borrower and any and all supplements thereto, pursuant to which 

the Loan is being made to the Borrower. 

"Bond Purchase Agreement" means the Bond Purchase Agreement, dated [______ __], 2018, 

among the Issuer, the Borrower and the Underwriter. 

"Bond Registrar" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.01(f) hereof. 

"Book Entry Form" or "Book Entry System" means a form or system, as applicable, under 

which (i) the ownership of beneficial interests in the Bonds may be transferred only through a 

book entry and (ii) physical bond certificates in fully registered form are registered only in the 

name of a Securities Depository or its nominee as holder, with the physical bond certificates 

"immobilized" in the custody of the Securities Depository. 

"Borrower" means LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, duly 

organized and existing in the State of Florida, its successors and assigns. 

"Borrower Costs of Issuance" means all fees, costs and expenses (other than the Issuer 

Costs of Issuance) incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds and the extension of 

the Loan. 

"Borrower Costs of Issuance Account" means the account by that name created in the Cost 

of Issuance Fund pursuant to Section 4.01(f). 

"Borrower Documents" means the Bond Loan Agreement, the Note, the Proceeds 

Certificate, the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Bond 

Purchase Agreement, the Official Statement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the 

Guarantor Documents and any and all documents, agreements or instruments executed by the 

Borrower in connection with the Loan evidenced by the Bond Loan Agreement. 

"Borrower Obligations" means the obligations of the Borrower under the Bond Loan 

Agreement, the Note, and the other Borrower Documents to (a) pay the principal of, and 

interest on the Note, when and as the same shall become due and payable (whether at the stated 

maturity thereof, on any payment date or by acceleration of maturity or otherwise), (b) pay all 

other amounts required by the Bond Loan Agreement, the Note, and the other Borrower 

Documents to be paid by the Borrower to the Issuer and the Trustee, as and when the same 

shall become due and payable, and (c) timely perform, observe and comply with all of the 



6 

terms, covenants, conditions, stipulations, and agreements, express or implied, which the 

Borrower is required by the Bond Loan Agreement, the Note, the Land Use Restriction 

Agreement, and any of the other Borrower Documents, to perform or observe. 

"Borrower Representative" means a person at the time designated and authorized to act on 

behalf of the Borrower by a written certificate furnished to the Issuer and the Trustee containing 

the specimen signature of such person and signed on behalf of the Borrower by one of its 

officers, which certificate may designate an alternate or alternates. 

"Business Day" or "business day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which 

(a) banks located in New York, New York, Jacksonville, Florida or in the city in which the Trust 

Office of the Trustee, or the office of the Trustee is located, are not required or authorized by 

law or executive order to close for business, and (b) the New York Stock Exchange is not closed. 

"Capitalized Interest Account" means the account by that name created in the Bond Fund 

pursuant to Section 4.01(a). 

"Capitalized Interest Deposit" means the deposit of $[_______] to the Capitalized Interest 

Account on behalf of the Borrower, from Preference Proof Moneys, on or before the Closing 

Date, which is to be deposited as provided in Section 4.02 hereof. 

"City" means the City of Jacksonville, Florida. 

"Closing Date" means the date of delivery of the Bonds in exchange for the purchase price 

thereof. 

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, including applicable final, temporary 

and proposed regulations and revenue rulings applicable thereto, as amended from time to 

time. 

"Collateral Fund" means the Collateral Fund created pursuant to Section 4.01 of this 

Indenture. 

"Completion Certificate" means a certificate submitted by the Borrower Representative to 

the Issuer and the Trustee as provided in Section 3.05 of the Bond Loan Agreement. 

"Completion Date" means the date upon which the Completion Certificate is delivered by 

the Borrower to the Issuer and the Trustee, which shall be no later than [_________ __, 20__]. 

"Compliance Monitoring Agreement" means the Compliance Monitoring Agreement, dated 

as of December 1, 2018, by and among the Issuer, Seltzer, the Trustee and the Borrower, as 

amended, supplemented or restated from time to time. 



7 

"Construction Contract" means that certain construction contract executed between the 

Contractor and the Borrower relating to the rehabilitation of the Development, as that contract 

may be amended from time to time. 

"Construction Draw Date" means the date on which a disbursement from the Project Fund 

shall be made solely to pay acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping costs of the Development. 

"Continuing Disclosure Agreement" means the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, dated as 

of December 1, 2018 between the Borrower and the Dissemination Agent. 

"Contractor" means the entity identified as the general contractor under the Construction 

Contract. 

"Cost of Issuance Fund" means the Cost of Issuance Fund created pursuant to Section 4.01 

hereof. 

"Costs of Issuance" means, collectively, the Issuer Costs of Issuance and the Borrower 

Costs of Issuance. 

"Costs of Issuance Deposit" means $[_______]. 

"Costs of the Development" with respect to the Development, shall be deemed to include 

all items permitted to be financed under the provisions of the Code and the Act. 

"Credit Underwriting Report" means the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Credit 

Underwriting Report dated [_________ __], 2018 prepared by Seltzer. 

"Default" means any Default under the Bond Loan Agreement as specified in and 

defined by Section 7.01 thereof. 

"Developer" means LEDIC Realty Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company doing business in Florida as [____________________], its successors and assigns. 

"Development" means the multifamily rental housing facilities to be known as Desert 

Winds and Silver Creek Apartments, which consists of approximately 304 apartment units and 

related facilities to be located in Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida. 

"Dissemination Agent" means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a 

national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of 

America and its permitted successors and assigns as Dissemination Agent under the 

Continuing Disclosure Agreement. 

"Dissemination Agent Fee" means a portion of the Trustee's Fee payable to The Bank of 

New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., in its capacity as Dissemination Agent pursuant to the 

Continuing Disclosure Agreement. 



8 

"Documents" means and shall include (without limitation), with respect to the Bonds, this 

Indenture, the Bond Documents, the Borrower Documents, the Guarantor Documents and any 

and all other documents which the Issuer, the Borrower or any other party or parties or their 

representatives, have executed and delivered, or may hereafter execute and deliver, to evidence 

or secure the Bonds and the Borrower's Obligations, or any part thereof, or in connection 

therewith, and any and all supplements thereto. 

"Effective Date" shall mean the issuance date of the Bonds. 

"Environmental Indemnity" means the Environmental Indemnity Agreement, dated as of 

December 1, 2018, from the Guarantors, jointly and severally, in favor of the Issuer and the 

Trustee. 

"Event of Default" or "Default" means, when used in this Indenture, those events of default 

or defaults specified in Section 10.01 hereof and, when used in the Bond Loan Agreement, those 

events of default or defaults specified in Section 7.01 thereof. 

"Expense Fund" means the fund by that name created and established pursuant to 

Section 4.01 of this Indenture. 

"GNMA" means the Government National Mortgage Association. 

"Governmental Authority" means any federal, State or local governmental or 

quasi-governmental entity, including, without limitation, any agency, department, commission, 

board, bureau, administration, service, or other instrumentality of any governmental entity. 

"Government Obligations" means direct obligations issued by the United States of America 

including obligations issued or held in book-entry form on the books of the Department of the 

Treasury of the United States of America, including, when available, time deposit SLGS, on 

which the full and timely payment of principal and interest is unconditionally guaranteed by 

the United States of America. 

"Governmental Requirements" means all laws, ordinances, orders, rules or regulations of 

all Governmental Authorities applicable to the Development, the Issuer, the Borrower or any of 

the Borrower's assets or other properties, including without limitation, laws, ordinances, orders, 

rules and regulations relating to securities or other public disclosures, zoning, licenses, permits, 

subdivision, building, safety, health, and fire protection and all environmental laws. 

"Guarantor" and "Guarantors" means, individually and collectively, LRC Desert-Silver, 

LLC, a Florida limited liability company; LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida limited liability 

company; LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; LEDIC Realty Company, LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company; LEDIC Realty Management, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company and W. Daniel Hughes, Jr., individually, together with their respective 

permitted successors and assigns. 



9 

"Guarantor Documents" means, collectively, the Environmental Indemnity, the Guaranty 

of Completion, the Guaranty of Recourse Obligations, and the Operating Deficit Guaranty. 

"Guaranty of Completion" means the Absolute and Unconditional Guaranty of 

Completion, dated as of December 1, 2018, from the Guarantors, jointly and severally, in favor 

of the Issuer and the Trustee. 

"Guaranty of Recourse Obligations" means the Continuing, Absolute and Unconditional 

Guaranty of Recourse Obligations, dated as of December 1, 2018, from the Guarantors, jointly 

and severally, in favor of the Issuer and the Trustee. 

"Hazardous Materials" means petroleum and petroleum products and compounds 

containing them, including gasoline, diesel fuel and oil; explosives; flammable materials; 

radioactive materials; polychlorinated biphenyls ("PCBS") and compounds containing them; 

lead and lead based paint; asbestos or asbestos containing materials in any form that is or could 

become friable; underground or above ground storage tanks, whether empty or containing any 

substance; any substance the presence of which at the Development is prohibited by any 

federal, state or local authority; any substance that requires special handling under any 

Hazardous Materials Law; and any other material or substance now or in the future defined as 

a "hazardous substance," "hazardous material," "hazardous waste," "toxic substance," "toxic 

pollutant," "contaminant," or "pollutant" within the meaning of any Hazardous Materials Law, 

but does not include any such substance that is a customary and ordinary household, cleaning, 

office, swimming pool or landscape maintenance product used on the Development by the 

Borrower or any tenant or agent of the Borrower, or customary construction materials used 

during the course of rehabilitation and equipping of the Development by the Borrower or the 

Contractor, provided such use is in accordance with applicable hazardous material laws. 

"Hazardous Materials Law" means all federal, state, and local laws, ordinances and 

regulations and standards, rules, policies and other governmental requirements, administrative 

rulings and court judgments and decrees in effect now or in the future and including all 

amendments, that relate to Hazardous Materials and apply to Borrower or to the Development.  

Hazardous Materials Laws include, but are not limited to, the Comprehensive Environmental 

Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 9601, et seq., the Resource 

Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 6901, et seq., the Toxic Substance Control Act, 

15 U.S.C. Section 2601, et seq., the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. Section 1251, et seq., and the 

Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. Section 5101, and their state analogs, 

including laws of the State. 

"HUD" means the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development.

"HUD Regulatory Agreement" means the Regulatory Agreement for Multifamily Projects 

between the Borrower and HUD, as amended or supplemented from time to time. 

"Indenture" means this Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2018, between the Issuer 

and the Trustee, and any and all Supplements hereto, authorizing the issuance of the Bonds. 



10 

"Independent" means any person not an employee or officer of the Borrower or its 

affiliates. 

"Interest Payment Date" means each June 1 and December 1, beginning June 1, 2019. 

"Investment Member" means PNC LIHTC Fund 70, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company, and its permitted successors and assigns in their capacity as the investment member 

of the Borrower. 

"Issuer" means the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority, a public body corporate and 

politic of the State of Florida, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, 

including the Act, or any successor to its rights and obligations under the Bond Loan 

Agreement and this Indenture. 

"Issuer Costs of Issuance" means the fees, costs and expenses incurred by the Issuer in 

connection with the issuance of the Bonds, payable from the Issuer Costs of Issuance Account. 

"Issuer Costs of Issuance Account" means the Account by that name created in the Cost of 

Issuance Fund pursuant to Section 4.01(f). 

"Issuer Documents" means the Bond Loan Agreement, this Indenture, the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Arbitrage Certificate, the Arbitrage 

Rebate Agreement and any and all documents, agreements or instruments executed by the 

Issuer in connection with the Loan evidenced by the Bond Loan Agreement. 

"Issuer Fee" means an issuance fee of $55,000 due and payable on the Closing Date and a 

program fee of $165,000 due on the earlier to occur of the date of redemption or Maturity Date 

of the Bonds. 

"Issuer Indemnified Party" or "Issuer Indemnified Parties" means the Issuer, the past, present 

and future members of the Issuer, executives, employees and agents, individually and 

collectively. 

"Issuer Servicer" means Seltzer, or any other servicer appointed by the Issuer to service 

the Loan on behalf of Issuer and to monitor the Development. 

"Issuer Servicer Documents" means the Compliance Monitoring Agreement and the 

Servicing Agreement. 

"Issuer Servicer Fee" means the fees and expenses of the Issuer Servicer as may be 

amended from time to time, and as provided in the Issuer Servicer Documents. 

"Land Use Restriction Agreement" means the Land Use Restriction Agreement dated as of 

the same date as the Indenture by and among the Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower relating 

to the Bonds and containing certain occupancy and income restrictions on the Development 



11 

required by the Code, and any and all modifications thereof, amendments and Supplements 

thereto and substitutions therefor. 

"Lender" means Highland Commercial Mortgage, and its successors and assigns. 

"Lender Borrower Note" means the $[25,326,000] Note (Multistate) dated as of December 1, 

2018, from Borrower to the Lender to evidence its indebtedness under the Lender Loan and 

endorsed by HUD. 

"Lender Collateral Deposit" shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 4.03. 

"Lender Loan" means the loan made by the Lender to the Borrower in the original 

principal amount not to exceed $[25,326,000], as evidenced by the Lender Borrower Note and 

secured by the Lender Mortgage. 

"Lender Loan Documents" means the documents related to the Lender Loan, including the  

the Lender Borrower Note, the Lender Mortgage, the HUD Regulatory Agreement and any and 

all other documents, agreements, or instruments which evidence or secure the indebtedness 

evidenced by the Lender Borrower Note. 

"Lender Mortgage" means the first-lien priority Multifamily Mortgage, Assignment of 

Leases and Rents and Security Agreement (Florida) dated as of December 1, 2018, from 

Borrower for the benefit of the Lender to secure the repayment of the Lender Borrower Note. 

"Loan" means the loan in the principal amount of $22,000,000 made by the Issuer to the 

Borrower evidenced by the Note, described in the Bond Loan Agreement and made in 

connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

"Loan Documents" shall mean the Bond Loan Agreement and the Note. 

"Manager" means LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC a Florida limited liability company, as 

managing member of the Borrower. 

"Mandatory Tender Date" means December 1, 2020. 

"Maturity Date" means December 1, 2021. 

"Note" means the Promissory Note, dated the Closing Date, from the Borrower to the 

Issuer in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B to the Bond Loan Agreement, and any 

amendments, supplements or modifications thereto, which Note has been assigned by the 

Issuer to the Trustee. 



12 

"Notice Address" means, unless otherwise designated pursuant to Section 13.06 hereof: 

(a) As to the Issuer: 

Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor 

Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

Attention:  Finance Director 

Facsimile:  (850) 488-9809 

(b) As to the Borrower: 

LRC Desert-Silver, LLC 

105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 300 

Montgomery, Alabama 36104 

Attention:  Tyler Hunt 

With copies to: 

Balch & Bingham LLP 

105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 200 

Montgomery, Alabama 36104 

Attention:  Walter H. C. McKay, Esquire 

(c) As to Investment Member: 

PNC LIHTC Fund 70, LLC 

121 SW Morrison, Suite 1300 

Portland, Oregon 97204 

Attention:  Asset Manager 

Telephone:  [___________] 

Facsimile:  [_________] 

Email:  [_____________] 

With copies to: 

Kutak Rock LLLP 

1650 Farnam Street 

Omaha, Nebraska 68102 

Attention:  Winifred Hawkins, Esquire 

Telephone:  (402) 231-8832 

Facsimile:  [_________] 

Email:  winifred.hawkins@kutakrock.com 



13 

(d) As to the Rating Agency: 

S&P Global Ratings 

55 Water Street, 38th Floor 

New York, New York  10041 

Attention:  Public Finance Structured Surveillance 

Email: Pubfin_housing@spglobal.com 

(e) As to the Trustee: 

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. 

10161 Centurion Parkway N. 

Jacksonville, Florida 32256 

Attention:  Corporate Trust Department 

Facsimile:  (904) 645-1998 

(f) As to Lender: 

[Highland Commercial Mortgage 

13400 Northumberland Circle 

Wellington, Florida 33414] 

Attention:  [___________] 

Telephone:  [___________] 

Facsimile:  [___________] 

Email:  [___________] 

With copies to: 

Germer PLLC 

550 Fannin, Suite 400 

Beaumont, Texas 77701 

Attention:  Scott Crutchfield, Esquire 

Telephone:  (409) 813-8073 

Email:  scrutchfield@germer.com 

"Official Statement" means the Official Statement dated [____________ __], 2018, relating 

to the Bonds.  

"Operating Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 

Agreement of the Borrower, dated December 1, 2018, as may be amended and supplemented 

from time to time.  

"Operating Deficit Guaranty" means the Continuing, Absolute and Unconditional 

Guaranty of Operating Deficits, dated as of December 1, 2018, from the Guarantors, jointly and 

severally, to the Issuer and the Trustee.  



14 

"Outstanding," "outstanding" or "Bonds Outstanding" when used with respect to the Bonds 

means any Bonds theretofore authenticated and delivered under this Indenture, except: 

(a) Bonds theretofore canceled by the Trustee or theretofore delivered to the Trustee 

for cancellation; 

(b) Bonds for the payment of which moneys or obligations shall have been 

theretofore deposited with the Trustee in accordance with Article VIII; or 

(c) Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other Bonds have been authenticated 

and delivered under this Indenture. 

"Permitted Investments" means (i) Government Obligations, (ii) to the extent permitted 

herein, money market funds rated "AAAm" by S&P that invest in Government Obligations 

which funds are registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and which meet the 

requirements of Rule 2(a)(7) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (including 

any money market funds of the Trustee or its affiliates or for which the Trustee or an affiliate 

thereof serves as investment advisor or provides other services to such money market fund and 

receives reasonable compensation therefor), and (iii) Fidelity Institutional Money Market 

Treasury Only – Class I as long as it is rated "AAAm" by S&P.  Ratings of Permitted 

Investments shall be determined at the time of purchase of such Permitted Investments and 

without regard to ratings subcategories, and the Trustee shall have no responsibility to monitor 

the ratings or Permitted Investments after the initial purchase of such Permitted Investments. 

"Person" shall include an individual, association, unincorporated organization, 

corporation, partnership, joint venture, or government or agency or political subdivision 

thereof. 

"Plans and Specifications" means the plans and specifications and/or the scope of work for 

the Development, together with such amendments thereto as are made from time to time in 

accordance with Section 5.07 of the Bond Loan Agreement. 

"Preference Proof Moneys" means (i) moneys drawn on a letter of credit, (ii) proceeds of 

the Bonds, (iii) proceeds of the Lender Loan deposited with the Trustee on behalf of the 

Borrower, or (iv) moneys in connection with which the Trustee shall have been delivered an 

opinion of bankruptcy counsel acceptable to it to the effect that the use of such moneys would 

not be avoidable as a preference under Section 547 of the United States Bankruptcy Code or give 

rise to a stay under Section 362(a) of the United States Bankruptcy Code.  

"Proceeds Certificate" means the Proceeds Certificate, dated the Closing Date, executed by 

the Borrower in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

"Project Cost Certificate" means the Project Cost Certificate, dated the Closing Date, 

executed by the Borrower in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 



15 

"Project Fund" means the Project Fund created in Section 4.01 of this Indenture. 

"Qualified Project Costs" means any expenditures which (a) are incurred not more than 

60 days prior to the date on which the Issuer first declared its "official intent" (within the 

meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.150-2) with respect to the Development (other than 

preliminary expenditures with respect to the Development in an amount not exceeding 20% of 

the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds); (b) are made exclusively to provide facilities and 

improvements that constitute part of a "qualified residential rental project" within the meaning 

of Section 142(d) of the Code; and (c) are properly chargeable to the Development's capital 

account under general federal income tax principles or that would be so chargeable with a 

proper election or but for a proper election by the Borrower to deduct such expenditure.  

However, "Qualified Project Costs" do not include (i) issuance costs of the Bonds (within the 

meaning of Section 147(g) of the Code) or (ii) any fee, charge or profit payable to the Borrower 

or a "related person" (within the meaning of Section 144(a)(3) of the Code).  As used herein, the 

term "preliminary expenditures" includes architectural, engineering, surveying, soil testing and 

similar costs that were incurred prior to the commencement of acquisition, rehabilitation and 

equipping of the Development, but does not include land acquisition, site preparation and 

similar costs incident to commencement of renovation and equipping of the Development. 

"Rating Agency" means S&P. 

"Rebate Requirement" means the amount, if any, which is to be paid to the United States of 

America pursuant to Section 148(f) of the Code and Section 5.01 hereof or to reduce the yield on 

investments to the yield on the Bonds pursuant to Section 148 of the Code. 

"Rebate Analyst" means a certified public accountant, financial analyst or attorney, or any 

firm of the foregoing, or a financial institution (which may include the Trustee) experienced in 

making the arbitrage and rebate calculations required pursuant to Section 148 of the Code and 

selected by the Issuer and at the expense of the Borrower (payable from the Program Fee paid 

by the Borrower). 

"Rebate Fund" means the Rebate Fund created in Section 4.01 of this Indenture. 

"Record Date" means the 15th day of the month preceding the date on which interest is 

due and payable. 

“Remarketing Agent” means initially RBC Capital Markets, LLC, and any successor 

Remarketing Agent that may be appointed by the Borrower. 

“Remarketing Agreement” means the Remarketing Agreement, dated as of even date with 

this Indenture, between the Borrower and the Remarketing Agent. 

“Remarketing Notice Parties” means the Borrower, the Issuer, the Trustee, the 

Remarketing Agent, the Investment Member and the Rating Agency. 



16 

“Remarketing Rate” means the interest rate or rates established pursuant to Article III 

hereof and borne by the Bonds then Outstanding from and including the Mandatory Tender 

Date to the Maturity Date. 

"Requisition" means (a) the request signed by the Borrower Representative to make a 

disbursement from the Project Fund on a Construction Draw Date in the manner provided 

pursuant to Section 6.02 of this Indenture or (b) the request signed by the Borrower 

Representative to make a disbursement from the Costs of Issuance Fund in the manner 

provided pursuant to Section 4.04(b) of this Indenture. 

"Reserve Fund" means that Repair Reserve Fund created pursuant to the [___________] 

and held by the Lender. 

"Resolutions" means the resolutions adopted by the Issuer on June 18, 2018 and 

November 28, 2018, duly authorizing and directing the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds. 

"Responsible Officer" means, when used with respect to the Trustee, any vice president, 

assistant vice president, senior associate, associate or other officer of the Trustee within the 

Trust Office (or any successor corporate trust office) customarily performing functions similar 

to those performed by the persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, or to 

whom any corporate trust matter is referred at the Trust Office because of such person's 

knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject and having direct responsibility for the 

administration of this Indenture. 

"Revenues" means, all payments paid or payable to the Trustee in accordance with the 

Bond Loan Agreement, the Loan and the Note and all investment earnings derived or to be 

derived on any moneys or investments held by the Trustee hereunder, but excluding 

(a) amounts paid as fees, reimbursement for expenses or for indemnification of any Issuer 

Indemnified Party and the Trustee, (b) amounts paid to or collected by the Issuer in connection 

with any Unassigned Rights of the Issuer and (c) any Rebate Requirement. 

"Securities Depository" means the Depository Trust Company, its successors and assigns, 

or any other securities depository for the Bonds designated by the Issuer or the Borrower to the 

Trustee in writing. 

"Seltzer" means Seltzer Management Group, Inc., a Florida corporation, its successors 

and assigns.  

"Servicing Agreement" means the Construction and Loan and Servicing Agreement, dated 

as of December 1, 2018, by and among the Issuer, the Trustee, the Borrower and Seltzer. 

"SLGS" means United States Treasuries – State and Local Government Series. 

"S&P" means S&P Global Ratings, its successors and assigns, and, if such corporation 

shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating 



17 

agency, "S&P" shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating 

agency designated by the Issuer with the approval of the Borrower. 

"State" means the State of Florida. 

"Supplement" or "Supplements" means any and all extensions, renewals, modifications, 

amendments, supplements and substitutions to this Indenture. 

"Tax Certificates" means, collectively, the Arbitrage Certificate and the Proceeds 

Certificate. 

"Term of Agreement" means the term of the Bond Loan Agreement as specified in 

Section 9.01 of the Bond Loan Agreement. 

"Trustee" means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking 

association duly organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, and 

authorized to exercise corporate trust powers in the State, having a corporate trust office in 

Jacksonville, Florida, and its successor or successors in the trust created by this Indenture. 

"Trustee's Fee" means the ongoing compensation and expenses payable to the Trustee as 

follows: (a) the acceptance fee of the Trustee of $[_______] payable on the Closing Date; (b) the 

annual administration fees and expenses of the Trustee, as Trustee, Registrar and Paying Agent 

of $[_______] for the ordinary services of the Trustee rendered under this Indenture during each 

twelve month period, payable semiannually in arrears on each Interest Payment Date; (c) the 

reasonable fees and charges of the Trustee for necessary extraordinary services rendered by it 

and extraordinary expenses incurred by it under this Indenture as and when the same become 

due, including reasonable counsel fees (including in-house counsel fees and fees prior to 

litigation, at trial, in insolvency proceedings or for appellate proceedings); provided, further, 

that the Trustee shall not be required to undertake any such extraordinary services unless 

provision for payment of extraordinary expenses satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been 

made; (d) for purposes of the Bond Loan Agreement, indemnification of the Trustee by the 

Borrower; and (e) the annual Dissemination Agent Fee under the Continuing Disclosure 

Agreement, shall be $[_______] per year, payable semiannually on each June 1 and December 1. 

"Trust Estate" has the meaning given such term in the Granting Clauses of this Trust 

Indenture. 

"Trust Office" means the corporate trust office of the Trustee located at the address set 

forth in Article I hereof or such other office designated by the Trustee from time to time, or such 

other offices as may be specified in writing to the Issuer by the Trustee. 

"Unassigned Rights of the Issuer" and "Unassigned Rights" means the rights of the Issuer 

consisting of:  (a) all rights which the Issuer Indemnified Parties may have under this Indenture, 

the Bond Loan Agreement and other Documents to indemnification by the Borrower and by 

any other persons and to payments for expenses incurred by the Issuer itself, or its officers, 



18 

directors, officials, agents or employees; (b) the right of the Issuer to give and receive notices, 

reports or other information, make determinations and grant approvals hereunder and under 

the Documents; (c) the right of the Issuer to give and withhold consents and approvals 

hereunder and under the Documents; (d) the right of the Issuer to give and receive its fees and 

expenses pursuant to the Bond Loan Agreement and the Land Use Restriction Agreement; 

(e) all rights of the Issuer not otherwise assigned to the Trustee to enforce the representations, 

warranties, covenants and agreements of the Borrower pertaining in any manner or way, 

directly or indirectly to the requirements of the Act or any requirements imposed by the Issuer 

with respect to the Development, or necessary to assure that interest on the Bonds is excluded 

from gross income for federal income tax purposes, as are set forth in any of the Documents or 

in any other certificate or agreement executed by the Borrower; (f) all rights of the Issuer in 

connection with any amendment to or modification of the Documents; and (g) all enforcement 

remedies with respect to the foregoing. 

"Underwriter" means RBC Capital Markets, LLC. 

Section 1.02. Rules of Construction. The words "hereof," "herein," "hereunder," 

"hereto," and other words of similar import refer to this Indenture in its entirety. 

The terms "agree" and "agreements" contained herein are intended to include and mean 

"covenant" and "covenants." 

References to Articles, Sections, and other subdivisions of this Indenture are to the 

designated Articles, Sections, and other subdivisions of this Indenture. 

The headings of this Indenture are for convenience only and shall not define or limit the 

provisions hereof. 

All references made (a) in the neuter, masculine or feminine gender shall be deemed to 

have been made in all such genders, and (b) in the singular or plural number shall be deemed to 

have been made, respectively, in the plural or singular number as well. 

Any reference to particular sections or subsections of the Code and applicable income 

tax regulations shall include any successor provisions of law or regulations, to the extent the 

same shall apply to the Bonds. 

Any reference to a Bond or to the Bonds shall include each portion in the minimum 

authorized denomination of any registered bond having a denomination greater than the 

minimum authorized denomination. 



19 

ARTICLE II 

CREATION OF BONDS; DETAILS OF THE BONDS 

Section 2.01. Authorization and Terms of Bonds.

(a) Authorization of Bonds.  The Issuer hereby authorizes for issuance under 

this Indenture, bonds in the original aggregate principal amount of $22,000,000 which 

shall be designated the "Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily Housing 

Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018" to be issued as hereinafter provided. 

(b) Registered Form; Numbering.  The Bonds shall be issuable only as fully 

registered Bonds in authorized denominations, substantially in the form, appropriately 

completed, attached hereto as Exhibit A and made a part hereof.  The Bonds shall be 

lettered "R," and shall be numbered separately from "1" consecutively upward. 

(c) Date, Denominations, Interest Rate and Maturity.  The Bonds shall be dated 

the Closing Date, shall be issued in denominations of $5,000 each or integral multiples 

thereof, shall bear interest from the Closing Date to the Mandatory Tender Date at the 

rate of [____]% and thereafter at the Remarketing Rate, payable semiannually on each 

Interest Payment Date and shall mature on the Maturity Date. 

(d) Book Entry Form.  Initially, the Bonds shall be in Book Entry Form by 

issuing a single bond in the amount of $22,000,000, registered in the name of Cede & Co., 

as nominee for DTC.  In the event DTC discontinues its service with respect to the Bonds 

and the Book Entry System is terminated, replacement Bonds shall be issued in 

authorized denominations. 

(e) Dates from Which Interest Payable.  The Bonds shall bear interest from the 

Interest Payment Date next preceding the date on which it is authenticated, unless 

authenticated on an Interest Payment Date, in which case it shall bear interest from such 

Interest Payment Date, or, unless authenticated prior to the first Interest Payment Date, 

in which case it shall bear interest from its date; provided, however, if at the time of 

authentication of any Bond, the Issuer is in default with respect to the payment of 

interest thereon, such Bond shall bear interest from the date to which interest shall have 

been paid.  Interest payable on the Bonds shall be calculated on the basis of a 360 day 

year of twelve 30-day months. 

(f) Medium and Place of Payment.  Principal of and interest on the Bonds shall 

be payable in lawful money of the United States of America which, at the respective 

times of payment, is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts, but only 

from the Revenues and any other monies made available to the Issuer for such purpose.  

Principal of the Bonds shall be payable at Trust Office of the Trustee upon presentation 

and surrender of the Bonds as the same become due, and upon the request of any 

registered owner of Bonds on the applicable Record Date having an aggregate principal 



20 

amount of $1,000,000 or more, such principal shall be paid by wire transfer of 

immediately available funds from the Trustee to the bank and account number specified 

by such Owner in writing to the Trustee.  Interest on the Bonds shall be payable to the 

registered Owners of the Bonds by check or draft mailed to such Owners at their 

addresses as they appear on registration books kept by the Trustee as Bond Registrar, or, 

upon the request of any registered Owner of Bonds having an aggregate principal 

amount of $1,000,000 or more, by wire transfer of immediately available funds from the 

Trustee to the domestic bank and account number specified by such Owner in writing to 

the Trustee at least three (3) Business Days prior to the applicable payment date. 

(g) Form of Bonds.  The definitive Bonds, which may be printed, typewritten, 

photocopied, or otherwise reproduced, including the Trustee's Certificate of 

Authentication to be endorsed thereon, shall be substantially in the form as set forth in 

Exhibit A attached hereto with such appropriate variations, omissions and insertions as 

permitted or required by this Indenture. 

(h) Payments or Actions to be taken on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays.  In any 

case where the date of any action required hereunder to be taken or the date of maturity 

of interest on or principal of the Bonds, shall not be a Business Day, then payment of 

interest or principal or the taking of such action need not be made or taken on such date 

but may be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as 

if made on the date of maturity or the date such action was to be taken. 

Section 2.02. Source of Payment of Bonds. The Issuer covenants that it will promptly 

pay the principal of and the interest on the Bonds only out of (a) the Revenues pledged for the 

payment thereof under this Indenture, (b) the amounts held in any fund or account created 

under this Indenture, other than amounts held in the Rebate Fund or the Expense Fund, and 

(c) from any other moneys held pursuant to the Trust Estate.  Nothing in the Bonds or in this 

Indenture shall be construed as pledging any other funds or assets of the Issuer.  All the Bonds 

to be issued hereunder shall be equally and ratably secured, to the extent provided herein, by 

this Indenture. 

Section 2.03. Execution of Bonds.  The Bonds shall be executed on behalf of the Issuer 

by the manual or facsimile signature of the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Issuer, and the 

seal of the Issuer or a facsimile thereof shall be impressed or otherwise reproduced thereon and 

attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary of the 

Issuer.  In case any authorized officer of the Issuer whose signature or a facsimile of whose 

signature shall appear on any of the Bonds shall cease to be an authorized officer of the Issuer 

before the delivery of such Bonds, such signature or such facsimile signature thereof shall 

nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes, the same as if such authorized officer of the 

Issuer had remained in office until delivery.  Any Bond may be signed on behalf of the Issuer by 

such authorized officers as are at the time of execution of such Bond proper officers of the 

Issuer, even though at the date of such Bond, such authorized officer was not such officer.  



21 

Furthermore, it shall not be necessary that the same authorized officer of the Issuer sign all of 

the Bonds that may be issued hereunder at any one time or from time to time. 

Section 2.04. Certificate of Authentication.  Only such Bonds as shall have endorsed 

thereon a certificate of authentication substantially in the form set forth in the form of the Bond 

herein provided and duly executed by the Trustee shall be entitled to any right or benefit under 

this Indenture.  No Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose unless and until such 

certificate of authentication shall have been duly executed by the Trustee, and such executed 

certificate of the Trustee upon any such Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Bond has 

been authenticated and delivered under this Indenture.  The Trustee's certificate of 

authentication on any Bond shall be deemed to have been executed by it if manually signed by 

an authorized officer of the Trustee, but it shall not be necessary that the same person sign the 

certificate of authentication on all of the Bonds issued hereunder.  At the time of authentication 

of any Bond, the Trustee shall insert therein the date from which interest on such Bond shall be 

payable as provided in Section 2.01(e) hereof. 

Section 2.05. Authentication and Delivery of Bonds.   The Issuer shall execute and 

deliver to the Trustee, and the Trustee shall authenticate the Bonds and deliver them to the 

purchaser or purchasers as may be directed by the Issuer as provided in this Section. Prior to 

the authentication by the Trustee of the Bonds, there shall have been filed with the Trustee: 

(a) A copy, certified by an authorized officer of the Issuer, of the Resolutions 

adopted by the Issuer relating to the Bonds, authorizing the execution, delivery and 

performance of this Indenture and the Bond Loan Agreement; 

(b) A fully executed counterpart of this Indenture;  

(c) A fully executed counterpart of the Bond Loan Agreement, the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement, the Tax Certificates, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the 

Guarantor Documents and the original, fully executed Note; 

(d) An opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the interest payable on the 

Bonds is excludable from the gross income of the holder thereof for federal income tax 

purposes; 

(e) An opinion or opinions of counsel to the Issuer addressed to the Issuer 

and the Trustee to the effect that the Bonds and the Issuer Documents have been duly 

executed and delivered by the Issuer and constitute valid and binding obligations of the 

Issuer, enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with their respective terms, subject 

to bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally, and with 

respect to certain remedies which require, or may require, enforcement by a court of 

equity, such principles of equity as the court having jurisdiction may impose;  

(f) A request and authorization signed by an authorized officer of the Issuer 

authorizing the Trustee to authenticate and to deliver the Bonds to the purchaser or 



22 

purchasers therein identified upon payment to the Trustee for the account of the Issuer 

of the amount specified in such request and authorization plus accrued interest, if any, 

thereon to the date of delivery; and 

(g) written evidence from the Rating Agency confirming that the Bonds have 

been assigned a rating of "AA+";  

(h) the Capitalized Interest Deposit, for deposit to the Capitalized Interest 

Account;  

(i) the Costs of Issuance Deposit for deposit to the Cost of Issuance Fund; 

and 

(j) copies of all initial financing statements to be filed by the Borrower upon 

issuance of the Bonds. 

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds shall be paid over directly to the Trustee and 

deposited to the credit of the Project Fund, as provided under Article VI hereof. 

Section 2.06. Temporary Bonds.   Until Bonds in definitive form are ready for 

delivery, the Issuer may execute, and upon its request in writing, the Trustee shall authenticate 

and deliver in lieu of any thereof, and subject to the same provisions, limitations and 

conditions, one or more printed, typewritten or photocopied Bonds in temporary form, 

substantially of the tenor of the Bonds herein described, and with appropriate omissions, 

variations and insertions.  Such Bond or Bonds in temporary form shall be delivered in 

denominations authorized by this Indenture, may be numbered using the prefix "T" before any 

number thereon as authorized by this Indenture, and may bear a legend thereon setting forth 

the terms for the exchange thereof for Bonds in definitive form.  Until exchanged for Bonds in 

definitive form, such Bonds in temporary form shall be entitled to the benefit of this Indenture.  

The Issuer shall, without unreasonable delay (unless the Holders of the Bonds issued in 

temporary form agree otherwise), prepare, execute and deliver to the Trustee, and thereupon, 

upon the presentation and surrender of the Bond or Bonds in temporary form, the Trustee shall 

authenticate and deliver, in exchange therefor, a Bond in a definitive authorized form in 

authorized denominations, of the same maturity or maturities, bearing the same interest rate or 

rates and for the same aggregate principal amount as the Bond in temporary form surrendered.  

Such exchange shall be made by the Issuer at the Borrower's expense and without making any 

charge to the Holders of the Bonds therefor.  

Section 2.07. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds.   In the event any Bond is 

mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Issuer may execute and the Trustee may authenticate a 

new Bond of like date, maturity, interest rate and denomination as that of the Bond mutilated, 

lost, stolen or destroyed; provided that, in the case of any mutilated Bond, such mutilated Bond 

shall first be surrendered to the Trustee, and in the case of any lost, stolen or destroyed Bond 

there shall be first furnished to the Issuer and the Trustee evidence of such loss, theft or 

destruction satisfactory to the Issuer and the Trustee, together with indemnity satisfactory to 



23 

them.  The Trustee may, with the consent of the Holder, provide to the Holder a typewritten (or 

similarly reproduced) Bond certificate in lieu of a printed Bond certificate.  In the event any 

such Bond shall have matured, instead of issuing a duplicate Bond the Trustee may pay the 

same without surrender thereof.  The Issuer and the Trustee may charge the Holder of such 

Bond their expenses and reasonable fees, if any, in connection with the preparation, execution 

and authentication of a replacement Bond.  

Section 2.08. Registration, Negotiability, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds.   All of 

the Bonds issued under this Indenture shall be negotiable, subject to the provisions for 

registration and transfer contained in this Indenture and in the Bonds.  So long as any of the 

Bonds shall remain outstanding, the Issuer shall maintain and keep at the Trust Office of the 

Trustee, books for the registration and transfer of Bonds; and, upon presentation thereof for 

such purpose at such office, the Trustee shall register or cause to be registered therein, and 

permit to be transferred thereon, under such reasonable regulations as the Issuer or the Trustee 

may prescribe, any Bond entitled to registration or transfer.  

Each Bond shall be transferable only upon the books of the Issuer maintained for such 

purpose by the Trustee, at the written request of the registered Owner thereof or his attorney 

duly authorized in writing, upon presentation and surrender thereof, together with a written 

instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Trustee duly executed by the registered Owner or his 

attorney duly authorized in writing.  Upon the surrender for transfer of any Bond, the Issuer 

shall issue, and the Trustee shall authenticate, in the name of the transferee, in Authorized 

Denominations, a new Bond or Bonds without coupons of the same aggregate principal 

amount, series, maturity and interest rate as the surrendered Bond. 

The Issuer and the Trustee shall deem and treat the person in whose name any 

Outstanding registered Bond shall be registered upon the books of the Issuer as the absolute 

Owner of such Bond, whether such Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving 

payment of, or on account of, the principal of and interest on such Bond and for all other 

purposes, and all such payments so made to any such registered Owner or upon his order shall 

be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the 

sum or sums so paid, and neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall be affected by any notice to 

the contrary. 

For every exchange or transfer of Bonds, whether temporary or definitive, the Issuer or 

the Trustee may make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax or other governmental 

charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer which sum or sums shall 

be paid by the person requesting such exchange or transfer as a condition precedent to the 

exercise of the privilege of making such exchange or transfer.  Notwithstanding any other 

provision of this Indenture to the contrary, any expenses of the Issuer or the Trustee incurred in 

connection therewith (except any applicable tax or other governmental charge) shall be paid by 

the Borrower as required by the Bond Loan Agreement.  The Issuer shall not be obligated to 

make any such exchange or transfer of Bonds during the fifteen (15) days next preceding an 

Interest Payment Date. 



24 

Section 2.09. Limited Obligation.   THE ISSUER HAS NO TAXING POWER.  THE 

BONDS SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE AN OBLIGATION, EITHER GENERAL OR SPECIAL, OF 

THE STATE OR ANY LOCAL GOVERNMENT THEREOF; AND NEITHER THE STATE NOR 

ANY LOCAL GOVERNMENT THEREOF SHALL BE LIABLE THEREON.  NEITHER THE 

FAITH, REVENUES, CREDIT NOR TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OR ANY LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT THEREOF SHALL BE PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL 

OF, PREMIUM (IF ANY), OR INTEREST ON THE BONDS.  THE BONDS ARE PAYABLE, AS 

TO PRINCIPAL, PREMIUM (IF ANY), AND INTEREST, SOLELY OUT OF THE TRUST 

ESTATE WHICH IS THE SOLE ASSET OF THE ISSUER PLEDGED THEREFOR.  

Section 2.10. Cancellation and Destruction of Bonds.   All Bonds which have been 

surrendered for payment, cancellation or for registration of transfer or exchange pursuant to 

Section 2.08 hereof shall be cancelled and destroyed by the Trustee and shall not be reissued, 

and a counterpart of the certificate of destruction evidencing such destruction shall be furnished 

by the Trustee to the Issuer and, upon written request therefor, to the Borrower.  Any Bonds so 

cancelled may be retained by the Trustee for such period of time as the Trustee may determine 

and shall be destroyed by the Trustee at the end of such period.  Any Bond so cancelled shall 

thereafter no longer be considered Outstanding for any purpose of this Indenture or the Bond 

Loan Agreement.  

Section 2.11. Book Entry System.  

(1) Except as provided in subparagraph 3 of this Section 2.11, the registered 

owner of all of the Bonds shall be, and the Bonds shall be registered in the name of, 

Cede & Co. ("Cede"), as nominee of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC").  Payment 

of semi-annual interest for any Bonds shall be made by transfer of same day funds to the 

account of Cede on the Interest Payment Date at the address indicated for Cede in the 

registration books of the Issuer kept by the Trustee. 

(2) The Bonds shall be initially issued in the form of a separate single fully 

registered bond in the amount of each separately stated maturity of the Bonds.  Upon 

initial issuance, the ownership of such Bonds shall be registered in the registry books of 

the Issuer kept by the Trustee in the name of Cede, as nominee of DTC.  With respect to 

Bonds registered in the registry books kept by the Trustee in the name of Cede, as 

nominee of DTC, the Issuer and the Trustee shall have no responsibility or obligation to 

any participant of DTC (a "Participant") or to any person for whom a Participant 

acquires an interest in the Bonds (a "Beneficial Owner").  Without limiting the 

immediately preceding sentence, the Issuer and the Trustee shall have no responsibility 

or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede or any 

Participant with respect to any ownership interest in the Bonds, (ii) the delivery to any 

Participant, any Beneficial Owner or any other person, other than DTC, of any notice 

with respect to the Bonds, or (iii) the payment to any Participant, any Beneficial Owner 

or any other person, other than DTC, of any amount with respect to the principal of or 

interest on the Bonds.  The Issuer and the Trustee may treat as and deem DTC to be the 



25 

absolute owner of each Bond for the purpose of payment of the principal of and interest 

on such Bond, and other matters with respect to such Bond, for the purpose of 

registering transfers with respect to such Bond, and for all other purposes whatsoever.  

The Trustee shall pay all principal of and interest on the Bonds only to or upon the order 

of DTC, and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge 

the Issuer's obligations with respect to the principal of and interest on the Bonds to the 

extent of the sum or sums so paid.  Payments of principal may be made without 

requiring the surrender of the Bonds, and the Issuer and Trustee shall not be liable for 

the failure of DTC or any successor thereto to properly indicate on the Bonds the 

payment of such principal.  No person other than DTC shall receive a Bond evidencing 

the obligation of the Issuer to make payments of principal of and interest on the Bonds 

pursuant to the Indenture.  Upon delivery by DTC to the Trustee of written notice to the 

effect that DTC has determined to substitute a new nominee in place of Cede, and 

subject to the transfer provisions hereof, the word "Cede" in the Indenture shall refer to 

such new nominee of DTC. 

(3)(a) DTC may determine to discontinue providing its services with respect to 

the Bonds at any time by giving written notice to the Issuer and discharging its 

responsibilities with respect thereto under applicable law.  Under such circumstances (if 

there is not a successor securities depository), Bond certificates will be delivered as 

described in the Indenture. 

(b) The Issuer, in its sole discretion and without the consent of any other 

person, may terminate the services of DTC with respect to the Bonds if the Issuer 

determines that:  (i) DTC is unable to discharge its responsibilities with respect to the 

Bonds or (ii) a continuation of the requirement that all of the Outstanding Bonds be 

registered in the registration books kept by the Trustee in the name of Cede, as nominee 

of DTC, is not in the best interest of the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds.  In the event 

that no substitute securities depository is found by the Issuer, or restricted registration is 

no longer in effect, Bond certificates will be delivered as described in this Indenture. 

(c) Upon the termination of the services of DTC with respect to the Bonds 

pursuant to subparagraph (3)(b)(ii) of this Section 2.11, or upon the discontinuance or 

termination of the services of DTC with respect to the Bonds pursuant to 

subparagraph (3)(a) or subparagraph (3)(b)(i) of this Section 2.11 after which no 

substitute securities depository willing to undertake the functions of DTC hereunder can 

be found which, in the opinion of the Issuer, is willing and able to undertake such 

functions upon reasonable and customary terms, the Bonds shall no longer be restricted 

to being registered in the registration books kept by the Trustee in the name of Cede as 

nominee of DTC, but may be registered in whatever name or names Bondholders 

transferring or exchanging Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of 

this Indenture. 



26 

(4) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture to the contrary, so 

long as any Bond is registered in the name of Cede, as nominee of DTC, all payments 

with respect to the principal of and interest on such Bond and all notices with respect to 

such Bond shall be made and given, respectively, to DTC as provided in the applicable 

Representation Letter of the Issuer addressed to DTC, dated the date of delivery and 

issuance of the Bonds. 

(5) In connection with any notice or other communication to be provided to 

Bondholders pursuant to this Indenture by the Issuer or the Trustee with respect to any 

consent or other action to be taken by the Bondholders, the Issuer or the Trustee, as the 

case may be, shall establish a special record date for such consent or other action and 

give DTC notice of such special record date not less than 15 calendar days in advance of 

such special record date to the extent possible. 

Section 2.12. Non-Presentment of Bonds.   Subject to the provisions of Section 11.21 

hereof, in the event any Bonds shall not be presented for payment when the principal thereof 

becomes due, either at maturity or otherwise, if funds sufficient to pay such Bonds shall have 

been made available to the Trustee for the benefit of the Holder or Holders thereof, all liability 

of the Issuer to the Holder thereof for the payment of such Bond shall forthwith cease, terminate 

and be completely discharged, and thereupon it shall be the duty of the Trustee to hold such 

fund or funds, without liability for interest thereon, for the benefit of the Holder of such Bond, 

who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively to such fund or funds, for any claim of whatever 

nature on its part under the Indenture or on, or with respect to, such Bond.  Any such Bonds 

shall cease to bear interest on the specified maturity and such Bonds or portions thereof shall no 

longer be protected by or subject to the benefit or security of this Indenture and shall not be 

deemed to be outstanding under the provisions of this Indenture. 

ARTICLE III 

REDEMPTION OF BONDS 

Section 3.01. Optional Redemption of Bonds.  The Bonds are not subject to 

redemption prior to the Mandatory Tender Date. 

On and after the Mandatory Tender Date, the Bonds may be redeemed, in whole but not 

in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the 

date fixed for redemption, which date, if any, shall be a Business Day determined by the 

Borrower in consultation with the Remarketing Agent, in the event the Borrower exercises the 

option to prepay the Note and amounts are paid from the proceeds of refunding bonds or 

otherwise from Preference Proof Moneys upon the written direction of the Borrower delivered 

to the Issuer and the Trustee.  

On each redemption date the Trustee shall transfer to the Bond Registrar, but only from 

and to the extent of funds held by the Trustee hereunder available for such purpose, an amount 



27 

sufficient to pay the redemption price of all Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed on such 

redemption date. 

Section 3.02. Purchase in Lieu of Redemption. 

(a) Any Bonds called for optional redemption under Section 3.01 of this 

Indenture may be purchased by the Borrower or by any other party designated in 

writing by the Borrower, on the date upon which such Bonds were to have been 

redeemed (the “Purchase in Lieu of Redemption Date”), at a purchase price equal to the 

redemption price thereof.  The Borrower shall give 35 days' advance written notice 

before the designated Purchase in Lieu of Redemption Date to the Trustee for which an 

election to purchase pursuant to this Section 3.02 is being made.  Bonds to be purchased 

pursuant to this Section 3.02 which are not delivered to the Trustee on the Purchase in 

Lieu of Redemption Date shall be deemed to have been so purchased, and the purchaser 

of such Bonds shall be the Owner of such Bonds for all purposes under this Indenture, 

and interest accruing on such Bonds on and after the Purchase in Lieu of Redemption 

Date shall be payable solely to the purchaser of the Bonds or any assignee(s) of its 

interest in such Bonds. 

(b) The purchase of Bonds in accordance with this Section 3.02 is not 

intended, and shall not be deemed to constitute, a redemption of such Bonds nor an 

extinguishment of the debt evidenced thereby. 

(c) The notice provided for in Section 3.03 hereof shall be given by the 

Trustee regardless of whether the Borrower intends to purchase the Bonds in lieu of 

redemption; however, the notice may include a statement(s) that the Bonds may be 

purchased in lieu of redemption, and related information as my be required or necessary 

to comply with the requirements and policies of DTC. 

Section 3.03. Notices of Redemption. 

(a) The Bonds shall be called for optional redemption pursuant to Section 

3.01 hereof by the Trustee as herein provided upon receipt by the Trustee and the Issuer, 

at least 25 days prior to the redemption date (unless a shorter notice shall be satisfactory 

to the Trustee), of a certificate of the Borrower specifying the provision or provisions of 

this Indenture pursuant to which such Bonds are to be called for redemption.  In the case 

of every redemption, the Trustee shall cause notice of such redemption to be given by 

mailing by first class mail postage prepaid a copy of the redemption notice to the 

Bondholders designated for redemption in whole or in part, at their addresses as the 

same shall last appear upon the registration records, in each case not more than 30 nor 

less than 20 days prior to the redemption date, provided, however, that failure to receive 

such notice, or any defect therein, shall not affect the validity of any proceedings for the 

redemption of such Bonds.  So long as the Bonds are in book entry form, notice of 

redemption will be given by the Trustee only to DTC or its successor.  Redemption is 



28 

conditioned upon the Trustee having sufficient moneys on deposit in the Project Fund 

and the Collateral Fund, on or prior to the redemption date, to redeem all of the Bonds 

called for redemption, and if the Trustee does not have sufficient funds for this purpose, 

no Bonds shall be redeemed.  The Trustee shall furnish the Borrower, the Investment 

Member, the Issuer, the Remarketing Agent and the Rating Agency with a copy of each 

notice of redemption given with respect to any optional redemption under Section 3.01 

hereof, as soon as practicable after the delivery of notice to the Bondholders. 

(b) Each notice of redemption shall specify the date fixed for redemption, the 

place or places of payment, that payment will be made upon presentation and surrender 

of the Bonds to be redeemed, that interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption will 

be paid as specified in said notice, and that on and after said date interest thereon will 

cease to accrue.  Each notice of redemption may also state that the redemption is 

conditioned on receipt of sufficient moneys for such redemption by the Trustee on or 

prior to the redemption date; if sufficient moneys are not so received, the redemption of 

the Bonds for which notice was given shall not be made. 

Section 3.04. Mandatory Tender. 

(a) The Bonds are subject to mandatory tender in whole and not in part on 

the Mandatory Tender Date and shall be purchased at a price equal to 100 percent of the 

principal amount of such Bonds, plus accrued interest, if any to the Mandatory Tender 

Date, and without premium. No later than 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on the 

Mandatory Tender Date, the Holders shall deliver the Bonds to the Trustee. The Trustee 

shall utilize the following sources of payments to pay the tender price of the Bonds not 

later than 1:30 p.m. New York City time on the Mandatory Tender Date, in the following 

priority; (i) amounts representing proceeds of remarketed Bonds received pursuant to 

Section 3.07(c) hereof, to pay the principal amount, plus accrued interest, of Bonds 

tendered for purchase, (ii) amounts on deposit in the Collateral Fund and the Project 

Fund, to pay the principal amount of Bonds tendered for purchase, (iii) amounts on 

deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account of the Bond Fund to pay the accrued interest, 

if any, on Bonds tendered for purchase, and (iv) any other Preference Proof Moneys 

available or made available for such purpose at the direction of the Borrower. 

(b) In the event that the conditions set forth in Section 3.06 hereof are not 

satisfied and/or the Trustee shall not have received remarketing proceeds on the 

Mandatory Tender Date equal to the principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding on 

such date, the Bonds shall be purchased in whole on the Mandatory Tender Date using 

amounts on deposit in the Collateral Fund, the Project Fund and the Bond Fund, and, 

immediately following such purchase, the Bonds shall be deemed redeemed on the 

Mandatory Tender Date and cancelled by the Trustee. 

(c) Not less than 30 days before the Mandatory Tender Date, the Trustee 

shall give written notice of mandatory tender and remarketing to the Holders by first 



29 

class mail, postage prepaid, at their respective addresses as they appear on registration 

books kept by the Trustee as Bond Registrar.  The notice shall state the Mandatory 

Tender Date and that: 

(1) all Outstanding Bonds are subject to mandatory tender for 

purchase on the Mandatory Tender Date and must be tendered for purchase on 

the Mandatory Tender Date; 

(2) all Outstanding Bonds will be purchased on the Mandatory 

Tender Date at a price equal to the principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds 

plus interest accrued to the Mandatory Tender Date; 

(3) Holders will not have the right to elect to retain their Bonds and 

any Bonds not tendered will nevertheless be deemed to have been tendered and 

will cease to bear interest from and after the Mandatory Tender Date; and 

(4) the address of the office of the Trustee at which Holders should 

deliver their Bonds for purchase on the Mandatory Tender Date. 

If notice is given as stated in this section, failure of any Holder to receive such notice, or 

any defect in the notice, shall not affect the remarketing or the validity of the proceedings for 

the remarketing of the Bonds. 

Section 3.05. Duties of Remarketing Agent. The Remarketing Agent shall do the 

following in connection with the remarketing of the Bonds: 

(a) Unless otherwise directed in writing by the Issuer, not less than ten (10) 

days before the Mandatory Tender Date, the Remarketing Agent shall offer for sale and 

use its best efforts to sell Bonds on the Mandatory Tender Date at a price equal to 100 

percent of the principal amount of such Bonds plus accrued interest, if any. 

(b) Establishment of Interest Rate In Connection With Remarketing of Bonds. 

(1) Establishment of Interest Rate.  From and after the Mandatory 

Tender Date, the Bonds shall bear interest at the Remarketing Rate determined 

pursuant to this subsection.  Any Remarketing Rate determined by the 

Remarketing Agent and taking effect pursuant to this Indenture for a 

remarketing period shall be conclusive and binding for the purposes of this 

Indenture upon the Trustee, the Issuer, the Borrower, and the Holders. 

(2) Determination of Remarketing Rate.  The Remarketing Agent shall 

determine the Remarketing Rate no later than five (5) Business Days prior to the 

Mandatory Tender Date.  The Remarketing Rate shall be the minimum rate of 

interest necessary, in the professional judgment of the Remarketing Agent, 

taking into consideration prevailing market conditions, to enable the 



30 

Remarketing Agent to remarket all of the Bonds on the Mandatory Tender Date 

at par for the period which shall begin on the Mandatory Tender Date and end 

on the Maturity Date. 

(3) Notice.  Immediately upon determining the Remarketing Rate, the 

Remarketing Agent shall give notice to the other Remarketing Notice Parties.  In 

no event shall the Remarketing Agent give its notice later than the Business Day 

following the day on which the Remarketing Agent makes its determination of 

the Remarketing Rate. 

Section 3.06. Conditions Precedent to Remarketing of Bonds and Notice. 

(a) Conditions Precedent to Remarketing of Bonds.  The remarketing of the 

Bonds on the Mandatory Tender Date is subject to the satisfaction of each of the 

following conditions precedent not less than five (5) Business Days before the 

Mandatory Tender Date: 

(1) The Trustee has received notice from the Remarketing Agent that 

all of the Bonds have been remarketed and that the proceeds from the 

remarketing are expected to be available to the Trustee on the Mandatory Tender 

Date and deposited into the Bond Fund in an amount equal to the principal 

amount of the Bonds. 

(2) The Trustee has received written notice from the Issuer that the 

Issuer has approved as to form and substance any disclosure document or 

offering materials which, in the opinion of counsel to the Issuer and the 

Remarketing Agent, are necessary to be used in connection with the remarketing 

of the Bonds. 

(3) The Trustee has received written notice from the Remarketing 

Agent that the Remarketing Agent has received written confirmation from the 

Rating Agency that the then current rating assigned to the Bonds will continue to 

be effective on the Mandatory Tender Date. 

(4) The Trustee has received an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect 

that the remarketing of the Bonds will not adversely affect the excludability of 

interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

(5) The Trustee has received Preference Proof Moneys in an amount 

necessary to pay capitalized interest, if any, in connection with remarketed 

Bonds as determined by the Remarketing Agent, to the Maturity Date or some 

other date as set by the Remarketing Agent. 

(b) Notice of Satisfaction of Conditions Precedent.  If the conditions set out in 

subsection (a) are satisfied, the Trustee shall immediately give notice to the other 



31 

Remarketing Notice Parties stating that (i) all conditions precedent to the remarketing of 

the Bonds have been satisfied and (ii) the remarketing and settlement of the Bonds is 

expected to occur on the Mandatory Tender Date. 

Section 3.07. Remarketing of Bonds. 

(a) Delivery of Bonds by Holder for Purchase.  Each Holder must deliver its 

Bonds to the Trustee for purchase not later than 10:00 a.m., New York City time, on the 

Mandatory Tender Date. Bonds received by the Trustee shall be held by the Trustee in 

trust for the tendering Holders pending receipt of funds for the payment of such Bonds.   

(b) Untendered Bond.  Any Bond which is not tendered on the Mandatory 

Tender Date (an “Untendered Bond”) will be deemed to have been tendered to the 

Trustee as of such Mandatory Tender Date, and, from and after such Mandatory Tender 

Date shall cease to bear interest and no longer will be considered to be outstanding.  In 

the event of a failure by owners to deliver Bonds on the Mandatory Tender Date, such 

Holders will not be entitled to any payment (including any interest to accrue from and 

after the Mandatory Tender Date) other than the purchase price for such Untendered 

Bond, and any Untendered Bond will no longer be entitled to the benefits of this 

Indenture, except for the purpose of payment of the purchase price for such Untendered 

Bond. 

(c) Delivery of Purchase Price of Remarketed Bonds.  The Remarketing 

Agent shall give notice to the Remarketing Notice Parties no fewer than five (5) Business 

Days prior to the Mandatory Tender Date specifying the names, addresses and taxpayer 

identification numbers of the purchasers of, and the principal amount and 

denominations of, such Bonds, if any, for which it has found purchasers. The 

Remarketing Agent shall deliver to the Trustee, no later than 10:00 a.m., New York City 

time, on the Mandatory Tender Date, in immediately available funds, remarketing 

proceeds to the extent the Bonds have been successfully remarketed.  Upon receipt by 

the Trustee of such amount from such purchasers, the Trustee shall transfer the 

registered ownership of the Bonds to the respective new purchasers and deliver such 

Bonds to such purchasers.  Moneys deposited with the Trustee for the purchase of 

Bonds shall be held in trust in the Bond Fund and shall be paid to the tendering Holder 

upon presentation of its Bonds at the designated office of the Trustee.   

(d) Notice of Remarketing to Holders of Untendered Bonds.  The Trustee 

shall promptly give notice by registered or “certified first class” mail, postage prepaid, 

to each Holder of Bonds whose Bonds are deemed to have been purchased stating that 

interest on such Bonds ceased to accrue on the date of purchase and that moneys 

representing the purchase price of such Bonds are available against delivery of such 

Bonds at the designated office of the Trustee. 



32 

Section 3.08. Concerning the Remarketing Agent. The Remarketing Agent identified 

in Section 1.01 hereof shall serve as the Remarketing Agent for the Bonds. The Remarketing 

Agent shall provide to the Trustee its designated office and signify its acceptance of the duties 

and obligations imposed upon it hereunder by a written instrument of acceptance delivered to 

the Issuer, the Borrower and the Trustee. In addition, the Remarketing Agent will agree 

particularly to: 

(a) keep such records relating to its computations of interest rates for the 

Bonds as shall be consistent with prudent industry practice and to make such records 

available for inspection by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Borrower and the Investment 

Member at all reasonable times; and 

(b) perform all of its functions and duties under this Indenture. 

The Remarketing Agent shall be entitled to advice of legal counsel on any matter 

relating to the Remarketing Agent’s obligations hereunder and shall be entitled to act upon the 

opinion of such counsel in the exercise of reasonable care in fulfilling such obligations. 

The Remarketing Agent shall be entitled to appoint additional co-Remarketing Agents 

to assist in the performance of the Remarketing Agent’s obligations under this Indenture, and 

any such appointment shall be effective without any action by the Issuer or the Borrower being 

necessary; provided that any such co-Remarketing Agent, shall have a capitalization of at least 

$5,000,000, or shall have a line of credit with a commercial bank in the amount of at least 

$5,000,000, shall be in conformity with all standards and requirements of the Municipal 

Securities Rulemaking Board and the Securities and Exchange Commission, and shall be 

authorized by law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by this Indenture. The 

Remarketing Agent shall take responsibility for any co- Remarketing Agent it appoints. 

Section 3.09. Qualification of Remarketing Agent. The Remarketing Agent shall be a 

member in good standing of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority having a 

capitalization of at least $5,000,000, or shall have a line of credit with a commercial bank in the 

amount of at least $5,000,000, and shall be authorized by law to perform all the duties imposed 

upon it by this Indenture. Subject to the terms of the Remarketing Agreement, the Remarketing 

Agent may at any time resign and be discharged of the duties and obligations created by this 

Indenture by giving at least 30 days’ notice of such resignation to the Issuer, the Borrower, the 

Investment Member and the Trustee. The Remarketing Agent may be removed, with prior 

notice to the Issuer, at any time by the Borrower, with at least 30 days’ notice of such removal to 

the Remarketing Agent. 

Upon any resignation or removal of the Remarketing Agent, the departing Remarketing 

Agent shall pay over, assign and deliver any money and Bonds held by it in such capacity to its 

successor.  Upon the resignation or removal of the Remarketing Agent, the Issuer shall 

promptly appoint a successor Remarketing Agent, and shall provide notice to the Trustee and 

Borrower of such appointment. 



33 

The Trustee, within 30 days of the resignation or removal of the Remarketing Agent or 

the appointment of a successor Remarketing Agent, shall give notice thereof by registered or 

certified mail to the Rating Agency (if the Bonds are then rated) and to the Holders of the 

Bonds. 

If a successor Remarketing Agent is not appointed by the Issuer and acting as Remarketing 

Agent at least ten (10) Business Days before the Mandatory Tender Date, the Bonds will not be 

remarketed and will be paid on the Mandatory Tender Date. 

ARTICLE IV 

REVENUES AND FUNDS 

Section 4.01. Creation of Funds.  The following trust funds are hereby created by the 

Issuer and ordered established and held separately with the Trustee to be used for the purposes 

as hereinafter provided in this Indenture: 

(a) Bond Fund.  "Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily 

Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 - Bond Fund" (herein 

referred to as the "Bond Fund"), and within the Bond Fund, a "Capitalized Interest 

Account," which Fund shall be administered as provided in Sections 4.02 and 4.05 

hereof. 

(b) Project Fund.  "Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily 

Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 - Project Fund" (herein 

referred to as the "Project Fund"), and within the Project Fund, a "Proceeds Account", 

and an "Equity Account", which Fund and the accounts therein shall be administered in 

accordance with the provisions of Section 6.02 of this Indenture. 

(c) Rebate Fund.  "Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily 

Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 - Rebate Fund" (herein 

referred to as the "Rebate Fund"), which Fund shall be administered in accordance with 

the provisions of Section 5.01 of this Indenture.  Moneys held in the Rebate Fund are not 

held for the benefit of the Owners and are not part of the Trust Estate. 

(d) Expense Fund.  "Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily 

Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 - Expense Fund" (herein 

referred to as the "Expense Fund"), which Fund shall be administered in accordance 

with the provisions of Section 4.07 of this Indenture.  Moneys held in the Expense Fund 

are not held for the benefit of the Owners and are not part of the Trust Estate. 

(e) Collateral Fund.  " Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily 

Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 - Collateral Fund" (herein 

referred to as the "Collateral Fund"), which Fund shall be administered in accordance 

with the provisions of Section 4.03 of this Indenture. 



34 

(f) Cost of Issuance Fund.  "Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 - Cost of 

Issuance Fund" (herein referred to as the "Cost of Issuance Fund"), and within the Cost 

of Issuance Fund, a "the Issuer Costs of Issuance Account" and a "Borrower Costs of 

Issuance Account," which Fund shall be administered in accordance with the provisions 

of Section 4.04 of this Indenture.  Moneys held in the Cost of Issuance Fund (other than 

amounts derived from the proceeds of the Bonds) are not held for the benefit of the 

Owners and are not part of the Trust Estate. 

Section 4.02. Deposits into the Bond Fund. On or before the Closing Date, upon 

receipt of the Capitalized Interest Deposit in accordance with Section 4.02 of the Bond Loan 

Agreement, the Trustee shall deposit the Capitalized Interest Deposit to the Capitalized Interest 

Account.  All Revenues received by the Trustee, except for funds deposited in the Bond Fund 

(including the Capitalized Interest Account therein) or the Collateral Fund on the Closing Date 

and any investment earnings thereon, shall be deposited, first, to the credit of the Expense Fund 

to the extent of any fees, costs or expenses described in Section 4.07 hereof which are due and 

payable, and then to the Bond Fund.  In accordance with the last sentence of Section 11.04, for so 

long as the Bonds are outstanding hereunder, funds on deposit in the Proceeds Account of the 

Project Fund, the Collateral Fund or the Bond Fund (including the Capitalized Interest Account 

therein) shall not be deposited in the Expense Fund or otherwise used to pay fees, costs or 

expenses described in Section 4.07 hereof. 

In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, certain moneys may be deposited with the 

Trustee before the closing date pursuant to one or more letters of instruction from the provider 

or providers of such moneys.  Such moneys will be held by the Trustee subject to the terms and 

conditions of the Indenture in addition to terms provided in such letter(s) of instruction.  For 

such purpose the standards of care, provisions regarding responsibilities and indemnification 

and other sections relating to the Trustee contained in this Indenture and the Bond Loan 

Agreement (the "Effective Provisions") shall be effective as of the first date of receipt by the 

Trustee of such moneys.  The Effective Provisions shall be deemed incorporated into such 

letter(s) of instructions. 

Section 4.03. Use of Moneys in Collateral Fund.  Upon receipt from the Lender of the 

proceeds of (a) the sale of a GNMA security, (b) a draw on Lender’s warehouse line of credit, or 

(c) from funds otherwise provided by Lender (the "Lender Collateral Deposit"), the Trustee 

shall deposit such amounts to the Collateral Fund.  Together with amounts on deposit in the 

Project Fund and the Bond Fund (including the Capitalized Interest Account therein), amounts 

on deposit in the Collateral Fund, including any investment earnings thereon, shall be sufficient 

at all times to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds to the Maturity Date.  On each date 

on which principal of or interest on the Bonds is due, the Trustee shall transfer a sufficient 

amount of funds from the Collateral Fund for deposit to the Bond Fund to enable the Trustee to 

make such payments as and when due. 



35 

Section 4.04. Use of Moneys in the Cost of Issuance Fund. 

(a) Deposits into the Cost of Issuance Fund.  On or before the Closing Date the 

Borrower shall deliver the Cost of Issuance Deposit to the Trustee. On the Closing Date, 

the Trustee shall deposit or transfer, as applicable, the Cost of Issuance Deposit into 

either the Issuer Cost of Issuance Account or the Borrower Cost of Issuance Account of 

the Cost of Issuance Fund as designated in the closing memorandum prepared by the 

Underwriter and executed by the Borrower and the Issuer in connection with the 

issuance of the Bonds. 

(b) Disbursements from the Cost of Issuance Fund.  Except as otherwise 

provided in this Section 4.04, the amounts deposited in the Cost of Issuance Fund shall 

be expended for Costs of Issuance and for no other purpose.  The Issuer shall deliver to 

the Trustee a Requisition in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C-1, executed by the 

Issuer, specifying in detail the amount which constitutes the Issuer Costs of Issuance to 

be paid or reserved to be paid under this Section, and the respective firms or persons to 

whom such payments are to be made.  The Borrower shall deliver to a Trustee the 

Requisition in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C-2, executed by the Borrower (and 

approved by the Issuer Servicer and the Lender), specifying in detail the amount which 

constitutes Borrower Costs of Issuance to be paid or reserved to be paid under this 

Section, and the respective firms or persons to whom such payments are to be made.  

The Trustee shall make the payments specified therein concurrently with or as soon as 

may be practicable after the delivery of the Bonds. 

(c) Disposition of Remaining Amounts.  Any moneys remaining in the Cost of 

Issuance Fund twelve months after the Closing Date and not needed to pay still unpaid 

Costs of Issuance will be returned to the Borrower upon the written instruction to the 

Trustee from the Borrower, in accordance with Section 4.06.  Upon final disbursement, 

the Trustee shall close the Cost of Issuance Fund. 

Section 4.05. Use of Moneys on Deposit in the Bond Fund; Application of Loan 

Payments.  The funds on deposit in the Bond Fund shall be used by the Trustee to pay 

principal of and interest on the Bonds on each date a payment of principal or interest is due to 

be made, whether by maturity, scheduled Interest Payment Date or as a result of an early 

redemption of the Bonds. 

In the event that amounts on deposit in the Bond Fund on any Interest Payment Date, 

the Mandatory Tender Date, the Maturity Date or such other Bond payment date are 

insufficient to make the payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds when due, the Trustee 

shall transfer funds in the following order to the Bond Fund and use such funds, together with 

amounts then on deposit in the Bond Fund, to make such payments when due: 

(a) first, from amounts on deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account; 

(b) second, from amounts on deposit in the Collateral Fund; and 



36 

(c) third, from amounts on deposit in the Project Fund. 

So long as there are any Outstanding Bonds, payments due under the Note and the 

Bond Loan Agreement shall be deemed made by the Trustee's transfer of funds on each Interest 

Payment Date from the Capitalized Interest Account or from the Collateral Fund to the Bond 

Fund, in an amount necessary to pay the interest on and principal (if any) of the Bonds. 

Section 4.06. Payment to Borrower of Excess Moneys.   Any amounts remaining in 

the Cost of Issuance Fund after the payment in full of all Costs of Issuance shall be paid to the 

Borrower in accordance with Section 4.04 hereof, and any amounts remaining in the Collateral 

Fund or the Bond Fund (except for amounts then held by the Trustee in the Bond Fund for 

payment of principal of, or interest on, any of the Bonds) after payment in full of the principal 

of and interest on, the Bonds, payment of any and all fees and expenses due in accordance with 

this Indenture and the Bond Loan Agreement, and payment of all other costs associated with 

the discharge of the Bonds (or provision for payment thereof having been made as provided in 

Section 9.01 hereof) shall, upon written instruction to the Trustee from the Borrower (with a 

copy to the Issuer), be paid to the Borrower upon the expiration or sooner termination of the 

term of the Bond Loan Agreement. 

Section 4.07. Expense Fund.   The Trustee shall deposit amounts received from the 

Borrower for the purpose of paying Trustee's Fees, the program fee portion of the Issuer Fee 

due and payable on the Maturity Date of the Bonds, the Issuer Servicer Fee and any other fees, 

costs or expenses required under the Bond Loan Agreement into the Expense Fund.  The 

Trustee shall pay such amounts to the proper persons on the dates and in the amounts due as 

provided by such person to the Trustee in writing.  Amounts on deposit in the Expense Fund 

shall be withdrawn by the Trustee to pay, (i) at the direction of, the Issuer, the Issuer Fee and 

the Issuer Servicer Fee to the Issuer Servicer, (ii) to the Trustee, the Trustee's Fee, (iii) to the 

Trustee, any amounts due to the Trustee which have not been paid, other than amounts paid in 

accordance with clause (ii) hereof, and (iv) at the direction of the Issuer, any amounts due to the 

Issuer or the Issuer Servicer which have not been paid, other than amounts paid in accordance 

with clause (i) above. 

Section 4.08. Allocation and Reallocation of Government Obligations Deposited to 

the Collateral Fund and the Project Fund.   On the Closing Date, the Trustee shall allocate 

ownership of the Government Obligations acquired pursuant to Article VII hereof and 

deposited for the benefit of the Project Fund and the Collateral Fund as follows:  The Trustee 

shall allocate to the Collateral Fund a percentage of such Government Obligations equal to the 

amount of the Lender Collateral Deposit by the Lender to the Trustee for deposit to the 

Collateral Fund on the Closing Date divided by the aggregate Outstanding principal amount of 

the Bonds and multiplied by 100 (the "Initial Collateral Fund Percentage") and the remainder 

(i.e., 100% minus the Initial Collateral Fund Percentage, referred to as the "Initial Project Fund 

Percentage") shall be allocated to the Project Fund.  On each subsequent month when an 

additional Lender Collateral Deposit is presented by the Lender for deposit to the Collateral 

Fund (the "Subsequent Allocation Date"), the dollar amount of such Lender Collateral Deposit 



37 

shall be added to all prior Lender Collateral Deposits, and the percentage of such Government 

Obligations allocated to the Collateral Fund shall be adjusted to that percentage equal to the 

aggregate Lender Collateral Deposits through such date divided by the aggregate Outstanding 

principal amount of the Bonds and multiplied by 100 (the "Collateral Fund Percentage") and the 

remainder (i.e., 100% minus the Collateral Fund Percentage, referred to as the "Project Fund 

Percentage") shall be allocated to the Project Fund.  On each Subsequent Allocation Date, the 

Trustee shall be deemed to have liquidated that portion of the Government Obligations 

allocated to the Project Fund and purchased equivalent Government Obligations to be allocated 

to the Collateral Fund. 

ARTICLE V 

REBATE 

Section 5.01. Rebate Fund; Rebate Requirement.  The Trustee shall deposit into the 

Rebate Fund amounts paid by the Borrower pursuant to the Tax Certificates. 

(a) The determination of the Rebate Requirement shall be made in 

accordance with the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement and the Rebate Requirement shall be 

paid at such times and in such installments as provided therein.  The Issuer shall 

designate the Rebate Analyst.  As further provided in the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, 

the Borrower shall be responsible for causing the rebate calculations to be calculated by 

the Rebate Analyst and paying the Rebate Requirement. 

(b) Neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall be obligated to pay any portion of 

the Rebate Requirement (except from funds on deposit in the Rebate Fund).  In addition, 

neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility with respect to the 

calculation of the Rebate Requirement. 

(c) Any moneys held as part of the Rebate Fund and not immediately 

required to be paid to the United States pursuant to the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement 

shall be invested or reinvested by the Trustee, at the written direction of the Borrower 

Representative, in Government Obligations or in any money market or short term 

investment fund investing in or consisting solely of and secured by Government 

Obligations, including any such fund maintained by the Trustee or an affiliate thereof, 

having maturities consonant with the need for moneys as estimated by the Borrower.  In 

connection with the investment of moneys held as part of the Rebate Fund, the 

provisions of Section 7.03 hereof control regarding the crediting to the Rebate Fund of 

interest and other income received on the investment of moneys held as part of the 

Rebate Fund. 

(d) As provided in the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, the Borrower is required 

to (i) obtain a rebate calculation with respect to the Rebate Requirement with respect to 

the Maturity Date or the earlier date upon which all of the Bonds have been redeemed or 



38 

defeased in a timely manner and either (ii)(A) pay to the Trustee for deposit into the 

Rebate Fund an amount of money as determined by such calculation within 30 days of 

such calculation or (B) provide the Trustee and the Issuer with written notice (signed by 

the Borrower Representative and the Rebate Analyst) that (1) no deposit is required or 

(2) the amount in the Rebate Fund is in excess of the amount required to be on deposit as 

determined by the most recent rebate calculation, in which case the Trustee shall, with 

the prior written consent of the Issuer, pay such excess over to the Borrower.  If the 

Trustee does not receive either of the items required in (ii)(A) or (ii)(B) above within 

30 days after the Maturity Date, the Trustee shall notify the Issuer; provided, however, 

that the Trustee shall not incur any liability if it should fail to provide such notice.  The 

Borrower shall provide copies of all rebate calculations to the Issuer upon submission by 

the Rebate Analyst. 

ARTICLE VI 

CUSTODY AND APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS 

Section 6.01. Custody and Application of Project Fund.  The proceeds received upon 

the issuance and sale of the Bonds shall be deposited in the Proceeds Account of the Project 

Fund.   

Section 6.02. Procedure for Making Disbursements from Project Fund. 

Disbursements from the Project Fund shall be made upon the receipt by the Trustee of the 

following and shall be used solely to pay Costs of the Development incurred in connection with 

the acquisition of the Development:  (1) a request or requests therefor executed by the Borrower 

and the Lender, upon a Requisition in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B hereto in the 

case of requisitions from the Proceeds Account and/or the Equity Account, executed by the 

Borrower and the Issuer Servicer, (2) certification by a Borrower Representative that, in the case 

of amounts requisitioned from the Proceeds Account, such Costs of the Development are 

Qualified Project Costs, and (3) in the case of requisitions from the Proceeds Account, 

confirmation from the Trustee that an amount equal to the requested disbursement has been 

received by the Trustee and deposited to the Collateral Fund in accordance with this Indenture.  

Together with amounts on deposit in the Proceeds Account of the Project Fund, amounts on 

deposit in the Bond Fund and the Collateral Fund, including any investment earnings thereon, 

shall be sufficient at all times to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds as and when they 

become due to the Maturity Date.  On each date on which principal of or interest on the Bonds 

is due, the Trustee shall transfer a sufficient amount of funds from the Collateral Fund for 

deposit to the Bond Fund to enable the Trustee to make such payments as and when due.  

Each Requisition shall be made in accordance with the Lender Loan Documents and 

FHA/HUD requirements together with a written request signed by the Borrower substantially 

in the form attached to the Bond Loan Agreement as Exhibit G.  Upon approval of a Requisition 

by the Lender (each an "Approved Advance") and, if required, HUD, the Lender shall deliver to 

the Trustee an amount equal to the Approved Advance to be held by the Trustee and to be 



39 

deposited into the Collateral Fund, together with the Requisition signed by the Borrower 

requesting a disbursement from the Project Fund in an amount equal to the Approved Advance.  

In the event that for any reason the Trustee is not prepared to promptly disburse funds from the 

Project Fund, the Trustee shall not deposit the amount of the Approved Advance in the 

Collateral Fund, shall so inform the Lender and the Borrower and shall return such deposit to 

the Lender in accordance with the written instructions of the Lender. 

Notwithstanding any provision of the Agreement or any other provision of this 

Indenture to the contrary, the Trustee shall not disburse moneys from the Project Fund, other 

than to pay principal and/or interest payments on the Bonds in accordance with Section 4.05 

hereof, unless and until the Trustee receives satisfactory evidence that a Lender Collateral 

Deposit in an amount equal to or greater than the requested disbursement amount has been 

deposited in the Collateral Fund.  Prior to making any disbursement, the Trustee shall verify 

that upon making the disbursement, the aggregate amount to be held in (i) the Collateral Fund, 

(ii) the Capitalized Interest Account, (iii) the Project Fund and (iv) the Bond Fund, will be 

sufficient to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds as and when they become due to the 

Maturity Date.  Upon satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in this Section 6.02, and 

notwithstanding anything in the Bond Documents to the contrary, once the Lender deposits the 

Lender Collateral Deposit the Trustee is irrevocably and unconditionally obligated to disburse 

an equal amount of moneys from the Project Fund in accordance with approved Requisitions. 

All disbursements from the Project Fund will be made by the Trustee directly to the 

Borrower or other party entitled to payment for which payment is requested by the Borrower, 

or shall be transferred to the Bond Fund. 

The Trustee and the Issuer shall not in any event be responsible or liable to any person 

(other than the Borrower, but only in the case of the Trustee and only in the event of a failure by 

the Trustee to make disbursements following request for disbursements in accordance with the 

this Indenture, when such failure is within the Trustee's control, and after notice of such failure 

and a 3-day opportunity to cure such failure) for the disbursement of, or failure to disburse, 

moneys from the Project Fund, or any part thereof, and no contractor, subcontractor or material 

or equipment supplier shall have any right or claim against the Trustee or the Issuer under this 

Indenture. 

The Borrower covenants in the Bond Loan Agreement  that the  proceeds of the Bonds, 

paid directly from the Project Fund shall be used or deemed used exclusively to pay Costs of 

the Development that (i) are (A) capital expenditures (as defined in Section 1.150-1(a) of the 

Code's regulations) and (B) not made for the acquisition of existing property, to the extent 

prohibited in Section 147(d) of the Code, and (ii) are made exclusively with respect to a 

"qualified residential rental project" within the meaning of Section 142(d) of the Code and that 

for the greatest number of buildings the proceeds of the Bonds shall be deemed allocated on a 

pro rata basis to each building in the Development and the land on which it is located so that 

each building and the land on which it is located will have been financed fifty percent (50%) or 

more by the proceeds of the Bonds for the purpose of complying with Section 42(h)(4)(B) of the 



40 

Code; provided, however neither the Trustee nor the Issuer shall have any obligation to enforce 

this covenant nor shall they incur any liability to any Person, including without limitation, the 

Borrower, the Manager, any other affiliate of the Borrower or the Holders of the Bonds for any 

failure to meet the intent expressed in the foregoing representation, covenant and warranty. 

Section 6.03. Trustee May Rely on Requisitions and Certifications.  In making any 

such disbursement from the Project Fund, the Trustee may rely on any Requisition delivered to 

it pursuant to Section 6.02 hereof, and the Trustee shall be relieved of all liability with respect to 

making such payments in accordance with any such Requisition. 

Section 6.04. Completion of Project.  The completion of the Development and the 

payment of all costs and expenses incident thereto shall be evidenced for the Development by 

the filing with the Trustee of (a) the Completion Certificate and (b) a certificate signed by the 

Borrower Representative stating that all obligations and Costs of the Development, have been 

paid and discharged except for Costs of the Development not then due and payable or then in 

dispute as provided in the Bond Loan Agreement.  Additionally, the Borrower has agreed 

pursuant to Section 3.06 of the Bond Loan Agreement that in the event that there are insufficient 

moneys available in the Project Fund to pay the Costs of the Development, the Borrower will 

complete the Development and pay the portion of the Costs of the Development in excess of the 

moneys available therefor in the Project Fund. 

ARTICLE VII 

INVESTMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS 

Section 7.01. Investment.   On the Closing Date, moneys on deposit in the Project 

Fund will be held by the Trustee uninvested until disbursed to the Borrower on the Closing 

Date in accordance with an approved Requisition. 

Subject to the provisions of Section 4.08, hereof, amounts on deposit in the Collateral 

Fund and the Bond Fund shall be invested at all times in Permitted Investments.   

The Trustee is hereby directed to purchase Government Obligations maturing on or 

before the Mandatory Tender Date, with respect to the investment of certain amounts on 

deposit in the Collateral Fund and the Bond Fund (including the Capitalized Interest Account 

therein), the principal and interest of which, along with amounts on deposit in the Capitalized 

Interest Account, if any, will be sufficient to pay principal and interest on the Bonds when due. 

 Such instructions shall be detailed in the closing memorandum prepared by the Underwriter.  

 All interest earned from the foregoing investments shall be deposited in the Bond Fund.  The 

Trustee is hereby directed to invest the maturing proceeds in the following money market fund 

as set forth in the definition of Permitted Investments: Fidelity Institutional Money Market 

Treasury Only – Class I.  Such funds shall remain on deposit to pay interest on the Bonds until 

the Mandatory Tender Date on which date they will be withdrawn to pay principal and interest 

on the Bonds.   In the event that any investments in the Project Fund, the Bond Fund, or the 



41 

Collateral Fund must be liquidated prior to the Mandatory Tender Date, such investments shall 

be liquidated under the Indenture. 

After the Mandatory Tender Date, if the Bonds remain outstanding, the Trustee shall 

purchase Permitted Investments at the direction of the Borrower, the principal and interest of 

which, along with amounts on deposit in the Capitalized Interest Account, if any, will be 

sufficient to pay principal and interest on the Bonds when due.

Any investment hereunder shall comply with Section 148 of the Code.  The Trustee may 

not sell any investment at a loss, unless being sold pursuant to Section 7.03 or in connection 

with an acceleration as set forth in Section 10.01 hereof. 

The investments described in each of the above paragraphs shall be made by the Trustee 

pursuant to the direction provided hereby and in accordance with the written direction of the 

Borrower to be provided on the Closing Date, which shall remain in effect until further written 

direction is provided by the Borrower.  In the absence of written investment instructions from 

the Borrower, the Trustee shall invest the moneys held in the Bond Fund or Collateral Fund in 

money market funds described in part (iii) of the definition of Permitted Investments. 

Amounts, if any, on deposit in the Cost of Issuance Fund, until disbursed or returned to the 

Borrower pursuant to Section 4.04(c) hereof, shall be invested in Permitted Investments, with 

respect to amounts on deposit in the Issuer Costs of Issuance Account at the direction of the 

Issuer, and with respect to amounts on deposit in the Borrower Costs of Issuance Account, at 

the direction of the Borrower. The Expense Fund shall be invested in Permitted Investments at 

the written direction of the Issuer.  In the absence of written investment instructions from the 

Borrower or the Issuer, as applicable, the Trustee shall invest the moneys held in the Cost of 

Issuance Fund or the Expense Fund hereunder in money market funds described in part (iii) of 

the definition of Permitted Investments. 

Section 7.02. Investment of Rebate Fund.  Any moneys held as part of the Rebate 

Fund, and not immediately required for the purposes of the Rebate Fund, shall be invested or 

reinvested by the Trustee, at the written direction of the Borrower Representative, in 

Government Obligations or in any money market or short term investment fund investing in or 

consisting solely of and secured by Government Obligations, including any such fund 

maintained by the Trustee or an affiliate thereof having maturities consistent with the need for 

funds as estimated by the Borrower.  In the absence of written investment instructions from the 

Borrower Representative, the Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for keeping the moneys 

held as part of the Rebate Fund fully invested in Government Obligations or in any money 

market or short term investment fund investing in or consisting solely of and secured by 

Government Obligations. 

Section 7.03. Accounting for Termination of Investments; No Arbitrage.  Subject to 

Section 7.01 herein, in the event the moneys in the Collateral Fund have been invested in 

Permitted Investments and the Permitted Investment at any time and for any reason fails to 



42 

satisfy the requirements of Section 7.01 hereof, the Trustee shall, at the written direction of the 

Borrower and with the written approval of the Rating Agency, terminate any such investment, 

and the proceeds of such termination, shall be credited to the Collateral Fund. 

All investment earnings on moneys or any investment held in any fund or account 

created hereunder (other than the Rebate Fund, which shall be credited to the Rebate Fund) 

shall be credited to the fund or account in which such invested funds are deposited. 

If the Issuer is of the opinion, upon receipt of advice of Bond Counsel, that it is necessary 

to restrict or limit the yield on the investment of any moneys, securities or other obligations 

paid to or held by the Trustee hereunder in order to comply with the provisions of the 

Documents intended to prevent any Bonds from being considered "arbitrage bonds" within the 

meaning of Section 148 of the Code, an authorized officer of the Issuer may give written notice 

to the Trustee and the Borrower to such effect (together with appropriate written instructions), 

in which event the Trustee will take such action as is set forth in such written instructions to 

restrict or limit the yield on such investment so as to comply with Section 148 of the Code. 

Section 7.04. Trustee's Own Bond or Investment Department.  The Trustee may 

make any and all investments permitted under Section 7.01 hereof through its own bond or 

investment department or that of any affiliate and may charge its ordinary and customary fees 

for such trades, including cash sweep account fees.  Although the Issuer and the Borrower each 

recognizes that it may obtain a broker confirmation or written statement containing comparable 

information at no additional cost, the Issuer and the Borrower hereby agree that confirmations 

of Permitted Investments are not required to be issued by the Trustee for each month in which a 

monthly statement is rendered.  No statement need be rendered for any fund or account 

hereunder if no activity occurred in such fund or account during such month. 

Section 7.05. Moneys to be Held in Trust.   Subject to Section 4.07 hereof, all moneys 

required to be deposited with or paid to the Trustee for account of the Collateral Fund, the Bond 

Fund or the Project Fund under any provision of this Indenture shall be held by the Trustee in 

trust, and shall, while held by the Trustee, constitute part of the Trust Estate and be subject to 

the lien and claim created by this Indenture. The Trustee, acting in its capacity as Trustee and 

not as sponsor, advisor or manager in connection with any investments hereunder, shall not be 

liable for any loss arising from investments made in accordance with this Section, or for any loss 

resulting from the redemption or sale of any such investments as authorized by this Section. 

ARTICLE VIII 

GENERAL COVENANTS 

Section 8.01. Payment of Bonds.  Each and every covenant made in this Indenture, 

including all covenants made in the several sections of this Article, is predicated upon the 

condition that any obligation for the payment of money incurred by the Issuer shall be payable 

solely (a) from Revenues, which are specifically assigned to secure the payment of the Bonds in 



43 

the manner and to the extent specified in this Indenture, (b) from the moneys held in the funds 

and accounts created under this Indenture, except for amounts held in the Rebate Fund, the 

Cost of Issuance Fund (other than amounts on deposit in the Costs of Issuance Fund derived 

from proceeds of the Bonds) and the Expense Fund, and (c) from any other moneys held 

pursuant to the Trust Estate.  Nothing in the Bonds or in this Indenture shall be construed as 

pledging any other funds or assets of the Issuer. 

The Issuer covenants that it will cause to be paid, as provided herein, the principal of 

and interest on the Bonds from the Trust Estate at the place, on the date and in the manner 

provided herein and in the Bonds. 

The Revenues due under the Note are to be remitted by the Borrower directly to the 

Trustee for the account of the Issuer and constitute a part of the Trust Estate and are subject to 

the lien and claim created by this Indenture.  The moneys held by the Trustee in the Bond Fund 

(including the Capitalized Interest Account therein) and the Collateral Fund shall be used to 

make timely payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.  Such amounts are to be 

sufficient in amount at all times to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds to the 

Mandatory Tender Date or the Maturity Date, as applicable.  The entire amount of Revenues 

and the entire amount of moneys held in the Bond Fund (including the Capitalized Interest 

Account therein) and the Collateral Fund are assigned to secure the payment of the principal of 

and interest on the Bonds. 

Section 8.02. Performance of Covenants.  The Issuer covenants that it will faithfully 

perform at all times any and all applicable covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions 

contained in this Indenture, in any and every Bond executed, authenticated and delivered 

hereunder and in all proceedings pertaining thereto, subject, however to the limitations set forth 

in Section 2.09 hereof.  The Issuer covenants that it is duly authorized under the laws of the 

State to issue the Bonds, to enter into this Indenture and the Bond Loan Agreement and to 

assign the Revenues, and that, upon issuance, authentication, and delivery, the Bonds are and 

will be valid and enforceable limited obligations of the Issuer according to the import thereof. 

Section 8.03. Maintenance of Existence; Compliance with Laws.  The Issuer will 

(i) maintain its corporate existence or assure the assumption of its obligations under this 

Indenture by any public body succeeding to its powers under the Act, and (ii) comply with all 

valid material acts, rules, regulations, orders and directions of any legislative, executive, 

administrative or judicial body applicable to this Indenture and the Bond Loan Agreement. 

Section 8.04. Enforcement of Borrower's Obligations.  So long as any of the Bonds 

are Outstanding, the Issuer will cooperate with the Trustee in enforcing the obligations of the 

Borrower to pay, or cause to be paid, all the payments and other costs and charges payable 

pursuant to the Bond Loan Agreement and the Note.  Nothing contained in this Section or in 

any other Section of this Indenture shall be deemed to modify the provisions of the Act and 

Section 2.09 hereof or require that the Issuer expend any of its own funds or assets to enforce 

the obligations of the Borrower under the Documents. 



44 

Section 8.05. Further Assurances, Instruments and Actions.  The Issuer will from 

time to time execute and deliver such further instruments, conveyances, assignments and 

transfers and take such further actions as may be reasonable and as may be required to better 

assure, convey, grant, assign or confirm the Trust Estate and all other rights, revenues or funds 

pledged, assigned or intended to be so pledged or assigned hereunder for the benefit of the 

owners of the Bonds; provided, however, that no such instruments or actions shall pledge the 

credit or taxing power of the State, the Issuer or any other political subdivision of the State, or 

create or give rise to any monetary obligation or liability of the Issuer.  The Issuer has no taxing 

power. 

Section 8.06. Priority of Pledge.  The Issuer covenants and agrees that it will not 

create any lien or claim upon the Revenues other than the liens and claims hereby created.  

Except for the assignment to the Trustee, the Issuer will not sell, lease or otherwise dispose of or 

encumber any of the Revenues, and will cooperate in causing to be discharged or satisfied any 

lien or charge on any part of the Trust Estate. 

Section 8.07. Books and Documents Open to Inspection.  

The Issuer and the Trustee each hereby covenants and agrees that all books and 

documents in its possession relating to the Bonds, the Development, and the moneys, revenues 

and receipts derived from the Development, if any, that shall at any time be in its possession, 

shall, within a reasonable time of a written request by the Trustee or the Issuer, as applicable, 

the Issuer Servicer, or the Borrower, be open to inspection during the Trustee's regular business 

hours by such accountants or other agents as the Issuer, the Trustee or the Borrower may from 

time to time designate. 

Section 8.08. Borrower to Indemnify and Hold the Issuer and Trustee Harmless 

from Liability.   The Borrower has agreed to indemnify and hold the Issuer Indemnified 

Parties and the Trustee harmless from and against liability arising out of claims as defined and 

as provided in Sections 6.02 and 7.04 of the Bond Loan Agreement. 

Section 8.09. Tax Exempt Status of Bonds.   The Issuer (to the extent it exercises 

investment discretion) agrees that it will not (a) take any action, (b) fail to take any action, or 

(c) make any use of the Development or the proceeds of the Bonds, which would cause the 

interest on any of the Bonds to be or become includible in the gross income of the owners 

thereof for federal income tax purposes (except for minimum or preference tax purposes or 

other indirect taxation).  In connection with the foregoing, the Issuer covenants to comply with 

the provisions of the Arbitrage Certificate and the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement. 

ARTICLE IX 

DISCHARGE 

Section 9.01. Discharge of Lien.   If and when the Bonds secured hereby shall become 

due and payable in accordance with their terms as provided in this Indenture, or otherwise, and 



45 

the whole amount of the principal and the interest so due and payable upon all of the Bonds, 

together with all other amounts payable hereunder by the Issuer and all fees and expenses of 

the Trustee and the Issuer, shall be paid, or provision shall have been made for the payment of 

the same, then the right, title and interest of the Trustee in and to the Trust Estate and all 

covenants, agreements and other obligations of the Issuer to the Bondholders shall thereupon 

cease, terminate and become void and be discharged and satisfied.  In such event, upon request 

of the Borrower, the Trustee shall turn over to the Borrower, so long as there shall have 

occurred no Event of Default which is uncured and continuing, any surplus in the Collateral 

Fund and all balances remaining in any other fund created under this Indenture and shall 

assign and transfer to the Borrower all other property then held by the Trustee under this 

Indenture and shall execute such documents as may be reasonably required by the Borrower. 

If and when the Trustee shall hold sufficient moneys hereunder, as verified to the 

Trustee in writing by an Independent public accounting firm of national reputation or other 

firm similarly experienced in performing such computations, to provide for payment of the 

whole amount of the principal and interest due and payable and thereafter to become due and 

payable upon all the Bonds, together with all other amounts (exclusive of amounts in the Rebate 

Fund or the Expense Fund) payable or which may thereafter become payable hereunder by the 

Issuer, notwithstanding that all the Bonds have not yet become due and payable and that 

consequently the right, title and interest of the Trustee in and to the Trust Estate shall not have 

ceased, terminated and become void pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section 9.01, 

the Trustee, on demand of the Borrower, shall deposit with the Borrower, so long as there shall 

have occurred no Event of Default which is uncured and continuing, or to such person, body or 

authority as may be entitled to receive the same, any surplus in the Collateral Fund in excess of 

the amount sufficient to pay the whole amount of the principal and interest due and payable 

and thereafter to become due and payable upon all Bonds together with all other amounts 

payable or which may thereafter become payable hereunder by the Issuer or the Borrower. 

All Outstanding Bonds shall, prior to the maturity thereof, be deemed to have been paid 

within the meaning and with the effect expressed above if (a) there shall have been deposited 

with the Trustee (as verified to the Trustee in writing by an Independent public accounting firm 

of national reputation or other firm similarly experienced in performing such computations) 

either (i) moneys in an amount which shall be sufficient, or (ii) Government Obligations which 

are not subject to redemption prior to maturity, the principal of and the interest on which when 

due will provide moneys which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with the Trustee at 

the same time, shall be sufficient, to pay when due the principal and interest due and to become 

due on such Bonds on the maturity date thereof, and (b) the Borrower shall have given the 

Trustee, in form satisfactory to it irrevocable instructions to give, as soon as practicable, a notice 

to the Holders of such Bonds and the Rating Agency that the deposit required by (a) above has 

been made with the Trustee and that such Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance 

with this Section and stating such maturity upon which moneys are to be available for the 

payment of the principal and interest on such Bonds. 



46 

Neither the securities nor moneys deposited with the Trustee pursuant to this Section 

nor principal or interest payments on any such securities shall be withdrawn or used for any 

purpose other than, and shall be held in trust for, the payment of the principal and interest, on 

such Bonds; provided that any cash received from such principal or interest payments on such 

securities deposited with the Trustee, if not then needed for such purpose, may be reinvested as 

directed by the Issuer or the Borrower in writing in Government Obligations (including any 

short term investment fund rated AAA or A-1+ (or comparable) by the Rating Agency and 

secured by and investing solely in Government Obligations) maturing at times and in amounts 

sufficient to pay when due the principal and interest to become due on such Bonds on and prior 

to such maturity dates thereof, as the case may be, and interest earned from such reinvestment 

shall be deposited into the Bond Fund. 

The release of the obligations of the Issuer under this Section 9.01 shall be without 

prejudice to the right of the Trustee provided in Section 11.04 hereof to be paid reasonable 

compensation for all services rendered by it hereunder and all its reasonable expenses, charges 

and other disbursements, including those of its attorneys, agents and employees, and shall not 

affect the obligations of the Borrower to make the payments required by the Bond Loan 

Agreement or the Note. 

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the purchase of Government 

Obligations in accordance with Section 7.01 hereof, together with the Capitalized Interest 

Deposit, shall not cause a discharge of the Indenture under this Section 9.01. 

ARTICLE X 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

Section 10.01. Events of Default and Acceleration.  If any of the following events 

occur, it is hereby defined as and declared to be and constitute an "Event of Default": 

(a) any interest on any Bond is not paid on the date on which the same 

becomes due; or 

(b) the principal of any Bond is not paid on the date on which the same 

becomes due, whether at the stated maturity thereof, by acceleration or otherwise; or 

(c) an Event of Default occurs under the Bond Loan Agreement; or 

(d) the Issuer fails to duly and promptly perform, comply with, or observe 

any covenant, condition, agreement or provision (other than as specified in (a) or (b) of 

this Section 10.01) contained in the Bonds or in this Indenture on the part of the Issuer to 

be performed, and such failure shall continue for a period of 90 days after written notice 

specifying such failure and requiring the same to be remedied shall have been given to 

the Issuer and the Borrower and the Investment Member by the Trustee, which notice 

may be given by the Trustee in its discretion and shall be given at the written request of 



47 

the Holders of not less than 100% in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding; 

provided, however, that if such default be such that it is correctable but cannot be 

corrected within 90 days, it shall not be an Event of Default if the Issuer, the Borrower or 

the Investment Member is taking appropriate corrective action to cure such failure and if 

such failure will not impair the security for the Loan or the Bonds. 

If any Loan payment required under the Bond Loan Agreement to avoid a default under 

(a) or (b) of this Section shall not have been received at the close of business on the last business 

day preceding the day on which payment must be made to avoid a default under such (a) or (b), 

the Trustee shall give telephonic notice of such default to the Borrower and the Investment 

Member of Borrower, which telephonic notice shall be confirmed by electronic, telegraphic or 

written notice to the Borrower and the Investment Member of Borrower.  If any other default 

shall occur under the provisions of this Section, the Trustee shall, within five days after having 

actual knowledge of such default, give written notice of such default to the Issuer, the 

Borrower, the Investment Member of Borrower, the Holders of the Bonds and the Rating 

Agency.  A default or an Event of Default specified in (a) through (d) above shall occur even 

though the Trustee fails to give the notice required by this paragraph, the giving of such notice 

being intended solely to aid in the enforcement of the rights of Bondholders and not in 

limitation of such rights. 

If an Event of Default specified in (a) or (b) of this Section 10.01 shall occur and be 

continuing, the Trustee, may, and upon written request of the Holders of not less than 51% in 

aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall, declare the principal of all 

Bonds then Outstanding to be immediately due and payable by notice in writing to that effect 

delivered to the Issuer, the Borrower and the Rating Agency, and upon such declaration such 

principal, together with interest accrued thereon, shall become immediately due and payable at 

the place of payment provided in such notice, anything in this Indenture or in the Bonds to the 

contrary notwithstanding. 

If an Event of Default specified in (c) or (d) of this Section 10.01 shall occur and be 

continuing, the Trustee, upon written request of the Holders of not less than 100% in aggregate 

principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, shall declare the principal of all Bonds then 

Outstanding to be immediately due and payable by notice in writing to that effect delivered to 

the Issuer, the Borrower and the Rating Agency, and upon such declaration such principal, 

together with interest accrued thereon, shall become immediately due and payable at the place 

of payment provided therein, anything in this Indenture or in the Bonds to the contrary 

notwithstanding. 

The Investment Member shall be entitled (but not obligated) to cure any Event of 

Default hereunder within the time frame provided to the Borrower hereunder.  The Issuer and 

the Trustee agree that a cure of any default or Event of Default made or tendered by the 

Investment Member shall be deemed to be a cure by the Borrower and shall be accepted or 

rejected on the same basis as if made or tendered by the Borrower. 



48 

Section 10.02. Trustee to Enforce Rights of the Issuer.   Only in accordance with the 

provisions of this Indenture, the Trustee, as the assignee of all the right, title and interest of the 

Issuer in and to each of the documents constituting a part of the Trust Estate (except the 

Unassigned Rights of the Issuer), may enforce the rights granted to the Issuer pursuant to such 

documents.  In the enforcement of any rights or remedies under such documents, no provision 

of such documents shall require, and none shall be construed to require, that the Trustee post a 

bond or establish any surety of any kind as a condition precedent to exercising any such rights 

or remedies. 

Section 10.03. Remedies.  Upon the happening of any Event of Default, then and in 

every such case the Trustee in its discretion may, and upon the written request of the Holders of 

not less than 51% in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding and receipt of satisfactory 

indemnity, shall: 

(a) by mandamus, or other suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, 

enforce all rights of the Bondholders, and require the Issuer or the Borrower to carry out 

any agreements with or for the benefit of the Bondholders and to perform its or their 

duties under the Act and the Documents including, but not limited to, foreclosing upon 

the security interest in or otherwise using funds on deposit in the Collateral Fund; 

(b) bring suit upon the Bonds; or 

(c) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be 

unlawful or in violation of the rights of the Bondholders. 

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, upon the occurrence and 

continuance of an Event of Default, before taking any action which may subject the Trustee to 

liability under any environmental law, statute, regulation or similar requirement relating to the 

environment, the Trustee may require that a satisfactory indemnity  bond,  indemnity or 

environmental impairment insurance be furnished for the payment or reimbursement of all 

expenses to which it may be put and to protect it against all liability resulting from any claims, 

judgments, damages, losses, penalties, fines, liabilities (including strict liability) and expenses 

which may result from such action. 

Section 10.04. Termination of Proceedings.  In case any proceeding taken by the 

Trustee on account of any default or Event of Default shall have been discontinued or 

abandoned for any reason, or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee, then and in 

every such case, the Issuer, the Trustee, the Bondholders, and the Borrower shall be restored to 

their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, and all rights, remedies and powers 

of the Trustee shall continue as though no such proceeding had been taken. 

Section 10.05. Right of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings.   No Holder of any of the 

Bonds shall have any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the 

execution of any trust hereunder, or any other remedy hereunder or on the Bonds, unless such 

Holder previously shall have given to the Trustee written notice of an Event of Default as 



49 

hereinabove provided and unless also the Holders of not less than 51% in principal amount of 

the Bonds then outstanding shall have made written request of the Trustee to do so, after the 

right to exercise such powers or rights of action, as the case may be, shall have accrued, and 

shall have afforded the Trustee a reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise the 

powers hereinabove granted, or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its or their name; 

nor unless there also shall have been offered to the Trustee security and satisfactory indemnity 

against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby, and the Trustee shall 

not have complied with such request within a reasonable time; and such notification, request 

and offer of indemnity are hereby declared in every such case, at the option of the Trustee, to be 

conditions precedent to the execution of the trusts of this Indenture or for any other remedy 

hereunder; it being understood and intended that no one or more Holders of the Bonds hereby 

secured shall have any right in any manner whatever by its or their action to affect, disturb or 

prejudice the security of this Indenture, or to enforce any right hereunder or under the Bonds, 

except in the manner herein provided and for the equal benefit of all Holders of Outstanding 

Bonds.  For purposes of the foregoing sentence, the Trustee shall be deemed to have failed to act 

within a reasonable time if it fails to take action with 60 days after receipt of written notice and 

compliance with the foregoing terms and conditions, whereupon, the Holders of 51% aggregate 

principal amount of the Bonds may take such action in the place of the Trustee.  Nothing this 

Indenture contained shall, however, affect or impair the right of any Holder of Bonds to enforce 

the payment of the principal of and interest on any Bond at and after the maturity thereof, or 

the obligation of the Issuer to pay the principal of and interest, on each of the Bonds issued 

hereunder to the respective Holders of the Bonds at the time, place, from the source and in the 

manner herein and in such Bonds expressed. 

Section 10.06. Remedies Vested in Trustee.   All rights of action under this Indenture 

or under any of the Bonds secured hereby which are enforceable by the Trustee may be 

enforced by it without the possession of any of the Bonds, or the production thereof at the trial 

or other proceedings relative thereto, and any such suit, action or proceeding instituted by the 

Trustee shall be brought in its name for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders of the 

Bonds, subject to the provisions of this Indenture. 

Section 10.07. Remedies Non-Exclusive and Cumulative.  No remedy herein 

conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee or to the Holders of the Bonds is intended to be 

exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy shall be 

cumulative, and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter 

existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

Section 10.08. Delays or Omissions by Trustee.  No delay or omission of the Trustee 

or of any Holder of the Bonds to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall 

impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default, or any 

acquiescence therein; and every power and remedy given by this Article X to the Trustee and to 

the Holders of the Bonds, respectively, may be exercised from time to time and as often as may 

be deemed expedient. 



50 

Section 10.09. Application of Moneys.  All moneys received by the Trustee pursuant 

to any right given or action taken under the provisions of this Article X shall, after payment of 

all costs and expenses of the Trustee and the Issuer and their respective counsel, be deposited in 

the Collateral Fund and all moneys so deposited in the Collateral Fund during the continuance 

of an Event of Default (other than moneys for the payment of Bonds which have matured or 

otherwise become payable prior to such Event of Default or for the payment of interest due 

prior to such Event of Default, which moneys shall continue to be held for such payments) shall 

be applied as follows: 

First - To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest then 

due on the Bonds, in the direct order of the maturity of the installments of such interest and, if 

the amounts available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any particular installment, then to the 

payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such installment, to the persons entitled 

thereto, without any discrimination or privilege; 

Second - To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal, on any 

of the Bonds, which shall have become due (other than Bonds which have matured or otherwise 

become payable prior to such Event of Default and moneys for the payment of which are held 

in the Collateral Fund or otherwise held by the Trustee), with interest on such principal from 

the respective dates upon which the same became due and, if the amount available shall not be 

sufficient to pay in full the amount of principal, and the interest due on any particular date, 

then to the payment ratably, according to the amount of principal due on such date, to the 

persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or privilege; and 

Third - To be held for the payment to the persons entitled thereto as the same shall 

become due of the principal of and interest on the Bonds which may thereafter become due 

either at maturity or upon call for redemption prior to maturity and, if the amount available 

shall not be sufficient to pay in full Bonds due on any particular date, together with interest 

then due and owing thereon, payment shall be made ratably according to the amount of 

principal due on such date to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or 

privilege; and 

Fourth - The remainder, if any, shall be deposited in the Collateral Fund. 

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section, such 

moneys shall be applied at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee shall determine, 

having due regard to the amount of such moneys available for application and the likelihood of 

additional moneys becoming available for such application in the future.  Whenever the Trustee 

shall apply such funds, it shall fix the date (which shall be an Interest Payment Date unless it 

shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be made, and upon 

such date interest on the amounts or principal to be paid on such dates shall cease to accrue.  

The Trustee shall give such notice as it may deem appropriate of the deposit with it of any such 

moneys and of the fixing of any such date, and shall not be required to make payment to the 



51 

Holder of any Bond until such Bond shall be presented to the Trustee for appropriate 

endorsement or for cancellation if fully paid. 

Section 10.10. Severability of Remedies.   It is the purpose and intention of this 

Article to provide rights and remedies to the Trustee and Bondholders which may be lawfully 

granted under the provisions of the Act, but should any right or remedy herein granted be held 

to be unlawful, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall be entitled, as above set forth, to every 

other right and remedy provided in this Indenture and by law. 

Section 10.11. No Interference or Impairment of Lender Loan.  Notwithstanding 

anything herein to the contrary, none of the Issuer, the Trustee nor any other person shall: 

(a) initiate or take any action which may have the effect, directly or 

indirectly, of impairing the ability of the Borrower to timely pay the principal of, interest 

on, or other amounts due and payable under, the Lender Loan; or 

(b) interfere with or attempt to interfere with or influence the exercise by the 

Lender of any of its rights under the Lender Loan, including, without limitation, the 

Lender remedial rights under the Lender Loan upon the occurrence of an event of 

default by the Borrower under the Lender Loan. 

The foregoing prohibitions and limitations shall not be construed to affect the 

Unassigned Rights of the Issuer or to limit the rights of the Issuer to enforce its rights against 

the Borrower under the indemnification provisions of this Indenture so long as it does not 

violate HUD Program Obligations (as defined in the HUD Regulatory Agreement). 

Notwithstanding anything in this Indenture to the contrary, any right of the Issuer or the 

Trustee to take any action at law or in equity to enforce the obligations, covenants and 

agreements of the Borrower under this Indenture which includes any claim for indemnification, 

damages or any other monetary obligation sought to be enforced shall be subject and 

subordinate in all respects to the repayment in full of all amounts due under the Lender Loan 

Documents. 

No subsequent owner of the Development shall be liable or obligated for the breach or 

default of any obligation of any prior Borrower unless specifically assumed in writing by a 

subsequent Borrower, including, but not limited to, any payment or indemnification obligation.  

Such obligations shall be personal to the person who was the Borrower at the time the default or 

breach was alleged to have occurred and such person shall remain liable for any and all 

damages occasioned by the default or breach even after such person ceases to be the Borrower 

with regards the Development. 

Promptly upon determining that an Event of Default under this Indenture has occurred, 

the Issuer or the Trustee shall, by notice in writing to the Lender, inform the Lender that such 

Event of Default has occurred, the nature of such Event of Default and that such Event of 

Default has been cured or has not been cured, but is curable within a reasonable period of time, 



52 

or is incurable; notwithstanding the occurrence of such Event of Default, neither the Issuer nor 

the Trustee shall have, and each of them acknowledge that they shall not have, any right to 

cause or direct acceleration of the Lender Loan or to foreclose on the Lender Mortgage. 

ARTICLE XI 

CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE 

Section 11.01. Acceptance of Trusts.   The Trustee hereby accepts the trusts hereby 

created and agrees to perform and execute such trusts, but only upon the additional terms set 

forth in this Article, to all of which the Issuer agrees and the respective Holders of the Bonds 

agree upon and by their acceptance of delivery of any of the Bonds. 

Section 11.02. Trustee Not Responsible for Recitals, Statements and 

Representations.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, any representations or 

warranties by the Issuer in this Indenture or in the Bonds contained shall be taken and 

construed as made by and on the part of the Issuer, and not by the Trustee, and the Trustee does 

not assume, and shall not have, any responsibility or obligation for the correctness of any 

thereof. 

Except for information provided by the Trustee concerning the Trustee, the Trustee shall 

have no responsibility for any information in any Official Statement or other disclosure material 

distributed with respect to the Bonds, and the Trustee shall have no responsibility for 

compliance with any state or federal securities laws in connection with the Bonds. 

The Trustee shall not be responsible or accountable for the use or application by the 

Borrower of any of the Bonds or the proceeds thereof or for the use or application of any money 

paid over by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture or for the use and 

application of money received by any paying agent. 

Section 11.03. Action by Trustee Through and in Reliance Upon Others.  The 

Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereof and perform the duties required of it 

hereunder by or through attorneys, agents, receivers or employees.  The Trustee shall be 

entitled to advice of counsel concerning all matters of trust and its duties hereunder, and the 

written advice or opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and 

protection for any action taken or omitted by it in good faith and in accordance with such 

advice or opinion.  The Trustee may in all cases pay such reasonable compensation to all such 

attorneys, agents, receivers and employees as may be reasonably employed in connection with 

the trusts hereof.  The Trustee shall not be answerable for the exercise of any discretion or 

power under this Indenture or for anything whatever in connection with the trust, except only 

for negligence or willful misconduct with respect to its responsibilities hereunder. 

The Trustee's immunities and protections from liability and its right to indemnification 

in connection with the performance of its duties and functions under this Indenture shall extend 

to the Trustee's officers, directors, agents and employees. 



53 

The Trustee's immunities and protections from liability and its right to payment of 

compensation and indemnification in connection with performance of its duties and functions 

under this Indenture shall survive the Trustee's resignation or removal and the final payment of 

the Bonds. 

Section 11.04. Fees and Expenses of Trustee.  The Trustee shall be entitled to 

payment or reimbursement of such fees as the Trustee and the Borrower shall agree upon, to 

payment or reimbursement of reasonable fees, for its services rendered hereunder and as 

Dissemination Agent, and all advances, counsel fees and other expenses reasonably and 

necessarily made or incurred by the Trustee in connection with such services.  When the Trustee 

incurs expenses or renders services after the occurrence of an Event of Default, such expenses 

and the compensation for such services are intended to constitute expenses of administration 

under any federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency, arrangement, moratorium, reorganization or 

other debtor relief law.  For so long as the Bonds are outstanding hereunder, in no event will 

monies on deposit in the Proceeds Account of the Project Fund, the Collateral Fund, and the 

Bond Fund (including the Capitalized Interest Account therein) be used for the payment and/or 

reimbursement of such Trustee fees. 

Section 11.05. Trustee's Obligations to Take or Have Notice of Default.   The Trustee 

shall not be required to take notice, or to be deemed to have notice, of any default under this 

Indenture other than an Event of Default under Section 10.01(a) or Section 10.01(b) hereof, 

unless a Responsible Officer of the Trustee is specifically notified in writing of such default by 

the Issuer or by the Holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 

then Outstanding.  The Trustee may, however, at any time, in its discretion, require of the Issuer 

information and advice as to the performance of any of the covenants, conditions and 

agreements contained herein. 

Section 11.06. Duties of Trustee.  

(a) If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee shall 

exercise its rights and powers and use the same degree of care and skill in their exercise 

as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of 

such person's own affairs. 

(b) Except during the continuance of an Event of Default, 

(1) The Trustee need perform only those duties that are specifically 

set forth in the Indenture and no others, and 

(2) In the absence of bad faith on its part, the Trustee may 

conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the 

opinions expressed, upon certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and 

conforming to the requirements of this Indenture.  However, the Trustee shall 

examine those certificates and opinions to determine whether they conform to 

the requirements of the Indenture. 



54 

(c) The Trustee may not be relieved from liability for its own negligent 

action, its own negligent failure to act or its own willful misconduct, except that 

(1) This paragraph does not limit the effect of paragraph (b) of this 

Section or Section 11.03 hereof, 

(2) The Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in 

good faith by a Responsible Officer of the Trustee, unless it is proved that the 

Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts, 

(3) The Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action it takes or 

omits to take in good faith in accordance with a direction received by it in 

accordance with this Indenture, and 

(4) No provision of this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend 

or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance 

of any of its duties hereunder or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers. 

(d) The Trustee may refuse to perform any duty or exercise any right or 

power unless it receives indemnity satisfactory to it against any loss, liability or expense, 

but the Trustee shall not require indemnity as a condition to making any payments on 

the Bonds, or declaring the principal of and interest on the Bonds to be due immediately 

hereunder. 

(e) The Trustee's immunities and protections from liability and its right to 

indemnification in connection with the performance of its duties under this Indenture 

shall extend to the Trustee's officers, directors, agents, attorneys and employees.  Such 

immunities and protections and right to indemnification, together with the Trustee's 

right to compensation, shall survive the Trustee's resignation or removal, the defeasance 

or discharge of this Indenture and final payment of the Bonds. 

(f) Except as otherwise provided in this Article, the Trustee shall be under 

no obligation to take any action in respect of any default or otherwise, or toward the 

execution or enforcement of any of the trusts hereby created, or to institute, appear in or 

defend any suit or other proceeding in connection therewith, unless requested in writing 

so to do by the Holders of not less than 51% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 

then Outstanding, and if in its opinion such action may tend to involve it in expense or 

liability, unless furnished, from time to time as often as it may require, with security and 

satisfactory indemnity.  The foregoing provisions are intended only for the protection of 

the Trustee, and shall not affect any discretion or power given by any provision of this 

Indenture to the Trustee to take action in respect of any default without such written 

notice or request from the Bondholders, or without such security or indemnity. 



55 

(g) The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated in this 

Indenture shall not be construed as a duty, and the Trustee shall not be answerable for 

other than its negligence or willful misconduct as described in Section 11.06(c) above. 

(h) Notwithstanding the effective date of this Indenture or anything to the 

contrary in this Indenture, the Trustee shall have no liability or responsibility for any act 

or event relating to this Indenture which occurs prior to the date the Trustee formally 

executes this Indenture and commences acting as Trustee hereunder. 

(i) The Trustee may conclusively rely upon and shall be fully protected in 

acting upon any notice, request, consent, certificate, order, affidavit, letter, telegram, 

Requisition, direction, opinion or other paper or document believed to be genuine and 

correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper person or persons.  Any action 

taken by the Trustee pursuant to this Indenture upon the request or authority or consent 

of any person who at the time of making such request or giving such authority or 

consent is the Owner of the Bonds shall be conclusive and binding upon all future 

owners of the same Bonds and upon Bonds issued in exchange therefor or in place 

thereof.  The Trustee shall have the right to accept and act upon directions or 

instructions given pursuant to this Indenture or any other document reasonable relating 

to the Bonds and delivered using Electronic Means (as defined below); provided, 

however, that the Issuer or the Borrower, as the case may be, shall provide to the Trustee 

an incumbency certificate listing officers with the authority to provide such directions 

and instructions (each an “Authorized Officer”) and containing specimen signatures of 

such Authorized Officers, which incumbency certificate shall be amended whenever a 

person is to be added or deleted from the listing.  If the Issuer or the Borrower elects to 

give the Trustee directions or instructions using Electronic Means and the Trustee in its 

discretion elects to act upon such direction or instructions, the Trustee’s understanding 

of such directions or instructions shall be deemed controlling.  The Issuer and the 

Borrower each understand and agree that the Trustee cannot determine the identity of 

the actual sender of such directions or instructions and that the Trustee shall 

conclusively presume that directions or instructions that purport to have been sent by an 

Authorized Officer listed on the incumbency certificate provided to the Trustee have 

been sent by such Authorized Officer.  The Issuer and the Borrower, as the case may be, 

shall each be responsible for ensuring that only Authorized Officers transmit such 

directions or instructions to the Trustee and that all Authorized Officers treat applicable 

user and authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys as confidential and 

with extreme care.  The Trustee shall not be liable for any losses, costs or expenses 

arising directly or indirectly from the Trustee’s reliance upon and compliance with such 

directions or instructions notwithstanding such directions or instructions conflict or are 

inconsistent with a subsequent written direction or written instruction.  Each of the 

Issuer and the Borrower agree: (i) to assume all risks arising out of the use of Electronic 

Means by the Borrower to submit directions or instructions to the Trustee, including 

without limitation the risk of the Trustee acting on unauthorized directions or 

instructions, and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties; (ii) that it is fully 



56 

informed of the protections and risks associated with the various methods of 

transmitting directions or instructions to the Trustee and that there may be more secure 

methods of transmitting directions or instructions; (iii) that the security procedures (if 

any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of directions or instructions 

provide to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular 

needs and circumstances and (iv) to notify the Trustee immediately upon learning of 

any compromise or unauthorized use of the security procedures.  "Electronic Means" 

shall mean the following communications methods: e-mail, facsimile transmission, 

secure electronic transmission containing applicable authorization codes, passwords 

and/or authentication keys, or another method or system specified by the Trustee as 

available for use in connection with its services hereunder. 

Section 11.07. Trustee May Make Advances to Effect Performance.  If the Issuer shall 

fail to perform any of the covenants or agreements contained in this Indenture other than the 

covenants or agreements in respect of the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, 

the Trustee may, in its absolute discretion and without notice to the Bondholders, at any time 

and from time to time, make advances to effect performance of the same on behalf of the Issuer, 

but the Trustee shall be under no obligation so to do; and any and all moneys paid or advanced 

by the Trustee for any such purposes, together with interest thereon at the Trustee’s (or the 

Trustee’s affiliated bank’s) announced prime rate per annum, shall be reimbursed by the 

Borrower upon demand by the Trustee; but no such advance shall operate to relieve the Issuer 

from any default hereunder. 

Section 11.08. Trustee May Rely Upon Instruments.   The Trustee shall be under no 

duty to make any investigation or inquiry as to any statements contained or matters referred to 

in any indenture, notice, telegram, request, consent, waiver, certificate, statement, affidavit, 

voucher, bond, requisition or other paper or document which it shall in good faith believe to be 

genuine and to have been passed or signed by the proper board, body or person or to have been 

prepared and furnished pursuant to any of the provisions of the Indenture or the Documents, 

but may accept and rely upon the same as conclusive evidence of the truth and accuracy of such 

statements, and shall be protected and shall incur no liability in acting or proceeding in good 

faith in reliance thereon.  The Trustee shall not be bound to recognize any person as a Holder of 

any Bond or to take any action at his request unless such Bond shall be deposited with the 

Trustee or satisfactory evidence of the ownership of such Bond shall be furnished to the Trustee. 

Section 11.09. Trustee May Own and Deal in Bonds and Deal With the Issuer and 

Borrower.  The Trustee may in good faith buy, sell, own, hold and deal in any of the Bonds 

issued hereunder and secured by this Indenture, and may join in any action which any 

Bondholder may be entitled to take with like effect as if the Trustee were not a party to this 

Indenture.  The Trustee, either as principal or agent, may also engage in or be interested in any 

financial or other transaction with the Issuer or the Borrower or any related entity, and may act 

as depository, trustee, or agent for any committee or body of Holders of the Bonds secured 

hereby or other obligations of the Issuer as freely as if it were not Trustee hereunder. 



57 

Section 11.10. Financial Liability of the Trustee.  No provision of this Indenture will 

require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur or risk any financial 

liability in the performance of any of its duties under this Indenture, or in the exercise of any of 

its rights or powers if it will have reasonable grounds for believing that repayment of such 

funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or liability is not reasonably assured to it. 

Except as may otherwise be provided in this Indenture, the Trustee will have the right to 

demand, in respect to the authentication of any Bonds or the release of any property, any 

showings, certificates, opinions (including Opinions of Counsel), appraisals or other 

information, or corporate action or evidence thereof, in addition to that by the terms hereof or of 

the Bond Loan Agreement required as a condition of such action by the Trustee deemed 

desirable for the purpose of establishing the right of the Issuer or the Borrower to the 

authentication of any Bonds, or the release of any property. 

Section 11.11. Trustee May Construe Ambiguous or Inconsistent Provisions.  The 

Trustee may construe any of the provisions of the Indenture insofar as the same may appear to 

be ambiguous or inconsistent with any other provisions hereof, and any construction of any 

such provisions hereof by the Trustee in good faith shall be binding upon the Bondholders. 

Section 11.12. Resignation of Trustee.  The Trustee may at any time resign and be 

discharged of the duties and obligations created by this Indenture by giving not less than 

60 days' written notice to the Issuer specifying the date when such resignation shall take effect 

and such resignation shall take effect upon the day specified in such notice unless previously a 

successor shall have been appointed, in which event such resignation shall take effect 

immediately on the appointment of such successor, provided that such resignation shall not 

take effect unless and until a successor shall have been appointed. 

Section 11.13. Removal of Trustee.  The Trustee shall be removed by the Issuer or by 

the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or their 

attorney-in-fact duly authorized (with the consent of the Issuer), excluding any Bonds held by 

or for the account of the Issuer, if so requested by an instrument or concurrent instruments in 

writing giving not less than 60 days' written notice, filed with the Trustee and the Issuer.  The 

Issuer may also remove the Trustee at any time, except during the existence of any Event of 

Default as defined in Section 10.01 hereof, for cause or breach of trust or for acting or 

proceeding in violation of, or failing to act or proceed in accordance with any provision of this 

Indenture with respect to the duties and obligations of the Trustee by filing with the Trustee an 

instrument signed by an authorized officer of the Issuer.  A copy of each such instrument 

providing for any such removal shall be delivered by the Issuer to any Bondholder who shall 

have filed his name and address with the Issuer.  Such removal of the Trustee in accordance 

with this Section 11.13 shall not be effective until a successor trustee shall have been appointed. 

Section 11.14. Appointment of Successor Trustee.   In case at any time the Trustee 

shall resign or shall be removed or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged 

bankrupt or insolvent, or if a receiver, liquidator or conservator of the Trustee, or of its 



58 

property, shall be appointed, or if any public officer shall take charge or control of the Trustee, 

or of its property or affairs, the Issuer (upon direction of the Borrower) covenants and agrees 

that it will thereupon appoint a successor Trustee. 

If in a proper case no appointment of a successor Trustee shall be made pursuant to the 

foregoing provision of this Section within 60 days after the Trustee shall have given to the 

Issuer written notice as provided in Section 11.12 hereof, within 60 days after the Issuer or the 

Holders shall have given to the Trustee written notice as provided in Section 11.13 hereof,  or at 

any time after a vacancy in the office of the Trustee shall have occurred by reason of its inability 

to act, the Trustee or the Holder of any Bond may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction 

to appoint a successor Trustee.  Said court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as such 

court may deem proper, prescribe and appoint a successor Trustee. 

Any Trustee appointed under the provision of this Section 11.14 in succession to the 

Trustee shall be a bank or trust company or national banking association with trust powers, 

having a combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of at least $50,000,000 if there be such 

a bank or trust company or national bank association willing and able to accept the office on 

reasonable and customary terms and authorized by law to perform all the duties imposed upon 

it by this Indenture. 

Section 11.15. Appointment of Successor Trustee by Court.   In case at any time the 

Trustee shall resign and no appointment of a successor Trustee shall be made pursuant to the 

foregoing provisions of this Article prior to the date specified in the notice of resignation as the 

date when such resignation shall take effect, the retiring Trustee may forthwith apply to a court 

of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee.  If no appointment of a 

successor Trustee shall be made pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Article within 60 

days after a vacancy shall have occurred in the office of Trustee, the Holder of any Bond may 

apply to any court of competent jurisdiction to appoint a successor Trustee.  Such court may 

thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it may deem proper, prescribe and appoint a successor 

Trustee. 

Section 11.16. Acceptance of Trust by Successor Trustee.   Any successor Trustee 

appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Issuer and the Rating 

Agency an instrument accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon such successor 

Trustee, without further act, deed or conveyance, shall become duly vested with all the estates, 

property, rights, powers, trust, duties and obligations of its predecessor in the trust hereunder, 

with like effect as if originally named Trustee herein.  Upon request of such Trustee, the Trustee 

ceasing to act and the Issuer shall execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such 

successor Trustee all the estates, property, rights, powers and trusts hereunder of the Trustee so 

ceasing to act, and the Trustee so ceasing to act shall pay over to the successor Trustee all 

moneys and other assets at the time held by it hereunder. 

Section 11.17. Merger or Consolidation of Trustee With Another Corporation.   Any 

corporation into which any Trustee hereunder may be merged or with which it may be 



59 

consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger or consolidation to which any 

Trustee hereunder shall be a party, or to which it may sell or transfer its corporate trust business 

and assets as a whole or substantially as a whole, shall be the successor Trustee under this 

Indenture without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of the 

parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding. 

Section 11.18. Action of Trustee During Existence of an Event of Default.  

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Article, the Trustee shall, during the existence of 

an Event of Default known to the Trustee, exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by 

the Indenture and use the same degree of skill and care in their exercise as a prudent person 

would use and exercise under the circumstances. 

Section 11.19. Notice of an Event of Default.   Notwithstanding anything herein to 

the contrary, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default known to a Responsible Officer of the 

Trustee, the Trustee shall within 30 days give written notice thereof to the Issuer, to the Rating 

Agency, and to each Bondholder at its last address appearing upon the registration books of the 

Issuer kept by the Trustee unless such Event of Default shall have been cured before the giving 

of such notice. 

Section 11.20. Trustee May Intervene.   In any judicial proceeding to which the Issuer 

is a party and which, in the opinion of the Trustee and its counsel, has a substantial bearing on 

the interests of Holders of the Bonds, the Trustee may intervene on behalf of the Holders of the 

Bonds and shall, upon receipt of satisfactory indemnity do so if requested in writing by the 

Holders of not less than 51% in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding, if such 

intervention is permitted by the court having jurisdiction in the premises. 

Section 11.21. Unclaimed Moneys.  Anything in this Indenture to the contrary 

notwithstanding, any moneys held by the Trustee in trust for the payment and discharge of any 

Bonds which remain unclaimed for a period of one year after the date when such Bonds have 

become due and payable either (i) at their stated maturity dates, if such moneys were held by 

the Trustee at such date, or (ii) for a period of one year after the date such moneys were 

deposited with the Trustee, if such moneys were deposited after the date when all Bonds 

became due and payable, shall be paid by the Trustee to the State pursuant to Chapter 717, 

Florida Statutes, and the Trustee shall thereupon be released and discharged.  Thereafter, any 

person having a claim against any such moneys shall look solely to the State for payment of the 

same pursuant to Chapter 717, Florida Statutes. 

Section 11.22. Appointment of Co-Trustee.   It is the purpose of this Indenture that 

there shall be no violation of any law of any jurisdiction (including particularly the law of the 

State) denying or restricting the right of banking corporations or associations to transact 

business as a trustee in such jurisdiction.  It is recognized that in case of litigation under this 

Indenture or the Bond Loan Agreement, and in particular in case of the enforcement thereof on 

default, or in the case the Trustee deems that by reason of any present or future law of any 

jurisdiction it may not exercise any of the powers, rights or remedies herein granted to the 



60 

Trustee or hold title to the properties, in trust, as herein granted, or take any action which may 

be desirable or necessary in connection therewith, it may be necessary that the Trustee appoint 

an additional individual or institution as a separate or co-trustee.  The following provisions of 

this Section are adopted to these ends. 

In the event that the Trustee appoints an additional individual or institution as a 

separate or co-trustee, each and every remedy, power, right, claim, demand, cause of action, 

immunity, estate, title, interest and lien expressed or intended by this Indenture to be exercised 

by or vested in or conveyed to the Trustee with respect thereto shall be exercisable by and vest 

in such separate or co-trustee but only to the extent necessary to enable such separate or 

co-trustee to exercise such powers, rights and remedies, and every covenant and obligation 

necessary to the exercise thereof by such separate or co-trustee shall run to and be enforceable 

by either of them. 

Approval in writing from the Issuer shall be required prior to the appointment of the 

separate or co-trustee by the Trustee.  All such instruments in writing shall, on request, be 

executed, acknowledged and delivered by the Issuer at the expense of the Borrower.  In case 

any separate or co-trustee or a successor to either shall die, become incapable of acting, resign or 

be removed, all the estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of such 

separate or co-trustee, so far as permitted by law and so approved by the Issuer, shall vest in 

and be exercised by the Trustee until the appointment of a successor to such separate or 

co-trustee. 

Section 11.23. Financing Statements.   Pursuant to Section 5.05 of the Bond Loan 

Agreement, the Borrower shall cause to be perfected any security interest created hereunder by 

the filing of financing statements which fully comply with the State of Florida Uniform 

Commercial Code.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Trustee 

shall not be responsible for any initial filings of any financing statements or the information 

contained therein (including the exhibits thereto), the perfection of any such security interests, 

or the accuracy or sufficiency of any description of collateral in such initial filings or for filing 

any modifications or amendments to the initial filings required by any amendments to Article 9 

of the Uniform Commercial Code.  The Trustee shall cause to be filed a continuation statement 

with respect to each Uniform Commercial Code financing statement relating to the Bonds 

which was filed at the time of the issuance thereof, in such manner and in such places as the 

initial filings were made, provided that a copy of the filed original financing statement is timely 

delivered to the Trustee.  Unless the Trustee shall have been notified in writing by the Issuer or 

a Bondholder that the initial filing or description of collateral was or has become defective, the 

Trustee shall be fully protected in (i) relying on such initial filing and descriptions in filing any 

financing or continuation statements or modifications thereto pursuant to this Section 11.23 and 

(ii) filing any continuation statements in the same filing offices as the initial filings were made.  

The Borrower shall be responsible for the reasonable costs incurred by the Trustee in the 

preparation and filing of all continuation statements hereunder. 



61 

ARTICLE XII 

MODIFICATION OF INDENTURE AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 

Section 12.01. Limitation on Amendments to this Indenture.  This Indenture shall 

not be modified or amended in any respect except as provided in accordance with and subject 

to the provisions of this Article. 

Section 12.02. Amendments to Indenture and Bond Loan Agreement Not Requiring 

Consent of Bondholders. 

(a) the Issuer and the Trustee may, from time to time and at any time, 

without the consent of Bondholders, enter into agreements supplemental to this 

Indenture and the Bond Loan Agreement as follows: 

(1) to specify and determine any matters and things relative to Bonds 

which shall not materially adversely affect the interest of the Bondholders; 

(2) to cure any formal defect, omission or ambiguity in this Indenture 

or the Bond Loan Agreement if such action does not materially adversely affect 

the rights of the Bondholders; 

(3) to grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the 

Bondholders any additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or security 

which may lawfully be granted or conferred and which are not contrary to or 

inconsistent with this Indenture as heretofore in effect; 

(4) to add to the covenants and agreements of the Issuer in this 

Indenture or the Bond Loan Agreement other covenants and agreements to be 

observed by the Issuer which are not contrary to or inconsistent with this 

Indenture or the Bond Loan Agreement as theretofore in effect; 

(5) to add to the limitations and restrictions in this Indenture or the 

Bond Loan Agreement, other limitations and restrictions to be observed by the 

Issuer which are not contrary to or inconsistent with this Indenture or the Bond 

Loan Agreement as theretofore in effect; 

(6) to confirm, as further assurance, any pledge under and the 

subjection to any claim, lien or pledge created, or to be created by, this Indenture, 

of the Revenues or of any other moneys, securities or funds; or 

(7) to modify, amend or supplement this Indenture or the Bond Loan 

Agreement in any respect which, in the judgment of the Trustee, is not materially 

adverse to the interests of the owners of the Bonds. 



62 

(b) Before the Issuer shall enter into any agreement supplemental to this 

Indenture pursuant to this Section, there shall have been filed with the Trustee an 

opinion of Bond Counsel stating that such supplemental indenture is authorized or 

permitted by this Indenture and complies with its terms, and that upon adoption it will 

be valid and binding upon the Issuer in accordance with its terms.  The opinion of Bond 

Counsel filed with the Trustee shall also state that the effectiveness of the supplemental 

indenture will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross 

income for federal income tax purposes. 

(c) The Trustee shall send written notice to the Rating Agency and the 

Borrower of any amendment to this Indenture or the Bond Loan Agreement. 

Section 12.03. Amendments to Indenture Requiring Consent of Bondholders. 

(a) Subject to the terms and provisions contained in this Section and not 

otherwise, the Holders of not less than 66 2/3% in aggregate principal amount of the 

Bonds then outstanding shall have the right, from time to time, to consent to and 

approve the execution and delivery by the Issuer and the Trustee of any agreement 

supplemental to this Indenture as shall be deemed necessary or desirable by the Issuer 

and the Trustee for the purposes of modifying, altering, amending, adding to or 

rescinding any of the terms or provisions contained in this Indenture; provided, 

however, that, unless approved in writing by the Holders of all of the Bonds then 

Outstanding, nothing herein contained shall permit, or be construed as permitting, (i) a 

change in the terms of maturity of the principal of or the interest on any Outstanding 

Bond, or a reduction in the principal amount of any Outstanding Bond or the rate of 

interest thereon, or (ii) the creation of a claim or lien upon, or a pledge or assignment of, 

the Trust Estate ranking prior to or on a parity with the claim, lien, assignment or pledge 

created by this Indenture, or the release of the Trust Estate or any part thereof (except to 

the extent permitted pursuant to the Documents), or (iii) a preference or priority of any 

Bond or Bonds over any other Bond or Bonds, or (iv) a reduction in the aggregate 

principal amount of the Bonds required for any action or consent by Bondholders set 

forth in this Indenture, including (without limitation) that required for consent to such 

supplemental indentures.  This Section shall not limit or otherwise affect the ability of 

the Issuer to enter into agreements supplemental to this Indenture without the consent 

of the Bondholders pursuant to Section 12.02 hereof. 

(b) If at any time the Issuer and the Trustee shall determine to enter into any 

supplemental indenture for any of the purposes of this Section, the Trustee shall cause 

written notice of the proposed supplemental indenture to be given to all Holders of the 

Bonds; provided, however, that failure to give such notice or any defect therein, shall 

not affect the validity of any proceedings pursuant hereto.  Such notice shall briefly set 

forth the nature of the proposed supplemental indenture and shall state that a copy 

thereof is on file at the Trust Office of the Trustee for inspection by all Bondholders. 



63 

(c) Within 120 days after the date of giving such notice, the Issuer and the 

Trustee may enter into such supplemental indenture in substantially the form described 

in such notice only if there shall have first been filed with the Issuer (i) the written 

consents of Holders of not less than 66 2/3% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 

then outstanding (or 100% if required hereunder) and (ii) an opinion of Bond Counsel 

stating that (1) such supplemental indenture is authorized or permitted by this 

Indenture and complies with its terms, and that upon adoption it will be valid and 

binding upon the Issuer in accordance with its terms and (2) the effectiveness of the 

supplemental indenture will not affect the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross 

income for federal income tax purposes. 

(d) If the Holders of not less than the percentage of Bonds required by this 

Section shall have consented to and approved the supplemental indenture as herein 

provided, no Holder of any Bond shall have any right to object to such supplemental 

indenture, or to object to any of the terms and provisions contained therein or the 

operation thereof, or in any manner to question the propriety thereof, or to enjoin or 

restrain the Issuer or the Trustee from entering into the same or from taking any action 

pursuant to the provisions thereof. 

(e) Upon the effectiveness of any supplemental indenture entered into 

pursuant to the provisions of this Section, this Indenture shall be, and be deemed to be, 

modified and amended in accordance therewith, and the respective rights, duties and 

obligations under this Indenture of the Issuer, the Trustee and all Holders of Bonds then 

outstanding shall thereafter be determined, exercised and enforced under this Indenture 

subject in all respects to such modifications and amendments. 

(f) The Trustee shall send written notice to the Rating Agency of any 

amendment to this Indenture. 

Section 12.04. Supplemental Indentures Part of Indenture.  Any supplemental 

indenture entered into in accordance with the provisions of this Article shall thereafter form a 

part of this Indenture and all the terms and conditions contained in any such supplemental 

indenture as to any provision authorized to be contained therein shall be and shall be deemed 

to be a part of the terms and conditions of this Indenture for any and all such purposes. 

Section 12.05. Required Consent.   Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, 

the Trustee shall not be required to enter into or consent to any supplemental indenture or any 

amendment of any other Document to which the Trustee’s consent is required that would 

materially adversely affect the rights, obligations, powers, privileges, indemnities, immunities 

or other security provided the Trustee herein or therein, except to the extent necessary, as set 

forth in an opinion of Bond Counsel, to preserve the exclusion of interest on the Bonds from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes. 



64 

Section 12.06. Amendments to Documents Requiring Consent of Bondholders.  

Except as provided in Section 12.02 of this Indenture, the Issuer and the Trustee shall not 

consent to any amendment, change or modification of the Documents without the giving of 

notice and the written approval or consent of the Holders of the Bonds at the time Outstanding 

given and procured as provided in Section 12.03 hereof; provided, however, no such separate 

approval or consent shall be required in connection with the issuance of refunding Bonds if any 

required consent of the required number of Holders to the issuance thereof shall have been 

previously obtained.  If at any time the Issuer and the Borrower shall request the consent of the 

Trustee to any such proposed amendment, change or modification, the Trustee shall cause 

notice of such proposed amendment, change, or modification to be given in the same manner as 

provided by Section 12.03 hereof with respect to supplemental indentures.  Such notice shall 

briefly set forth the nature of such proposed amendment, change or modification and shall state 

that copies of the instrument embodying the same are on file at the Trust Office of the Trustee 

for inspection by all Bondholders. 

ARTICLE XIII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 13.01. The Issuer's Successors.   In the event of the dissolution of the Issuer, 

all the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements in the Indenture contained by or on 

behalf of, or for the benefit of, the Issuer, shall bind or inure to the benefit of the successors of 

the Issuer from time to time and any entity, officer, board, commission, agency or 

instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of the Issuer shall be transferred. 

Section 13.02. Indenture for Benefit of the Issuer, Trustee and Bondholders.   Except 

as herein otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Indenture expressed or implied is 

intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person, other than the Issuer, the Trustee and 

the Holders of the Bonds, any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Indenture, this 

Indenture being intended to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Issuer and the Trustee 

and the Holders of the Bonds; provided that this Indenture shall also be for the benefit of the 

Borrower, and the Borrower shall be deemed to be a third-party beneficiary of and in 

connection with those matters in which the terms of this Indenture fairly construed are 

indicative that they are for the benefit of the Borrower. 

Section 13.03. Severability.   In case any one or more of the provisions of this 

Indenture or of the Bonds for any reason, is held to be illegal or invalid such illegality or 

invalidity shall not affect any other provisions of this Indenture or the Bonds, and this 

Indenture and the Bonds shall be construed and enforced to the end that the transactions 

contemplated hereby be effected and the obligations contemplated hereby be enforced as if such 

illegal or invalid provisions had not been contained therein. 

Section 13.04. Officials of the Issuer Not Liable.   No personal recourse may be 

taken, directly or indirectly, against any past, present or future officer, director, employee or 



65 

agent of the Issuer with respect to the obligations of the Issuer under this Indenture or any 

certificate or other writing delivered in connection therewith.  The Issuer's immunities and 

protections from liability and its right to indemnification in connection with the performance of 

its duties and functions under this Indenture shall extend to the Issuer's past, present and future 

officers, directors, employees and agents. 

Section 13.05. Governing Law.   The laws of the State shall govern the construction of 

this Indenture and of all Bonds issued hereunder. 

Section 13.06. Notices; Publication of Notice. 

(a) All notices, advice, certifications or other communications hereunder 

between the Issuer and the Trustee shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given 

when provided in writing and when delivered by hand or overnight courier, or mailed 

by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or transmitted 

by electronic means (including, without limitation, facsimile transmission) addressed to 

the appropriate Notice Address.  The Issuer or the Trustee may, by notice given 

hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, 

advice, certifications or other communications shall be sent.  Notices to persons other 

than the Issuer or the Trustee (such as, for example, notices to owners of Bonds) shall be 

governed by the other applicable provisions of this Indenture. 

(b) Whenever the Issuer or the Trustee is required or permitted to give or 

publish notice of any event or occurrence under this Indenture, such notice shall be 

given or published in such manner and by such means as the Issuer or the Trustee, as 

the case may be, shall determine to be appropriate.  Such publication may be by (but is 

not limited to) any of the following means:  (1) publication in one or more newspapers 

or trade journals selected by the Issuer or the Trustee, as the case may be; (2) publication 

by or through one or more financial information reporting services; (3) delivery to the 

Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board's EMMA System or any successor repository or 

entity fulfilling a substantially similar or like role; or (4) by mailing a copy of such notice 

by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the person entitled to receive the notice at such 

person's address as shown on the records of the Issuer or the Trustee. 

Section 13.07. Trustee as Paying Agent and Bond Registrar.   The Trustee is hereby 

designated and agrees to act as paying agent and Bond registrar for and in respect to the Bonds. 

Section 13.08. Execution of Instruments by Bondholders and Proof of Ownership of 

Bonds.   Any request, direction, consent or other instrument in writing required or permitted 

by this Indenture to be signed or executed by Bondholders may be in any number of concurrent 

instruments of similar tenor and may be signed or executed by such Bondholders in person or 

by agent appointed by an instrument in writing.  Proof of the execution of any such instrument 

and of the ownership of the Bonds shall be sufficient for any purpose of this Indenture and shall 



66 

be conclusive in favor of the Trustee with regard to any action taken by it under such 

instrument if made in the following manner: 

(a) The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such instrument 

may be proved by the certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who, by the laws 

thereof, has power to take acknowledgments within such jurisdiction, to the effect that 

the person signing such instrument acknowledged before him the execution thereof, or 

by an affidavit of a witness to such execution. 

(b) The ownership of Bonds shall be conclusively proved by the registration 

books kept under the provisions of Section 2.08 of this Indenture. 

Nothing contained in this Article shall be construed as limiting the Trustee to such 

proof, it being intended that the Trustee may accept any other evidence of the matters herein 

stated which to it may seem sufficient.  Any request or consent of the Holder of any Bond shall 

bind every future Holder of the same Bond in respect of anything done by the Trustee pursuant 

to such request or consent. 

Section 13.09. Counterparts.  This Indenture may be simultaneously executed in 

several counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute but one 

and the same instrument. 

Section 13.10. FHA Federal Laws and Requirements Control.   Notwithstanding 

anything in this Indenture or the Bond Loan Agreement to the contrary: 

(a) Borrower, Trustee and the Issuer acknowledge that this Indenture, and 

any obligations of Borrower hereunder, are subject and subordinate to the Lender Loan 

Documents.  Notwithstanding any provision in this Indenture to the contrary, no 

obligations of the Borrower or hereunder shall be payable except from (A) Surplus Cash 

(as defined in the HUD Regulatory Agreement), (B) funds that are not derived from (i) 

revenues of the Project (as defined in the Lender Mortgage) or (ii) any reserve or deposit 

made with the Lender or any other party as required by HUD in connection with the 

Lender Loan Documents, or (C) the Lender Collateral Deposit which has been deposited 

into the Collateral Fund by or at the direction of the Lender(collectively, "Non-Project 

Sources").  No claims or actions shall be made (or payable) under this Indenture against 

the Project, the Lender, the proceeds of the Lender Borrower Note, or the assets of the 

Borrower, except from Non-Project Sources.  In addition, the rights and obligations of 

the parties under this Indenture and all other documents evidencing, implementing, or 

securing this Indenture (collectively, the "Subordinate Bond Documents") are and shall 

be subordinated in all respects, rights and obligations of the parties to and under the 

Lender Loan Documents.  In the event of any conflict between the provisions of (i) this 

Indenture or the Subordinate Bond Documents and (ii) the provisions of the Lender 

Loan Documents or the Program Obligations (as defined in the Lender Mortgage), 

GNMA statutory, regulatory or administrative requirements, the provisions of the 



67 

Lender Loan Documents, the Program Obligations or the GNMA statutory, regulatory 

or administrative requirements, as applicable, shall control.  The provisions of this 

Section 13.10 shall control over any inconsistent provisions in this Indenture or the 

Subordinate Bond Documents. 

(b) Any subsequent amendment to this Indenture or the Agreement is subject 

to prior written approval of HUD (so long as the Development is subject to a mortgage 

insured or held by HUD).  No amendment to this Indenture or the Agreement shall 

conflict with the provisions of the Program Obligations. 

(c) The Bonds are not a debt of the United States of America, HUD, FHA, 

GNMA or any other agency or instrumentality of the federal government, and are not 

guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States or any agency or 

instrumentality thereof. 

(d) There is no pledge hereunder or under the Agreement of the gross 

revenues or any of the assets of the Development. 

(e) Neither a default under this Indenture nor under the Agreement shall 

constitute a default under the Lender Loan Documents related to the Development. 

(f) Nothing contained herein or in the Agreement shall inhibit or impair the 

right of FHA to require or agree to any amendment, change or modification of any 

Lender Loan Documents related to the Development for the purpose of curing any 

ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective or inconsistent 

provision contained therein, or in regard to matters or questions arising under said 

Lender Loan Documents so long as any such amendment, change or modification shall 

not adversely affect the payment terms of the Bonds. 

(g) None of the Issuer, the Trustee, or any of the owners of the Bonds has or 

shall be entitled to assert any claim against the Development, any reserves or deposits 

required by HUD in connection with the Development, or the rents or deposits or other 

income of the Development. 

(h) Proceeds from any condemnation award or from the payment of a claim 

under any hazard insurance policy relating to the Development will not be payable to 

the Trustee, but will be payable in accordance with the Lender Loan Documents. 

(i) Notwithstanding anything in this Indenture, the Agreement, the Note or 

the Bond Purchase Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall HUD or the Lender have 

any claim to or lien upon the Trust Estate under this Indenture and funds held by the 

Trustee under this Indenture and pledged to secure the repayment of the Bonds.  

Further, nothing herein shall restrict the rights and obligations of the parties as they 

relate to the Bonds and the rights and obligations therein are not subordinated. 



68 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 



S-1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Indenture to be signed and sealed 

in its name by its authorized officers, and the Trustee has caused this Indenture to be signed 

and sealed in its name by its duly authorized officers, all as of the day and year first above 

written. 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY 

By:  

Name:   William I. Gulliford, III 

Title:       Chair 



S-2 

[Counterpart Signature Page to Trust Indenture] 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON 

TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Trustee 

By:  

Name:  Michele R. Noel 

Title:  Vice President and  

Senior Transaction Manager 



S-3 

CONSENT AND AGREEMENT OF BORROWER 

For and in consideration of the issuance of the Bonds by the Issuer, the Borrower 

consents to and approves the Indenture in all respects.  In addition, the Borrower agrees that 

whenever the Indenture by its terms imposes any duty or obligation on the Borrower, such duty 

or obligation shall be binding upon the Borrower to the same extent as if the Borrower were an 

express party to the Indenture, and the Borrower agrees to carry out and perform its duties and 

obligations thereunder. 

BORROWER: 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company, its Managing 

Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, 

LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole 

Member 

By:_____________________ 

Its:_____________________ 



Exhibit A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF BONDS 

No. R-1 $[_______] 

$[_______] 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE BONDS 

(DESERT-SILVER PROJECT), SERIES 2018 

THIS BOND AND THE ISSUE OF WHICH IT FORMS A PART ARE NOT GENERAL 

OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER BUT ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS PAYABLE SOLELY 

FROM THE MONEYS AND PROPERTIES PLEDGED FOR PAYMENT THEREOF.  THE 

ISSUER HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

Unless this Bond is presented by an authorized representative of the Securities 

Depository (as defined in the Indenture) to the Trustee for registration of transfer, exchange or 

payment, and any Bond issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. Or in such other name as 

is requested by an authorized representative of the Securities Depository (and any payment is 

made to Cede & Co. or to such other entity as is requested by an authorized representative of 

the depository), any transfer, pledge or other use hereof for value or otherwise by or to any 

person is wrongful inasmuch as the registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has an interest herein. 

DATED DATE INTEREST RATE MATURITY DATE CUSIP NUMBER

[________ ___], 2018 [____]% [_______] 1, 20[__] [_________]

Registered Owner: CEDE & CO. 

Principal Amount: [__________________________] DOLLARS 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority ("the Issuer"), a 

public body corporate and politic duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Florida (the "State"), hereby promises to pay (but only out of the Trust Estate pledged therefor) 

to the registered owner identified above, or its successor or registered assignee or legal 

representative, unless previously called for redemption, the principal amount set forth above, 

on the Maturity Date identified above, in lawful money of the United States of America which 



Exhibit A-2 

on the date of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts, upon the 

presentation and surrender of this Bond at the corporate trust office of The Bank of New York 

Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as trustee, or its successor in trust 

(the "Trustee"), and to pay interest thereon (but only out of the Revenues) to the registered 

owner hereof from the Dated Date identified above until maturity, at the Interest Rate per 

annum identified above (subject to adjustment or change as herein provided), payable at the 

times and in the manner hereinafter set forth.  Principal hereof shall be payable, upon the 

request of any registered holder of Bonds on the applicable Record Date having an aggregate 

principal amount of $1,000,000 or more, by wire transfer of immediately available funds from 

the Trustee to the bank and account number specified by such holder to the Trustee in writing.  

All interest hereon shall be paid by check or draft mailed by the Trustee to the registered owner 

hereof at his address as it appears on the registration books of the Issuer, or, upon the request of 

any registered holder of Bonds having an aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more, by 

wire transfer of immediately available funds from the Trustee to the bank and account number 

provided by such registered owner to the Trustee in writing, such interest to the maturity 

hereof being payable semi-annually on each June 1 and December 1, commencing June 1, 2019, 

in lawful money of the United States of America which on the respective dates of payment 

thereof is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. 

NONE OF THE ISSUER, THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF 

SHALL BE OBLIGATED TO PAY THE BONDS OR THE INTEREST THEREON EXCEPT FROM 

THE REVENUES AND ASSETS PLEDGED BY THE ISSUER FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF 

AND NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE ISSUER, 

THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT 

OF THE PRINCIPAL THEREOF OR THE INTEREST THEREON.  THE BONDS SHALL BE 

SOLELY THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER AND NOT OF THE STATE OR ANY 

POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF.  THE BONDS SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY OUT OF 

THE INCOME, REVENUES AND RECEIPTS DERIVED OR TO BE DERIVED FROM THE 

FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS HELD UNDER AND PURSUANT TO THE INDENTURE AND 

SUCH OTHER PROPERTY CONSTITUTING THE TRUST ESTATE PLEDGED UNDER THE 

INDENTURE.  THE BONDS SHALL BE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER AND DO 

NOT CONSTITUTE AN OBLIGATION, EITHER GENERAL OR SPECIAL, OF THE STATE OR 

ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY 

CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISION WHATSOEVER. 

This Bond is one of an issue of the $22,000,000 the Jacksonville Housing Finance 

Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 (the 

"Bonds"), of like date and tenor, except as to number and denomination, issued under and 

pursuant to the laws of the State, Florida Housing Finance Authority Law, Part IV, Chapter 159, 

Florida Statutes, as amended and supplemented from time to time, Chapter 52 Ordinance Code 

of the City, as amended, Ordinance 2014-185-E of the City, Resolution No. [________] of the 

City, a Resolution of the Issuer adopted on June 18, 2018 and a Resolution of the Issuer adopted 

on [________ __], 2018 (the "Act"), for the purpose of financing a portion of the costs of the 

acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping by LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a Florida limited liability 



Exhibit A-3 

company (the "Borrower"), of multifamily rental housing facilities, consisting of approximately 

304 units, to be occupied by persons of low, middle or moderate income to be known as Desert 

Winds and Silver Creek Apartments and to be located at 300 Silver Creek Trace and 233 Sahara 

Court, Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida 32216 (the "Development").  The proceeds of the 

Bonds are being loaned to the Borrower by the Issuer under a Loan Agreement dated as of 

December 1, 2018 between the Borrower and the Issuer (the "Bond Loan Agreement") and 

evidenced by a Multifamily Promissory Note dated the Closing Date from the Borrower to the 

Issuer (the "Note"). 

The Bonds are issued under a Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2018 between the 

Issuer and the Trustee (the "Trust Indenture"), and, to the extent provided therein, are, together 

with all other Bonds that may be issued thereunder, equally and ratably secured and entitled to 

the protection given by the Trust Indenture.  Pursuant to the Trust Indenture, the Issuer has 

assigned to the Trustee (among other things) the Revenues.  Pursuant to the Note and the Bond 

Loan Agreement, payments sufficient for the prompt payment when due of the principal of and 

interest on the Bonds are to be paid by the Borrower to the Trustee for the account of the Issuer.  

The obligations of the Borrower under the Note and the Bond Loan Agreement are secured by 

the proceeds of the Bonds deposited into the Project Fund created pursuant to Section 4.01 of 

the Trust Indenture, and from moneys deposited into the Collateral Fund created pursuant to 

Section 4.01 of the Trust Indenture. 

Reference is made to the Trust Indenture, the Note and the Bond Loan Agreement and 

to all amendments and supplements thereto for a description of the property pledged and 

assigned and the provisions, among others, with respect to the nature and extent of the security, 

the rights, duties and other obligations of the Issuer and the Trustee, the terms on which the 

Bonds are issued and secured, the rights of the holders of the Bonds and provisions for 

defeasance of such rights.  Capitalized terms used herein have the same meaning as set forth in 

the Trust Indenture.  The terms and conditions set forth herein concerning payment and other 

rights and remedies of the owners of the Bonds are descriptive only and are subject in all cases 

to the terms and conditions as set forth in the Trust Indenture. 

This Bond is negotiable and is transferable, as provided in the Trust Indenture, only 

upon the books of the Issuer kept at the office of the Trustee, by the registered owner hereof in 

person or by his duly authorized attorney, and may be exchanged for new Bonds of the same 

aggregate principal amount of authorized denominations, maturity and interest rate, in 

registered form, but only upon presentation and surrender of this Bond, all in the manner and 

subject to the limitations and conditions provided in the Trust Indenture.  The Issuer and the 

Trustee may deem and treat the person in whose name this Bond is registered as the absolute 

owner hereof for all purposes; and neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall be affected by any 

notice to the contrary. 

The Bonds are issuable in the form of registered Bonds without coupons in 

denominations of $5,000 each or integral multiples thereof. 



Exhibit A-4 

The Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity. 

In certain events, on the conditions, in the manner and with the effect set forth in the 

Trust Indenture, the principal of all the Bonds then outstanding under the Trust Indenture may 

become or may be declared due and payable before the stated maturities thereof, together with 

the interest accrued thereon. 

The Holder of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the Trust 

Indenture, or to institute action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any action with 

respect to any default under the Trust Indenture, or to institute, appear in or defend any suit or 

other proceeding with respect thereto, except as provided in the Trust Indenture.  The Trustee 

shall treat the registered owner of this Bond as the person exclusively entitled to payment of 

principal and interest, and the exercise of all rights and powers of the owner of this Bond. 

All acts, conditions and things required by the statutes of the State, the Act and the Trust 

Indenture to exist, to have happened and to have been performed precedent to and in the 

issuance of this Bond, do exist, have happened and have been performed. 

In any case where the date of maturity of or interest on this Bond shall not be a Business 

Day, then payment of interest or principal need not be made on such date but may be made on 

the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if made on the date of 

maturity. 

This Bond shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Trust Indenture, or be valid or 

become obligatory for any purpose, until the Trustee shall have executed the Certificate of 

Authentication appearing hereon. 



Exhibit A-5 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY has 

caused this Bond to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the manual or facsimile 

signature of its Chairman and has caused its official seal (or a facsimile thereof) to be 

reproduced hereon and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of its Assistant Secretary 

or an Assistant Secretary. 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY 

By:  

Name:   William I. Gulliford, III 

Title:     Chair 

ATTEST: 

Assistant Secretary 



Exhibit A-6 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bond is one of the Bonds described in the Trust Indenture referred to in this Bond. 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST 

COMPANY, N.A., as Trustee 

By   

Authorized Signature 

Date of Authentication:  _____________________ 



Exhibit A-7 

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns, and transfers unto 

(Please Print or Type Name and Address of Assignee) 

Social Security or Taxpayer Identification Number:   

the within bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 

Attorney to transfer the said bond on the books of the within named issuer maintained by the 

Trustee for the registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

Notice:  The signature to this assignment 

must correspond with the name as it appears 

on the face of the within bond in every 

particular, without alteration or enlargement or 

any change whatever.  The signature must be 

guaranteed. 

Signature guaranteed by: 

[Bank, Trust Company or Firm] 

Authorized Signature 

(Signature(s) must be guaranteed by a broker or other financial institution which is a participant 

in the Securities Transfer Agent's Medallion Program (STAMP, SEMP, MSP)). 



Exhibit B-1-1 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF REQUISITION (PROCEEDS ACCOUNT/EQUITY ACCOUNT) 

BORROWER:  LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC 

PROJECT:  DESERT WINDS AND SILVER CREEK APARTMENTS 

REQUISITION NO.:  ________ 

In the Amount of $__________ 

TO: The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A., as trustee 

The Borrower hereby requests payments in the following amounts, from the following 

sources and to be made to the following parties, all as set forth on the Request for Payment 

attached to this Requisition: 

Amount Source Payable to:

[identify name of Account 

and Fund] 

[Borrower's account number]

[third party payment/wire 

instructions must be attached] 

Requisition - Contents and Attachments 

Borrower's Representations and Warranties 

Contractor's Application and Certification for Payment (AIA Form G 702) 

Requisitions and Invoices Supporting Application 



Exhibit B-1-2 

Representations and Warranties 

1. To the Borrower's knowledge, no changes have been made in the Plans and 

Specifications which require and have not received the prior approval of any 

Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Development or any other parties 

from whom such approval is required. 

2. To the Borrower's knowledge, the rehabilitation and equipping of the Development has 

been performed in accordance with the Plans and Specifications. 

3. Funding of this Requisition shall be in accordance with the terms and provisions of 

(i) the Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2018 (the "Agreement") and (ii) the 

Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2018 with respect to the Bonds (the 

"Indenture"). 

4. All monies requisitioned by the Borrower for acquisition and rehabilitation and 

disbursed by the Trustee under previously approved requisitions have been paid to the 

Contractor or other contractor or supplier or other party entitled to payment and, to 

Borrower's best knowledge, all subcontractors, vendors and suppliers; all other funds 

requisitioned by the Borrower and disbursed by the Trustee under previously approved 

requisitions have been expended for the purpose for which they were requisitioned. 

5. All of the information submitted to the Trustee in connection with this Requisition is 

true and accurate as of the date of submission. 

6. The representations and warranties set forth in the Documents are true and correct as of 

the date hereof with the same effect as if made on this date unless such representation or 

warranty relates to a specific time. 

7. The Borrower represents and warrants that (i) there has occurred no Event of Default or 

event which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both, would constitute 

an Event of Default on the part of the Borrower under the terms of the Documents, 

(ii) except as previously disclosed by the Borrower to the Issuer, the Borrower has not 

received notice from or been informed by any Governmental Authority of any alleged 

deficiencies in the work performed to date or any deviation of such work from Plans 

and Specifications or notice of any assertion of a claim that the Development has not 

been constructed in accordance with all applicable requirements, and (iii) the 

Documents are in full force and effect. 

8. The Borrower represents and warrants that, following the disbursement by the Trustee 

of the aggregate amounts requested under these Requisitions, not less than 95% of all 

amounts paid from proceeds of the Bonds disbursed to the Borrower will have been 

applied to the payment of Qualified Project Costs and that to the extent that amounts 

have been applied or drawn incorrectly, such amounts shall be deemed reallocated to 

Qualified Project Costs as set forth in the Proceeds Certificate of the Borrower delivered 

upon issuance of the Bonds. 



Exhibit B-1-3 

9. All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings 

ascribed thereto under the Indenture. 

Executed this ___ day of _______________, 2018. 

BORROWER: 

LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a Florida limited liability 

company 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company, its Managing 

Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, 

LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole 

Member 

By:_____________________ 

Its:_____________________ 

SELTZER MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC. 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

[HIGHLAND COMMERCIAL MORTGAGE] 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 



Exhibit B-1-4 

Contractor's Application for Payment 



Exhibit B-1-5 

Requisitions and Invoices 



Exhibit C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

FORM OF REQUISITION 

(the Issuer Costs of Issuance) 

Bond Issue:  Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds  

(Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 

Property Name: Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments 

Trustee: The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. 

Payee: See Schedule A 

Amount: See Schedule A 

Method of Payment: See Schedule A 

Description of Expense: See Schedule A 

Fund and Account which 

expenses are to be paid 

from: See Schedule A 

Account Number: See Schedule A 

You are hereby instructed to pay the amount above to the payee set forth above by 

means acceptable to you and such payee. 

Very truly yours, 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY 

By:  

Authorized Officer 

Dated: _______________ 



Exhibit C-2-2 

EXHIBIT C-2 

FORM OF REQUISITION 

(Borrower Costs of Issuance) 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds 

(Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 

Dated:  __________ 

Costs of Issuance Requisition No. ___ 

TO: The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the "Trustee") under 

the Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2018, with the Jacksonville Housing Finance 

Authority (the "Indenture"). 

Terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to such 

terms in the Indenture. 

The undersigned, Authorized Borrower Representative of LRC Desert-Silver, LLC (the 

"Borrower"), hereby certifies to you that he/she is authorized and empowered to submit this 

requisition to you and that attached hereto as Schedule "A" is a schedule of costs of issuance 

incurred in connection with the issuance of the above described Bonds, including the names 

and addresses of the payees and the specific amounts payable to each such payee, and that to 

the best of the undersigned's information and belief, such amounts are true and correct. 

This requisition is being delivered to you in accordance with the referenced Indenture 

pursuant to which the Bonds were issued.  You are hereby instructed to withdraw from 

Borrower Costs of Issuance Account of the Cost of Issuance Fund created under the Indenture 

the amounts shown across from each payee listed on Schedule "A" hereto and pay such 

amounts to each such payee by check delivered by first class mail or by such other means as is 

acceptable to you and any such payee. 

(SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGE) 



Exhibit C-2-3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signed this Requisition by and on behalf 

of the Borrower. 

BORROWER: 

LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a Florida limited liability 

company 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company, its Managing 

Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, 

LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole 

Member 

By:_____________________ 

Its:_____________________ 

Approved: 

SELTZER MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC. 

By: 

Name:  [Ben Johnson] 

Title:  [______________] 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

EXHIBIT C 

FORM OF BOND LOAN AGREEMENT



LOAN AGREEMENT 

By and Between 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY, 

as Issuer 

and 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC, 

as Borrower 

______________________________ 

Dated as of December 1, 2018 

______________________________ 

Relating to: 

$22,000,000 

Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds 

(Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 

The interest of the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the "Issuer") in this Loan 

Agreement has been assigned (except for "Unassigned Rights of the Issuer" defined in the 

hereinafter defined Indenture) pursuant to the Trust Indenture, dated as of the date hereof (the 

"Indenture"), from the Issuer to The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national 

banking association, as trustee (the "Trustee"), and is subject to the security interest of the 

Trustee thereunder. 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

i 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01. Definitions. ........................................................................................................................... 2

Section 1.02. Uses of Phrases. ................................................................................................................... 2

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.01. Representations, Covenants and Warranties of the Issuer. ........................................... 2

Section 2.02. Representations, Covenants and Warranties of the Borrower and the 

Manager. ............................................................................................................................ 3

ARTICLE III 

REHABILITATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT; ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS

Section 3.01. Agreement for Rehabilitation of the Development. ..................................................... 11

Section 3.02. Agreement to Issue, Sell and Deliver the Bonds; Deposit of Bond Proceeds. .......... 11

Section 3.03. Disbursements from the Project Fund. ........................................................................... 12

Section 3.04. Furnishing Documents to the Trustee. ........................................................................... 12

Section 3.05. Establishment of Completion Date. ................................................................................ 12

Section 3.06. Borrower Required to Pay in Event Project Fund Insufficient. .................................. 13

Section 3.07. Special Arbitrage Certifications. ...................................................................................... 13

Section 3.08. Rebate Calculations and Payments. ................................................................................ 13

Section 3.09. Rebate Analyst. .................................................................................................................. 13

ARTICLE IV 

LOAN PROVISIONS

Section 4.01. Loan of Proceeds. .............................................................................................................. 14

Section 4.02. Amounts Payable. ............................................................................................................. 14

Section 4.03. Fees and Expenses. ............................................................................................................ 15

Section 4.04. Obligations of the Borrower Unconditional. ................................................................. 15

Section 4.05. Optional Prepayment. ....................................................................................................... 16

ARTICLE V 

SPECIAL COVENANTS



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(continued) 

Page 

ii 

Section 5.01. No Warranty of Condition or Suitability by the Issuer. .............................................. 16

Section 5.02. Access to the Development. ............................................................................................. 16

Section 5.03. Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments. ......................................................... 17

Section 5.04. Issuer and Borrower Representatives. ............................................................................ 17

Section 5.05. Financing Statements. ....................................................................................................... 17

Section 5.06. Certain Deposits with the Trustee. ................................................................................. 17

Section 5.07. Restriction on Plans and Specifications. ......................................................................... 17

Section 5.08. Requisitions. ....................................................................................................................... 17

Section 5.09. Covenant with Bondholders. ........................................................................................... 18

Section 5.10. Covenant to Provide Ongoing Disclosure. .................................................................... 18

Section 5.11. Borrower Receipt of Insurance or Condemnation Proceeds. ...................................... 18

Section 5.12. Reporting Requirements of the Borrower. ..................................................................... 19

Section 5.13. Indenture. ........................................................................................................................... 19

Section 5.14. Financial Information. ...................................................................................................... 19

Section 5.15. Tax Credit Requirement. .................................................................................................. 20

Section 5.16. Brokers and Financial Advisors. ..................................................................................... 20

Section 5.17. Trial by Jury. ...................................................................................................................... 20

Section 5.18. Issuer, Trustee and Lender Not in Control; No Partnership. ...................................... 21

ARTICLE VI 

RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER; ASSIGNMENT, SELLING, 

LEASING; INDEMNIFICATION

Section 6.01. Restriction on Transfer. .................................................................................................... 21

Section 6.02. Indemnification by Borrower. ......................................................................................... 24

Section 6.03. The Issuer to Grant Security Interest to Trustee. .......................................................... 27

ARTICLE VII 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 7.01. Defaults Defined. ............................................................................................................... 28

Section 7.02. Remedies on Default. ........................................................................................................ 29

Section 7.03. No Remedy Exclusive. ...................................................................................................... 29

Section 7.04. Payment of Attorneys' Fees and Expenses. ................................................................... 29

Section 7.05. No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver. ........................................................... 29

Section 7.06. Right to Cure. ..................................................................................................................... 30

Section 7.07. No Interference or Impairment of Lender Loan. .......................................................... 30



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(continued) 

Page 

iii 

ARTICLE VIII 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

Section 8.01. Representation and Warranty Regarding Hazardous Materials. ............................... 31

Section 8.02. Compliance Regarding Hazardous Substances. ........................................................... 31

Section 8.03. Notices Regarding Hazardous Substances. ................................................................... 32

Section 8.04. Remedial Work. ................................................................................................................. 32

Section 8.05. Indemnity Regarding Hazardous Substances. .............................................................. 32

Section 8.06. Defense of Indemnified Parties. ...................................................................................... 33

ARTICLE IX 

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.01. Term of Agreement. .......................................................................................................... 34

Section 9.02. Notices; Publication of Notice. ........................................................................................ 34

Section 9.03. Nonrecourse Liability of Borrower. ................................................................................ 34

Section 9.04. No Pecuniary Liability of the Issuer. .............................................................................. 35

Section 9.05. Binding Effect. .................................................................................................................... 36

Section 9.06. Severability. ........................................................................................................................ 36

Section 9.07. Amounts Remaining in Funds. ....................................................................................... 36

Section 9.08. Amendments, Changes and Modifications. .................................................................. 36

Section 9.09. Execution in Counterparts. .............................................................................................. 36

Section 9.10. Applicable Law. ................................................................................................................. 36

Section 9.11. Captions. ............................................................................................................................. 36

Section 9.12. Conflict with HUD-Insured Loan and HUD Regulations; Supremacy of 

Senior Lender Mortgage and HUD Regulatory Agreement. ................................... 36

EXHIBIT A DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 

EXHIBIT B FORM OF PROMISSORY NOTE 

EXHIBIT C HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES REPORT 



{

LOAN AGREEMENT 

THIS LOAN AGREEMENT ("Agreement" or "Loan Agreement") is entered into as of 

December 1, 2018, between the JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY, a 

public body corporate and politic duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Florida (the "Issuer"), and LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (the 

"Borrower"). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Florida Housing Finance Authority Law, Part IV, Chapter 159, Florida 

Statutes, as amended and supplemented from time to time, Chapter 52 Ordinance Code of the 

City, as amended, Ordinance 2014-185-E of the City, Resolution No. 2018-533-A of the City 

adopted on September 11, 2018, a Resolution of the Issuer adopted on June 18, 2018 and a 

Resolution of the Issuer adopted on November 28, 2018 (the "Act"), authorizes the Issuer to 

finance residential developments for persons and families of low, moderate and middle income 

in the State, including the Development (as defined herein); and 

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested the Issuer to issue its $22,000,000 Multifamily 

Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 (the "Bonds"), the proceeds of 

which will be utilized to make a loan to the Borrower (the "Loan") to finance a portion of the 

costs of the acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping of multifamily rental housing facilities, 

consisting of approximately 304 units to be occupied by persons of low, middle or moderate 

income, to be known as Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments and to be located in 

Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida (the "Development"); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to and in accordance with the Act, the Issuer desires to provide 

funds to finance the acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping of the Development and the 

payment of certain costs of issuance by issuing the Bonds, pursuant to a Trust Indenture, dated 

as of December 1, 2018 (the "Indenture), by and between the Issuer and The Bank of New York 

Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, organized and existing under the 

laws of the United States of America, as trustee (the "Trustee"); and 

WHEREAS, the Loan will be evidenced by this Agreement and a Promissory Note, 

dated the Closing Date in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the "Note"), from 

the Borrower to the Issuer; and 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, and for and in 

consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, do hereby 

covenant, agree and bind themselves as follows; provided, that any obligation of the Issuer 

created by or arising out of this Agreement shall never constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith 

and credit or the taxing power of the Issuer or the State, but shall be payable solely out of the 

Trust Estate (as defined in the Indenture), anything herein contained to the contrary by 

implication or otherwise notwithstanding: 



2 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions.  All capitalized, undefined terms used herein shall have the 

same meanings as used in Article I of the Indenture, except as otherwise defined herein. 

Section 1.02. Uses of Phrases.  Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and 

construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders.  Unless the context 

shall otherwise indicate, the words "Bond," "Bondholder," "Holder," "Owner," "registered 

Holder" and "person" shall include the plural as well as the singular number, and the word 

"person" shall include corporations and associations, including public bodies, as well as 

persons.  Any percentage of Bonds, specified herein for any purpose, is to be figured on the 

unpaid principal amount thereof then Outstanding.  All references herein to specific sections of 

the Code refer to such sections of the Code and all successor or replacement provisions thereto. 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations, Covenants and Warranties of the Issuer.  The Issuer 

represents, covenants and warrants that: 

(a) The Issuer is a public body corporate and politic duly organized and 

validly existing under the laws of the State.  Under the provisions of the Act and the 

resolution adopted by the Issuer, the Issuer is authorized to enter into the Issuer 

Documents and to carry out its obligations thereunder.  By proper action of its board, 

the Issuer has been duly authorized to execute and deliver the Issuer Documents and to 

issue and sell the Bonds. 

(b) The Issuer covenants that it will not pledge the amounts derived from 

this Agreement other than as contemplated by the Indenture. 

(c) The Issuer hereby finds and determines that financing the Development 

by the issuance of the Bonds will further the public purposes of the Act. 

(d) No member or director of the Issuer, nor any other official or employee of 

the Issuer, has any interest, financial, employment or other, in the Borrower, the 

Development or in the transactions contemplated hereby. 

(e) There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation pending or, 

to the knowledge of the Issuer, threatened against the Issuer by or before any court, 

governmental agency or public board or body, which (i) affects or questions the 

existence or the title to office of any member of the Issuer; (ii) affects or seeks to prohibit, 

restrain or enjoin the execution and delivery of any of the Issuer Documents, or the 



3 

issuance, execution or delivery of the Bonds; (iii) affects or questions the validity or 

enforceability of any of the Issuer Documents or the Bonds; (iv) questions the exclusion 

from gross income for federal income taxation of interest on the Bonds; or (v) questions 

the power or authority of the Issuer to perform its obligations under any of the Issuer 

Documents or the Bonds or to carry out the transactions contemplated by any of the 

Issuer Documents or the Bonds. 

(f) The Issuer makes no representation or warranty, express or implied, that 

the proceeds of the Bonds will be sufficient to finance the acquisition, rehabilitation and 

equipping of the Development or that the Development will be adequate or sufficient for 

the Borrower's intended purposes. 

Section 2.02. Representations, Covenants and Warranties of the Borrower and the 

Manager.   The Borrower and the Manager represent, covenant and warrant that: 

(a) Good Standing; Single Purpose Covenants.  The Borrower (i) is a limited 

liability company duly organized and existing in good standing under the laws of the 

State of Florida, (ii) has the power to own its property and to carry on its business as 

now being conducted and as contemplated by this Agreement and the Tax Certificates, 

and (iii) is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in 

which the character of the properties owned by it therein or in which the transaction of 

its business makes such qualification necessary, including, but not limited to, the State.  

The Borrower's business and purpose shall consist solely of the ownership, 

development, operation and management of the Development and such other lawful 

activities as are incidental, necessary or appropriate thereto.  The Borrower shall not 

incur any indebtedness other than Development indebtedness and normal trade 

accounts payable in the ordinary course of the Borrower's business, and other than as 

permitted in the Operating Agreement.  The Borrower shall not assume or guaranty any 

other person's indebtedness or obligations.  The Borrower shall not dissolve or liquidate, 

in whole or in part, consolidate or merge with or into any other entity or convey, 

transfer or lease its property and assets substantially as an entirety to any entity, except 

as otherwise provided herein or in the Indenture or the other Borrower Documents.  The 

Borrower shall not institute or consent to any bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization 

proceedings with respect to it, consent to the appointment of a receiver or similar official 

with respect to it, make any assignment for the benefit of its creditors or admit in writing 

its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due.  The Borrower shall:  maintain 

books and records and bank accounts separate from those of any other person; conduct 

its business in its own name and use separate stationery, invoices and checks; maintain 

its assets in such a manner that it is not costly or difficult to segregate and identify such 

assets; observe all organizational formalities and hold itself out to creditors and the 

public as a legal entity separate and distinct from any other entity; prepare separate tax 

returns and financial statements, or if part of a consolidated group, then be shown 

thereon as a separate member of such group; allocate and charge fairly and reasonably 

any common employee or overhead shared with affiliates; and transact all business with 



4 

affiliates on an arm's length basis and pursuant to enforceable agreements.  The 

Borrower shall not commingle its assets or funds with those of any other person.   

The Manager (i) is duly organized and existing in good standing under the laws 

of the State of Florida (ii) has the power to own its property and to carry on its business 

as now being conducted and as contemplated by this Agreement, and the Tax 

Certificates, and (iii) is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in each 

jurisdiction in which the character of the properties owned by it therein or in which the 

transaction of its business makes such qualification necessary, including, but not limited 

to, the State.  The Manager shall not dissolve or liquidate, in whole or in part, 

consolidate or merge with or into any other entity or convey, transfer or lease its 

property and assets substantially as an entirety to any entity, except as otherwise 

provided herein or in the Indenture or the other Borrower Documents.  The Manager 

shall not, with respect to itself or the Borrower, institute or consent to any bankruptcy, 

insolvency or reorganization proceedings, consent to the appointment of a receiver or 

similar official, make or consent to any assignment for the benefit of creditors or admit 

in writing its or the Borrower's inability to pay debts generally as they become due.  The 

Manager shall:  maintain books and records and bank accounts separate from those of 

any other person; conduct its business in its own name and use separate stationery, 

invoices and checks; maintain its assets in such a manner that it is not costly or difficult 

to segregate and identify such assets; observe all organizational formalities and hold 

itself out to creditors and the public as a legal entity separate and distinct from any other 

entity; prepare separate tax returns and financial statements, or if part of a consolidated 

group, then be shown thereon as a separate member of such group; allocate and charge 

fairly and reasonably any common employee or overhead shared with affiliates; and 

transact all business with affiliates on an arm's length basis and pursuant to enforceable 

agreements.  The Manager shall not commingle its assets or funds with those of any 

other person. 

(b) Authority.  The Borrower has full power and authority to (i) execute and 

deliver the Documents to which it is a party and (ii) incur the obligations provided for 

herein and therein, all of which have been duly authorized by all proper and necessary 

corporate action.  All consents or approvals of any public authority which are required 

as a condition to the validity of the Documents to which the Borrower is a party have 

been obtained. 

(c) Binding Agreements.  The Borrower Documents have been properly 

executed by a duly authorized officer of the LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, as Manager of 

the Borrower, and constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Borrower, and 

are fully enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their respective terms, 

subject to bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally, and 

with respect to certain remedies which require, or may require, enforcement by a court 

of equity, such principles of equity as the court having jurisdiction may impose. 



5 

(d) Litigation.  There is no litigation or proceeding pending or, to the 

knowledge of the Borrower, threatened in writing against the Borrower or the Manager 

before any court or administrative agency which, if determined adversely to the 

Borrower, will materially adversely affect the Borrower or the Development, or the 

authority of the Borrower to enter into or perform under the Borrower Documents or 

which in any way would adversely affect the validity or enforceability of the Bonds or 

the Documents. 

(e) Conflicts; Defaults.  There is (i) no provision of the Borrower's 

organizational documents or the organizational documents of the Manager, or 

resolutions of the Borrower and no provision of any existing mortgage, indenture, 

contract or agreement binding on the Borrower or the Manager or affecting any of the 

Borrower's property and (ii) to the Borrower's or the Manager's knowledge, no provision 

of law or order of court binding upon the Borrower or the Manager or affecting any of 

the Borrower's property, in each case which would conflict with or in any way prevent 

the execution, delivery, or performance of the terms of the Borrower Documents and the 

other financing documents and regulatory agreements to be entered into at closing in 

connection with this transaction, or which would be in default or violated as a result of 

such execution, delivery or performance.  The Borrower is not in material default in the 

performance, observance or fulfillment of any of the obligations, covenants or conditions 

contained in any material agreement or instrument to which it is a party. 

(f) Title to Development.  The Borrower has or will have on the Closing Date a 

fee simple interest in the land constituting the site of the Development free and clear of 

any liens or encumbrances, other than those encumbrances set forth on Schedule B-II of 

the Title Commitment File No. [______________] issued by [____________].  The 

Borrower is the sole borrower under the Loan. 

(g) Indenture.  The Indenture has been submitted to the Borrower for its 

examination, and the Borrower acknowledges, by execution of this Agreement, that it 

has reviewed the Indenture, and it hereby approves the Indenture.  The Borrower agrees 

to perform fully and faithfully all the duties and obligations which the Issuer has 

covenanted and agreed to in the Indenture to cause the Borrower to perform and any 

duties and obligations which the Borrower or the Issuer is required by the Indenture to 

perform.  The foregoing shall not apply to any duty or undertaking of the Issuer which 

by its nature cannot be delegated or assigned. 

(h) Events Affecting Tax Exemption.  The Borrower has not taken or permitted 

to be taken any action that would impair the exclusion from gross income for federal 

income tax purposes of the interest payable on the Bonds, and the Borrower has never 

been advised that the interest is or will be subject to inclusion in gross income.  As of the 

Closing Date, the Borrower is in compliance with all requirements contained in the Tax 

Certificates, and the representations set forth in the Tax Certificates pertaining to the 

Borrower and the Development are true and accurate in all material respects.  



6 

Notwithstanding the above, if the Borrower becomes aware of any situation, event or 

condition which would result in the interest on the Bonds being included in gross 

income for federal income tax purposes, the Borrower shall promptly give written notice 

thereof to the Issuer and the Trustee. 

(i) Compliance with Laws and Documents.  The Development is of the type 

authorized and permitted by the Act and will, from the Closing Date forward, be 

operated in compliance with the provisions of the Act and the provisions of the Code 

applicable thereto.  The Borrower will use due diligence to cause the Development to be 

operated in accordance with the Act and all other applicable laws, rulings, regulations 

and ordinances of any applicable Governmental Authority and the departments, 

agencies and political subdivisions thereof.  The Borrower has obtained or will cause to 

be obtained all requisite approvals of the Issuer and of any applicable Governmental 

Authority or other federal and local governmental bodies required for the operation of 

the Development. 

Compliance by the Borrower with the provisions of the Bond Documents and the 

Borrower Documents will not involve, to the extent applicable, any prohibited 

transaction within the meaning of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 

as amended (sometimes referred to in this subparagraph 2.02(i) as "ERISA"), or 

Section 4975 of the Code.  No "employee pension benefit plans", that are subject to 

Title IV of ERISA (sometimes referred to in this subparagraph 2.02(i) as "Plans"), 

maintained by the Borrower, nor any trust created thereunder, have incurred any 

"accumulated funding deficiency" as defined in Section 302 of ERISA, to the extent 

applicable and the present value of all benefits vested under all Plans, if any, did not 

exceed, as of the last annual valuation date, the value of the assets of the Plans allocable 

to such vested benefits. 

The Borrower intends to cause the residential units in the Development to be 

rented or available for rental on a basis, which satisfies the requirements of the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement, including all applicable requirements of the Act and the Code, 

and pursuant to leases, which comply with all applicable laws.  The Borrower will 

timely file the Income Certification in the form attached as Exhibit B to the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement, the Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance in the form 

attached as Exhibit C to the Land Use Restriction Agreement and the program report 

with the Issuer or the Issuer Servicer as required by the Land Use Restriction 

Agreement. 

The Borrower shall, through the term of this Agreement and at no expense to the 

Issuer, promptly comply or cause compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, 

orders, rules, regulations and requirements of duly constituted public authorities which 

may be applicable to the Development or to the repair and alteration thereof, or to the 

use or manner of use of the Development, including, but not limited to, the Americans 

with Disabilities Act, Florida Accessibility Code for Building Construction, all Federal, 



7 

State and local environmental, health and safety laws, rules, regulations and orders 

applicable to or pertaining to the Development and Federal Worker Adjustment and 

Retraining Notification Act. 

(j) No Material Misstatements.  The representations and warranties of the 

Borrower contained in the Borrower Documents (including, without limitation, any 

information furnished by the Borrower in connection with the preparation of any 

materials related to the issuance or delivery of the Bonds on the Closing Date), contain 

no material misstatement of fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 

statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, 

not misleading.  The representations and warranties of the Borrower and the statements, 

information and descriptions contained in the Borrower's closing certificates, as of the 

Closing Date, are true, correct and complete in all material respects, do not contain any 

untrue statement or misleading statement of material fact, and do not omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the certifications, representations, warranties, 

statements, information and descriptions contained therein, in light of the circumstances 

under which they were made, not misleading.  The estimates and assumptions 

contained in this Agreement and in any certificate of the Borrower delivered as of the 

Closing Date are reasonable and based on the most accurate information available to the 

Borrower. 

The information used in the preparation of the financial statements of the 

Borrower, the Borrower Documents and any other written statement furnished by the 

Borrower to the Issuer (including the descriptions and information contained in the 

Official Statement relating to (i) the Borrower and the Development, (ii) the operations 

and financial and other affairs of the Borrower, (iii) the application by the Borrower of 

the proceeds to be received by it from the Loan, and (iv) the participation by the 

Borrower in the transactions contemplated in this Loan Agreement and in the Official 

Statement, including, without limitation, the information relating to the Borrower in the 

Official Statement under the caption "Certain Bondholders' Risks"), do not contain any 

untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 

statements contained therein not misleading.  There is no fact which the Borrower has 

not disclosed to the Issuer in writing which materially adversely affects or, so far as the 

Borrower can now foresee, will materially adversely affect the financial condition of the 

Borrower, the ability of the Borrower to own and operate the Development or the 

Borrower's ability to make payments on the Note when and as the same become due and 

payable. 

(k) Interest of Member or Agent of the Issuer.  To the knowledge of the 

Borrower, no member or agent of the Issuer has been or is in any manner interested, 

directly or indirectly, in that person's own name or in the name of any other persons, in 

the loan of the Bond proceeds, the Bonds, the Documents, the Borrower or the 

Development, in any contract for property or materials to be furnished or used in 

connection with the Development, or in any aspect of the transactions contemplated by 



8 

the Documents.  There (i) is no completed, pending or threatened bankruptcy, 

reorganization, receivership, insolvency or like proceeding, whether voluntary or 

involuntary, affecting the Development, the Borrower or the Manager, and (ii) has been 

no assertion or exercise of jurisdiction over the Development, the Borrower or the 

Manager by any court empowered to exercise bankruptcy powers. 

(l) Arbitrage Bonds.  No money on deposit or to be deposited in any fund or 

account in connection with the Bonds, whether or not such money was or is to be 

derived from other sources, has been or will be used by or under the direction of the 

Borrower in any manner which would cause the Bonds to be "arbitrage bonds" within 

the meaning of Section 148 of the Code. 

(m) Tax Returns.  The Borrower has filed or caused to be filed all required tax 

returns (including any federal, state or local tax returns, if required) and has paid all 

taxes as shown on such returns as such taxes have become due.  No claims have been 

assessed and are unpaid with respect to such taxes. 

(n) No Reliance on the Issuer.  The Borrower acknowledges, represents and 

warrants that it understands the nature and structure of the transactions relating to the 

financing of the Development; that it is familiar with the provisions of all of the 

documents and instruments relating to such financing to which it or the Issuer is a party 

or of which it is a beneficiary; that it understands the risks inherent in such transactions, 

including without limitation the risk of loss of the Development; and that it has not 

relied on the Issuer for any guidance or expertise in analyzing the financial or other 

consequences of such financing transactions or otherwise relied on the Issuer in any 

manner except to issue the Bonds. 

(o) Fees.  The Borrower shall pay all fees as provided under the Note and in 

this Agreement, when due and payable without demand pursuant to Section 4.03 herein. 

(p) Name of Borrower.  The Borrower filed its Articles of Organization with the 

State of Florida under the name of LRC Desert-Silver, LLC. 

(q) Governmental Requirements.  To the Borrower's knowledge, no violation of 

any Governmental Requirement exists with respect to the Development, the Borrower, 

or any other asset of the Borrower, the Development conforms in all material respects 

with all applicable zoning, planning, building and environmental laws, ordinances and 

regulations of Governmental Authorities having jurisdiction over the Development, all 

necessary utilities are or will be available to the Development, and the Borrower has 

obtained or will obtain all requisite zoning approvals necessary with respect to the 

Development. 

(r) Condemnation.  No condemnation, eminent domain or similar proceeding 

is pending, or to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened in writing, with respect to 

the Development or any portion thereof. 



9 

(s) Governmental Approvals.  The Borrower has obtained, or will obtain and 

there are currently in full force and effect, or will be in full force and effect, all consents, 

and permits, licenses, accreditations, certifications and other approvals (governmental or 

otherwise) that: 

(i) would constitute a condition precedent to, or the absence of which 

would materially adversely affect, the enforceability of and the performance by 

the Borrower of its obligations hereunder; and 

(ii) are necessary for the acquisition, rehabilitation, equipping, 

financing and operation of the Development. 

(t) No Cease and Desist.  The Borrower is not presently under any cease or 

desist order or other orders of a similar nature, temporary or permanent, of any federal 

or state authority which would have the effect of preventing or hindering performance 

of its duties hereunder, nor are there any proceedings presently in progress or to its 

knowledge contemplated which would, if successful, lead to the issuance of any such 

order. 

(u) Acknowledgment of Nature of Development.  The Borrower acknowledges, 

represents and warrants that it understands the nature and structure of the transactions 

relating to the financing of the Development; that it is familiar with the provisions of all 

of the documents and instruments relating to such financing to which it or the Issuer is a 

party or of which it is a beneficiary; that it understands the risks inherent in such 

transactions, including, without limitation, the risk of loss of the Development; and that 

it has not relied on the Issuer for any guidance or expertise in analyzing the financial or 

other consequences of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the 

Indenture or otherwise relied on the Issuer in any manner. 

(v) Average Maturity.  The average maturity of the Bonds does not exceed 

120% of the average reasonably expected economic life of the facilities of the 

Development. 

(w) Federally Guaranteed.  The Bonds are not and shall not be "federally 

guaranteed" as defined in Section 149(b) of the Code. 

(x) No Intent of Sale of Development.  The Borrower intends to hold the 

Development for its own account and has no current plans to sell and has not entered 

into any agreement to sell any of the Development. 

(y) Notification of Default.  The Borrower agrees to immediately notify the 

Trustee and the Issuer in writing of any Default, or any event which with notice or the 

passage of time would constitute a Default. 



10 

(z) Payment of Real Estate Taxes and Maintenance of Insurance.  The Borrower 

will promptly cause to be paid all real estate taxes, assessments or other levies assessed 

on the Development and all premiums for insurance policies required to be maintained 

for the Development.  Borrower shall, at all times during the term of the Loan, maintain 

at its sole cost and expense, for the mutual benefit of Borrower, Lender and the Trustee, 

all of the insurance, as required by Lender and the Issuer and applicable law, and in 

such amounts and with such maximum deductibles as Lender and the Issuer may 

require, as those requirements may change. 

(aa) Application of Disbursements.  The full amount of each disbursement will 

be applied to pay or to reimburse the Borrower for the payment of Qualified Project 

Costs and, after taking into account any proposed disbursement, (i) at least 95% of the 

net proceeds of the Bonds (as defined in Section 150 of the Code) will be used to provide 

a qualified residential rental project (as defined in Section 142(d) of the Code) and 

(ii) less than 25% of the net proceeds of the Bonds will have been disbursed to pay or to 

reimburse the Borrower for the cost of acquiring land; none of the proceeds of the Bonds 

(as defined for purposes of Section 147(g) of the Code) will be disbursed to provide 

working capital. 

(bb) Lease or Use of Development.  In connection with any lease or grant by the 

Borrower of the use of the Development, the Borrower will require that the lessee or 

user of any portion of the Development not use that portion of the Development in any 

manner which would violate the covenants set forth in this Agreement or the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement. 

(cc) Proceeds of Bonds.  No proceeds of the Bonds shall be used for the 

acquisition of any tangible property or an interest therein, other than land or an interest 

in land, unless the first use of such property is pursuant to such acquisition; provided, 

however, that this limitation shall not apply with respect to any building (and the 

equipment therefor) if rehabilitation expenditures (as defined in Section 147(d) of the 

Code) with respect to such building equal or exceed 15 percent of the portion of the cost 

of acquiring such building (and equipment) financed with the proceeds; and provided 

further that this limitation shall not apply with respect to any structure other than a 

building if rehabilitation expenditures with respect to such structure equal or exceed 100 

percent of the portion of the cost of acquiring such structure financed with the proceeds. 

(dd) Costs of Issuance Paid from Proceeds.  From the proceeds of the Bonds and 

investment earnings thereon, an amount not in excess of two percent (2%) of the 

proceeds of the Bonds, will be used for Costs of Issuance of the Bonds, all within the 

meaning of Section 147(g)(1) of the Code. 

(ee) Ineligible Use of Proceeds.  No proceeds of the Bonds shall be used directly 

or indirectly to provide any airplane, skybox or other private luxury box, health club 

facility (other than a workout facility functionally related to the Development and 



11 

available to all residents at no additional charge), facility used for gambling or store the 

principal business of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off 

premises. 

(ff) Non-Discrimination.  The Borrower has not and shall not discriminate on 

the basis of race, creed, religion, color, sex, marital status, age or national origin in the 

lease, use, or occupancy of the Development or in connection with the employment or 

application for employment of Persons for the operation and management of the 

Development.  The Borrower specifically agrees that the Borrower will not refuse to 

lease units in the Development to persons whose family includes minor dependents who 

will occupy such unit, unless such refusal is based upon factors not related to the 

presence of such minors in the family, which factors may include, but shall not be 

limited to, negative credit, rental history or potential overcrowding of a unit. 

ARTICLE III 

REHABILITATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT; ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS 

Section 3.01. Agreement for Rehabilitation of the Development. 

(a) The Borrower agrees to make or cause to be made all contracts and do all 

things necessary for the acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping of the Development.  

The Borrower further agrees that it will acquire and rehabilitate the Development in 

accordance with approved Plans and Specifications and the Credit Underwriting Report 

with all reasonable dispatch and use its best efforts to cause acquisition, rehabilitation 

and equipping of the Development to be completed by the Completion Date, or as soon 

thereafter as may be practicable, delays caused by force majeure as defined in 

Section 7.01 hereof only excepted; but if for any reason such acquisition, rehabilitation 

and equipping is not completed by said Completion Date, there shall be no resulting 

liability on the part of the Borrower or the Issuer and no diminution in or postponement 

of the payments required in Section 4.02 hereof to be paid by the Borrower. 

(b) The Borrower shall cause the Development to be maintained in good, 

habitable and safe (so as to not threaten the health or safety of the Development's 

tenants or their invited guests) condition and repair (reasonable wear and tear excepted) 

and shall not remove, demolish or materially alter the improvements to the 

Development (except for the performance of the rehabilitation work comprising the 

Development or removal of aging or obsolete equipment or furnishings in the normal 

course of business).  After completion of repairs, no structural or other material defect or 

damages to the Development will exist, whether latent or otherwise. 

Section 3.02. Agreement to Issue, Sell and Deliver the Bonds; Deposit of Bond 

Proceeds.   In order to provide funds for the payment of the Qualified Project Costs, the Issuer, 

concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, will issue, sell and deliver the Bonds and 



12 

deposit the proceeds thereof with the Trustee, which amounts shall be immediately deposited 

into the Project Fund. 

Section 3.03. Disbursements from the Project Fund.  In the Indenture, the Issuer has 

authorized and directed the Trustee to make disbursements from the Project Fund to pay Costs 

of the Development in the manner consistent with the Tax Certificates.  The Trustee shall make 

disbursements from the Project Fund as provided in the Indenture, and pursuant to the receipt 

of a Requisition in substantially the form attached to the Indenture as Exhibit B and with respect 

to an Approved Advance in accordance with the Lender Loan Documents and FHA/HUD 

requirements.  The Borrower agrees that the moneys transferred by the Trustee from the Project 

Fund to the Reserve Fund established under the Lender Disbursement Agreement shall only be 

disbursed from the Reserve Fund for Qualified Project Costs as permitted by the Tax 

Certificates. 

Section 3.04. Furnishing Documents to the Trustee.   The Borrower agrees to cause 

such Requisitions to be directed to the Trustee as may be necessary to effect payments out of the 

Project Fund in accordance with Section 3.03 hereof.  

Section 3.05. Establishment of Completion Date. 

(a) The Borrower shall evidence completion of the Development and the 

actual date of completion to the Issuer and the Trustee by an executed Completion 

Certificate and compliance with the requirements of the Servicing Agreement.  The 

Completion Certificate shall be executed by the Borrower and shall state to the best 

information and belief of the Borrower, after due inquiry, that rehabilitation of the 

Development has been completed in material compliance with all applicable laws, 

regulations and agreements, and all costs of labor, services, materials and supplies used 

in the Development have been paid, all equipment necessary for the operation of the 

Development has been purchased, installed and paid for, is suitable and sufficient for its 

intended purposes, and is fully operable, all costs and expenses incurred in connection 

with the Development have been paid except for amounts not yet due and payable or 

being diligently contested in good faith by the Borrower, and the Development is 

suitable and sufficient for its intended purposes.  The Completion Certificate shall 

include a table of sources and uses showing the final allocation for all sources of funding 

for the Development, a confirmation of compliance with clause (b) below and with the 

tax covenants contained herein and in the documents delivered in connection with the 

issuance of the Bonds.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Completion Certificate shall 

further state that it is given without prejudice to any rights of the Borrower against third 

parties which exist at the date of the Completion Certificate or which may subsequently 

come into being.  The Completion Certificate shall be furnished by the Borrower to the 

Issuer and the Trustee promptly following the completion of the Development. 

(b) At least ninety five percent (95%) of the Net Proceeds of the Bonds will be 

used from the Project Fund or the Reserve Fund to pay Qualified Project Costs. 



13 

Section 3.06. Borrower Required to Pay in Event Project Fund Insufficient.  In the 

event the moneys in the Project Fund available for payment of the Costs of the Development are 

not sufficient to pay the Costs of the Development in full, the Borrower agrees to complete the 

Development and to pay that portion of the Costs of the Development in excess of the moneys 

available therefor in the Project Fund.  The Issuer does not make any warranty, either express or 

implied, that the moneys paid into the Project Fund and available for payment of the Costs of 

the Development will be sufficient to pay all of the Costs of the Development.  The Borrower 

agrees that if after exhaustion of the moneys in the Project Fund, the Borrower should pay any 

portion of the Costs of the Development pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the Borrower 

shall not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Issuer, the Trustee or the Holders 

of any of the Bonds, nor shall the Borrower be entitled to any diminution of the amounts 

payable under this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms, conditions and 

covenants of this Section 3.06 do not in any way affect the ability of the Issuer to pursue its 

rights and remedies under the Guarantor Documents. 

Section 3.07. Special Arbitrage Certifications.  The Borrower and the Issuer covenant, 

severally, and not jointly, (i) not to take any action or fail to take any action which would cause 

the interest on any of the Bonds to be or become includable in the gross income of the Holders 

for federal income tax purposes and (ii) not to cause or direct any moneys on deposit in any 

fund or account to be used in a manner that would cause the Bonds to be classified as "arbitrage 

bonds" within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code.  The Borrower certifies and covenants to 

and for the benefit of the Issuer and the Holders of the Bonds that so long as there are any 

Bonds Outstanding, moneys on deposit in any fund or account in connection with the Bonds, 

whether such moneys were derived from the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds or from any 

other sources, will not be used in a manner that will cause the Bonds to be classified as 

"arbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code. 

Section 3.08. Rebate Calculations and Payments.  Within twenty (20) days after 

payment in full of the Bonds, the Borrower shall cause the Rebate Analyst to calculate the 

Rebate Requirement as of the date of such payment and the Rebate Analyst shall notify the 

Trustee and the Borrower of that amount.  If the amount then on deposit in the Rebate Fund 

created under the Indenture is less than the Rebate Requirement (taking into account the 

amount or amounts, if any, previously paid to the United States), the Borrower shall, within 

thirty (30) days after the date of the aforesaid calculation, deposit or cause to be deposited to the 

credit of the Rebate Fund an amount sufficient to cause the Rebate Fund to contain an amount 

equal to the Rebate Requirement.  The obligation of the Borrower to make or cause to be made 

such payments shall remain in effect and be binding upon the Borrower notwithstanding the 

release and discharge of the Indenture or the termination of this Agreement.  The Borrower 

shall obtain such records of the computations made pursuant to this Section as are required 

under Section 148(f) of the Code and shall retain such records for at least six (6) years after the 

maturity or retirement of the Bonds. 

Section 3.09. Rebate Analyst.  In accordance with Section 3.08 hereof, the Rebate 

Analyst shall perform any calculations required under Section 5.01 of the Indenture at the sole 



14 

expense of the Borrower (such expense to be paid out of the portion of the Issuer Fee 

constituting the Program Fee).  The Rebate Analyst shall be selected by the Issuer as provided in 

the Indenture.  The Borrower further covenants that, during the term of the Bonds, in the event 

the Borrower sells or otherwise disposes of the Development, it will require that the transferee 

execute a covenant similar to that in this Section in the sale or other documents concerning the 

disposition and will require such transferee to include such a covenant in future transfer 

documents.  The special covenants of the Borrower in this Section shall survive the defeasance 

or payment in full of the Bonds notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement until 

the requirements for payment of any Rebate Requirement has been fully satisfied. 

ARTICLE IV 

LOAN PROVISIONS 

Section 4.01. Loan of Proceeds.  The Issuer agrees, upon the terms and conditions 

contained in this Agreement and the Indenture, to lend to the Borrower the proceeds received 

by the Issuer from the sale of the Bonds.  Such proceeds shall be disbursed to or on behalf of the 

Borrower as provided in Section 3.03 hereof. 

Section 4.02. Amounts Payable. 

(a) (i) On or prior to the Closing Date, the Borrower shall deliver or cause to 

be delivered the Capitalized Interest Deposit to the Trustee for deposit to the 

Capitalized Interest Account. 

(ii) The Borrower hereby covenants and agrees to repay the Loan on or 

before any date that any payment of interest or principal is required to be made 

in respect of the Bonds pursuant to the Indenture, until the principal of and 

interest on the Bonds shall have been fully paid or provision for the payment 

thereof shall have been made in accordance with the Indenture, in immediately 

available funds, a sum which, together with any other moneys available for such 

payment in the Capitalized Interest Account and the Collateral Fund, will enable 

the Trustee to pay the amount payable on such date as principal of (whether at 

maturity or acceleration or otherwise) and interest on the Bonds as provided in 

the Indenture.  Deposits into the Bond Fund for payments by the Trustee of 

principal and interest on the Bonds from amounts in the Capitalized Interest 

Account or the Collateral Fund shall be credited against the Borrower's 

obligation to pay principal and interest on the Loan.   

It is understood and agreed that all payments of principal and interest payable 

by the Borrower under subsection (a) of this Section 4.02 are assigned by the Issuer 

(other than the Unassigned Rights of the Issuer) in accordance with the terms of the 

Indenture to the Trustee for the benefit of the Holders of the Bonds (excluding amounts 

on deposit in the Rebate Fund).  The Borrower consents to such assignment. 



15 

(b) In the event the Borrower should fail to make any of the payments 

required in this Section 4.02, the item or installment so in default shall continue as an 

obligation of the Borrower until the amount in default shall have been fully paid, and 

the Borrower agrees to pay the same with interest thereon, to the extent permitted by 

law, from the date when such payment was due, at the rate of interest borne by the 

Bonds. 

Section 4.03. Fees and Expenses.  The Borrower agrees to pay, when due, the Issuer 

Fee, the Trustee's Fee, the Issuer Servicer Fee, the fees of the Rebate Analyst Fee in the manner 

provided in Section 3.09 hereof and any and all other costs or expenses at any time incurred by 

the Issuer, the Trustee, the Issuer Servicer, the Dissemination Agent or the Rebate Analyst 

(including the reasonable fees and expenses of their counsel actually incurred) in connection 

with the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds and the performance of their duties in 

connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, all costs of 

recording and filing.  The Borrower will also pay any reasonable expenses actually incurred in 

connection with any redemption of the Bonds.  Specifically, and without limiting the foregoing, 

the Borrower agrees to pay to and indemnify any Issuer Indemnified Party (as defined below), 

the Trustee or any payee designated by the Issuer, within 30 days after receipt of request for 

payment thereof, all reasonable expenses of the Issuer and the Trustee actually incurred and 

related to the Development and the financing thereof which are not paid from the funds held 

under the Indenture, including, without limitation, reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred 

in connection with the interpretation, performance, enforcement or amendment of any 

documents relating to the Development or the Bonds or in connection with questions or other 

matters arising under such documents. 

The obligations of the Borrower under this Section shall survive the termination of this 

Loan Agreement and the payment and performance of all of the other obligations of the 

Borrower hereunder and under the other Borrower Documents. 

Section 4.04. Obligations of the Borrower Unconditional.  The obligations of the 

Borrower to make the payments required under this Agreement, and to perform and observe 

the other agreements on its part contained herein shall be absolute and unconditional, 

irrespective of any defense or any right of notice, setoff, recoupment or counterclaim it might 

otherwise have against the Issuer, the Trustee or any other person.  Subject to termination as 

provided herein, the Borrower (i) will not suspend or discontinue, or permit the suspension or 

discontinuance of, any payments provided for under this Agreement, (ii) will perform and 

observe all of its other agreements contained in this Agreement and the other Documents and 

(iii) will not terminate this Agreement for any cause including, without limiting the generality 

of the foregoing, any acts or circumstances that may constitute failure of consideration, eviction 

or constructive eviction, destruction of or damage to the Development, commercial frustration 

of purpose, or change in the tax or other laws or administrative rulings of or administrative 

actions by the United States of America or the State or any political subdivision of either, any 

failure of the Issuer to perform and observe any agreement, whether express or implied, or any 

duty, liability, or obligation arising out of or connected with this Agreement, whether express or 



16 

implied, or any failure of the Trustee to perform and observe any agreement, whether express 

or implied, or any duty, liability or obligation arising out of or connected with the Indenture, 

whether express or implied.  

Section 4.05. Optional Prepayment.  The Loan is not subject to prepayment prior to the 

Mandatory Tender Date.  On and after the Mandatory Tender Date, the Loan may be prepaid 

by the Borrower in whole but not in part on any Business Day determined by the Borrower in 

consultation with the Remarketing Agent in accordance with Section 3.01 of the Indenture, 

without penalty.  In order to prepay the Loan, the Borrower shall give the Trustee and the 

Issuer written notice at least twenty-five (25) days prior to the prepayment date to effect an 

optional redemption of the Bonds pursuant to Section 3.01 of the Indenture. 

ARTICLE V 

SPECIAL COVENANTS 

Section 5.01. No Warranty of Condition or Suitability by the Issuer.  THE 

BORROWER RECOGNIZES, ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE ISSUER MAKES 

NO WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED OR OTHERWISE, WITH 

RESPECT TO THE DEVELOPMENT OR THE LOCATION, USE, DESCRIPTION, DESIGN, 

MERCHANTABILITY, CONDITION, WORKMANSHIP, OR FITNESS, SUITABILITY OR USE 

FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, CONDITION OR DURABILITY THEREOF.  THE 

BORROWER FURTHER RECOGNIZES THAT THE ISSUER HAS NO TITLE INTEREST TO 

ANY PART OF THE DEVELOPMENT AND THAT THE ISSUER MAKES NO 

REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND AS TO THE BORROWER'S TITLE 

THERETO OR OWNERSHIP THEREOF OR OTHERWISE, IT BEING AGREED THAT ALL 

RISKS INCIDENT THERETO ARE TO BE BORNE BY THE BORROWER.  IN THE EVENT OF 

ANY DEFECT OR DEFICIENCY OF ANY NATURE IN THE DEVELOPMENT OR ANY 

FIXTURE OR OTHER ITEM CONSTITUTING A PORTION THEREOF, WHETHER PATENT 

OR LATENT, THE ISSUER SHALL HAVE NO RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY WITH 

RESPECT THERETO.  THESE PROVISIONS HAVE BEEN NEGOTIATED AND ARE 

INTENDED TO BE A COMPLETE EXCLUSION AND NEGATION OF ANY WARRANTIES 

OR REPRESENTATIONS BY THE ISSUER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THE 

DEVELOPMENT OR ANY FIXTURE OR OTHER ITEM CONSTITUTING A PORTION 

THEREOF, WHETHER ARISING PURSUANT TO THE UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE OF 

THE STATE OF FLORIDA OR ANOTHER LAW NOW OR HEREAFTER IN EFFECT OR 

OTHERWISE. 

Section 5.02. Access to the Development.  The Borrower agrees that the Issuer, the 

Trustee and their duly authorized agents, attorneys, experts, engineers, accountants and 

representatives shall have the right to inspect the Development and the rehabilitation thereof at 

all reasonable times upon reasonable notice.  The Borrower acknowledges that the Issuer 

Servicer shall monitor the rehabilitation of the Development.  The Issuer, the Trustee, the Issuer 

Servicer and their duly authorized agents shall also be permitted, at all reasonable times and 



17 

upon reasonable notice, to examine the books, accounts, contracts, documents, and other papers 

of the Borrower with respect to the Development which shall all be maintained by the Borrower 

in reasonable condition and for audit. 

Section 5.03. Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments.  The Borrower agrees 

that it will, and will request the Issuer to, from time to time, execute, acknowledge and deliver, 

or cause to be executed, acknowledged and delivered, such supplements hereto and such 

further instruments as may reasonably be required for carrying out the expressed intention of 

this Agreement. 

Section 5.04. Issuer and Borrower Representatives.  Whenever under the provisions of 

this Agreement the approval of the Issuer or the Borrower is required or the Issuer or the 

Borrower is required to take some action at the request of the other, such approval or such 

request shall be given in writing both for the Issuer by an authorized representative of the 

Issuer and for the Borrower by a Borrower Representative.  The Trustee shall be authorized to 

act on any such approval or request pursuant to the Indenture. 

Section 5.05. Financing Statements.  The Borrower shall file, or shall cause to be filed, 

and shall deliver copies to the Trustee of any and all financing statements, or any amendments 

thereof or continuation statements thereto, to perfect the security interests granted in the 

Indenture, in the manner prescribed in the Indenture.  The Borrower shall pay all costs of filing 

such instruments and any fees and expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees) associated 

therewith. 

Section 5.06. Certain Deposits with the Trustee. In connection with the issuance of the 

Bonds, certain moneys may be deposited with the Trustee before the closing date pursuant to 

one or more letters of instruction from the provider or providers of such moneys.  Such moneys 

will be held by the Trustee subject to the terms and conditions of the Indenture in addition to 

terms provided in such letter(s) of instruction.  For such purpose the standards of care, 

provisions regarding responsibilities and indemnification and other sections relating to the 

Trustee contained in the Indenture and this Agreement (the "Effective Provisions") shall be 

effective as of the first date of receipt by the Trustee of such moneys.  The Effective Provisions 

shall be deemed incorporated into such letter(s) of instructions. 

Section 5.07. Restriction on Plans and Specifications.  The Borrower will not cause, 

permit or suffer to exist any material deviations from the Plans and Specifications and will not 

approve or consent to any construction change directive without the prior approval of the 

Issuer Servicer. 

Section 5.08. Requisitions. 

(a) On the Closing Date, the Borrower shall complete, execute and deliver to 

the Trustee a Requisition for disbursement of amounts on deposit in the Project Fund to 

the Borrower to pay Costs of the Development.  Each Requisition shall be signed on 

behalf of the Borrower and approved by the Issuer Servicer, shall be in the form set forth 



18 

on Exhibit B to the Indenture and shall conform to all requirements of the Servicing 

Agreement.  Each Requisition for amounts on deposit in the Project Fund shall state:  

(1) the number of the Requisition, (2) the amount to be disbursed and the sources of such 

disbursement, (3) that each obligation described therein is a Cost of the Development, 

has been properly incurred and has not been the basis for any previous disbursement, 

and (4) that the expenditure of such disbursement when added to all previous 

disbursements will result in not less than 95% of all disbursements from proceeds of the 

Bonds having been used to pay or reimburse the Borrower for Qualified Project Costs.  

The Borrower shall submit the Requisitions to the Trustee for payment.  Approved 

Requisitions may be submitted to the Trustee by telecopier and shall not include 

accompanying supporting materials. 

(b) The amounts deposited into the Project Fund may be disbursed by the 

Trustee only in accordance with Section 6.02 of the Indenture, including delivery of a 

written Requisition of the Borrower satisfying the requirements of this Section 5.08 and 

Section 6.02 of the Indenture. 

(c) On the Closing Date, the Borrower shall complete, execute and deliver to 

the Trustee a Requisition for disbursement of amounts on deposit in the Borrower Costs 

of Issuance Account to pay Costs of Issuance.  Each Requisition shall be signed on behalf 

of the Borrower and approved by the Issuer Servicer, and shall be in the form set forth 

on Exhibit C-2 to the Indenture. 

Section 5.09. Covenant with Bondholders.  The Issuer and the Borrower agree that this 

Agreement is executed and delivered in part to induce the purchase by others of the Bonds and, 

accordingly, all covenants and agreements of the Issuer and the Borrower contained in this 

Agreement are hereby declared to be for the benefit of the Trustee and the Holders of the Bonds 

from time to time.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bondholder's rights to enforce this 

provision of this Agreement are governed by the terms of the Indenture. 

Section 5.10. Covenant to Provide Ongoing Disclosure.  The Borrower shall enter into 

a written undertaking for the benefit of the Holders to provide for the continuing disclosure of 

information about the Bonds, the Borrower and other matters as may be required to cause 

compliance with the Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Rule").  

Failure of the Borrower to comply with the Rule shall not be a default under the Indenture, this 

Loan Agreement or any of the other Bond Documents; provided, however, the Borrower 

acknowledges that the Issuer, the Trustee or any Bondholder shall be entitled to bring an action 

for specific performance to cause the Borrower to comply with the covenant set forth in this 

section. 

Section 5.11. Borrower Receipt of Insurance or Condemnation Proceeds.  In the event 

the Borrower receives any proceeds of insurance or any condemnation awards with respect to 

the Development from a party other than the Trustee, the Borrower shall promptly upon receipt 

remit all such insurance proceeds or condemnation awards to the Lender. 



19 

Section 5.12. Reporting Requirements of the Borrower.   The Borrower will furnish to 

the Issuer and agencies of the State such periodic reports or statements as are required under 

the Act, or as such agencies may otherwise reasonably require of the Issuer or Borrower 

throughout the term of this Agreement. 

(a) Pursuant to Florida Statutes, Section 119.0701(2), the Borrower is required 

to comply with public records laws, specifically to: 

(i) Keep and maintain public records (as defined in Florida Statutes, 

Section 119.011) that ordinarily and necessarily would be required by the Issuer 

in order to perform the service. 

(ii) Provide the public with access to public records on the same terms 

and conditions that the Issuer would provide the records and at a cost that does 

not exceed the cost provided by Florida Statutes, Chapter 119, or as otherwise 

provided by law. 

(iii) Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and 

exempt from public records disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as 

authorized by law. 

(iv) Meet all requirements for retaining public records and transfer, at 

no cost, to the Issuer all public records in possession of the Trustee upon 

termination of this Indenture and destroy any duplicate public records that are 

exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements.  

All records stored electronically must be provided to the Issuer in a format that is 

compatible with the information technology systems of the Issuer. 

Section 5.13. Indenture.  The provisions of the Indenture concerning the Bonds and 

other matters therein are an integral part of the terms and conditions of the Loan, and this 

Agreement shall constitute conclusive evidence of approval of the Indenture by the Borrower to 

the extent it relates to the Borrower.  Additionally, the Borrower agrees that, whenever the 

Indenture by its terms imposes a duty or obligation upon the Borrower, such duty or obligation 

shall be binding upon the Borrower to the same extent as if the Borrower were an express party 

to the Indenture, and the Borrower agrees to carry out and perform all of its obligations under 

the Indenture as fully as if the Borrower were a party to the Indenture. 

Section 5.14. Financial Information.  The Borrower agrees that it will have the books 

and records of the Borrower audited annually by an independent certified public accountant as 

soon as practicable after the close of each fiscal year of the Borrower, and will furnish within 

120 days after the end of each fiscal year to the Issuer and the Trustee commencing in the fiscal 

year in which the rehabilitation of the Development is complete a copy of the audit report 

certified by such Accountant and prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles, which report shall include calculations of the availability of funds for distributions 

and disclose the amount of Manager and other partner distributions for the preceding year.  The 



20 

Borrower and the Issuer acknowledge that the Trustee shall have no obligations under this 

Section 5.14 other than to receive such statements and, if requested, to furnish such statements 

to Bondholders.  The Trustee shall have no duty to review such statements, is not considered to 

have notice of the content of such statements or any default or Event of Default based on such 

content and does not have a duty to verify the accuracy of such statements. 

Section 5.15. Tax Credit Requirement.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set 

forth in the Documents, including, without limitation, IRS Form 8038 completed at the time of 

issuance of the Bonds, all of the Bond proceeds shall, for federal income tax purposes, be 

(1) allocated on a pro rata basis to each building in the Development, and (2) used exclusively to 

pay costs of acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping of the Development which are includable 

in the aggregate basis of any building and the land on which the building is located ("Eligible 

Costs") in a manner such that each building satisfies the requirement of Section 42(h)(4)(B) of 

the Code.  [Accordingly, no Bond proceeds will be used to pay any of the Costs of Issuance for 

the Bonds or to fund any reserve account other than the Project Fund or an account to be used 

to pay Eligible Costs.]  The Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower each acknowledge that the 

Borrower intends to cause the Development to satisfy the requirements necessary for 

low-income housing tax credit ("Tax Credit") pursuant to Section 42 of the Code.  In the event 

that any of the restrictions described in this Agreement conflict with any Tax Credit 

requirements imposed by Section 42 of the Code or any Tax Credit requirements imposed by 

the Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower each agree that the more restrictive requirements shall 

control.  The provisions of this Section 5.15 are for the benefit of the Borrower and neither the 

Trustee nor the Issuer shall have any obligation to enforce this Section 5.15 nor shall they incur 

any liability to any Person, including without limitation, the Borrower, the Manager and any 

other affiliate of the Borrower or the Holders of the Bonds for any failure to meet the 

requirements of this Section 5.15; and provided further, failure to comply with this Section 5.15 

shall not constitute a default or Event of Default under this Agreement. 

Section 5.16. Brokers and Financial Advisors.  The Borrower hereby represents that it 

has dealt with no financial advisors, brokers, underwriters, placement agents, agents or finders 

in connection with this Loan, other than those disclosed to the Issuer and the Lender and whose 

fees shall be paid by the Borrower pursuant to a separate agreement.  The Borrower and the 

Lender shall indemnify and hold the other harmless from and against any and all claims, 

liabilities, costs and expenses of any kind in a way relating to or arising from a claim by any 

person that such person acted on behalf of the indemnifying party in connection with the 

transactions contemplated herein.  The provisions of this Section 5.16 shall survive the 

expiration and termination of this Agreement and the repayment of the Borrower's Obligations. 

Section 5.17. Trial by Jury.  The Borrower hereby agrees not to elect a trial by jury of 

any issue triable of right by a jury, and waives any right to trial by jury fully to the extent that 

any such right shall hereafter exist with regard to the Documents, or any claim, counterclaim or 

other action arising in connection therewith.  This waiver of right to trial by jury is given 

knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily by the Borrower, and is intended to encompass 

individually each instance and each issue as to which the right to a trial by jury would 



21 

otherwise accrue.  The Trustee is hereby authorized to file a copy of this paragraph in any 

proceeding as conclusive evidence of this waiver by the Borrower.  This Section in no way 

affects the right of the Issuer to elect a trial by jury. 

Section 5.18. Issuer, Trustee and Lender Not in Control; No Partnership. None of the 

covenants or other provisions contain in this Loan Agreement shall, or shall be deemed to, give 

the Issuer, the Trustee or the Lender the right or power to exercise control over the affairs or 

management of the Borrower, the power of the Issuer, the Trustee and the Lender being limited 

to the rights to exercise the remedies referred to in the Documents.  The relationship between 

the Borrower and the Issuer, the Trustee, the Lender and the Bondholders is, and at all times 

shall remain, solely that of debtor and creditor.  No covenant or provision of the Documents is 

intended, nor shall be deemed or construed, to create a partnership, joint venture, agency or 

common interest in profits or income between the Borrower and the Issuer, the Trustee, the 

Lender or any Bondholder or to create an equity interest in the Development in the Issuer, the 

Trustee, the Lender or any Bondholder.  Neither the Issuer, the Trustee, the Lender nor any 

Bondholder undertakes or assumes any responsibility or duty to the Borrower or to any other 

person with respect to the Development, except as expressly provided in the Documents; and 

notwithstanding any other provision of the Documents:  (1) the Issuer, the Trustee and the 

Bondholders are not, and shall not be construed as, a partner, joint venture, alter ego, manager, 

controlling person or other business associate or participant of any kind of the Borrower or its 

stockholders, members or partners and the Issuer, the Trustee and the Bondholders do not 

intend to ever assume such status; (2) the Issuer, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall in no 

event be liable for any of the Borrower's Obligations, expenses or losses incurred or sustained 

by the Borrower; and (3) the Issuer, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall not be deemed 

responsible for or a participant in any acts, omissions or decision to the Borrower or its 

stockholders, members or partners.  The Issuer, the Trustee the Bondholders and the Borrower 

disclaim any intention to create a partnership, joint venture, agency or common interest in 

profits or income between the Issuer, the Trustee, the Bondholders and the Borrower or to 

create an equity an equity interest in the Development of the Issuer, the Trustee or the 

Bondholders, or any sharing of liabilities, losses, costs or expenses. 

ARTICLE VI 

RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER; ASSIGNMENT, SELLING, 

LEASING; INDEMNIFICATION 

Section 6.01. Restriction on Transfer. 

(a) In the event the Borrower intends to sell, lease (except to the tenants who 

will occupy units in the Development), sublease or otherwise materially encumber the 

whole of or any part of the Development or sell, assign or otherwise, except as otherwise 

provided herein, transfer any interest in the Borrower except as otherwise provided in 

Section 6.01(e) hereof (a "transfer"), it shall (i) apply to the Issuer for consent to transfer, 

provided that consent of the Issuer shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or 



22 

delayed with respect to any transfer which is subject to the approval of the Issuer 

pursuant to this Section 6.01 and (ii) comply with the provisions of the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement restricting any such transfer. 

(b) In addition, in connection with a proposed transfer, the Borrower and any 

transferee shall comply with all applicable provisions of the laws and regulations of the 

State in effect at that time regarding notice to tenants, and tenants' rights generally, 

including, specifically, the right of first refusal, or any successor legislation thereto.  The 

transferee shall expressly assume the Borrower's duties and obligations under this 

Agreement and any other Documents to which the Borrower is a party in writing 

simultaneously with any approved transfer as set forth in this Section 6.01.  The 

Borrower shall make available to the Trustee and the Issuer copies of any documents 

reflecting an amendment to partnership interests in the Borrower or other organizational 

documents relating to the sale or other transfer of assets of the Borrower. 

(c) Except as otherwise provided for herein, the Borrower will not, directly 

or indirectly, by operation of law or otherwise, sell, assign, grant a deed of trust, pledge, 

hypothecate, transfer or otherwise dispose of the Development or any interest in the 

Development, and will not encumber, alienate, hypothecate, grant a security interest in 

or grant any other ownership or control interest whatsoever in the Development, in the 

leases or in the rents, issues and profits therefrom. 

(d) Except as otherwise provided for herein, no interest in the Borrower  and 

no ownership interest in the Manager may be sold, conveyed, transferred, assigned, 

pledged or otherwise transferred, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by operation 

of law or otherwise. 

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the subsections 

above or otherwise in the Borrower Documents, each of the following transactions are 

hereby deemed to be expressly permitted hereunder and shall not require any further 

consent of the Issuer: 

(i) Issuance of partnership interests in the Borrower equal to 99.99% 

of the profits, losses, credits, distributions and other interests in the Borrower to 

the Investment Member; 

(ii) The transfer by the Investment Member of all or any portion of its 

membership interest in the Borrower to (A) Columbia Housing, SLP 

Corporation, an Oregon corporation, (B) any other entity which is the Investment 

Member's general partner or manager, (C) any other entity which is an affiliate of 

the Investment Member or its members or partners, (D) any other entity which is 

directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with, 

PNC Bank, National Association (the "Investor Sponsor"), or (E) an entity that is 

sponsored by the Investor Sponsor (collectively, the "Permitted Affiliates"); 



23 

(iii) The pledge and encumbrance of the partnership interests in the 

Borrower of the Investment Member to or for the benefit of any financial 

institution which enables the Investment Member to make its capital 

contributions to Borrower and any subsequent realization by any such lender 

upon the interests of the Investment Member in the Borrower; 

(iv) The removal of the Manager by the Investment Member or an 

affiliate of the Investment Member pursuant to the terms of the Operating 

Agreement of the Borrower and the replacement of the Manager with the 

Investment Member or an affiliate of the Investment Member including a special 

member of Borrower; 

(v) The transfer of interests in the Manager so long as the Borrower 

on the date hereof retains a controlling interest in the Manager;  

(vi) The pledge and encumbrance of the partnership or membership 

interest in the Manager of the Borrower in accordance with the terms of the 

Operating Agreement and the Land Use Restriction Agreement;  

(vii) The indirect transfer by the Investment Member or an affiliate of 

the Investment Member of all or any portion of its partnership or membership 

interest in the Borrower; and 

(viii) The transfer of limited partner interests or investor member 

interests of the Investment Member to a Permitted Affiliate. 

(f) The Borrower will not become a party to any merger or consolidation, or 

agree to effect any asset acquisition or stock acquisition. 

(g) The Borrower will not convert the ownership of the Development into 

condominium or cooperative housing corporation form of ownership other than a 

limited equity cooperative that is a qualified cooperative housing corporation as defined 

in Section 143(k)(9) of the Code. 

(h) The Borrower will not seek the dissolution or winding up, in whole or in 

part, of the Borrower or voluntarily file, or consent to the filing of, a petition for 

bankruptcy, reorganization, or assignment for the benefit of creditors or similar 

proceedings. 

(i) The Borrower will not enter into any arrangement, directly or indirectly, 

whereby the Borrower shall sell or transfer any property owned by it in order then or 

thereafter to lease such property or lease other property that the Borrower intends to use 

for substantially the same purpose as the property being sold or transferred without the 

prior written consent of the Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion. 



24 

(j) The Borrower will not take any action that would adversely affect the 

exclusion of interest on the Bonds from gross income, for purposes of federal income 

taxation nor omit or fail to take any action required to maintain the exclusion of interest 

on the Bonds from gross income, for purposes of federal income taxation. 

(k) [Reserved]. 

(l) This Agreement may not be sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of by 

the Borrower without the prior written consent of the Issuer (which consent shall be 

within the reasonable discretion of the Issuer), subject to each of the following 

conditions: 

(i) No such assignment will relieve the Borrower from primary 

liability for any of its obligations hereunder (unless the Issuer agrees in writing 

to release the Borrower) and in the event of any such assignment, the Borrower 

will continue to remain primarily liable for payment of its obligations hereunder 

and for performance and observance of the other covenants and agreements on 

its part herein provided. 

(ii) No such assignment will, in the opinion of Bond Counsel (all such 

expenses related to such opinion shall be paid by the Borrower), adversely affect 

the excludability of interest on the Bonds from gross income for purposes of 

federal income taxation. 

(iii) The assignee will assume in writing the obligations of the 

Borrower hereunder and under the Land Use Restriction Agreement to the extent 

of the interest assigned in a form acceptable to the Issuer (the "Assumption 

Agreement"). 

(iv) Prior to any such assignment, the Borrower will, furnish or cause 

to be furnished to the Issuer and the Trustee an executed original of the 

Assumption Agreement. 

Section 6.02. Indemnification by Borrower. 

The Borrower and the Manager (the "Indemnitors") hereby agree to release the Issuer 

and its respective officers, directors, agents, officials, employees, financial advisors, members of 

its governing body and any person who controls the Issuer within the meaning of the Securities 

Act of 1933 (the "Issuer Indemnified Parties") and the Trustee and it respective officers, 

directors, agents, and employees (the "Trustee Indemnified Parties") from, and covenants and 

agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend Issuer Indemnified Parties and the Trustee 

Indemnified Parties from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and 

expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses, litigation and court costs, costs 

incurred in connection with any audit by the Internal Revenue Service, amounts paid in 

settlement by or with the approval of the Borrower and amounts paid to discharge judgments), 



25 

taxes, causes of action, suits, demands and judgments of any nature, joint or several, by or on 

behalf of any person arising out of: 

(a) the approval of financing for the Development, or the making of the 

Loan; 

(b) the issuance and sale or resale of any Bonds or any certifications or 

representations made by any person other than the party seeking indemnification in 

connection therewith, including, but not limited to, any (i) statement or information 

made by the Borrower with respect to the Borrower or the Development in any offering 

document or materials regarding the Bonds, the Development or the Borrower or in the 

Tax Certificates or in any other certificate executed by the Borrower which, at the time 

made, is misleading, untrue or incorrect in any material respect; (ii) untrue statement or 

alleged untrue statement of a material fact relating to the Borrower or the Development, 

which is made as approved by the Borrower and is contained in any offering material 

relating to the sale of the Bonds, as from time to time amended or supplemented, or 

arising out of or based upon the omission or alleged omission to state in such offering 

material a material fact relating to the Borrower or the Development required to be 

stated in such offering material or necessary in order to make the statements in such 

offering material not misleading; or (iii) failure to properly register or otherwise qualify 

the sale of Bonds or failure to comply with any licensing or other law or regulation 

which would affect the manner in which or to whom the Bonds could be sold; 

(c) the interpretation, performance, enforcement, breach, default or 

amendment of the Bond Documents, the Loan Documents or any other documents 

relating to the Development or the Bonds or in connection with any federal or state tax 

audit, or any questions or other matters arising under such documents; 

(d) the Borrower's failure to comply with any requirement of the Loan 

Agreement or the Land Use Restriction Agreement; 

(e) the condition of the Development (environmental or otherwise), 

including any violation of any law, ordinance, court order or regulation affecting the 

Development or any part of it; 

(f) any damage or injury, actual or claimed, of whatsoever kind, cause or 

character to the Development (including loss of use of the Development) or persons, 

occurring or allegedly occurring in, on or about the Development or arising out of any 

action or inaction of the Borrower or any of its agents, servants, employees or licensees, 

whether or not related to the Development, or resulting from the acquisition, 

construction, design, repair, operation, use or management of all or any part of the 

Development; 

(g) any and all claims arising in connection with the operation of the 

Development, or the conditions, environmental or otherwise, occupancy, use, 



26 

possession, conduct or supervision of work done in or about, or from the planning, 

design, construction, repair or equipping of, the Development or any part of it, 

including, but not limited to, the Americans with Disabilities Act; and 

(h) to the extent not mentioned in any of the preceding subsections of this 

Section 6.02, any cause whatsoever in connection with transactions provided for in this 

Agreement and the other Loan Documents or otherwise in connection with the 

Development, the Bonds or the execution or amendment of any document relating to the 

Bonds or the Development. 

This indemnification shall extend to and include, without limitation, all reasonable costs, 

counsel fees, expenses and liabilities incurred in connection with any such claim, or proceeding 

brought with respect to such claim. 

If any claim shall be made or any action shall be brought against the Issuer Indemnified 

Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties in respect of which indemnity can be sought against 

the Borrower pursuant to this Section 6.02 or otherwise, the Issuer Indemnified Parties or the 

Trustee Indemnified Parties shall promptly notify the Borrower in writing, and the Borrower 

shall promptly assume the defense of such claim or action, including the employment of 

counsel chosen by the Borrower and approved by the Issuer or the Trustee, the payment of all 

expenses and the right to negotiate a settlement with the consent and approval of the Issuer or 

the Trustee; if the Borrower shall have failed to assume the defense of such action or to retain 

counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer or the Trustee within a reasonable time after notice 

of the commencement of such action, the Borrower shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses 

of counsel retained by the Issuer Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties.  If the 

Issuer Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties are advised in a written opinion 

of counsel that there may be legal defenses available to the Issuer Indemnified Parties or the 

Trustee Indemnified Parties which are adverse to or in conflict with those available to the 

Borrower or that the defense of the Issuer Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified 

Parties should be handled by separate counsel, the Borrower shall not have the right to assume 

the defense of the Issuer Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties, but shall be 

responsible for the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel retained by the Issuer Indemnified 

Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties in assuming its own defense.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, the Issuer Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties shall have the right 

to employ separate counsel with respect to any such claim or in any such action and to 

participate in the defense thereof, but the Issuer Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified 

Parties shall pay the fees and expenses of such counsel unless the employment of such counsel 

has been specifically authorized by the Borrower or unless the provisions of the immediately 

preceding sentence are applicable.  The Borrower shall not be liable for any settlement of any 

such action effected without the consent of the Borrower, but if such claim or action is settled 

with the consent of the Borrower, or if there is a final judgment for the plaintiff in any such 

action with or without consent, the Borrower agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Issuer 

Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties from and against any loss, liability or 

expense by reason of such settlement or judgment. 



27 

The Borrower shall also indemnify the Issuer Indemnified Parties and the Trustee 

Indemnified Parties for all reasonable costs and expenses, including reasonable counsel fees, 

incurred in: (i) enforcing any obligation of the Borrower under this Agreement or any related 

agreement, (ii) taking any action requested by the Borrower, (iii) taking any action required by 

this Agreement or any related agreement, or (iv) taking any action considered necessary by the 

Issuer Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties and which is authorized by this 

Agreement or any related agreement.  If an Issuer Indemnified Party or a Trustee Indemnified 

Party takes any action under this Agreement or any other instrument executed in connection 

herewith for the benefit of the Borrower, it will do so if and only if (a) the Issuer Indemnified 

Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties are a necessary party to any such action or 

proceeding, and (b) the Issuer Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties has 

received specific written direction from the Borrower, as required under this Agreement or 

under any other instrument executed in connection with this Agreement, as to the action to be 

taken by the Issuer Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties. 

This indemnification shall not be affected by any investigation by or on behalf of the 

Issuer Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties or by any information the Issuer 

Indemnified Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties may have or obtain with respect thereof.  

This indemnification shall extend to and include, without limitation, all reasonable costs, 

counsel fees, expenses and liabilities incurred in connection with any such claim, or proceeding 

brought with respect to such claim to the fullest extent permitted by law, unless liability is a 

result of gross negligence, willful misconduct or fraud on the part of the Issuer Indemnified 

Parties or the Trustee Indemnified Parties, its members, officers, agents, employees and their 

successors and assigns.  The indemnification provided in this Article V is in addition to, and not 

in substitution of, the indemnification provisions in other documents executed and delivered in 

connection with the making of the Loan and the issuance of the Bonds. 

All amounts payable to the Issuer under this Agreement shall be deemed to be fees and 

expenses payable to the Issuer for the purposes of the provisions of this Agreement, and of the 

Indenture dealing with assignment of the Issuer's rights under this Agreement.  The Issuer and 

its members, officers, agents, employees and their successors and assigns shall not be liable to 

the Borrower for any reason. 

Any provision of this Agreement or any other instrument or document executed and 

delivered in connection therewith to the contrary notwithstanding, the Issuer retains the right to 

(i) enforce any applicable Federal or State law or regulation or resolution of the Issuer, and 

(ii) enforce any rights accorded to the Issuer by Federal or State law or regulation of the Issuer, 

and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as an express or implied waiver thereof.  The 

obligations of the Indemnitors under this Section are joint and several, and the indemnifications 

provided by the Indemnitors shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the 

satisfaction of the Note, and the resignation or removal of the Trustee. 

Section 6.03. The Issuer to Grant Security Interest to Trustee.  The parties hereto agree 

that pursuant to the Indenture, the Issuer shall assign to the Trustee, in order to secure payment 



28 

of the Bonds, all of the Issuer's right, title and interest in and to this Agreement and the Note, 

except for Unassigned Rights of the Issuer.  The Issuer retains the right to enforce any or all of 

the Unassigned Rights, and may take independent action to so enforce such Unassigned Rights. 

ARTICLE VII 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

Section 7.01. Defaults Defined.  The following shall be "Defaults" under this 

Agreement and the term "Default" shall mean, whenever it is used in this Agreement, any one 

or more of the following events: 

(a) Failure by the Borrower to pay any amount required to be paid under 

subsection (a) or (b) of Section 4.02 and Section 4.03 hereof. 

(b) Failure by the Borrower to observe and perform any covenant, condition 

or agreement on its part to be observed or performed herein other than as referred to in 

subsection (a) of this Section or failure by the Borrower to observe and perform any 

covenant, condition or agreement on its part to be observed or performed in the Tax 

Certificates, for a period of 60 days after written notice, specifying such failure and 

requesting that it be remedied, will have been given to the Borrower by the Issuer or the 

Trustee; provided, with respect to any such failure covered by this subsection (b), no 

event of default will be deemed to have occurred so long as a course of action adequate 

to remedy such failure will have been commenced within such 60 day period and will 

thereafter be diligently prosecuted to completion and the failure will be remedied 

thereby. 

(c) The dissolution or liquidation of the Borrower, or the voluntary initiation 

by the Borrower of any proceeding under any federal or state law relating to 

bankruptcy, insolvency, arrangement, reorganization, readjustment of debt or any other 

form of debtor relief, or the initiation against the Borrower of any such proceeding 

which shall remain undismissed for ninety (90) days, or failure by the Borrower to 

promptly have discharged any execution, garnishment or attachment of such 

consequence as would impair the ability of the Borrower to carry on its operations at the 

Development, or assignment by the Borrower for the benefit of creditors, or the entry by 

the Borrower into an agreement of composition with its creditors or the failure generally 

by the Borrower to pay its debts as they become due. 

(d) The occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default under the 

Indenture. 

The provisions of subsection (b) of this Section are subject to the following limitation:  if 

by reason of force majeure it is impossible for the Borrower in whole or in part, despite its best 

efforts, to carry out any of its agreements contained herein (other than its obligations contained 

in Article IV hereof), the Borrower shall not be deemed in Default during the continuance of 



29 

such inability.  Such force majeure event does not affect any obligations of the Borrower other 

than the timing of performance of such obligations.  The term "force majeure" as used herein 

shall mean, without limitation, the following:  acts of God; acts of public enemies; orders or 

restraints of any kind of the government of the United States of America or of the State or of any 

of their departments, agencies or officials, or of any civil or military authority; insurrections; 

riots; terrorism; landslides; earthquakes; fires; storms; droughts; floods; or explosions; not 

reasonably within the control of the Borrower.  The Borrower agrees, however, to use its best 

efforts to remedy with all reasonable dispatch the cause or causes preventing the Borrower from 

carrying out its agreement. 

Section 7.02. Remedies on Default.  A copy of any notice of default provided to 

Borrower under any of the Borrower Documents shall also be provided to Investment Member 

and the Lender.  Whenever any Default referred to in Section 7.01 hereof shall have happened 

and be continuing beyond the expiration of any applicable cure period, the Trustee, or the 

Issuer (in the event the Trustee fails to act), may take whatever action at law or in equity may 

appear necessary or desirable to collect the amounts then due and thereafter to become due, or 

to enforce performance and observance of any obligation, agreement or covenant of the 

Borrower under this Agreement, the Note, the Land Use Restriction Agreement or any other 

Document in the event of default thereunder.  Any amounts collected pursuant to action taken 

under this Section shall be paid into the Collateral Fund. 

Section 7.03. No Remedy Exclusive.  Subject to Section 10.01 of the Indenture, no 

remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the Issuer or the Trustee is intended to be 

exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be 

cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under this Agreement or now 

or hereafter existing at law or in equity.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power 

accruing upon any Default shall impair any such right or power nor shall it be construed to be a 

waiver thereof, but any such right or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as 

may be deemed expedient.  In order to entitle the Issuer or the Trustee to exercise any remedy 

reserved to it in this Article, it shall not be necessary to give any notice, other than such notice 

as may be required in this Article.  Such rights and remedies as are given to the Issuer 

hereunder shall also extend to the Trustee, and the Trustee and the Holders of the Bonds, 

subject to the provisions of the Indenture, including, but not limited to the Unassigned Rights of 

the Issuer, shall be entitled to the benefit of all covenants and agreements herein contained. 

Section 7.04. Payment of Attorneys' Fees and Expenses.  If any party to this Agreement 

takes any action to enforce its rights hereunder, then the prevailing party to such action may 

recover from the other party all of such prevailing party's costs incurred in bringing or 

defending such action, as the case may be, including (without limitation) attorneys' fees and 

costs of appeals. 

Section 7.05. No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver.  In the event any 

agreement contained in this Agreement should be breached by either party and thereafter 



30 

waived by the other party, such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and 

shall not be deemed to waive any other breach hereunder. 

Section 7.06. Right to Cure.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or 

otherwise in the Borrower Documents, if the Borrower shall, for whatever reason, at any time 

fail to pay any amount or perform any act which it is obligated to pay or perform under any of 

the Borrower Documents and, as a result, a default or event of default occurs or may occur 

thereunder, the Investment Member shall have the right to perform such act or pay such 

amount on behalf of the Borrower and thereby cure or prevent such default or event of default, 

provided such default or event of default is cured within any applicable cure period or grace 

period provided to the Borrower herein or otherwise in the Borrower Documents.  Any cure of 

any event of default by the Investment Member under the Borrower Documents shall be 

deemed a cure by Borrower thereunder. 

Section 7.07. No Interference or Impairment of Lender Loan.  Notwithstanding 

anything herein to the contrary, none of the Issuer, the Trustee nor any other person shall: 

(a) initiate or take any action which may have the effect, directly or 

indirectly, of impairing the ability of the Borrower to timely pay the principal of, interest 

on, or other amounts due and payable under, the Lender Loan; or 

(b) interfere with or attempt to interfere with or influence the exercise by the 

Lender of any of its rights under the Lender Loan, including, without limitation, the 

Lender remedial rights under the Lender Loan upon the occurrence of an event of 

default by the Borrower under the Lender Loan. 

The foregoing prohibitions and limitations shall not be construed to affect the 

Unassigned Rights of the Issuer or to limit the rights of the Issuer to enforce its rights against 

the Borrower under the indemnification provisions of this Agreement so long as it does not 

cause the Borrower to file a petition seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or 

composition of or in respect of the Borrower under any applicable liquidation, insolvency, 

bankruptcy, rehabilitation, composition, reorganization, conservation or other similar law in 

effect now or in the future. 

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any right of the Issuer or 

the Trustee to take any action at law or in equity to enforce the obligations, covenants and 

agreements of the Borrower under this Agreement which includes any claim for 

indemnification, damages or any other monetary obligation sought to be enforced shall be 

subject and subordinate in all respects to the repayment in full of all amounts due under the 

Lender Loan Documents. 

No subsequent owner of the Development shall be liable or obligated for the breach or 

default of any obligation of any prior Borrower unless specifically assumed in writing by a 

subsequent Borrower, including, but not limited to, any payment or indemnification obligation.  

Such obligations shall be personal to the person who was the Borrower at the time the default or 



31 

breach was alleged to have occurred and such person shall remain liable for any and all 

damages occasioned by the default or breach even after such person ceases to be the Borrower 

with regards the Development. 

Promptly upon determining that an Event of Default of this Agreement has occurred, 

the Issuer or the Trustee shall, by notice in writing to the Lender, inform the Lender that such 

Event of Default has occurred, the nature of such Event of Default and that such Event of 

Default has been cured or has not been cured, but is curable within a reasonable period of time, 

or is incurable; notwithstanding the occurrence of such Event of Default, neither the Issuer nor 

the Trustee shall have, and each of them acknowledge that they shall not have, any right to 

cause or direct acceleration of the Lender Loan or to foreclose on the Lender Mortgage. 

ARTICLE VIII 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

Section 8.01. Representation and Warranty Regarding Hazardous Materials.  Before 

signing this Loan Agreement, the Borrower engaged qualified professionals to research and 

inquire into the previous uses and owners of the Development and prepare the reports and 

studies described in Exhibit C attached hereto, each of which (collectively, the "Hazardous 

Materials Reports") has been delivered to the Investment Member and the Issuer.  Based solely 

on that due diligence, the Borrower represents and warrants that, except as Borrower has 

disclosed to Investment Member and the Issuer in writing or in the Hazardous Materials 

Reports prior to the execution of this Loan Agreement, to the best of Borrower's knowledge, 

(i) no Hazardous Materials have been disposed of, or released to or from, or otherwise now 

exists in, on, under or around the Development at a level of concentration that results in the 

Hazardous Materials being subject to regulation, control, removal or restriction by any 

governmental agency under any law, regulation or ordinance, and (ii) no aboveground or 

underground storage tanks are now or have ever been located on or under the Development.  

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, disclosure to the Issuer of any Hazardous Materials 

located at the Development prior to the Closing Date shall in no way release the Borrower from 

its indemnification obligations provided in this Agreement or in the Environmental Indemnity 

(the provisions of which are in addition to the provisions set forth in this Article VIII). 

Section 8.02. Compliance Regarding Hazardous Substances.  Borrower has complied, 

will comply, and will use commercially reasonable efforts to cause all tenants and any other 

persons who may come upon the Development to comply, with all federal, state and local laws, 

regulations and ordinances governing or applicable to Hazardous Materials, including those 

requiring disclosures to prospective and actual buyers or tenants of all or any portion of the 

Development.  The Borrower will not install or allow to be installed any aboveground or 

additional underground storage tanks on the Development without the prior written approval 

of the Issuer.  The Borrower must comply with the reasonable recommendations of any 

qualified environmental engineer or other expert engaged by the Borrower, the Issuer or the 

Investment Member with respect to the Development. 



32 

Section 8.03. Notices Regarding Hazardous Substances.  The Borrower must promptly 

notify the Investment Member and the Issuer in writing (i) if it has actual knowledge that there 

may be any Hazardous Materials in or around any part of the Development, any improvements 

constructed on the Development, or the soil, groundwater or soil vapor on or under the 

Development at a level of concentration that results in the Hazardous Materials being subject to 

regulation, control, removal or restriction by any governmental agency under any law, 

regulation or ordinance, or that the Borrower or the Development may be subject to any 

threatened or pending investigation by any governmental agency under any law, regulation or 

ordinance pertaining to any Hazardous Materials, and (ii) of any claim made or threatened in 

writing by any person, other than a governmental agency, against the Borrower arising out of or 

resulting from any Hazardous Substance being present or released in, on or around any part of 

the Development, any improvements constructed on the Development or the soil, groundwater 

or soil vapor on or under the Development (any of the matters described in clauses (i) and (ii) 

above is a "Hazardous Materials Claim"). 

Section 8.04. Remedial Work.  The Borrower must promptly undertake any and all 

remedial work ("Remedial Work") in response to Hazardous Materials Claims to the extent 

required by governmental agency or agencies involved, or to comply with the reasonable 

recommendations set forth in any written environmental assessment report prepared by a third 

party engineer retained by the Investment Member or the Issuer or in the Hazardous Materials 

Report attached hereto as Exhibit C, if such standard requires a higher degree of remediation, 

and in all events to minimize any impairment to Trustee's security under the Loan Documents.  

All Remedial Work must be conducted (i) in a diligent and timely fashion by licensed 

contractors acting under the supervision of a consulting environmental engineer; (ii) pursuant 

to a detailed written plan for the Remedial Work approved by all public or private agencies or 

persons with a legal or contractual right to such approval; (iii) with insurance coverage 

pertaining to liabilities arising out of the Remedial Work as is then customarily maintained with 

respect to such activities; and (iv) only following receipt of any required permits, licenses or 

approvals.  The selection of the Remedial Work contractors and consulting environmental 

engineer, the contracts entered into with such parties, any disclosures to or agreements with 

any public or private agencies or parties relating to Remedial Work and the written plan for the 

Remedial Work (and any changes thereto) is subject to the prior written approval of the 

Investment Member and the Issuer, which approval may not be unreasonably withheld or 

delayed. 

Section 8.05. Indemnity Regarding Hazardous Substances.  The Indemnitors each 

jointly and severally indemnify, defend and hold each of the Issuer Indemnified Parties and the 

Trustee Indemnified Parties harmless from and against any and all costs directly or indirectly 

arising out of or resulting from any Hazardous Materials being present or released in, on or 

around any part of the Development, or in the soil, groundwater or soil vapor on or under the 

Development (collectively, "Indemnified Costs"), arising out of or as a result of events prior to 

the later of the full and final payment of the Bonds or before the date of a transfer of the 

Development, as applicable, including: 



33 

(i) any claim for such Indemnified Costs asserted against any Issuer 

Indemnified Party or the Trustee by any federal, state or local governmental agency, 

including the United States Environmental Protection Agency and all of the 

environmental regulatory authorities of the State, and including any claim that any 

Indemnified Party is liable for any such Indemnified Costs as an "owner" or "operator" 

of the Development under any law relating to Hazardous Materials; and 

(ii) any claim for such Indemnified Costs asserted against any Issuer 

Indemnified Party by any person other than a governmental agency, including (i) any 

person who may purchase or lease all or any portion of the Development from 

Borrower, from any Indemnified Party or from any other purchaser or lessee, (ii) any 

person who may at any time have any interest in all or any portion of the Development, 

(iii) any person who may at any time be responsible for any cleanup costs or other 

Indemnified Party relating to the Development, and (iv) any person claiming to have 

been injured in any way as a result of exposure to any Hazardous Materials; and 

(iii) any Indemnified Costs incurred by any Issuer Indemnified Party in the 

exercise by the Issuer Indemnified Party of its rights and remedies under this Loan 

Agreement; and 

(iv) any Indemnified Costs incurred by any Issuer Indemnified Party as a 

result of currently existing conditions in, on or around the Development, whether 

known or unknown by the Indemnitors or the Issuer Indemnified Party at the time this 

Loan Agreement is executed, or attributable to the acts or omissions of the Indemnitors, 

any of the Borrower's tenants, or any other person in, on or around the Development 

with the consent or under the direction of the Indemnitors; and 

(v) any Indemnified Costs incurred by any Indemnified Party as a result of 

the deposit, storage, disposal, burial, dumping, injecting, spilling, leaking, or other 

placement or release in on or from the Development of Hazardous Materials or the 

violation or alleged violation of any Hazardous Materials Law or official interpretation 

thereof in connection with the Development or the land on which it is located. 

The obligations of the Indemnitors under this Section are joint and several, and are in 

addition to and shall not be limited by the provisions of Section 9.03 hereof and shall survive 

the termination of this Agreement and the resignation or removal of the Trustee. 

Section 8.06. Defense of Indemnified Parties.  Upon demand by any Issuer 

Indemnified Party, the Indemnitors must defend any investigation, action or proceeding 

involving any Indemnified Costs that is brought or commenced against any Issuer Indemnified 

Party, whether alone or together with Borrower or any other person, all at the Borrower's own 

cost and by counsel approved by the Indemnified Party.  In the alternative, any Indemnified 

Party may elect to conduct its own defense at the Borrower's expense. 



34 

ARTICLE IX 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 9.01. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect 

from the date hereof until such time as all of the Bonds and all amounts payable hereunder and 

under the Indenture shall have been fully paid or provision made for such payments, 

whichever is later, provided, that the provisions of Sections 3.08, 6.02, 7.04 and Article VIII 

hereof shall survive termination of this Agreement. 

Section 9.02. Notices; Publication of Notice. 

(a) All notices, advice, certifications or other communications hereunder 

between the Issuer and the Borrower shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed 

given when delivered by hand or overnight courier, or mailed by certified or registered 

mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or transmitted by electronic means 

(including, without limitation, facsimile transmission) addressed to the appropriate 

Notice Address.  The Issuer, the Borrower or the Investment Member may, by notice 

given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent 

notices, advice, certifications or other communications shall be sent.  Notices to persons 

other than the Issuer, the Borrower or the Investment Member (such as, for example, 

notices to owners of Bonds) shall be governed by the other applicable provisions of the 

Indenture. 

(b) Whenever the Issuer or the Borrower is required or permitted to give or 

publish notice of any event or occurrence under this Agreement, such notice shall be 

given or published in such manner and by such means as the Issuer or the Borrower, as 

the case may be, shall determine to be appropriate.  Such publication may be by (but is 

not limited to) any of the following means:  (1) publication in one or more newspapers 

or trade journals selected by the Issuer or the Borrower, as the case may be; 

(2) publication by or through one or more financial information reporting services; 

(3) delivery to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board's EMMA System or any 

successor repository or entity fulfilling a substantially similar or like role; or (4) by 

mailing a copy of such notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, to the person entitled 

to receive the notice at such person's address as shown on the records of the Issuer or the 

Borrower. 

Section 9.03. Nonrecourse Liability of Borrower.  From and after the date of this 

Agreement, (i) the liability of the Borrower, the Investment Member and the Manager under 

this Agreement shall be limited to the Trust Estate, and such amounts as may be invested in 

accordance with Section 6.01 of the Indenture, and the Issuer and the Trustee shall look 

exclusively thereto or to such other security as may from time to time be given or have been 

given for payment of the Bonds, and any judgment rendered against the Borrower, the 

Investment Member or the Manager under this Agreement shall be limited to the Development 



35 

and moneys derived from the operation of the Development, and any other security so given 

for satisfaction thereof; and (ii) no deficiency or other personal judgment shall be sought or 

rendered against the Borrower, the Investment Member or the Manager or their respective 

successors, transferees or assigns, in any action or proceeding arising out of this Agreement, or 

any judgment, order or decree rendered pursuant to any such action or proceeding; provided, 

however, that nothing herein shall limit the Issuer's or the Trustee's ability to exercise any right 

or remedy with respect to any property pledged or granted to the Issuer or any trustee under 

this Agreement, or both, or to exercise any right against the Borrower, the Investment Member 

or the Manager, on account of any claim for fraud or deceit, and against any other person or 

entity on account of any claim for fraud or deceit.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 

contrary, nothing in this Section shall limit the rights of indemnification against the Borrower 

and the Manager pursuant to Sections 4.03, 6.02, 8.05 and 8.06 hereof.  Furthermore, 

notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the Borrower and the Manager shall be fully liable 

for:  (1) amounts payable to the Issuer constituting Unassigned Rights of the Issuer, (2) any 

amount due and owing as a result of any calculation or determination which may be required in 

connection with the Bonds for the purpose of complying with Section 148 of the Code 

(including rebate liability) or any applicable Treasury regulation, (3) payment of the Issuer Fee, 

and (4) the indemnification and the payment obligations to the Issuer under Sections 4.03, 6.02, 

7.04, 8.05 and 8.06 hereof. 

The limit on the Borrower's, the Investment Member's and the Manager's liability set 

forth in this Section shall not, however, be construed, and is not intended to in any way, 

constitute a release, in whole or in part, of the indebtedness evidenced by this Agreement or a 

release, in whole or in part, or an impairment of the security interest, or in case of any default or 

enforcing any other right of the Issuer under this Agreement or to alter, limit or affect the 

liability of any person or party who may now or hereafter or prior hereto guarantee, or pledge, 

grant or assign its assets or collateral as security for, the obligations of the Borrower under this 

Agreement. 

The provisions of this Section shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

Section 9.04. No Pecuniary Liability of the Issuer.  All obligations of the Issuer 

incurred under any of the Bond Documents shall be limited obligations of the Issuer, payable 

solely and only from the Trust Estate (as defined in the Indenture).  The Bonds shall be payable 

solely from the Revenues (as defined in the Indenture) and other funds pledged under the 

Indenture for the payment of the Bonds, and no owner or owners of any of the Bonds shall ever 

have the right to compel any exercise of the taxing power of the State or any political 

subdivision or other public body of the State, nor to enforce the payment of the Bonds against 

any development of the Issuer, the State or any such political subdivision or other public body, 

except as provided in the Indenture.  No member, officer, agent, director, employee, or attorney 

of the Issuer, including any person executing this Loan Agreement or the Indenture on behalf of 

the Issuer, shall be liable personally under this Loan Agreement or the Indenture for any reason 

relating to the issuance of the Bonds.  No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal 

of, premium, if any, or the interest on the Bonds, or for any claim based on the Bonds, or 



36 

otherwise in respect of the Bonds, or based in or in respect of this Loan Agreement or any 

amendment to this Loan Agreement, against any member, officer, agent, director, employee or 

attorney of the Issuer, as such, of the Issuer or any successor whether by virtue of any 

constitution, statute or rule of law, or by enforcement of any assessment or penalty or 

otherwise; all such liability is, by acceptance of this Loan Agreement and as part of the 

consideration for the issuance of Bonds, expressly waived and released.  The Issuer has no 

taxing power. 

Section 9.05. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be 

binding upon the Issuer, the Borrower, the Trustee, the Holders of Bonds and their respective 

successors and assigns. 

Section 9.06. Severability.  In the event any provision of this Agreement shall be held 

invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not 

invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision hereof. 

Section 9.07. Amounts Remaining in Funds.  It is agreed by the parties hereto that any 

amounts remaining on deposit under the Indenture upon expiration or earlier termination of 

this Agreement, as provided in this Agreement, shall be used to pay the fees and expenses of 

the Trustee and the Issuer in accordance with the Indenture and any balance thereafter shall be 

paid to the Borrower pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture. 

Section 9.08. Amendments, Changes and Modifications. Subsequent to the issuance of 

the Bonds and prior to their payment in full (or provision for the payment thereof having been 

made in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture), and except as otherwise herein 

expressly provided, this Agreement may not be effectively amended, changed, modified, 

altered or terminated without the written consent of the Trustee, in accordance with the 

provisions of the Indenture. 

Section 9.09. Execution in Counterparts.   This Agreement may be simultaneously 

executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall 

constitute but one and the same instrument.

Section 9.10. Applicable Law.   This Loan Agreement shall be governed exclusively by 

and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Florida without regard to 

conflicts of laws principles, except to the extent that the laws of the United States of America 

may prevail. 

Section 9.11. Captions.   The captions and headings in this Agreement are for 

convenience only and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provisions or 

Sections of this Agreement. 

Section 9.12. Conflict with HUD-Insured Loan and HUD Regulations; Supremacy of 

Senior Lender Mortgage and HUD Regulatory Agreement. 



37 

(a) The provisions hereof are subordinate and subject to the National 

Housing Act, HUD and GNMA regulations, related administrative requirements, and 

the Lender Mortgage, Lender Borrower Note, the HUD Regulatory Agreement and the 

other Lender Loan Documents.  In the event of any conflict between the provisions of 

this Agreement and the provisions of any applicable HUD regulations, Program 

Obligations (as defined in the Lender Loan Documents), GNMA statutory, regulatory or 

administrative requirements, or the Lender Loan Documents, the HUD regulations, 

Program Obligations (as defined in the Lender Loan Documents), the GNMA statutory, 

regulatory or administrative requirements, or the Lender Loan Documents, as 

applicable, shall control.  Any ambiguity or inconsistency will be resolved in favor of, 

and pursuant to, the Program Obligations (as defined in the Lender Loan Documents), 

HUD and GNMA statutory, regulatory and administrative requirements and the terms 

of the Lender Loan Documents. 

(b) Enforcement of this Agreement will not result in any claim against the 

Development, the undisbursed proceeds of the Lender's loan (the "HUD-Insured Loan"), 

any reserve or deposit required by HUD in connection with the HUD-Insured Loan or 

the rents or income from the Development (other than available Surplus Cash, as such 

term is defined in the HUD Regulatory Agreement or as otherwise permitted by HUD).  

(c) The Borrower shall not be deemed to be in violation of this Agreement if 

it shall take (or refrain from taking) any actions required (or prohibited) by HUD 

pursuant to the National Housing Act, applicable HUD (and Section 8, if applicable) 

Regulations and related administrative requirements or the HUD Loan Documents.  

(d) Any Development funds held by the Lender for or on behalf of the 

Borrower shall be maintained separate and apart from the funds established and held by 

the Trustee and the various escrows and funds, if any, under the Indenture.  

(e) No amendment to this Agreement shall conflict with the provisions of the 

National Housing Act, any applicable HUD regulations, related administrative 

requirements, the HUD Loan Documents, or any applicable GNMA regulations and 

related administrative requirements.  

(f) This Agreement shall not be construed to restrict or adversely affect the 

duties and obligations of the Lender under the contract of mortgage insurance between 

HUD and the Lender with respect to the Development.  

(g) None of the Issuer, the Trustee or any owner of the Bonds has or shall be 

entitled to assert any claim against the Development, the undisbursed HUD-Insured 

Loan proceeds, any reserves or deposits required by HUD in connection with the HUD-

Insured Loan or the rents or deposits or other income of the property other than 

"Surplus Cash" as defined in the HUD Regulatory Agreement.  



38 

(h) Nothing herein is intended to alter or conflict with the terms, conditions, 

and provisions of the HUD regulations, handbooks, administrative requirements, lender 

notices and the Program Obligations in effect at the time of HUD's endorsement of the 

Lender Borrower Note, or the documents required to be executed by the Borrower in 

connection with the endorsement of the Lender Borrower Note; and to the extent that 

they do so, the HUD regulations, administrative requirements, handbooks, lender 

notices, Program Obligations and documents shall control and this Agreement shall be 

amended or deemed amended so as not to alter or conflict with the aforesaid 

regulations, documents, administrative requirements, handbooks, notices or Program 

Obligations. This Section 9.12 shall terminate and be void upon termination of HUD-

Insured Loan.  

(i) Notwithstanding anything in the Indenture, this Agreement, the Note or 

the Bond Purchase Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall HUD have any claim to 

or lien upon the Trust Estate under the Indenture and funds held by the Trustee under 

the Indenture and pledged to secure the repayment of the Bonds.  Further, nothing 

herein shall restrict the rights and obligations of the parties as they relate to the Bonds 

and the rights and obligations therein are not subordinated. 

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGE]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer and the Borrower have caused this Agreement to be 

executed in their respective official names and their respective official seals to be hereunto 

affixed and attested by their duly authorized officers, all as of the date first above written. 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY 

[SEAL] 

By:  

Name:  William I. Gulliford, III 

Title:  Chair 

ATTEST: 

By:  

Assistant Secretary 



BORROWER: 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company, its Managing 

Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, 

LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole 

Member 

By:_______________________ 

Its:_______________________ 

The Manager herby agrees with the representations applicable to the Manager set forth in 

Article II of this Agreement. 

MANAGER: 

LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company 

By: 

        [____________], its Manager 



A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 

The Borrower plans to use the proceeds of the Loan for the purpose of financing a 

portion of the costs of the acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping by the Borrower of 

multifamily rental housing facilities, consisting of approximately 304 units to be occupied by 

persons of low, middle or moderate income, to be known as Desert Winds and Silver Creek 

Apartments and to be located in Jacksonville, Duval County Florida (the "Development"). 



B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF PROMISSORY NOTE 



C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES REPORT 

The following list is derived from information contained in the Credit Underwriting 

Report: 

1. Phase I Environmental Site Assessment prepared by [_________] on [_______ __], 2018.



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

EXHIBIT D 

FORM OF LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5

This document prepared by 

(and after recording return to): 

Rhonda Bond-Collins 

Randall C. Clement 

Bryant Miller Olive P.A. 

Citrus Center 

255 South Orange Avenue 

Suite 1350 

Orlando, Florida  32801 

LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 

Owner's LRC Desert-Silver, LLC

Name and Address: 105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 300

Montgomery, Alabama  36104 

Location of Development: See legal description attached hereto as Exhibit "A"

Jacksonville, Florida 32216

Name of Development: Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments

Issuer's Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority

Name and Address: 214 N. Hogan Street

7th Floor

Jacksonville, Florida 32202

This LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT (this "Regulatory Agreement"), made 

and entered into as of December 1, 2018, by and among the Jacksonville Housing Finance 

Authority (the "Issuer"), a public body corporate and politic created pursuant to the laws of the 

State of Florida (the "State"), whose mailing address is 214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor, Jacksonville, 

Florida 32202; The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking 

association with a representative office in Jacksonville, Florida, whose mailing address is 10161 

Centurion Parkway N., Jacksonville, Florida 32256, ATTN:  Corporate Trust Department, in its 

capacity as trustee (including its successors and assigns, the "Trustee") under the Trust Indenture 

between the Issuer and the Trustee entered into as of December 1, 2018 (the "Indenture"), 

authorizing and securing the Issuer's Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver 

Project), Series 2018 (the "Series 2018 Bonds"); and LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company and its successors and assigns, whose mailing address is 105 Tallapoosa Street, 

Suite 300, Montgomery, Alabama  36104 (the "Owner"). 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 2 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Owner intends to acquire and rehabilitate multifamily residential rental 

facilities located within Duval County, Florida (the "County") to be occupied by Lower-Income 

Persons, all for the public purpose of assisting persons or families of low, moderate or middle 

income within the County to afford the costs of decent, safe and sanitary housing; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has authorized the issuance and delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds 

in the aggregate principal amount of $22,000,000, pursuant to the Indenture in order to provide a 

loan (the "Loan") to the Owner, pursuant to a Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2018 (the 

"Loan Agreement"), by and between the Issuer and the Owner, to finance a portion of the costs 

of the acquisition, rehabilitation and equipping of the Land and the Development (the 

"Development"), all under and in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State; and 

WHEREAS, the Indenture and the Loan Agreement require, as a condition of making the 

Loan, the execution and delivery of this Regulatory Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, in order to satisfy such requirement, the Issuer, the Trustee and the Owner 

have determined to enter into this Regulatory Agreement to set forth certain terms and conditions 

relating to the operation of the Development located on the Land; and 

WHEREAS, this Regulatory Agreement shall be properly filed and recorded by the 

Owner within the official records of the County and shall constitute a restriction upon the use of 

the Land and the Development subject to and in accordance with the terms contained herein. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of providing the financing by the Issuer to the 

Owner, acknowledging that compliance with this Regulatory Agreement is necessary to preserve 

the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes on the Series 2018 Bonds, 

covenants and agrees with the other parties hereto as follows: 

Section 1.  Definitions and Interpretation. 

(a) The following terms shall have the respective meanings set forth below (undefined 

terms shall be given the meanings set forth in the Indenture): 

"Affiliated Party" of a person means a person such that (i) the relationship between such 

persons would result in a disallowance of losses under Section 267 or 707(b) of the Code, or 

(ii) such persons are members of the same controlled group of corporations as defined in Section 

1563(a) of the Code, except that "more than 50 percent" shall be substituted for "at least 80 percent" 

each place it appears therein. 

"Applicable Income Limit" means sixty percent (60%) of area median gross income (within 

the meaning of Section 142(d) of the Code) for the City of Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida, 

Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area, as determined by the Secretary of the United States 

Department of the Treasury in a manner consistent with determinations of lower income families 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 3 

and area median gross income under Section 8 of the Housing Act, as amended (or if such 

program is terminated, under such program as in effect immediately before such termination), 

including adjustments for family size. 

"Available Units" means residential units in a residential rental project that are actually 

occupied and residential units in the Development that are unoccupied and have been leased at 

least once after becoming available for occupancy, provided that (a) in the case of an acquisition 

of an existing residential rental project, a residential unit that is unoccupied on the later of (i) the 

date the Development is acquired or (ii) the issue date of the First Bonds, is not an Available Unit 

and does not become an Available Unit until it has been leased for the first time after such date, 

and (b) a residential unit that is not available for occupancy due to renovations is not an Available 

Unit and does not become an Available Unit until it has been leased for the first time after the 

renovations are completed. 

"Bond Counsel" means a firm of nationally recognized standing in the field of municipal 

finance law whose opinions are generally accepted by purchasers of public obligations and who 

is acceptable to the Trustee.  

"Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance" means the certificate required to be 

delivered by the Owner to the Issuer Servicer and the Issuer pursuant to Section 4(d) of this 

Regulatory Agreement. 

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, 

including, when appropriate, the statutory predecessor thereof, or any applicable corresponding 

provisions of any future laws of the United States of America relating to federal income taxation, 

and except otherwise provided herein or required by the context hereof, includes interpretations 

thereof contained or set forth in the applicable regulations of the Department of Treasury 

(including applicable final or temporary regulations and also including regulations issued 

pursuant to the statutory predecessor of the Code, the applicable rulings of the Internal Revenue 

Service (including published Revenue Rulings and private letter rulings), and applicable court 

decisions). 

"County" means Duval County, Florida. 

"Current Annual Family Income" is determined in accordance with Section 8 of the 

Housing Act, as amended (or, if such program is terminated, under such program as in effect 

immediately before such termination), and includes wages and salaries, overtime pay, 

commissions, fees, tips and bonuses and other forms of compensation for personal services, net 

income from operation of a business or a profession, interest, dividends and other net income of 

any kind from real or personal property, periodic payments from Social Security, annuities, 

insurance policies, retirement funds, pensions, disability or death benefits or similar types of 

periodic receipts, payments in lieu of earnings, such as unemployment and disability 

compensation, worker's compensation and severance pay, welfare assistance, periodic and 

determinable allowances such as alimony and child support and regular pay, special pay and 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 4 

allowances of a member of the Armed Forces, and other forms of income described in the Income 

Certification to be provided by the Owner to the Issuer Servicer and the Issuer as provided in 

Section 4 hereof, but does not include earnings of children under 18, payments received for care 

of foster children or adults, lump sum insurance payments, inheritances, capital gains and 

settlements for personal or property losses, amounts received specifically for, or in 

reimbursement of, the cost of medical expenses, income of a live-in aide, certain student financial 

assistance, special pay to a member of the Armed Forces who is exposed to hostile fire, amounts 

received under certain training programs and other social service programs, temporary, 

nonrecurring or sporadic income or other forms of income that the Income Certification specifies 

may be excluded. 

"Development" means multifamily residential rental housing developments to be 

commonly known as Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments, located on the Land and 

financed, in part, with proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds pursuant to the Loan Agreement. 

"Eligible Persons" means one or more natural persons or a family, irrespective of race, 

creed, religion, color, national origin, marital status, handicap or sex. 

"Exempt Elderly Unit" means a unit within the Development meeting the requirements 

for exemption from the prohibition against familial status discrimination contained in Title VIII 

of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (known as the Fair Housing Act), as amended. 

"First Bonds" means the first issue of bonds to which Section 142(d) of the Code applies 

issued to finance the acquisition of a residential rental project. 

"Housing Act" means the United States Housing Act of 1937, as amended from time to 

time, any successor legislation, and all implementing regulations issued thereunder or in 

furtherance thereof. 

"Indenture" means the Trust Indenture, dated as of this date, between the Issuer and the 

Trustee, pursuant to which the Bonds are issued, and any amendments and supplements thereto. 

"Issuer Servicer" means, initially, Seltzer Management Group, Inc., or its successors or 

assigns and thereafter, any Issuer Servicer employed by the Issuer to service the Loan and to 

monitor the Owner's compliance with the requirements of this Regulatory Agreement, the 

Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Construction and Loan Servicing Agreement. 

"Land" means the real property located in Duval County, Florida, described in Exhibit "A" 

attached hereto. 

"Loan" means the loan made by the Issuer to the Owner made pursuant to this Agreement 

and evidenced by the Note. 

"Loan Agreement" means that certain Loan Agreement entered into between the Owner 

and the Issuer, dated as of December 1, 2018, as amended or supplemented from time to time. 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 5 

"Lower-Income Persons" means Eligible Persons whose Current Annual Family Income 

does not exceed the Applicable Income Limit; provided, however, that the occupants of a unit 

shall not be considered to be Lower-Income Persons if all of the occupants of such unit are 

students (as defined in Section 152(f)(2) of the Code), no one of whom is entitled to file a joint 

return under Section 6013 of the Code.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, a dwelling unit shall not 

fail to be treated as a dwelling unit that is occupied by Lower-Income Persons merely because 

such dwelling unit is occupied (a) by an individual who is a student and (i) receiving assistance 

under Title IV of the Social Security Act, (ii) was previously under the care and placement 

responsibility of the State agency program responsible for administering a plan under Part B or 

Part E of Title IV of the Social Security Act, or (iii) enrolled in a job training program receiving 

assistance under the Job Training Partnership Act or under other similar federal, State or local 

laws, or (b) entirely by full-time students if such students are (i) single parents and their children 

and such parents are not dependents of another individual and such children are not dependents 

of another individual other than a parent of such children, or (ii) married and file a joint return.   

"Mortgage" means the first-lien priority Mortgage, Assignment of Rents and Leases, 

Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of December 1, 2018, from the Owner for the 

benefit of the Issuer and assigned to the Trustee to secure the repayment of the Note. 

"Note" means the promissory note of the Owner, dated December [__], 2018 to be 

delivered to the Issuer and assigned to the Trustee. 

"Operating Agreement" means the [Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 

Agreement] of the Owner dated as of December 1, 2018 as the same may be amended from time 

to time. 

"Qualified Project Period" means the period beginning on the later of (i) the first day on 

which at least 10% of the units in the Development are first occupied and (ii) the date the Series 

2018 Bonds are issued, and ending on the latest of (a) the date that is fifteen years after the date 

on which at least 50% of the units in the Development are first occupied, (b) the first date on 

which no tax-exempt private activity bond issued with respect to the Development is outstanding 

(within the meaning of the Code); (c) the date on which any assistance provided with respect to 

the Development under Section 8 of the Housing Act terminates, and (d) the date which is fifty 

(50) years from the date of issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds. 

"Regulations" means the Income Tax Regulations issued under the Code, as applicable 

(including applicable final regulations or temporary regulations). 

"State" means the State of Florida. 

(b) Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, as used in this Regulatory 

Agreement, words of the masculine, feminine or neuter gender shall be construed to include any 

other gender when appropriate and words of the singular number shall be construed to include 

the plural number, and vice versa, when appropriate.  This Regulatory Agreement and all the 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 6 

terms and provisions hereof shall be construed to effectuate the purposes set forth herein and to 

sustain the validity hereof. 

(c) The titles and headings of the sections of this Regulatory Agreement have been 

inserted for convenience of reference only, and are not to be considered a part hereof and shall 

not in any way modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof or be considered or given 

any effect in construing this Regulatory Agreement or any provisions hereof or in ascertaining 

intent, if any question of intent shall arise. 

Section 2.  Residential Rental Property.  The Owner hereby declares its understanding 

and intent that, during the term of this Agreement, the Development is to be owned, managed, 

and operated, as a "project for residential rental property" as such phrase is utilized in Section 

142(d) of the Code and as a "qualifying housing development" as defined in Section 159.603(6), 

Florida Statutes.  To that end, the Owner hereby represents, covenants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The Development will be acquired and rehabilitated for the purpose of providing 

multifamily rental housing, and the Owner shall own, manage, and operate the Development as 

a qualified residential rental project, all in accordance with Section 142(d) of the Code and 

Treasury Regulations Section 1.103-8(b), as the same may be amended from time to time. 

(b) Each residential unit in the Development (tested for this purpose separately for 

each non-contiguous parcel) shall be contained in one or more buildings or structures located on 

the Land and shall be similarly designed, furnished and constructed (except as to number of 

bedrooms and bathrooms), each of which will contain separate and complete facilities for living, 

sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation for an individual or a family, including a living area, a 

sleeping area, bathing and sanitation facilities and cooking facilities equipped with a cooking 

range or microwave oven, refrigerator and sink, all of which are separate and distinct from the 

other units. 

(c) None of the units in the Development will at any time be (1) utilized on a transient 

basis, (2) used as a hotel, motel, dormitory, fraternity or sorority house, rooming house, nursing 

home, hospital, sanitarium, rest home, trailer court or park, or (3) rented for initial lease periods 

of less than six (6) months.  No part of the Development will, at any time, be owned or used by a 

cooperative housing corporation or converted to condominiums.    

(d) All of the units will be rented or available for rent on a continuous basis to 

members of the general public (other than units for a resident manager or maintenance 

personnel), and the Owner will not give preference to any particular class or group of persons in 

renting the units in the Development, except to the extent that units are Exempt Elderly Units or 

are required to be leased or rented to Lower-Income Persons.  Lower-Income Persons who are 

residents of the Development will have equal access to and enjoyment of all common facilities of 

the Development at all times.  The Owner will not discriminate against children of any age when 

renting the units in the Development (except for units that are Exempt Elderly Units).   



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 7 

(e) Each non-contiguous parcel of Land consists separately of a parcel of real property 

or parcels of real property that are contiguous except for the interposition of a road, street, stream 

or similar property, and the Development comprises buildings, structures and facilities that are 

geographically contiguous and functionally related.  Any common facilities financed with 

proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds (such as swimming pools, recreational facilities, parking areas 

and other facilities which are reasonably required for the Development, for example, heating and 

cooling equipment, trash disposal equipment or units for resident managers or maintenance or 

security personnel) are functionally related and subordinate to the Development and are 

commensurate with its size and intended use.   

(f) The Owner or an Affiliated Party of the Owner shall not occupy any of the units 

in the Development; provided, however, that the employee of the Owner or an Affiliated Party 

of the Owner may occupy a unit in a building or structure in the Development that contains five 

or more units if such employee of the Owner or an Affiliated Party of the Owner is a resident 

manager or other necessary employee (e.g., maintenance and security personnel).  No more than 

two units in the Development shall be occupied by resident managers or maintenance or security 

personnel.   

(g) None of the proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds (including investment earnings) 

may be used to provide a skybox or any other private luxury box, an airplane, or a store the 

principal business of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off premises or a 

facility used primarily for gambling. 

The requirements of this Section 2 shall remain in effect during the term of this Regulatory 

Agreement (as described in Section 13 below). 

Section 3.  Lower-Income Persons.  The Owner hereby represents, warrants and 

covenants as follows: 

(a) At all times during the Qualified Project Period, with respect to the non-

contiguous parcels and buildings thereon constituting the Development, individually, not less 

than one hundred percent (100%) of the Available Units in the Development, other than those 

units occupied by the Owner or an Affiliated Party to the Owner pursuant to subsection 2(f) 

above, shall be occupied (or held available for occupancy) on a continuous basis by persons or 

families at the Applicable Income Limit who are Lower-Income Persons. This occupancy 

requirement is referred to herein as the "Lower-Income Requirement").  

(b) For purposes of paragraph (a) of this Section 3, a unit occupied by an individual 

or family who at the commencement of the occupancy of such unit is a Lower-Income Person 

shall be counted as occupied by a Lower-Income Person, as applicable, during such individual's 

or family's tenancy in such unit, even though such individual or family ceases to be a Lower-

Income Person.  However, a Lower-Income Person whose income as of the most recent Income 

Certification (as described in Section 4(a) below) exceeds one hundred forty percent (140%) of the 

Applicable Income Limit shall not continue to be treated as a Lower-Income Person if after 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 8 

delivery of such Income Certification, but before the delivery of the next Income Certification, 

any unit in the building (within the meaning of Section 42 of the Code) is occupied by a new 

resident who is not a Lower-Income Person. In addition, a unit that was occupied by a Lower-

Income Person shall be counted as occupied by a Lower-Income Person until it is reoccupied 

other than for a temporary period of not more than thirty-one (31) days, at which time the unit 

shall be considered to be occupied by a Lower-Income Person only if the individual or family 

then occupying the unit satisfies the definition of a Lower-Income Person. 

(c) So long as no extended use agreement is in place restricting rents for the purpose 

of federal housing tax credits pursuant to Section 42 of the Code, rents for all units in the 

Development shall not exceed the maximum levels allowed for units subject to federal housing 

tax credits pursuant to Section 42 of the Code for each of the income limit levels established in 

Section 3(a) above.  The reference to Section 42 of the Code is for application of the maximum rent 

levels only and this provision applies regardless of whether such units are actually subject to 

federal housing tax credits. 

Section 4.  Reporting Requirements. 

(a) Income certifications ("Income Certifications") in the form attached hereto as 

Exhibit "B" shall be obtained by the Owner from each Eligible Person and delivered to the Issuer 

Servicer (i) at the time of initial occupancy for all tenants, (ii) upon the vacancy and reoccupancy 

of any unit in the Development, and (iii) as often as necessary to comply with the requirements 

of Section 142(d) of the Code. 

(b) The Owner shall file with the Issuer Servicer and the Issuer, on the tenth business 

day of each month, copies of the Income Certifications specified in Section 4(a) hereof obtained 

by the Owner during the previous month. 

(c) The Owner shall maintain complete and accurate records pertaining to the 

incomes of (as of the date of initial occupancy of each tenant) and rentals charged to Lower-

Income Persons residing in the Development, and shall permit, during regular business hours, 

upon 5 business days' notice to the Owner, any duly authorized representative of the Issuer or 

the Issuer Servicer to inspect the books and records of the Owner pertaining to the incomes of 

and rentals charged to all tenants residing in the Development. 

(d) The Owner shall prepare and submit to the Issuer Servicer and the Issuer at the 

beginning of the Qualified Project Period, and on the tenth business day of each month thereafter, 

rent rolls and a Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance in the form attached hereto as 

Exhibit "C" executed by the Owner, stating (i) the percentage of units (separately for each non-

contiguous parcel and buildings thereon) that were occupied by Lower-Income Persons as of the 

last day of the previous month, (ii) that, other than those units occupied by the Owner or an 

Affiliated Party to the Owner pursuant to Section 2(f) above, at all times during the previous 

month one hundred percent (100%) of the Available Units were occupied by (or held available 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 9 

for occupancy by) Lower-Income Persons (as determined in accordance with Section 3 of this 

Regulatory Agreement), and (iii) that no default has occurred under this Regulatory Agreement 

and the Owner has not failed to comply with any provisions of this Regulatory Agreement, or, if 

such a default or failure has occurred, the nature of such default or failure and the steps, if any, 

the Owner has taken or proposes to take to correct such default. 

(e) The Owner shall render a yearly report to the Secretary of the Treasury as required 

by Section 142(d)(7) of the Code. 

Section 5.  Indemnification.  The Owner hereby covenants and agrees that it shall 

indemnify and hold harmless the Issuer, its past, present and future members, employees, agents 

and representatives, the Issuer, its past, present and future officers of its governing body, 

employees, attorneys, agents and representatives, and the Trustee, and its past, present and 

future officers, directors, officials, employees and agents (any or all of the foregoing being 

hereinafter referred to as the "Indemnified Persons") from and against any and all losses, costs, 

damages, expenses and liabilities of whatsoever nature or kind (including but not limited to, 

reasonable attorneys' fees, litigation and court costs related to trial and appellate proceedings, 

amounts paid in settlement and amounts paid to discharge judgments) directly or indirectly 

resulting from, arising out of, or related to, the issuance, offering, sale, remarketing or delivery of 

the Series 2018 Bonds, or the acquisition, design, rehabilitation, equipping, installation, operation, 

use, occupancy, maintenance or ownership of the Development other than for such Indemnified 

Persons' own grossly negligent, illegal or unlawful acts or omissions.  In the case of any action or 

proceeding brought against an Indemnified Person in respect of which indemnity may be sought 

hereunder, the party seeking indemnity promptly shall give notice of that action or proceeding 

to the Owner, and the Owner upon receipt of that notice shall have the obligation and the right 

to assume the defense of the action or proceeding; provided, that failure of a party to give that 

notice shall not relieve the Owner from any of its obligations under this Section except to the 

extent that failure prejudices the defense of the action or proceeding by the Owner.  Any 

Indemnified Person shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such action and to 

participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense 

of such Indemnified Person unless the named parties to any such action (including any impleaded 

parties) include both an Indemnified Person and the Owner or one or more other Indemnified 

Persons, and such Indemnified Person shall have been advised by counsel that a conflict of 

interest between the Owner and such Indemnified Person, or between Indemnified Persons, 

exists, and for this reason it is not desirable for the same counsel to represent both the Owner and 

such Indemnified Person or Indemnified Persons, in which case the Owner shall not have the 

right to assume the defense of such action on behalf of such Indemnified Person and the fees and 

expenses of such separate counsel shall be paid by the Owner; it being understood, however, that, 

in connection with any one such action or separate but substantially similar or related actions in 

the same jurisdiction arising out of the same general allegations or circumstances, the Owner shall 

not be liable for the reasonable fees and expenses of more than one separate firm of attorneys for 

each such Indemnified Person.  The Owner shall not be liable for any settlement effected without 

its consent, unless the named parties to any such action (including any impleaded parties) include 

both an Indemnified Person and the Owner, and such Indemnified Person shall have been 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 10 

advised by counsel that a conflict of interest between the Owner and such Indemnified Person 

exists.  This indemnity shall not be construed to cause the Owner to be personally liable for the 

principal of or interest on the Series 2018 Bonds or the Loan. 

Section 6.  Reliance.  The Issuer and the Owner hereby recognize and agree that the 

representations and covenants set forth herein may be relied upon by the owners from time to 

time of the Series 2018 Bonds, the Issuer, Bond Counsel and the other parties to transactions 

involving the issuance, sale or remarketing of the Series 2018 Bonds and their respective counsel.  

In performing their duties and obligations hereunder, the Issuer, the Issuer Servicer and the 

Trustee may rely upon statements and certificates of the Owner or Lower-Income Persons 

reasonably believed by the Issuer, Issuer Servicer or the Trustee, as applicable, or their respective 

agents, officers, directors, officials or employees to be genuine and to have been executed by the 

proper person or persons, and upon audits of the books and records of the Owner pertaining to 

occupancy of the Development.  In addition, the Issuer, the Issuer Servicer and the Trustee may 

consult with counsel, and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization 

and protection with respect to any action taken or suffered by the Issuer, the Issuer Servicer or 

the Trustee hereunder in good faith and in conformity with the opinion of such counsel.  In 

performing its duties and obligations hereunder, the Owner may rely upon certificates of Lower-

Income Persons reasonably believed to be genuine and to have been executed by the proper 

person or persons. 

Section 7.  Fair Housing Laws; Home Ownership Opportunity Program; Social Service 

Programs.   

(a) The Owner will comply with all fair housing laws, rules, regulations or orders 

applicable to the Development and shall not discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, sex, 

age (except for units that are Exempt Elderly Units), familial status (except for units that are 

Exempt Elderly Units) or national origin in the lease, use or occupancy of the Development or in 

connection with the employment or application for employment of persons for the operation and 

management of the Development.  All advertising and promotional material used in connection 

with the Development shall contain the phrase "Fair Housing Opportunity."   

(b) The Owner hereby covenants and agrees to provide the tenant services and 

residential programs and amenities indicated in Exhibit "D" attached hereto which are located on 

site of the Development. 

Section 8.  Tenant Lists.  All tenants lists, applications, and waiting lists relating to the 

Development shall at all times be kept separate and identifiable from any other business of the 

Owner which is unrelated to the Development, and shall be maintained, as required by the Issuer 

or the Issuer Servicer from time to time, in a reasonable condition for proper audit and subject to 

examination during business hours upon reasonable notice by representatives of the Issuer, the 

Issuer Servicer or the Trustee.  Failure to keep such lists and applications or to make them 

available to the Issuer, the Issuer Servicer or Trustee after written request therefor will be a default 

hereunder. 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 11 

Section 9.  Tenant Lease Restrictions.  All tenant leases shall be expressly subordinate to 

the Mortgage and subject to this Regulatory Agreement, and shall contain clauses, among others, 

wherein each individual lessee: 

(a) Certifies the accuracy of the statements made in the Income Certification; 

(b) Agrees that the family income, family composition and other eligibility 

requirements shall be deemed substantial and material obligations of such lessee's tenancy; that 

such lessee will comply promptly with all requests for information with respect thereto from the 

Owner, the Trustee or the Issuer, and that such lessee's failure to provide accurate information in 

the Income Certification or refusal to comply with a request for information with respect thereto 

shall be deemed a violation of a substantial obligation of such lessee's tenancy; and 

(c) Agrees not to sublease to any person or family who does not expressly accept the 

lessee's obligations under this Section 9 and execute and deliver to the Issuer Servicer an Income 

Certification. 

Section 10.  Sale and Conversion of Development.

(a) The Owner shall not sell, assign, convey or transfer any material portion of the 

land, fixtures or improvements constituting a part of the Development, or any material portion 

of the personal property constituting a portion of the Development during the term of this 

Regulatory Agreement, without (i) the prior written consent of the Issuer, which consent shall 

not be unreasonably withheld, and (ii) the Trustee and the Issuer having received an opinion of 

Bond Counsel to the effect that, in reliance upon such factual certificates as it deems appropriate 

and subject to such qualifications as may be generally acceptable in the industry, such sale, 

conveyance, transfer, or assignment will not result, under then-existing law, in interest on the 

Series 2018 Bonds, or any part thereof, becoming includable in the gross income of the holders 

thereof for federal income tax purposes.  If a material portion of the Development financed with 

proceeds from the Loan is sold during the term hereof and such material portion of such 

Development consisted of personal property or equipment, the proceeds from the sale thereof 

may be used by the Owner to purchase property of similar function to be used in connection with 

the Development.  If such material portion of such Development consists of real property and 

improvements, the purchaser thereof must execute and deliver to the Owner and the Trustee a 

document in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer pursuant to which such 

purchaser shall agree to operate such property in compliance with the terms and conditions of 

this Regulatory Agreement.  

The Owner shall not sell or otherwise transfer the Development in whole, nor shall there 

be substituted a new manager of the Owner or a change in the controlling ownership interest in 

the manager of the Owner, or other merger, transfer or consolidation of the Owner, unless (A) 

the Owner has received the prior written consent of the Issuer (which shall respond within a 

reasonable period of time and shall not unreasonably withhold such consent), (B) the Owner shall 

not be in default hereunder, (C) it is reasonably expected that continued operation of the 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 12 

Development will comply with the requirements of this Regulatory Agreement, (D) the 

subsequent purchaser or assignee shall execute any document reasonably requested by the Issuer 

with respect to assuming the obligations of the Owner under this Regulatory Agreement, (E) the 

Issuer shall not have any reason to believe that the purchaser or assignee is incapable, financially 

or otherwise, of complying with or may be unwilling to comply with, the terms of all agreements 

binding on such purchaser or assignee relating to the Development, (F) the purchaser or assignee, 

or new manager or entity acquiring a controlling interest in the manager of the Owner, shall have 

satisfied such other conditions as may be reasonably required by the Issuer under the 

circumstances, (G) the purchaser or assignee shall have first executed a document in recordable 

form addressed to the Issuer and the Trustee to the effect that such purchaser or assignee will 

comply with the terms and conditions of this Regulatory Agreement and the Loan Agreement (to 

the extent still in effect), (H) the Trustee and the Issuer shall receive an opinion of counsel 

reasonably acceptable to the Issuer to the effect that the purchaser's or assignee's obligations 

under this Regulatory Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Note, and any other financing 

documents to the extent that such documents are still in effect relating to the Series 2018 Bonds 

(collectively, the "Loan Documents") are enforceable against such purchaser or assignee in 

accordance with their terms, and (I) the Trustee and the Issuer shall have received an opinion of 

Bond Counsel to the effect that, in reliance upon such factual certificates as it deems appropriate 

and subject to such qualifications as may be generally acceptable in the industry, such sale, 

transfer, disposition or assignment will not result, under then-existing law, in interest on the 

Series 2018 Bonds, or any part thereof, not being excludable from the gross income of the holders 

thereof for federal income tax purposes.   

It is hereby expressly stipulated and agreed that any sale, transfer or other disposition of 

the Development in violation of this Section shall be ineffective to relieve the Owner of its 

obligations under the Loan Documents.  In the event that the purchaser or assignee shall assume 

the obligations of the Owner under the Loan, the Loan Agreement and this Regulatory 

Agreement, the Owner shall be released from its obligations thereunder and hereunder, other 

than its obligations hereunder and under the Loan Agreement arising prior to such date of 

assumption (unless such obligations are assumed by the purchaser or transferee).   

(b) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 10 to the contrary, the restrictions set 

forth above on the sale, transfer or other disposition or encumbrance of the Development or any 

portion thereof shall not be applicable to any of the following:  (i) leases of apartment units as 

contemplated by this Regulatory Agreement, (ii) grants of utility related easements and service 

or concession related leases or easements, including, without limitation, coin-operated laundry 

service leases and/or television cable easements on the Development, providing same are granted 

in connection with the operation of the Development as contemplated by this Regulatory 

Agreement, (iii) any sale or conveyance to a condemning governmental authority as a direct 

result of the condemnation or a governmental taking or a threat thereof, (iv) the placing of a 

mortgage lien, assignment of rents or security interests on or pertaining to the Development after 

the payment of all Series 2018 Bonds and the release of the Mortgage, (v) any transfer of 

membership or partnership interests in the Owner, other than with respect to the manager, or in 

the entities which are members in the Owner, other than with respect to the manager, (vi) the 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 13 

removal or substitution of the manager of the Owner, in certain events as set forth in the 

Operating Agreement, with a designee of the investment member, provided however, that such 

manager shall be an affiliate of the investment member and provided, further, that the Owner 

retains ownership of the Development or (vii) transfer of membership interests in the manager 

among the current members  or to  a trust for the benefit of the heirs of the current members of 

the manager. 

Section 11.  Negative Covenants.  During the term of this Regulatory Agreement, the 

Owner shall not: 

(a) Except pursuant to and as permitted by the provisions of the Loan Documents, or 

except upon a sale or transfer of the Development in accordance with the terms of the Loan 

Documents, encumber any of the mortgaged property, including the grant of commercial leases 

(other than for vending machines, coin operated laundry facilities and similar amenities 

functionally related and subordinate to the Development and granted in connection with the day 

to day operation of an apartment complex), or permit the conveyance, transfer or encumbrance 

of such property (except for such leases and for apartment leases) for the Qualified Project Period.  

Nothing in this paragraph shall prohibit the granting of easements for the purpose of providing 

utility services (including cable television or private satellite television) to the Development. 

(b) Demolish any part of the Development necessary for the operation thereof for its 

intended purposes or substantially subtract from any real or personal property of the 

Development; or 

(c) Permit the use of the dwelling accommodations of the Development for any 

purpose except rental residences in compliance with Section 142(d) of the Code. 

Section 12.  Covenants to Run with the Land.  This Regulatory Agreement and the 

covenants, reservations and restrictions set forth herein shall be deemed covenants running with 

the Land and, except as provided in Section 13 hereof, shall pass to and be binding upon the 

Owner's assigns and successors and all subsequent owners of the Land or the Development or 

any interest therein; provided, however, that upon the termination of this Regulatory Agreement 

in accordance with the terms hereof said covenants, reservations and restrictions shall expire.  

Except as provided in Section 13 hereof, each and every contract, deed or other instrument 

hereafter executed covering or conveying the Land or the Development or any portion thereof or 

interest therein shall conclusively be held to have been executed, delivered and accepted subject 

to such covenants, reservations and restrictions, regardless of whether such covenants, 

reservations and restrictions are set forth in such contract, deed or other instruments.  If a portion 

or portions of the Land or the Development are conveyed, all of such covenants, reservations and 

restrictions shall run to each portion of the Land or the Development. 

Section 13.  Term.  This Regulatory Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until 

the expiration of the Qualified Project Period; provided, however, that this Regulatory Agreement 

shall automatically terminate in the event of involuntary noncompliance with the provisions of 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 14 

this Regulatory Agreement caused by fire or other casualty, seizure, requisition, foreclosure or 

transfer by deed in lieu of foreclosure, change in a federal law or an action of a federal agency 

that prevents the Issuer from enforcing the provisions hereof, or condemnation or a similar event 

(as determined by Bond Counsel), but only if within a reasonable period thereafter (i) the Series 

2018 Bonds are retired in full or (ii) the proceeds received as a result of such event are used to 

finance a development that complies with the provisions hereof and any other applicable 

requirements of the Code and the Regulations.  In the case of foreclosure or transfer of title by 

deed in lieu of foreclosure or similar event (as determined by Bond Counsel), such termination 

will cease to be in effect if, at any time during the remainder of the Qualified Project Period 

following such event, the Owner or an Affiliated Party to the Owner, obtains an ownership 

interest in the Development for federal tax purposes. 

Section 14.  Correction of Noncompliance.  The failure of the Owner to comply with any 

of the provisions of this Regulatory Agreement shall not be deemed a default hereunder unless 

such failure has not been corrected during the 60-day period immediately following the date that 

the Owner, or with respect to the requirements of Sections 2 or 3 hereof, any of the parties hereto, 

learned of such failure or should have learned of such failure by the exercise of reasonable 

diligence (which 60-day period will be extended if (i) such failure cannot reasonably be corrected 

within such 60-day period, (ii) diligent action to correct such failure commences within such 

60-day period, (iii) such action is diligently pursued until such failure is corrected, and (iv) with 

respect to a failure to comply with any of the requirements of Sections 2 or 3 hereof, the Owner 

delivers to the Issuer and the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such longer 

cure period will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Series 2018 Bonds from gross 

income for federal income tax purposes).  Not later than the third business day next succeeding 

the day on which the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer learns of such failure, the Trustee or the Issuer 

Servicer, as applicable, shall notify the Owner of such failure by telephonic communication; 

provided, that failure of the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer to notify the Owner shall not relieve 

the Owner from any of its obligations under this Regulatory Agreement.  The Owner's investment 

member shall have the right, but not the obligation, to cure any default.  The Issuer Servicer shall 

give written notice to the Owner's investment member of such default.   

Section 15.  Modification of Tax Covenants.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 

22(b) hereof, to the extent any amendments, modifications or changes to the Regulations or the 

Code shall, in the written opinion of Bond Counsel addressed to the Issuer, the Owner and the 

Trustee, impose requirements upon the ownership, occupancy or operation of the Development 

different than those imposed by the Regulations or the Code and stated herein, and the Owner's 

failure to comply with such different requirements would produce a material and substantial risk 

that interest on the Series 2018 Bonds will become subject to federal income taxation, then this 

Regulatory Agreement shall be amended and modified in accordance with such requirements.  

The parties hereto agree to execute, deliver, and record, if applicable, any and all documents or 

instruments necessary in the opinion of and in the form approved by Bond Counsel to effectuate 

the intent of this Section 15. 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 15 

Section 16.  Burden and Benefit.  The Issuer, the Trustee and the Owner hereby 

acknowledge their respective understanding and intent that the burden of the covenants set forth 

herein touch and concern the Land in that the Owner's legal interest in the Land and the 

Development is rendered less valuable thereby.  The Trustee, the Issuer and the Owner hereby 

further acknowledge their respective understanding and intent that the benefit of such covenants 

touch and concern the Land by enhancing and increasing the enjoyment and use of the Land and 

the Development by Lower-Income Persons, the intended beneficiaries of such covenants, 

reservations and restrictions, and by furthering the public purposes for which the Series 2018 

Bonds were issued.  The Owner hereby expressly acknowledges that this Regulatory Agreement 

is necessary to preserve the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of 

interest on the Series 2018 Bonds issued by the Issuer to finance the Loan and covenants and 

agrees that in connection with the acquisition, rehabilitation, equipping, ownership and 

operation of the Development, it shall and shall require any subsequent purchaser of the 

Development, to fully comply with all terms and conditions of this Regulatory Agreement. 

Section 17.  Uniformity; Common Plan.  The covenants, reservations and restrictions 

hereof shall apply uniformly to the entire Development. 

Section 18.  Application of Insurance and Condemnation Proceeds.  Subject to the 

provisions of the Loan Agreement and the Loan Documents (as defined in Section 10 hereof), if 

during the Qualified Project Period, the Development is damaged or destroyed or if all or a 

portion thereof is taken through eminent domain proceedings, or under the threat thereof, 

proceeds from insurance on the Development or any condemnation awards pertaining to such 

eminent domain proceedings shall be applied as provided in the Loan Agreement.  

Section 19.  Remedies; Enforceability.  (a) The benefits of this Regulatory Agreement 

shall inure to, and may be enforced by, respectively, (i) the Issuer and the Trustee, (ii) the holders 

of the Series 2018 Bonds and their successors and assigns to the extent permitted by the Indenture, 

and (iii) solely as to Sections 2, 3 and 7 of this Regulatory Agreement, the Lower-Income Persons 

and their successors who shall reside or be eligible to reside in units set aside for their occupancy 

pursuant to Section 3 of this Regulatory Agreement for the period set forth in Section 13 hereof, 

whether or not the Loan may be paid in full, and whether or not the Series 2018 Bonds are 

Outstanding.   If a material violation of any of the provisions hereof occurs and is not cured within 

the period provided by Section 14 hereof, any or all of such parties may institute and prosecute 

any proceeding at law or in equity to abate, prevent or enjoin any such violation or attempted 

violation, or to compel specific performance hereunder, it being recognized that the beneficiaries 

of the Owner's obligations hereunder cannot be adequately compensated by monetary damages 

in the event of the Owner's default.  The remedies of the beneficiaries of this Regulatory 

Agreement other than the Issuer (as provided in Section 19(b)) shall be limited to those described 

in the preceding sentence.   

(b) In addition to such other remedies as may be provided for herein, if a violation of 

any of the provisions of this Regulatory Agreement occurs which is not corrected during the 

period provided in Section 14 hereof, the Issuer (and only the Issuer) shall have the right (but not 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 16 

the obligation), and is specifically authorized by the Owner, to terminate the property manager 

and subject to the approval of the Owner's investment member during the 15-year tax credit 

compliance period, appoint a new property manager of the Development to operate the 

Development in accordance with this Regulatory Agreement and the Loan Agreement and take 

all actions necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Issuer, to cure any default by the Owner 

hereunder, and such new property manager assuming such management hereunder shall be paid 

by or on behalf of the Owner, from the rents, revenues, profits and income from the Development, 

a management fee not to exceed the prevailing management fee paid to managers of similar 

housing projects in the area of the County.  Subject to Section 13 hereof, the provisions hereof are 

imposed upon and made applicable to the Land and shall run with the Land and shall be 

enforceable against the Owner or any other person or entity that has or had an ownership interest 

in the Development at the time of such violation or attempted violation.  No delay in enforcing 

the provisions hereof as to any breach or violation shall impair, damage or waive the right of any 

party entitled to enforce the provisions hereof or to obtain relief against or recover for the 

continuation or repetition of such breach or violation or any similar breach or violation hereof at 

any later time or times.  All rights and remedies provided in this Regulatory Agreement are 

cumulative, non-exclusive and in addition to any and all rights and remedies that the parties and 

beneficiaries hereof may otherwise have. 

The Owner hereby agrees that the appointment of a new property manager may be 

necessary to serve the public purpose for which the Series 2018 Bonds were issued and to preserve 

the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2018 

Bonds following a violation of the provisions of this Regulatory Agreement which is not cured 

within the period provided in Section 14 hereof.  The Owner hereby expressly consents to, and 

agrees not to contest, the appointment of a new property manager to operate the Development 

following a violation by the Owner of the provisions of this Regulatory Agreement which is not 

cured as provided in Section 14 hereof and hereby waives any and all defenses and objections 

that might otherwise be raised to any such appointment of a new property manager in accordance 

with the terms hereof.  The Owner further agrees that the Issuer shall have the right to require 

the Owner to remove any property manager or managing agent whose actions or inactions 

present a material risk of a breach of the agreements of the Owner herein, including, without 

limitation, a material risk of an adverse impact on the excludability from gross income for federal 

income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2018 Bonds and which action or inaction is not being 

corrected as provided in Section 14 hereof, upon such property manager or managing agent being 

given thirty (30) days' written notice of any violation hereof, and such right shall be expressly 

acknowledged in any contract between the Owner and any such manager or managing agent.  

The Owner covenants and agrees to diligently and in good faith pursue the appointment and, if 

required, approval of such a replacement property manager or managing agent. 

Section 20.  Filing.  Upon execution and delivery by the parties hereto, the Owner shall 

cause this Regulatory Agreement and all amendments and supplements hereto to be recorded 

and filed in the official public deed records of the County, and in such manner and in such other 

places as the Issuer or the Trustee may reasonably request, and shall pay all fees and charges 

incurred in connection therewith. 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 17 

Section 21.  Governing Law.  This Regulatory Agreement shall be governed by the laws 

of the State. 

Section 22.  Amendments. 

(a) The interest of the Issuer in this Regulatory Agreement shall be assigned to the 

Trustee and the rights of the Issuer hereunder shall be enforceable by the Trustee.  The Owner 

shall not assign its interest hereunder, except by writing and in accordance with the provisions 

of Section 10 hereof. 

(b) This Regulatory Agreement shall not be amended, revised, or terminated except 

by a written instrument, executed by the parties hereto (or their successors in title), and duly 

recorded in the official public records for the County.  Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, 

the parties hereby agree to amend this Regulatory Agreement to the extent required in the 

opinion of Bond Counsel, in order for interest on the Series 2018 Bonds to remain exempt from 

federal income taxation under Section 103 of the Code.  The Owner agrees, from time to time, to 

take such other actions and steps necessary to comply, and to cause the Development to comply, 

with the requirements of Section 142(d) of the Code and to enter into modifications and 

amendments to this Regulatory Agreement to the extent required by federal law, by any 

amendment to the Code or by any Regulation promulgated thereunder, in each case so that 

interest on the Series 2018 Bonds remains exempt from federal income taxes.  Any such 

amendment, revision or termination shall be effected only in accordance with the Indenture. 

(c) On the first business day immediately after the date on which no Bonds remain 

outstanding, as provided in the Indenture, the Trustee shall no longer have any duties or 

responsibilities under the Regulatory Agreement and all references to the Trustee in this 

Regulatory Agreement shall be deemed references to the Issuer. 

Section 23.  Notice.  Any notice required to be given hereunder shall be given by certified 

or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the Issuer, the Trustee and the 

Owner at their respective addresses set forth in the first paragraph hereof, or at such other 

addresses as may be specified in writing by the parties hereto. A copy of any notice sent to the 

Owner shall also be sent to [Highland Commercial Mortgage], [___________________________], 

Attention:  [____________], with a copy to [Germer PLLC, 550 Fannin, Suite 400, Beaumont, Texas 

77701], Attention:  [Scott Crutchfield, Esq.], and to the investment member, PNC LIHTC Fund 70, 

LLC, 121 SW Morrison, Suite 1300, Portland, Oregon 97204, Attention:  Asset Manager, with a 

copy to [Kutak Rock LLLP, 1650 Farnam Street, Omaha, Nebraska 68102], Attention:  [Winifred 

Hawkins, Esq.]

Notice shall be deemed given on the third business day after the date of mailing. 

Section 24.  HUD Rider.  The provisions of this Regulatory Agreement are subject to the 

provisions of the HUD Rider attached hereto as Exhibit "E" and made a part hereof. 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 18 

Section 25.  Severability.  If any provision hereof shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, 

the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining portions hereof shall not in any way be 

affected or impaired thereby. 

Section 26.  Multiple Counterparts.  This Regulatory Agreement may be simultaneously 

executed in multiple counterparts, all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument, and 

each of which shall be deemed to be an original. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 

19 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer, the Trustee, and the Owner have executed this 

Regulatory Agreement by duly authorized representatives, all as of the 1st day of December, 

2018. 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

[SEAL] AUTHORITY

By:  

Name: William I. Gulliford, III 

Title: Chair 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF DUVAL 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by William I Gulliford, III, Chair 

of the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority, a public body corporate and politic, this [___] day 

of December, 2018, on behalf of said Issuer.  He is personally known to me or have produced a 

valid driver's license as identification. 

(SEAL) 

Printed/Typed Name:  

Notary Public-State of Florida 

Commission Number: 

[Counterpart Signature Page – Land Use Restriction Agreement] 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5

20 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST 

COMPANY, N.A., as Trustee

By: 

Name:  Michele R. Noel 

Title:  Vice President and 

Senior Transaction Manager 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF DUVAL 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by Michele Noel, as Vice 

President and Senior Transaction Manager of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A., this [____] day of December 2018, on behalf of said national association.  She is personally 

known to me or has produced a valid driver's license as identification. 

(SEAL) 

Printed/Typed Name:  

Notary Public-State of Florida 

Commission Number: 

[Counterpart Signature Page – Land Use Restriction Agreement] 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5

21 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company, its Managing Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, 

LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole 

Member 

By:_______________________ 

Name:____________________ 

Title:_____________________ 

STATE OF [_________] 

COUNTY OF [________] 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by [________], as the sole 

Member of LEDIC Realty Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the sole Member 

of LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the sole Member of LRC Desert-Silver GP, 

LLC, a Florida limited liability company, the Managing Member of LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, this 

[____] day of December 2018, on behalf of said limited liability company.  He is personally known 

to me or has produced a valid driver's license as identification. 

(SEAL) 

__________________________________ 

__________________________________ 

Name (printed or typed) 

Notary Public in and for the State of ____________, 

residing at ________________________ 

My appointment expires: _____________ 

[Counterpart Signature Page – Land Use Restriction Agreement]



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF INCOME CERTIFICATION 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 B-2



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 B-3



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF CONTINUING PROGRAM COMPLIANCE 

The undersigned authorized representative of LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company (the "Borrower"), has read and is thoroughly familiar with the provisions of the 

various documents associated with the issuance by the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 

(the "Issuer"), of its $[________] Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily Housing 

Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 (the "Bonds"), including the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement, as of December 1, 2018, among the Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower 

(the "Regulatory Agreement"). 

Based on the representations contained in the Income Certification and the proofs and 

documentation submitted pursuant to the Income Certification, the following percentages of 

dwelling units in the Development have been either occupied by Lower-Income Persons (as such 

term is defined in the Regulatory Agreement) on the fifteenth (15th) day of the month in which 

this certificate is dated and at all times during the month preceding the date of this certificate or 

were held vacant and available for such occupancy for all or part of such period: 

Lower-Income Persons: _____% 

The undersigned hereby certifies that the Borrower is not in default under any of the 

above documents, with the exception of the following (if none, please so state): 

Capitalized terms used but not defined in this certificate shall have the meanings assigned 

in the Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2018, by and between the Issuer and The Bank of 

New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank. Signature page follows.]



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 C-2 

Date:  ________________ 

BORROWER: 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company, its Managing Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, 

LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole 

Member 

By:_____________________ 

Its:_____________________ 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 D-1 

EXHIBIT D 

RESIDENT PROGRAMS AND PROJECT AMENITIES 

In addition to meeting all building code, Fair Housing Act, and Americans with 

Disabilities Act requirement, the following are also required amenities: 

[TO COME]



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 

E-1 

EXHIBIT E 

HUD RIDER 

This HUD RIDER (this "Rider") is attached to and forms a part of the Land Use Restriction 

Agreement (the "LURA"), dated as of December 1, 2018, by and among LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, 

a Florida limited liability company ("Owner"), the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority, a 

public body corporate and politic of the State of Florida ("Issuer"), and The Bank of New York 

Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association, as Trustee ("Trustee"). 

RECITALS: 

A. Owner is the owner of certain real property located in the County of Duval, State 

of Florida, as more particularly described in Exhibit “A” attached to the LURA and made a part 

hereof, on which is constructed certain multifamily residential rental housing developments 

known as Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments (the “Development”).  

B. Owner has entered into a certain first lien mortgage loan (the “Loan”) made by  

Lender (as defined below), which Loan is evidenced and/or secured by that certain Note 

(Multistate) dated as of December 1, 2018 in the amount of $[25,326,000] (the “Note”) for the 

benefit of the Development, which Loan is secured by the Multifamily Mortgage, Assignment of 

Leases and Rents and Security Agreement of even date herewith and recorded in the official real 

estate records of Duval County, Florida (the “Security Instrument”) and certain other Mortgage 

Loan Documents (as defined below), which Loan is insured by HUD (as defined below). 

B. Owner has received tax exempt bond financing from the Issuer, which Issuer is 

requiring certain restrictions (the “Restrictive Covenants”) be recorded against the Development.  

C. Owner, Issuer, and Trustee entered into the LURA to which this Rider is attached, 

that contains certain restrictive covenants with respect to the Development. 

D. HUD is requiring that the lien and covenants of the LURA be subordinated to the 

lien, covenants, and enforcement of the Security Instrument.  

E. The Issuer, as the holder of the Restrictive Covenants, has agreed to subordinate 

the Restrictive Covenants in all respects to the lien of the Security Instrument as provided in this 

Rider. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the sum of Ten and 

00/100 Dollars ($10.00) in hand paid, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, for themselves and for their 

respective successors and assigns, hereby agree, and to the extent necessary the LURA is hereby 

amended, as follows:  



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 E-2

1. The foregoing recitals are hereby incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 

herein. 

2. In the event of any conflict between any provision contained elsewhere in the 

LURA and any provision contained in this Rider, the provisions contained in this Rider shall 

govern and be controlling in all respects. 

3. The following terms shall have the following definitions: 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

“HUD” means the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

“HUD Regulatory Agreement” means the Regulatory Agreement between Owner and 

HUD with respect to the Development, as the same may be supplemented, amended or modified 

from time to time. 

“Lender” means Highland Commercial Mortgage, its successors and assigns. 

“Mortgage Loan” means the mortgage loan made by Lender to the Owner pursuant to the 

Mortgage Loan Documents with respect to the Development. 

“Mortgage Loan Documents” means the Security Instrument, the HUD Regulatory 

Agreement and all other documents required by HUD or Lender in connection with the Mortgage 

Loan. 

"National Housing Act" means the National Housing Act of 1934, as amended. 

"Program Obligations" has the meaning set forth in the Security Instrument. 

"Residual Receipts" has the meaning specified in the HUD Regulatory Agreement. 

"Security Instrument" means the mortgage or deed of trust from Owner in favor of 

Lender, as the same may be supplemented, amended or modified. 

"Surplus Cash" has the meaning specified in the HUD Regulatory Agreement. 

4. Notwithstanding anything in the Restrictive Covenants to the contrary, the 

provisions of the Restrictive Covenants are expressly subordinate to (i) the Mortgage Loan 

Documents, including without limitation the Security Instrument, and (ii) Program Obligations 

(the Mortgage Loan Documents and Program Obligations are collectively referred to herein as 

the “HUD Requirements”).  Owner covenants that it will not take or permit any action that would 

result in a violation of the Code, HUD Requirements or Restrictive Covenants.  In the event of 

any conflict between the provisions of the Restrictive Covenants and the provisions of the HUD 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 E-3

Requirements, HUD shall be and remains entitled to enforce the HUD Requirements. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein limits the Issuer’s ability to enforce the terms of 

the Restrictive Covenants, provided such terms do not conflict with statutory provisions of the 

National Housing Act or the regulations related thereto.  The Owner represents and warrants 

that to the best of Owner’s knowledge the Restrictive Covenants impose no terms or requirements 

that conflict with the National Housing Act and related regulations.

5. In the event of foreclosure, or deed in lieu of foreclosure, the Restrictive 

Covenants (including without limitation, any and all land use covenants and/or restrictions 

contained therein) shall automatically terminate; provided, however, that notwithstanding any 

provision in this Agreement, the Restrictive Covenants or the Mortgage Loan Documents to the 

contrary, the preceding provisions of this sentence shall cease to apply and the restrictions 

contained in the Restrictive Covenants shall be automatically reinstated if, at any time 

subsequent to such foreclosure or transfer by deed in lieu of foreclosure, the Owner or any 

related person (within the meaning of Section 1.103-10(e) of the Treasury Regulations) obtains 

an ownership interest in the Development for federal tax purposes. 

6. Owner and the Issuer acknowledge that Owner’s failure to comply with the 

covenants provided in the Restrictive Covenants does not and shall not serve as a basis for default 

under the HUD Requirements, unless a default also arises under the HUD Requirements.   

7. Except for the Issuer’s reporting requirement, in enforcing the LURA and the 

Restrictive Covenants the Issuer will not file any claim against the Development, the Mortgage 

Loan proceeds, any reserve or deposit required by HUD in connection with the Security 

Instrument or HUD Regulatory Agreement, or the rents or other income from the property other 

than a claim against: 

i. Available Surplus Cash, if the Owner is a for-profit entity; 

ii. Available distributions of Surplus Cash and Residual Receipts authorized 

for release by HUD, if the Owner is a limited distribution entity; or 

iii. Available Residual Receipts authorized by HUD, if the Owner is a non-

profit entity, or 

iv. A HUD-approved collateral assignment of the HAP Contract. 

8. For so long as the Mortgage Loan is outstanding, Owner and Issuer shall not 

further amend the LURA, with the exception of clerical errors or administrative correction of non-

substantive matters, without HUD’s prior written consent. 

9. Subject to the HUD Regulatory Agreement, the Issuer may require the Owner to 

indemnify and hold the Issuer harmless from all loss, cost, damage and expense arising from any 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 E-4

claim or proceeding instituted against Issuer relating to the subordination and covenants set forth 

in the LURA; provided, however, that Owner’s obligation to indemnify and hold the Issuer 

harmless shall be limited to available Surplus Cash and/or Residual Receipts of the Owner. 

10. No action shall be taken in accordance with the rights granted herein to preserve 

the tax exemption of the interest on the notes or bonds, or prohibiting the Owner from taking any 

action that might jeopardize the tax-exemption except in strict accord with the Program 

Obligations. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 

E-5 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

[SEAL] AUTHORITY

By:  

Title: Chair 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF DUVAL 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by William I Gulliford, III, Chair 

of the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority, a public body corporate and politic, this [__] day 

of December, 2018, on behalf of said Issuer.  He is personally known to me or has produced a 

valid driver's license as identification. 

(SEAL) 

Printed/Typed Name:  

Notary Public-State of Florida 

Commission Number: 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 

E-6 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST 

COMPANY, N.A., as Trustee

By: 

Name:  Michele R. Noel 

Title: Vice President and 

Senior Transaction Manager 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF DUVAL 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by Michele R. Noel, as Vice 

President and Senior Transaction Manager of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 

N.A., this [___] day of December 2018, on behalf of said banking association.  She is personally 

known to me or has produced a valid driver's license as identification. 

(SEAL) 

Printed/Typed Name:  

Notary Public-State of Florida 

Commission Number: 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 

E-7 

OWNER: 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company, its Managing Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, 

LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole 

Member 

By:_______________________ 

Name:____________________ 

Title:_____________________ 

STATE OF  

COUNTY OF  

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that [______] is the person who 

appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that he signed this instrument, on oath stated 

that he was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it as sole Member of LEDIC 

Realty Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the sole member of LRC GP, LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company, sole member of LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company, Managing Member of LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, to be the free and 

voluntary act of such party for the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 

DATED this _____ day of December, 2018. 

__________________________________ 

__________________________________ 

Name (printed or typed) 

Notary Public in and for the State of Washington, 

residing at ________________________ 

My appointment expires: _____________ 



26460/028/01398144.DOCXv5 E-8

EXHIBIT E-1 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AGREEMENT OF LENDER 

This Acknowledgement and Agreement of Lender is dated as of December 1, 2018 and attached 

to and made part of the Land Use Restriction Agreement (the “LURA”) between LRC Desert-

Silver, LLC (“Owner”), the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (“Issuer”) and The Bank of 

New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”). 

Highland Commercial Mortgage, LLC, a limited liability company organized and existing under 

the laws of Alabama (the “Lender”) is the secured party under that certain Multifamily Mortgage, 

Assignment of Leases and Rents and Security Agreement (Florida) (the “Security Instrument”), 

dated as of _____, 2018, between Owner, as grantor and borrower, to Lender, and recorded on 

_____, 2018 in the Official Records of Duval County, Florida at Book ____ and Page _____. 

Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed in the 

LURA. 

WITNESSETH: 

For and in consideration of the mutual benefits and obligations set forth herein and for other good 

and valuable consideration receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, Lender, Owner and Issuer 

agree as follows: 

1. Lender acknowledges and agrees to the provisions set forth in the LURA and Exhibit “E” 

thereto, and agrees that the covenants and restrictions (the “Restrictive Covenants”) set 

forth therein shall be deemed to be covenants, restrictions and agreements running with 

the land and not a lien thereon. 

2. As provided in said Exhibit “E,” the Lender specifically acknowledges and agrees that in 

the event of foreclosure (or deed in lieu of foreclosure), the Restrictive Covenants 

(including without limitation, any and all land use covenants and/or restrictions 

contained herein) shall automatically terminate; provided, however, that the restrictions 

of the Restrictive Covenants shall be automatically reinstated if, at any time subsequent 

to such foreclosure or transfer by deed in lieu of foreclosure, the Owner or any related 

person (within the meaning of Section 1.103-10(e) of the Treasury Regulations) obtains an 

ownership interest in the Development for federal tax purposes.  Such covenant of 

reinstatement shall not be terminated or extinguished by operation of any foreclosure or 

enforcement proceedings of the Security Instrument.  

LENDER:

HIGHLAND COMMERCIAL MORTGAGE,  

an Alabama limited liability company 

By:_____________________________________ 

      Name: 

     Title: 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

EXHIBIT E 

FORM OF COMPLIANCE MONITORING AGREEMENT



COMPLIANCE MONITORING AGREEMENT 

(DESERT-SILVER PROJECT)

This COMPLIANCE MONITORING AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made as of 

December 1, 2018, by and among the JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY, a 

public corporation and a public body corporate and politic duly created and existing under the 

laws of the State of Florida (the "Issuer"), SELTZER MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC. (the 

"Compliance Monitoring Agent"), THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, 

N.A., a national banking association, with a represenatative office located in Jacksonville, Florida, 

as trustee under the below-described Indenture (in such capacity, the "Trustee"), and LRC 

DESERT-SILVER, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (the "Borrower"). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, all capitalized terms in this Agreement not otherwise defined shall have the 

meanings set forth in the Indenture (hereinafter defined); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has been created and organized pursuant to and in accordance 

with the provisions of Chapter 159, Part IV, Florida Statutes, as amended (the "Act"), for the 

purpose, among others, of financing the costs of residential developments that will provide 

decent, safe and sanitary housing for persons or families of low, moderate or middle income in 

Duval County, Florida (the "County"); and 

WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the Issuer; (a) to make loans to sponsors to provide 

financing for residential developments located within the County, and intended to be occupied 

to the extent required by applicable state or federal tax law by persons or families of low, 

moderate and middle income; (b) to issue revenue bonds for the purpose of obtaining monies to 

make such loans and provide such financing and to pay administrative costs and other costs 

incurred in connection with the issuance of such bonds; and (c) pledge all or any part of the 

revenues and receipts to be received by the Issuer from or in connection with such loans, and to 

mortgage, pledge or grant security interests in such loans in order to secure the payment of the 

principal or redemption price of and interest on such bonds; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to resolutions of the Issuer adopted on June 18, 2018 and November 

28, 2018, the Issuer has authorized, approved and issued $22,000,000 aggregate principal amount 

of its Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-

Silver Project), Series 2018 (the "Bonds") pursuant to that certain Trust Indenture dated as of 

December 1, 2018 between the Issuer and the Trustee (the "Indenture"); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to its lawful authority under the Act, the Issuer has entered into 

that certain Loan Agreement dated December 1, 2018 (the "Loan Agreement"), by and between 

the Issuer and the Borrower, by the terms of which the Issuer has agreed to loan the proceeds of 

the Bonds to the Borrower (the "Loan") for the purpose of providing funds to acquire, rehabilitate 



2 

and equip multifamily residential developments located on property within the County, to be 

known as Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments (the "Property"); and 

WHEREAS, the Loan will be secured by that certain promissory note, in the principal 

amount of $22,000,000 dated as of December 1, 2018 (the "Note"), from the Borrower to the Issuer; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer intends to assign the Note and other instruments securing 

repayment of the Note, to the Trustee for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds, as their interests 

may appear; and 

WHEREAS, to assure compliance with certain requirements of the Internal Revenue Code 

of 1986, as amended, and certain other requirements of the Issuer with respect to the operation of 

the Property, the Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower have entered into that the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement dated as of December 1, 2018 (the "Land Use Restriction Agreement"); and 

WHEREAS, the Compliance Monitoring Agent has represented and warranted that it is 

duly qualified and authorized to engage in the business of administering loans of the type of the 

Loan referred to herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Compliance Monitoring Agent shall act as agent of the Issuer in 

performing certain functions under the Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement, and shall monitor tenant eligibility with respect to the Property subject to 

the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, Ten 

Dollars ($10) and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 

hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS. The following definitions shall apply as context may require in 

this Agreement: 

A. "Improvements" -- All improvements described in the plans for the 

Property (the "Plans") and all additions and equipment reasonably necessary to construct, 

equip, renovate, operate and rent the Property, including all amenities. Without limiting 

the foregoing, the term Improvements shall include all landscaping, walls, drives, 

approaches, sidewalks, curbs, paving and all chattels, furniture, furnishings and 

equipment described in the Plans. 

B. "Loan Documents" -- Collectively, this Agreement, the Note, the Loan 

Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement and the Indenture and all other 

documents and instruments evidencing, securing or guaranteeing payment of the Loan, 

or any portion thereof. 



3 

C. "Property" -- The real property described in Exhibit "A", which is attached 

hereto and by this reference made a part hereof, and the Improvements. 

D. "Title Insurance Policy" -- Policy issued pursuant to mortgagee title 

insurance Commitment No. [_____________] issued by [______________________] and all 

endorsements issued as required by this Agreement as of the date of reference. 

2. TERM. This Agreement shall continue from the earlier of the date of this 

Agreement or from the date the Compliance Monitoring Agent shall begin compliance 

monitoring for the Issuer until occurrence of the first of the following events: 

A. The end of the Qualified Project Period (as defined in the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement). 

B. Termination of this Agreement as to the Compliance Monitoring Agent 

pursuant to Section 11 hereof. 

3. SERVICING OF THE LOAN.  The Compliance Monitoring Agent shall provide 

the services required of the "Issuer Servicer" under the Loan Documents, including, without 

limitation, monitoring the Property and compliance by the Borrower with the requirements of 

the Land Use Restriction Agreement, exercising the same degree of care in performing its 

obligations under this Agreement as is customary in the industry for financial institutions which 

service real estate loans for their own portfolios and on behalf of others.  The Issuer agrees that it 

will do and perform all things reasonably necessary to assist the Compliance Monitoring Agent 

in performing its obligations hereunder and under the Loan Documents. 

4. COMPENSATION OF THE COMPLIANCE MONITORING AGENT. The 

Borrower shall pay to the Trustee for payment to the Compliance Monitoring Agent for the 

services rendered by the Compliance Monitoring Agent hereunder in accordance with the 

following provisions: 

A. The annual compensation of the Compliance Monitoring Agent for the 

compliance monitoring services specified hereunder shall be paid semi-annually by the 

Borrower on each [_________] 1st and [_________] 1st, commencing upon notification to 

the Trustee, and the Borrower of the issuance of an initial certificate of occupancy, in an 

amount equal to 4 basis points (.04%) of the original Bond amount.  In the event the Bonds 

are paid off and the Qualified Project Period has not ended, the fee will be set at the 

minimum of $5,032.32 until the Period has ended. Every January 1st, the minimum would 

be adjusted, but not decreased, based on the South Region Consumer Price Index for the 

twelve month period ending each November 30th.

An additional fee of $177.00 per hour shall be paid by Borrower for follow-up 

reviews and/or extraordinary compliance monitoring services. 



4 

B. The Compliance Monitoring Agent's rights to compensation hereunder for 

compliance monitoring shall cease upon the later to occur of: 

(1) the end of the Qualified Project Period; or 

(2) notification by the Issuer to the Compliance Monitoring Agent that 

its services or this Agreement shall be terminated by the Issuer or the Trustee with 

the Issuer's consent, with or without cause. 

C. Any fees not paid by the Borrower may be paid by the Trustee (from 

amounts available under the Indenture) and charged against the Loan unless Borrower 

gives Trustee written notice that such fees are disputed prior to such fee being paid by the 

Trustee. 

5. INSURANCE TO BE MAINTAINED BY THE COMPLIANCE MONITORING 

AGENT.  The Compliance Monitoring Agent shall maintain at all times during the existence of 

this Agreement, at its own expense, blanket fidelity insurance and errors and omissions insurance 

covering the Compliance Monitoring Agent's officers and employees and other persons acting on 

behalf of the Compliance Monitoring Agent relating to the Compliance Monitoring Agent's 

performance of this Agreement. The amount of coverage of such policies shall be acceptable to 

the Issuer. All such policies of insurance shall be issued by an insurance company, with coverage 

satisfactory to the Issuer and the Compliance Monitoring Agent and shall name the Issuer and 

the Trustee as the insured under said policies. 

6. NOTIFICATION TO THE ISSUER AND THE TRUSTEE.  The Compliance 

Monitoring Agent shall promptly notify the Issuer, the Borrower and the Trustee in writing of 

any of the following which may come to the attention of the Compliance Monitoring Agent: 

A. Any failure of the Borrower to perform any covenant or obligation, 

applicable to it, under the Loan Documents (of which the Compliance Monitoring Agent 

has knowledge) if such failure continues for a period of fifteen (15) days, or lesser period, 

if so provided in any Loan Document. 

B. Abandonment of the Property. 

C. Any lack of repair or the deterioration or waste suffered or committed in 

respect to the Property. 

D. Any other matter which would adversely or materially affect or result in 

diminution of value of the Property. 

E. Any loss or damage by fire or any hazard to the mortgaged property 

requiring repairs costing in excess of FIFTEEN THOUSAND AND 00/100 ($15,000) 

DOLLARS to restore the Property of its condition prior to such loss or damage. 



5 

7. DEFAULT OF BORROWER.  The Compliance Monitoring Agent shall not at any 

time, without the express written consent of the Issuer and the Trustee, consent to a 

postponement of compliance on the part of the Borrower with any of the terms and provisions of 

the Loan Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement, or any other Loan Document, or in 

any manner grant an extension or waiver to the Borrower. 

8. REPRESENTATIONS OF THE COMPLIANCE MONITORING AGENT.  The 

Compliance Monitoring Agent covenants, warrants and represents to the Issuer and the Borrower 

as follows: 

A. The Compliance Monitoring Agent is a duly organized corporation under 

the laws of the State of Florida, is in good standing in the State of Florida, and is authorized 

to do business in the State of Florida; that it is authorized to execute, deliver and perform 

this Agreement and all other documents and agreements required hereunder, and in so 

doing, that it will not violate any law, any provision of its charter or bylaws or any other 

agreement of instrument binding upon it. 

B. The Compliance Monitoring Agent shall comply with all applicable laws 

and the provisions of the Loan Documents, as applicable. 

C. The Compliance Monitoring Agent shall cause any funds advanced to the 

Compliance Monitoring Agent by the Trustee under this Agreement to be deposited with 

a financial institution the deposits of which are insured by FDIC or by any successor 

agency or instrumentality of the United States government; and will cause such financial 

institution to designate said funds as escrow funds for the benefit of the Trustee; and will 

cause such financial institution to execute an agreement providing that it will not exercise 

any powers of right of offset or banker's lien against such escrow funds. 

D. The Compliance Monitoring Agent hereby waives and releases any lien or 

encumbrances which it might at any time have or be able to claim against any property or 

funds held by the Trustee or the Issuer. 

9. BORROWER'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.  The Borrower 

represents and warrants to the Compliance Monitoring Agent that it may rely on the 

representations and warranties made by the Borrower to the Issuer as set forth in the Loan 

Agreement and the Land Use Restriction Agreement. 

10. COVENANTS OF THE BORROWER.  The Borrower covenants and agrees with 

the Issuer, the Trustee and the Compliance Monitoring Agent as follows: 

A. Right of Entry.  The Borrower shall permit the Issuer, the Trustee and the 

Compliance Monitoring Agent and their authorized employees, agents or representatives 

to enter upon the Property after reasonable prior notice during normal business hours to 

inspect the Improvements and all books and records related to the Property of the 

Borrower and will cooperate with the Issuer, the Compliance Monitoring Agent, the 



6 

Trustee and its representatives to enable them to perform their functions hereunder.  It is 

expressly agreed that any inspection made by the Issuer, the Trustee and the Compliance 

Monitoring Agent, or their representatives shall be made solely and exclusively for the 

protection and benefit of each of them and neither the Borrower nor any third party shall 

be entitled to claim, any loss or damage either against the Issuer, the Trustee and the 

Compliance Monitoring Agent, or their employees, agents or representatives for failure 

to properly discharge any alleged duties of the Issuer, the Trustee and the Compliance 

Monitoring Agent, and they shall have no duty to make such inspections. 

B. Additional Documents.  The Borrower agrees to execute any and all such 

other and further instruments as may reasonably be required by the Issuer or the Trustee 

from time to time in order to carry out the provisions of this Agreement, the Loan 

Documents or for the purpose of protecting, maintaining, or enforcing the Issuer's and the 

Trustee's security for the Loan. 

11. TERMINATION. 

A. By the Issuer.  The Issuer shall have the right to terminate the Compliance 

Monitoring Agent's rights and obligations under this Agreement, without cause, upon ten 

(10) days' written notice to the Compliance Monitoring Agent, and with cause, upon such 

written notice as the Issuer deems reasonable under the circumstances. 

B. Automatic Termination.  Upon the occurrence of any one or more of the 

following events, this Agreement shall be automatically terminated: 

(1) The Compliance Monitoring Agent shall assign or attempt to assign 

its rights or obligations under this Agreement. 

(2) The Compliance Monitoring Agent shall institute proceedings for 

voluntary bankruptcy or shall file a petition seeking reorganization under the 

Federal Bankruptcy Laws or for relief under any other law for the relief of debtors 

or shall consent to the appointment of a receiver of all or substantially all of its 

property, or make a general assignment for the benefits of its creditors, or shall 

admit in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due, or shall be 

adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction, or if an 

order shall be made by a court of competent jurisdiction appointing a receiver, 

liquidator or trustee of the Compliance Monitoring Agent or of all or substantially 

all of its property or approving any petition filed against the Compliance 

Monitoring Agent for its reorganization, and such adjudication or order shall 

remain in force or unstayed for a period of thirty (30) days. 

(3) The Compliance Monitoring Agent shall fail to perform any of its 

obligations hereunder and shall fail, within thirty (30) days after written notice 

from the Trustee or the Issuer, to correct or cure such failure. 



7 

(4) The Property is no longer subject to the Land Use Restriction 

Agreement. 

C. Effect of Termination.   In the event this Agreement is terminated pursuant 

to this Section 11, then the rights and obligations of the Compliance Monitoring Agent 

and its right to compensation hereunder shall immediately terminate and the Compliance 

Monitoring Agent shall forthwith deliver to the Issuer or to whomever the Issuer directs, 

all documents relating to the Loan and shall do such other acts as may reasonably be 

required by the Issuer to facilitate the termination hereof. 

12. TENANT ELIGIBILITY.  The Compliance Monitoring Agent shall be responsible 

for the following with respect to the Property: 

A. Conduct on-site management reviews of the Property at least annually. 

Such reviews shall include examination of tenant files, a review of administration 

procedures, and a physical inspection of the Property. The Compliance Monitoring Agent 

shall also prepare a written Management Review and Inspection Report and distribute 

copies to the on-site manager, the Borrower, the management company, the Trustee and 

the Issuer. Such report shall include a statement as to the compliance by the Borrower 

with its obligations under the Land Use Restriction Agreement.  Such management 

reviews shall be conducted through the Qualified Project Period, as extended, or until no 

Bonds are outstanding, whichever is later. 

B. Review Program Reports and Tenant Income Certifications and re-

certifications for completeness, tenant income eligibility and timeliness of completion. The 

Compliance Monitoring Agent shall contact management personnel regarding any 

discrepancies and follow-up with respect thereto until required corrections are made and 

provide copies of any correspondence with respect thereto to the Issuer.  

C. Provide the Issuer with occupancy information from each Program Report 

in the format provided by the Issuer. 

D. In addition, the Compliance Monitoring Agent shall: 

(1) Be available to answer telephone inquiries relating to bond 

program requirements. 

(2) Keep the Issuer apprised of scheduled activities, any compliance 

problems as such occur, and changes in apartment management personnel. 

(3) Provide the Issuer with copies of all correspondence relating to the 

Property. 



8 

13. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

A. No Waiver.  Nothing herein shall be construed to waive or diminish any 

right or security of the Issuer or the Trustee under the Loan Agreement and the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement.  It is the purpose and intent hereof to provide safeguards, 

protections and rights for the Issuer and the Trustee in addition to those provided in the 

Loan Agreement. 

B. Cumulative Remedies.  The remedies provided herein shall be in addition 

to and not a substitution for the rights and remedies which would otherwise be vested 

under any Loan Document or in law or equity, all of which rights and remedies are 

specifically reserved. The remedies herein provided or otherwise available to the Issuer, 

the Trustee or the Compliance Monitoring Agent shall be cumulative and may be 

exercised separately or concurrently and as often as the occasion therefor may arise. The 

failure to exercise any of the remedies herein shall not constitute a waiver thereof, nor 

shall use of any of the remedies hereby provided prevent the subsequent or concurrent 

use of any other remedy or remedies. It is intended that this clause shall be broadly 

construed so that all remedies herein provided or otherwise available to the Issuer, the 

Trustee or the Compliance Monitoring Agent shall continue and be each and all available 

until all sums due by reason of the Loan Agreement are paid in full and all obligations 

incurred by the Borrower in connection with the construction or operation of the 

Improvements have been fully discharged. 

C. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to 

the benefit of the parties hereto and their heirs, legal representatives, successors and 

assigns.  The Borrower may be released from obligations and agreements hereunder only 

by a written instrument of the Trustee and the Issuer specifically providing for such 

release.  The Borrower shall be released from any and all liability hereunder, upon 

payment of the Loan in full and expiration of the Qualified Project Period. 

D. Assignability.  This Agreement shall not be assignable by the Borrower or 

Compliance Monitoring Agent without the prior written consent of the Issuer and the 

Trustee.  If the Issuer and the Trustee approve an assignment hereof by the Borrower, the 

Trustee shall be entitled to make advances to such assignee and such advances shall be 

secured by the Loan Documents. 

E. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the 

State of Florida, regardless of where it may have been executed or delivered. Any action 

to enforce or interpret this Agreement, whether arising in contract or tort, by statute or 

otherwise, may be brought in or removed to a state or federal court of competent jurisdiction 

in or for Duval County, Florida, and the parties hereto hereby submit itself to the jurisdiction 

of said courts. 



9 

F. Construction.  Whereas this Agreement was negotiated with input from all 

parties hereto, this Agreement shall not be construed more strongly against any party 

regardless of who was more responsible for its preparation. 

G. [Reserved]. 

H. Invalid Provisions.  All rights, powers and remedies provided herein may 

be exercised only to the extent that the exercise thereof does not violate any applicable 

law and are intended to be limited to the extent necessary so that they will not render this 

Agreement invalid, illegal, or unenforceable under any applicable law. If any term of this 

Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity of the other 

terms of this Agreement shall in no way be affected thereby, nor shall such terms be 

invalid or unenforceable under other, dissimilar facts and circumstances. 

I. Headings.  The paragraph headings contained in this Agreement are for 

reference purposes only and shall not in any way affect the meaning, content, or 

interpretation hereof. 

J. Amendments.  This Agreement shall not be amended or modified except 

by an amendment in writing, executed by all parties hereto in the same form as this 

Agreement.  The Issuer reserves the right to amend this Agreement to comply with federal 

and state laws and regulations. 

K. Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 

L. Right to Publicize.  The Issuer and the Compliance Monitoring Agent shall 

have the right to publicize its involvement in the financing of the Property and may 

require the Borrower to name the Issuer in all publicity releases and promotional materials 

issued in connection with the Property. 

M. Dealings with the Compliance Monitoring Agent.  The Compliance 

Monitoring Agent shall be protected and shall incur no liability in acting or proceeding in 

good faith upon resolution, notice, telegram, consent, wavier, certificate, affidavit, 

voucher, bond, title insurance commitment or policy or endorsement thereto or other 

paper or document which it shall in good faith reasonable believe (i) to be genuine and, 

(ii) to have been passed or prepared and furnished pursuant to the provisions of the 

Indenture, the Land Use Restriction Agreement or the Loan Agreement, and the 

Compliance Monitoring Agent shall be under no duty to make any investigation or 

inquiry as to any statements contained or matters referred to in any such instrument, but 

may accept and rely upon the same as conclusive evidence of the truth and accuracy of 

such statements unless the instrument on its face reasonably indicated that the 

Compliance Monitoring Agent should inquire further or unless the Compliance 

Monitoring Agent has actual knowledge or information which reasonably should cause 

the Compliance Monitoring Agent to inquire further.  The Compliance Monitoring Agent 

shall not be held liable under this Agreement except for its own negligence or willful 



10 

misconduct. The Borrower shall indemnify and hold the Compliance Monitoring Agent 

harmless from any claim, action or liability of any kind or character whatsoever arising 

from or in any way related to acts or omissions of the Borrower or any of its agents, 

employees, consultants, counsel, or independent contractors.  This paragraph shall in no 

way be construed to relieve the Compliance Monitoring Agent of the normal and usual 

duties of a reasonably prudent loan servicer or monitoring agent. 

N. Terms.  Wherever used herein, the terms utilized shall include masculine, 

feminine, neuter, singular and/or plural, as the context admits or requires. 

O. Conflicts.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the terms and 

conditions of the Loan Agreement shall govern, control and prevail, in the event of any 

conflict between the terms and conditions hereof and those contained in the Loan 

Agreement. 

14. REMEDIES.  Subject to the applicable terms, conditions and restrictions set forth 

in the Land Use Restriction Agreement, upon the occurrence of any Event of Default which is not 

cured within the applicable cure period, the Issuer (or the Trustee or the Compliance Monitoring 

Agent) shall be entitled to seek specific performance hereof against the Borrower, and/or in 

addition to any other right or remedy available to it in law or equity.  It is specifically agreed by 

the Borrower that a violation of this Agreement or the Land Use Restriction Agreement could 

cause harm for which no damages could be calculated, therefore entitling the Issuer to immediate 

equitable relief, including without limitation a temporary restraining order or mandatory 

injunction without notice. 

15. NOTICES.  Any notice required to be given hereunder shall be given by personal 

delivery, by registered U.S. mail or by expedited service at the addresses specified below or at 

such other addresses as may be specified in writing by the parties hereto, and any such notice 

shall be deemed received on the date of delivery if by personal delivery or expedited delivery 

service, or upon actual receipt of sent by registered U.S. Mail. 

The Issuer: Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority

214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor 

Jacksonville Florida  32202 

Attention: Finance Director 

Telephone: (904) 255 8200 

Telecopier: (904) 255 8244 

The Trustee: The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 

Company, N.A. 

10161 Centurion Parkway N. 



11 

Jacksonville, Florida  32256

Attention:  Corporate Trust Department 

Telephone: (904) 645 1900 

Telecopier: (904) 645 1998 

The Borrower: LRC Desert-Silver, LLC

105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 300 

Montgomery, Alabama 36104 

Attention:  Tyler Hunt 

Telephone:  [(334) 954-4458] 

Facsimile:  [_________] 

with a copy to: Balch & Bingham LLP

105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 200 

Montgomery, Alabama 36104 

Attention:  Walter H. C. McKay, Esquire 

To the Investment

  Member: 

PNC LIHTC Fund 70, LLC

121 SW Morrison, Suite 1300 

Portland, Oregon 97204 

Attention:  Asset Manager 

Telephone:  [___________] 

Facsimile:  [_________] 

Email:  [_____________] 

with a copy to: Kutak Rock LLLP

1650 Farnam Street 

Omaha, Nebraska 68102 

Attention:  Winifred Hawkins, Esquire 

Telephone:  (402) 231-8832 

Facsimile:  [_________] 

Email:  winifred.hawkins@kutakrock.com 

The Compliance 

Monitoring Agent: 

Seltzer Management Group, Inc.

17633 Ashley Drive 

Panama City Beach, Florida 32413 

Attention: [Ben Johnson] 

Telephone: (850) 233-3616 

Telecopier: (850) 233-1429 



12 

16. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement among 

the Issuer, the Compliance Monitoring Agent, the Trustee and the Borrower as to the subject 

matter hereof, and all prior agreements, negotiations and understandings with respect thereto 

are merged into and superseded by this Agreement. 

[SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW] 



S-1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed in their 

respective names by their duly authorized representatives as of the day and year first set forth 

above. 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company, its Managing Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, 

LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole 

Member 

By:_______________________ 

Name: W. Daniel Hughes, Jr. 

Title:_____________________ 

[Compliance Monitoring Agreement – Desert Silver Project]



S-2 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY  

[SEAL]  By:   ________________________________ 

Name:  William I. Gulliford, III 

Title:  Chair 

[Compliance Monitoring Agreement – Desert-Silver Project]



S-3 

SELTZER MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC., 

a Florida corporation 

By:   

Print:  Ben Johnson 

Title:  President 

[Compliance Monitoring Agreement – Desert-Silver Project]



S-4 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON 

TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Trustee 

By:   

Name:  Michele R. Noel 

Title:  Vice President and  

           Senior Transaction Manager 

[Compliance Monitoring Agreement – Desert-Silver Project]



A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

[TO COME.] 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

EXHIBIT F 

FORM OF CONSTRUCTION AND LOAN SERVICING AGREEMENT 

 



1 

CONSTRUCTION AND LOAN SERVICING AGREEMENT 

(DESERT-SILVER PROJECT) 

This CONSTRUCTION AND LOAN SERVICING AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is 

made as of December 1, 2018, by and among the JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY a public body corporate and politic duly created and existing under the laws of 

the State of Florida (the "Issuer"), SELTZER MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC. (the "Issuer 

Servicer"), THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., a national 

banking association, with a representative office located in Jacksonville, Florida, as trustee 

under the below-described Indenture (in such capacity, the "Trustee"), and LRC DESERT-

SILVER, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (the "Borrower"). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, all capitalized terms in this Agreement not otherwise defined shall have the 

meanings set forth in the Loan Agreement (hereinafter defined) and the Indenture (hereinafter 

defined); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has been created and organized pursuant to and in accordance 

with the provisions of Chapter 159, Part IV, Florida Statutes, as amended (the "Act"), for the 

purpose, among others, of financing the costs of residential developments that will provide 

decent, safe and sanitary housing for persons or families of low, moderate or middle income in 

Duval County, Florida (the "County"); and 

WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the Issuer; (a) to make loans to finance residential 

developments located within the State, and intended to be occupied by persons or families of 

low, moderate and middle income; (b) to issue revenue bonds for the purpose of obtaining 

monies to make such loans and provide such financing and to pay administrative costs and 

other costs incurred in connection with the issuance of such bonds; and (c) pledge all or any 

part of the revenues and receipts to be received by the Issuer from or in connection with such 

loans, and to mortgage, pledge or grant security interests in such loans in order to secure the 

payment of the principal or redemption price of and interest on such bonds; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to resolutions of the Issuer adopted on June 18, 2018 and 

November 28, 2018, the Issuer has authorized, approved and issued $22,000,000 aggregate 

principal amount of its Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue 

Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 (the "Bonds"); and 

WHEREAS, the Bonds are being issued pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated as of 

December 1, 2018, by and between the Issuer and the Trustee (the "Indenture"); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to its lawful authority under the Act, the Issuer and the Borrower 

have entered into that certain Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 2018 (the "Loan 



2 

Agreement"), by the terms of which Loan Agreement the Issuer has agreed to loan the proceeds 

of the Bonds to the Borrower (the "Loan") for the purpose of providing funds to acquire, 

rehabilitate and equip multifamily residential developments located on property within Duval 

County, Florida, to be known as Desert Winds and Silver Creek Apartments (the 

"Development"); and 

WHEREAS, the Loan will be secured by that certain promissory note in the principal 

amount of $22,000,000 dated as of December 1, 2018 (the "Note"); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer intends to assign the Note and other instruments securing 

repayment of the Note, to the Trustee; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer Servicer has represented and warranted that it is duly qualified 

and authorized to engage in the business of administering loans of the type of the Loan referred 

to herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer Servicer shall act as agent of the Issuer in performing certain 

functions under the Loan Documents (as defined below), and shall manage and service the 

Regulatory Agreement (as defined below) on behalf of the Issuer, subject to the terms and 

conditions hereinafter set forth. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, Ten 

Dollars ($10) and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 

hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS.  Capitalized terms used herein and not defined below shall have 

the meanings ascribed to them in the Indenture.  The following definitions shall apply as 

context may require in this Agreement: 

A. "Agreement" – This Construction and Loan Servicing Agreement, as from 

time to time amended, modified or supplemented. 

B. "Architect" – [DNA Workshop]. 

C. "Budget" – The proposed budget for the Improvements which is attached 

hereto as Exhibit "B" and by this reference made a part hereof, which contains a construction 

schedule of the Improvements, as amended in accordance with the terms hereof, including, 

without limitation, amendments resulting from change orders approved in accordance with the 

terms hereof. 

D. "Completion Date" – [_______ __, 20__], unless otherwise extended with 

the written consent of the Lender and the Issuer Servicer. 

E. "Consulting Engineer" – [__________]. 



3 

F. "Construction Contract" – That certain Standard Form of Agreement 

between the Borrower and the Contractor, dated [__________ __, 20__] regarding the 

rehabilitation of the Improvements. 

G. "Contractor" – [Whitestone Construction Group, LLC], a [Florida limited 

liability company], and its successors. 

H. "Costs of the Improvements" – All direct and indirect costs, including 

interest costs, required to be expended by the Borrower to comply with requirements of this 

Agreement, specifically including items set forth in the Budget.  The Cost of the Improvements 

shall include the reasonable cost of labor and materials actually expended or incurred by the 

Borrower and incorporated in the Improvements on the Land, as well as interest costs and 

issuance costs and fees associated with the closing of the Loan and the issuance of the Bonds 

(excluding any fees and profit of the Borrower), and include materials stored on the Land. 

I. "Development" – The real property described in Exhibit "A", which is 

attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof, and the Improvements. 

J. "Events of Default" – Those events of default as defined in Paragraph 18 

of this Agreement. 

K. "Force Majeure" – An act of God, strikes, lockouts, act of public enemy, 

lightning, fire, storm, flood, or any other cause of delay beyond the reasonable control of the 

party claiming the applicability of the Force Majeure doctrine (financial inability excepted). 

L. "Improvements" – All improvements described in the plans for the 

Development (the "Plans and Specifications") and all additions and equipment reasonably 

necessary to rehabilitate, equip, renovate, operate and rent the Development, including all 

amenities. Without limiting the foregoing, the term Improvements shall include all landscaping, 

walls, drives, approaches, sidewalks, curbs, paving and all chattels, furniture, furnishings and 

equipment described in the Plans. 

M. "Inspecting Engineer" – [_______________]. 

N. "Land" – The real property described in Exhibit "A", which is attached 

hereto and by this reference made a part hereof. 

O. "Lender" – Highland Commercial Mortgage. 

P. "Loan" – The loan contemplated by the Loan Agreement in an original 

amount of $[_____________].  

Q. "Loan Documents" – Collectively, this Agreement, the Note, the Loan 

Agreement, the Regulatory Agreement and the Indenture and all other documents and 

instruments evidencing, securing or guaranteeing payment of the Loan, or any portion thereof. 



4 

R. "Manager" – [LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC], as manager of the Borrower. 

S. "Plans and Specifications" – The final plans and specifications for the 

Improvements heretofore approved by the Issuer and the Inspecting Engineer or their 

respective agents together with any and all amendments and modifications thereto made with 

the approval of the Issuer or its agent or otherwise in accordance with the terms hereof.  (It is 

understood that the Plans and Specifications shall be construed in such manner so that any 

works, structures or parts thereof mentioned or shown in the Plans and Specifications and not 

mentioned or shown in the specifications, or vice versa, are to be constructed and erected as if 

they were in fact reflected in the Plans and Specifications.) 

T. "Regulatory Agreement" – The Land Use Restriction Agreement, dated as 

of December 1, 2018, by and among the Issuer, the Trustee and the Borrower. 

U. "State" – The State of Florida. 

2. TERM.  This Agreement shall continue from the earlier of the date of this 

Agreement or from the date the Issuer Servicer shall begin servicing the Loan for the Issuer 

until occurrence of the first of the following events: 

A. The Loan shall be paid in full. 

B. Termination of this Agreement as to the Issuer Servicer, with or without 

cause, pursuant to Paragraph 16 hereof. 

C. Assignment of all right, title and interest of the Issuer to a third party 

which terminates the interests of the Issuer. 

3. SERVICING.  The Issuer Servicer shall perform the services of the Issuer 

Servicer provided for in the Loan Documents. 

A. Construction Servicing.  During the period of rehabilitation of the 

Improvements, the Issuer Servicer and/or its contractor shall be responsible for monitoring the 

progress of the rehabilitation work on behalf of the Issuer as follows: 

1. The Issuer Servicer and/or its contractor shall attend all draw 

meetings, if any, and represent the Issuer with respect to approving all construction draws.  The 

Issuer Servicer shall approve the draw only if all documents are appropriate, accurate and 

supported by proper documentation in accordance with the plans, specifications and 

construction contract. 

2. The Issuer Servicer and/or its contractor shall make site visits 

sufficient to verify that the work is being performed in accordance with the plans, 

specifications, this Agreement and other construction documents.  This includes (a) verifying 

the quality of the work and the materials incorporated therein, (b) determining that the 



5 

Architect is providing proper inspections of the Development in accordance with its contract, 

(c) notifying appropriate parties if the Issuer Servicer becomes aware that any unhealthful or 

unsafe condition exists at the Development, (d) comparing waivers of and lien of materialmen 

and affidavits of contractor and subcontractor with Notice-to-Owner forms, and verifying that 

no payments are being improperly made, and (e) such other monitoring tasks as are customary 

and that minimize risk to the Development. 

3. Provide monthly written reports to the Issuer confirming that all 

of the above are being performed in a manner consistent with the best interest of the project 

provided in sufficient detail to allow a reasonable person to assess the Development's status. 

4. Upon completion of the Improvements, the Issuer Servicer shall 

provide the Issuer with the Architect's Certificate of Substantial Completion. 

B. Permanent Loan Servicing.  Following completion of the Improvements, 

Issuer Servicer shall perform servicing of the Loan as follows: 

1. Establish a separate loan servicing file for the Property.  The file 

shall contain copies of all closing documents pertaining to the Property. 

2. Verify and confirm with quarterly reports to the Issuer (with a 

copy to the Trustee) the sufficiency of all insurance policies as to dollar amounts and the types 

of coverage required by the Issuer.  Establish tickler files for the renewal or anniversary 

premium payment dates of all policies.  In the event of loss, the Issuer Servicer will administer 

the restoration program.   

3. Provide monthly loan servicing reports to the Issuer. 

C. Continuing Duties of the Issuer and the Trustee.  In connection with the 

construction period, the Issuer, the Borrower and the Trustee agree that: 

1. They shall do and perform all things reasonably necessary to 

assist the Issuer Servicer in servicing the Loan. 

2. Borrower shall direct investment of the proceeds of the Bonds in 

accordance with the Indenture in such manner as will insure that such proceeds will be 

available to be disbursed at such reasonable times as proceeds of the Loan are required to be 

disbursed by the Trustee under this Agreement and substantially in accordance with the Draw 

Schedule attached hereto as Exhibit "B" and by this reference made a part hereof. 

4. COLLECTION AND DEPOSIT OF PAYMENTS.  The Issuer Servicer shall 

confirm that the Trustee has received each payment due under the Note, as due, and if not, shall 

assist the Issuer and the Trustee in the enforcement of their rights pursuant to the Loan 

Documents.  The Trustee shall receive each payment made under the Loan Documents and 

shall notify the Issuer Servicer and the Borrower in writing if payment is not made when due.   



6 

5. ADVANCES DURING REHABILITATION.  The Issuer and the Trustee agree 

to make or cause to be made disbursements to the Borrower under the Indenture, the Loan 

Agreement and this Agreement of the proceeds of the Bonds in accordance with the Indenture, 

the Loan Agreement, the Budget, and in accordance with and subject to the procedures set forth 

below. The Budget may be amended by the Issuer Servicer from time to time, upon the written 

request of the Borrower; approval of such requests shall not be unreasonably withheld or 

delayed. 

A. Requisition Request (the "Requisition Request") to be submitted to the 

Trustee, the Lender, and the Issuer Servicer: 

(1) At such time as the Borrower shall desire to obtain an advance (an 

"Advance"), the Borrower shall complete, execute and deliver a Requisition Request, in 

the form as provided for in the Indenture, to the Lender and the Issuer Servicer.  Each 

Requisition Request submitted by Borrower to obtain an advance under the Loan shall 

be signed by an authorized signatory of the Borrower.  The Borrower shall not submit 

any Requisition Request to the Trustee until it has been approved by the Lender and the 

Issuer Servicer, and each Advance by the Trustee of the proceeds of the Bonds shall be 

subject to the prior approval of the Requisition Request by the Lender and the Issuer 

Servicer and to the other conditions precedent set forth in the Indenture and the Loan 

Agreement.  Requisition Requests should be submitted to the Trustee without 

attachments, except as provided in the Indenture and the Loan Agreement.  The Issuer 

Servicer shall approve or object to any Requisition Request within ten (10) Business 

Days of its submission together with all additional information required in connection 

with such Advance.  If the Issuer Servicer neither approves nor objects within such time, 

its approval shall be deemed given; in such instances, the Issuer Servicer must sign the 

Requisition Request by the tenth (10th) Business Day and forward it, as if it had been 

approved.  The Lender shall endeavor to approve or object to any Requisition Request 

within ten (10) Business Days of its submission, together with all additional information 

required in connection with such Advance, but shall require at least two (2) Business 

Days after its receipt of the Issuer Servicer's approval before approving or objecting to 

the Requisition Request.  Failure to approve a Requisition Request on the part of the 

Lender within such time shall not be deemed to be an approval of the Lender and under 

no circumstances shall the Trustee disburse a Requisition Request unless signed by the 

Lender. 

(2) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer Servicer shall not have the 

right to withhold its approval of any Requisition Request approved by the Lender 

unless, in the opinion of the Issuer Servicer, such Requisition Request would violate the 

terms of the Loan Documents, if such Requisition Request (1) (i) has been approved by 

the Consulting Engineer, (ii) complies with the Budget, as amended in accordance with 

the terms of the Loan Documents, (iii) is for work that is in substantial accordance with 

the Plans and Specifications, and (iv) is accompanied by lien waivers with respect to the 

prior Requisition Request or by evidence that any liens which have been filed or for 



7 

which notices of filing have been sent have been bonded to the satisfaction of the Title 

Company, or (2) if not approved, would jeopardize the coverage afforded by any 

Payment and Performance Bond.  In addition, the Issuer Servicer shall not unreasonably 

withhold its approval of any Requisition Request otherwise approved by the Lender.  In 

the event the Issuer Servicer withholds its approval of a Requisition Request which does 

not meet the requirements of subsections (1) and (2) of this paragraph, but which has 

otherwise been approved by the Lender, no funds shall be advanced for the disputed 

items (however, funds allocable to the items on such Requisition Request which are not 

disputed shall be available to be advanced) and the Lender and the Issuer Servicer shall 

submit the dispute to binding arbitration by a mutually acceptable single arbitrator 

selected by the Lender and the Issuer Servicer and experienced in the type of 

construction contemplated in this Agreement.  The Lender and the Issuer Servicer shall 

use all reasonable efforts to complete such arbitration proceedings and obtain a decision 

within thirty (30) days.   

B. The Issuer Servicer shall review each Requisition for compliance with this 

Agreement, the Regulatory Agreement, draw schedule, budgets and time lines and all other 

Loan Documents; for compliance with the Plans and all legal requirements; and for compliance 

with the customary and usual construction and on disbursement practices for the geographical 

area in which the Property is located. 

(1) Where the Requisition Request includes amounts to be paid to the 

Contractor, such Requisition Request shall be accompanied by forms the same as or 

similar to AIA Form G702 and G703, to be reviewed and approved by the Issuer Servicer 

and executed by the Contractor and the Architect. 

(2) Where the Requisition Request relates to items other than payments for 

work performed under the Construction Contract or a subcontract, there shall be 

included a statement of the purpose for which the advance is desired and/or invoices for 

the same, as the Issuer Servicer shall reasonably require. 

(3) The Requisition Request shall be subject to the Inspecting Engineer 

verifying that the work has been accomplished in substantial accordance with the Plans 

so as to entitle the Borrower to the disbursement required. 

(4) The Issuer shall retain from each Requisition Request a sum equal to ten 

percent (10%) of the amount of each Requisition Request (less any soft costs which shall 

be fully funded) as retainage.  The Requisition Request shall specify the amount of 

retainage.  Upon completion of fifty percent (50%) of the Improvements (as certified by 

the Inspecting Engineer) no further retainage shall be withheld from subsequent 

requisitions.  All retainage shall be released when the Improvements are one hundred 

percent (100%) complete and all conditions of paragraph G herein have been met.  The 

final payment of any balance due the Contractor or any subcontractor (including 

materialman or suppliers within the term "subcontractor") shall be made after full and 



8 

final completion subject to punch list of the work on the Improvements being done by 

the Contractor or such subcontractor, as certified by the Borrower, the Issuer Servicer 

and the Inspecting Engineer, and delivery to the Issuer Servicer of a final mechanic's lien 

waiver and the other documents required in subparagraph G hereof, in a form 

reasonably approved by the Issuer Servicer and its counsel, at the time of final 

disbursement. 

C. Non-Acceptance of Work.  It is specifically understood and agreed that 

the making of any advance or advances, or part of any advance, shall not be construed as an 

approval or acceptance by the Issuer and the Trustee of the work theretofore done. 

D. Notice, Frequency and Place of Disbursements.  Each Requisition Request 

shall be submitted to the Issuer Servicer at least ten (10) business days prior to the date of the 

requested advance; disbursements shall be made no more frequently than monthly at the 

principal office of Trustee or at such other place as Trustee may designate.  The provisions of 

this Paragraph shall not restrict the ability of the Trustee to make interest payments in 

accordance with the Indenture. 

E. If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and all applicable 

cure periods have expired, the Trustee (at the direction of the Issuer but only with the written 

consent of the Lender) may make any or all advances for construction expenses directly to the 

Contractor for deposit in an appropriately designated special bank account and the execution of 

this Agreement by the Borrower shall, and hereby does, constitute an irrevocable authorization 

so to advance the proceeds of the Loan, subject, however, to the applicable provisions of this 

Agreement including, but not limited to the Lender's approval of all advances.  No further 

authorization from the Borrower shall be necessary to warrant such direct advances to 

Contractor and all such advances shall satisfy pro tanto the obligations of the Issuer and the 

Trustee hereunder and shall be secured by the Note as fully as if made directly to the Borrower. 

F. All advances or parts of advances including the initial advance will be 

made subject to the approval of the Issuer Servicer and to the following conditions precedent as 

to each advance (each of which the Borrower covenants to fulfill), satisfaction of which shall be 

evidenced by the Issuer Servicer's approval: 

(1) That the Borrower has fully complied with all of the provisions of the 

Loan Documents and is entitled to such advance, it being understood that the making of 

any advance or portion thereof when the Borrower is not so entitled will not constitute 

waiver of such compliance and that no event has occurred and is continuing which 

constitutes a "Default" or an "Event of Default" under any Loan Document. 

(2) That the Improvements have been constructed substantially in 

accordance with the Plans and all legal requirements, and that the Inspecting Engineer 

has made an inspection of and approves the work completed as represented in the 

current Requisition Request. 



9 

(3) That the Issuer Servicer has been furnished with an affidavit executed by 

an authorized representative of the Borrower or its agent as to whether or not the 

Borrower has been served with written notice that a lien may be claimed for any 

amounts unpaid for materials furnished or labor performed by any person, firm, entity 

or corporation furnishing materials or performing labor of any kind in the construction 

or installation of any of the Improvements.  The date and manner of service shall be 

stated in such affidavit and a true and correct copy of each such notice shall be attached 

to the affidavit. 

(4) That the Borrower has procured or will procure verified and proper 

mechanic's lien waivers and receipted bills or receipts from the Contractor, any 

subcontractor or materialmen in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer or the Issuer 

Servicer, showing payment of all parties who have furnished materials or performed 

labor of any kind pertaining to the construction or installation of any of the 

Improvements through the date of the previous disbursement.  The Issuer, the Trustee, 

and the Issuer Servicer shall not be required nor be responsible to ascertain that any 

such bills are, in fact, paid.  In the event a lien has been filed against the Land, the Issuer 

Servicer shall require such lien to be satisfied or bonded before approving a Requisition 

Request.   

(5) That the Borrower has furnished the Issuer Servicer reasonably 

satisfactory evidence that the undisbursed proceeds of the Loan together with projected 

earnings on invested funds under the Indenture and other identifiable funds available to 

the Borrower, including but not limited to capital contributions made or to be made 

under the Borrower's operating agreement will be sufficient to pay the cost of 

completing the Improvements (other than the deferred developer fee and other deferred 

fees to parties related to the Borrower) as required by the Loan Documents. 

(6) That the Improvements are not being constructed in violation of the 

Regulatory Agreement or any covenants, restrictions, codes, or zoning ordinances 

affecting the Land. 

(7) That the Borrower and/or the Contractor have caused the Issuer Servicer 

to be provided with a list of all subcontractors and materialmen to be used on the 

Property, to be updated with each Requisition Request, and copies, certified by the 

Borrower and/or the Contractor to be true and correct, of all the contracts or 

subcontracts for all labor, material, equipment and furnishings to complete the 

Improvements.   

(8) That the Requisition Request is accompanied by a certificate on the part 

of the Architect that the work has been accomplished in substantial accordance with the 

Plans so as to entitle the Borrower to the disbursement requested. 



10 

G. Conditions to Final Advance.  Prior to approving the final advance and 

release of any Retainage being held back hereunder, the Issuer Servicer shall have received 

(those items with * are necessary for releasing Retainage): 

*(1) each of the items specified in the foregoing subparagraphs F(2) through 

(8); 

*(2) such documents, if any, as may be required by the City, as appropriate 

for the issuance of a final certificate of occupancy; 

*(3) a certificate of substantial completion in a form reasonably acceptable to 

the Issuer (the AIA form G704 is acceptable to the Issuer);  

*(4) final lien waivers from all subcontractors and materialmen; 

*(5) an updated "as-built" survey of the Property recertified to the Issuer, the 

Issuer's counsel, the Title Company and the Trustee as of the Completion Date; and 

*(6) a set of "as-built" Plans. 

H. Continuing Duties of the Issuer Servicer after Construction.  Monitor any 

letters of credit or insurance policies issued or received in connection with the Land or the 

Property and do all things or take any actions necessary or appropriate on behalf of the Issuer 

and the Trustee to secure, or cause to be secured, the timely renewal thereof for such periods as 

such items are to be in force and effect by the Loan Documents; provided that the Issuer 

Servicer has received from the Trustee (from funds held under the Indenture available for such 

purpose) from time to time any fees or charges the Issuer Servicer requires to secure payment or 

the timely renewal of such items upon the Borrower's failure to do so.  The Issuer Servicer shall 

provide timely notice to the Trustee and the Borrower of any failure by the Borrower to renew 

within thirty (30) days of expiration any such letters of credit or insurance policies. 

I. The Trustee may rely upon the approval of a Requisition Request by the 

Lender and the Issuer Servicer to establish compliance by the Borrower with subparagraphs A, 

B, E and F above. 

6. COMPENSATION OF THE ISSUER SERVICER.  The Borrower shall provide 

for payment to the Issuer Servicer for the services rendered by the Issuer Servicer hereunder in 

accordance with the following provisions:  

A. Construction Servicing.  The Issuer Servicer Fee is payable directly by the 

Borrower to the Issuer Servicer; (i) during rehabilitation of the Development, (1) an in-house 

review fee of $[______] per hour but not in excess of $[________] per disbursement and (2) an 

on-site inspection fee of $[______] per hour for services rendered but not in excess of $[______] 

per disbursement, and (ii) a fee for extraordinary services with respect to the Development of 

$[______] per hour. 



11 

B. Permanent Servicing.  The annual compensation for permanent loan 

servicing shall be paid semi-annually by the Borrower on each [______] 1 and [______] 1,

commencing upon the issuance of an initial certificate of occupancy, in an amount equal to 2.3 

basis points (0.023%) per annum on the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds, with a 

minimum monthly fee of $[______], payable in arrears beginning [_________] 1, 20[__].  An 

additional fee of $[______] per hour shall be paid by the Borrower for extraordinary permanent 

loan servicing services.  

Any fees not paid by the Borrower may be paid by the Trustee (from amounts available 

under the Indenture) and charged against the Loan unless Borrower gives Trustee notice that 

such fees are disputed. 

C. The Issuer Servicer's right to compensation hereunder (except for 

accrued, unpaid compensation and unreimbursed, previously incurred costs and expenses) for 

servicing the Loan shall cease upon the occurrence of any of the following events: 

1. the Loan shall be paid in full and the Qualified Project Period shall 

have expired; 

2. an Event of Default under the Note or the Loan Agreement; and 

3. notification by the Trustee to the Issuer Servicer that its services or 

this Agreement shall be terminated by the Issuer or the Trustee with the Issuer's consent, with 

or without cause; 

D. Any fees not paid by the Borrower may be deducted from a subsequent 

Requisition. 

7. BUILDER'S RISK AND HAZARD INSURANCE.  The Issuer Servicer shall see 

to it that at all times during the term of this Agreement, all buildings and improvements 

making up the Development are insured, under standard mortgagee clauses, for the benefit of 

the Trustee and the Issuer, against loss or damage by fire and from such other insurable risks 

and hazards, all as more specifically set forth in the Loan Documents.  Subject to the applicable 

provisions of the Loan Documents, fire insurance and extended coverage shall be in an amount 

at least equal to the full replacement value of the Development less applicable deductibles. 

Subject to the applicable provisions of the Loan Documents, in the event of the failure by the 

Borrower to maintain such insurance in full force and effect, and upon the written authorization 

of the Issuer, such insurance shall be maintained by the Issuer Servicer, subject to payment by 

the Trustee, which shall advance necessary funds (from amounts available for such purposes 

pursuant to the Indenture) to the Issuer Servicer, upon request from the Issuer Servicer.  The 

Issuer Servicer shall retain and safely store, service and continually maintain all such policies 

and documents related thereto as are required by this Paragraph.  All insurance coverage 

maintained pursuant to this Paragraph shall be without contribution by the Trustee and shall be 

issued by insurance companies having a general policyholder's rating and financial rating 

acceptable to the Issuer. 



12 

The Borrower shall deliver to the Issuer Servicer copies of ad valorem tax bills and 

hazard insurance premium notices as payment therefor becomes due.  If the Loan Agreement 

provides for escrows of taxes and insurance, the Trustee shall deliver to the Issuer Servicer 

within ten business days after receipt of such tax bills or hazard insurance premiums notices, 

copies of such tax bills and hazard insurance premium notices and a statement setting forth the 

amounts being held by the Trustee for the payment of taxes and hazard insurance.  Thereafter, 

the Issuer Servicer shall deliver to the Trustee a statement setting forth the amounts to be paid 

by the Borrower as a monthly escrow for the payment of taxes and insurance to ensure prompt 

and full payment of such taxes and insurance as they shall become due for the next 12 month 

period, subject in all respects to the applicable provisions of the Indenture and the Loan 

Agreement.  If such escrows are maintained by the Lender, the Issuer Servicer shall obtain 

copies of such bills and evidence of payment from the Lender.

8. REPLACEMENT RESERVES.  In the event the Loan remains Outstanding on 

the first day of the month in which occupancy of the units in the Development is at 90%, as 

determined by the Issuer Servicer, the Borrower shall establish, fund and maintain, a 

replacement reserve fund ("Replacement Reserve Fund") of $[_________] per unit, per year, to 

be deposited with the Trustee or Lender on a monthly basis. 

9. INSURANCE TO BE MAINTAINED BY THE ISSUER SERVICER.  The Issuer 

Servicer shall maintain at all times during the existence of this Agreement, at its own expense, 

blanket fidelity insurance and errors and omissions insurance covering the Issuer Servicer's 

officers and employees and other persons acting on behalf of the Issuer Servicer relating to the 

Issuer Servicer's performance of this Agreement.  All such policies of insurance shall be issued 

by an insurance company, with coverage satisfactory to the Issuer and the Issuer Servicer and 

shall name the Issuer and the Trustee as the insured under said policies.  All premiums for such 

insurance shall be paid by the Issuer Servicer at its own expense as a cost of doing business. 

10. NOTIFICATION TO THE TRUSTEE.  The Issuer Servicer shall promptly notify 

the Issuer, the Borrower, and the Trustee of any of the following which may come to the 

attention of the Issuer Servicer: 

A. Any failure of the Borrower to perform any covenant or obligation, 

applicable to it, under the Loan Documents (of which the Issuer Servicer has knowledge) if such 

failure continues for a period of fifteen (15) days, or lesser period, if so provided in any Loan 

Document. 

B. Abandonment of the Development. 

C. Any lack of repair or the deterioration or waste suffered or committed in 

respect to the Development. 

D. Any other matter which would adversely or materially affect or result in 

diminution of value of the security described herein. 



13 

E. Any loss or damage by fire or any hazard to the property requiring 

repairs costing in excess of FIFTEEN THOUSAND AND 00/100 ($15,000.00) DOLLARS to 

restore the Land of its condition prior to such loss or damage. 

11. DEFAULT OF BORROWER.  The Issuer Servicer shall not at any time, without 

the express written consent of the Issuer and the Trustee, consent to a postponement of 

compliance on the part of the Borrower with any of the terms and provisions of the Loan 

Agreement or any other Loan Document relating to the Loan, or in any manner grant an 

extension or waiver to the Borrower, subject to the applicable provisions of the Indenture and 

Loan Agreement.  

12. FORECLOSURE.  The Issuer Servicer, acting for and on behalf of the Issuer, in 

the case of any Event of Default under the Loan Documents shall, subject to the terms of the 

Loan and the Indenture, as applicable, proceed in accordance with the Indenture.  The Issuer 

Servicer shall be reimbursed for any of its costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, 

reasonable legal fees, title search charges, and the Issuer Servicer's extraordinary servicing fees 

incurred in connection with any action taken by the Issuer Servicer acting upon the direction 

and written authorization of the Trustee, the Issuer or the Lender under any foreclosure 

proceeding as to the Development.  This Paragraph does not impose upon the Issuer Servicer 

the duty to advance funds for the purposes referred to herein unless such funds have been 

provided, in advance, to the Issuer Servicer by the Trustee from the proceeds of the Bonds or 

other funds available for such purpose. 

13. REPRESENTATIONS OF THE ISSUER SERVICER.  The Issuer Servicer 

covenants, warrants and represents to the Issuer and the Borrower as follows: 

A. The Issuer Servicer is a duly organized corporation under the laws of the 

State and is in good standing in such jurisdiction; that it is authorized to execute, deliver and 

perform this Agreement and all other documents and agreements required hereunder, and in so 

doing, that it will not violate any law, any provision of its charter or bylaws or any other 

agreement of instrument binding upon it. 

B. The Issuer Servicer shall comply with all applicable laws and the 

provisions of the Loan Documents. 

C. The Issuer Servicer shall cause any funds advanced to the Issuer Servicer 

by the Trustee under this Agreement to be deposited with a financial institution the deposits of 

which are insured by FDIC or by any successor agency or instrumentality of the United States 

government; and will cause such financial institution to designate said funds as escrow funds 

for the benefit of the Trustee; and will cause such financial institution of execute an agreement 

providing that it will not exercise any powers of right of offset or banker's lien against such 

escrow funds. 

D. The Issuer Servicer hereby waives and releases any lien or encumbrances 

which it might at any time have or be able to claim against any property or funds held by the 



14 

Trustee or the Issuer, except monies on deposit in the Administration Fund (or similar account 

under the Indenture) and available for such payment under the Indenture. 

14. BORROWER'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.  As of the Closing 

Date, and thereafter, the Borrower represents and warrants to the Issuer, the Trustee and the 

Issuer Servicer as follows: 

A. Valid Existence.  That it is a duly organized and validly existing limited 

liability company in good standing under the laws of the State, with full power and authority to 

consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. 

B. Unencumbered Land.  That the Borrower is indefeasibly seized of a fee 

simple title in the Land and has full power and lawful right to mortgage the same, and that the 

Land is free and clear of all encumbrances, except current taxes and assessments which are not 

yet due and payable. 

C. No Mechanic's Liens.  That no materials of any kind have been placed on 

the Land by anyone, and no work or labor has been performed, thereon that has not been paid 

for; there are no unpaid bills for labor, materials, supplies or services furnished upon the Land; 

and no notice of commencement or claim of lien affecting the Land or the Improvements has 

been filed in the public records of the County which has not been provided to and approved by 

the Issuer.   

D. Plans and Specifications Approved.  Except as provided in the next 

succeeding sentence, by the date of commencement of rehabilitation, the Plans and 

Specifications shall have been approved by the Issuer Servicer and the Inspecting Engineer on 

behalf of the Issuer, and to the extent required by applicable law or any effective restrictive 

covenant, by all governmental authorities having jurisdiction thereover and the beneficiary of 

any such covenant, respectively.   

E. Utilities.  That all utilities services necessary for the rehabilitation of the 

Improvements and the operation thereof for their intended purpose, are or will be available 

prior to commencement of rehabilitation for the use of the Borrower at the Land, including 

water supply, storm and sanitary sewer facilities, electric, and telephone services. 

F. Access.  That adequate vehicular, pedestrian and utility access for 

reasonably direct ingress, egress and service, to and from the Land from publicly owned and 

maintained paved roadways are or will be available when needed at the Land. 

G. Licenses and Permits.  That all necessary licenses and permits will be 

obtained as soon as each is reasonably obtainable so as to permit the rehabilitation and 

completion of the Improvements, and operation of the Development. 

H. Labor and Materials.  That all labor and materials contracted for or 

utilized in connection with the rehabilitation of the Improvements shall be used and employed 



15 

solely on the Land and in said rehabilitation and shall be substantially in accordance with the 

Plans and Specifications. 

I. Monies in Trust.  That the monies disbursed under this Agreement shall 

constitute a trust fund and shall be used solely for the payment of the Costs of the 

Improvements and for no other purpose, unless another use is specifically provided for in this 

Agreement or another Loan Document, or is consented to in writing by the Issuer and Trustee 

prior to any such usage. 

J. No Suits Pending.  That there are no actions, suits, or proceedings 

pending, or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against or affecting it or the Land at 

law or in equity, or before or by any governmental authority except actions, suits and 

proceedings fully covered by insurance or which, if adversely determined, would not 

substantially impair the ability of the Borrower to pay when due any amounts which may 

become payable in respect to the Loan Agreement; and to the Borrower's knowledge it is not in 

default with respect to any order, writ, injunction, decree or demand of any court or any 

governmental authority. 

K. No Violation of Agreements.  That the consummation of the transactions 

hereby contemplated and performance of this Agreement will not result in any breach of, or 

constitute default under, any mortgage, lease, bank loan or credit agreement, corporate charter, 

bylaws, partnership agreement, operating agreement, joint venture agreement, or other 

instrument to which the Borrower or its Manager are a party or by which they may be bound or 

affected. 

L. No Event of Default Under Loan Agreement.  That no Event of Default 

presently exists under the Note, the Loan Agreement, this Agreement or any other Loan 

Document, and no event has occurred and is continuing which with notice or the passage of 

time or either would constitute a default under the Note, the Loan Agreement or this 

Agreement or any other Loan Document. 

M. No Financial Impediments.  That Borrower has no known or contingent 

liabilities, and no material financial obligations under other agreements to which Borrower is a 

party or by which the Land is bound other than those obligations incurred with regard to the 

acquisition of the Land or in the ordinary course of the operation of the Development and those 

obligations arising out of or specified in the Loan Documents, and the Borrower's operating 

agreement. 

N. Continuing Warranties.  That each of the representations and warranties 

set forth in this Paragraph will be true on the date of each Advance and the acceptance of any 

Advance by the Borrower shall be deemed to be a reaffirmation of each and every one of said 

representations and warranties. 



16 

15. COVENANTS OF THE BORROWER.  As of the Closing Date, and thereafter, 

the Borrower covenants and agrees with the Issuer, the Trustee and the Issuer Servicer as 

follows: 

A. Survey.  The Borrower shall forthwith, and prior to the initial 

disbursement of any funds hereunder, furnish to the Issuer Servicer, at the Borrower's expense, 

a current survey, which survey shall be satisfactory to the Issuer Servicer, and which survey 

shall locate all recorded restrictions and easements by recording references.  Such survey shall 

be made by a civil engineer or surveyor reasonably acceptable to the Issuer Servicer and the 

Issuer and shall be paid for by the Borrower and shall be on a form and contain such matters as 

may reasonably be required by the Issuer Servicer and the Issuer. 

B. Insurance.  The Borrower shall furnish and pay, or cause to be furnished 

and paid, the premiums for fire and extended coverage insurance as well as insurance against 

such other hazards (i) as required under the Loan Agreement, or (ii) if greater, as may be 

reasonably required by the Issuer and the Issuer Servicer, including flood insurance if required, 

with a company or companies meeting the reasonable requirements of the Issuer, said policies 

to be in full replacement value of the Improvements and covering the same, said policies to be 

in such amount, in such form and with such deductibles as are reasonably acceptable to the 

Issuer and the Issuer Servicer.  Loss under such insurance policies shall be payable in 

accordance with the relevant provisions of the Loan Documents and said policies shall provide 

that they shall not be cancelable without at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice by the 

insurer to the Trustee and the Issuer.  The Borrower shall also furnish at the Borrower's expense, 

or cause to be furnished, such workers' compensation insurance as may be reasonably required 

by law.  Evidence of the foregoing shall be provided to the Trustee prior to the initial 

disbursement of funds. All insurance policies identified herein shall be renewed at least twenty 

(20) days prior to expiration with notice of renewal provided the Trustee.  The provisions herein 

are intended to be consistent with and to impose the same insurance obligations as set forth in 

the Loan Agreement. 

C. Construction in Workmanlike Manner.  The Borrower shall rehabilitate, 

or cause to be rehabilitated, the Improvements on the Land in a true, thorough and 

workmanlike manner and in substantial accordance with the Plans and Specifications.  The 

Borrower shall provide, or cause to be provided, at the Borrower's cost, all manner of materials, 

labor, scaffolding, implements and other items of every description as are required for the 

complete rehabilitation of the Improvements.  The Borrower shall not make any material 

changes in the Plans and Specifications or materially deviate therefrom, except with the prior 

written consent of the Issuer and the Issuer Servicer which approval will not be unreasonably 

withheld or delayed and except with respect to change orders that do not require the consent of 

the Issuer or the Issuer Servicer pursuant to Section 17D.  The question of materiality will be 

solely and reasonably decided by the Issuer or the Issuer Servicer in light of the Plans and 

Specifications submitted, existing building standards and the public purpose of the 

Development. 



17 

D. Lien Releases.  The Borrower shall furnish all receipted bills, certificates, 

affidavits, receipts, releases of lien, approved Bonds and any other documents which may be 

required or allowed by the lien laws of the State, or which may be reasonably required by the 

Issuer, the Issuer Servicer or the Trustee, as evidence of full payment or acceptable bond for all 

labor and materials incident to the rehabilitation of the Improvements, and will promptly 

secure the release (except for liens which are the subject of a bond as herein described) of the 

Land from any and all liens that might be imposed thereon.  The Borrower specifically reserves 

the right to contest any such liens, provided such liens are properly transferred to a surety bond 

or cash deposit in accordance with Florida law. 

E. Compliance with Loan Agreement.  The Borrower shall comply with and 

perform each and every one of the provisions, terms, conditions, requirements and 

contingencies embodied in the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents and shall 

execute all instruments required to completely comply with and perform the same, and shall 

abide by, complete and carry out all of the Borrower's representations, proposals and 

commitments made in the Loan Documents. 

F. No Further Encumbrances.  The Borrower will not convey, encumber or 

impose a security interest on its interest in the Land or the Improvements in any way without 

the consent of the Issuer and the Trustee, nor shall the Borrower assign any rights under this 

Agreement or any advance or portion of any advance to be made hereunder without the 

Issuer's and the Trustee's prior written consent.  All proposed easements affecting the Land 

shall be submitted to the Issuer Servicer for its reasonable approval prior to the execution 

thereof by the Borrower and shall be accompanied by a drawing or survey adequate to show 

the proposed location thereof. 

G. Right of Entry.  The Borrower will permit the Issuer, the Trustee and the 

Issuer Servicer and their authorized employees, agents or representatives to enter upon the 

Land after reasonable prior notice during normal business hours, to inspect the Improvements 

and all materials to be used in the rehabilitation thereof, and to examine all detailed plans and 

shop drawings which are or may be kept at the construction site and all books and records of 

the Borrower and the Contractor relating to the Land, and will cooperate and cause the 

Contractor to cooperate with the Issuer, the Trustee and/or the Issuer Servicer and their 

representatives to enable them to perform their functions hereunder.  It is expressly agreed that 

any inspection made by the Issuer, the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer or their representatives 

shall be made solely and exclusively for the protection and benefit of each of them and neither 

the Borrower nor any third party shall be entitled to claim any loss or damage either against the 

Issuer, the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer or its employees, agents or representatives for failure to 

properly discharge any alleged duties of the Issuer, the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer and they 

shall have no duty to make such inspections. 

H. Correct Non-Complying Work.  The Borrower agrees that it will cause to 

be corrected at no cost to the Issuer, the Trustee, or the Issuer Servicer, any work performed and 

replace any material that does not substantially comply with the Plans and Specifications. 



18 

I. Additional Documents.  The Borrower agrees to execute any and all such 

other and further instruments as may reasonably be required by the Issuer or Trustee from time 

to time in order to carry out the provisions of this Agreement, the Loan Documents or for the 

purpose of protecting, maintaining, or enforcing the Issuer's and the Trustee's security for the 

Loan. 

J. Insufficiency of Loan Proceeds.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing by 

the Issuer and the Issuer Servicer, the Borrower covenants, warrants and agrees that it will 

provide from its own funds such amounts as may be necessary to pay for all Costs of the 

Improvements which are in excess of the disbursements required to be made by the Trustee 

hereunder and other available and identified funds (as approved by the Issuer Servicer), and in 

the event of any default hereunder (subject to any applicable notice and cure periods), the 

Issuer Servicer shall not be required to approve any disbursement hereunder if the undisbursed 

proceeds of the Loan together with all other available and identified funds shall be less than the 

amount necessary to pay for the completion of the Improvements.  If the Issuer or the Issuer 

Servicer at any time determine in their reasonable judgment from any certification, report, cost 

projection, work stoppage, price or wage change or from any other source or for any reason, 

that the Cost of the Improvements will exceed those costs and projections estimated by the 

Borrower or the Issuer and certified to the Issuer Servicer from time to time, and that the 

undisbursed proceeds of the Loan (plus any and all funds of the Borrower deposited with the 

Trustee together with all other available and identified funds) shall be less than the amount 

necessary, in the Issuer's or the Issuer Servicer's reasonable judgment, to pay for all work done 

or to be done and all other expenses for completion of the Improvements, or that any amount 

specified in the Budget may be less than the amount necessary (taking into account all other 

available and identified funds which are so approved by the Issuer Servicer), in the Issuer's or 

the Issuer Servicer's reasonable judgment, to pay for all work done or to be done and all 

expenses incurred or to be incurred in connection with the Improvements, then in such event, 

the Trustee shall, if directed by the Issuer, withhold further disbursements to the Borrower until 

the Borrower shall have provided a sufficient plan to pay for all work done or to be done and 

expenses incurred or to be incurred in connection with the Improvements, to the reasonable 

satisfaction of the Issuer, including but not limited to the requirement that collateral sufficient to 

cover such costs be posted with or for the benefit of the Trustee. 

K. Construction Contract.  Except as otherwise provided herein with respect 

to change orders that do not require consent, the Borrower shall not amend the Construction 

Contract in any manner without the prior written consent of the Issuer, the Lender and the 

Issuer Servicer. 

16. TERMINATION. 

A. By the Trustee.  The Trustee, with the consent of the Issuer, shall have the 

right to terminate the Issuer Servicer's rights and obligations under this Agreement, without 

cause, upon ten (10) days' written notice to the Issuer Servicer, and with cause, upon such 

written notice as the Issuer deems reasonable under the circumstances. 



19 

B. Automatic Termination.  Upon the occurrence of any one or more of the 

following events, the Issuer Servicer's rights and obligations under this Agreement shall be 

automatically terminated: 

(1) The Issuer Servicer shall assign or attempt to assign its rights or 

obligations under this Agreement. 

(2) The Issuer Servicer shall institute proceedings for voluntary 

bankruptcy or shall file a petition seeking reorganization under the Federal Bankruptcy Laws or 

for relief under any other law for the relief of debtors or shall consent to the appointment of a 

receiver of all or substantially all of its property, or make a general assignment for the benefits 

of its creditors, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due, or shall 

be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction, or if an order shall be 

made by a court of competent jurisdiction appointing a receiver, liquidator or trustee of the 

Issuer Servicer or of all or substantially all of its property or approving any petition filed against 

the Issuer Servicer for its reorganization, and such adjudication or order shall remain in force or 

unstayed for a period of thirty (30) days. 

(3) The Issuer Servicer shall fail to perform any of its obligations 

hereunder and shall fail, within thirty (30) days after written notice from the Trustee or the 

Issuer, to correct or cure such failure. 

(4) The Bonds shall be redeemed. 

(5) The amounts owed by the Borrower under the Loan Documents 

are paid in full. 

C. Effect of Termination.  In the event this Agreement is terminated 

pursuant to this Section 16, then the rights and obligations of the Issuer Servicer and its right to 

compensation hereunder shall immediately terminate, the Issuer Servicer shall forthwith deliver 

to the Issuer or to whomever the Issuer directs, all documents relating to the Loan and shall do 

such other acts as may reasonably be required by the Issuer to facilitate the termination hereof. 

D. Termination of Rights and Duties of Issuer Servicer.  Upon termination of 

the rights and duties of the Issuer Servicer hereunder, the Trustee and the Borrower shall join 

the Issuer in entering into a substantially similar agreement with a replacement Issuer Servicer 

designated by the Issuer. 

17. AGREEMENTS RELATING TO CONTRACTORS. 

A. Rights Inferior.  Neither the Trustee nor the Issuer shall be liable to 

materialmen, contractors, subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, laborers, suppliers or others for 

goods or services delivered by them in or upon the Land or employed in the rehabilitation of 

the Improvements, or for any debts or claims accruing to any of said parties against the 

Borrower or against the Land, and it is distinctly understood and agreed that there is no 



20 

contractual relationship, either express or implied, between either the Issuer, the Trustee or the 

Issuer Servicer and any materialmen, contractors, sub-contractors, sub-subcontractors, 

craftsmen, laborers or any person supplying any work, labor or material.  The Borrower is not, 

and shall not be, the agent of either the Issuer, the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer for any 

purpose, nor shall any of them be the agent of Borrower for any purpose, except, as to both, as 

may be specifically set forth herein.  It is specifically understood and agreed that no party shall 

be a third party beneficiary hereunder, except and unless it is specifically provided herein that 

any provision shall operate or inure to the use and benefit of a party, i.e., no subcontractor, sub-

subcontractor or materialman, laborer or supplier shall have any rights hereunder against the 

Issuer, the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer or be entitled to the protection of any of the covenants 

herein contained. 

B. Borrower's Rights Assigned.  The Borrower hereby assigns to the Issuer 

and Trustee, effective, however, only after an Event of Default and the expiration of applicable 

cure periods, all rights of the Borrower under its contract with the Contractor and under its 

contract with the Architect, and the Issuer or the Trustee shall have the option after an Event of 

Default, and the expiration of applicable cure periods, in its sole discretion and in addition to 

any other rights and remedies the Issuer or the Trustee may have, to exercise their rights under 

this assignment.  Nothing herein shall be construed, however, to require the Issuer or the 

Trustee to exercise any rights under this Paragraph. 

C. No Other Contracts.  Except for items set forth and approved by the 

Issuer Servicer in the Budget, the Borrower represents that it has not and agrees that it will not 

enter into any significant contract or agreement (in excess of $50,000) relating to the 

rehabilitation, purchase or installation of the Improvements other than the contracts with the 

property manager, the Developer, the Architect and the Contractor and a contract with its 

surveyors or engineers, nor will the Borrower agree to any material modification or amendment 

in its contract with the property manager, the Contractor or the Architect without first obtaining 

the Issuer Servicer's written approval of and consent to such contract, agreement or 

amendment, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed for more than five 

(5) days after receipt of said notice.  

D. Change Orders.  The Borrower covenants and warrants that any change 

order of $25,000 or more, or $50,000 in the aggregate, shall require the prior written approval of 

the Issuer Servicer, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer Servicer shall be provided with copies of all change 

orders, regardless of amount.  Change orders that do not require the consent of the Issuer 

Servicer shall not be deemed material.

E. No Joint Venture.  Nothing herein nor the acts of the parties hereto shall 

be construed to create a partnership or joint venture between the Borrower and the Issuer, the 

Trustee or the Issuer Servicer with respect to the Loan. 



21 

18. EVENTS OF DEFAULT.   

A. Subject in all instances to the provisions of subparagraph B of this Section 

18 and the provisions of the Indenture, an Event of Default under this Agreement shall, at the 

Issuer's option, be deemed to have occurred hereunder if: 

(1) Default Under Loan Documents.  Any Event of Default, as defined 

therein, shall occur under any of the other Loan Documents which is not cured within any 

applicable grace or cure period; or 

(2) Breach of Covenant.  The Borrower shall breach or fail to perform, 

observe or meet any material covenant or condition in this Agreement within thirty (30) days 

after written notice thereof from any other party hereto; or 

(3) Filing of Liens Against the Land.  Any lien for labor, materials, or 

taxes (except for ad valorem taxes not yet due and payable) or otherwise shall be filed against 

Borrower's interest in the Land and not be either released (by payment, bonding or otherwise) 

within the earlier of forty (40) days after the date of filing thereof or thirty (30) days after the 

Borrower receives actual notice thereof or properly contested, except as disclosed in the 

pending litigation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit "C" and made a part hereof; or 

(4) Judgment Against Borrower.  Any final judgment shall be entered 

against the Borrower, the Manager, or the controlling members of the Manager which the 

Borrower, the Manager or the controlling members of the Manager has not appealed and which 

could reasonably be expected to impair the ability of the Borrower to perform each and every 

one of its respective obligations under and by virtue of the Loan Documents; or 

(5) Levy Upon The Development.  A levy shall be made under any 

process on, or a receiver be appointed for, the Development or any part thereof; or 

(6) Bankruptcy.  The Borrower, the Manager, or the controlling 

members of the Manager shall commit any act of bankruptcy; or any proceeding under 

bankruptcy laws or other debtor-relief or similar laws shall be brought against the Borrower, 

the Manager or the controlling members of the Manager which is not dismissed within sixty 

(60) days; or the Borrower, the Manager or the controlling members of the Manager shall file for 

or take advantage of any form of reorganization or arrangement under any bankruptcy law or 

other debtor-relief or similar law or proceeding; or 

(7) Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors.  The Borrower, the 

Manager or the controlling members of the Manager shall make a general assignment for the 

benefit of creditors; or 

(8) Abandonment or Cessation of Construction.  Rehabilitation of the 

Improvements shall cease and not be resumed within sixty (60) days thereafter, unless the 



22 

Borrower is prevented from resuming same as a result of Force Majeure, or shall be abandoned 

for more than thirty (30) days; or 

(9) Denial of Inspection.  The Issuer, the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer 

or representatives shall not be permitted, at all reasonable times and after reasonable notice, to 

enter upon the Land, to inspect the Improvements and the rehabilitation thereof and all 

materials, fixtures, and articles used or to be used in the rehabilitation of the Improvements, 

and to examine all detailed plans, shop drawings, specifications and other records which relate 

to the Improvements, or the Borrower shall fail to furnish to the Issuer, the Trustee or the Issuer 

Servicer or to their authorized representatives, when reasonably requested, copies of such 

plans, shop drawings, specifications, and records; or 

(10) Improper Materials.  Any of the materials, fixtures, machinery, 

equipment, articles and/or personal property used in the rehabilitation of the Improvements or 

the appurtenances thereto, or to be used in the operation thereof, shall not, in the reasonable 

opinion of the Issuer Servicer or the Issuer, confirmed by the Inspecting Engineer, substantially 

comply with the Plans and Specifications as approved by the Issuer and such default is not 

cured by the Borrower within forty-five (45) days after the Issuer Servicer or the Trustee has 

given notice to the Borrower to cure same; or 

(11) Materials Not Free and Clear.  The Borrower shall not, except in 

the case of leased washing machines, dryers, vending machines, office telephones, office 

equipment, office communications equipment and model furniture and other items normally 

used in common by tenants, execute (other than to the Issuer or the Trustee) any conditional bill 

of sale, chattel mortgage, security agreement or other security instrument covering any 

materials, fixtures, machinery, equipment, articles, and/or personal property intended to be 

incorporated in the Improvements or the appurtenances thereto, or placed in the 

Improvements, or if a financing statement publishing notice of such security instrument shall be 

filed, or if any of such materials, fixtures, machinery, equipment, articles, and/or personal 

property shall not be purchased so that the ownership thereof will vest unconditionally in the 

Borrower, free from encumbrances other than the Issuer and the Trustee, on delivery at the 

Land, or if the Borrower shall not produce to the Issuer, the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer upon 

demand the contracts, bills of sale, statements, receipted vouchers or agreements, or any of 

them, under which the Borrower claims title to any thereof; or 

(12) Failure to Complete Improvements.  The Improvements, in the 

reasonable judgment of the Issuer Servicer or the Issuer, are not, or cannot reasonably be, 

completed on or before the Completion Date, subject, however, to force majeure; or 

(13) False Representation or Warranty.  At any time any 

representation, warranty or statement made by the Borrower in any Loan Document shall be 

incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made and such matter not be cured within 

thirty (30) days of the giving of notice thereof to the Borrower by the Issuer or the Trustee. 



23 

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Paragraph shall in no way 

be construed to limit the Issuer's, the Trustee's or the Issuer Servicer's right to seek specific 

performance of this Agreement against the Borrower or to enforce its remedies under 

Paragraph 21 hereof or to withhold approval of a Requisition until the Borrower is in 

compliance with this Agreement. 

B. Notice of Default; Opportunity to Cure.  Except as set out below no 

default under the preceding Section shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder until: 

(1) The Issuer Servicer and/or the Trustee, by registered or certified 

mail, shall give notice to the Issuer, the Lender, the Borrower, the Borrower's Investment 

Member and Special Member and the Trustee of such default specifying the same and stating 

that such notice is a "Notice of Default"; and 

(2) The Borrower shall have had thirty (30) days (or such extended 

period as permitted (approved in writing with notice to the Trustee and the Issuer Servicer) by 

the Issuer when curative action is being diligently pursued) after receipt of such notice to 

correct the default and shall not have corrected it or, if such default cannot be corrected within 

thirty (30) days, shall have failed to initiate and diligently pursue (in the sole reasonable 

judgment of the Issuer) appropriate corrective action.  The Borrower's Investment Member and 

Special Member shall have the right, but not the obligation to cure any default. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of and opportunity to cure any default arising 

from a default under the other Loan Documents shall be governed by the terms of such 

agreements, and no additional notices of or opportunity to cure any default under such 

agreements shall be required hereunder to complete the notice and cure procedure provided in 

such agreements. 

19. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS: 

A. No Waiver.  Nothing herein shall be construed to waive or diminish any 

right or security of the Issuer or the Trustee under the Loan Agreement.  It is the purpose and 

intent hereof to provide safeguards, protections and rights for the Issuer and the Trustee in 

addition to those provided in the Loan Agreement. 

B. Cumulative Remedies.  The remedies provided herein shall be in addition 

to and not a substitution for the rights and remedies which would otherwise be vested under 

any Loan Document or in law or equity, all of which rights and remedies are specifically 

reserved. The remedies herein provided or otherwise available to the Issuer, the Trustee or the 

Issuer Servicer shall be cumulative and may be exercised separately or concurrently and as 

often as the occasion therefor may arise. The failure to exercise any of the remedies herein shall 

not constitute a waiver thereof, nor shall use of any of the remedies hereby provided prevent 

the subsequent or concurrent use of any other remedy or remedies. It is intended that this 

clause shall be broadly construed so that all remedies herein provided or otherwise available to 

the Issuer, the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer shall continue and be each and all available until all 



24 

sums due by reason of the Loan Agreement are paid in full and all obligations incurred by the 

Borrower in connection with the rehabilitation or operation of the Improvements have been 

fully discharged. 

C. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to 

the benefit of the parties hereto and their heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns. 

The Borrower may be released from obligations and agreements hereunder only by a written 

instrument of the Trustee and the Issuer specifically providing for such release. The Borrower 

shall be released from any and all liability hereunder, upon payment of the Loan in full and the 

expiration of the Qualified Project Period. 

D. Assignability.  This Agreement shall not be assignable by the Borrower or 

the Issuer Servicer without the prior written consent of the Issuer and the Trustee.  If the Issuer 

and the Trustee approve an assignment hereof by the Borrower, the Trustee shall be entitled to 

make advances to such assignee and such advances shall be secured by the Loan Documents. 

E. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the 

State of Florida, regardless of where it may have been executed or delivered. 

F. Construction.  Whereas this Agreement was negotiated with input from 

all parties hereto, this Agreement shall not be construed more strongly against any party 

regardless of who was more responsible for its preparation. 

G. Costs and Legal Fees.  In the event that any party shall be required to 

enforce this Agreement and whether or not suit be brought, the prevailing parties shall be 

entitled to recover from the losing parties all reasonable legal fees and costs incurred in 

connection therewith, whether incurred in collection, at trial, on appeal, in bankruptcy or other 

similar proceedings affecting creditors' rights or otherwise. 

H. Invalid Provisions.  All rights, powers and remedies provided herein may 

be exercised only to the extent that the exercise thereof does not violate any applicable law and 

are intended to be limited to the extent necessary so that they will not render this Agreement 

invalid, illegal, or unenforceable under any applicable law. If any term of this Agreement shall 

be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity of the other terms of this Agreement 

shall in no way be affected thereby, nor shall such terms be invalid or unenforceable under 

other, dissimilar facts and circumstances. 

I. Headings.  The paragraph headings contained in this Agreement are for 

reference purposes only and shall not in any way affect the meaning, content, or interpretation 

hereof. 

J. Amendments.  This Agreement shall not be amended or modified except 

by an amendment in writing, executed by all parties hereto in the same form as this Agreement. 

K. Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 



25 

L. Right to Publicize.  The Issuer and the Issuer Servicer shall have the right 

to publicize its involvement in the financing of the Development and may require the Borrower 

to name the Issuer as its lender in all publicity releases and promotional materials issued in 

connection with the Development. 

M. Dealings with the Issuer Servicer.  The Issuer Servicer shall be protected 

and shall incur no liability in acting or proceeding in good faith upon resolution, notice, 

telegram, consent, wavier, certificate, affidavit, voucher, bond or other paper or document 

which it shall in good faith reasonably believe (i) to be genuine and, (ii) to have been passed or 

prepared and furnished pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture, the Regulatory Agreement 

or the Loan Agreement, and the Issuer Servicer shall be under no duty to make any 

investigation or inquiry as to any statements contained or matters referred to in any such 

instrument, but may accept and rely upon the same as conclusive evidence of the truth and 

accuracy of such statements unless the instrument on its face reasonably indicated that the 

Issuer Servicer should inquire further or unless the Issuer Servicer has actual knowledge or 

information which reasonably should cause the Issuer Servicer to inquire further. The Issuer 

Servicer shall not be held liable under this Agreement except for its own negligence or willful 

misconduct or gross negligence.  The Borrower shall indemnify and hold the Issuer Servicer 

harmless from any claim, action or liability of any kind or character whatsoever arising from or 

in any way related to acts or omissions of the Borrower or any of its agents, employees, 

consultants, counsel, or independent contractors.  This Paragraph shall in no way be construed 

to relieve the Issuer Servicer of the normal and usual duties of a reasonably prudent loan 

servicer or monitoring agent. 

N. Terms.  Wherever used herein, the terms utilized shall include masculine, 

feminine, neuter, singular and/or plural, as the context admits or requires. 

O. Conflicts.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the terms 

and conditions of the Note and the Loan Agreement shall govern, control and prevail, in the 

event of any conflict between the terms and conditions hereof and those contained in the Note 

and the Loan Agreement. 

P. Remedies.  Subject to the terms of the Regulatory Agreement upon the 

occurrence of any Event of Default which is not cured within the applicable cure period, the 

Issuer (or the Trustee or the Issuer Servicer), shall be entitled to seek specific performance 

hereof against the Borrower, and/or in addition to any other right or remedy available to it in 

law or equity. It is specifically agreed by the Borrower that a violation of this Agreement or the 

Regulatory Agreement could cause harm for which no damages could be calculated, therefore 

entitling the Issuer to immediate equitable relief, including without limitation a temporary 

restraining order or mandatory injunction without notice. 

20. [RESERVED.]



26 

21. EXERCISE OF RIGHTS BY ISSUER.  Notwithstanding any provision herein to 

the contrary, the Issuer Servicer shall approve or disapprove all advances requested hereunder 

by the Borrower except that the Issuer Servicer is hereby permitted to disapprove any such 

request by the Borrower for advances hereunder which is not in substantial compliance with the 

credit underwriting guidelines of the Issuer. 

22. NOTICES.  Any notice required to be given hereunder shall be given by 

personal delivery, by registered U.S. mail or by expedited service at the addresses specified 

below or at such other addresses as may be specified in writing by the parties hereto, and any 

such notice shall be deemed received on the date of delivery if by personal delivery or 

expedited delivery service, or upon actual receipt of sent by registered U.S. Mail. 

To the Issuer: Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority

214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor 

Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

Attention:  Finance Director 

with a copy to: Office of the General Counsel

117 West Duval Street, Suite 480 

Jacksonville, Florida  32202 

Attention:  Emerson Lotzia, Esq. 

To the Borrower: LRC Desert-Silver, LLC

105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 300 

Montgomery, Alabama 36104 

Attention:  Tyler Hunt 

With a copy to: Balch & Bingham LLP

105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 200 

Montgomery, Alabama 36104 

Attention:  Walter H. C. McKay, Esquire 

To the Investment Member: PNC LIHTC Fund 70, LLC

121 SW Morrison, Suite 1300 

Portland, Oregon 97204 

Attention:  Asset Manager 

Telephone:  [___________] 

Facsimile:  [_________] 

Email:  [_____________] 



27 

With a copy to: Kutak Rock LLLP

1650 Farnam Street 

Omaha, Nebraska 68102 

Attention:  Winifred Hawkins, Esquire 

Telephone:  (402) 231-8832 

Facsimile:  [_________] 

Email:  winifred.hawkins@kutakrock.com 

To the Trustee: 

The Bank of New York Mellon

     Trust Company, N.A. 

10161 Centurion Parkway N. 

Jacksonville, Florida 32256 

Attention:  Corporate Trust Department 

To the Lender: [Highland Commercial Mortgage

13400 Northumberland Circle 

Wellington, Florida 33414] 

Attention:  [___________] 

Telephone:  [___________] 

Facsimile:  [___________] 

Email:  [___________] 

The Issuer Servicer: Seltzer Management Group, Inc.

17633 Ashley Drive 

Panama City Beach, Florida 32413 

Attention: [Ben Johnson] 

Telephone: (850) 233-3616 

Telecopier: (850) 233-1429 

23. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement among 

the Issuer, the Issuer Servicer, the Trustee and the Borrower as to the subject matter hereof, and 

all prior agreements, negotiations and understandings with respect thereto are merged into and 

superseded by this Agreement. 

24. WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY.  THE BORROWER, THE ISSUER, THE 

TRUSTEE AND THE ISSUER SERVICER KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND 

INTENTIONALLY WAIVE THE RIGHT EACH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY 

IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION BASED HEREON, OR ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR 

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT AND 

ANY OTHER AGREEMENT EXECUTED OR CONTEMPLATED TO BE EXECUTED IN 

CONJUNCTION HEREWITH, OR ARISING OUT OF, UNDER, OR IN CONNECTION 

WITH ANY COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS (WHETHER 



28 

VERBAL OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF PARTIES, WHETHER IN CONNECTION WITH 

THE MAKING OF THE LOAN, COLLECTION OF THE LOAN, OR OTHERWISE.  THIS 

PROVISION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR THE ISSUER TO ENTER INTO THE 

LOAN EVIDENCED BY THE LOAN AGREEMENT. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 



S-1 

[Counterpart Signature Page – Construction Loan Servicing Agreement] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed in 

their respective names by their duly authorized representatives as of the day and year first set 

forth above. 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company, its Managing 

Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, 

LLC, a Delaware limited 

liability company, its sole 

Member 

By:_______________________ 

Name: W. Daniel Hughes, Jr. 

Title:_____________________ 



S-2 

[Counterpart Signature Page – Construction Loan Servicing Agreement] 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE 

AUTHORITY

[SEAL]

By: 

Name: William I. Gulliford, III 

Title: Chair 



S-3 

[Counterpart Signature Page – Construction Loan Servicing Agreement] 

SELTZER MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC., 

a Florida corporation 

By:   

Print:  Ben Johnson 

Title:  President 



S-4 

[Counterpart Signature Page – Construction Loan Servicing Agreement] 

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON 

TRUST COMPANY, N.A., as Trustee

By:  

Name:  Michele R. Noel 

Title:  Vice President and  

           Senior Transaction Manager 



A-1 

EXHIBIT "A" 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

[TO COME.] 



B-1 

EXHIBIT "B" 

BUDGET AND CONSTRUCTION DRAW SCHEDULE



C-1 

EXHIBIT "C" 

PENDING LITIGATION SCHEDULE 



 

26460/028/01414473.DOCXv2 

EXHIBIT G 

FORM OF BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 



BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

$22,000,000 
Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority  

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds  
(Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 

_________ __, 2018 

Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 
214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor 
Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

LRC Desert-Silver, LLC 
105 Tallapoosa Street, Suite 300 
Montgomery, Alabama 36104 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

RBC Capital Markets, LLC (“RBC Capital Markets” or the “Purchaser”), on its own behalf and 
not as your fiduciary or agent for you, and in its capacity as underwriter of the Bonds (as hereinafter 
defined), offers to enter into the following agreement (the “Bond Purchase Agreement” or “Purchase 
Contract”) with the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the “Issuer”) and LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, 
a Florida limited liability company (the “Borrower”), which, upon acceptance of this offer, will be 
binding upon the Issuer, the Borrower and the Purchaser.  This offer is made subject to the Issuer’s and 
the Borrower’s acceptance on or before 5:00 p.m., Eastern time, today; if this offer is not timely accepted, 
it will thereafter be subject to withdrawal by the Purchaser upon written notice delivered to the Issuer and 
the Borrower at any time prior to the acceptance hereof by the Issuer and the Borrower.  If and when 
accepted by the Issuer and the Borrower in writing, this Bond Purchase Agreement shall constitute the 
agreement of the Purchaser to purchase the Bonds on the terms and subject to the conditions herein set 
forth.  

The above-captioned bonds are referred to herein as the “Bonds.”  Capitalized terms not 
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Indenture (as such term is hereinafter 
defined) or the Bond Loan Agreement. The Indenture, the Bond Loan Agreement, the Land Use 
Restriction Agreement and this Bond Purchase Agreement are hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
“Issuer Documents.”  The Bond Loan Agreement, the Land Use Restriction Agreement, the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement and this Bond Purchase Agreement are hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
“Borrower Documents.”  The Indenture, the Bond Loan Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement and the Land Use Restriction Agreement are hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
“Trustee Documents.” 

Section 1.  Purchase and Sale of the Bonds. 

Subject to the terms and conditions and in reliance on the representations and warranties herein 
set forth, the Purchaser hereby agrees to purchase from the Issuer, and the Issuer hereby agrees to sell to 
the Purchaser on the Closing Date (as such term is hereinafter defined), all (but not less than all) of the 
Bonds for a purchase price of __% of the principal amount of the Bonds.  Inasmuch as this purchase and 
sale represents a negotiated transaction, the Issuer understands, and hereby confirms, that the Purchaser is 
not acting as a fiduciary of the Issuer or the Borrower, but rather is acting solely in its capacity as 
Purchaser.  



2 

The Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender on December 1, 2020, will mature on December 
1, 2021, and will bear interest at the rate of [__]% per annum.  The Borrower agrees to pay the Purchaser 
$_________ (which does not include Purchaser’s Counsel fee) in connection with the purchase of the 
Bonds (the “Underwriting Fee”) in addition to the other expenses stipulated in Section 8 herein (together 
with the Underwriting Fee, the “Fees”).  The Fees are payable on the Closing Date.  Payment of the Fees 
is solely the obligation of the Borrower. 

The Bonds shall be as described in, and shall be issued pursuant to, a Trust Indenture, dated as of 
December 1, 2018 (the “Indenture”), between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 
Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”).  The Bonds shall be issued pursuant to resolutions adopted by 
the Issuer on June 18, 2018 and November 28, 2018 (collectively, the “Resolution”) and the Florida 
Housing Finance Authority Law, Part IV, Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, as amended and supplemented 
from time to time, Chapter 52 Ordinance Code of the City, as amended, Ordinance 2014-185-E of the 
City, and Resolution No. 2018-533-A of the City (collectively, the “Act”).  A disclosure statement 
submitted in compliance with Section 218.385, Florida Statutes, as amended, is attached hereto as 
Schedule I. 

The proceeds of the Bonds will be used by the Issuer to provide funding for a loan (the “Loan”) 
to the Borrower.  The Loan will be evidenced by a Promissory Note (the “Note”).  The Issuer and the 
Borrower will enter into a Loan Agreement (the “Bond Loan Agreement”) and the Issuer, the Borrower 
and the Trustee will enter into a Land Use Restriction Agreement (the “Land Use Restriction 
Agreement”), in each case regarding the operation of the Development.  The Bonds will be secured by 
collateral held under the Indenture.  The disbursement of any Bond proceeds pursuant to the Indenture 
and the Bond Loan Agreement will be conditioned upon, among other things, the prior deposit of an equal 
amount of funds by Highland Commercial Mortgage (the “Lender”) pursuant to the Indenture. 

It shall be a condition (a) to the obligations of the Issuer to sell and deliver the Bonds to the 
Purchaser, and (b) to the obligations of the Purchaser with respect to the Bonds, to purchase and accept 
delivery of and to pay for the Bonds, that the entire aggregate principal amount of the Bonds to be sold 
and delivered by the Issuer in accordance with this Section 1 shall be sold and delivered simultaneously 
by the Issuer and be purchased, accepted and paid for simultaneously by the Purchaser. 

Section 2.  Official Statement.   

(a) Prior to the date hereof, the Borrower and the Issuer shall have provided to the Purchaser 
the Preliminary Official Statement related to the Bonds (the “Preliminary Official Statement”), that each 
of the Borrower and the Issuer deem final as of its date, except for certain omissions in connection with 
the pricing of the Bonds as permitted by Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”).  The Purchaser has received such 
Preliminary Official Statement prior to the execution of this Purchase Contract for the purpose of 
marketing and pricing the Bonds. 

(b) With its acceptance hereof, the Issuer will deliver, at the Borrower’s expense, to the 
Purchaser within two (2) business days of the date hereof (or within such shorter period as may be 
requested by the Purchaser in order to accompany any confirmation that requests payment from any 
customer to comply with paragraph (b)(4) of the Rule, Rule G-32 and all other applicable rules of the 
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board), copies of the final Official Statement (the “Official Statement”) 
in an amount mutually agreed upon, dated the date hereof, together with all supplements and amendments 
thereto, as shall have been accepted by the Purchaser, signed on behalf of the Borrower. 



3 

The Issuer hereby ratifies and consents to the use of the Official Statement by the Purchaser in 
conjunction with the public offering and pricing of the Bonds. 

(c) The Issuer agrees with the Purchaser that if between the date of this Purchase Contract 
and the date which is the earlier of (i) 90 days from the end of the “underwriting period,” as determined 
in subparagraph (d) below, or (ii) the time when the Official Statement is available to any person from a 
nationally recognized municipal securities information repository, but in no case less than 25 days 
following the end of the underwriting period, any event shall occur which would or might cause the 
information supplied by or concerning the Issuer, contained in the Official Statement, as then 
supplemented or amended, to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material 
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of circumstances 
under which they were made, not misleading, the Issuer shall notify the Purchaser thereof, and if in the 
reasonable opinion of the Purchaser such event requires the preparation and publication of a supplement 
or amendment to the Official Statement, the Issuer shall cooperate with the Purchaser in supplementing 
or amending the Official Statement, the printing of which will be at the Borrower’s expense, in such 
form and manner and at such time or times as may be reasonably called for by the Purchaser. 

(d) Unless otherwise notified in writing by the Purchaser on or prior to the date of the 
Closing, the Issuer and the Borrower can assume that the “end of the underwriting period” for the Bonds 
for all purposes of the Rule is the date of the Closing.  In the event such notice is given in writing by the 
Purchaser, the Purchaser agrees to notify the Issuer and the Borrower in writing following the occurrence 
of the “end of the underwriting period” (as defined in the Rule) for the Bonds identified in such notice.  
The “end of the underwriting period” as used herein shall mean the date of the Closing or such later date 
as to which notice is given by the Purchaser in accordance with the preceding sentence. 

(e) At or prior to the Closing, the Purchaser shall file, or cause to be filed, the Official 
Statement with a nationally recognized municipal securities information repository. 

(f) In order to assist the Purchaser in complying with the Rule, the Borrower will undertake, 
pursuant to a Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Continuing Disclosure Agreement”) to provide 
annual financial information and notices of the occurrence of specified events.  The form of the 
Continuing Disclosure Agreement is attached to the Official Statement. 

Section 3.  Representations and Warranties of the Issuer. 

The Issuer represents and warrants as of the date hereof to the Purchaser and the Borrower as 
follows: 

(a) By its execution hereof, the Issuer represents and warrants to, and agrees with the 
Purchaser that it is and will be on the Closing Date validly existing as a public body corporate and politic 
of the State of Florida (the “State”) pursuant to the Act, and has, and at the Closing Date will have, full 
legal right, power and authority (i) to enter into this Purchase Contract; (ii) to adopt the Resolution and 
cause the delivery of the Bonds to the Purchaser pursuant to the Resolution and the Indenture as provided 
herein; (iii) to loan the proceeds of the Bonds to the Borrower for the purpose set forth in the Official 
Statement; and (iv) to carry out and consummate the transactions contemplated by the Official Statement 
and the Issuer Documents. 

(b) The Issuer, with respect to the Bonds, will at the Closing Date be in compliance in all 
material respects with the Issuer Documents and the relevant laws of the State; 



4 

(c) (i)  At or prior to the Closing, the Issuer will have taken all action required to be taken by 
it to authorize the issuance and sale of the Bonds and the performance of its obligations hereunder; (ii) the 
Issuer has, and at the date of the Closing will have, full legal right, power and authority to enter into this 
Purchase Contract and the Issuer Documents, each as described in the Official Statement, and, at the 
Closing Date, will have full legal right, power and authority to deliver the Bonds to the Purchaser and to 
perform its obligations hereunder as provided in this Purchase Contract, the Bonds and the Issuer 
Documents, and all other documents to be executed by the Issuer in accordance with the issuance of the 
Bonds, and to carry out and effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Purchase Contract, the 
Official Statement, and the Issuer Documents (iii) as of the Closing, the execution and delivery of, and the 
performance by the Issuer of the obligations contained in the Bonds, this Purchase Contract (as of the date 
hereof) and the Issuer Documents shall have been duly authorized, and when executed this Purchase 
Contract, and the Issuer Documents (assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other 
parties thereto) will constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Issuer enforceable against the 
Issuer in accordance with their respective terms, subject to any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and the application 
of equitable principles where equitable remedies are sought and limitations on the enforcement of 
judgments against public bodies; (iv) the Issuer has duly authorized the consummation by it of all 
transactions contemplated by this Purchase Contract; and (v) the Issuer Documents have been duly and 
validly authorized by the Issuer and will be at Closing in full force and effect; 

(d) Between the date hereof and the Closing, the Issuer will not, without notifying the 
Purchaser in writing, issue any bonds, notes or other obligations for borrowed money on behalf of the 
Borrower except for such borrowings as may be described in or contemplated by the Official Statement; 

(e) To the best of its knowledge, no further consent, approval, authorization or order of, or 
filing, registration or declaration with, any court or governmental agency or body which shall not have 
been obtained on or prior to Closing is required for the issuance, delivery or sale of the Bonds, or the 
consummation of the other transactions effected or contemplated herein or hereby except for such actions 
as may be necessary to be taken to qualify the Bonds for offer and sale under the Blue Sky or other 
securities laws and regulations of such states and jurisdictions of the United States as the Purchaser shall 
designate; 

(f) At the time of the Issuer’s acceptance hereof and at all times subsequent thereto during 
the period up to and including the date of Closing, the information in the Official Statement (including 
any supplements and amendments to the Official Statement) under the captions “THE ISSUER,” “NO 
LITIGATION – The Issuer” and “DISCLOSURE REQUIRED BY SECTION 517.051(1), FLORIDA 
STATUTES” (collectively, the “Issuer Information”) does not and will not contain any untrue statement 
of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein necessary to make the 
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; 

(g) The Issuer, with respect to the Bonds, is not in material breach of or default under any 
applicable law or administrative regulation of the State, any department, division, agency or 
instrumentality thereof, or the United States or any applicable judgment or decree or any loan agreement, 
note, resolution, certificate, agreement or other instrument to which the Issuer is a party or is otherwise 
subject; and the adoption of the Resolution and the execution and delivery of this Purchase Contract, the 
Bonds, the other Issuer Documents and all other documents to be executed by the Issuer in connection 
with the issuance of the Bonds, and compliance with the provisions of each thereof do not conflict with or 
constitute a material breach of or default under any applicable law or administrative regulation of the 
State, any department, division, agency or instrumentality thereof, or the United States or any applicable 
judgment or decree, or any loan agreement, note, resolution, certificate, agreement or other instrument to 
which the Issuer is a party or is otherwise subject; 



5 

(h) To the best of its knowledge, all approvals, consents, and orders of any governmental 
authority, board, agency or commission having jurisdiction which would constitute a condition precedent 
to the performance by the Issuer of its obligations hereunder and under the Resolution, the Issuer 
Documents and the Bonds and all other documents to be executed by the Issuer in connection with the 
issuance of the Bonds have been obtained; 

(i) The Bonds, when delivered and sold to the Purchaser as provided herein, will have been 
duly authorized and executed and will constitute validly issued and binding limited obligations of the 
Issuer in conformity with, and entitled to the benefit and security of, the Act, the Resolution and the 
Issuer Documents; 

(j) The Issuer will take no action after the date hereof which would cause the Bonds not to 
conform in all material respects to the description thereof contained in the Official Statement; 

(k) The Issuer will furnish such information, execute such instruments and cooperate with 
the Purchaser as the Purchaser may reasonably request in order for the Purchaser (i) to qualify the Bonds 
for offer and sale under the Blue Sky or other securities laws and regulations of such states and other 
jurisdictions of the United States as the Purchaser may designate and (ii) to determine the eligibility of the 
Bonds for investment under the laws of such states and other jurisdictions; provided that the Issuer shall 
not be required to register as a dealer or broker in any jurisdiction or execute a general or special consent 
to service of process or qualify to do business in any jurisdiction or comply with any other requirements 
reasonably deemed by it to be unduly burdensome; 

(l) The Bonds, the Resolution and the Issuer Documents, shall conform to the descriptions 
thereof contained in the Official Statement; 

(m) No litigation is pending or, to the best knowledge of the Issuer, threatened in any court in 
any way affecting the existence of the Issuer or the title of any member of the Issuer to the office held by 
such member or employee, or seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds or 
the collection of revenues or assets of the Issuer pledged or to be pledged to pay the principal of and 
interest on the Bonds, or the pledge thereof, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or 
enforceability of the Bonds, the Resolution or the Issuer Documents or contesting the completeness or 
accuracy of the Official Statement, or contesting the powers of the Issuer, or its authority with respect to 
the Bonds, the Resolution and the Issuer Documents; 

(n) Any certificate relating to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds signed by an authorized 
member or officer of the Issuer and delivered to the Purchaser or Trustee at or prior to the Closing Date 
shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Issuer in connection with this Purchase Contract to 
the Purchaser or the Trustee as to the statements made therein; and 

(o) The Issuer agrees that all representations, warranties and covenants made by it herein, 
and in certificates, agreements or other instruments delivered pursuant hereto or in connection herewith, 
shall be deemed to have been relied upon by the Purchaser. 

Section 4.  Representations, Warranties and Agreements of the Borrower. 

The Borrower represents, warrants and agrees with the Purchaser as follows: 

(a) The Borrower is duly organized and existing as a limited liability company under the 
laws of the State, has full legal right, power and authority to own its properties and to conduct its business 
as described in the Official Statement and to enter into and to carry out and consummate the transactions 



6 

contemplated by the Borrower Documents and the Official Statement, and is duly qualified to do such 
business and is in good standing wherever such qualification and/or standing are required, including the 
State.   

(b) By all necessary action, the Borrower has duly authorized and adopted the Borrower 
Documents and approved the execution and delivery of the Borrower Documents, and the performance by 
the Borrower of the obligations in connection with the issuance of the Bonds on its part contained in the 
Borrower Documents and the consummation by it of all other transactions contemplated by the Indenture, 
the Official Statement and the Borrower Documents in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

(c) On the Closing Date, the Borrower Documents will constitute the valid, legal and binding 
obligations of the Borrower (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the respective other 
parties thereto, where necessary), enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as 
enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar 
laws of general applicability affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights and to general principles of 
equity, regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in equity or in law. 

(d) As of the date hereof, the Borrower is not in any material respect in violation of, breach 
of or default under any applicable law of the State or of any state in which the Borrower is authorized to 
do business or of the United States, or any order, rule or regulation of any court or governmental agency 
or body having jurisdiction over the Borrower or any of its activities, properties or assets, or any 
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, resolution, note agreement (including, without limitation, the Borrower 
Documents) or other agreement or instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by which the Borrower 
or any of its property or assets is bound, which violation or breach of or default would have a material 
adverse effect upon the transactions contemplated by this Bond Purchase Agreement, and no event has 
occurred and is continuing which with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would 
constitute such a default or event of default under any such instruments; and the execution and delivery of 
the Borrower Documents, and compliance with the provisions on the Borrower’s part contained therein, 
do not and will not conflict with or constitute on the part of the Borrower a violation or breach of or 
default under any law of the State or of any state in which the Borrower is authorized to do business or of 
the United States, or any order, rule or regulation of any court or governmental agency or body having 
jurisdiction over the Borrower or any of its activities, properties or assets, or any indenture, mortgage, 
deed of trust, resolution, note agreement (including, without limitation, the Borrower Documents) or other 
agreement or instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by which the Borrower or any of its property 
or assets is bound which violation, breach or default would have a material adverse effect upon the 
transactions contemplated by this Bond Purchase Agreement, nor will any such execution, delivery or 
compliance result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge or other security interest or 
encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Borrower or under the 
terms of any such law, regulation or instrument, except as provided by the Bonds or the Borrower 
Documents. 

(e) All consents, approvals, authorizations, and orders of or filings or registrations with any 
governmental authority, board, agency or commission of any state or of the United States having 
jurisdiction required in connection with, or the absence of which would materially adversely affect, the 
execution and delivery by the Borrower of the Borrower Documents or the performance by the Borrower 
of its obligations thereunder have been obtained or made and are in full force and effect or will be timely 
obtained. 

(f) As of the date hereof, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation of 
which the Borrower has been notified, at law or in equity, before or by any judicial or administrative court 
or governmental agency or body, state, federal or other, pending or, to the best knowledge of the 



7 

Borrower, threatened against the Borrower, affecting the existence of the Borrower or the titles of its 
officers executing this Bond Purchase Agreement to their respective offices, or contesting or affecting as 
to the Borrower the validity or enforceability of the Bonds, any Borrower Document or the execution and 
delivery or adoption by the Borrower of any Borrower Document, or in any way contesting or challenging 
the completeness or accuracy of the Official Statement or the powers of the Borrower or its authority with 
respect to the Borrower Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or 
thereby; nor, to the best knowledge of the Borrower, is there any basis for any such action, suit, 
proceeding, inquiry or investigation, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would materially 
adversely affect the Borrower’s financial condition or operations or the validity of the authorization, 
execution, delivery or performance by the Borrower of any Borrower Document. 

(g) The Borrower will furnish such information, execute such instruments and take such 
other action in cooperation with the Purchaser as the Purchaser may reasonably request in order (i) to 
qualify the Bonds for offer and sale under the Blue Sky or other securities laws and regulations of such 
states and other jurisdictions of the United States as the Purchaser may designate and (ii) to determine the 
eligibility of the Bonds for investment under the laws of such states and other jurisdictions, and will use 
its best efforts upon the reasonable request of the Purchaser to continue such qualifications in effect so 
long as required for the distribution of the Bonds; provided, however, that the Borrower shall not be 
required to register as a dealer or broker of securities or execute a general or special consent to service of 
process or qualify to do business in any jurisdiction where it is not now so subject. 

(h) Any certificate signed by the Borrower and delivered to the Purchaser or the Issuer 
pursuant to the Indenture or the Borrower Documents shall be deemed a representation and warranty by 
the Borrower to the Purchaser and the Issuer as to the statements made therein as of the date thereof. 

(i) The Borrower will not take or omit to take any action, which action or omission will 
adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest on the 
Bonds under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

(j) The Borrower shall honor all other covenants contained in the Borrower Documents. 

(k) All permits, licenses and other authorizations necessary for the ownership, acquisition, 
renovation, and equipping of the Development in the manner contemplated by the Official Statement and 
the Borrower Documents have been obtained or will be obtained by the time required, and said 
ownership, acquisition, renovation, and equipping are not in conflict with any zoning or similar ordinance 
applicable to the Development. 

(l) At the time of the Borrower’s acceptance hereof and at all times subsequent thereto 
during the period up to and including the date of Closing, the Official Statement (and including any 
supplements and amendments to the Official Statement) does not and will not contain any untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to 
make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

The execution and delivery of this Bond Purchase Agreement by the Borrower shall constitute a 
representation to the Purchaser that the representations and warranties contained in this Section 4 are true 
as of the date hereof. 

Section 5.  Indemnification. 

(a) The Borrower agrees to pay, defend, protect, indemnify, save and hold harmless the 
Issuer, the Trustee, the Purchaser (collectively, the “Principal Indemnified Parties”) and each affiliate, 



8 

member, officer, director, official, employee and agent of the Issuer, the Trustee or the Purchaser and 
each person, if any, who controls any of the foregoing within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 20 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (a “Control 
Person”) (collectively referred to herein as the “Indemnified Parties”), against any and all liabilities, 
losses, damages, costs, expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), causes of action (whether in 
contract, tort or otherwise), suits, claims, demands and judgments of any kind, character and nature 
(collectively referred to herein as the “Liabilities”) caused by or directly or indirectly arising from or in 
any way relating to (i) the Bonds, the Loan, the Bond Loan Agreement, the Indenture, this Bond Purchase 
Agreement or any document related to the Bonds, the Loan (the “Transaction Documents”) or any 
transaction or agreement, written or oral, pertaining to the foregoing or (ii) any untrue or misleading 
statement of a material fact contained in the portions of the Official Statement captioned “ESTIMATED 
SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS,” “THE DEVELOPMENT AND THE PARTICIPANTS,” 
“CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS” (but only with respect to those risks that expressly relate to the 
Borrower, the Development or the private participants) and “NO  LITIGATION – The Borrower” or any 
omission or alleged omission from the portions of the Official Statement captioned “ESTIMATED 
SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS,” “THE DEVELOPMENT AND THE PARTICIPANTS,” 
“CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS” (but only with respect to those risks that expressly relate to the 
Borrower, the Development or the private participants) and “NO LITIGATION – The Borrower” of any 
material fact necessary to be stated therein in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided, however that the foregoing 
indemnity of an Indemnified Party pursuant to this Section 5(a) or Section 5(b) below shall not apply to 
any loss to the extent such damages are caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such 
Indemnified Party or any affiliate, member, officer, director, official, employee, agent or Control Person 
of said Indemnified Party or of the Principal Indemnified Party with which said party is affiliated. 

(b) The Borrower also agrees to pay, defend, protect, indemnify, save and hold harmless the 
Purchaser and each affiliate, member, officer, director, official, employee and agent of the Purchaser from 
and against all Liabilities directly or indirectly arising from or relating to any fraud or misrepresentations 
or omissions contained in the proceedings of the Issuer pertaining to the financial condition of the 
Borrower. 

(c) Any Indemnified Party shall notify the Borrower of the existence of any Liability to 
which this indemnification obligation would apply and shall give to the Borrower an opportunity to 
defend the same at the Borrower’s expense and with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified 
Party, provided that the Indemnified Party shall at all times also have the right to fully participate in the 
defense but not to take any action to settle the same without the approval of the Borrower which approval 
shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Each Indemnified Party shall have the right to engage separate 
counsel in any such action or proceeding and participate in the investigation and defense of the action or 
proceeding and the Borrower shall be obligated to pay the reasonable fees and expenses of such separate 
counsel if the Indemnified Party reasonably determines that a conflict of interest exists between the 
interests of the Indemnified Party and the interests of the Borrower.  If the Borrower shall, after this 
notice and within a period of time necessary to preserve any and all reasonable defenses to any claim 
asserted, fail to assume the defense or to employ counsel for that purpose reasonably satisfactory to the 
Indemnified Party, the Indemnified Party shall have the right, but not the obligation, to undertake the 
defense of, and to compromise or settle the claim or other matter on behalf of, for the account of, and at 
the risk, cost and expense of, the Borrower. 

(d) In order to provide for just and equitable contribution in circumstances in which the 
indemnity provided for in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section 5 is for any reason held to be unavailable, 
the Borrower and the Purchaser shall contribute proportionately to the aggregate Liabilities to which the 
Borrower and the Indemnified Parties may be subject, so that the Purchaser is responsible for that portion 



9 

represented by the percentage that the fees paid by the Borrower to the Purchaser in connection with the 
issuance and administration of the Bonds bear to the aggregate offering price of the Bonds, with the 
Borrower responsible for the balance; provided, however, that in no case shall the Purchaser be 
responsible for any amount in excess of the fees paid by the Borrower to the Purchaser in connection with 
the issuance and administration of the Bonds and provided further that the Borrower shall not be required 
to contribute for Liabilities arising from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Purchaser.  No 
person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 10(b) of the Securities Act 
of 1933) shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such misrepresentation. 

(e) The Indemnified Parties, other than the Issuer, the Purchaser and the Trustee, shall be 
considered to be third-party beneficiaries of this Bond Purchase Agreement for purposes of this Section 5.  
The provisions of this Section 5 will be in addition to all liability that the Borrower may otherwise have 
under law or any other Borrower Document and shall survive any termination of this Bond Purchase 
Agreement, the offering and sale of the Bonds and the payment or provisions for payment of the Bonds. 

(f) The indemnification hereunder shall be in addition to, and shall not limit, any indemnity 
granted by the Borrower pursuant to the Bond Loan Agreement or any other document. 

(g) Borrower shall be subrogated to an Indemnified Party’s rights of recovery to the extent of 
any liabilities satisfied by Borrower.  Such Indemnified Party shall execute and deliver such instruments 
and papers as are necessary to assign such rights and assist in the exercise thereof. 

(h) Nothing herein shall be construed to create recourse debt to the Borrower or its members 
for the Loan or the Bonds. 

Section 6.  Closing. 

At 11:00 a.m., Eastern time, on December [__], 2018, or at such time on such earlier or later date 
as shall be agreed upon in writing by the Issuer, the Borrower and the Purchaser, the Issuer shall direct the 
Trustee to deliver the Bonds to the Purchaser through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company 
(“DTC”), New York, New York, in definitive form, duly executed and authenticated by the Trustee.  
Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Issuer shall deliver at the Issuer’s offices the other 
documents and instruments to be delivered pursuant to this Bond Purchase Agreement (the “Closing 
Documents”) and the Purchaser shall accept delivery of the Bonds and Closing Documents and pay the 
purchase price for the Bonds by wire transfer, to the Trustee, in immediately available federal funds, for 
the account of the Issuer or as the Issuer shall direct.  As a condition precedent to such acceptance, the 
Purchaser shall have received the Underwriting Fee by wire transfer in immediately available federal 
funds to the order of the Purchaser, in such manner as shall be agreed upon by the Borrower and the 
Purchaser (but in no event shall such fee be netted against the purchase price of the Bonds).  This delivery 
and payment is herein called the “Closing” and the date on which the Closing occurs is herein called the 
“Closing Date.” 

Section 7.  Closing Conditions. 

The Purchaser has entered into this Bond Purchase Agreement in reliance upon representations, 
warranties and agreements of the Issuer and the Borrower contained herein, in reliance upon the 
representations, warranties and agreements to be contained in the documents and instruments to be 
delivered at the Closing and upon the performance by the Issuer and the Borrower of their obligations 
hereunder, both as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date.  Accordingly, the Purchaser’s obligations 
under this Bond Purchase Agreement to purchase, to accept delivery of and to pay for the Bonds shall be 
subject to the performance by the Issuer and the Borrower of their obligations to be performed by them 



10 

hereunder at or prior to the Closing, and to the accuracy in all material respects of the representations and 
warranties of the Issuer and of the Borrower contained herein as of the date hereof and as of the Closing 
as if made on the Closing Date, and shall also be subject to the following additional conditions: 

(a) At the time of the Closing, the Resolution shall have been duly approved and adopted by 
the Issuer and shall be in full force and effect and the Issuer Documents shall have been duly authorized, 
executed and delivered, and shall not have been amended, modified or supplemented, except as may have 
been agreed to in writing by the Purchaser and there shall have been taken in connection therewith and in 
connection with the issuance of the Bonds all such actions as, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, and 
counsel for the Purchaser, shall be necessary and appropriate in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby. 

(b) The Purchaser may terminate this Bond Purchase Agreement by notification to the Issuer 
and the Borrower if at any time subsequent to the date hereof and at or prior to the Closing: 

(i) (A) legislation shall be enacted by the Congress of the United States or adopted 
by the Senate or House of Representatives of the United States, or recommended to the Congress 
for passage by the President of the United States, or favorably reported for passage to the Senate 
or House of Representatives by any committee of either such body to which such legislation has 
been referred for consideration or by a conference committee of such bodies, (B) a decision shall 
be rendered by a court of the United States or by the Tax Court of the United States, (C) a ruling, 
regulation or official action shall be rendered by or on behalf of the United States, or (D) a ruling, 
regulation or official action shall be proposed or issued, in any manner, including by 
pronouncement, press release or any other form of notice, by or on behalf of the Treasury 
Department of the United States, the Internal Revenue Service or another governmental agency of 
the United States or by or on behalf of any member of the Senate or House of Representatives of 
the United States in any such instance with respect to federal taxation of interest received on 
obligations of the general character of the Bonds and which (1) in the reasonable opinion of 
counsel for the Purchaser would have or proposes action which would have the effect of making 
such interest includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes or (2) which, in the 
reasonable opinion of the Purchaser would materially adversely affect any intended utilization of 
Bond proceeds or other intended action described in the Official Statement; 

(ii) between the date hereof and the Closing, payment for and delivery of the Bonds 
is rendered impracticable or inadvisable because (A) trading in securities generally shall have 
been suspended on the New York Stock Exchange or a general banking moratorium shall have 
been established by Federal or New York authorities or (B) a war involving the United States 
shall have been declared, or there shall have occurred any other outbreak or escalation of 
hostilities or another national or international calamity shall have occurred, the effect of any of 
which, in the reasonable judgment of the Purchaser materially adversely affects the marketability 
of the Bonds (it being agreed by the parties hereto that there is no war or national calamity of 
such a nature as of the date hereof); 

(iii) any event shall occur or exist which, in the reasonable judgment of the Purchaser 
either makes untrue or incorrect in any material respect any statement or information contained in 
the Official Statement, as amended and supplemented, any statement or information is not 
reflected in the Official Statement, as amended and supplemented, but should be reflected therein 
for the purpose for which the Official Statement is to be used in order to make the statements or 
information contained therein not misleading in any material respect; 



11 

(iv) legislation shall be enacted, or any action shall be taken by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, which, in the opinion of counsel for the Purchaser has or may have the 
effect of requiring the contemplated distribution of the Bonds to be registered under the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Indenture to be qualified as an indenture under the Trust 
Indenture Act of 1939, as amended;  

(v) there shall have occurred or any notice shall have been given of any intended 
review, downgrading, suspension, withdrawal or negative change in credit watch status by any 
national rating service of the Bonds;  

(vi) the purchase of and payment for the Bonds by the Purchaser, or the resale of the 
Bonds by the Purchaser, on the terms and conditions herein provided shall be prohibited by any 
applicable law, governmental authority, board, agency or commission;  

(vii) an occurrence, in the reasonable judgment of the Purchaser, of a material adverse 
change in the capital markets which makes the syndication, sale or financing contemplated hereby 
impractical or which makes it inadvisable to proceed with the syndication, sale or financing 
contemplated hereby on the terms, manner and basis contemplated hereby; or 

(viii) any fact or event shall exist or have existed that, in the Purchaser’s judgment, 
requires or has required an amendment of or supplement to, the Official Statement. 

(c) At or prior to the Closing, the Purchaser shall receive the following documents: 

(i) an approving opinion of Bond Counsel addressed to the Issuer, dated the Closing 
Date substantially in the form attached to the Official Statement, and a reliance letter of such 
counsel dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Purchaser and the Trustee; 

(ii) opinions or certificates, as the case may be, dated the Closing Date and addressed 
to the Purchaser and to such other parties as may be appropriate, of 

(A) Bond Counsel, substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix A; 

(B) Borrower’s Counsel, in form and substance satisfactory to the Purchaser 
and Bond Counsel; and 

(C) Counsel to the Trustee, substantially in the form attached hereto as 
Appendix B. 

(d) The Purchaser shall have received an opinion of its counsel in a form satisfactory to the 
Purchaser; 

(e) The Purchaser shall have received an opinion of the Office of the General Counsel of the 
City of Jacksonville, Florida, Counsel to the Issuer, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Issuer, 
with a reliance letter to the Purchaser and the Trustee, to the effect that (i) to the best of its knowledge, no 
litigation before any court of the United States of America sitting in the State is pending or, to its 
knowledge, threatened in any way affecting the existence of the Issuer or the titles of its members to their 
respective offices, or seeking to restrain or to enjoin the issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds, the 
application of the proceeds thereof in accordance with the Indenture, or the collection or application of 
revenues or securities pledged or to be pledged under the Indenture, or in any way contesting or affecting 
the validity or enforceability of the Bonds, the Issuer Documents, the Resolution, or any action of the 



12 

Issuer contemplated by any of said documents, or in any way contesting the completeness or accuracy of 
the Official Statement or the powers of the Issuer or its authority with respect to the Bonds, the Issuer 
Documents, the Resolution, or any action on the part of the Issuer contemplated by any of said documents 
or the Official Statement nor to their knowledge is there any basis therefore; (ii) the Issuer is a duly 
organized and existing public body corporate and politic of the State, acting pursuant to the Act, with full 
legal right, power and authority to perform all of its obligations under this Bond Purchase Agreement, the 
Bonds, the other Issuer Documents, and the Resolution, and the Issuer has duly adopted the Resolution 
which Resolution is now in full force and effect, and has duly authorized, endorsed and delivered this 
Bond Purchase Agreement, and duly authorized, executed and delivered, or caused to be delivered the 
Issuer Documents, the Bonds and the Official Statement, and (assuming due authorization, execution and 
delivery by the other parties thereto, where necessary) Issuer Documents and the Bonds constitute legal, 
valid and binding agreements of the Issuer enforceable in accordance with their terms (except as 
enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws or equitable 
principles relating to or limiting creditors’ rights generally, and provided that no opinion need be 
expressed as to the availability of equitable remedies); (iii) the adoption of the Resolution, and the 
execution of this Bond Purchase Agreement, and the execution and delivery of Issuer Documents, the 
Bonds and the other instruments contemplated by any of such documents to which the Issuer is a party, 
and compliance with the provisions of each thereof, will not conflict with or constitute a breach of or 
default under any applicable law or administrative rule or regulation of the State, the United States of 
America, or of any department, division, agency or instrumentality of either thereof, or any applicable 
court or administrative decree or order or any loan agreement, note, ordinance, resolution, indenture, 
contract, agreement or other instrument or is otherwise subject or bound; (iv) all approvals, consents, 
authorizations, elections and orders of or filings or registrations with any governmental authority, board, 
agency or commission having jurisdiction which would constitute a condition precedent to, or the absence 
of which would materially adversely affect, the performance by the Issuer of its obligations under the 
Bonds and this Bond Purchase Agreement have been obtained and are in full force and effect; and (v) the 
statements contained in the Official Statement under the Issuer Information are true and correct in all 
material respects; 

(f) The Purchaser and the Borrower shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date 
and signed on behalf of the Issuer, to the effect that: 

(i) Except as disclosed in the Official Statement, there is no action, suit, proceeding, 
inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, by or before any court, public board or body, pending 
or to the Issuer’s knowledge threatened against or affecting the Issuer (or to the knowledge of the 
Issuer, any meritorious basis therefore), wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding 
would:  (a) affect the creation, existence or powers of the Issuer, or the title to the office of the 
officers thereof, (b) limit, enjoin or restrain the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds, or the 
payment, collection or application of the revenues and limit, enjoin or restrain other moneys and 
securities pledged or to be pledged under the Indenture or the pledge thereof, (c) contest or affect 
any of the rights, powers, duties or obligations of the Issuer with respect to the moneys and assets 
pledged or to be pledged to pay the principal of or redemption price, if any, or interest on the 
Bonds, (d) question or affect the authority for or validity of the Bonds, the Indenture, the Issuer 
Documents and the applicable Borrower Documents to which the Issuer is a party or the 
Resolution, or (e) question or affect its obligations as contemplated by any other agreement or 
instrument executed and delivered by the Issuer in connection with the issuance of the Bonds; 

(ii) the Issuer has complied or will comply with all agreements, covenants and 
arrangements and has satisfied all conditions on its part to be complied with, performed or 
satisfied in connection with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds at or prior to the Closing Date; 
and 



13 

(iii) the representations and warranties of the Issuer contained herein, and in the 
Issuer Documents are true, complete and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date; 

(g) a certificate of the Issuer and the Borrower as to arbitrage and other federal tax matters in 
form and substance acceptable to Bond Counsel and the Purchaser. 

(h) a certificate of the Borrower, dated the Closing Date, that (A) each of the representations 
and warranties set forth in the Borrower Documents (including this Bond Purchase Agreement) is true 
and correct in all material respects on the Closing Date with the same effect as if made on the Closing 
Date, (B) to the Borrower’s knowledge, no event has occurred since the date of the Official Statement 
which should be disclosed in the Official Statement for the purpose for which it is to be used or which is 
necessary to be disclosed therein in order to make the statements and information therein not misleading 
in any material respect, and (C) the Borrower has complied with all agreements and satisfied all the 
conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied under the Borrower Documents at or prior to the 
Closing Date. 

(i) counterpart originals or certified copies of each of the Issuer Documents, Borrower 
Documents and Trustee Documents. 

(j) written evidence satisfactory to the Purchaser that S&P Global Ratings has issued a rating 
of “AA+” for the Bonds which rating has not been placed under review or on “Credit Alert” with negative 
implications or a similar credit alert by a national rating service and such rating shall be in effect on the 
Closing Date. 

(k) such agreements, certificates and opinions as requested by the Purchaser to evidence the 
closing of the Loan. 

(l) such additional legal opinions, certificates (including any certificates necessary or 
desirable in order to establish the exclusion of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes), instruments and other documents as the Purchaser may reasonably request to 
evidence the truth and accuracy, as of the Closing Date, of the Issuer’s representations herein and in the 
Official Statement and the due performance or satisfaction by the Issuer at or prior to such date of all 
agreements then to be performed, and all conditions then to be satisfied by the Issuer. 

If the obligations of the Purchaser shall be terminated for any reason permitted by this Bond 
Purchase Agreement, neither the Purchaser nor the Issuer shall be under further obligation hereunder. 

Section 8.  Expenses. 

The Purchaser shall be under no obligation to pay, and the Borrower hereby agrees to pay, all 
expenses incident to the performance of the Issuer’s obligations hereunder, including, but not limited to, 
(a) the costs of printing and preparation for printing or other reproduction for distribution and use in 
connection with the offering and placement of the Bonds, such number of copies as the Purchaser shall 
require of the Indenture, the Resolution and the Official Statement, as well as any delivery costs incurred 
in connection with the distribution of the foregoing documents; (b) the cost of preparing the definitive 
Bonds; (c) the fees and disbursements of Bond Counsel in connection with the authorization and issuance 
of the Bonds; the fees and expenses of the Trustee and its counsel; the fees and expenses of the Issuer and 
its counsel; and the fees and disbursements of any other experts or consultants retained by the Issuer; (d) 
the fees of any rating agencies in connection with the rating of the Bonds; (e) all advertising expenses in 
connection with the public offering of the Bonds; (f) the fees and expenses of counsel to the Purchaser; 
and (g) all other expenses in connection with the offer, sale and placement of the Bonds.  The Borrower 



14 

shall also pay for any expenses (included in the expense component of the Purchaser’s discount) incurred 
by the Purchaser which are incidental to implementing this Bond Purchase Agreement and the issuance of 
the Bonds, including, but not limited to, meals, transportation and lodging, if any, and any other 
miscellaneous closing costs.  The Borrower acknowledges it had an opportunity, in consultation with such 
advisors as it deemed appropriate, if any, to evaluate and consider the fees and expenses being incurred as 
part of the issuance of the Bonds. 

The Issuer shall not have any obligation to pay any fees, expenses or costs associated with or 
resulting from the issuance and delivery of the Bonds. 

Section 9.  Notices. 

Any notice or other communication to be given to the Issuer or the Borrower at the respective 
addresses set forth on the first page hereof and any such notice or other communication to be given to the 
Purchaser may be given by mailing the same to RBC Capital Markets, LLC, 100 2nd Avenue South, Suite 
800, St. Petersburg, Florida 33701, Attention: Ms. Helen H. Feinberg. 

Section 10.  Parties in Interest. 

This Bond Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the Issuer, the Borrower and the 
Purchaser (including any successor or assignees of the Purchaser), and, except as provided in Section 5 
hereof, no other party or person shall acquire or have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof. 

Section 11.  Amendments. 

This Bond Purchase Agreement may not be amended without the written consent of the Issuer, 
the Borrower and the Purchaser. 

Section 12.  Survival of Representations and Warranties. 

The representations and warranties of the Issuer and the Borrower shall not be deemed to have 
been discharged, satisfied or otherwise rendered void by reason of the Closing and regardless of any 
investigations made by or on behalf of the Purchaser (or statements as to the results of such 
investigations) concerning such representations and statements of the Issuer and the Borrower and 
regardless of delivery of and payment for the Bonds. 

Section 13.  Execution in Counterparts. 

This Bond Purchase Agreement may be executed by the parties hereto in separate counterparts, 
each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all such counterparts shall together 
constitute but one and the same instrument. 

Section 14.  No Prior Agreements. 

This Bond Purchase Agreement supersedes and replaces all prior negotiations, agreements and 
understandings between the parties hereto in relation to the sale of Bonds for the Issuer. 



15 

Section 15.  Effective Date. 

This Bond Purchase Agreement shall become effective and binding upon the respective parties 
hereto upon the execution of the acceptance hereof by the Issuer and the Borrower and shall be valid and 
enforceable as of the time of such acceptance. 

Section 16.  Governing Law. 

This Bond Purchase Agreement shall be governed by the internal laws of the State without giving 
effect to the conflict of law principles of the State.  Venue shall be in the 4th Judicial Circuit of Florida 
for Duval County. 

Section 17.  Purchaser Not Acting as Advisor or Fiduciary. 

The Issuer and the Borrower each acknowledge and agree that (i) the purchase and sale of the 
Bonds pursuant to this Bond Purchase Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial transaction among the 
Issuer, the Borrower, and the Purchaser, (ii) in connection therewith and with the discussions, undertaking 
and procedures leading up to the consummation of such transaction, the Purchaser is and has been acting 
solely as a principal and is not acting as the agent, advisor, or fiduciary of the Issuer or the Borrower, (iii) 
the Purchaser has not assumed an advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favor of the Issuer or the 
Borrower with respect to the offering contemplated hereby or the discussions, undertakings and 
procedures leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Purchaser has provided other services or is 
currently providing other services to the Issuer or the Borrower on other matters) and the Purchaser has 
no obligation to the Issuer or the Borrower with respect to the offering contemplated hereby except the 
obligations expressly set forth in this Bond Purchase Agreement and (iv) the Issuer and the Borrower 
have consulted their own legal, financial and other advisors to the extent they deem appropriate. 

Section 18. Establishment of Issue Price. 

(a) The Purchaser agrees to assist the Issuer in establishing the issue price of the Bonds and 
shall execute and deliver to the Issuer at Closing an “issue price” or similar certificate, together with the 
supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications, with such modifications as may be appropriate or 
necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Purchaser, the Issuer and Bond Counsel, to accurately 
reflect, as applicable, the sales price or prices or the initial offering price or prices to the public of the 
Bonds.  As applicable, all actions to be taken by the Issuer under this section to establish the issue price of 
the Bonds may be taken on behalf of the Issuer by the Issuer’s municipal advisor and any notice or report 
to be provided to the Issuer may be provided to the Issuer’s municipal advisor. 

(b) Except as otherwise set forth in Section 1 hereto, the Issuer will treat the first price at 
which 10% of each maturity of the Bonds (the “10% test”) is sold to the public as the issue price of that 
maturity (if different interest rates apply within a maturity, each separate CUSIP number within that 
maturity will be subject to the 10% test).  At or promptly after the execution of this Bond Purchase 
Agreement, the Purchaser shall report to the Issuer the price or prices at which it has sold to the public 
each maturity of Bonds.  If at that time the 10% test has not been satisfied as to any maturity of the 
Bonds, the Purchaser agrees to promptly report to the Issuer the prices at which it sells the unsold Bonds 
of that maturity to the public.  That reporting obligation shall continue, whether or not the Closing Date 
has occurred, until the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity or until all Bonds of 
that maturity have been sold to the public.    

(c) The Purchaser confirms that it has offered the Bonds to the public on or before the date of 
this Bond Purchase Agreement at the offering price or prices (the “initial offering price”), or at the 



16 

corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Section 1 hereto, except as otherwise set forth therein.  Section 
1 also sets forth, as of the date of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the maturities, if any, of the Bonds for 
which the 10% test has not been satisfied and for which the Issuer and the Purchaser, agree that the 
restrictions set forth in the next sentence shall apply, which will allow the Issuer to treat the initial 
offering price to the public of each such maturity as of the sale date as the issue price of that maturity (the 
“hold-the-offering-price rule”).  So long as the hold-the-offering-price rule remains applicable to any 
maturity of the Bonds, the Purchaser will neither offer nor sell unsold Bonds of that maturity to any 
person at a price that is higher than the initial offering price to the public during the period starting on the 
sale date and ending on the earlier of the following:  

(i)  the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date; or  

(ii) the date on which the Purchaser has sold at least 10% of that maturity of the 
Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public. 

The Purchaser shall promptly advise the Issuer when it has sold 10% of that maturity of the 
Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public, if that occurs 
prior to the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date. 

(d) The Purchaser confirms that any selling group agreement relating to the initial sale of the 
Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating 
each dealer who is a member of the selling group to (A) report the prices at which it sells to the public the 
unsold Bonds of each maturity allotted to it until it is notified by the Purchaser that either the 10% test has 
been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity or all Bonds of that maturity have been sold to the public 
and (B) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, in each case if and for so long as 
directed by the Purchaser.  The Issuer acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth in this 
subsection, the Purchaser will rely on in the event a selling group has been created in connection with the 
initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group 
to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, as set forth in a selling group agreement and 
the related pricing wires.  The Issuer further acknowledges that the Purchaser shall not be liable for the 
failure of any dealer who is a member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a retail 
distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement regarding the hold-the-offering-price 
rule as applicable to the Bonds. 

(e) The Purchaser acknowledges that sales of any Bonds to any person that is a related party 
to an Purchaser shall not constitute sales to the public for purposes of this section.  Further, for purposes 
of this section: 

(i) “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party,  

(ii) “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract 
with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in 
the initial sale of the Bonds to the public and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 
contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (A) to participate in the initial sale 
of the Bonds to the public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution 
agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public),  

(iii) a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter if the 
underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (A) at least 50% common 
ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations 
(including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (B) more than 50% common 



17 

ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including 
direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (C) more than 50% common ownership of the 
value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of the 
partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership 
(including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other), and 

(iv) “sale date” means the date of execution of this Bond Purchase Agreement by all 
parties. 

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank)



If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding of the Bond Purchase Agreement please 
sign and return to us the enclosed duplicate copies hereof, whereupon it will become a binding agreement 
among the Issuer, the Borrower and the Purchaser in accordance with its terms. 

Very truly yours,  

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 

By:  
Name: Helen H. Feinberg 
Title: Managing Director 



Bond Purchase Agreement 
Desert-Silver 

(Issuer’s Signature Page to the Bond Purchase Agreement) 

ACCEPTED at Jacksonville, Florida ________ __.m. Eastern time this ____ day of ____________, 2018. 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY 

By:  
Name: William I. Gulliford, III 
Title: Chair



(Borrower’s Signature Page to the Bond Purchase Agreement) 

LRC DESERT-SILVER, LLC, 
a Florida limited liability company 

By: LRC Desert-Silver GP, LLC, 
a Florida limited liability company, 
its Managing Member 

By: LRC GP, LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company, 
its sole Member 

By: LEDIC Realty Company, LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company, 
its sole Member 

By:  
[_________] 



SCHEDULE I 

DISCLOSURE LETTER

_________ __, 2018 

Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 
214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor 
Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

In reference to the issuance of those certain $22,000,000 Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 
Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 (the “Bonds”), RBC Capital 
Markets, LLC (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to the Bond Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Contract”) 
between the Purchaser, LRC Desert-Silver, LLC (the “Borrower”) and the Jacksonville Housing Finance 
Authority (the “Issuer”), hereby makes the following disclosures to the Issuer: 

1. The Purchaser is acting as underwriter to the Issuer for the public offering of the Bonds.  
The total fee to be paid to the Purchaser pursuant to the Purchase Contract is equal to approximately 
$[___] per bond, of the total face amount of the Bonds, or $[_________]. 

2. The estimated expenses not included in the above number to be incurred by the Purchaser 
and to be charged to the Borrower in connection with the issuance of the Bonds are: 

Purchaser’s Counsel (including disbursements) $[_________] (or $[___] per Bond) 

3. The names, addresses and estimated amounts of compensation of any person who is not 
regularly employed by, or not a partner or officer of, an underwriter, bank, banker or financial consultant 
or advisor and who enters into an understanding with either the Issuer or the Purchaser, for any paid or 
promised compensation or valuable consideration, directly or indirectly, expressly or implied, to act 
solely as an intermediary between the Issuer and the Purchaser or who exercises or attempts to exercise 
any influence to effect any transaction in the purchase of the Bonds are: 

None 

4. The amount of the underwriting risk and takedown expected to be realized is: 

Takedown/Concession  $[_________] or $[___] per Bond.                           

5. The amount of the management fee to be charged by the Purchaser is: 

$[_________] or $[___] per Bond. 

6. Any other fee, bonus, and other compensation estimated to be paid by the Purchaser in 
connection with the Bonds to any person not regularly employed or retained by the Purchaser is as 
follows: 

Fee and Expenses 

$[_________] or $[___] per Bond (in addition to Purchaser’s Counsel fee) 



7. The Issuer is proposing to issue $22,000,000 of debt or obligation for the purpose of 
financing the Development. This debt or obligation is expected to be repaid over a period of [__] years. 
At a forecasted interest rate of [__]%, total interest paid over the life of the debt or obligation will be 
$[_________]. 

8. The source of repayment or security for the Bonds is the Trust Estate. Authorizing this 
debt or obligation will result in $0.00 of the Issuer’s moneys not being available to finance the other 
services of the Issuer each year the Bonds are Outstanding. 



9. The name and address of the Purchaser connected with the Bonds is: 

RBC Capital Markets, LLC 
100 2nd Avenue South, Suite 800 
St. Petersburg, Florida 33701 

RBC CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC 

By:  
Name: Helen H. Feinberg 
Title: Managing Director 



APPENDIX A 

FORM OF SUPPLEMENTAL OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL 

_________ __, 2018 

Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 
214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor 
Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

RBC Capital Markets, LLC 
100 2nd Avenue South, Suite 800 
St. Petersburg, Florida 33701 

Re: $22,000,000 Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue 
Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 

(After appropriate introductory language, the opinion shall state substantially as follows:) 

(1) We have reviewed the statements contained in the Official Statement under the sections 
“SECURITY FOR THE BONDS”, “THE BONDS,” APPENDIX A – “DEFINITIONS,” and APPENDIX 
B “DOCUMENT SUMMARIES” and believe that insofar as such statements purport to summarize 
certain provisions of the Bonds, the Indenture, the Bond Loan Agreement, or the Land Use Regulatory 
Agreement, such statements are accurate summaries of the provisions purported to be summarized.  We 
have also reviewed the information contained in the Official Statement under the section captioned “TAX 
MATTERS” and believe that such information is accurate.   

Other than as set forth above, we express no opinion with respect to the accuracy, completeness, 
fairness or sufficiency of the Official Statement, the statistical or financial data contained therein, or any 
exhibit or attachments thereto or with respect to DTC and its book-entry system. 

(2)        The Bonds are exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, 
and the Indenture is exempt from qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. 

This opinion letter may be relied upon by you only and only in connection with the transaction to 
which reference is made above and may not be used or relied upon by any other person for any purposes 
whatsoever without our prior written consent.  The delivery of this letter to a non-client does not create an 
attorney-client relationship. 

The opinions expressed herein are predicated upon present law, facts and circumstances, and we 
assume no affirmative obligation to update the opinions expressed herein if such laws, facts or 
circumstances change after the date hereof. 



APPENDIX B 

OPINION OF COUNSEL TO THE TRUSTEE 

_________ __, 2018 

Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority 
214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor 
Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

RBC Capital Markets, LLC 
100 2nd Avenue South, Suite 800 
St. Petersburg, Florida 33701 

The Bank of New York Mellon 
Trust Company, N.A., as trustee 

10161 Centurion Parkway 
Jacksonville, Florida 32256 

Re: $22,000,000 Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue 
Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have served as counsel to The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee 
(the “Trustee”), in connection with the issuance by the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the 
“Issuer”) of its $22,000,000 Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Desert-Silver Project), Series 2018 
(the “Bonds”), pursuant to the Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2018 (the “Indenture”) by and 
between the Issuer and the Trustee. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the 
meanings set forth in the Indenture. 

In that connection we have examined originals or copies certified or otherwise identified to our 
satisfaction of: (i) the Indenture; (ii) the Land Use Restriction Agreement dated as of December 1, 2018, 
by and among LRC Desert-Silver, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (the “Borrower”), the Issuer 
and the Trustee; (iii) the Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated as of December 1, 2018, by and 
between the Borrower and the Trustee, as Dissemination Agent; (iv) the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement 
dated _________ __, 2018 by and between the Issuer and the Borrower, and acknowledged by the 
Trustee; (the documents referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) preceding are collectively referred to as the 
“Trustee Documents”); (v) the Articles of Association and by-laws of the Trustee; and (vi) such other 
documents as we have deemed necessary for purposes of this opinion. We have not been asked to review 
or express any opinion with respect to any documents other than the Trustee Documents, and our opinion, 
accordingly, is limited to those documents. 

In rendering the opinions expressed herein, we have assumed: (a) the genuineness of the 
signatures of all persons (other than representatives of the Trustee) executing instruments or documents 
examined or relied upon by us and the capacity of all natural persons; (b) the authenticity of all 
documents submitted to us as originals and the conformity with the original documents of all documents 
submitted to us as copies; (c) the correctness and accuracy of all facts set forth in all certificates and 
reports identified in this opinion; and (d) compliance with all requirements of the Indenture to be met in 
connection with the issuance of the Bonds. In addition, we have relied upon certificates of public officials 
as to matters contained therein and upon certain certificates of representatives of the Trustee as to matters 
of fact. Any opinion expressed herein as being made “to our knowledge” means the lawyers currently in 
this firm who are actively involved in negotiating or documenting this transaction are without any actual 
knowledge or conscious awareness that the opinion or confirmation is untrue in any respect material to 
the opinion or confirmation. 



B-2 

In rendering the opinions expressed below, we have also assumed, to the extent relevant with 
respect to the Trustee Documents and any other documents referred to in this opinion, that: 

(A) to the extent such documents purport to constitute agreements, they constitute legal, 
valid, binding and enforceable obligations of all of the parties to such documents (other than the Trustee); 
and 

(B) all parties to such documents (other than the Trustee) have obtained all approvals, 
authorizations, consents and licenses from, and have made all filings and registrations with, all 
governmental or regulatory authorities or agencies required for the execution or delivery of, or for the 
incurrence or performance of any obligations under, any of such documents, and the incurrence and 
performance by the Trustee of its obligations under any such documents comply with applicable laws of 
any jurisdiction where such obligations are to be incurred or performed (other than those specifically 
opined to herein). 

Based on the foregoing we are of the opinion that 

1. The Trustee is a national banking association, duly organized, validly existing and in 
good standing under the laws of the United States of America. 

2. The Trustee has full corporate power and authority, including all necessary trust powers, 
to execute and deliver the Trustee Documents and to perform its obligations thereunder and to 
authenticate the Bonds. 

3. The Trustee Documents constitute valid and binding obligations of the Trustee, 
enforceable against the Trustee in its capacity therein stated. The Bonds have been duly authenticated by 
an authorized officer of the Trustee. 

4. Neither the execution nor delivery by the Trustee of the Trustee Documents nor the 
performance by the Trustee of its duties thereunder will result in any violation of the Articles of 
Association or by-laws of the Trustee, and no approval or other action by any governmental authority or 
agency having supervisory authority over the Trustee is required to be obtained by the Trustee in order to 
authorize or permit the Trustee to execute and deliver the Indenture or to perform its duties thereunder. 

5. To our knowledge, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or 
in equity before or by any court, regulatory agency, public board or body pending or overtly threatened in 
writing against or affecting the creation, organization or existence of the Trustee where an unfavorable 
decision, ruling or finding on an issue raised by any party thereto is likely to materially and adversely 
affect the ability of the Trustee to perform its obligations under the Trustee Documents. 

For purposes of our opinions in paragraphs 2 and 3 above, we reviewed only those statutes, rules 
and regulations that in our experience are applicable to transactions by a bank performing corporate trust 
functions of the type contemplated by the Trustee Documents. 

Our opinion concerning the validity, binding effect and enforceability of the Trustee Documents 
means that (i) each of the Trustee Documents constitutes an effective contract under applicable law, (ii) 
the Trustee Documents are not invalid in their entirety because of a specific statutory prohibition or public 
policy and are not subject in their entirety to a contractual defense, and (iii) subject to the last sentence of 
this paragraph, some remedy is available if the Trustee is in material default under the Trustee 
Documents. This opinion does not mean that (a) any particular remedy is available upon a material 
default, or (b) every respective provision of the Trustee Documents will be upheld or enforced in any or 



B-3 

each circumstance by a court. Furthermore, the validity, binding effect and enforceability of the Trustee 
Documents may be limited or otherwise affected by (A) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, 
moratorium, fraudulent conveyance or other similar statutes, rules, regulations or other laws affecting the 
enforcement of creditors’ rights and remedies generally and (B) the unavailability of, or limitation on the 
availability of, a particular right or remedy (whether in a proceeding in equity or at law) because of an 
equitable principle or a requirement as to commercial reasonableness, conscionability or good faith. 

To the extent, if any, to which the same may be relevant to our opinions hereinabove set forth, we 
express no opinion as to any provision of the Trustee Documents that (i) relates to severability or 
separability, or (ii) relates to indemnification, to the extent such indemnification is not within the 
reasonable contemplation of the parties or is contrary to public policy, federal or state securities laws or 
the policy underlying such laws, or (iii) purports to authorize the Trustee to file and prove a claim in any 
bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding for sums not yet due. In addition, we express no opinion as to the 
enforceability of any provision of the Trustee Documents to the extent related to any failure to comply 
with requirements concerning notices, relating to delay or omission to enforce rights or remedies or 
purporting to waive or affect rights, claims, defenses, or the application of any provision of law or other 
benefits to the extent that any of the same cannot be waived or so affected under applicable law. Further, 
we express no opinion, and no such opinion is to or may be inferred herefrom, relating to the applicability 
or effect of any federal or state tax or securities laws, including, but not limited to, the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as 
amended, or any state securities or “blue sky” law with respect to any Trustee Document. Finally, we 
express no opinion as to the status of any Trustee Document under any usury law. 

No opinion is expressed as to the matters relating to the laws of any jurisdiction other than federal 
laws and the laws of the State of Florida (other than municipal and local ordinances and regulations as to 
which we do not opine). 

This opinion is furnished by us as counsel for the Trustee, as trustee, to the persons to whom this 
opinion is addressed and is solely for the benefit of such persons, may not be relied upon by any other 
person or entity, and may not be disclosed, quoted, filed with a governmental agency or otherwise 
referred to without the prior written consent of the undersigned. This opinion speaks as of its date, and we 
undertake no (and hereby disclaim any) obligation to update this opinion. 

Very truly yours, 







































































 

26460/003/01422439.DOCv2 

RESOLUTION 

A RESOLUTION OF THE JACKSONVILLE HOUSING 

FINANCE AUTHORITY AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FIRST AMENDMENT 

TO LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT; AND 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (the “Issuer”) issued and sold 

its $9,750,000 Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Mount Carmel Gardens), Series 2016 (the 

“Bonds”); and 

 

WHEREAS, Bonds matured on August 1, 2018 and have been paid in full; and 

 

WHEREAS, in connection with the Bonds, the Issuer, the Owner and the Trustee entered 

into a Land Use Restriction Agreement (the “Land Use Restriction Agreement”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the Land Use Restriction Agreement to affirm 

the continuing duties and obligations of the Owner thereunder, to terminate all provisions 

relating to the rights and duties of the Trustee; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to its terms, the Land Use Restriction Agreement will continue to 

remain in effect during the Qualified Project Period, as defined in the Land Use Restriction 

Agreement; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT DETERMINED AND RESOLVED BY THE 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY THAT: 

SECTION 1.  EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO 

LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT.  The Chair or Vice Chair of the Jacksonville 

Authority is hereby authorized and directed to execute, for and on behalf of the Jacksonville 

Authority, the First Amendment to Land Use Restriction Agreement in substantially the form 

attached hereto as Exhibit A with such changes, modifications, deletions and insertions as the 

Chair or Vice Chair, with the advice of Authority's counsel and bond counsel, may deem 

necessary and appropriate.  Such execution and delivery shall be conclusive evidence of the 

approval thereof by the Jacksonville Authority. 

SECTION 2.  GENERAL AUTHORIZATION.  The Chair, the Vice Chair, the 

Secretary and counsel for the Jacksonville Authority, the Jacksonville Authority's financial 

advisor and bond counsel, are hereby further authorized to proceed, upon execution of the First 

Amendment to Land Use Restriction Agreement, with the undertakings provided for therein on 

the part of the Jacksonville Authority. 

SECTION 3.  SEVERABILITY.  If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or 

provisions of this Resolution, or the document attached hereto or contemplated hereby, should be 

held contrary to any express provision of law or contrary to the policy of express law, though not 



 

26460/003/01422439.DOCv2 

2 

expressly prohibited, or against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, 

then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be deemed 

separate from the remaining covenants, agreements or provisions of this Resolution. 

SECTION 11.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective 

immediately upon its passage. 



 

26460/003/01422439.DOCv2 

3 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority this 

28th day of November, 2018. 

JACKSONVILLE HOUSING 

FINANCE AUTHORITY 

By:  

ATTEST: William I. Gulliford, III, Chair 

 

By:  

Name:  

Title:   

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: 

By:  

Office of the General Counsel 



 

26460/003/01422439.DOCv2 

Exhibit A 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF FIRST AMENDMENT TO  

LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 

 



Mount Carmel Gardens 

First Amendment to LURA 

THIS INSTRUMENT PREPARED 

BY AND RETURN TO: 

Rhonda Bond-Collins 

Randall C. Clement 

Bryant Miller Olive 

Citrus Center 

255 South Orange Avenue 

Suite 1350 

Orlando, Florida  32801 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO 

LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 

(Mount Carmel Gardens/Multifamily Bonds) 

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT (this 

“First Amendment”), effective as of ____________ ____, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), is made and 

entered into by and among the JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE AUTHORITY (the 

“Issuer”), whose mailing address is 214 N. Hogan Street, 7th Floor, Jacksonville, Florida 32202, 

MCG SENIOR APARTMENTS, LTD. (the “Owner”), whose mailing address is 3010 3rd Avenue 

S., Birmingham, Alabama 35223, and THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST 

COMPANY, N.A., a national banking association with a representative office in Jacksonville, 

Florida, whose mailing address is 10161 Centurion Parkway N., Jacksonville, Florida 32256 in 

its capacity as trustee (the “Trustee”) under the Trust Indenture between the Issuer and the 

Trustee entered into as of August 1, 2016 (the “Indenture”).   

This First Amendment amends the Land Use Restriction Agreement dated as of 

August 1, 2016, recorded on August 18, 2016 in Official Records Book 17677, at Page 933, of the 

Public Records of Duval County, Florida (the “Land Use Restriction Agreement”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the Issuer issued and sold its $9,750,000 Multifamily Housing Revenue 

Bonds (Mount Carmel Gardens), Series 2016 (the “Bonds”) for the purpose of providing 

financing for the “Project,” pursuant to the Indenture to obtain moneys to make a loan to the 

Owner which were used to finance the Project pursuant to a Loan Agreement dated as of 

August 1, 2016 (the “Loan Agreement”) by and among the Issuer, the Trustee and the Owner, 

all under and in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Florida; and 

WHEREAS, in connection with the Bonds, the Issuer, the Owner and the Trustee entered 

into the Land Use Restriction Agreement; and 



Mount Carmel Gardens 

First Amendment to LURA 
2

WHEREAS, pursuant to its terms, the Land Use Restriction Agreement will continue to 

remain in effect during the Qualified Project Period; and 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the Land Use Restriction Agreement to affirm 

the continuing duties and obligations of the Owner thereunder, to terminate all provisions 

relating to the rights and duties of the Trustee; and 

WHEREAS, this First Amendment shall be effective as of the date set forth above, and 

all terms not defined herein shall have the same meanings as set forth in the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, Bonds matured on August 1, 2018 and have been paid in full; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and undertakings set 

forth in this First Amendment and Ten Dollars ($10.00) and other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Issuer, the 

Owner and the Trustee do hereby contract and agree to amend the Land Use Restriction 

Agreement, as follows: 

SECTION 1.  Termination of Certain Trustee Rights.  As of the Effective Date of this 

First Amendment any and all rights of the Trustee granted or held pursuant to the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement shall terminate. 

SECTION 2.  Provisions Relating to the Trustee.  On and after the Effective Date 

hereof, any and all references to the Trustee in the Land Use Restriction Agreement are hereby 

deleted, and the Trustee, the Issuer and the Owner acknowledge and agree that all rights, 

duties, obligations and remedies the Trustee has under the Land Use Restriction Agreement are 

hereby terminated and deemed discharged in full.  All provisions throughout the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement relating to the rights and duties of, or notice to or from, the Trustee shall 

be of no further force and effect (unless such rights and duties have been undertaken by the 

Issuer).  

If any action by, or approval or consent of, the Trustee is required, such action, approval 

or consent shall be taken by or obtained from the Issuer.  Where notices are to be provided to 

the Trustee, such notices shall be sent to the Issuer; however, multiple notices need not be 

provided. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such references to the Trustee and any of the 

documents relating to the Bonds shall remain in effect when needed to construe or enforce the 

provisions of the Land Use Restriction Agreement and/or the Code, to provide definitions, to 

determine the compliance monitoring obligations related to the Land Use Restriction 

Agreement and/or the tax exempt covenants related to the Bonds. 



Mount Carmel Gardens 

First Amendment to LURA 
3

SECTION 3.  Future Amendments.  The Land Use Restriction Agreement may not be 

further amended except by an instrument in writing signed by the Issuer and the Owner. 

SECTION 4.  Consent by Trustee and Others.  The Trustee agrees and consents to the 

amendments made by this First Amendment.  The Owner represents and warrants that it has 

obtained all consents required by the Indenture, if any. 

SECTION 5.  Remaining Provisions Unaffected. Except as expressly modified and 

amended by this First Amendment, the covenants, terms and conditions of the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement shall remain unaffected and shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 6.  Recording and Filing; Covenants to Run With the Land.

(a) Upon execution and delivery of this First Amendment, the Owner shall 

cause this First Amendment to be recorded and filed in the public records of Duval County, 

Florida; the Owner shall pay all fees and charges incurred in connection therewith. 

(b) This First Amendment and the covenants contained herein shall run with 

the Land and shall bind the Owner, and its successors and assigns, and the benefits shall inure 

to the Issuer, and its respective successors and assigns, during the term of the Agreement; 

provided, however, nothing contained in this paragraph shall be deemed to authorize or 

consent to any assignment by the Owner. 

(c) This First Amendment is not intended to affect the priority of the Land 

Use Restriction Agreement. 

SECTION 7.  Severability.  If any provision of this First Amendment or the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement, as amended hereby, shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the 

validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining portions hereof or thereof shall in no way 

be affected or impaired, nor shall such holding of invalidity, illegality or unenforceability affect 

the validity, legality or enforceability of such provision under other dissimilar facts or 

circumstances. 

SECTION 8.  Governing Law. Notwithstanding that, for the convenience of the parties, 

the parties may be executing this First Amendment outside the State of Florida, the Land Use 

Restriction Agreement and all amendments thereto shall be governed by the laws of the State of 

Florida, both substantive and remedial. 

SECTION 9.  Multiple Counterparts.  This First Amendment may be simultaneously 

executed in one or more counterparts, all of which shall constitute the same instrument and 

each of which shall be deemed an original. 



Mount Carmel Gardens 

First Amendment to LURA 
4

SECTION 10.  No Personal Liability or Accountability.  No covenant or agreement 

contained in this First Amendment shall be deemed to be the covenant or agreement of any 

present, past or future member, agent or employee of the Issuer, in his or her individual 

capacity, and neither the members of the Issuer nor any official, agent or employee of the Issuer 

shall be liable personally on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by 

reason of this First Amendment. 

SECTION 11.  Binding Effect.  This First Amendment shall inure to the benefit of, and 

shall be binding upon, the Issuer, the Owner and their respective successors and assigns. 



COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE FOR  

FIRST AMENDMENT TO LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 

(Mount Carmel Gardens/Multifamily Bonds) 

Mount Carmel Gardens 

First Amendment to LURA S-1

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer, the Owner, and the Trustee have caused this First 

Amendment to be signed, sealed and delivered by their duly authorized representatives, all as 

of the date first written above. 

[SEAL]  THE ISSUER: 

WITNESSES:  JACKSONVILLE HOUSING FINANCE  

AUTHORITY 

By: _________________________________ 

Print:    William I. Gulliford, III, Chairman 

Print:    

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF DUVAL 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of ____________, 

2018, by William I Gulliford, III, as Chair of the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority, a 

public body corporate and politic duly created and existing under the laws of the State of 

Florida, on behalf of the Issuer.  Said person [  ] is personally known to me or [  ] has produced a 

valid driver's license as identification. 

Notary Public; State of Florida 

Print Name:  

My Commission Expires:  

My Commission No.:  



COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE FOR  

FIRST AMENDMENT TO LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 

(Mount Carmel Gardens/Multifamily Bonds) 

Mount Carmel Gardens 

First Amendment to LURA S-2

OWNER:

MCG SENIOR APARTMENTS, LTD., 

a Florida limited partnership 

By: East Lake Community Development, Inc., an 

Alabama non-profit corporation 

By: 

    Steven C. Hydinger, Authorized Agent 

STATE OF ALABAMA 

COUNTY OF JEFFERSON 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by Steven Hydinger, 

Authorized Agent of East Lake Community Development, Inc., an Alabama non-profit 

corporation, General Partner of MCG Senior Apartments, a Florida limited partnership, this 

____ day of ____________, 2018, on behalf of said corporation and said limited partnership.  

He/She is personally known to me or has produced a valid driver's license as identification. 

(SEAL) 

Printed/Typed Name:  

Notary Public-State of Florida 

Commission Number: 



COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE FOR  

FIRST AMENDMENT TO LAND USE RESTRICTION AGREEMENT 

(Mount Carmel Gardens/Multifamily Bonds) 

Mount Carmel Gardens 

First Amendment to LURA S-3

TRUSTEE:

WITNESS:   THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST  

COMPANY, N.A., as Trustee

By: 

Name:   

Title:  

Print:  

Print:  

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ______________________ 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of ____________, 

2016, by ______________________, as ______________________ of THE BANK OF NEW YORK 

MELLON TRUST COMPANY, N.A., a national banking association duly organized and validly 

existing under the laws of the United States of America, on behalf of the bank.  Said person [  ] is 

personally known to me or [  ] has produced a valid driver's license as identification. 

Notary Public; State of Florida 

Print Name:  

My Commission Expires:  

My Commission No.:  



Mount Carmel Gardens 

First Amendment to LURA A-1

EXHIBIT “A” 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 


	00.00 - JHFA Agenda 11-28-18 FINAL
	01.01 - JHFA Minutes 10-17-18 FINAL
	02.01 - 2017-2018 JHFA Financial Package 2018.09.30
	CBS JHFA GASB 54
	COS JHFA

	02.02 - 2017 JHFA Annual Report
	About the Jacksonville Housing Finance Authority (JHFA)
	Board of Directors
	Strategic Partnerships
	Partnerships with Other Counties
	Partnership with Florida Housing Finance Corporation (FHFC)
	Sadowski Education Effort

	Rental Development
	Bond Financing for Rental Housing
	Local Government Support Contributions
	Houston Street Manor
	Peyton Ridge Apartments
	Lofts at LaVilla
	Lofts at Monroe
	Mary Eaves Senior Village
	The Waves
	Lofts at Jefferson Station

	Home Ownership
	Servicing Report
	Compliance Report
	Fiscal Year 2018 Goals and Objectives
	Bond Financing for Rental Housing
	Other Rental Housing
	Partnership with Other Counties

	Contact Information
	General Contacts
	Staff Contacts
	Professional Team Contacts


	03.01 - FA Memo 11-28-18 FINAL
	03.02 - Occupancy 9-30-18
	03.03 - Calendar2019JHFABoardMtgs
	04.01 - 2019 Local Govt Area of Opportunity Funding NOFA FINAL 8-15-18 rev2
	04.02 - JHFA 2019 Local Government Area of Opportunity Funding Application FINAL 8-15-18
	04.03 - Map of Jacksonville City Limits Pre-Consolidation
	05.01 - 2019 Analysis of Bond-SAIL Applications 11-2-18
	05.02 - Inducement Resolution (Ashley Square) (01422679)
	05.03 - Inducement Resolution (Campus Towers) (01422672)
	05.04 - Inducement Resolution (Loft at Cathedral, LTD) (01422680)
	06.01 - Final Desert Winds Silver Creek CUR
	06.02 - Authorizing Resolution (Desert Silver) (01422733)
	07.01 - ED - Loan Agreement - JHFA - Houston Street
	08.01 - Authorizing Resolution (First Amendment) (01422640)

